
 
 
 

Cabinet 
 

Date: Thursday, 23 July 2009 
Time: 
 

6.15 pm 

Venue: Committee Room 1 - Wallasey Town Hall 

 
 
Contact Officer: Mark Delap 
Tel: 0151 691 8500 
e-mail: markdelap@wirral.gov.uk 
Website: http://www.wirral.gov.uk 
 

 

AGENDA 
 
1. MINUTES  
 
 The minutes of the last meeting have been printed and published.  Any 

matters called in will be reported at the meeting. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  That the minutes be approved and adopted. 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
 The members of the Cabinet are invited to consider whether they have 

a personal or prejudicial interest in connection with any of the items on 
this agenda and, if so, to declare it and state the nature of such 
interest. 
 

CHILDREN'S SERVICES AND LIFELONG LEARNING 
 
3. POSITIVE ACTIVITIES FOR YOUNG PEOPLE (Pages 1 - 16) 
 
4. PRACTICAL COOKING SPACES SCHEME AND ESTIMATE 

REPORT FOR ST ANSELM'S COLLEGE AND UPDATE ON 
PROGRAMME (Pages 17 - 26) 

 
5. APPOINTMENT OF TECHNICAL ADVISER TO THE WIRRAL 

ACADEMY/BSF PROGRAMME UNDER THE NATIONAL 
PARTNERSHIPS FOR SCHOOLS (PFS) FRAMEWORK (Pages 27 - 
32) 

 

Public Document Pack



6. AIMING HIGH FOR DISABLED CHILDREN (Pages 33 - 116) 
 
SOCIAL CARE AND INCLUSION 
 
7. WIRRAL HEALTH INEQUALITIES PLAN (Pages 117 - 164) 
 
8. REVISED GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE WIRRAL 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING PARTNERSHIP (Pages 165 - 176) 
 
9. STRATEGY FOR CARERS (Pages 177 - 200) 
 
10. OPTIONS FOR CHANGE - TOWARDS A STRATEGY FOR CARE 

SERVICES (Pages 201 - 294) 
 
CORPORATE RESOURCES 
 
11. FINANCIAL AND PERFORMANCE MONITORING QUARTER 1  
 
 The Deputy Chief Executive/Director of Corporate Services and the 

Director of Finance will give a presentation to the Cabinet. 
 

12. LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK FOR WIRRAL – REVIEW 
OF LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME (Pages 295 - 330) 

 
13. SUSTAINABLE COMMUNITIES ACT PROPOSALS (Pages 331 - 

340) 
 
14. QUARRY BANK FLATS, WHETSTONE LANE, BIRKENHEAD 

(Pages 341 - 348) 
 
15. PLANNED PROPERTY MAINTENANCE (PPM) 2009/10 (Pages 349 - 

354) 
 
16. SCHEDULE OF RATES CONTRACTS 2006/2010 (Pages 355 - 358) 
 
17. ECONOMIC UPDATE (Pages 359 - 364) 
 
STREETSCENE AND TRANSPORT SERVICES 
 
18. LOCAL TRANSPORT PROGRAMME 2009/10 - SAFER ROUTES TO 

SCHOOLS (Pages 365 - 370) 
 
19. SPEED LIMIT AND TRAFFIC REGULATION ORDER REVIEW 2009-

2011 (Pages 371 - 382) 
 
20. ENERGY SAVING INITIATIVE - INVEST TO SAVE ELECTRICITY 

METERING FOR STREET LIGHTING BY THE INTRODUCTION OF 
A CENTRAL MANAGEMENT SYSTEM (Pages 383 - 386) 

 
21. ENVIRONMENTAL STREETSCENE SERVICES - CONTRACT 

REVIEW (Pages 387 - 394) 
 



22. STREET LIGHTING (ELECTRICITY) CONTRACT RENEWAL 2009 
(Pages 395 - 398) 

 
FINANCE AND BEST VALUE 
 
23. ANNUAL AUDIT FEES 2009/10 (Pages 399 - 406) 
 
24. PROJECTED BUDGET 2010-2011 (Pages 407 - 412) 
 
25. MERSEYSIDE PROCUREMENT COLLABORATION (Pages 413 - 

418) 
 
26. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2008-09 (Pages 419 - 536) 
 
27. INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGIES 

SECURITY POLICY (Pages 537 - 576) 
 
HOUSING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY 
 
28. ESTABLISHING A REPOSSESSION PREVENTION FUND (Pages 

577 - 582) 
 
CULTURE, TOURISM AND LEISURE 
 
29. PROPOSED EXTENSION TO LANDICAN CREMATORIUM WITH 

NEW CREMATORS AND MERCURY ABATEMENT EQUIPMENT - 
SCHEME AND ESTIMATE REPORT (Pages 583 - 586) 

 
REGENERATION AND PLANNING STRATEGY 
 
30. WEST KIRBY MARINE LAKE PROTECTION WORKS (Pages 587 - 

592) 
 
31. EXEMPT INFORMATION - EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND 

PUBLIC  
 
 The following items contain exempt information. 

 
RECOMMENDATION:  That, under section 100 (A) (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following items of business on the grounds that 
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined by 
the relevant paragraphs of Part I of Schedule 12A (as amended) to 
that Act. 
 

CORPORATE RESOURCES 
 
32. EXPRESSIONS OF INTEREST - PACIFIC ROAD ARTS CENTRE 

AND WIRRAL TRANSPORT MUSEUM/TRAMWAY (Pages 593 - 
598) 

 
 



REGENERATION AND PLANNING STRATEGY 
 
33. FRAMEWORK ARRANGEMENTS FOR CONSULTANT SERVICES 

PROPOSED EXTENSION AND FRAMEWORK TERM (Pages 599 - 
604) 

 
FINANCE AND BEST VALUE 
 
34. INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY HARDWARE - STORAGE AREA 

NETWORK (Pages 605 - 608) 
 
35. ANY OTHER BUSINESS  
 
 To consider any other business that the Chair accepts as being urgent. 

 
 
 



WIRRAL COUNCIL  
 
CABINET 23 JULY 2009  
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN’S SERVICES  
 
POSITIVE ACTIVITIES FOR YOUNG PEOPLE  

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
This report makes recommendations to Cabinet for approval to commission Positive 
Activities for Young People (PAYP).  The proposed providers will make provision for 
vulnerable and challenging young people during school holidays.  The aim of the Positive 
Activities for Young People Programme, is to provide diversionary activities for young people 
who could offend or become NEET, (Not in Education Employment or Training) because of a 
number of factors such as negative peer group pressure, poor school attendance, substance 
or alcohol misuse. 
 
1. Background 
 
1.1 Cabinet at its meeting on 23 April agreed the criteria to underpin the commissioning 

for Positive Activities for Young People (PAYP) (Appendix A).  The funding for this 
programme of activities previously was funded through Connexions however this 
funding is now routed through the local authority. The allocation covers school 
holidays from April 2009 – 31 March 2011. To ensure there was continuity of 
provision, contracts with existing providers were rolled over to cover the Easter and 
Whit Holidays. If Cabinet approves the proposals, the new contracts will commence 
on 1st August 2009.   

 
1.2 In line with council policy a commissioning process was used to identify the 

prospective providers. A commissioning panel was established to oversee the process 
and validate decisions at each procurement stage.  The commissioning panel had 
representation from the following: 

 

• Link Forum,  

• Tranmere Neighbourhood Pathfinder 

• 14-19 Team, 

• Primary Care Trust and (the Children)  

• The Children & Young People’s Department. 
 

1.3 The procurement process consisted of advertisements in the press and on-line.  This 
was followed by an invitation to prospective providers to attend a procurement 
workshop and submit a method statement and a Pre Qualifying Questionnaire.  The 
selection process also consisted of evaluation of a sample activity by potential service 
users (young people) and a selection panel consisting of officers from the Children 
and Young People’s Department (CYPD). 

 
1.4 PAYP is a programme targeted at both vulnerable and challenging young people.  

Organisations in completing the Method Statement had to demonstrate a clear 
understanding of the requirements.  In those cases where this was not the case 
organisations were not short listed for the second stage.  Individual debriefing 
sessions for those organisations have taken place and officers will be willing to work in 
the future with those organisations so that they can develop a better understanding of 
the requirements for any future bidding rounds. 

 

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



2 The Commissioning Process 
 
2.1 Cabinet at its meeting on 23 April approved the criteria and the membership of the 

commissioning panel.  The following is a summary of the commissioning stages 
 

• Tender advertised 13 May 

• Procurement Workshop 22May 

• Closing date 16 June 

• Desk top evaluation 18/19 June 

• Validation Panel 22 June 

• Interviews 25 June 

• Reconvened Panel and  Evaluation Matrix sign off 29 June 
 
2.2 The commissioning of PAYP is underpinned by the need to work with young people 

who are identified from certain risk factors.  Cabinet at the meeting on 23 April agreed 
priorities (see Appendix A) to be used to frame the work and to inform the areas to be 
covered in the Method Statement. 

 
2.3  The commissioning of PAYP focused on commissioning full time equivalent (FTE) 

places in agreed activities.  Places on activities will be offered following a referral from 
one of the following agencies Police, Connexions, Youth & Play Service, Youth 
Offending Service, Children’s Social Care and schools. A funding formula (Appendix 
B) previously used by Department of Children Schools and Families was applied in 
this process.  In the current financial year the number of weeks available to be 
commissioned is eight, in 2010-11 the number of weeks available will be thirteen 
covering Easter, Whit, summer, October, Christmas and February half term.  The cost 
for each FTE in 2009-10 is £830 and in 2010-11 it is £1350. 

 
2.4 A total of thirteen tender documents were received and from this list seven were short 

listed and invited to attend for interview.  One tender from Involve Northwest could not 
be considered as the Pre Qualifying Questionnaire and front sheet were not filled in.  
The full list of applicants can be found in Appendix C. 

 
2.5 Applicants were required to complete a Method Statement and a Supplier 

Questionnaire.  A Procurement Workshop was organised for applicants to clarify 
issues relating to the process.  The Method Statement and Supplier Questionnaire 
were both subject to desk top evaluations by officers and their assessment including 
scores were presented to a validation meeting of the Commissioning Panel.  The 
validation meeting provided the commissioning panel with the opportunity to revisit the 
scoring and determine if they agreed with the proposed scores.  From the information 
provided in the Method Statement and the scores, the panel decided which 
organisations would be short listed for interview.  Seven organisations were asked to 
prepare a ten minute presentation on the following: 

 
 ‘Your vision for PAYP in promoting better outcomes for young people’. 
 
2.6 All organisations were asked the same set of questions which were intended to draw 

out the knowledge and understanding of the organisation in respect of the 
requirements of PAYP.  (Please see Appendix D for the questions).  Each 
organisation was scored on the presentation and the questions with 25 as the 
maximum possible score.  Please see Appendix E for final scores. 

 
2.7  At the end of the commissioning process, the decision for the Panel was to determine 
  how many places would be commissioned from each of the successful providers. In 
 making this decision the Panel were mindful of the need to make places available not 

Page 2



 only in ‘hot spot’ areas such as Tranmere and Rockferry and Seacombe but also 
 Wirral wide.  The range of activities available had to be balanced and challenging 
 enough to encourage young people to remain on the programme and at the same 
 time contribute to the support and personal development needs of the young people. 
 
2.8  Details of the types of programme are set out in Appendix E, they include cultural 

 activities, personal and social development, sports and fitness activities. 
 
2.9  The Panel are recommending that contracts are offered to those suppliers that scored 

 the highest.  In addition those suppliers will also be able to ensure that both ‘hot spots’ 
 are covered and that young people across the four Districts who are at risk of 
 offending or becoming NEET will be able to access provision. 

 
3. Recommendation of the Commissioning Panel 
 

2009/10 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2010/11 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4. Financial Implications 
 
4.1 All funding for the PAYP programme is part of the Area Based Grant.  In year one 
 £93,790 is available and in year two £152,550. 
 
5. Staffing Implications 
 
5.1  There are no staffing implications. The cost of support staff seconded from 

Connexions are covered by the PAYP grant allocation. 
  

Organisation District/Area Number of FTE Total cost 
 

Youth Federation Birkenhead/Wirral 25 £20,750 
 

Fairbridge Wirral wide 10 £8,300 
 

Youth Offending 
Service 

Wirral wide 26 £21,580 

Activate Arts Wallasey/Birkenhead/ 
Wirral wide 

16 £13,280 

Positive Futures Wirral wide 36 £29,880 
 

Organisation District/Area Number of FTE Total cost 
 

Youth Federation Wirral wide 25 £33,750 
 

Fairbridge Wirral wide 10 £13,500 
 

Youth Offending 
Service 

Wirral wide 26 £35,100 

Activate Arts Wallasey/Birkenhead/ 
Wirral  wide 

16 £21,600 

Positive Futures Wirral wide 36 £48,600 
 

 

Page 3



6. Equal Opportunities Implications 
 
6.1  The PAYP programme is specifically aimed at vulnerable young people and to 

promote equality of opportunity. 
 
7. Community Safety Implications 
 
7.1 The PAYP activities are provided in recognised ‘hot spot’ areas and for young people 

at risk of being engaged in offending behaviour are referred to the programme.  
 
8. Local Agenda 21 Implications 
 
8.1  PAYP encourages young people to respect their environment and community and can 

involve community work. 
 
9. Planning Implications 
 
9.1 There are none arising from this report. 
 
10. Anti Poverty Implications 
 
10.1 PAYP seeks to engage with young people who may be under achieving and engage 

them in provided activities to prevent them becoming NEET. 
 
11. Social Inclusion Implications 
 
11.1 PAYP seeks to identify young people who have been identified as being excluded and  

as such are at risk. 
  
12. Local Member Support Implications 
 
12.1 This report affects all wards. 
 
13. Background papers 
 
13.1 Cabinet report 23 April 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 
a. That following a commissioning process the following providers are offered a contract to 

provide PAYP for the periods set out below 
 

2009/10 

Organisation District/Area Number of FTE Total cost 
 

Youth Federation Birkenhead/Wirral 25 £20,750 
 

Fairbridge Wirral wide 10 £8,300 
 

Youth Offending Service Wirral wide 26 £21,580 
 

Activate Arts Wallasey/Birkenhead
/Wirral wide 

16 £13,280 

Positive Futures Wirral wide 36 £29,880 
 Page 4



 
 2010/11 
 

 
b. Feedback is provided to unsuccessful bidders. 
 
c. Individual specifications require providers to ensure there are guaranteed places for 

young people from organisations working with priority groups of young people such as 
young carers. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Howard Cooper 
Director of Children’s Services 
 

Organisation District/Area Number of FTE Total cost 
 

Youth Federation Wirral wide 25 £33,750 
 

Fairbridge Wirral wide 10 £13,500 
 

Youth Offending Service Wirral wide 26 £35,100 
 

Activate Arts Wallasey/Birkenhead/ 
Wirral wide 

16 £21,600 

Positive Futures Wirral wide 36 £48,600 
 

Page 5



Page 6

This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A 
 

Commissioning Framework for additional targeted and universal youth 
support services  
 
Background 

• The agenda for youth support services is expanding. Following the 
publication of Aiming High a Ten Year Strategy for Positive Activities, 
there is an increased expectation of the contribution youth services can 
make to the lives of young people.  

 
There is an expectation that the development of services for young people 
should be guided by a commissioning process. It is essential that any 
commissioning process is joined up and that services commissioned form a 
continuum of provision that operates from universal provision to targeted 
support. The main driver of the provision is to provide appropriate targeted 
support and also a robust universal provision that is attractive to young people 
as an alternative to risk taking behaviours. 
The following is suggested as an approach to the future commissioning of 
services linked to PAYP and YCAP.  
 
Organisations must demonstrate the following criteria if they are to be 
short listed: 
 
Understanding of the requirements: 

• Young people influencing the planning, delivery and evaluation of 
services. 

• Successfully meet the requirements of the Pre Qualifying 
Questionnaire Method Statement (PQQ)  

• Demonstrate value for money in provision of universal/ targeted youth 
work. This is to include open youth work and an agreed number of 
planned group work sessions which will be linked to local policy issues 
such as teenage pregnancy and the Respect agenda.    

• Recording systems of attendances by young people at different 
projects. – This system to be compliant with local authority 
requirements regarding unique individuals. 

• Provision accessible to public transport routes. 

• Provision of youth services that ensure outputs linked to national Key 
Performance Indicators underpinning Targeted Youth Support, 
Integrated Youth Support and Participation indicators 

 
Track Record: 

• Evidence of programme planning to meet local /district needs  

• Experience of successful external funding applications. 

• Experience of partnership working across organisations to further 
develop youth services for young people. 

• Evidence of consortium approaches to planning and delivery of 
services. 

 

Page 7



Delivery Concept 

• Young people influencing the planning, delivery and evaluation of 
services. 

• Be fully accessible for young people who are Looked After or who have 
learning Difficulties and Disabilities. 

• Provision that is supporting the Integrated Youth Support Strategy 

• Demonstrate value for money in provision of universal/ targeted youth 
work. 

 
 
Commissioning Group 
 
To ensure there is a broad range of experience available to guide the process 
there will be a number of organisations/ agencies represented on the 
Commissioning Group. This group will assess all applications including those 
from organisations not invited for interview.   

• Police/ Community Safety 

• Fire & Rescue 

• Link Forum 

• 14-19 Partnership/LSC 

• PCT- Strategic Lead 

• Neighbourhood Pathfinder Organisation 

• C&YPD 

• Representative from Transport 

• Members of the Executive Youth Board 
 
 

Page 8



Annex B 
 

Positive Activities : Cost Explanation 
 

Positive Activities for Young People (Or PAYP as it is more commonly known) 
was introduced by the government in 2003 as a source of diversionary activity 
for young people at risk of becoming involved in criminal or antisocial 
behaviour. 

 
It deals with vulnerable young people identified as at risk by a range of 
factors.  These young people have widely differing needs and present a 
variety of challenges to key workers and activity providers working with them. 

 
The outcomes that have been identified for Wirral PAYP have been aligned 
with the Wirral Children’s and Young People Plan and the Local Area 
Agreement Priorities and were laid out in the scope of the tender 
documentation. 
 
Diversionary activities take place over the school holidays and in the financial 
year 2009/2010 this will represent 8 holiday weeks.  In the next financial year 
2010/2011 there will be 13 weeks holidays to cover. 
 
Potential providers will seek to offer full time places for young people. 
 
A full time place is defined as a minimum of 15 hours per week.  Over 8 
holiday weeks of this financial year a full time place will be equivalent to 120 
hours (8 weeks x15 hours).  A full time place in a 13 week holiday year will 
therefore be equivalent to 195 hours (13 weeks x15 hours) 
 
Up to 3 young people may access a FTE.  For instance, in this financial year 
one person may attend all 120 hours of activity or 2 young people may access 
60 hours each or 3 young people may access 40 hours each.  The rationale 
behind these limits is to encourage retention on programmes which in turn is 
more likely to elicit positive outcomes.  
 
Costs 
 
In a normal year of 13 weeks holiday a FTE place will cost £1350 – a figure 
determined by the DfES, now DCSF. 
 
The available budget for this financial year is £93,790 and the figure available 
for 2010/2011 is £152,550. 
 
This financial year the cost for 8 weeks will therefore be £830 per FTE (8/13 x 
£1350) 
 
We will be seeking to purchase 113* places per year.  The only difference is 
the cost per place as we are only purchasing a pro rata number of weeks this 
financial year. 
 
* 113 places is calculated by dividing the available budget by the cost for a full 
time place. This year 94584/830 = 113.95, and next year 153700/1350 = 
113.85 

Page 9



Page 10

This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX C 
 
 

PAYP – ORGANISATIONS WHO APPLIED 
 
 
 
 
 

T1 Black Box Merseyside Ltd 
 

 

T2 Activate Arts Limited Through to Stage 2 
 

T3 Birkenhead Youth Club 
 

 

T4 Fairbridge Through to Stage 2 
 

T5 Positive Futures Through to Stage 2 
 

T6 Merseyside Police  
 

T7 Wallasey School Through to Stage 2 
 

T8 Liverpool PSS Through to Stage 2 
 

T9 Youth Offending Service Through to Stage 2 
 

T10 Village Youth Projects  
 

T11 Blossom Be Inspired  
 

T12 Youth Federation Through to Stage2  
 

T13 Involve Northwest – did not go 
through-incomplete tender 

 

 

Page 11



Page 12

This page is intentionally left blank



 
Organisation: 
 
Tender No.  

 
Panel member: 

 
Presentation: Title: Your vision for PAYP in promoting better outcomes for young people. 
 
Areas to look for: 

• Move into EET                                       

• Reduction in minor offending                 

• Reduction in substance misuse 

• Reduction in truancy levels 

• Involvement in other positive activities such as 
volunteering 

 
 

 

• Make more informed choices on health, behaviour etc 

• Positive engagement in the community 

• Able to plan realistically “What’s next” 

• Describe distance travelled on the programme 

• Accredited outcomes 
 

Comments: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Score:     0    No mention of areas 
                1 
                3 
                5    Mentioned all areas 
 

 
Overall Score: 
 

APPENDIX D 

P
a
g
e
 1

3



Provider:      Panel Member:        
 

Question 
 

Key words Notes/Comments Score 
 

1. In your opinion what 
constitutes a good PAYP 
placement? In terms of: 

• Referrals 

• Retention 

• Outcomes 

• Safeguarding 
 

• Reaching out for hard to reach 
young people 

• Confidentiality and data 
sharing, policies etc 

• Moving on young people 

• reduction in crime 

• Greater school attendance 

• Improved EET outcomes 

  
0  1  3  5  

       

2. Activities need to be 
balanced in terms of 
enjoyment by the young 
people against 
development 
opportunities. What 
activities are you 
proposing that will meet 
these aims and how will 
these be monitored 

 
 

• Variety of activities to attract 
young people 

• Possible rewards in the form 
of exciting activities for 
attendance 

• Planning with the young 
people 

• Ongoing evaluations by staff 
and young people 

• Partnership working 

• Robust monitoring evidence 

  
0  1  3  5 

3. Tell us about what 
partnership working you 
have had experience of 
and the partnerships you 
anticipate working with on 
the PAYP programme 

 

• Previous named partnerships 

• Actual examples of success 

• How many, how long? 

• Approaches made to future 
partnership working. 

• Local Needs 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
0  1  3  5 

4. How will work tackling 
health and other 
inequalities be 
incorporated into your 
programme? 

• Equal Opportunity policies 

• Healthy eating activities 

• Awareness raising sessions 

 
 
 
 
 

 
0  1  3  5 

 

P
a

g
e
 1

4



APPENDIX E 

 

Supplier Total Score Rank Order Activity Area Locality 
 

Youth Federation T12 19.75 1 Cultural activities, sport 
outdoor, personal 
development 
 

Birkenhead 
Wirral wide 

Fairbridge  T4 16.5 2 Personal and social 
development 
Outdoor based and 
residential 
 

Wirral wide 

YOS   T9 15.5 3 Scuba diving, outdoor 
activities, citizenship, first aid. 
Community care 
 

Wirral wide 

Activate Arts  T2 11.75 4 Dance, drama, singing, 
creative dance and writing 
qualification 

Wallasey 
Birkenhead 
Wirral wide 
 

Positive Futures T5 11.00 5 Sports, fitness 
Residential (Oaklands) 

All districts 
Wirral wide 
 

Wallasey School T7 8.50 6 Residential, sports, social 
personal development 
 

Wirral wide 

Liverpool PSS T8 
(Young carers) 

7.25 7 Awesome walls activities to 
be decided by young people, 
kayaking orienteering 
 

All Districts  
Except Wallasey 

P
a
g
e
 1

5



P
a

g
e
 1

6

T
h

is
 p

a
g

e
 is

 in
te

n
tio

n
a
lly

 le
ft b

la
n
k



  

WIRRAL COUNCIL  
 
 
CABINET – 23RD  JULY 2009 
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN’S SERVICES 
 
PRACTICAL COOKING SPACES  
SCHEME AND ESTIMATE REPORT FOR ST ANSELM’S COLLEGE AND UPDATE ON 
PROGRAMME 
 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
This report updates members on the progress of the DCSF initiative to establish practical 
cooking spaces in four secondary schools to support the introduction of compulsory Food 
Technology at Key Stage 3.  As the schemes are valued greater than £250,000 Cabinet 
approval is required.  It is recommended that the scheme and estimate for one of the projects 
at St Anselm’s College be approved from details contained within this report and that officers 
be instructed accordingly and that the progress of the other projects be noted. 
 
1.0 Background 
 
1.1 In January 2008, the Secretary of State announced that learning to cook a range of 

simple, nutritious meals from basic ingredients should be a compulsory entitlement for 
every 11-14 year old in a maintained school from September 2011.  To deliver this 
DCSF intend to make food technology compulsory in Key Stage 3 from this date. 

 

1.2 DCSF invited bids from authorities to fund works in schools which had no existing food 
technology facilities (including practical kitchens) and no access to facilities at other 
establishments.  Four secondary schools were identified from asset management 
records not to be able to meet this new requirement; these were: Wirral Grammar 
School for Boys, Calday Grammar School, St Anselm’s College and Kilgarth School, 
and this position was subsequently confirmed by each school.  

 

1.3 The LA bid was successful for all four schools and the DCSF have allocated a total 
amount of £1,245,000 which includes the VAT element for St Anselm’s due to it being 
an Aided School; this equates an average £300,000 per school to create either new 
build facilities or to reconfigure existing space within the school to deliver this 
specialist curriculum activity, although the spend at each site will vary according to the 
scope of the works required to deliver this curriculum requirement. 

 
2.0 Practical Cooking Spaces – Project Proposals 

2.1 Wirral Grammar School for Boys - The proposed scheme will require the relocation of 
the extensive changing room provision from within the main school to a new extension 
in the Leverhulme Sports Hall.  This will allow the vacated space of around 180m2 to 
be used to create two cookery teaching spaces plus preparation area.  The area 
created will meet the requirements as set out in Building Bulletin (BB) 81.  As a 
Foundation School, the school in conjunction with its architects are finalising the 
project details, with a scheme and estimate report expected to be presented to 

Agenda Item 4

Page 17



  

Cabinet later in the year.  This work will build on recent investment to remove all 
mobile accommodation from the school, funded through a successful LA Targeted 
Capital bid. 

 
2.2 Calday Grammar School - The revised proposal involves the redevelopment of a 

separate teaching block, which is currently allocated to Sixth Form Teaching.  Two 
classrooms will be linked and redeveloped to create a state-of-the-art teaching facility 
for cooking, meeting the requirements of BB81.  The scheme will require the 
redevelopment of space within the main school in order to relocate the Sixth Form 
teaching spaces which will be lost as a result of the redevelopment project.  This is an 
exciting project however, due to financial constraints, the original proposal of new 
build for cooking has not been possible.  The school is currently working with the 
architect to finalise the project plans and a full estimate of costs will be presented to 
Cabinet in due course.  We anticipate the project will exceed £250,000 but will fall 
within the £300,000 allocated to Calday.  The project will be put to tender and, 
together with the approved contractor, it will be managed by the school and its 
architect, as a Foundation School project. 

 
2.2 Kilgarth School – A more modest scheme is being undertaken at this school due to the 

number of pupils at the school and the availability of teaching space.  However, an 
exciting development of an existing space has been drawn up by Facilities 
Management Project Officers which will allow pupils to develop the required skills to 
meet DCSF’s Key Stage 3 targets. This scheme does not exceed £250,000 and will be 
authorised under delegated authority. 

2.3 St Anselm’s College – This scheme is a very exciting new-build within the grounds of 
the existing school. Due to anticipated inclusion of St Anselm’s within the Building 
Schools for the Future (BSF) programme internal adaptations were not appropriate. 
The following paragraphs explain this scheme in more detail. 

 

3.0 St Anselm’s College Project Outline 
 

3.1 The scheme provides a dedicated food technology and multi-functional teaching 
space within a new purpose built single storey structure. The siting of this structure 
utilises an underused section of the school site which offers direct connection to the 
current school dining space. This has the potential not only to create a pleasant 
external environment, but provides a visible link between the growing and cooking of 
healthy foods and the link between the existing dining space, creating a “Food Hub”. 
This project is seen as an exemplar design for environmentally sensitive design and 
construction.  It is also a location which will complement the future main Building 
Schools for the Future redevelopment. 

3.2 The building is a clear expression of the internal function; the food technology space is 
naturally lit through large north lights that externally provide a dynamism and balance 
to the building form (the roof in this section will appear to have been “tilted”). This 
feature will also aid in the energy efficiency of the building by reducing the reliance on 
artificial light. 

3.3 Using simple structural principles, the building aims to be as efficient as possible, 
using lightweight blocks and super insulation provide exceptional thermal resistance. 
Under floor heating and the use of heat recovery will also aid the efficiency and 
economic operation of the building, with external heat gain minimised by shading the 
windows to the south side of the building. 

 

Page 18



  

3.4 Natural ventilation will be used throughout the building with the orientation of opening 
windows facilitating air flow.  The mechanical plant will be exposed within the food 
room which will provide both an efficient solution but also an educational focus.  

3.5 Externally, the building has been designed to work with existing trees and shrubs, 
including a prominent oak tree. The proposed food growing areas are supplemented 
by existing edible vegetation adding a new dimension to the learning experience. 
Gabion walls and timber decking will provide the basis of an environmentally sensitive 
landscape design. Biodiversity will be encouraged around the setting of the building. 
The environmental features are seen as both essential for Governments’ carbon 
reduction targets but will provide invaluable teaching tools. 

3.6 It is acknowledged that the design of this “eco” building could be enhanced further but, 
current financial constraints will mean that these will have to be introduced at a later 
date e.g. sedum roof, solar panels and rainwater harvesting. 

 

4.0 Financial Implications 
 
4.1 It is proposed that the St Anselm’s scheme will be procured as a single stage tender 

selective competitive tender during August 2009 and the selected contractor will 
commence work on site in September 2009 with completion anticipated April 2010. 

 
4.2 All Professional Services for the scheme have been procured by the schools 

governing body and are being provided by Studio Three Architects, under contract to 
the school, as an Aided school. 

 

4.3 The estimate for the proposed work is set out below: 

 

Building costs & finishes      £ 172,760.00 

Mechanical Installation                £   33,000.00 

Electrical Installation      £   31,000.00 

Services & external works      £   32,400.00 

Provisional sum & contingencies     £   50,000.00 

     SUB TOTAL           £ 319,160.00 

Architectural fees including: -              

Professional Fees, Clerk Of Works Salary,  

CDM Coordinator, Site Surveys, Building Regulation Fees   

and Planning Fees       £   61,185.00 

Furniture, Fittings & Equipment                                   £   20,000.00 

      TOTAL   £400,345.00 

 

4.4 Funding for the proposed scheme will be met from DCSF 

Capital funding for Practical Cooking Spaces.   £400,345.00 

 
4.5 Whilst an indicative allocation of £300,000 per school (+ VAT in Aided Schools) has 

been given, Authorities have been given the flexibility to retain any savings made for 
example on procurement savings.  It is anticipated that by using the Council’s 

Page 19



  

Schedule of Rates contracts at Kilgarth School, there will be additional funding for 
other identified projects, such as the above scheme at St Anselm’s College. 

 
5.0 Staffing Implications 
 
5.1 There are no staffing implications for the school within the proposals during or 

following completion arising from this report.  The required CYPD support to this 
project will be provided by existing staff. 

 
6.0 Equal Opportunities Implications 
 
6.1 Access will be provided for children and adults with disabilities to all areas of the 

proposed works. 
 
6.2 There are no specific implications in this report for equal opportunities specifically in 

relation to women, ethnic minorities, or the elderly. 
 
7.0 Community Safety Implications 
 
7.1 The design of this project will take into account best practice to reduce the risk of 

crime. 

 
7.2 There is an existing CCTV system in place. 
 
8.0 Local Agenda 21 Implications 
 
8.1 The extension will incorporate the latest technology features for sustainable building 

and the use of materials which will provide a large degree of de-construction and 
recycling ability. 

 
8.2 Thermal insulation is to be provided to meet the standards and guidelines 

recommended by the DCSF in the school premises regulations 1996 and part L2 of 
the Building Regulations.  The design will also follow the DETR/DCSF guidelines for 
“Energy efficient design of new buildings and extensions for schools and colleges.” 

 
8.3 Low energy electrical fittings together with an intelligent lighting system, solar water 

heating, solar glass to prevent heat gain, heating controls and water saving devices 
will all be used as far as possible to help reduce the consumption of natural resources. 

 
8.4 All timber used will be from sustainable sources as by regulated by the FSC (Forestry 

Stewardship Council) or equivalent. 
 
8.5 The successful contractor will be requested to employ 60% local labour and source 

materials from local suppliers once construction commences, this will be monitored by 
officers involved in the contract. 

 
8.6 A “Site Waste Management Plan” will be incorporated in line with recent statutory 

requirements. 
 
9.0 Planning Implications 
 
9.1 Planning permission and building regulations approval will be required for this 

scheme, and applications will be submitted by the Architect on behalf of the school. 
 

Page 20



  

10.0 Anti-Poverty Implications 
 
10.1 There are none arising directly from this report. 
 
11.0 Social Inclusion Implications 
 
11.1 The scheme will provide full accessibility for pupils, staff and visitors in a safe and 

inclusive environment. 
 
12.0 Local Member Support Implications 
 
12.1 St Anselm’s College is in the Claughton Ward, Wirral Grammar Boys is in the 

Clatterbridge Ward, Calday Grammar School is in the Royden Ward and Kilgarth 
School is in the Birkenhead Ward. 

 
13.0 Background Papers 
 
13.1 A number of sketch plans are attached, outlining the proposed scheme layout. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

That 

 (1)  The Scheme and Estimate for St Anselm’s College as presented be approved. 

 (2) Approval be given for St Anselm’s College to obtain tenders for the scheme 
and the Director of Children’s Services use his delegated powers, if 
appropriate, to accept the lowest bona fide tender and report back to a future 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

(3)  The appointed Architect in consultation with the nominated person from CYPD 
be authorised to obtain all necessary statutory approvals for the scheme. 

4)  The progress of the DCSF Initiative for Practical Cooking Spaces is noted. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Howard Cooper 
Director of Children’s Services 
 

Page 21



Page 22

This page is intentionally left blank



S I T E  P L A N  -  P R O P O S E D

SITE PLAN 

SCALE 1:200 

P
a
g
e
 2

3



P L A N

PLAN 

SCALE 1:100

P
a

g
e
 2

4



S E C T I O N  A : A

SECTION A:A

SCALE 1:100

P
a
g
e
 2

5



D E S I G N  D E V E L O P M E N T

INWARD LOOKING

ASPECT CREATES LINK

WITH DINING ROOM

EXISTING OAKTREE

BUILDING ENTRANCEAT

CONVERGENCE OF

ROUTESTHROUGHTHE

MASSING MODEL

NOTES:

Early exploration of design concept. 

P
a

g
e
 2

6



  

WIRRAL COUNCIL  
 
 
CABINET – 23RD JULY 2009 
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN’S SERVICES 
 
APPOINTMENT OF TECHNICAL ADVISER TO THE WIRRAL ACADEMY/BSF 
PROGRAMME UNDER THE NATIONAL PARTNERSHIPS FOR SCHOOLS (PFS) 
FRAMEWORK. 
__________________________________________________________________________ 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
There is a requirement for the Council to appoint a Technical Adviser to the Wirral 
Academy/BSF Programme under the national Partnerships for Schools (PfS) framework, 
initially to implement the agreed capital works at Birkenhead High School Academy, but with 
the provision for further Academy and Building Schools for the Future (BSF) works.  The 
report seeks approval to use the Partnerships for Schools procurement framework for 
Technical Adviser/Project Manager appointments.  The report requires Cabinet approval as 
the funding allocation for the first two Academies from PfS exceeds £250,000. 
 
1.0 Background 
 
1.1 This report seeks approval to the appointment of a single Technical Adviser 

organisation, using the national Partnerships for Schools framework, in order to 
 
 (i) move to the practical implementation of the capital investment at Birkenhead 

High School Academy, currently Birkenhead High School for Girls (Academy 
1), to be known as Birkenhead High School – an independent 3 – 19 Academy 

 
(ii) the provision to appoint the same Technical Advisers to the development of 

proposals in  respect of the proposed new Academy for boys in Birkenhead 
(Academy 2) 

 
 (iii) makes provision under the PfS Technical Advisers framework for an option for 

 the Technical Adviser appointed for Academies 1 and 2 to be retained to advise 
 on the full Wirral BSF Phase 1 programme. 

 
1.2 The proposal to appoint a Technical Adviser to Academies 1 and 2, with an option to 

retain on Wirral BSF Phase 1 is a result of discussions between the LA and 
Partnerships for Schools with regard to the procurement of these two Academies.  
Following these discussions, a decision has been taken by PfS, in agreement with the 
Children and Young People’s Department (CYPD) and Birkenhead High School 
(Academy 1) to jointly procure Academies 1 and 2 under the national PfS Academies 
Framework and appoint the same Technical Adviser to both.  The office of the 
Schools Commissioner and the DCSF are also in agreement with this approach. 

 
1.3 These are seen to be advantages to PfS, the LA, Birkenhead High School (Academy 

1) and Academy 2 in such a joint procurement.  For the LA it offers quicker delivery of 
Academy 2, the new boys Academy as the alternative would be for this to be part of 
full BSF phase 1, which would result in a later delivery date.  Joint procurement also 
allows for some economy of scale in the costs and scope of Technical Adviser support 

Agenda Item 5

Page 27



  

and makes best use of the existing, small CYPD team dealing with capital and 
property issues.  There is a further benefit in that the Academies Framework process 
and documentation shares a great deal with the PfS One School Pathfinder 
procurement process used at Woodchurch High School, there is therefore an existing 
degree of familiarity with parts of the process. 

 
1.4 PfS are also interested in Academies 1 and 2 being delivered as quickly as possible 

and see this as the best procurement route.  The joint package of Academy 2, a new 
build high school of a relatively modest size, 750 pupils and an extensive programme 
of extension and refurbishment on a restricted and challenging site at Academy 1, 
Birkenhead High School, also produces a single package of works which will be more 
attractive to the market than two stand alone schemes.  For Birkenhead High School, 
and Academy 2 the prospect of significant major works in future phases of work on 
Wirral should act as a powerful incentive for the company appointed to perform well 
on their early projects. 

 
1.5 Capital funding for both schemes will be allocated from national funding by PfS.  In the 

case of Academy 1, Birkenhead High School, approx £10 million will be allocated to 
the school.  This is an additional amount to the capital which Wirral is expected to 
receive under Building Schools for the Future.  The capital funding for Academy 2, the 
new boys Academy will also come from national funding, via PfS.  In this instance the 
funding will be deducted from future BSF allocations to Wirral, as the scheme is part 
of the solution to Birkenhead secondary surplus places and school condition issues, 
which were identified as a priority under full BSF. 

 
1.6 Funding for both schemes will be from Treasury, to PfS, to the LA who will be the 

accountable body for expenditure.  Cabinet on 26.6.08 agreed “provisional approval to 
CYPD to lead on the procurement of a new Academy at Birkenhead High School 
should the Secretary of State’s decision be that the new Academy should proceed to 
implementation and that this should be at no financial risk to the Council” (Minute 82).  
The Secretary of State agreed to enter into a Formal Funding Agreement for Academy 
1, Birkenhead High School Academy on 27th February 2009.  In respect of Academy 
2, the new boys Academy the Secretary of State has agreed a Statement of Intent, the 
first step, on 24th June 2009.  A similar Funding Agreement and specific capital 
allocation for Academy 2 will be made in due course as the approval process 
progresses.  The two capital funding allocations will be completely separate and ring 
fenced to each scheme. 

 
1.7 The capital allocations provided by PfS include £400,000 for the procurement of 

Technical Adviser support to implement the approval and subsequent procurement 
process, using the PfS Contractor Procurement Framework, which is an updated 
version of that used on the Woodchurch One School Pathfinder scheme.  This is a 
requirement of the funding allocations.  It is proposed to use the PfS Framework for 
the procurement of Technical Adviser support using a listing of fourteen companies 
who have been “pre-procured” by PfS.  This is the same principle as in the PfS 
Contractor Procurement Framework last used to select the contractor for the new 
Woodchurch High School One School Pathfinder.  The PfS Contractor Framework will 
also be used to select the single contractor for Academies 1 and 2. 

 
1.8 A suite of standard documentation is used to procure Technical Adviser support under 

the PfS framework.  This documentation supports the following stages in the 
procurement process: 

  

Page 28



  

(i) Expression of Interest sent to all companies on the PfS framework list for 
Technical Adviser support – this was sent out on   30.06.09 

 (ii) Responses received from interested companies – deadline  07.07.09 
(iii) Invitation to tender issued to interested companies   08.07.09 
(iv) Deadline for submission of tenders    22.07.09 
(v) Evaluation of tenders by      29.07.09 
(vi) Interviews for shortlisted companies    30.07.09 
(vii) Formal appointment – subject to Cabinet approval on   31.07.09 
 23.7.09 to appoint the successful company using the  
 PfS Framework 

 
1.9 This report was written at the start of the process set out above and a verbal update 

on the selection process can be given to Cabinet on 23.07.09.  This timescale will 
allow for mobilisation of the chosen Technical Adviser company in mid-August to 
progress the capital works at Birkenhead High School (Academy 1) through the 
design development phase as quickly as possible from the start of the Autumn Term 
and also to be in place for the next key steps, in respect of the new boys Academy 
(Academy 2). 
 

1.10 Academy 3, for which the Statement of Intent was signed by the Secretary of State on 
24.06.09, is not included in this procurement of Technical Adviser support as the 
current Park High School is part of the nine school Wirral grouped PFI scheme.  The 
PFI contract, signed in 2001, runs until 2031.  As in all PFI contracts, the private 
provider with whom the Council has a contract is also the key partner in the 
procurement and delivery of capital infrastructure works in the school, carried out 
under detailed contractual arrangements in the PFI contract.  There will therefore 
need to be detailed discussions between the sponsors of the new Academy, PfS, the 
PFI provider and the Council to set out the procurement routes and agreements for 
capital investment at this site.  These premises were extended, extensively re-
modelled and refurbished as part of the PFI contract approximately six years ago and 
therefore capital requirements are likely to be less than Academy 2, the new build.  
Investment here will also be ‘top sliced’ from future Wirral BSF allocations for the 
reasons set out in 1.4 above for Academy 2. 

 
2.0 Financial and Staffing Implications 
 
2.1 The cost of the Technical Adviser support, up to £400,000 will be met as part of the 

capital allocation from PfS.  The contract for this support will require careful 
management to ensure no additional financial risk to the Council, either through the 
allocation being overspent or through contractual issues. 

 
2.2 The Academy programme will require additional project support to that currently 

available in the Children and Young Peoples Department.  In addition to the 
requirements set out here for the LA responsibilities for Academies 1, 2 and 3, there is 
a requirement to provide additional project support to draw up the LA’s Expression of 
Interest for BSF Phase 1.  The LA has been ranked as a potential early entrant to 
Phase 1, ahead of our previous entry date of 2015, and Phase 1 will fund major works 
at St Anselm’s College and extensive secondary special estate renewal.  It is 
proposed that the initial additional staffing requirements for the Academy programme 
set out in this report and Phase 1 of BSF are the subject of a further report. 

 
2.3 In terms of risk to the Council arising from the capital works at each of the Academy 

sites, the basic financial risk is the same as that on the current Woodchurch High 

Page 29



  

School.  The need to work jointly with sponsors is more complicated than the 
Woodchurch project and will require dedicated staff to provide continuity to minimise 
risk.  Under the PfS Academy Framework, Academy procurement has to be via the 
LA. 

 
3.0 Equal Opportunities Implications 
 
3.1 The works at Academy 1 are at a single sex girls school located in the same 

geographical area of the borough as Prenton High School for Girls.  Academy 2 is a 
single sex boys school which it is proposed to locate in the same area.  Academy 3 
provides a mixed-sex option for the same area. 

 
3.2 New and refurbished premises will provide enhanced accessibility in comparison with 

current provision. 
 
4.0 Community Safety Implications 
 
4.1 There are none arising directly from this report. 
 
5.0 Local Agenda 21 Implications 
 
5.1 There are none arising directly from this report. 
 
6.0 Planning Implications 
 
6.1 All works funded from the capital allocations set out in this report will be the subject of 

the standard planning and building control requirements. 
 
7.0 Anti-poverty Implications/Social inclusion Implications 

 
7.1 Academy proposals are designed to support educational disadvantage in deprived 

areas. 
 
8.0 Local Member Support Implications 
 
8.1 Academies 1, 2 and 3 are intended to primarily serve the Birkenhead area but will 

have potential impact and implications for secondary school provision over a wider 
area.  The sites for Academies 1 and 3 are in Claughton Ward, the site for Academy 2 
has yet to be determined.  In respect of BSF Phase 1, St Anselm’s is in Claughton 
Ward and the special school proposals have implications for all Wards, given that they 
take children from across the borough. 

 
9.0 Background Papers 
 
9.1 DCSF Academy Guidance documents; 

PfS Technical Adviser Framework document; 
PfS Standard Tender documentation; 
PfS Scope of Services documentation; 
PfS Academy Procurement documentation; 
Cabinet Reports on Birkenhead High Academy and Secondary Place Review in 
Birkenhead; 
CYPD Working Papers. 

 

Page 30



  

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That 
 
The Cabinet: 
 
 (1) Approve the appointment of the Technical Adviser under the Partnership for 

Schools (PfS) Framework in respect of works at Birkenhead High School 
(Academy 1). 

 
 (2) Approve the provisions for the same Technical Adviser to be appointed 

Academy 2 and BSF Phase 1. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Howard Cooper 
Director of Children’s Services 

Page 31



Page 32

This page is intentionally left blank



  

WIRRAL COUNCIL 
 
CABINET       23 JULY 2009 
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN’S SERVICES 
 

 
AIMING HIGH FOR DISABLED CHILDREN  
 
Executive Summary 
 
This report provides an update on progress on the Wirral Local Area Implementation 
programme for Aiming High for Disabled Children in relation to Short Breaks 
provision. The approach seeks to transform services across sectors to provide 
support to achieve the best outcomes for children and young people with disabilities 
and enable children and their families to live ordinary lives.  
 
The Government are requiring the Council and Primary Care Trust to provide for a 
stepped change to short breaks services and to deliver on what is termed the Full 
Service Offer, (See Appendix 1) designed to meet the needs of all groups of disabled 
children. The report advises on action taken in meeting the reporting and 
performance requirements set out by Together for Disabled Children, who are 
administering the programme on behalf of the DCSF; prior to April 2009 and the 
further steps required over the next two years to March 2011.  
 
1. Background  
 
1.1 Context 
 
Aiming High for Disabled Children supports and delivers the aims of Every Child 
Matters and the Children’s National Service Framework (NSF) and more recently the 
Child Health Strategy. Central to all of these initiatives is an emphasis on joined up 
working and services which are centred around children and their families. The 
Government recognises that the individual needs of disabled children and their 
families are best met through a personal and tailored response from both universal 
and specialist services. The Government also knows that until now, too many 
families with disabled children have struggled to get the support they need, rather 
than having ‘the system’ meeting their needs effectively. 
 
1.2 Vision 
 
The national vision behind Aiming High for Disabled Children is “for all families with 
disabled children to have the support they need to live ordinary family lives as a 
matter of course”.  
 
To deliver this vision, Aiming High for Disabled Children has three priority areas: 
 
Access and empowerment 
 

Agenda Item 6

Page 33



  

The national expectations of the Core Offer will help make services more accessible. 
Children, young people and their families will be actively involved in the planning and 
delivery of services in their local area. 
 
Responsive services and timely support 
 
All professionals responsible for planning services for children, both locally and 
nationally, will focus on the services disabled children and young people need, 
particularly at key life stages such as the early years and in transition to adulthood. 
 
Improving quality and capacity 
 
Significant new funding has been allocated to the services families want and need, in 
particular short break services which families have described as their key priority. 
 
1.3 Making the system work better to deliver better outcomes 
 
Measures to make the system work better are an important feature of the Aiming 
High for Disabled Children programme. Together, these measures reflect a new 
national and local priority for disabled children. They include: 
 
§ A new national indicator on services for disabled children which will be used to 

measure the experience of families with disabled children, and help us better 
understand the performance of local authorities and the NHS across England. 

§ A Core Offer to disabled children and families – a national set of expectations 
around information, transparency, participation, assessment and feedback. 
These standards will help shape local services. 

§ Work to improve the quality and quantity of information held locally and centrally 
on disabled children, their families and the services they need. 

 
Over the next two years, as the funding and programme reforms take effect, the 
Government expects local authorities to realise the ambition that: 
 
§ Disabled children will have the same opportunities to develop and fulfil their 

potential as all other children. 
§ Families with disabled children will get the support they need, when they need it. 
§ Universal children’s services will be more genuinely inclusive of disabled 

children, including those with complex needs. 
§ Disabled children will be at the heart of the ongoing change programme for 

children’s services. 
 
2.0  Aiming High Short Breaks  
 
2.1 Funding allocation  
 
The Short Breaks funding allocation for Wirral is: 
 

 Revenue Capital 

2009/10 500.9k 252.2k 

2010 /11 1615.7k 588.5k 

Page 34



  

 
The other National funding streams for the programme are: 
§ Child Care - £35m – The Government has set up pilot sites and will provide 

funding in the next financial year 
§ Transition Support - £19m – Wirral received £10,000 in 2008/9 to undertake a 

self assessment of current arrangements, and a similar sum in 2009/10 to 
develop its action plan further. 

§ Parents Forum - £5m – Benchmarking guidance has been provided as part of 
the initial assessment. Local priorities will need to be the development of a 
dedicated information service and early adoption of a Carer Consultation Strategy 
by the Council and the NHS. Wirral has received £3,000 to further develop parent 
forum support and structures. 

 
All funding is channelled through the Sure Start, Early Years and Childcare Service 
Grant under the Aiming High for Disabled Children Funding Block. 
 
2.2 Funding Conditions: 
 
The memorandum of Grant makes clear that the Government will reduce or withdraw 
funding at any stage throughout the programme if progress is not made in line with 
reporting requirements or sufficiently evidenced.  The Council have been provided 
with a new Local Authority Implementation Plan format which it is required to submit 
on a 3 monthly basis to evidence progress in improving services. (See 2.3) 
 
§ Expenditure will not be rolled forwards into future years, this includes all of the 

capital expenditure which must be spent within the financial year. 
§ The funding must be used for new activity – and must not be used to substitute for 

existing preventative services or current short breaks activity. 
§ Funding out turns for previous years will be interrogated to ensure previous 

expenditure patterns are enhanced. 
§ The capital element must not be used to fund reasonable adjustment activity within 

Children` s Centres and Sure Start – and not to substitute replacement of existing 
residential provisions  

§ The expectation being that new services will be provided, not just to respond to 
critical needs and families in crisis, but also to improve quality of life. 

§ There is no indication of the level of funding from 2011/12 onwards 
 
 

2.3 Reporting requirements   
 
Together for Disabled Children published what it termed Readiness Criteria 
Standards in January 2009, with the requirement that evidence of planning should be 
submitted across nine key areas. This step was critical in so far that the Government 
has indicated that where Councils failed to meet these standards, funding may be 
withheld.  A detailed portfolio of information was submitted to the Local Programme 
Advisor who confirmed that the Council meets all of the standards.  
 
Following on from this, Together for Disabled Children has since published a Staged 
Progression Framework, with expectations that the Council and NHS will evidence 

Page 35



  

progress in working towards meeting the Full Service Offer for Short Breaks. This 
sets out 4 key objectives with 4 stages to be met, in terms of: 
 
§ Completion of an Initial Needs assessment and embedding consultation 
§ Evidencing via the Delivery Plan and effective data management, increased levels 

of provision 
§ Producing revised eligibility criteria for short breaks provision which parents feel 

are fair, and are consistently communicated and applied 
§ Providing a Workforce Plan which addresses the needs of universal service 

providers and specialist service providers    
 
The Delivery Plan attached, sets out how we will deliver short break service 
transformation and a more detailed Development Strategy is being drawn together 
which confirms our needs assessment (Appendix 2) 
 
 
2.4 Governance arrangements  
 
A new governance structure has been submitted and approved by the Strategic 
Partnership Board. This structure has now been introduced, with terms of reference 
and group membership confirmed. (Appendix 3a, 3b) 
 
The Executive Group will be extended to include representation from the Link Forum 
and a parental representative, and will oversee all elements of the Aiming High 
programmes.  
 
The Learning Disability and Difficulty (LDD) Plan for 2009- 2010 will need to be 
modified to respond to the emerging themes of the Core offer of the wider Aiming 
High programme.  
 
 
2.5 Project Management 
 
A Project Manager has been appointed for the 2 year period to oversee the delivery 
of the programme and Transformation Plan. Three further posts have been created 
within the project team to provide for capacity to ensure the programme now moves 
forwards at pace, in line with reporting requirements. All of these posts are fixed term 
contracts at this time. 

§ Inclusion and Development Officer (Specialist services) the post incumbent will 
focus on ensuring young people are consulted, that specialist services continue to 
develop person centred models of working and to set up an emergency support 
scheme. This post has been filled by a temporary secondment from the residential 
service into this position.  

§ Inclusion and Development Officer (Universal services) the post incumbent will 
focus on ensuring that new activities are developed and that young people are 
readily able to access universal provision. The post incumbent will also ensure 
effective monitoring of contracted activity.  This post has been filled after both 
internal and external advertisement.  

Page 36



  

§ Team Support Officer – this post holder will support the team in all administrative 
functions and support the team in improved data management, and information 
provision.   This post has now been filled by after both internal and external 
advertisement.  

 
2.6 Consultation and Engagement 
 
The views of children, young people and parents/carers are at the heart of the 
funding proposals.  We have undertaken a comprehensive consultation process to 
develop our Short Breaks vision and understand the needs of children and young 
people and parents/carers. This involved: 
 
§ A Consultation event in October 2008 to start developing the vision and 

understand needs from a parent and carers focus. 
§ A Children and young people’s event during October inclusion week. 
§ A Questionnaire sent to all parents (whose children have Special Educational 

Needs (SEN) in November 2008 
§ A feedback event in January 2009 – to confirm the vision and develop the 

priority areas in developing the Delivery Plan. 
§ Further consultation events are being undertaken with young people with a view 

to arranging taster days within the Easter and May Holiday periods. 
§ A newsletter is produced every 2 months to keep parents and carers up to date 

with developments. 
 

 A Consultation Strategy has been developed with parents, which members are 
asked to note (Appendix4).   
 
A training programme for parents and carers in engagement has been delivered and 
is currently being evaluated. Ongoing consultation throughout the next two years is a 
requirement of the programme, to evidence that change is being driven by children 
and families, and truly reflects their needs. 
 
2.7  Improving data management 
 
The Secretary of State has written to all Councils to reinforce the need for effective 
data management to drive forwards the increased investment in services. The Local 
Programme Advisor has been provided with an action plan which confirms our 
commitment to improvement in this area. 
 
3.0 Commissioning Intentions & Indicative Funding Proposals 
 
3.1 Revenue objectives 
 
Revenue proposals have been developed to: 
 
§ Address gaps in services, thus offering a greater range of options for children, 

young people and parents/carers. 
§ Strengthen systems for the involvement and engagement of children, young 

people and parents/carers. 

Page 37



  

§ Improve access to child care for disabled children, and to universal services: 
extended schools, children’s centres, leisure, youth and play services. 

§ Improve information for children, young people and parents/carers. 
§ Invest in developing and supporting the workforce to meet the needs of all 

children, including children with disabilities. 
§ Expand direct payments and pilot individual budgets. 
§ Develop an emergency support scheme, as a matter of priority. 
§ Increase the financial sustainability of provision throughout and following the 

programme 
 
3.2 Outline expenditure 
 
Within the Aiming High programme we have been required to confirm our Delivery 
Plan and provide an initial outline of our intentional spend in relation to both capital 
and revenue. (Appendix 5) 
 
3.3  Capital  
 
Proposals continue to be developed via the Capital Sub Group of the Aiming High 
programme with a key requirement that any offers to enhance service provision in 
universal services must be over and above Disability Discrimination Act 
requirements. At this stage a number of potential options are being evaluated by the 
Capital sub group, and firmer proposals will be submitted in relation to spend across 
both years.  
  
§ Adaptations – A nominal allocation has been proposed at this time based on 

providing several larger schemes of work and a number of smaller schemes 
§ Equipment – It is proposed to reserve funding for the purchase of hoists and 

beds which might permit other family members to offer support. Currently children 
are only allocated one set of equipment 

§ Transport – it is proposed to fund new vehicles for the family support and 
residential provision to improve community access  

§ Play equipment – Within the Play Strategy it is proposed to develop 4 play sites 
with enhanced facilities across the Borough. It is also proposed to allocate some 
funding to enhance Leisure services / other providers specialist equipment to 
improve the offer for young people with physical disabilities 

§ Sports and leisure facilities - it is proposed that schemes of work be 
considered at the Europa Pools, and other key sites. This will in both 
circumstances provide enhanced changing facilities which would be accessible 
during leisure activities and to improve community access for children with 
continence issues.  

§ Community based provision.  -  it is proposed to investigate the funding of a 
minor scheme of works with voluntary sector providers. A bidding scheme has 
been developed similar to that for the Extended schools 

§ Residential and Resource Centre – these items are purposely allocated to year 
2 of the programme, whilst a service review is conducted. Spend will also be 
linked into the Capital programme for children`s homes  

 
3.3  Increasing community based provision  
 

Page 38



  

In view of the timescale required to undertake a comprehensive commissioning 
process, it is proposed to review existing holiday scheme provision with a view to an 
increase of activity with current contracted providers and across school holiday 
schemes. This will be complimented by enhancing the range of the current leisure 
programmes on offer. 
   
3.4 Commissioning Brief 
 
All services will be commissioned using the Joint Strategic Commissioning 
Framework which will ensure that services are planned and secured to meet the 
needs of children, young people and their families and that services provide best 
value (considerations of quality and cost).   
 
A Commissioning Brief has now been developed and timelines for the 
commissioning process confirmed. It is recommended that existing service level 
agreements for play scheme provision should be reviewed within this process. It is 
therefore proposed to extend the current service level agreements with Wirral Play 
Council, Crossroads and Merseyside Autistic Childrens Society to December 31st  
2009   
 
 A Provider Event has been held to share with new and existing providers our Vision, 
our Commissioning intentions and processes. This will be followed by a Procurement 
workshop within the commissioning process. 
 
A separate Service Level Agreement is being developed for the provision of a 
Contract Carer scheme, which will be set up over the course of this autumn.  
 
3.5  Community Grants 
 
Within the programmes is it is proposed to make money available to community 
organisations and parent led groups who provide short breaks for disabled young 
people and their families. The purpose is to stimulate activity within this sector; this 
approach is viewed as good practice within this programme. It is proposed that these 
grants would be between £500 and £5,000 per year. This process will be less 
demanding than that of the commissioning brief, and more proportionate given the 
lower level of grant funding. Organisations would also be offered further advice 
within the process of other funding streams which they could apply to for funding.  
We are currently evaluating requests for grants by using a panel approach, to bring 
key stakeholders into the decision making process. This approach has been used by 
other Councils, and is seen as good practice within the Aiming High programme.  
Clear criteria will be attached to this funding to ensure it meets the targeted groups 
of young people. It will also be the expectation that groups receiving funding will 
support the programme by acting as a conduit for information distribution and to 
support consultation activity. 
 
3.6 Service Review 
 
It is proposed that a service review programme is instituted, beginning with 
residential short break provision. The Government published a review by Price 
Waterhouse Coopers (2007) “Market for Disabled Childrens Services – A Review” in 

Page 39



  

which it reinforced its view that there should be a clearer separation between the 
commissioning and provision of services within both the Council and NHS. Within 
Aiming High guidance the Council will be expected to review it’s provision to ensure 
we consider whether services should be commissioned with an external provider, or 
develop a service level agreement with such services. A more robust approach to 
the monitoring of costs and outcomes is similarly required. 
 
In addition the NHS are proposing to review it’s nursing services which will include : 
 

• Tertiary   • Hospital to Home          • Palliative 

• Continuing Care   • End of Life 
 

• Hospice from Home 

 
4.0 Analysis of the Transformation Plan: Implications and Challenges 
 
4.1 Residential provision 

 
The Children with Disability residential service has, over a number of years, changed 
from providing long term provision and a dependency model, to one of shared care 
and short breaks services to ensure children can remain happily within their families.  
The need for long term provision has reduced over the last few years and numbers 
of children looked after and / or placed out of Borough has significantly reduced, by 
the delivery of improved parenting support. Following concern expressed in the 2007 
Annual Performance Assessment about the lack of placement choice for long term 
placements, a tendering exercise was completed last year which has identified a 
number of local providers who could respond to this need within the private sector, 
as and when the need arose. 
 
A number of young people are also shortly to move into Adult provision which will 
leave significant capacity within the residential service at Rosclare House. It is 
proposed that a thorough review should be undertaken of both Willowtree and 
Rosclare to determine the future configuration of residential short break provision 
within Wirral, which reflects the further shift in balance to providing increased family 
based short breaks and family support. An increased alignment between the 
Children with Disabilities Service (CYPD) with the Learning Disability CAMHS 
service will underpin this approach, and reinforce effective parenting strategies.  
 
The service review will scope out the next stages of this development, and a further 
report will be presented to Cabinet, which provides recommendations for the 
structuring and best positioning of these services.  
 
4.2 Fostering provision 
 
The programme provides an opportunity to increase capacity in family based short 
break provision by developing a Contract carer scheme within Wirral, and should 
also provide opportunity to review the structure of current fostering provision for 
children with disabilities provided by the Council.  
 
A Contract Carer is a person who is paid a professional rate to provide support in 
their own home across the full year. Each Carer would typically provide 230 nights 

Page 40



  

support each year. Both of these elements will be critical in our meeting the full 
service offer, and should, over time, reduce the demands on residential provision,  
support greater choice and provide better value for money. The Shared Care 
Network is indicating a 60% lower unit cost for overnight care within a Contract Carer 
placement than residential care. 
 
In relation to the capital element of the Aiming High programme, this will support the 
adaptation of properties for the Contract Carers and the provision of equipment. The 
Council will need to put in place legal agreements with families where significant 
adaptations are made. It is envisaged that a number of schemes of work will need to 
be undertaken, which should be able to be managed in a timely fashion given our 
current adaptation expertise within the Council. The use of pod designs are also 
being considered, as they offer a quick and ready adaptation which can be put in 
place within weeks, and moved if the foster carer does not want to continue with the 
scheme. 
 
The Contract Carer scheme will be put within the tender arrangements to allow a full 
consideration of best value for money. This will also provide the fostering service for 
children with a disability, opportunity to consider the benefits of applying to increase 
their staffing compliment, review payment structures and promotional activity.   
 
4.3 Family Support Provision  
 
The children with disabilities service provides a team of family support workers who 
work with children with complex needs.  They provide planned and emergency 
support to children and families to prevent family breakdown by implementing 
various programmes, including parenting strategies and home based interventions to 
understand the child’s condition. From first level discussions approximately 20 young 
people with severe disabilities have been identified who would benefit from a wrap 
around approach. These teams will provide short breaks tailored to the young 
person’s needs. 
 
It is proposed that an additional post will be linked into the Social Communication 
Support Team which provides individualised short breaks and parenting support to 
young people with an Autistic Spectrum Disorder (ASD), where there is an acute risk 
of family breakdown. The indicative spend proposals look to increase the capacity of 
these specialist teams, or other specialist providers in a phased approach. The NHS 
are also considering the extension of these teams by also funding several posts in 
this area   
 
4.4 Workforce Development 
 
The Aiming High programme envisages significant workforce development – which 
Council services will need to support. A Workforce Group has now been established 
with the remit to ensure a coherent workforce plan, and a set of recommendations 
which will need to be considered jointly by the Council and NHS. 
 
4.5 Direct Payments 
 

Page 41



  

Through our approach to developing and managing the market, we will look afresh at 
the provision of Direct Payments; to ensure that parent / carers’ directly employing 
personal assistants remains a positive option. A number of new service providers 
have entered the market; who are offering support with the recruitment and training 
of personal assistants. Direct Payments workshops have focused up on improving 
support to parents with an information package ready for launch, and offering 
parents support on administrative and employment processes. Another key area for 
development will be in relation to the numbers of young people taking up payments 
at 16-17 years of age. With the enhanced project capacity it should be possible to 
create good links with the Transition Person Centred Review Group – which will be 
important in creating a new vision for young people as they reach adulthood. 
       
4.6 Individual Budgets 
 
Individual Budgets focus on a resource allocation process to improve the 
transparency of assessment decisions and choice of provision. The shape of 
schemes also envisage the potential to use different funding streams within the 
process, and some degree of flexibility being offered in how funds are used, to 
ensure that the specified outcomes of the care plan are met . At this time there is a 
pilot scheme being run within the Department of Adult Social Services. Nationally 
there are a number of new Pathfinders who are piloting an Individual Budget 
scheme, and they are committed to providing leadership in developing schemes for 
children. Locally we have a number of families who would be keen to join a pilot 
scheme.   
 
4.7 Emergency Support scheme 
 
Within the Delivery Plan it is proposed to develop this scheme as a key priority. The 
Inclusion and Development Officer will develop an outline scheme for submission.  
Work has been undertaken to consider what constitutes an emergency, which 
focuses mainly on the hospitalisation of close family members, or one off events 
such as funerals. The proposed scheme envisages a registration process to be set 
up, and following this an emergency plan to be developed with carers, which 
includes drawing together a support plan. 
 
Within the Commissioning Brief providers are being sought who will be able to 
arrange for staff to support families at short notice 
 
5 Financial implications 

 
The Aiming High for Disabled Children programme is grant funded. The 
revenue and capital allocations for 2009-10 and 2010-11 are shown in 
paragraph 2.1. 
 
The indicative spend plans are included in Appendix 5. 
 
There are no indications of the level of funding from 2011-12 onwards, 
although it is likely financial commitments for Short Breaks will increase. 
 

 
6 Staffing Implications 

Page 42



  

6.1  The programme will require increased Project Management capacity within 
year 2 to drive the Delivery Plan forwards. Close work will now be required 
with Human Resources to ensure key staff members are recruited quickly.  

6.2 The service review may recommend changes to the residential and family 
support teams.  

 
7 Equal Opportunities Implications 
 
7.1 The changes are driven by the imperative that disabled youngsters should 

have personal and developmental opportunities and be supported to lead an 
ordinary life as valued members of their community.  

 
7.2 Short breaks should therefore not just be used as a crisis intervention, but 

should also be used routinely to help parents and carers to maintain and 
improve the quality of care they naturally wish to provide. 

 
7.3 Within the first stages of the Transformation Plan a needs analysis will be 

undertaken to identify if there are groups of disabled children who currently do 
not receive effective support. 

 
7.4 Involving parents in the design of services is a critical part of this programme 

and the delivery of the Core offer. 
 
7.5 Young people with disabilities have more significant difficulties in 

communicating their preferences and will need more imaginative and 
individualised approaches in ensuring their involvement.   

 
 8 Human Rights Implications 
 
 Decisions on all aspects of the proposed changes will be informed by the 

Convention on Human Rights to ensure that the rights of children in our care 
and our employees are protected.  

 
9 Local Agenda 21 Implications 
 
 No specific implications emerging from this report. 
 
10 Community Safety Implications 
 
 Improved commissioning of care provision should reduce the vulnerability of 

disabled young people to bullying and for some young people to being 
engaged in or subject to crime. 

 
11 Planning Implications 

 
 None at this time 
 
12 Local Member Support Implications 

Page 43



  

 
 Disabled young people live in all wards.   
 

 
13 Background Papers 
 
 Aiming High for Disabled children 
 

Updates on these and other measures are available at 
 
www.everychildmatters.gov.uk/ahdc 
 
 
 
 

Recommendations 
 
1. To note the content of this report and request a further report with clear 

recommendations from the residential service review 
 
2. To note the Consultation Strategy for Parent Carers 
  
3. To note the Commissioning Brief and request a further report on the outcomes of 

the tender exercise  
 

 
Howard Cooper  
Director Childrens Services 
 
July 2009 
 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 

Appendix 1 

 
Appendix 2 

 
Appendix 3a 

 
3b Appendix 4 

 
Appendix 5 

 
Full Service 
Offer 

Delivery Plan Governance Structure Consultation 
Strategy 

Intentional 
Spend 

H:\CYPD\CHILDRENS 
SERVICES\CHILDRENS DISABILITY\Service Manager\Business Plans\aiming higher implementation\management board papers\Full Service Offer Appendix 1.doc

 
 

H:\CYPD\CHILDRENS 
SERVICES\CHILDRENS DISABILITY\Service Manager\Business Plans\aiming higher implementation\DELIVERY PLAN\Aiming High for Disabled Children Delivery Plan 180209.doc

 

H:\CYPD\CHILDRENS 
SERVICES\CHILDRENS 

 
 

H:\CYPD\CHILDRENS 
SERVICES\CHILDREN

 

H:\CYPD\CHILDRENS 
SERVICES\CHILDRENS 

 
H:\CYPD\CHILDRENS 
SERVICES\CHILDRENS

H:\CYPD\CHILDRENS 
SERVICES\CHILDRENS

 

 

Page 44



 

 
 
Appendix 1 
 
Full Service Offer 
 
A short breaks service should: 
 
§ be based on a needs assessment of the local disabled child population, taking into account 

the voice of disabled children, young people and their families (Participation and feedback); 
 

§ offer a significantly greater volume of short break provision set against a 2007-08 baseline, 
reflecting the additional funding levels available from Government; 
 

§ use fair, understandable and transparent eligibility criteria that enable short breaks to be 
used as a preventative service and which do not restrict provision to those threatened by 
family breakdown or other points of crisis (Assessment);  
 

§ offer a wide range of reliable local short break provision, tailored to families needs and 
including: 
 
a) support for disabled children and young people in accessing activities in universal 
settings, delivered through the following: 

–    the support of a befriending, sitting or sessional service; 
– measures that build the skills of universal service providers; 
– measures specific to severely disabled children that are undertaken to meet 

  their physical access requirements in universal settings. These would build 
on and exceed DDA compliance and ensure that the most disabled are not 
disadvantaged. 

 
b) overnight breaks, with care available in both the child’s own home and elsewhere. 
c) significant breaks during the day, with care available in the child’s own home 

and elsewhere: 
 

 
§ provide positive experiences for children by promoting friendships and by encouraging 

social activities, new experiences and supportive relationships with carers; 
 

§ provide culturally appropriate provision that meets the racial, cultural, linguistic and 
  religious needs of disabled children and their families; 

 
§ ensure that provision is available on a planned and regular basis and at the times when 

families and young people, need breaks – this should include evenings, weekends and 
holiday provision, and have the capacity to respond to urgent care requirements; 
 

§  provide fit for purpose and age appropriate provision which ensures the following 
groups are not disadvantaged in accessing short breaks: 

 
a) children and young people with ASD. These are likely to have other impairments, such as 
severe learning disabilities or have behaviour, which is challenging. Not all children on the 
Autistic Spectrum will require specialist additional short break services 
 
b) children and young people with complex health needs which includes those with disability 
and life limiting conditions who have reached the palliative care stage of their life cycle as 

Page 45



 

well as other children and young people with complex health needs as well as other 
impairments – physical, cognitive or sensory impairments. 
 
c) children and young people aged 11+ with moving and handling needs that will require 
equipment and adaptations. These children are likely to have physical impairments, and 
many of them will also have cognitive impairments and / or sensory impairments; 

 
d) children and young people where challenging behaviour is associated with other 
impairments (e.g. severe learning disability). Children in this group will display behaviour 
which challenges services or behaviour which causes injury to themselves or others; 
 
e) young people 14+. The young people who fall into this group are young people who are 
severely disabled and require services that are appropriate to their age. 
 

§ utilise the service provider that offers the best possible combination of skills and 
  experience to deliver services of the highest possible quality to meet individual needs at 
  the most efficient cost;  
 

§ promote information about available provision to the public, including details of eligibility 
      – including threshold criteria – and routes to accessing the service (Information and 

          transparency). 
 

 

Page 46



 

 
 
 
 

Aiming High for Disabled Children: Short Breaks 
Transformation Programme 

 

DELIVERY PLAN 

 

 

 

 

P
a
g
e
 4

7



Version 1 15/07/2009 – Will be updated monthly / confirmed with Steering Group/ Planning Group 1 

��WIRRAL 

P
a

g
e
 4

8



Version 1 15/07/2009 – Will be updated monthly / confirmed with Steering Group/ Planning Group 2 

OUR VISION:OUR VISION:OUR VISION:OUR VISION:    
 

We will transform the opportunities for short breaks available for disabled children, young people and 
their families in Wirral, to ensure families experience flexible and helpful support which supports them to 
lead ordinary family lives.  
 
This will be done through increasing the amount, range, choice and quality of activities and/or breaks, 
including specialist provision and support and by improving access to services and activities available to 
all children, young people and families, and by actively promoting their social inclusion. 
 
Fundamental to this transformation is a change in attitudes and practice in a wide range of services and 
organizations. We will work with stakeholders to promote inclusion as a responsibility of all services, 
including universal services, specialist disability services and families themselves. 
 
We will be family, child and person centred in our approach, promoting greater creativity and flexibility in 
planning, provision and service delivery to ensure that short breaks provision meets the needs of 
families, children and young people.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
a
g
e
 4

9



Version 1 15/07/2009 – Will be updated monthly / confirmed with Steering Group/ Planning Group 3 

KEY ROLES  
 

Role and Responsibility within this 
Plan  

Title Person 

Core Team members 

Aiming High Short Breaks Programme 
Lead with TDC 

Service Manager CYPD Clive Groves 

PCT Lead – Leading Complex Health 
activity / commissioning and workforce   

Childrens Integrated Service Manager Rosemary Curtis 

Operational Lead AHDC Project Manager Dawn Tolcher 
 

Project Team Members  
 
 
 
 

Inclusion and Development officer 

• Specialist services 
• Universal Services 

 
Louise Midwinter (Seconded) 
To be advertised 

   

   

   

Key Support Personnel   

Support in Commissioning activity  Contracts Manager Alison Abraham 

Supporting specialist service redesign  Residential Manager Debbie Kewley 

Supporting Direct Payments redesign Direct Payments Co-ordinator Lois Snow 

Workforce Strategy Lead  Training Manager CYPD  Huw Wilkie 

Engagement Leads Inclusion Manager SEN 
Partnership Manager 

John Williamson 
Tricia Moroney 

   

 
 
 
 

P
a

g
e
 5

0



Version 1 15/07/2009 – Will be updated monthly / confirmed with Steering Group/ Planning Group 4 

1. Engagement with parents and disabled children and young people.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Overview of approach: 
The engagement of parents, carers, disabled children and young people in the development of short break services 
and opportunities is underpinned by a strategic approach developed by Wirral Children’s Services over a number of 
years. ‘The Valued Partners Charter’ is a consultation and service information framework for parents and carers of 
disabled children and young people. The aim of producing this charter was to lay out a set of guiding principles to 
support all partner agencies in the process of working with parents and carers who use services for children, and to 
enable their effective participation in service development and decision making. The charter is to be reviewed in 
March 2009 and with a view to increasing support to parents with leadership of the Forum. 
The Wirral Family Consultation Forum is the primary vehicle for engaging with parents and carers of disabled 
children and was formally launched in May 2006. The Family forum has links with the Parent Support Group Forum 
and together they contribute to the parents and carers AHDC working group. The aim of Wirral C&YPD and the 
PCT is to support the further development of these forums and parent and carer representation on all the AHDC 
planning sub-groups. In addition a number of consultations regarding the short breaks transformation programme 
have taken place and there was recognition for the need for ongoing involvement. 
A bi-monthly newsletter informs parents & carers of ongoing developments & feedback from consultation events. 
‘The Charter of Participation’ was developed in 2006, by Wirral Children and Young People’s strategic partnership. 
The aim of the Charter is to ensure that policies and standards for the participation of children and young people 
are in place and provide opportunity for planning opportunities for children and young people to participate in 
decisions that affect their lives. Using this as a framework, a clear strategy will be developed across the strategic 
partnership to involve disabled children and young people in the short breaks transformation programme. As part of 
this the forum for disabled young people ‘We R able 2’ will be reviewed and an action plan agreed to further 
develop and strengthen this forum. A number of consultations have taken place with children and young people, in 
schools. Further events are being planned, to incorporate consultation as part of ‘fun days’. A regular newsletter will 
be produced for children & young people. A Communication Strategy has been developed which will be taken 
forwards by the Engagement and Involvement Sub Group. 

P
a
g
e
 5

1



Version 1 15/07/2009 – Will be updated monthly / confirmed with Steering Group/ Planning Group 5 

Section 1 – Engagement with parents and disabled children and young people 
 
Action Responsible  Completion 

date 
Status 

1.1 Disabled children and young people have a route through to shaping short breaks development 

An Engagement group will be formed to take forwards 
consultation with both parents and young people, support will 
be sought from S&LT / CAMHS /SESS in the structuring of 
activity around young people 

Service 
Manager 
CYPD 

March 2009 Terms of reference and 
group membership have 
been confirmed  

In line with the five charter principles of the Charter of 
Participation we will develop a plan for the full involvement of 
disabled children and young people, including those with 
limited communication. This will link with the workforce 
strategy re communication skills. The Engagement Group will 
be tasked to confirm a detailed programme for young people 
with LDD. 

Service 
Manager 
CYPD 

March 2009 Terms of reference and 
group membership have 
been confirmed  

A Inclusion and Development officer will be appointed to 
support children and young people’s involvement and the 
development of the ‘We R able 2’ group, including working 
with children, young people & schools in identifying 
alternative communication methods and support where 
appropriate. 

Service 
Manager 
CYPD 

March 2009 Seconded member of staff 
now fulfilling these 
responsibilities  
 
Job description being 
drafted.  

The ‘We R able 2’ group will be further developed & 
supported to engage children & young people in the short 
breaks transformation programme, and supported to develop 
a newsletter for children & young people. 

Service 
Manager 
CYPD 

March 2009 Seconded member of staff 
developing further 
consultation activity – with a 
task group  

The short breaks transformation programme will be promoted 
in schools and opportunities developed for children & young 
people to be involved. 
Disabled children & young people in mainstream schools will 
be targeted and enabled to participate through a range of 

Inclusion and 
Development 
officer 

April 2009 Seconded member of staff 
developing further 
consultation activity – with a 
task group  

P
a

g
e
 5

2



Version 1 15/07/2009 – Will be updated monthly / confirmed with Steering Group/ Planning Group 6 

mechanisms, including fun events, newsletters & feedback 
opportunities. 

Children & young people will be involved in producing regular 
newsletters, & feedback on progress. 

Service 
Manager 
CYPD 

March 2009 Task identified within Draft 
Communication Strategy 

Further work will be undertaken to seek further views from 
young people regarding the range of activities they would 
want from within the Full Service Offer  

Project 
Manager 

Feb 2009 Task identified within Draft 
Communication Strategy 

1.2 Family involvement in developing short breaks is evidenced through their key involvement in decision making 
regarding commissioning and decommissioning of services 

The Wirral Family forum is holding an event in March 2009 to 
explore ways and mechanisms for engaging with more 
families, particularly working parents, those from BME & 
traveller communities, and parents with disabilities 
themselves. 

Service 
Manager 
CYPD 

March 2009 Consultants engaged to 
facilitate the day 

The Wirral Family Forum is running a Networking Event in 
February 2009 to stimulate working across Parent Support 
Groups, and to revitalise this part of the Forum   

Parent 
Support Co-
ordinator 

February 
2009 

Done – report to be 
concluded / actions 
feedback to Forum 

The Family forum will lead a review of ‘Valued Partners’ 
(parent and carers charter) in April 2009, seeking to engage 
with parents and carers of disabled children across Wirral. 

Service 
Manager 
CYPD 

March 2009 Consultants engaged to 
facilitate the day 

The AHDC Engagement working group will act as a link from 
services to other parents and carers, to develop further 
involvement using a range of approaches, focusing on 
involvement in decision making and short break 
developments. 

Service 
Manager 
CYPD 

March 2009 Terms of reference and 
group membership have 
been confirmed  

A parent and carer training programme has been 
commissioned and will be piloted over 8 weeks, beginning 
Feb 09. The programme will seek to respond to the training 
needs of parents and carers and focus on communication 

Service 
Manager 
CYPD 

March 2009 Consultants engaged to 
facilitate the programme 

P
a
g
e
 5

3



Version 1 15/07/2009 – Will be updated monthly / confirmed with Steering Group/ Planning Group 7 

skills, developing confidence and working in partnership.  
The programme will be open to all parents and carers of 
disabled children, seeking to develop skills to ensure full 
involvement in service development and decision making 
processes. The programme will be delivered 4 times in 
2009/10 and will include training of parents as trainers to 
deliver the programme year 2 onwards. 

Parents and carers involved in the LDD Strategy and AHDC 
Groups will be invited to participate in the recruitment and 
selection of the short breaks project manager in February 
2009. 

Service 
Manager 
CYPD 

February  
2009 

Done – parents will be 
engaged in further 
appointments  

Services for parent support and SEN parent partnership have 
been drawn together between the Council and PCT - 
tendering will be completed in February 2009 with a view to 
new service being in place for July 2009 
 

Service 
Manager 
CYPD 

May  2009 Tendering complete – 
Engagement Group will 
facilitate new provider 
arrangements  

1.3 There is a clear communication strategy  for dissemination of information regarding short breaks services for parents 
and carers  

Communication strategy in development and responsive to 
changing issues of parents, carers, children & young people. 
The strategy includes identifying key messages & information 
for parents & carers; mechanisms for feedback; ongoing 
involvement of parents, carers, children & young people.  

Service 
Manager 
CYPD 

March 2009 Terms of reference and 
group membership have 
been confirmed for 
Engagement Group – who 
will confirm action plan  

Provision & funding of a parent & carer bi-monthly newsletter 
as part of communication strategy 

Service 
Manager 
CYPD 

March  
2009 

Task identified within Draft 
Communication Strategy 

Website development re specific information on provision 
and activities for disabled children and families. This will link 
with FIS strategy & One Stop Shops to include specialist 
knowledge of disability issues. 

Service 
Manager 
CYPD 

March 
 2009 

Task identified within Draft 
Communication Strategy 

 

P
a

g
e
 5

4



Version 1 15/07/2009 – Will be updated monthly / confirmed with Steering Group/ Planning Group 8 

2. Provision  
Please use this section to set out how you wish to develop short break provision in your area. The overview section should be 
used to explain your overarching strategy to providing a range of provision in keeping with the FSO and utilising the funding 
being made by Government. The tables below enable you to tell us about the key tasks, milestones and targets associated with 
this strategy. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Overview of Approach: 
The key focus is to promote “fair access to support” for all disabled children and young people that is based on their 
needs and their family needs.  This will include: 

• Providing clear points of access to support 

• The development of a resource centre at Willow Tree which will be used for staff training, parent/care training, 
awareness raising, parent and family groups and activities, access to information and resources 

• To extend the role of universal services and build capacity to provide more varied short breaks to families and fun 
activities for disabled children and young people 

• To develop an independence facility which can be used by young people to develop their independent living skills 
and to have supervised sleepovers with friends 

• To specifically review specialist residential and family support services to increase the level of home based 
supports for young people with ASD and complex challenging behaviours  

• To lessen dependency on residential based models of care in favour of more integrated support packages which 
incorporate these services in a more family centred manner 

• Develop fun activities for disabled children and young people 
 
This approach will be developed through a “hub and spoke” model with the current residential units (Rosclare and 
Willow Tree) remodelled to operate at the hub where all short break activity is co-ordinated and planned.  Willow Tree 
will also be used as resource centre and Rosclare will develop a provision for young people for learning impendence 
on having fun breaks.  The centres will “house” a short breaks team who will provide residential care, care in family’s 
own home, emergency/urgent care and a team of support workers and enablers working out in the communities.  
 
The hub and spoke model is used to enable universal provision to develop its provision to support more disabled 
children and young people to access support and to provide specialist provision where needed. 
 
Short breaks eligibility criteria to be reviewed (section 4) and new criteria to be published for all parents and carers to 
access. 

P
a
g
e
 5

5



Version 1 15/07/2009 – Will be updated monthly / confirmed with Steering Group/ Planning Group 9 

Section 2 – Provision 
 
Action Responsible  Completion 

date 
Status 

2.1 Residential overnight stays 

Working group of Council / PCT, parents, young people and  
short breaks team to oversee the increase range and choice 
of specialist provision 

Service 
Manager 
CYPD 

March 2009 Terms of reference and 
group membership will be 
confirmed before 24/2/09 

To conduct a formal review of specialist provisions at Willow 
tree / Rosclare / Family Support. 
 
 
To develop these staff team to extend the capacity of the 
support workers in working with young people and promoting 
independence.  (Links to workforce strategy) 
 
To extend family support staff teams working with young 
people in the home  
 
To develop the short break teams to support friendship 
groups of young people wishing to stay away from home 

Service 
Manager 
CYPD 
 
Residential 
Manager 
 
 
Service 
Manager 
CYPD 
Residential 
Manager 
 

March 2009 
 
 
 
July 2009 
 
 
 
March 2010 
 
 
March 2010 

Terms of reference for 
review to be confirmed with 
CYPSP Board March 13 
 
Workforce Strategy Group 
has now been formed 
 
 
PCT Report dates to be 
confirmed 
 
Will form part of scoping of 
the review model  

To develop overnight provision at Rosclare residential unit as 
part of a further realignment of services. 
 

Residential 
Manager 
 

July 2009 
 

Work in progress 

To confirm plans to establish a young people’s independence 
facility for individual or groups of young people. 

Residential 
Manager 
 

July 2009 
 

Will form part of scoping of 
the review model 

To develop a Aiming High Short Breaks Project  team lead by 
the Short Breaks Project Manager  based at Willow Tree to 
take a lead on supporting breaks for disabled children 

Service 
Manager 
CYPD 

March 2009 Further recruitment planned 
CYPSPB 

P
a

g
e
 5

6



Version 1 15/07/2009 – Will be updated monthly / confirmed with Steering Group/ Planning Group 10 

including health and support needs with complex health 
needs ie to develop a short breaks team that is the hub at the 
centre of the model.   

To ensure an effective link with Continuing care team to 
provide health support on 24/7 basis for young people to be 
able access Contract carer / residential / other community 
based activity. 

Service 
Managers 
CYPD & 
Wirral NHS 
 

March 2009 Terms of reference and 
group membership will be 
confirmed before 24/2/09 

Working group of PCT, parents, young people and short 
breaks team to explore possible ways of increasing range 
and choice within provision 

Service 
Managers 
CYPD & 
Wirral NHS 

March 2009 Terms of reference and 
group membership will be 
confirmed before 24/2/09 

To establish the need/demand for overnight stays in hospices 
for children and young people with life limiting conditions 
and/or palliative care needs, and working links between 
service providers 

Service 
Managers 
CYPD & 
Wirral NHS 

March 2009 Terms of reference and 
group membership will be 
confirmed before 24/2/09 
Meeting arranged for 24/2 
with Hospice  

2.2 Family based overnight stays 

Commission contract carer scheme to provide care during 
family breaks e.g. holidays . Targeted to young people with 
ASD / complex health. 
 
Ensure the contract carer scheme will also provide care in 
family’s own home. 

Service 
Manager 
CYPD 

March 2009 Commissioning brief to be  
confirmed with CYPSP 
Board March 13 
 

Review the best commissioning arrangements for foster care 
/ short breaks provision ( in house / externalisation) 

Service 
Manager 
CYPD 

March 2009 Commissioning brief to be  
confirmed with CYPSP 
Board March 13 
 

Develop fostering provision to include short break foster 
carers through the provision of a Development Worker post.   
Foster carers will provide short periods of care in their own 

Service 
Manager 
CYPD 

March 2009 Commissioning brief to be  
confirmed with CYPSP 
Board March 13 

P
a
g
e
 5

7



Version 1 15/07/2009 – Will be updated monthly / confirmed with Steering Group/ Planning Group 11 

home to disabled children. They will provide overnight, 
weekend and or holiday stays in family home as required  

 

2.3 Family based or individual day care   

Develop/commission a home based sitting service that 
families can access through direct payments or self funding 

Service 
Manager 
CYPD 

March 2009 Commissioning brief to be  
confirmed with CYPSP 
Board March 13 
 

To develop the short breaks team to include a wider 
workforce that is able to provide support workers to support 
individual children and young people or groups of children 
and young people to go for trips out/days out. 

Service 
Manager 
CYPD 

March 2009 Commissioning brief to be  
confirmed with CYPSP 
Board March 13 
 

2.4 Group based short breaks provided during the day through specialist provision (individual or group – financially 
supported by short break service) 

Work with special school heads to extend provision out of 
school hours to all disabled children including those not on 
the roll of the special school. Provision to include weekends 
and evenings. Link access to provision with transport 
strategy, workforce strategy, Youth and Play Strategies and 
the Extended schools strategy. 

Service 
Manager 
CYPD 

March 2009 Developing Inclusive 
Provision Group will be set 
up 
 
Terms of reference and 
group membership will be 
confirmed before 24/2/09 
 

Commission further specialist and inclusive leisure, play and 
social activities at weekends. 

Service 
Manager 
CYPD 

March 2009 Developing Inclusive 
Provision Group set up 
 
Commissioning brief to be  
confirmed with CYPSP 
Board March 13 
 
 
 
 

P
a

g
e
 5

8



Version 1 15/07/2009 – Will be updated monthly / confirmed with Steering Group/ Planning Group 12 

2.5 Short breaks provided during the day through non-specialist group based provision (individual attendance purchased  
by short break service) 

Project Manager of the short breaks team will have 
responsibility for organisational aspects and training of the 
new staff team. The short breaks team will need to be 
developed and it is envisaged that it is likely to include: 
educational assistants, learning mentors, school support 
staff, nursery nurses and others.  The skills of non-specialist 
team will be built to respond to the needs of disabled 
children, young people and their families.  

Project 
Manager 

July 2009 Workforce Strategy Group 
has now been formed 
 
Audit of need to be 
conducted 

Work with extended school managers to extend provision out 
of school hours to all disabled children. Provision to include 
weekends and evenings, after school clubs, breakfast clubs 
and activity based provision. Link access to provision with 
transport strategy, workforce strategy and the extended 
schools strategy. Short breaks team to work with schools to 
develop provision and provide support for individual children 
to access the provision, train existing staff to respond to 
needs of individual children.  All children and young people 
who have an identified need and meet revised eligibility 
criteria to be funded to access provision.  

Project 
Manager 

July 2009 Developing Inclusive 
Provision Group set up 
 
 

Work with staff and managers within universal services to 
extend provision during weekends and evenings to all 
disabled children. Link access to provision with workforce 
strategy. Short breaks team to work with providers to develop 
provision and provide support for individual children to 
access the provision, train existing staff to respond to needs 
of individual children. 

Project 
Manager 

Sept 2009 Developing Inclusive 
Provision Group set up 
 
 

2.6 How will you support access to non-specialist group based provision?  

Link with extended schools plan/workforce strategy/ transport 
plan to facilitate access to after school and pre-school 

Project 
Manager 

July 2009 Developing Inclusive 
Provision Group set up 

P
a
g
e
 5

9



Version 1 15/07/2009 – Will be updated monthly / confirmed with Steering Group/ Planning Group 13 

provision and make it accessible to all disabled children and 
young people. Work with extended school managers to 
develop services and increase inclusion. Provide additional 
funding and additional specialist equipment where needed to 
support inclusive provision. 

 
 

To work with extended school team to develop after school 
care for children and young people from the age of 11 years 
in the borough’s secondary schools. To provide seed funding 
to establish provision. 

Project 
Manager 

July 2009 Developing Inclusive 
Provision Group set up 
 
 

To work with providers of holiday schemes to expand 
provision to include children and young people over the age 
of 11 years and to promote inclusion of all disabled children.  
Provision of funding to support this change, training 
awareness, specialist training (link to workforce strategy) e.g. 
by community nurses and equipment. To provide seed 
funding to establish provision. 

Project 
Manager 

July 2009 Developing Inclusive 
Provision Group set up 
 
 

To work together with parents to review current provision of 
out of school care pre and post 11 to develop inclusive 
provision. 

Project 
Manager 

Sept 2009 Developing Inclusive 
Provision Group set up 
 
 

Enable disabled children to access extended school services 
through local schools by including them in the extended 
schools planning. 

Project 
Manager 

July 2009 Developing Inclusive 
Provision Group set up 
 
 

Developing Inclusive Provision Working Group to review 
access and use of universal leisure and social activities.  
 
Short breaks team to act as “enablers” to work alongside 
existing staff to support a child or young person to access 
provision. The “enabler” will train up staff and ensure 
appropriate support mechanisms are in place. 

Project 
Manager 

July 2009 Developing Inclusive 
Provision Group set up 
 
 

P
a

g
e
 6

0



Version 1 15/07/2009 – Will be updated monthly / confirmed with Steering Group/ Planning Group 14 

Short breaks team to act as “enablers” to work alongside 
existing Play and youth services staff to support a child or 
young person to access provision. The “enabler” will train up 
staff and ensure appropriate support mechanisms are in 
place.  

Project 
Manager 

July 2009 Developing Inclusive 
Provision Group set up 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
a
g
e
 6

1



Version 1 15/07/2009 – Will be updated monthly / confirmed with Steering Group/ Planning Group 15 

3 Direct Payments  
While the Government is keen to promote the use of direct payments, local authorities should not presume the market will 
automatically meet parents’ needs without support. The Government expects the range of provision set out in the FSO to be 
available in all cases, and where direct payment take up is high - this may require the local authority to be proactive in 
supporting the market to make sufficient provision to meet independent demand. This section should set out how direct 
payments will be promoted, take up increased, and their use effectively supported and managed. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Overview of approach: 
We have a well established support scheme established with a private sector organisation (to provide advocacy and 
employment support) ; who work in partnership with our Direct Payment co-ordinator in offering support to people using 
the scheme. It is now recognised that to increase take up of Direct Payments further work is now required to promote 
the benefits of the scheme to new parents, and with key professional groups. The scheme maintains close links with 
the Department of Adult Services in that young people who will be eligible for support into adulthood should experience 
a consistency of approach. Within the personalisation agenda a pilot project is being run over the next 3 months in 
relation to Individual Budgets, this will include several young people in transition.,  
 
We have held several workshops in 2009 with parents using the scheme to look at the support package offered by the 
scheme. An extensive information package has been developed ready for launch which together with the practical 
support being offered by the Co-ordinator should boost parental confidence, and their preparedness to promote the 
benefits of controlling your own support. Parents have identified the need for improved arrangements to support in the 
recruitment of personal assistants – and we will be considering with our support service how this might be best 
commissioned. We will also review training arrangements. Our intent is to increase access to Direct Payments to a 
wider group of children and young people – especially young people with social communication difficulties and sensory 
impairments. We will also be considering how with the increased use of CAF we may make Direct Payments available 
for these 2 groups of young people in particular. 
 
Take up rates for the service have stalled over the last 2 years, and it is recognised specific work will be required to : 
§ Target young people at 16 – there are currently no young people who receive payments in their own right 
§ Extend the groups of disabled young people who have previously taken up payments ie young people with social 

communication difficulties 
§ Improve support arrangements – including information, support with recruitment , payroll and inland revenue 
§ Increase promotional activity to confirm the benefits of Direct Payments 
§ Commission activity which supports parents in their recruitment of personal assistants Direct Payment   

 
 

P
a

g
e
 6

2



Version 1 15/07/2009 – Will be updated monthly / confirmed with Steering Group/ Planning Group 16 

Section 3 – Direct payments/ Individualised budgets 
 
Action Responsible  Completion 

date 
Status 

3.1 Measures to promote the take up of direct payments 

Aiming High Newsletter to include article bi -annually Project 
Manager  
 

On going To be scheduled 

Schedule for Awareness raising session – across SESS / 
District Teams / Parent information events / Parent groups / 
schools 

Project 
Manager  
DP Co-
ordinator 
Support 
scheme 
workers 

On going To be scheduled 

Confirm budgetary provision within programme to increase 
take up rates from 150 families in 2009 / 175 families in 2010 

Service 
Manager 

March 2009 Commissioning brief to be  
confirmed with CYPSP 
Board March 13 

Targeted workshops for young people and parents to explore 
how young people 16 + can be supported  
 

Project 
Manager  
DP Co-
ordinator 
Support 
scheme 
workers 

Sept 2009 
and 
ongoing 

To be scheduled 

3.2 Measures to support the take up of direct payments 

 
Publication of the information pack / production of CD         
 

DP Co-
ordinator 
Support 
scheme 
workers 

July 2009 To be scheduled 

P
a
g
e
 6

3



Version 1 15/07/2009 – Will be updated monthly / confirmed with Steering Group/ Planning Group 17 

Quarterly Parent workshops 
 

DP Co-
ordinator 
Support 
scheme 
workers 

Ongoing To be scheduled 

Awareness raising schedule Parent groups / schools 
 

Project 
Manager  
DP Co-
ordinator 
Support 
scheme 
workers 

Ongoing To be scheduled 

Targeted support to increase numbers of parents submitting 
on line IR returns 

DP Co-
ordinator 

Ongoing To be scheduled 

Review of payroll support options available to parents Project 
Manager  
DP Co-
ordinator 

July 2009 To be scheduled 

To work with Parents Support Groups to explore processes 
for pooling payments and personal assistant recruitment   

Project 
Manager  
 

July 2009 To be scheduled 

To confirm with DP parents support group best methods for 
commissioning personal assistant recruitment activity  

Project 
Manager  
 

April 2009 To be scheduled 

3.3 Clear evidence that LA has engaged with local providers to ensure the market supports choice   

Provider commissioning event) to stimulate market to ensure 
increased availability of trained workers available to offer 
support / and favourable market rate for parents. 
 
 

Service and 
Project 
Manager  
 

March 2009 Scheduled 10/3 

P
a

g
e
 6

4



Version 1 15/07/2009 – Will be updated monthly / confirmed with Steering Group/ Planning Group 18 

Review IB pilot within DASS, seek to establish regional 
learning set with TDC support   

Service and 
Project 
Manager  
 

July 2009 To be  confirmed with 
CYPSP Board March 13 
 

Confirm project plan for launch of IB pilots within CYPD Service and 
Project 
Manager  
 

Oct 2009 To be  confirmed with 
CYPSP Board March 13 
 

 
 
 
 
 

P
a
g
e
 6

5



Version 1 15/07/2009 – Will be updated monthly / confirmed with Steering Group/ Planning Group 19 

4 Features of Provision  
This section focuses on how the provision you wish to see developed will meet the needs of those currently under provided for, 
and how it will meet other requirements set out in the Full Service Offer (4.7 - 4.8 below).  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Overview of approach:   
This section describe our over-arching approach to meeting the needs of:  
§ Group A - Children with autism spectrum disorder and/or challenging behaviour as a result of their impairment;  
§ Group B - Children with complex health needs - including the technology dependent child and those requiring palliative care - 

and/or those with moving and handling needs that will require equipment and adaptations.  

 
We will work in partnership between the Council and PCT to ensure the agendas for “Aiming High” , “Better Care, Better 
Lives” and “Healthy Lives, Better Futures” result in joined up approaches to the commissioning of support.  
 
We will review eligibility criteria for short breaks provision in partnership with parents and carers to reflect:  
§ the prioritising of Children with autism spectrum disorder and/or challenging behaviour as a result of their impairment and 

children with complex health needs - including the technology dependent child and those requiring palliative care - and/or 
those with moving and handling needs that will require equipment and adaptations 

§ the increase in funding 
 
All referrals for short breaks will go directly to the short breaks team who will ensure families are supported through the 
required assessment processes  
 
An increased range and volume of more flexible provision will be provided to meet the needs of disabled children, young 
people and their parents. 
 
To increase family based services – as an alternative to residential respite provision where this fits with the needs of the 
children and families. To improve access to specialist family support provision. 
 
To develop increased flexibility of Continuing Care services in delivering increased range and choice of provision. 
 
To ensure sufficient capacity is available from specialist health professionals to provide for effective workforce support 
 
To ensure a stable funding platform for the hospice in Wirral and support regional partnerships 
 
  

P
a

g
e
 6

6



Version 1 15/07/2009 – Will be updated monthly / confirmed with Steering Group/ Planning Group 20 

Section 4 – Features of provision for children with complex needs (For groups A and B) 
 
Action Responsible  Completion 

date 
Status 

4.1 Residential overnight stays 

To establish a specialist service working group to develop 
tasks identified within section 4 

Service and 
Project 
Manager  
 

March 2009 Pending 
 

To work with and consult with parents, children and young 
people who currently use residential provision at Willow Tree 
and Rosclare to ensure a rigorous approach to engagement   

Project 
Manager 
Residential 
Manager  
 

May 2009 Pending 
 

To complete further building works at Rosclare to respond to 
needs of groups A & B as required   

Service and 
Residential  
Manager  
 

Sept 2009 Pending 
 

To review the staffing arrangement of Rosclare and Willow 
Tree to ensure needs of all children are met 

Residential  
Manager 

May 2009 Pending 
 

Offer residential stays in other venues apart from residential 
units. To work with capital planning group to audit what other 
potential residential facilities are available. 

Project 
Manager 

July 2009 Pending 
 

Develop independent living provision at Rosclare to provide 
supported overnight/short breaks for young people. 

Project 
Manager 
Residential 
Manager  
 

Sept 2009 Pending 
 

Local authority in partnership with the PCT to identify and 
work with children’s hospice providers as part of the palliative 

PCT lead 
manager 

March 2009 Meeting scheduled for 24/2 

P
a
g
e
 6

7



Version 1 15/07/2009 – Will be updated monthly / confirmed with Steering Group/ Planning Group 21 

care commissioning strategy to provide short breaks for 
children with palliative care needs. 

Local authority in partnership with the PCT to review 
provisions at Rosclare residential unit, to develop provision 
for residential stays for children with complex health needs 
and severe physical disabilities. Link with Continuing Care 
Team.  

Project 
Manager 
 
Residential 
Manager  
 

July 2009 Pending 
 

To support planning working group to develop creative ideas 
and approaches to residential care inc trips to other areas to 
see provision.  

Project 
Manager 
Residential 
Manager  
 

July 2009 Service Review agreed – 
scope and model of review 
to be confirmed 

4.2 Family based overnight stays 

Recruit specialist foster carers trained to work with the 
priority groups A & B to provide short breaks and / or 
commission with existing providers to provide specialist 
foster carers.   

Service and 
Project 
Manager 
 

Sept 2009 Confirmed with 
Commissioning Brief  

Develop a strategy to make adaptations to foster carers own 
homes both general adaptations such as bathroom, 
wheelchair accessibility, hoists and specific where 
appropriate once matched with a child. Specific consideration 
of PODs  /  Link with ICES. 

Capital Lead 
and Service 
Manager 

July 2009 Pending 
 

Pending 
 

Develop proposals for the existing team at Rosclare and 
Willow Tree to form a team which provides care in family’s 
own homes and support trips away.  Carers to be provided 
with specific training around the individual needs of children 
and/or young people. 

Project 
Manager 
Residential 
Manager  
 

April 2009 Service Review agreed – 
scope and model of review 
to be confirmed 

To support extended families to be able to offer short breaks 
by providing an equipment lending scheme and training e.g. 
moving and handling.  Link with existing equipment service 

MPN Co-
ordinator  
Capital Lead 

July 2009 Pending 
 

P
a

g
e
 6

8



Version 1 15/07/2009 – Will be updated monthly / confirmed with Steering Group/ Planning Group 22 

ICES. and Service 
Manager 

4.3 Family based or individual day care   

Link with young carers project to develop proposals for 
siblings with caring responsibilities to have a break and 
access services. Link with Wirral Carers Strategy. 

Project 
Manager 
 

July 2009 Pending 

To provide training for commissioned sitting service around 
the specific needs of individual children and young people to 
enable them to look after children in groups A and B in their 
own home. 

Project 
Manager 
 

Oct  2009 Pending 

To provide training for the extended family in the meeting the 
needs of individual children and young people. 

Project 
Manager 
 

Oct  2009 Pending 

Develop/commission a contract carer scheme with trained 
workers in working with groups A and B to provide care in 
family’s own home. 

Service and 
Project 
Manager 
 

Sept 2009 Confirmed with 
Commissioning Brief  

To develop the short breaks team to include a workforce that 
is able to provide support workers to support individual 
children and young people or groups of children and young 
people to go for trips out/days out. 

Service and 
Project 
Manager 
 

Sept 2009 Workforce Strategy being 
developed 

4.4 Group based short breaks provided during the day through specialist provision  

Widen criteria for families needing to access specialist short 
break provision and to provide clarity on eligibility criteria for 
such provision.   

Service and 
Project 
Manager 
 

July 2009 Paper prepared for Planning 
Group March 

Work with special school managers to extend provision out of 
school hours to disabled children from groups A and B 
including those not on the roll of the special school. Provision 
to include weekends and evenings. Link access to provision 

Project 
Manager 
 

July 2009 Developing Inclusive 
Provision to be formed 
March 2009 

P
a
g
e
 6

9



Version 1 15/07/2009 – Will be updated monthly / confirmed with Steering Group/ Planning Group 23 

with transport strategy, workforce strategy and the extended 
schools strategy. 

Commission specialist leisure and social activities at 
weekends. 

Service and 
Project 
Manager 
 

July 2009 
 
 

Confirmed with 
Commissioning Brief  

Review existing school holiday provision with parents. Project 
Manager 
 

July 2009 
 
 

Developing Inclusive 
Provision to confirm added 
activity for summer 2009 
 

4.5 Short breaks provided during the day through non-specialist group based provision  

Develop a team of “enablers” linked to the short breaks team 
to support children and young people in groups A and B to 
access sport and leisure clubs (time limited) and to train 
existing staff in supporting that child/young person to access 
the facility. 

Project 
Manager 
 

July 2009 
 
 

Developing Inclusive 
Provision to confirm added 
activity for summer 2009 
 

Full audit (undertaken with parents) and detail of equipment 
already available and shortfalls identified. Provision within 
universal leisure and sports services to link with workforce 
strategy and lending resource (ICES). 

Project 
Manager 
 

July 2009 
 
 

Developing Inclusive 
Provision to confirm  
 

To develop proposals with the play and youth services to 
support all young people to access play scheme and youth 
club provision. Training of staff and buddies to provide 
support young people.  Link with youth services inc voluntary 
sector and faith organisations youth services to support 
disabled young people to participate  

Project 
Manager 
 

July 2009 
 
 

Developing Inclusive 
Provision to confirm added 
activity for summer 2009 
 

Link to workforce strategy, building disability understanding 
and dealing with challenging behaviours and identifying 
specific needs 

Project 
Manager 
LD CAMHS 

July 2009 
 
 

LD CAMHS invited to join 
Workforce Strategy Group 
 
 
 

P
a

g
e
 7

0



Version 1 15/07/2009 – Will be updated monthly / confirmed with Steering Group/ Planning Group 24 

Support access to universal provision by providing support 
structures inc training peer support people eg within the 
guide and scout movement. 

Project 
Manager 
 

Oct 2009 
 
 

Developing Inclusive 
Provision to confirm  
 

4.6 Provision is culturally appropriate  

All short break staff team and short break carers to 
participate in culturally appropriate provision that meets the 
racial, cultural, linguistic and religious needs of disabled 
children and their families. Link with workforce strategy and 
communication strategy. 

Service and 
Project 
Manager 
 

July 2009 
 
 

Confirmed with 
Commissioning Brief  

Ensure access to interpreter /translator services as 
appropriate. 

Service and 
Project 
Manager 
 

July 2009 
 
 

Confirmed with 
Commissioning Brief  

Offer a culturally sensitive service that takes into account 
individual family needs alongside specific cultural or religious 
requirements e.g. offer female support staff where 
appropriate for religious needs. 

Service and 
Project 
Manager 
 

July 2009 
 
 

Confirmed with 
Commissioning Brief  

Ensure short breaks staff team have knowledge or kept 
updated of multi-cultural events/ organisations that respond 
to specific BME needs, 

Project 
Manager 
 

July 2009 
 
 

Pending 

Provision of culturally appropriate resources – link with ICES. Project 
Manager 
 

July 2009 
 
 

Pending 

4.7 Plan to deliver services at times when they are needed (24 hours) and are able to respond to emergencies  

Establish an emergency support scheme.  
Linked into the Short Breaks hub team which can ensure 
support is provided for emergency/urgent care to respond to 
family crises 

Project 
Manager 
 

July 2009 
 
 

Agreed as priority with 
CYPSP Board – scheme 
details in development 

 
 

P
a
g
e
 7

1



Version 1 15/07/2009 – Will be updated monthly / confirmed with Steering Group/ Planning Group 25 

5 Capital  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Overview of approach: 
 
The Capital projects group has been established to oversee all Capital expenditure and to ensure that activity is co-
ordinated with all other capital expenditure within the Council. The Council has undertaken a Strategic Asset Review of 
all of its buildings.  
 
Capital has been identified within the Council `s programme to upgrade residential provision – planning will be dovetailed 
to meet the needs identified following a review of this provision.  
 
Developing a Resource Centre Model is favoured to improve a one stop model which improves access to short breaks 
and specialist provisions 
 
The Play Strategy will look to develop 4 play areas which are fully accessible to disabled young people  
 
The Youth Strategy will look to cluster activity around the 4 Districts and “My Place” 
 
Our spend will look link into programmes within key leisure centres to ensure changing facilities which are suitable for 
people with moving & handling needs are able to be met – given these venues will be accessible between 8am and 
10pm to maximise opportunities for this group to maximise their use of community facilities. 
 
We will develop a Contract Carer Scheme – providing support for adaptations to facilitate access by Group A&B children 
and those with moving and handling needs  
 
We will work in partnership with local service providers to improve the accessibility of provision beyond DDA levels to 
specifically improve play scheme and leisure activities, targeting equipment expenditure. 
 
We will work with our local ICES to provide a store of equipment which may be loaned to families to enable young people 
to more readily visit other family members / friends 
 

P
a

g
e
 7

2



Version 1 15/07/2009 – Will be updated monthly / confirmed with Steering Group/ Planning Group 26 

Section 5 – Capital projects 
 
Action Responsible  Completion 

date 
Status 

5.1 Ensuring capital expenditure is not replacing DDA compliance requirements  

To establish a Capital Group to develop and monitor all bids 
for capital spend chaired by the CYPD Capital Programme 
Lead.  
 
Capital Sub Group to meet monthly to support processing of 
bids  

Service 
Manager 
CYPD 
 
AHDC  
Capital Lead 
 

October 
2008 

Terms of reference to be 
reviewed 

Capital Sub Group to review options for expenditure and 
establish links with Play / Youth / Leisure services / Childrens 
Centres 
 
Capital Sub Group members to submit 1st tranche of 
community bids 

Service 
Manager 
CYPD 
 
AHDC  
Capital Lead 
 

January 
2009 

 

Capital Sub Group members to review and develop bidding 
process  

AHDC  
Capital Lead 
 

March 2009  

5.2 Clear plans in place to show how capital will be used 

To confirm detail required for Implementation Plan Service 
Manager 
CYPD 
AHDC  
Capital Lead 
 

January 
2009 

 

To confirm an outline of Intentional spend to meet TDC 
Readiness criteria standard 

Service 
Manager 

February 
2009 

 

P
a
g
e
 7

3



Version 1 15/07/2009 – Will be updated monthly / confirmed with Steering Group/ Planning Group 27 

CYPD 
AHDC  
Capital Lead 

To confirm an outline of Intentional spend to C&YPSP Board Service 
Manager 
CYPD 
 
AHDC  
Capital Lead 
 

March 2009 Areas  

To commission further programme spend  Service 
Manager 
CYPD 
 
AHDC  
Capital Lead 
 

April 2009  

 
 

P
a

g
e
 7

4



Version 1 15/07/2009 – Will be updated monthly / confirmed with Steering Group/ Planning Group 28 

6 Workforce  
The transformation of short breaks provision will require a significant development of the short break workforce. Local partners 
need to address capacity issues, and the need to develop specific knowledge and expertise in a wider range of settings to 
provide for those children currently considered ‘hard to place’. Please use the overview section to set out your overall approach 
to workforce development making clear the roles of both the authority and the PCT, and considering the need to develop staff 
working outside to the statutory bodies own provision. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Overview of approach: 
The focus of the Workforce Strategy for the transformation of short breaks provision is to:  

§ establish a matrix of range and numbers of workforce needed in order to deliver on the transformation 
programme. 

§ highlight the additional skills and knowledge needed by both the universal workforce and the specialist 
workforce to meet the needs of disabled children and young people, including those with complex needs. This 
strategy needs to be considered alongside the Wirral Children’s Workforce Strategy (2008) which includes 
training in the ECM common core of skills and knowledge. 

 
The transformation of short breaks requires a workforce that has a broad understanding of the issues for disabled 
children and families, including understanding of the social and medical models of disability, participation and 
inclusion and safeguarding. Varying depths of knowledge relating to other aspects of disability will be needed across 
the workforce, including health professionals, social care and early years. In addition professionals within universal 
services will require training in a range of areas, and the Voluntary, Community, Faith and independent sector. 
 
Additional skills and knowledge will include both internal training and development, and external training for additional 
qualifications. Leaders and managers across the workforce who are responsible for short breaks provision will be 
supported in developing high levels of skills and knowledge in direct relation to the services and provision they are 
responsible for. 
 

P
a
g
e
 7

5



Version 1 15/07/2009 – Will be updated monthly / confirmed with Steering Group/ Planning Group 29 

Section 6 – Workforce 
 
Action Responsible  Completion 

date 
Status 

6.1 Actions needed to ensure LA/PCT core management is adequate 

Confirming Project management responsibilities / joint 
working with PCT 
 
LA Service manager has joint responsibility with Director of 
Strategic partnerships in the PCT 

Service 
Manager 
CYPD 

January 
2008 

Completed 
 
 
1st  meeting scheduled for 
19 Feb 2009 

Establish reporting to AHDC steering group on a monthly 
basis.  
 
Joint Commissioning Manager / PCT Leads / Heads of 
Branch within CYPD 

Service 
Manager 
CYPD 

January 
2008 

Schedule of dates in place 

PCT AHDC Lead briefed  Service 
Manager 
CYPD 

February 
2008 

Completed 
 

Appointment of AHDC Short breaks Project Manager. Service 
Manager 
CYPD 

February 
2008 

Candidate identified / HR 
processes being followed 

Interim project management and Work plan  Service 
Manager 
CYPD 

February 
2008 

Reviewed Feb 12 

Induction of project manager and team will be planned Service 
Manager 
CYPD 

April 2008 To be done 

Project Team to be established.  
Proposals to CYPSP Board in March  

Service 
Manager 
CYPD 

May 2008 Proposals developed for 
Steering Group 

P
a

g
e
 7

6



Version 1 15/07/2009 – Will be updated monthly / confirmed with Steering Group/ Planning Group 30 

6.2 Development of short breaks workforce strategy and workforce planning 

Confirm Workforce Strategy Sub Group / TOR 
 
Link to Wirral Workforce Strategy 

Service 
Manager 
CYPD 

February 
2009 

Scheduled 

Complete draft of Workforce Strategy Interim 
project team 
 

March 2009 Scheduled 

Confirm Work plan for Workforce Strategy Group Interim 
project team 
 

April 
2009 

Scheduled 

6.3 Development and delivery of a training and development strategy for all sectors   

Workforce planning will audit current workforce capacity 
across residential, specialist and universal services. 
 

Training 
Manager 
CYPD  
 

May  
2009 

Scheduled 

Confirm Development plan with Workforce Strategy Group Training 
Manager 
CYPD  
 
Service 
Manager 
CYPD 
 

June  
2009 

Not started 

Confirm Development plan with PCT Board and CYPSP 
Board 

Service 
Managers 
CYPD & 
PCT 
 

July 
2009 

Not started 

Review with PCT specialist training capacity reflecting 
Training Directory  

Service 
Managers 

July 2009 Work progressed on 
Training Directory to be 

P
a
g
e
 7

7



Version 1 15/07/2009 – Will be updated monthly / confirmed with Steering Group/ Planning Group 31 

CYPD & 
PCT 
 

taken forwards by Complex 
Health Provision Group  

Short breaks team to be trained in the personalisation 
agenda and providing person centred support packages. 

Inclusion 
Development 
Officer 

July 2009 Not started 

6.4 Actions needed to recruit sufficient staff for priority groups in all settings 

Provider Workshop to identify Commissioning Intent and 
Workforce development support 
 

Service 
Manager 
CYPD 
 
Contracts 
Manager 
CYPD 

March 2009 Scheduled for 6 March 

Provider Forum to be established to support service 
developments 
 

Service 
Manager 
CYPD 
 
Contracts 
Manager 
CYPD 
 

July 2009 Not started 

Specialist services development partnership arrangements 
with new providers to support induction 
 

Service 
Manager 
CYPD 
 

July 2009 Not started 

Identifying recruitment support providers who will assist in 
recruitment and training of Direct Payment workers 

Service 
Manager 
CYPD 
 

July 2009 Not started 

P
a

g
e
 7

8



Version 1 15/07/2009 – Will be updated monthly / confirmed with Steering Group/ Planning Group 32 

7 Commissioning and market development  
 

Overview of approach: 
 
The Children & Young People’s Partnership has agreed a Strategic Joint Commissioning Framework for Children & 
Young People in Wirral.  This sets out the vision, principles, shared priorities and methodology for commissioning 
services underpinned by joint working and collaboration, to ensure a range of quality, flexible and effective services 
are developed based on individual need which represent value for money.   
 
The Framework is currently being applied to parenting and prevention commissioning (contracts start 1st July 2009) 
where we have: 

§ Secured cross agency/stakeholder commitment and involvement in the process  
§ Drawn together funding streams from Public Health, PCT, Social Care, Children’s Fund, Children’s Centres, 

Teenage Pregnancy into a joined up commissioning process 
§ Included third sector partners in developing the commissioning brief  
§ Held Procurement Workshops for providers to share vision, explain commissioning brief and tender process 
§ Included the views of parents, carers and children and young people in the evaluation of 1st stage tender 

documentation (through evaluation of a leaflet about the service and meeting their needs) 
§ Included third sector and parent representative on the 2nd stage interview panel 
§ Focussed on outcomes and priorities within the children and young people’s plan and PCT commissioning 

strategy 
§ Used Results Based Accountability to measure quality, efficiency and effectiveness of services 

 
Note: The SEN Parent Partnership, Parent Forum support and advocacy services are included within the above process. 

 
This commissioning process will be applied for Aiming High for Disabled Children funding from April 2009. 
 
The aim will be to develop market capacity by extending the number of providers and developing more integrated 
working relationships with our local providers. Workforce development will underpin our improved commissioning as 
we seek to increase the capacity of all providers to provide personalised services. 

 

P
a
g
e
 7

9



Version 1 15/07/2009 – Will be updated monthly / confirmed with Steering Group/ Planning Group 33 

Section 7 – Commissioning 
 
Action Responsible  Completion 

date 
Status 

7.1 Actions taken to better understand need 

Review of Speech and Language nearing completion – 
findings will be considered as part of service 
developments/investments 

SALT Lead April 2009 In progress 

Develop system to bring together information from 
children. Young people parents and carers i.e. strategic 
level (e.g. formal consultations), service level (e.g. 
specific to services) and individual level (e.g. care plan 
reviews and resource panel) 

Project Manager October 
2009 

Not started 

7.2 Develop relationships with a range of providers to ensure sufficient competition 

Stage 1 - Provider Workshop: (Parenting and Prevention 
commissioning process) 
(includes SEN Parent Partnership and parent groups 
support and advocacy) 

Joint 
Commissioning 
Manager and 
Contracts Manager 

held 18th 
November 
2008 

Completed 

Stage 2 – Provider Workshop: (Aiming High for Disabled 
Children Grant and current contracts) 

Service Manager, 
Disabilities and 
Contracts Manager 

March 6th  
2009 

In progress 

Newsletter to be sent to Wirral providers – AHDC 
programme, notification of workshop 

Service 
Manager/Contracts 
Manager 

February  
2009 

In progress 

Presentation to LINK Forum re AHDC Service Manager February 
2009 

Completed 
Small Grant process to be 
developed 

7.3 Actions planned to improve financial and management data   

Review data requirements and data management 
systems across C&YPD and PCT 

Data and Finance 
Sub-Group and 

May 2009 In progress 

P
a

g
e
 8

0



Version 1 15/07/2009 – Will be updated monthly / confirmed with Steering Group/ Planning Group 34 

Project Manager 

Develop model for joint data capture and data sharing Data and Finance 
Sub-Group and 
Project Manager 

July 2009 
 

Not started 

Ensure data is captured within Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment 

Project Manager November 
2009 

Not started 

Develop pooled budgets and unit costings for AHDC Data and Finance 
Sub-Group 

January 
2010 

Not started 

7.4 Improve coherence and effectiveness of commissioning 

Report to Cabinet to devolve financial decision making to 
C&YPSPB 

Director of 
Children’s 
Services, Service 
Manager 
Disabilities 

March 2009 In progress 

Report to C&YPSMB to agree commissioning intentions Service Manager 
Disabilities 

March 2009 In Progress 

Extend existing service level agreements and contracts 
until September 2009 to allow for commissioning process 

Contracts Manager February 
2009 

In Progress 

Develop commissioning brief Service 
Manager/Contracts 
Manager 

March 2009 In Progress 

Institute procurement process for existing contracted 
services and additional AHDC grant funding 
(procurement timeline April 2009 – contract start date 1st 
September 2009) 

Contracts Manager From April 
2009 – 
September 
2009 

In progress 

Develop contract monitoring programme  Contracts 
Manager/Project 
Manager 

July 2009 Not Started 

 

 

P
a
g
e
 8

1



P
a

g
e
 8

2

T
h

is
 p

a
g

e
 is

 in
te

n
tio

n
a
lly

 le
ft b

la
n
k



Governance Arrangements – Aiming High for Disabled Children 

 

Primary Care Trust 
(PCT) Board Wirral Childrens Trust Board  

Wirral Childrens Trust Executive 

Learning Difficulties & Disabilities 
Strategy Group 

Executive Group – Aiming High for 
Disabled Children 

Operational Group -

Aiming High for 

Disabled Children  

Short Breaks  

AHDC 

Developing 

Services 

AHDC 

Capital 

Transport 

Childrens 

Workforce 

Strategy Group 

AHDC 

Workforce 

Group  

LDD 

Engagement & 

Involvement 

Group 

Cabinet 

ICES 

Board 

 

Stakeholder 

Meetings  

Local Strategic Partnership 

P
a
g
e
 8

3



P
a

g
e
 8

4

T
h

is
 p

a
g

e
 is

 in
te

n
tio

n
a
lly

 le
ft b

la
n
k



!WIRRAL 

Children & Young People’s Department 
 

Aiming High Governance Structures 

The Aiming High programme aims to transform services for disabled children to deliver : 

• The Full Service Offer in relation to Short Breaks  

• The Core Offer in relation to all services 

• A wider set of Transition arrangements which includes all young people with SEN 
and complex health issues  

A revised Governance Structure is therefore proposed as set in appendix 1 , the intent 
being over the course of the following 12 months to review how more integrated 
planning and commissioning arrangements are put in place across the Council, PCT 
and health services 
 

Aiming High  

Within Aiming High there is a reporting requirement to evidence progress in meeting of 
the Full Service Offer, and Short Breaks Plans. Monthly reporting requirements are in 
place   

1.1 AHDC Executive Group 

To ensure planning occurs in a co-ordinated manner across Council and PCT an 
Executive group will be formed. This group will oversee commissioning decisions in 
relation to the programme. Cabinet approval is being sought for the Children And Young 
People`s Strategic  Partnership Board, to have delegated authority to approve spend. 

Current membership of this group 
(previously called Steering Group) 

Additional members 

PCT  
Director of Strategic Partnerships (Chair)  
Children`s Integrated Services Manager 
(PCT Lead) 
 
Participation and Inclusion Branch  
Head of Branch 
 
Social Care Branch  
Head of Branch 
Commissioning Manager (Project Lead ) 
CWD Service Manager (Council Lead)  

 
SEN Strategic Manager 
 
Link Forum representative 
 
Capital Lead 
 
Project Manager 

Page 85



1.2 AHDC Operational Group 

Within Aiming High there is a reporting requirement to evidence progress in meeting of 
the Full Service Offer, and Short Breaks Plans. In developing the AHDC Short Breaks 
programme it is now proposed to form an Operational Group to work to the Executive 
Group in the development of the Full Service Offer for short breaks. Monthly reporting 
requirements are in place.  

They will retain responsibility to : 

§ Structure commissioning planning to deliver on the Implementation Plan  

§ Monitor performance management requirements to ensure the Council and PCT 
progress delivery in line with the Staged Progression Framework as set out by 
Together for Disabled Children to meet the Full Service Offer 

§ Co-ordinate workforce development issues across the services 

§ Monitor group structures to confirm the need for additional task and finish pieces of 
work and or other sub groups 

§ Develop eligibility criteria. 

§ Ensure Data and Financial planning is being effectively supported 

§ Monitor service reviews of specialist Short Breaks and Family Support 
 

1.3 AHDC Stakeholder Meetings  
 

In place of the planning group it is now proposed to have stakeholder meetings   

This will help monitor the vision for short break services as informed by all stakeholders 
: children and young people, parents and carers, professionals and service providers. 
 
Initially we will meet 4 times this year    
 

1.4  AHDC  Sub Group Structure 

It is proposed to simplify the new sub group structure reporting to the Executive group.   

To drive forwards the AHDC Short Breaks Strategy it is now proposed to have 3 groups  
 

Developing Services   
 
The Short Breaks Plan should prompt the bringing together of activity across Play and 
Youth Strategies, Extended Schools, and develop Holiday play schemes, youth  and 
leisure services for children with SEN and widen opportunities for socially inclusive 

Page 86



activity. This work should for this group of young people develop planning that has been 
started in these currently separate strands.    

 

Capital and Transport  

This group will work to oversee capital developments which should support the key 
objectives of the programme, and ensure that it also fits with other key strategies. 
Transport and equipment will form secondary strands of this groups key tasks – with 
links being made to the Integrated Community Equipment Stores Stakeholder group as 
required. 
 
Workforce Development 
 
The task of developing both specialist services and inclusive provision will require a 
joined up approach across Council and PCT. A further key element in relation to training 
will be to ensure that the training programmes in place for mainstream services 
supports the social inclusion of all disabled youngsters. There is a clear expectation of 
engaging parents in delivering training to staff, and to providing learning opportunities 
for families. This group will report to the Workforce Strategy Group  

 
2.0  LDD Strategy Group 

Aiming High provides benchmark standards in relation to the provision of information, 
consultation and participation, which will require the Council and PCT to develop joined 
up and effective mechanisms for these 3 areas. The LDD Group will need to review how 
it moves forwards the wider Core Offer, and one new group has been commenced to 
improve the co-ordination of Information and Consultation principally. 
 

Engagement  and Involvement Group 

A new tender is to be confirmed in the next month which it is expected will bring 
together parent support and SEN partnership services, with the new provider working 
with the Council and PCT to ensure consultation and participation is developed in a 
more strategic manner.   
 
A formal Consultation Strategy has been developed, and an new action plan will be 
agreed with key stakeholders for the next 12 month period. Additional parent 
representative training sessions have been commissioned to reinforce parent`s 
capacity. 

It is proposed to talk to key parents involved with the LDD, AHDC groups and Forums 
how they would choose to be involved within this group, and leadership roles. The new 
group will otherwise include representative from Council and PCT, and the new service 
providers.  
 

Page 87



Transition & LDD Progression through Partnership     

Transition forms a discrete strand within Aiming High, with raised expectations in 
relation to all young people who have a statement of SEN, and need for support from a 
range of health care services. It is proposed to maintain the current Transition Strategy 
and LDD Progression through Partnership Strategy Groups; however to draw together 
the Governance Groups at this time.  These are not represented on this diagram given 
the varied reporting arrangements with different agencies.   

Page 88



 

��WIRRAL
 

 

 

 
 

VALUED PARTNERS   
TOWARDS A PARENT CHARTER 

 
A Consultation and Service Information Framework  

 
For parents of children and young people  
with a learning difficulty or disability.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Agreed by:  
Tina Long Director of Strategic Partnerships, Wirral PCT 
Julia Hassall Head of Branch Children’s Social Care 
Peter Edmondson Head of Branch Children’s Participation and Inclusion 
 
 
Implemented :  
 
Lead Officers 
Clive Groves, Service Manager, Children with Disabilities, CYPD 
Rose Curtis, Head of Integrated Children` s Services, Wirral PCT 
John Wiilliamson, Social Inclusion Officer, CYPD   
 
Issue Number: 1 
Review Date: 1st April 2010 

 
 
 

Page 89



 

 1 

CONTENTS 
 

 
Section Title Page 

1 The Purpose  

2 The National and Local Policy Context   

2.1 The National Context  

2.2 Key Legislation   

2.3 The Local Context  

2.4 Participation frameworks  

3 Best Practice Guidelines in Partnership Working  

3.1 Working in partnership  

3.2 Supporting parents and carers involvement  

3.3 Promoting access to information  

4.0 Next steps  

   

 Appendices   

1. Wirral Family Forum Consultation Group 
Terms of reference  

 

2. Wirral Parent Support Group Forum – Terms of 
Reference 

 

3 Wirral Forum Virtual Map  

4. Wirral Family Consultation Forum  
Statement of Expectations 

 

5. Participation frameworks  

6. What parents want  

7. Useful web sites– a research article  

 
 

 
 
 

Page 90



 

 2 

1 PURPOSE 
 

The Children & Young Peoples Department and Primary Care Trust have sought to work with 
parents and carers across Wirral to establish a Wirral Family Consultation Forum.  
 
The Forum has confirmed its terms of reference, to underpin its work along with a Statement 
of Expectations. (Appendix 1) 
 
This Charter provides further guidelines to inform agencies and organisations working across  
Wirral ( Children’s Services), about good practice that involves engagement, involvement and 
participation activities with parents and carers of children and young people who have  
learning difficulties and or disabilities.  The participation of children and young people in our 
view is interwoven with that for parents and carers, and both should equally shape service 
design and direction.  
 
The aim of producing this charter is to lay out a set of guiding principles to support all partner 
agencies in the process of engaging and working with parents and carers who use services 
for children, and to enable their effective participation in service development and decision 
making. It is hoped that these principles will be of assistance in ensuring that parents and 
carers feel valued as equal partners. All the principles will be explored with parents and 
carers to ensure it reflects their views and enables them to inform policy and strategy 
processes. 
 
Definition of participation 
Participation is the process that enables  individuals and groups to influence decision making 
and bring about change. Parent and Carers participation is just as relevant to individual 
decision-making (for example, relating to a child’s health or education) as it is to strategic 
decision-making.  
 
Meaningful participation requires that Parent and Carers have access to information which is 
readily understandable and relevant to their circumstances. They may need advice and 
support to develop their views and ideas for making change happen. It requires decision-
makers to be open and honest, committed and persistent in their communication and who 
respond quickly to proposals, requests, questions or demands. 
 
In collective participation, parents and carers will also benefit from the opportunity to meet 
and discuss their views and experiences with others in similar situations. Participation often 
enables children and young people to hold decision-makers to account. 
 
Consultation  
Is the process by which parents and carers are asked their opinions: this can be on a specific 
issue (e.g. what times are best for this meeting?) or it can have a broader agenda (e.g. what 
is needed in this area to help improve transition?).  
 
In undertaking consultation we will seek to evidence that we are listening and giving due 
weight to the views expressed. We will also aim to ensure that consultation activity is 
systematic across services so that ideas expressed in one place are readily shared across 
services. 
 

Page 91



 

 3 

We also recognise that  consultation is informal and a part of care planning and the everyday 
co-ordination of services – we will aim to ensure that the professionals who work within 
services readily share this activity to ensure we continue to provide better services.  
 

Parents or Parent Carers…… 
 
Within forming the Forum there has been discussion of the terms parent and carer.  
 
Many parents do not necessarily see themselves as being carers and do see themselves as 
parents. Sometimes this reflects that their child does not have a physical or severe learning 
disability – yet still have a child with a range of additional and or complex needs. 
  
There are also carers who are not parents or may have or not have full parental responsibility, 
grandparents, kinship carers and or foster carers.   
 
The significant issue being that the child or young person who needs support is aged between 
0 and 19.  
 
The aim of the guiding principles in section 3 of the Charter is to enable everyone to work 
together in an environment of respect, openness and commitment.   
 
It is recommended that agencies and organisations working across Wirral providing services 
to children and their families adopt these principles and values to support the effective 
engagement of parents and carers.   
 
These principles are flexible and generic and can be adopted by agencies and organisations 
working across a wide range of service delivery including the following areas: 
 

§ Children & Young People `s Department  
§ Schools – special and mainstream 
§ Health Services – PCT and Provider Trusts 
§ Connexions 
§ Learning Skills Council 
§ Voluntary and community organisations 
§ Parent and carer support groups  
§ Regeneration & housing associations  
§ Leisure services 
 

 

This document is designed to compliment: 
 
§ The Young Carers Strategy 
§ The Charter for Participation for Young People 
§ Comprehensive engagement strategy 
 

Page 92



 

 4 

2 THE NATIONAL AND LOCAL POLICY CONTEXT   
 
 

2.1 The National Context 
 

There are now a range of government initiatives and documents promoting the involvement 
and participation of parents and carers, as well as children and young people themselves.   
 
These now culminate in the National Core Offer.  
Shortcut to: 
http://www.everychildmatters.gov.uk/_files/8C6C272B2B76A4E6FE6E8408DED7A2EC.pdf 
 

These include; 
 
§ Standard 8 National Service Framework (NSF) for children, young people & 

maternity services. (Oct 2004) makes it clear that local areas need ‘services and staff 
who are able to respond in a sensitive way which encourages engagement and provides 
high quality support for young people’. A marker of good practice being that “Disabled 
children and young people and their families are routinely involved and supported in 
making informed decisions about their treatment, care and support, and in shaping 
services.” 

     
§ Special Educational Needs Code of Practice (2002) One of the fundamental principles 

that inform the Code is that ‘parents have a vital role to play in supporting their child’s 
education. To make communications effective professionals should acknowledge and 
draw on parental knowledge and expertise in relation to their child. The guidance also 
outlines the requirement for the Council to make provisions for Parent Partnership 
Services, and inform parents, schools and others about the arrangements for the service 
and how they can access it. The (SEN Toolkit 2002,DfES 558/2001, Department for 
Education and Skills 2001, S.1) explains how schools, Councils all who support pupils 
with SEN should actively seek to work with parents. 

 
§ Together from the Start (2003) Regarding provision of services for the early years, this 

guidance states that: Professionals should approach work in this area with the 
expectation that they must work in partnership with families, with parents fully involved in 
any decision-making processes effecting the provision of support to their child. 

 
§ Removing Barriers to Achievement: The Government’s Strategy for SEN (2004) This 

strategy emphasises the need for local services to work in partnership with parents of 
children with SEN. It refers to the section in the SEN Code of Practice, which states the 
expectation that all professionals will work actively with parents and value the contribution 
they make. This document is further endorsement of the case for increasing levels of 
parent participation across services. 

 
§ Early Support Programme – a piloted programme to support families with young 

disabled children & the professionals who work with them. Covering all disabled children 
below the age of five, it provides parent carers of disabled children with condition-specific 
information and enables them to gain knowledge about other important areas such as 
education and financial help. 

Page 93



 

 5 

 
§  Audit Commission report ‘review of services for disabled children’ (2003). One of 

the key principles is that ‘disabled children, young people and their families are involved 
in assessment and planning at all levels’. 

 
§  Aiming Higher for Disabled Children 2007. Highlighted that agencies locally must work 

together in listening to parents and carers. Within the roll out programme in 2008 a 
National Core Offer has been published. It will require all services to develop a core offer 
focused on 3 key elements if information and transparency ; assessment; participation 
and feedback.  

 
§  Our health, our care, our say( 2006), announced a New Deal for Carers. This has been 

followed in June 2008 by Carers at the heart of 21st century families and communities. 
This provides  further expectations that recognise parents and carers havingmultiple 
responsibilities which may be towards different generations in the extended family. These 
frameworks put information carer training and support in response to emergencies. 

 
§ The NHS Operating framework (October 2008/09), which sets out the specific business 

and financial arrangements for the NHS in any given year, has made specific references 
to supporting carers for the first time this year. 

 
 

2.2 Key Legislation  
 
The Government has supported two major pieces of legislation and introduced two more 
which have impacted directly on carers’ lives. 
 
§ The Carers and Disabled Children Act 2000 made four principal changes to the law: 

o councils were given powers to support carers by providing services to carers directly; 
o carers were given the right to an assessment independent of the person they care for; 
o local authorities were enabled to make direct payments to carers; 
o councils were given options to support flexibility in provision of short breaks through 

the short-break voucher scheme. 
 

§ The Carers (Equal Opportunities)Act 2004, which made three main changes to the 
existing law around carers’ services: 
o there is now a duty on councils to inform carers, in certain circumstances, of their right 

to an assessment of their needs; 
o  when assessing  carer’s needs, councils must now take into account whether the carer 

works or wishes to work, undertakes or wishes to undertake education, training or 
leisure activities; 

o there should be co-operation between authorities in relation to the provision of services 
that are relevant to carers. 

 
§ The Disability Discrimination Act(s) recognises the right of people in society to equal 

citizenship, which will benefit both carers and the people that they care for and support. 
Placing a duty on the Council and schools in particular to actively promote the position of 
disabled young people.  
 

Page 94



 

 6 

2.3       The Local Context 
 
A number of events involving parents and carers have been held from 2002 onwards in 
building towards the framework of local involvement.  
 
2.3.1 The first event led by Social Care at that time identified why involving parents of 

disabled children is so important: 
 

o Parents and Carers of disabled children are experts in their own right. 
o People use services over a long period 
o People have their own ideas which professionals should not attempt to second guess 

 
That parental involvement was important to: 

o Reinforce the positive regard for and social confidence of the child 
o Ensure informed decision making for the child becomes more accountable 
o Ensure service design and delivery is appropriate 
o Stimulate learning and professional development 
o Challenge discrimination and increase equity 

 
2.3.2 From this event a number of consultation and information events were held over 

subsequent years initially on a single agency basis involving social care staff, and from 
2004 onwards drawing in staff from across all agencies. Throughout 2005 and 2006 a 
series of 6 multi agency Partnership Information Events were held which provided 
parents with information and opportunity to help shape the Council `s Joint Area 
Review.  

 
2.3.4 A “Partners in Policymaking” course was run locally to support local parents to develop 

their confidence to help shape the agenda.  
 
Parents were at this time invited to join the new Strategy Group for children with 
Learning Difficulties and children with Disabilities, which it was agreed locally should 
take forwards planning for this group of young people. It was felt important that the 
parents who joined this group should be there from the off set. 
 
As the LDD group supported by the parent representatives contribute to the 
development of the Children` s Plan and LDD Plan. It was agreed that effective 
scrutiny arrangements should include the development of a regular Forum in which 
parents would receive full briefings by lead professionals from the key agencies. 

 
2.3.5 The Special Educational Needs Advisory Committee (SENAC) was established by the 

Wirral Education Committee over nine years ago to monitor the implementation of 
Wirral’s Special Educational Needs Development plan for Special Educational Needs.  
SENAC meets 3 times a year, with a member from each political party. It originally 
comprised a variety of interested parties who had a professional interest and/or 
responsibility for developing more effective SEN provision across the borough. The 
group still involves key stakeholders from health, social care and education services. It 
still seeks to actively listen and respond to the opinions of pupil and parent 
representatives. The committee is currently looking to re-define its purpose and 
membership in this next year, in order to best fulfill its intended scrutiny function.     

Page 95



 

 7 

 
2.3.6 The Wirral Family Forum was formally launched in May 2006. Terms of reference were 

agreed, name of the forum and logos, expense payments have been worked through 
within various meetings. The Forum over an 18 month period had several periods of 
operating more effectively, though with changes of support staff lost focus. The 
decision was taken to re-launch in November 2007, with strengthened links with the 
Parent Support Group Forum and plans to develop a web site presence. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 96



 

 8 

3 BEST PRACTICE GUIDELINES IN PARTNERSHIP WORKING   
  

 
3.1 The principles of partnership working 
 
Parents within the Wirral Family Forum have the view that the following principles should 
guide how professionals work together with parent carers: 
 
§ to be recognised as equal partners  

§ to have a choice 

§ to be treated fairly 

§ to be consulted 

§ to have access to information 

§ to provide practical help 

§ to ensure joined up service responses 

§ to promote inclusion and challenge discrimination  

 
3.1 Working together in practice  
 
The following values are proposed as being important for services to adopt if they are wishing 
to work in partnership with parents and carers. 
 
§ To  develop a culture of mutual respect and trust, sharing information and promoting 

openness that enables parents and carers to meet with professionals on equal terms  
 
§ To  build relationships between people that enables the and development of honest and 

open dialogue, with no hidden agenda  enabling the development of trust between all 
parties 

 
§ Working in partnership means working together with the needs of the child and family as 

the central focus 
 
§ Working together involves really listening to each other whilst acknowledging different 

perspectives and respecting each others views and ideas 
 
§ Working in partnership means valuing the expertise, knowledge and skills of parents, 

carers and professionals, and demonstrating how this is valued  
 
§ All people that are involved need to be committed and to demonstrate this by attending 

meetings and groups, and acting responsibly and respectfully 

Page 97



 

 9 

 
§ Taking the involvement of parents and carers seriously and recognizing the value of 

each individuals input  
 
§ Ensuring parents and carers involvement is part of a continuing process that ‘one off’ 

consultation does not support effective partnership working 
 
§ Working in partnership means that parents, carers and professionals are jointly involved 

in decision making processes 
 
§ Professionals need to provide adequate time when they seek to engage with parents in 

structuring information and consultation properly 
 
§ Professionals need to ensure that they confirm what they will do and explain if there are 

limitations to what can be done 
 
§ Professionals need to report back to parents on how there views have shaped the 

service.  
 
§ Professionals need to learn how to support parents and be open to learning from 

parents 
 
 
3.2 Supporting parents and carers involvement. 
 

The following principles are proposed as being important for services to adopt if they are 
wishing to support parents and carers effective involvement in service development: 
 
§ Parents need opportunities to develop confidence and skills in order to fully participate, 

across a range of services. This requires access to resources and training opportunities 
 

§ Parents will need access to support from advocates, development workers and voluntary 
organisations 

 
§ Professionals need to develop skills in working in partnership with parents and carers, 

and attend joint training events for parents, carers and professionals. 
 
§ Parents and carers should always be offered travel expenses in a timely and no 

intrusive manner. This demonstrates recognition of their valuable input and a 
commitment to an ongoing process.  

 
§ The Wirral Family Consultation Forum is part of network of groups – all of which are vital 

to developing effective consultation and communication.  
 
§ There needs to be active partnership working between key Officers of the Council, PCT , 

key voluntary organisations in the field to actively promote the involvement of parents 
and carers in service development. 

 
 

Page 98



 

 10 

 
3.3 Promoting access to Information 
 
The following principles have been developed to enable agencies in the provision of 
information to parents and carers: 
 
§ Parents and carers are very busy people  
 
§ Parents want information to be accessible and be provided in a range of ways and 

formats, easy to obtain, relevant to them, joined up and informative.  
 
§ Parents, carers and professionals need to have access to the same shared information 

in order to promote partnership working, whether this be information on service 
developments, and or involvement in key strategic meetings.  

 
§ The use of a variety of methods of communication support the engagement of a wide 

number of parents and carers 
 
§ The provision of a meaningful and accessible directory that provides a range of 

information on services for disabled children and their families will support parents and 
carers to access and engage with services 

 
§ The use of jargon and abbreviations should be avoided so that no one is excluded from 

participating. 
 
§ Providing information is not sufficient in itself parents often need support and time to 

explore the best options for themselves 
 
§ Supporting opportunities for parents for networking with other parents is a vital 

component of any information approach ; in so far that other parents will have a greater 
appreciation of the emotional support parents may require and pressures they 
experience  

 
§ Professionals should take time in explaining things and seek feedback on the usefulness 

of information. 
 
§ In supplying information to parent carers, services should use a variety of channels 

including newsletters, web-sites, support groups, e-mail and direct mailing.  
 
§ Schools have a key responsibility as the lead service provider in most children `s lives in 

the forwarding of information on behalf of different services 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 99



 

 11 

4.0 NEXT STEPS 
 

The following next steps have been set out to guide developing the Strategy over the next 12 
months and will be reviewed and a new action plan agreed. 
 

No. Action Outcome  Who - Timescale 

1. Consultation on guiding 
principles.  
 
Review with all stakeholders 
via web site , key groups and 
an Information event  

To consult on a Consultation  
Strategy with a view to the 
formal adoption by the 
Children & Young People 
Strategic Partnership and 
PCT Boards 
 

1/ JJ/ Wirral Family 
Consultation Group 
 
2/ Any other 
comments to CG 

2. Development of service 
specification for support 
services 
 

• Tender proposals 
confirmed 

• Review with interested 
providers / parties 

Tender specifications 
produced which brings 
together existing activity in a 
co-ordinated manner 
   

CG/ JW/TM      
 
 
 
4/12 
 
January 2009 

3. Review of LDD plan 2007/8  Parents will receive feedback 
on service development  
 

JW 
 
December 2008 

4. Feedback report on 
consultation activity 
undertaken in 2008 
 

Parents will receive feedback 
on service development and 
their own contribution 
 

CG /JW 
 
February 2009 
 

5. Production of plain English 
version of the LDD Plan  
 
 
 
 
 

Parents will receive 
information which is more 
readable.  
 
The plan will confirm the role 
of the WFF in providing for 
effective scrutiny of the LDD 
Plan  
 

JW 
 
February 2009 
 

5. Confirmation of scrutiny 
activity with Wirral Family 
Consultation Forum. 

The WFF Consultation Group 
will identify 3-4 areas for 
increased scrutiny 
  

JJ/ Wirral Family 
Consultation Group 
 
March 2009 
 

6. Further day with external 
facilitator to develop the Forum  
 
 

Plan for developing the 
Forum is published  

JJ/ Wirral Family 
Consultation Group 
 
May 2009 
 
 

Page 100



 

 12 

7. Identification of a group of 
parents who will be prepared 
to receive information, 
documents and plans with a 
view to providing comment on 
accessibility   
 

Documents circulated to 
parents are easy to follow 

JJ/ Wirral Family 
Consultation Group 
 
March 2009 

8. Confirmation of funding bid for 
2009/10 from Together for 
Disabled Children and moving 
forwards the areas of activity in 
2008/9 
 

Forum will continue to 
develop in partnership with 
parents, support groups 

JJ / JW/ CG / TH 
 
March 2009 

9. Parent Support Group Forum – 
to extend the network of 
groups that are linked. 
 

Increased circulation of 
information to groups. 

 

10. Jargon busting information on 
SEN web site to be reviewed  

Information to be 
understandable and its 
availability on different web 
sites made known 

JJ/ AM/ GS 
 
March 2009 

11. Step by step guide to be put 
on WIRED Parent carers 
website.  
 

Parents feel able to use web 
site to seek information and 
discuss issues of interest 

JJ  
 
March 2009 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 101



 

 13 

Appendix 1 : Wirral Family Consultation Forum Terms of reference  
 
Terms of reference for the Forum were agreed with parents and officers of the Council in 

2007.  

 

The terms of reference mirror those set for the LDD Strategy group.: 

§ In developing a shared vision for services for children and young people who have a 

learning difficulty and/or who are disabled. 

 

§ In being one of the primary means of ensuring that parents/carers and children and 

young people are fully engaged in the design, delivery and evaluation of service. 

 

§ Support to the LDD Strategy Group in advising the Strategic Partnership Board and 

Every Child Matters Strategy Groups on actions that need to be taken to improve 

outcomes for children and young people with learning difficulties and disabilities. 

 

§ Advising on models of inter agency work and assessment procedures for children & 

young people with learning difficulties and disabilities  

 

§ supporting policy development and commenting on guidance for staff / services 

 

§ promoting the professional and cultural development of staff . 

 

§ helping to promote inclusive processes and challenge discrimination  

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

Page 102



 

 14 

Appendix 2 : Wirral Parent Support Group Forum – Terms of Reference  
 

AIMS 
 

§ To promote working and information sharing amongst voluntary and statutory groups 
concerned with families of children with disabilities and/or additional needs 

 
§ Support to the LDD Strategy Group in advising the Strategic Partnership Board and 

Every Child Matters Strategy Groups on actions that need to be taken to improve 
outcomes for children and young people with learning difficulties and disabilities.  
 

§ Being one of the primary means of ensuring that parents/ Parent Carers and children 
and young people are fully engaged in the design, delivery and evaluation of service. 
 

§ To ensure that family views are being represented and to influence local policy. 
 

§ Helping to promote inclusive processes and challenge discrimination  
 

 

MEMBERSHIP 
 

§ Membership is open to voluntary organisations concerned with families of children with 
disabilities and/or additional needs. 

 
§ Each support group shall be represented by one person from the group at each forum 

meeting. 
 

§ The forum reserves the right to include statutory agencies as appropriate. At this time 
this will include nominated officers of the Council and Primary Care Trust. 

 
§ Members attend the forum to represent the interests of their individual organisation and 

as such must feedback any information received through the forum. 
 

§ Members can only represent the forum at other meetings if previously nominated to do 
so. 

 
GENERAL MEETINGS 

 
§ Meetings will be held bi-monthly. 
 
§ The forum will be facilitated by a voluntary group individual. 

 
§ Minutes will be taken at each meeting and distributed as soon as possible. ( Support to 

be provided by the Council at this time) 
 

§ All members will be expected to give due consideration to confidentiality of all matters 
discussed. 

 
§ Terms of reference will be reviewed annually or as otherwise appropriate 

Page 103



 

 15 

Appendix 3: Wirral Forum Virtual Map 
 

 

 

The map was produced in November 2007 to represent the different elements of the 
consultation processes. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

1. SENAC – Special Educational Needs Advisory Committee 
 The group was formed as a key scrutiny process for monitoring of SEN provision and 

the LDD Plan. Meets every term. Meetings are co - chaired by Councillors from each 
political party. Group is serviced by the Inclusion Project Manager CYPD 5-6 parents are 
invited to attend the group .   

 
2. Parents Support Group Forum 
 Have agreed new terms of reference and is facilitated by Wired. The Forum will meet for 

a Networking Day twice a year – and receive a bulletin monthly 
 Membership list available from WIRED 
 
 

LDD Sub 
Groups 

Parental 
Steering 
Group 

 

Required? 

Wirral 
Family Forum 
Consultation 
Group 

Web Site(s) 
 

Events 

Parent 

Support 

Group 
Forum 

 

Parents 
Reps 

(LDD) 

 

SENAC 

 

Group 

 

Group 

 

Group 

 

Database 

 Steering 

Group 
SEN Parent 
Partnership 

service 

Wired 
support 
services 

Council 

Officers 

Children` s 
Hearing 
Services 
Working 

Group 

Link 

Forum 

Carers  
Development 
Committee 

Page 104



 

 16 

3. Wirral Family Forum Consultation Group 
 Have agreed new terms of reference and receives facilitation by Wired. The group 

meets monthly – an each second month receives an update report from key officers 
within the Council and PCT.  Membership list maintained by WIRED. Chair and vice chair 
are parents of young people with a LDD. 

 
4. Parent representatives  

Joined the LDD group at its inception in June 2005, during this period several parents 
have joined and left the group. The Wirral Family Forum is the key group which will 
guide Officers in relation to new representatives joining the group.  

 
5. Children` s Hearing Services Working Group 

Includes parent representatives working alongside professionals. 3 monthly meeting 
 

6. Link Forum 
 Provides a representative onto the LDD Strategy Group – elected by voluntary 

organisations within the area  
 
7. Web sites 
 Are maintained by Wired and SEN Parent partnership. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 105



 

 17 

Appendix 4 : Wirral Family Forum Consultation Group  
Statement of Expectations 

 

 

     

 

 

 

Purpose 
 

 To ensure that all meetings and processes within 
the Forum reflect the following values 

 

     

  

Principles 
 

 The Forum is based on the principles of 
partnership working:  
§ to be recognised as equal partners  
§ to have a choice 
§ to be treated fairly 
§ to be consulted 
§ to have access to information 
§ to get practical help 
§ to receive joined up service responses 
§ to promote inclusion and challenge 
discrimination  

 

 

     

  

Values 
 

   

     

 Openness & 
Honesty 

 It is a shared responsibility to ensure that all able 
to express opinions in safety 

 

     

 Participation & 
Equality 

 Anyone’s contribution is to be recognised and 
valued 

 

     

 Open to 
Challenge 

 Everyone attending the Forum may be challenged 
in order that we should learn and change 

 

     

  
Fairness 

 

 All must ensure that everyone involved has an 
equal voice by whatever means are appropriate 

 

     

  
Accountability 

 The Forum is ultimately accountable to the people 
of Wirral , via the LDD Group of the Children & 
Young People’s Strategic Partnership Board ;  to 
work to the best outcomes for children and young 
people with Learning Difficulties and Disabilities.  

 

     

 

 

 

Page 106



 

 18 

  

 

 

Ground 
Rules 

 

 § Respect and accept other people’s contribution, 
even if you disagree 

§ Listen, you may learn something 
§ Be patient, recognise and accept differences in 
people’s ability to communicate 

§ Use clear, simple English 
§ Make sure that everyone has the support they 
need in order to contribute fully 

§ Explain processes clearly 
§ Recognise and record minority views 

 

     

     

  

Support 
 

 § Parent Support co-ordinator 
§ Travel expenses  
§ Officer support 
§ Administrative support 
§ Information from and to LDD groups 
 

 

     

  

Quality 
 

 The processes and meetings conducted within the 
Forum will be measured against this statement of 
expectations.  Responsibility to ensure they are 
adhered to lies with us all 

 

     

   

     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Page 107



 

 19 

Appendix 5 : What is participation 

 
1.0 Participation 
 
Participation is one of those words that can have many different meanings. 
 
In 1969 Sherry Arnstein first attempted to draw out the different ‘levels’ of participation in her 
Participation Ladder, this is represented in relation to parental involvement below. It has been 
used to consider the links between service commissioners and providers, parent and carers in 
the review, planning, development and monitoring of services. In essence, the further up the 
participation ladder services climb, the more power and responsibility they devolve to people. 
It is, important to consider that different types of involvement and participation are valid for 
different people at different times, according to their own wishes as well as what is possible 
for the service. It will be apparent that reaching ‘the top’ is not achievable or indeed 
appropriate in all cases, whilst the bottom 3 positions are not appropriate in a modern society. 
It is also clear that you may choose to adopt any position on the ladder rather than having to 
‘climb it’. Positions toward the top of the ladder will be marked by the existence of processes 
and mechanisms that ensure greater levels of participation. 
 

 
 8 Parents & professional share decision making 

 7 Parents lead and initiate action 

 6 Professional initiated, shared decisions with parents  

 5 Parents consulted and informed 

 4 Professionals decide – Parents informed 

 3 Parents tokenised 

 2 Parents therapised  

 1 Parents manipulated 
 
 
 

2.0 Hear by Rights 
 

Hear by Right offers tried and tested standards for services across the statutory and voluntary 
sectors to map and improve practice and policy on the active involvement of children and 
young people and to encourage continual improvement in the service.  
 
There are seven standards for organisational change: Shared values, Strategy, Structure, 
Systems, Staff, elected members and trustees, Skills and knowledge, Style of 
leadership. Each relies on the other to move forward. They all link back to the shared values 
and require self-assessment at three levels of performance, emerging, established and 
advanced. Each level builds on the previous one.  
 
The standards were used to support the development of Wirral `s Charter of Participation for 
Young People.  

Page 108



 

 20 

Appendix 6 : What parents want – a research article 
 
Bryony Beresford, Parvaneh Rabiee and Patricia Sloper from the Social Policy & Research 
Unit, (2007), identified a number of outcomes parents wanted for themselves, including:  
 
1. Personal identity  
Work, interests, and personal relationships were the 3 main areas identified by parents as 
reinforcing their sense of personal identity. Having some free time and access to high quality  
care and support for their child being what they felt helped them 
 
2. Physical and emotional well-being  
Physically back injury and coping with sleep deprivation impact on well being and capacity to 
cope. In relation to emotional well being the impact of adjustments to the disabled child, 
distress or ill health of their child, difficulty in getting the right support and quality of services 
were the main things parents found difficult.  
 
3. Feeling skilled and informed  
 
Positive outcomes in this area were helping parents to feel more competent and in control, 
which in turn helped their ability to planning and make decisions. Parents want professional 
support as they acquired and then use new skills. The need for information was on-going and 
needed to be available when parents needed it. 
 
4. The balance between caring and parenting  

 
Parents want ‘quality’ time with both their disabled child and their non-disabled children. 
Having fun, and a relaxed time with their children and to develop their relationships. 
 
5. Maintaining family life  

 
In maintaining family life, developing shared experiences and activities, and do things as a 
whole family was seen by parents as important. Keeping the mother-father relationship 
‘intact’, and the involvement of the father in the care of the disabled child was seen by some 
parents as needing extra effort to maintain.  
 
6. Positive adjustment of siblings  
Parents wanted their other children to lead ordinary lives and enjoy everyday childhood 
experiences, and a positive relationship between the disabled child and his/her siblings. 
 
7. Practical and financial resources  
Advice and support to meet the additional costs to the family created by the disabled child 
were significant. 
 
8. Experiences as a service user  
Being ; a sense of working in partnership with services and having confidence in the services 
being used by the child.  
 
The full article is available at : http://www.york.ac.uk/inst/spru/research/pdf/priorities.pdf 

Page 109



 

 21 

Appendix 7 : Useful web sites 
 

CONTACT A FAMILY:  A UK-wide charity which provides support, advice and information for families with 
disabled children, including information on transition. 
www.cafamily.org.uk 
 
COUNCIL FOR DISABLED CHILDREN:  Provides a national forum for the discussion and development of a 
wide range of policy and practice issues relating to service provision and support for disabled children and young 
people and those with special educational needs. 
www.ncb.org.uk/cdc 
 
DEPARTMENT FOR EDUCATION AND SKILLS (DFES):  The website has information about the department, 
including departmental records and strategy. 
www.dfes.gov.uk 
 
DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH:  The website has information about strategy, policy, guidance, publications and 
more. 
www.doh.gov.uk 
 
DISABILITY RIGHTS COMMISSION:  Gives advice and information to disabled people, employers and service 
providers.  It also supports disabled people in getting their rights under the Disability Discrimination Act. 
www.drc-gb.org 
 
HER MAJESTY'S STATIONERY OFFICE (HMSO):  Full text of Acts of Parliament. 
www.legislation.hmso.gov.uk/acts.html 
 
MENCAP:  Provide a range of information and support for people with learning disabilities and their families. 
www.mencap.org.uk 
 
PARTICIPATION WORKS : Provides information and resources to support the development of participation of 
young people.   www.participationworks.org.uk 
 
ROYAL NATIONAL INSTITUTE FOR THE BLIND (RNIB):  Provides information, support and advice to people 
with visual impairments. 
www.rnib.org.uk 
 
ROYAL NATION INSTITUTE FOR THE DEAF (RNID):  Provides information about hearing loss.  It also 
campaigns and lobbies government to change policies. 
www.rnid.org.uk 
 
SCOPE:  Provides information and advice about cerebral palsy.  It also campaigns and undertakes research 
projects. 
www.scope.org.uk 
 
SEN REGIONAL PARTNERSHIPS:  Set up to help local authorities and providers work together to share 
experience and knowledge and to plan services as a region rather than individually. 
www.teachernet.gov.uk/wholeschool/sen/regional 
 
TRANSITION INFORMATION NETWORK:  An alliance of organisations and individuals with the aim of 
improving young disabled people's transition to adulthood.  It produces a magazine "My Future Choices" for 
young people. 
www.myfuturechoices.org.uk 
 
VALUING PEOPLE:  The website of the Valuing People support team.  It includes information, resources to 
download and links to regional pages. 
www.valuingpeople.gov.uk 
 

Page 110



 

Intentional Spend subject to CYPSPB/ Cabinet approval   

�WIRRAL 
Children & Young People’s Department 

 
Aiming High for Disabled Children Indicative Spend 

 
Specialist Services Gap Analysis 
 
1) Contract Carer Scheme 
 
To widen choice of service options for children with complex health - moving and handling needs.  
(Ages 4 – 18yrs) 
 

- To widen choice of service options for children with ASD Complex LD (Ages 4 – 14yrs initially) 
 
Scheme proposals in development – consideration required of benefits of developing in house 
capacity vs. tendering  
 
£60K Year 1 £240K Year 2  revenue   £72K Year 1 £50K Year 2 capital 
 
2) ASD, Complex (Social Communication) 
 
To continue to provide individualised short breaks for target group of 25-30 young people with 
Complex Social Communication issues (5-18yrs). 
 
Support workers employed within CSCST – jointly funded with Children’s Fund  Workers will also 
address parenting needs. 
 
Young people will receive programmes of individualised activity with specialist advice from 
Psychologist. 
 
£28.5k Year 1 £29.55k Year 2 
 
3) ASD  (Complex L.D) 
 
To provide individualised short breaks to a target group of young people (age 3-18yrs). 
 
3 Support Workers within FST will provide for individualised breaks.  Workers will also receive 
support from LD CAMHS in considering parenting strategies. 
 
£28.5k Year 1 £177k Year 2 
 
4) Direct Payments / Individual Budgets 
 
Parents have consistently identified PA recruitment as an issue which limits current take-up. Further 
support has also been requested in the start up phases of packaging with understanding payroll 
requirements and to process tax returns on line. Promotion of this scheme similarly needs increasing. 
There are currently 100-110 families using this service – we would want to increase ‘take up’ by 20 -
30 families. Part of the spend for each year would be spent on improved support services, with the 
rest on the payments. It is proposed Individual Budgets will be brought on line in year 2  
  
£50k Year 1 £125k Year 2 

Page 111



 

Intentional Spend subject to CYPSPB/ Cabinet approval   

 
6) Project Posts 
 
a)   The Project Manager 
 
The Project Manager will need to be supported by a range of additional posts. 
 
b)   Inclusion and Development officer (Specialist)  
Consultation with young people currently is limited with Person Centred Planning still limited to 
specialist services in social care. It would therefore be proposed to transfer funding from the existing 
Childrens involvement officer for young people post into this project.  This post holder would work 
directly with pupils’ advocate to develop SEN Consultation.  In relation to information the person 
would work with Speech and Language Therapy to ensure information to the young person is 
individualised/PECS and other communication shared. 
 
An Emergency Support scheme needs to be created. This will require a person to create and 
maintain a scheme – it being envisaged the person will also undertake on additional responsibility 
within the extended specialist family support services. 
 
The post would be 35 hours per week, 
 
c)   Inclusion and Development officer (Universal services) 
 
Will work to the Project Manager and oversee all administrative activity for the team, including 
financial planning. Data management in compiling information for the Implementation Plan has been 
difficult given the varied streams of activity. The person will also lead all commissioning activity within 
inclusive provisions 
 
Parents in their response to the questionnaire have consistently identified lack of information on 
specialist child care and short breaks to be problematic. 
 
The post holder will ensure the AHDC newsletter is appropriately circulated and parent database is 
developed together with new service providers for Parent Supporting activity. 
 
The post holder will be for 35 hours per week. 
 
d) Team Support Officer 
 
This person will ensure effective business processes are established for the project. Ensuring 
effective data support is in place, information requests are co-ordinated from parents, budgetary 
activity and project planning activity is supported.  
 
The post holder will be for 30 hours per week. 
 
Project posts & budget  
£149.5k Year 1 £159k Year 2 
 
Individual Budgets 
Scheme will be developed in Year 1  
 
£150k Year 2 
 
Commissioned Services 
Commissioning Brief developed separately 

Page 112



 

Intentional Spend subject to CYPSPB/ Cabinet approval   

 
Support Groups 
Process to be co-ordinated via PCT / Link Forum / small bids process. 
 
Capital 
Must be spent before April 2011 – can be rolled from year 1 to year 2 if required. More definitive 
plans will be developed. 

 

 2008/9 2009/10 2010/11 

Capital 0 £252,200 £588,500 

Revenue £60,000 £500,900 £1,615,700 

 

 
         SEE ATTACHED SPREADSHEET WITH BUDGET PLAN       
 
Revenue         Year 1  Year 2  
Specialist provision        £, 000  £, 000 
Contract Carer Scheme        £60  £240 
ASD, Complex (Social Communication)      £28.5  £29.5 
ASD  (Complex L.D)        £28.5  £177 
Direct Payments         £50  £125 
Individual budgets         £0  £150 
Project posts & budget        £154.6 £159 

 
         £321.6 £880.5 

Commissioned services 
Summer and other play schemes       £129.3 £635.2 
Extended schools          
Sensory Impairment          
Holiday provision           
Adolescent support scheme 
Volunteer & mentoring schemes        
Support Groups          £50  £100 
                                                                                                                      £179.3             £735.2 
 
Revenue Totals         £500.9 £1,615.7 
 
Capital          Year 1  Year 2  

         £, 000  £, 000 
Contract Carer Scheme        £72  £50 
Residential unit (+200k from capital)      £0   
Resource Centre           £350 
Sports Centre facilities / Changing Places     £60            £60 
Transport buses         £40  £60 
WPC            £10  
Play equipment         £25  £40 
Holiday provision / other access       £25   
Loan equipment provision        £20  £20 
Other             £8.5 
Capital Totals         £252.2 £588.5 
 

Page 113



Page 114

This page is intentionally left blank



Top of Band plus oncosts plus 2.45% uplift

E F G E F G

ASD- Complex Social Communication Team Family Support Worker 25,084 28,408 33,591 25,883 29,419 34,665

Complex LD Family Support Worker 25,084 28,408 33,591 25,883 29,419 34,665

Complex LD Family Support Worker 25,883 29,419 34,665

Complex LD Family Support Worker 25,883 29,419 34,665

Complex LD Family Support Worker 25,883 29,419 34,665

Complex LD Family Support Worker 25,883 29,419 34,665

Complex LD Family Support Worker 25,883 29,419 34,665

50,167 56,815 67,183 181,181 205,932 242,658

Project Manager PO8 47,564 47,564 47,564 48,748 48,748 48,748

Inclusion & Development Officer (Specialist) H 37,375 37,375 37,375 38,458 38,458 38,458

Inclusion & Development Officer (Universal) H 37,375 37,375 37,375 38,458 38,458 38,458

122,315 122,315 122,315 125,665 125,665 125,665

122,315 122,315 122,315 125,665 125,665 125,665

C D C D

Admin Support - 20 hours 17,591 12,535 12,535 18,057 13,035 13,035

17,591 12,535 12,535 18,057 13,035 13,035

190,073 191,666 202,033 324,902 344,631 381,358

Year 1 Year 2

2009-10 2010-11

P
a
g
e
 1

1
5



P
a
g

e
 1

1
6

T
h

is
 p

a
g

e
 is

 in
te

n
tio

n
a
lly

 le
ft b

la
n
k



 

  

WIRRAL COUNCIL 
 
CABINET – 23 JULY 2009 
 
REPORT OF THE JOINT DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 
 
WIRRAL HEALTH INEQUALITIES PLAN 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
This report provides Cabinet members with a final draft of the Health Inequalities 
Plan for comment and approval. The plan was first drafted in March 2009 and has 
been amended following discussion and consultation with stakeholders. It is currently 
being submitted to committees within Wirral Local Strategic Partnership and NHS 
Wirral in addition to Cabinet and any amendments as a result will be incorporated 
into the final version. 
 
The Plan outlines three timescales for action and achieving improved outcomes; 
2011, 2013 and 2025. These timescales are linked to national targets and local 
strategies.  
 
Wirral is currently below trajectory for achieving the national health inequalities target 
for life expectancy and the Local Area Agreement target for all age all cause 
mortality. The Health Inequalities Plan identifies priority actions that need to be set in 
place if these targets are to be met. 
 
1. Background 
 
1.1. Life expectancy in Wirral is increasing but at a slower rate than for England as a 

whole. The latest data show a gap in life expectancy of 2.0 years for males 
and 0.9 years for females between Wirral and England. This is an increase 
from the baseline year of 1995/97. Approximately 35% of the Wirral population 
live in the most deprived lower super output areas nationally. Life expectancy 
within this group has improved at a slower rate than for the rest of Wirral and 
the gap has therefore, widened. 

 
1.2. In January 2009, Wirral invited the National Support Team for health 

inequalities to visit the area and scrutinise current plans and actions for 
reducing health inequalities. A large number of stakeholders took part in the 
visit which included individual interviews and group workshops. The visiting 
team provided a report detailing recommendations for partnership action and 
have since returned and praised progress that has been made. One of the 
overarching messages that emerged from the visit was that Wirral needed to 
plan interventions that were sufficiently equivalent to the scale of need. 
Recommendations from the visit have been incorporated into the Health 
Inequalities Plan.  

 
1.3. Actions to meet three overarching health outcomes are grouped together under 

five strategic priorities:   
 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 117



 

  

o Address the underlying determinants of health 
o Improve access to high quality public services for people with poor health 

and well-being 
o Engage communities and individuals, supporting them to improve their 

health through the health and well-being choices they make 
o Improve opportunities for children, young people and families 
o Improve and share data and intelligence on health and well-being 

  
1.4    A lead organisation for the completion of each action has been identified in 

addition to partners who will be integral to its success. An executive leadership 
group is to be established to ensure full engagement and drive the 
implementation of the plan. This group will report to the Health and Well-being 
Partnership Co-ordination Group and produce regular progress reports for 
Wirral Local Strategic Partnership Executive, Cabinet and NHS Wirral Board as 
requested. 

 
2. Financial implications 
 

There are no direct financial implications as a result of this report. However, 
financial constraints and future funding decisions relating to the economic 
downturn in particular, could impact on Wirral’s ability to achieve reduced health 
inequalities and health impact assessment may be required. 
 

3. Staffing implications 
 

Wirral Council is the designated lead agency for many actions within the Plan. 
This may have an impact on the workload of individuals and groups of staff, 
working to deliver the agreed priorities. In the main, these are not new areas of 
work but may require additional time resource to complete the actions within the 
timescales 

 
4 Equal opportunities implications 
 

The Health Inequalities Plan aims to improve the health and well-being of 
individuals and groups who have the poorest health outcomes in Wirral. This will 
require considerable consultation and engagement which is included within the 
Plan. 

 
5 Community safety implications 
 

There are no community safety implications arising directly from this report 
 
6 Local Agenda 21 implications 
 

There are no local Agenda 21 implications arising directly from this report 
 
7 Planning implications 
 

The Plan includes use of health impact assessment of major plans such as Wirral 
Waters to ensure positive impacts are maximised and negative impacts 
minimised. 

 
 

Page 118



 

  

8 Anti poverty implications 
 

The Health Inequalities Plan will support action to reduce child poverty and 
worklessness. 

 
9 Social inclusion implications 
 

Successful implementation of the Plan will lead to improved access to public 
services and community engagement for currently excluded groups. 

 
10 Local Member Support implications 
 

The Plan prioritises service improvements and support for people with poor 
health and well-being. This will lead to improvements being targeted to groups 
and geographical areas rather than equally applied throughout Wirral. 

 
11 Background papers 
 

The draft Health Inequalities Plan is attached. 
 

4. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

4.1. Cabinet members are asked to approve the Health Inequalities Plan and to 
request further updates on progress. 

 
 
 
 
Marie Armitage 
Joint Director of Public Health 
 
 
23 July 2009 
 
 
 

Page 119



Page 120

This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet 23 July 2009 

 
 

Wirral 
 

Health Inequalities Plan 
 
 
 

April 2009 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 121



 2 

 
 
Health Inequalities Plan 
 

Section Title Page 
number 

1 Introduction  3 
2 What are health inequalities? 4 
3 Measures of health inequality 4 
4 

4.1 
4.2 
4.3 
4.4 
4.5 
4.6 

Health inequalities in Wirral 
Life expectancy 
Infant mortality and child deaths 
Main causes of early deaths 
Self reported health and well-being 
Wirral – unique characteristics 
Wider determinants of health 

4 
4 
8 
9 
10 
12 
14 

5 
5.1 
5.2 

Vision for Wirral 
Overarching health outcomes 
Strategic priorities 

15 
15 
16 

6 Strategic leadership and governance arrangements 16 
7 Communication 17 
8  Appendix 1: 

Health Inequalities Plan – Action Plan 
 
19 

 

Page 122



 3 

1.  Introduction 
 
Wirral Strategic Partnership has made a commitment to reduce inequalities in 
health and well-being. This is well documented throughout the Local Area 
Agreement and Sustainable Communities Strategy. In order to accelerate 
achievement, priority actions have been identified and agreed, with support 
from the National Support Team for health inequalities.  
 
The 2010 target to reduce the gap in health inequalities between Wirral and 
the rest of England, provides a focus for the short term. However, sustained 
improvements in health and well-being also need to be realised amongst 
those who consistently have below average outcomes. Therefore, actions 
also need to be set in place now, to have an impact in the medium and longer 
term. 
 
This Health Inequalities Plan sets three timescales for action: 

o December 2011 – to achieve the 2010 life expectancy target for Wirral. 
This is measured through 3 year rolled deaths data and takes account 
of all deaths up to December 2011. Actions within the plan will also 
support achievement of Wirral’s Local Area Agreement 

o March 2013 – to support the NHS Wirral Strategic Plan which sets 
additional targets for improvements in health and well-being for those 
living in the most disadvantaged areas compared to the rest of Wirral 

o March 2025 – to set in place actions to achieve the medium and longer 
term aspirations of partners documented in Wirral Sustainable 
Communities Strategy 

 
Health and social care partners have a key role in leading the delivery of 
interventions to meet the 2011 target. In order to continue to reduce the 
inequalities gap in Wirral over the longer term, wider determinants need to be 
addressed such as education, employment and the health of children and 
families.  
 
Three overarching health outcomes have been identified to demonstrate 
progress in reducing health and well-being inequalities. Baselines will be 
established and monitored for each. There are five strategic objectives, each 
with an action plan detailing who is responsible for ensuring its delivery and 
within what timescale. This will ensure co-ordinated implementation and 
facilitate reporting to the health and well-being Partnership Co-ordination 
group, through an executive lead group.

Page 123



 4 

2.  What are Health Inequalities 
 
‘Health inequalities’ is the term used to describe the difference in health and 
health outcomes for different groups in the population. This relates to the 
quality of people’s lives and also how long they live. 
 
Health inequalities are unacceptable. They start early in life and persist not 
only into old age, but also into future generations of families. Some specific 
groups of people also experience much worse health than the rest of the 
population. Examples are people who are homeless, have mental health 
problems or those affected by long term unemployment. 
 
It is not just where a person lives that determines their chances of a long life. 
It is also their access to income, employment, opportunities and life chances. 
The relationship between these issues, called wider determinants of health is 
complex. However, one very stark fact is that health inequalities are directly 
related to social class. This means the poorer a person is the shorter life they 
can expect to live. 
 
3. Measures of health inequality 
 
There are many ways to measure health inequality such as people’s 
perception of their health and well-being or their absence from disease or 
illness. Life expectancy is generally used as a measure to compare health 
inequalities between different population groups or geographical areas. It is 
an estimate of the average number of years a new born baby would live if 
they experienced the age specific mortality1 of the area in which they live. Life 
expectancy is one of the Government’s national targets for reducing health 
inequalities.  
 
Each district in the country is expected to meet a public service agreement 
(PSA) target for life expectancy which aims to: 
 

Starting with local authorities, reduce by at least 10% the gap in life 
expectancy between the fifth of areas with the worst health and 
deprivation indicators and the population as a whole by 2010. 

 
Wirral falls into the 20% of local authority districts with the worst health and 
deprivation indicators (called spearhead authorities) and so will need to 
reduce by 10% the gap in life expectancy at birth by 2009-112 compared with 
the England average for the baseline year of 1995-97.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
1
 Age related mortality is the remaining number of years a person of a specific age is expected to live 

2
 Three year rolling data are used to ensure data robustness 

Page 124



 5 

4. Health inequalities in Wirral 
 
4.1 Life expectancy 
 
Table 1 shows the trend in life expectancy at birth for Wirral and England 
(1995/97–2005/07) and also the gap between the two. 
 
Table 1: Life expectancy at birth in Wirral and England for 1995/97 to 2005/07  

Time 
Period 

England Wirral Gap (Years) Gap (%) Change in gap 
from baseline (%) 

 Males Females Males Females Males Females Males Females Males Females 
1995-1997 74.6 79.7 73.1 79.0 1.5 0.7 2.0% 0.9% 0.0% 0.0% 
1996-1998 74.8 79.8 73.5 78.8 1.3 1.0 1.7% 1.3% -14.0% 45.4% 
1997-1999 75.1 80.0 73.8 79.1 1.3 0.9 1.7% 1.1% -12.6% 33.1% 
1998-2000 75.4 80.2 73.9 79.2 1.5 1.0 2.0% 1.2% 3.4% 38.6% 
1999-2001 75.7 80.4 74.3 79.7 1.4 0.7 1.8% 0.9% -7.2% 2.8% 
2000-2002 76.0 80.7 74.9 79.9 1.1 0.8 1.4% 1.0% -24.5% 9.5% 
2001-2003 76.2 80.7 75.2 80.0 1.0 0.7 1.3% 0.9% -34.6% -2.5% 
2002-2004 76.5 80.9 75.4 80.2 1.1 0.7 1.4% 0.9% -26.3% 2.3% 
2003-2005 76.9 81.1 75.5 80.2 1.4 0.9 1.8% 1.1% -7.0% 19.6% 
2004-2006 77.3 81.6 75.7 80.8 1.6 0.8 2.1% 1.0% 5.3% 12.9% 
2005-2007 77.7 81.8 75.7 80.9 2.0 0.9 2.6% 1.1% 33% 28.6% 

 
Key facts about achieving the life expectancy target in Wirral: 
 

o Whilst life expectancy is increasing in Wirral, it is not improving at the 
same rate as England as a whole. 

o The latest data (2005/07) shows a gap in life expectancy of 2.0 years 
for males and 0.9 years for females between Wirral and England. 

o The gap has increased in both males and females since 1995/97 from 
1.5 years for men and 0.7 years for females. 

o Data up to 2001/03 show that Wirral was narrowing the gap for males 
(albeit inconsistently), however since then the gap has been widening 
year on year.  

o Progress amongst females has been more erratic but, like males, the 
gap appears to be widening in recent years. 

o According to this latest data, Wirral is not on track to meet the PSA life 
expectancy target along with many of the other Spearhead areas. 

 
All age all cause mortality (AAACM3) is a measure used to monitor life 
expectancy. In Wirral, for 2005-2007 AAACM was 661.45 per 100,000 for 
males and 540.79 per 100,000 for females. The Wirral rate is lower than the 
North West as a whole (672.80) but higher than the England rate (594.73).  
 
Health inequalities are also apparent within Wirral. Figures 1 and 2 show all 
age AAACM at Lower Super Output Area (LSOA4) across Wirral for females 
and males respectively.  
 

                                                 
3
 AAACM rates are three-year average, directly standardised death rates per 100,000 of the population for all ages 

and all causes of death 
4
 LSOAs are areas with a mean population 1500, minimum population of 1000. There are 34,378 LSOAs in England 

and Wales and 207 in Wirral. 

Page 125



 6 

Figure 1: Female AAACM rates at LSOA (2005-2007) 

Page 126



 7 

Figure 2: Male AAACM rates at LSOA (2005-2007) 

 
It is apparent from Figures 1 and 2 that mortality rates vary dramatically 
across Wirral LSOAs in both males and females. However, the variation in 
men is especially notable ranging from 290 to 2,220 deaths per 100,000 
population. It is also clear that generally, the most disadvantaged areas in the 
east of Wirral have the highest death rates (and therefore lowest life 

Page 127



 8 

expectancy) whilst the most affluent areas have the lowest death rates (and 
therefore, highest life expectancy).  
 
AAACM has been calculated in Wirral to demonstrate the differences in death 
rates between the whole of Wirral and areas that are expected to have poor 
life expectancy due to high deprivation. Figure 3 shows AAACM in England, 
Wirral overall, Wirral lower super output areas (LSOAs) which are in the 3% 
most deprived group nationally (which correspond to around 12% of Wirral’s 
population) and the LSOAs which are in the 20% most deprived nationally 
(35% of Wirral’s population). 
 
Figure 3: AAACM in England, Wirral and 3% and 20% most deprived 
(1995/97 – 2005/07) 
 

 
 
Key facts relating to AAACM: 

o Wirral has a higher AAACM rate than England, and this has 
consistently been the case for the last ten years. 

o Mortality rates are higher in the 3% most deprived group nationally and 
the LSOAs which are in the 20% most deprived nationally. 

o Whilst overall mortality rates have improved in Wirral, in some of the 
most deprived areas (3% most deprived nationally) they have been 
increasing since 2002 although most recent data show a marked 
improvement (2005-2007). 

 
4.2   Infant mortality and child deaths 
 
Wirral has lower mortality rates amongst those aged under 1 year and under 
28 days than the North West and England. However, the mortality rate 
amongst those aged under 7 days in Wirral in slightly higher than those for the 

Page 128



 9 

North West and England. It should be noted that none of these differences are 
statistically significant.  
 
 
The most recently available infant mortality statistics are shown in Table 2 
below.  
 
Table 2: Infant mortality rates (2005/07) 
 Rate per 1,000 live births 

 Under 1 year Under 28 days Under 7 days 

Wirral 4.7 3.3 2.8 
North West 5.5 3.6 2.7 
England 4.9 3.4 2.6 
 
When the causes of death for this period amongst this Wirral cohort (all 
deaths in those aged <1 year old between 2005 and 2007 inclusive) are 
examined, it becomes apparent that approximately one quarter of deaths 
relate to the length of gestation and fetal growth (i.e. premature babies) and 
an additional quarter are related to congenital and chromosomal 
abnormalities.  
 
Additional analysis looking at the geographical spread of deaths finds no 
indication of an inequalities gap. However, it must be noted that the cohort is 
very small (n=55).  
 
4.3  The main causes of early death 
 
The main conditions for men and women that contribute to the gap in life 
expectancy between Wirral and England are shown in Table 3. The table also 
shows the number of deaths in Wirral from each condition. 
 
Table 3: Main causes of early death in Wirral 

Condition Order of contribution to 
gap for women 

Order of contribution to 
gap for men 

Coronary heart disease 1= 1 
Suicide and undetermined 
injury 

7 2 

Other accidents 13 5 
Chronic cirrhosis of the liver 6 4 
Lung cancer 3 3 
Other cancers 1= 10 
Stroke 5 9 
COPD (Chronic obstructive 
airway disease) 

4 6 

 
Coronary heart disease is the greatest cause of the gap in life expectancy for 
both males and females, along with other cancers for females. Coronary heart 
disease (CHD), stroke and cancers contribute the greatest number of deaths. 
Risk factors that are common to these conditions include smoking, inactivity, 
high fat diet lacking in fresh fruit and vegetables, obesity and high alcohol 
consumption. These also contribute to raised cholesterol, blood pressure and 

Page 129



 10 

blood glucose which are major causes of cardiovascular disease including 
CHD, stroke and diabetes. 
 
Suicide and undetermined injury is the second biggest contributor to the gap 
in life expectancy for Wirral in males. The main issue to address is alcohol 
binge drinking in men under 50 years and road traffic accidents in young men. 
 
Deaths from causes considered amenable to healthcare is a definition based 
on the concept that deaths from certain causes could be avoided in the 
presence of timely and effective health care. This includes conditions such as 
many cancers, diabetes and measles. The mortality rate for these conditions 
is higher in Wirral than England with the differential particularly noticeable in 
men. It is well documented that men can be poor at accessing services and 
often present with late symptoms, affecting survival outcomes. 
 
4.4 Self reported health and well-being 
 
The North West Regional Lifestyle Survey took place in 2007. Individuals 
were asked several questions about their general health and long-term 
conditions. In Wirral, 79% of both males and females assessed their health as 
‘very good’ or ‘good’ which was better than the Merseyside average from the 
Health Survey for England of 73% for males and females (3 year average for 
2003-05). It is also better than the England average from the Health Survey 
for England of 76% for males and 75% for females. 
 
Figures 4 and 5 show responses to health in general by gender and age for 
males and females. Both males and females show health deteriorating as 
they get older. A greater proportion of females than males in the older group 
(75+) rate their health as ‘very bad’. This fits in with other research that 
suggests that though women live longer, they often experience a longer 
period of time in poor health towards the end of their lives. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 130



 11 

Figure 4: Self-reported health by Wirral males 

General health by age group - males

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

16-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65-74 75+ Total

Age group

P
e
rc
e
n
t 
(%
)

Very bad

Bad

Fair

Good

Very good

 
Figure 5: Self-reported health by Wirral females 

General health by age group - females

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

16-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65-74 75+ Total

Age group

P
e
rc
e
n
t 
(%

)

Very bad

Bad

Fair

Good

Very good

 
Figure 6 shows general health by deprivation quintile5. The percentage 
describing their health as ‘bad’ or ‘very bad’ is more than twice as high in the 
most deprived as in the least deprived; 7.8% compared with 3.3%.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
5
 Deprivation quintile; the whole population is divided into fifths ranging from most to least deprived 

Page 131



 12 

Figure 6 – Self-reported health by deprivation quintile 

General health by deprivation quintile

39 40 37 36 35 37

45 43
42 41

40
42

13 14
15 16

17
16

3 3 5 5 6 5
1 1 1 1 2 1

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Least Fourth Third Second Most Total

IMD 2007 quintile

P
e
rc
e
n
t 
(%

)

Very bad

Bad

Fair

Good

Very good

 
The TellUs2 Questionnaire is a survey of children and young people in school 
years six, eight and ten across England covering a range of issues relating to 
the five Every Child Matters outcomes. The responses from Wirral and 
England pupils to the question “How healthy are you?” are shown in Table 4 
below.  
 
Table 4 – Responses to “How healthy are you?” from the TellUs2 survey (2007) 
 Wirral (%) National (%) 

Very healthy 23* 31 
Quite healthy 59 55 
Not very healthy 12 9 
Don’t know 6 5 
* Indicates significantly lower than the England response 
 
It is clear from Table 4 that significantly fewer pupils in Wirral rate themselves 
as “very healthy” compared to England as a whole, whilst more rated 
themselves as “not very healthy”. 
 
Despite these findings, the Wirral Young People Survey (summer 2008) 
identified that overall Year 8 and Year 10 pupils feel responsible for their own 
health with 78% agreeing with the statement “If I take care of myself I’ll stay 
healthy” and 71% agreeing with the statement “I am in charge of my health”. 
Only 5% and 6% respectively disagreed with these statements.     
 
4.5 Wirral’s unique characteristics 
 
Wirral is a borough of contrast and diversity in both its physical characteristics 
and social demographics. There are both rural areas and townships and 

Page 132



 13 

urban and industrialised areas in a compact peninsula of 60 square miles. 
Wirral is a peninsula, providing extensive opportunities for leisure through 
parks, open spaces and coast line.  
 
Health and Local Authority agencies are co-terminus providing stability that 
has fostered mature partnership arrangements. The Strategic Partnership has 
shown its commitment to achieving reduced health inequalities through its 
Local Area Agreement (LAA). The LAA Wirral Story sets out the vision to 
achieve a more prosperous and equal Wirral, enabling all communities and 
people to achieve their full potential. 
 
Wirral has a relatively high older population and a relatively low proportion of 
people in their twenties and thirties compared to England and Wales as a 
whole. The older population (aged 65 years and above) are expected to 
increase at the fastest rate (than any other age group) over the next two 
decades; between 2006 and 2031 it is estimated that this population group 
will have increased by 45%. According to estimates 4.5% of Wirral’s 
population is from a BME group (i.e. not white British). 
 
According to the Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 2007, Wirral is the 60th 
most deprived of the 354 districts in the country and is in the bottom 20% 
nationally. Many of Wirral’s citizens enjoy an excellent quality of life, with good 
quality housing, schools and living environment. In certain parts of the 
borough however, there are significant levels of deprivation. Within Wirral, 
LSOAs range from the 26th most deprived in the country (around St James 
Church in Birkenhead) to one of the least deprived in the country in South 
West Heswall, less than 6 miles away. 
 
Wirral is ranked 8th worst out of 354 districts (bottom 3% nationally) for 
employment in the IMD 2007. There are huge variations in levels of economic 
inactivity across the borough, from over 56% in some areas of Birkenhead 
and Tranmere, to less than 3% in parts of Heswall. Although average wages 
paid in Wirral are lower than for the North West, the average wage earned by 
Wirral residents is higher. This is due to the fact that more than 40,000 
residents currently travel outside Wirral to access higher paid employment in 
Liverpool and Chester.  
 
Wirral’s senior school system includes six selective non fee-paying senior 
schools, which have higher academic attainment than the state schools. 
Although the schools are non fee-paying there are inequities in attendance at 
these schools with respect to the areas from which pupils are resident. 6.8% 
of pupils from the most disadvantaged wards6 attend one of these schools 
(ranging from 3.2% of pupils from Seacombe to 10.4% of pupils from 
Leasowe) whilst 32.4% of pupils from the other wards attend one of these 
schools.  
 
 
 

                                                 
6
 Bidston, Birkenhead, Leasowe, Seacombe, Tranmere 

Page 133



 14 

4.6 Wider determinants of health 
 

An effective strategy to reduce health inequalities in Wirral will need to 
address factors at the individual, family, community and population level. This 
means not only tackling the conditions leading to reduced life expectancy, 
(such as CHD and smoking) but addressing the underlying social inequalities 
that influence how people live (such as poverty, education and employment).  
 
In addition, social networks and quality of life can have an influence on mental 
well-being, self esteem and resilience. These are protective factors against 
health damaging behaviour such as smoking or alcohol abuse. They also 
influence employability for example, where worklessness is associated with 
poor mental health and well-being. These underlying issues are often referred 
to as wider determinants of health and their inter-relationship is demonstrated 
in Figure 7. 
 
Figure 7: The Determinants of Health 
 
 

 
Source: Dahlgren G and Whitehead M, Policies and strategies to promote social equity in 
health, Stockholm: Institute of Future Studies, 1991. 
 
 

As previously discussed in Section 4.5, Wirral is 60th worst out of 354 districts 
in IMD 2007. This is an improvement on IMD 2004 when Wirral ranked 48th 
worst. Wirral’s area of poorest performance on IMD is in the employment 
domain, where it ranks 8th worst out of 354 districts, the same as in IMD 2004. 
Given that employment makes up 22.5% of the total IMD score, this is the key 
contributor to Wirral’s overall low ranking.  
 
Wider determinants of health such as working conditions, the environment or 
crime, lie outside the control of individuals and require societal changes or 
policy decisions eg legislation to introduce smoke free work places. However, 
addressing the wider determinants can enable people to make healthy 

Page 134



 15 

personal choices to improve or maintain their health. To be effective, it is 
important that consideration is given to what can be achieved at a local 
neighbourhood level, what would be more effectively tackled at a district or 
regional level and what can only be achieved with national and international 
policy legislation change. 
 

5. Vision for Wirral  
 
In order to achieve a reduction in health inequalities, it is necessary to define 
targets and outcomes and how they will be measured. Three timescales for 
achievement of outcomes have been agreed that are short, medium and 
longer term: 
 

o December 2011 - Three year rolling averages are used to measure life 
expectancy. To achieve the 2010 PSA target of a reduction in life 
expectancy gap of 10% between Wirral and England, Wirral must make 
ambitious plans to reduce premature mortality in each of the years 
2009 to 2011. Wirral’s Local Area Agreement will contribute to 
achieving this target 

o 2013 – NHS Wirral Strategic Plan sets out targets that will contribute to 
reduced health inequalities by 2013 

o 2025 – The Children and Young Peoples Plan, Employment and 
Investment Strategies and Sustainable Communities Strategy set out 
targets to improve wider determinants of health, contributing to reduced 
health inequalities by 2025. 

 
The Action Plan (appendix 1), will prioritise actions required to meet agreed 
improvements at each of the three timescales above. 
 
5.1  Overarching health outcomes 
 
This Health Inequalities Action Plan aims to achieve the following health 
outcomes: 
 
Health outcome 1: 
Health in Wirral will improve at a faster rate than for England as a whole 
between 2009 and 2011. This will ensure that the 2010 life expectancy target 
for Wirral is achieved. 
Measures to be set and achieved: 

o The AAACM trajectory for males and females. 
o Total number of deaths to be saved each year in order to meet the 

AAACM trajectory 
o Number of deaths to be saved each year from the main contributors to 

the gap in life expectancy: 
o Cardio vascular disease and stroke 
o Excess winter deaths 
o COPD 
o Cancers 

o Number of deaths under the age of 50 years to be saved each year 
due to suicide and undetermined injury. 

Page 135



 16 

 
Health outcome 2: 
The health of people living in the most deprived areas of Wirral will improve at 
a faster rate than for the rest of Wirral between 2009 and 2013  
Measures to be set and achieved: 

o The AAACM trajectory for males and females living in the national 20% 
most deprived areas of Wirral in order to achieve a 7% reduction in the 
gap in life expectancy within Wirral between 2008 and 2013. 

 
Health outcome 3: 
Wirral will improve its index of multiple deprivation position in comparison to 
other Local Authority Districts by 2020  

o Improvement to child poverty leading to fewer children living in poverty 
o Improvement to employment rate leading to more people being in work 
o Improved educational attainment for vulnerable children including 

looked after children and children from the most deprived areas  
 
It will be necessary to model the possible impact of the economic downturn 
over the lifetime of this plan. This will help to ensure that achievement of 
outcomes and performance measures show the real improvement that has 
been achieved against performance projected if the plan were not 
implemented. 
 
5.2 Strategic priorities 
 
Actions to meet the Overarching Health Outcomes have been grouped under 
five Strategic Priorities: 
 

o Strategic Priority 1: Address the underlying determinants of health 
o Strategic priority 2: Improve access to high quality public services for 

people with poor health and well-being 
o Strategic Priority 3: Engage communities and individuals, supporting 

them to improve their health through the health and well-being choices 
they make 

o Strategic Priority 4: Improve opportunities for children, young people 
and families 

o Strategic priority 5: Improve and share data and intelligence on health 
and well-being 

 
The actions are detailed in the Health Inequalities Plan – Action Plan 
(Appendix 1).  
 

6. Strategic leadership and governance arrangements (to be revised) 
 

 The Health and Well-being Partnership Co-ordination Group will provide 
leadership and governance for the implementation of the Health Inequalities 
Action Plan, through its network of strategy groups and clinical networks 
(Figure 8). This will report quarterly to the Wirral Strategic Partnership 
Executive. 

 

Page 136



 17 

 A Health Inequalities Lead Group will be established to drive forward the 
accountability, implementation, performance monitoring and reporting on the 
plan. This group will also ensure that there is regular reporting to appropriate 
boards / cabinet. 

 
 
Figure 8. Health and Well-being partnership 
 
 

Healthy
Communities

Block Planning 

Group

Health & 
Wellbeing
Sub 
groups

Well @
Work

Performance
& Joint

Commissioning

Engagement
for H&W

Health & 
Wellbeing

Partnership
Co-ordination

Group

Transformation
Programme 

Board

Wirral
Strategic 

Partnership

NHS 
Wirral 

Corporate 
Directors 

Group

Chief 
Officers 

Management
Team

Cabinet Professional 
Executive 
Committee

NHS 
Wirral
Board

Health
Protection
Strategy
Group

Health & Wellbeing

Partnership

whe
re

 d
ec

isi
on

s 
ar

e 
cli

nica
l o

r 

inv
olv

e P
CT re

so
ur

ce
s

where decisions involve Council

policy or resources

Health
Impact 

Assessment 
Group

Crime &
Disorder
Reduction
Partnership

Economic
Development
& Skills
Partnership

Strategic
Housing 
Partnership

Children & 
YP
Partnership
Trust

Environment
& Liveability
Group

Wirral
Strategic
Delivery
Partnerships

 
7. Communication 

 
The Health and Well-being Partnership communicates in a number of ways 
including the cross membership of officers & executives on various boards 
and other strategic groups. 
 

 The Partnership is accountable to the Wirral Strategic Partnership Executive. 
However where decisions involve Council policy or resources it is also 
accountable to the Council’s Cabinet and/or where decisions are clinical or 
involve NHS Policy or resources it is also accountable to the NHS Wirral 
Board via the Professional Executive Committee (PEC). The Joint Director of 
Public Health will also take advice from the Chief Officers Management Team 
(COMT) and/or the Corporate Directors Group (CDG) on the process required 
for specific decisions.  
 
It is intended that members of the various groups within the structure will be 
kept informed and engaged through regular newsletters, training and 
development opportunities in order to enable them to champion health and 
wellbeing and health inequalities issues within their wider work. This 

Page 137



 18 

represents a further development within Wirral of the successful Cheshire and 
Merseyside Public Health Network for Health (ChaMPs). 

Page 138



 19 

Appendix 1 
Health Inequalities Plan – Action Plan  
 

Page 139



 20 

 
Strategic priority 1: Address the underlying determinants of health 
 

Impact to be 
achieved by 

Target Action Outcome Lead person 
and 
organisation 

Achieved 
by: 

Relevant 
delivery 
strategy 2011 2013 2025 

1.1 Ensure that 
development 
plans for Wirral 
Waters 
maximise 
positive impact 
on health 
inequalities 

Complete a health 
impact assessment on 
Wirral Waters 
Development Plan 
including 
recommendations for 
action 

Wirral Waters 
development 
reduces 
health 
inequalities in 
Wirral 

WMBC 
Head of 
Housing and 
Regeneration 
 
Joint Head of 
Health and 
Well-being 

January 
2010 

Wirral 
Investment 
Strategy 

 √ 
 

√ 
 

1.2 Set in place 
an effective 
strategy for 
reducing the 
availability of 
illegal, poor 
quality and 
reduced cost 
tobacco 
products, 
especially to 
young people 
and 
disadvantaged 
adults  

Review and re launch 
the Smoke Free Wirral 
Action Plan 

Measures to 
reduce 
smoking 
prevalence 
are not 
undermined 
by local illegal 
practice 

WMBC 
Head of 
Regulation /  
Joint Head of 
Health and 
Well-being /  

June 2009  Health and 
Well-being 
Strategic 
Framework 

 √ √ 

P
a
g

e
 1

4
0



 21 

1.3 Ensure that 
vulnerable 
individuals are 
able to live in 
homes that are 
warm 

Review the Affordable 
Warmth Strategy and 
ensure there is an 
effective partnership 
group to lead an 
associated action plan  
 
Increase the number of 
vulnerable households 
assisted with at least one 
main energy efficiency 
measure under Warm 
front (LAA – local target) 

Vulnerable 
families and 
individuals 
can afford to 
live in homes 
that protect 
rather than 
negatively 
impact on 
their health 

WMBC 
Head of 
Housing 
 
Head of 
Health and 
Well-being 
(DASS) 
 
Director of 
Strategic 
Partnerships 
 
Head of 
Inclusion  

September 
2009  

Affordable 
Warmth 
Strategy 
 
Housing 
Strategy 
 
DASS 
Transformation 
Strategy 
 
Warm Front 
 
LAA 

√ √ √ 

1.4 Ensure key 
agencies and 
Wirral Strategic 
partnership have 
sufficient 
information to 
lead action to 
address excess 
winter deaths 

Set in place the 
mechanism to collate 
and report on excess 
winter deaths including 
number and locality 

High level of 
support is 
maintained to 
reduce excess 
seasonal 
deaths 

WUTH 
Head of 
PCIS / Head 
of 
Performance 
and 
Intelligence / 
Asst Director 
of Strategy 

September 
2009 

Older People’s 
Plan 
 
Health 
Protection 
Strategy 

√ √ √ 

1.5 Improve 
data collection 
and intelligence 
on black and 
racial minority 

Carry out a health and 
well-being needs 
assessment amongst the 
BRM population 
 

Some of the 
barriers for 
BRM groups 
accessing 
services are 

NHS Wirral 
Joint Head of 
health and 
Well-being / 
Wirral 

December 
2009  
 
 
 

Joint Strategic 
Needs 
Assessment 

  √ 

P
a
g
e
 1

4
1



 22 

populations in 
Wirral 

 
 
Establish fit for purpose 
data collection methods 
within key services to 
assess access by BRM 
groups 

removed Change / 
WMO  
Head of 
Performance 
and 
Intelligence / 
Head of 
PCIS / Head 
of Provider 
Services 

 
 
March 
2010 

1.6 Reduce 
economic 
inactivity 

Reduce the proportion of 
working age people 
claiming out of work 
benefits (LAA / NI153) 
 
Reduce the number of 
people claiming 
incapacity benefits 
 

Reduced 
impact of 
poverty on 
families and 
reduced loss 
of self esteem 
and mental 
well-being 

WMBC 
Head of 
Housing and 
Regeneration 
/ Head of 
Public Health 
Provider 
Services / 
Benefits 
Agency 

March 
2010 / 
2011 

Local Area 
Agreement 
 
Wirral 
Investment 
Strategy 

  √ 

1.7 Support the 
development 
and 
maintenance of 
skills and 
independence in 
vulnerable 
adults 

Increase the number of 
people supported to live 
independently through 
social services - all 
adults (LAA local target) 

Increased 
quality of life, 
health and 
well-being in 
vulnerable 
adults 

WMBC 
Director of 
Adult Social 
Services / 
Director of 
Strategic 
Partnerships 

March 
2010 / 
2011 

Local area 
Agreement 

 √ √ 

1.8 Maximise Steps are in place to Impact on WMBC March    √ 

P
a
g

e
 1

4
2



 23 

the health and 
well-being 
impact of new 
programmes 
and policy 
changes on 
potential 
vulnerable and 
excluded groups 

carry out equality and 
diversity impact 
assessment on all new 
programmes and policies 

potentially 
vulnerable or 
minority 
groups is 
considered at 
the planning 
stages and 
positive 
impacts 
maximised 
and negative 
impacts 
reduced 

Directors of 
HR in partner 
organisations 

2010 

 

P
a
g
e
 1

4
3



 24 

Strategic Priority 2: Improve access to high quality public services for people with poor health and well-being 
 

Impact to be 
achieved by 

Target Action Outcome Lead person 
and 
organisation 

Achieved 
by 

Relevant 
delivery 
strategy / plan 2011 2013 2025 

2.1 Improved 
QOF 
performance in 
areas that are 
major contributors 
to reduced 
mortality 

Review practice QOF 
scores in all high impact 
areas and identify low 
scoring practices (eg 
CHD 5,6,7,9) 
 
Support low scoring 
practices to produce a 
recovery plan to achieve 
maximum QOF points in 
high impact areas 

Increase in the 
proportion of 
patients 
identified and 
treated leading 
to reduced risk 
of premature 
mortality 

NHS Wirral 
Head of 
Performance 
and 
Intelligence / 
Heads of 
Localities 

June 2009 
 
 
 
  
 
September 
2009 

LHD plans / 
PBC plans 

√ √ √ 

2.2 Use financial 
incentives and 
local payment 
schemes to 
maximise impact 
on life expectancy 
and health 
inequalities 

Review PCT and LHD 
local enhanced services 
against performance, 
heath impact and value 
for money 
 
Review exception policy 
for practices and impact 
on health inequalities 
 
Review the support, 
resources and 

PCT resources 
are targeted to 
achieve 
reduced health 
inequalities 

NHS Wirral 
Director of 
Health 
Systems 
Management 
 
Medical 
Directors / 
Director of 
Health 
Systems 
management / 

June 2009  
 
 
 
 
 
June 2009  
 
 
 
July 2009  

Strategic Plan / 
LHD Plans 

√ √ √ 

P
a
g

e
 1

4
4



 25 

development available 
to practices to reduce 
exception reporting, 
achieve higher QOF 
and LES activity in high 
impact areas 

Joint Director 
of Public 
Health 

2.3 Ensure quality 
training is 
available to 
practice staff and 
that records 
demonstrate high 
levels of 
completion 

Review the training 
needs of practice staff 
to achieve performance 
improvements in the 
health inequalities high 
impact areas 
 
Establish systems to 
maintain and review up 
to date training records 
of primary care staff 
 
Agree standards for 
training and 
development linked to 
quality payment scheme 

Staff 
development is 
supported at 
LHD level to 
ensure  
consistently 
high standards 
of care 

NHS Wirral 
Medical 
Directors / 
Head of 
Localities 

January 
2010 

  √ 
 

√ 
 

2.4 Identify 
inequalities in the 
prevention, 
diagnosis and 
treatment of 
cancer and CVD 

Complete a cancer 
equity audit review and 
produce an 
improvement action 
plan to implement 
recommendations 
 

Inequalities in 
cancer and 
CVD morbidity 
and mortality 
are reduced 

NHS Wirral 
Public Health 
Consultant / 
Performance 
and 
Intelligence 
team / PCT 

December 
2009  

Cancer Equity 
Audit 
 
CHD Equity 
audit 

√ 
 
 
 

√ 
 
 
 

√ 
 
 
 
 

P
a
g
e
 1

4
5



 26 

Complete a CVD equity 
audit review and 
produce an 
improvement action 
plan to implement 
recommendations 

Cancer Lead / 
PCT CVD lead 

2.5 Ensure 
patients with high 
risk of CVD and 
not in contact with 
primary care are 
supported to 
maximise their 
risk reduction 

Establish interface 
between Health Action 
Areas and Primary Care 
to ensure data and 
patients are supported 
to move between 
clinical and lifestyle 
programmes 

CVD risk is 
reduced within 
the population 
leading to 
reduced 
mortality 

NHS Wirral 
Medical 
Director lead 
for CVD / Joint 
Head of Health 
and Well-being 
/ LHD Analyst / 
Head of Public 
Health 
Provider 
Services 

June 2009  Vascular 
Screening 
Delivery Plan 
 
HAA Delivery 
Plan 

√ √ √ 

2.6 Ensure that 
structural 
constraints are 
removed if they 
prevent services 
from collaborating 
to deliver 
improved health 
and wellbeing to 
the population 

Review the partner 
alignment and 
structures for delivering 
services to children, 
young people and 
adults and make 
recommendations for 
maximising resources, 
quality and equity of 
access 

Organisational 
boundaries are 
aligned leading 
to integrated 
health and 
social care 
services 

NHS Wirral 
Director of 
ASS, Director 
of CYPD, 
Director of 
Strategic 
Partnerships / 
Director of 
Primary Care 

September 
2010 

Children and 
Young Peoples 
Plan 
 
Joint 
Commissioning 
Plans 

 √ √ 

2.7 Patients 
treated for angina 

Protocols for the referral 
of patients with angina 

Patients with 
angina are 

NHS Wirral 
Head of Heart 

September 
2009 

CVD Delivery 
Plan?? 

√ √ √ 

P
a
g

e
 1

4
6



 27 

are supported to 
adhere to their 
care plan 

for exercise tolerance 
testing are reviewed 
and procedures set in 
place to ensure 
minimum standards are 
achieved and 
adherence to care plans 
reviewed 

able to 
manage their 
condition to 
reduce risk of 
premature 
mortality 

Centres/ 
Medical 
Director lead 
for CVD/ PCT 
commissioning 
lead for CVD 

2.8 Increase 
support available 
for patients with 
CVD to adhere to 
medication 
therapy 

Review the support 
available for patients on 
medication to reduce 
CVD risk and make 
recommendations for 
improving 

Patients 
adhere to 
medication 
regimes, 
reducing risk of 
premature 
mortality 

NHS Wirral 
Head of 
Medicines 
Management / 
Head of Heart 
Centres / 
Medical 
Director lead 
for CVD / Head 
of Engagement 

September 
2009  

 √ √ √ 

2.9 Increase 
revascularisation 
rates 

Benchmark 
revascularisation rates 
and set out mechanisms 
to ensure PCT is in top 
10% nationally (whilst 
reducing any inequity of 
access) 

Patients are 
provided with 
optimum acute 
treatment to 
reduce 
premature 
mortality 

NHS Wirral 
Head of 
Performance 
and 
Intelligence / 
Commissioning 
lead for CVD 

September 
2009  

 √ √ √ 

2.10 A care 
pathway is in 
place and being 
adhered to for 

Consult with relevant 
clinical and patient 
groups to agree and 
launch a map of 

Patients are 
treated and 
have optimum 
quality of life  

NHS Wirral 
Consultant in 
Cardiology/  
PCT CVD lead 

January 
2010 

 √ √ √ 

P
a
g
e
 1

4
7



 28 

primary 
angioplasty 

medicine care pathway 
for primary angioplasty 

/ Medical 
Director lead / 
Director of 
Health 
Systems 
management 

2.11 Retention 
and completion 
within cardiac 
rehabilitation 
programmes is 
maximised 

Complete a review of 
attendance, retention 
and completion of 
cardiac rehabilitation 
programmes, including 
equity of access from 
people from most 
deprived areas and high 
risk population groups 
 
Set in place an action 
plan to improve 
adherence and increase 
equity of access 

Patients most 
at risk of 
premature 
mortality from 
CVD are 
completing 
cardiac 
rehabilitation 
programmes 

NHS Wirral 
Head of Heart 
Centres / Head 
of Performance 
and 
Intelligence 

November 
2009  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
January 
2010  

 √ √ √ 

2.12 Prescribing 
recommendations 
relating to 
Champix are 
changed to 
ensure it is made 
available as a first 
line intervention 

Current prescribing 
guidance is reviewed to 
upgrade Champix as a 
first line intervention in 
line with guidance 

Smokers 
wishing to quit 
have access to 
the most 
effective 
pharmaceutical 
products 
available 

NHS Wirral 
Head of 
Medicines 
Management / 
Head of Public 
Health 
Provider 
Services 

June 2009  Smoke Free 
Wirral 
 
Health and 
Well-being 
Framework 

 √ √ 

2.13 Improve stop Review support Increase in the NHS Wirral April 2009 Smoke Free  √ √ 

P
a
g

e
 1

4
8



 29 

smoking success 
rates from 35% to 
50% 

available to intermediate 
stop smoking services 
and set in place action 
to improve follow up and 
ongoing engagement of 
smokers to improve 
success rates 

number of 
people 
stopping 
smoking 

Head of Public 
Health 
Provider 
Services / 
Head of 
Medicines 
Management / 
Heads of 
Localities 

– March 
2010  

Wirral 
 
Health and 
Well-being 
Framework 

2.14 Ensure that 
smokers with high 
risk co-
morbidities are 
targeted to stop 
smoking 

Produce action plan to 
target high risk smokers 
with support to quit  

High risk 
smokers 
helped to 
reduce overall 
risk of 
premature 
mortality 

NHS Wirral 
Medical 
Directorate 
Manager 
(WUTH) / 
Head of Heart 
Centres / Joint 
Head of Health 
and Well-being 
/ Head of 
Public health 
Provider 
Services 

June 2009  Smoke Free 
Wirral 
 
Health and 
Well-being 
Framework 

√ √ √ 

2.15 Produce an 
action plan to 
address excess 
cancer deaths in 
Wirral 

Conduct a review into 
excess cancer deaths, 
particularly for women 
 
Produce a resourced 
action plan to reduce 
cancer excess deaths at 

Death rate 
from cancer is 
reduced 

NHS Wirral 
Clinical Cancer 
Lead / Public 
Health 
Consultant / 
Head of 
Performance 

September 
209 
 
 
January 
2010 

 √ √ √ 

P
a
g
e
 1

4
9



 30 

least in line with 
statistical neighbours 

and 
Intelligence 

2.16 Services for 
breast cancer are 
reviewed and 
recommendations 
implemented 

Commission a review of 
breast cancer services 
and make 
recommendations for 
areas of improvement 
 

Breast cancer 
services from 
screening 
through to 
diagnosis, 
treatment and 
end of life care 
provide 
optimum care 
and health 
outcomes 

NHS Wirral 
Cancer 
Commissioning 
lead / Public 
Health 
Consultant / 
Clinical Cancer 
Lead / Medical 
Director lead 
for Cancer 

December 
2009  

  √ √ 

2.17 Identify, 
support and 
reduce the risk of 
excess winter 
death amongst 
vulnerable older 
people 

Work in partnership to 
identify people most at 
risk from seasonal 
winter death / hospital 
admission (winter risk 
list) 
 
Ensure there is a care 
worker in place with 
agreed care protocols 
for regularly reviewing 
the care of those people 
on the winter risk list 
 
Establish a Winter 
Planning Group to 

Excess winter 
deaths are 
reduced 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

NHS Wirral 
Director of 
Strategic 
Partnerships / 
Director of 
Adult Social 
Services / 
Medical 
Directorate 
Manager 
(WUTH) / 
Director of 
Primary Care / 
Head of 
Housing 

July 2009  
 
 
 
 
 
 
September 
2009 
 
 
 
 
 
July2009  

Older People’s 
Plan  
 
Organisational 
and 
partnership 
escalation 
plans 
 
Health 
Protection 
Strategy 
 
Affordable 
Warmth 
Strategy 

√ √ √ 

P
a
g

e
 1

5
0



 31 

ensure that partnership 
plans are in place to 
manage increased 
health risk associated 
with the winter season 

 
 
 
 

 
2.18 Establish 
care pathways for 
alcohol 

Review, revise and 
promote care pathways 
for alcohol 

Care pathways 
are clearly 
articulated 
enabling 
people to be 
provided with 
the appropriate 
access and 
care in relation 
to their drinking 

NHS Wirral 
Alcohol 
Programme 
Manager 
/ Medical 
Director lead 

June 2009  Alcohol Harm 
Reduction 
Strategy 

√ √ √ 

2.19 Review 
implementation of 
care pathway 

Identify points in the 
care pathway for alcohol 
that have high rates of 
disengagement and 
review systems to 
improve adherence and 
outcomes (including 
engagement from hard 
to reach group such as 
those in criminal justice 
system) 

Alcohol 
pathway 
supports 
people to 
change their 
behaviour and 
achieve 
improved 
health 

NHS Wirral 
Alcohol 
Programme 
Manager  

March 
2010 

Alcohol Harm 
Reduction 
Strategy 

 √ √ 

2.10 Review 
alcohol 
interventions to 

Review all existing and 
planned alcohol 
interventions and 

Maximum 
reductions in 
alcohol related 

NHS Wirral 
Alcohol 
Programme 

September 
2009  

  √ √ 

P
a
g
e
 1

5
1



 32 

ensure health 
outcomes from 
invested 
resources are 
maximised 

services ensuring there 
is systematic evaluation 
of outputs, outcomes 
and value for money 

harm are 
achieved 
through the 
alcohol 
programme 
investments 

Manager / 
Head of 
Research and 
development / 
Performance 
and 
Intelligence 
Team   

2.21 Ensure 
children and 
young people at 
risk of repeat self 
harm or alcohol 
misuse are 
provided with 
effective 
information on 
alcohol 

Review protocols for 
providing information to 
children and young 
people following self 
harm to ensure it 
routinely includes 
alcohol brief intervention 

Children and 
young people 
are supported 
to reduce their 
risk of repeat 
self harm 

NHS Wirral 
Alcohol 
Programme 
Manager 

January 
2010 

Alcohol Harm 
Reduction 
Strategy 

  √ 

2.22 Identify 
people on GP 
registers at risk of 
chronic ill health 
due to alcohol  

Develop a mechanism 
to identify patients on 
GP registers that are at 
risk of chronic ill health 
due to alcohol 
 
Implement a 
mechanism to search, 
review and sign post to 
alcohol pathway and 
follow up, patients at 

Patients at risk 
of chronic ill 
health are 
provided with 
appropriate 
intervention 
and support to 
improve quality 
of life and 
reduce 
premature 

NHS Wirral 
Alcohol 
Programme 
Manager /  
Head of 
Performance 
and 
Intelligence / 
Medical 
Director Lead 

September 
2009  
 
 
 
 
 
April 2010 

Alcohol Harm 
Reduction 
Strategy 

 √ √ 

P
a
g

e
 1

5
2



 33 

risk mortality 
2.23 Ensure that 
obese people 
with co-
morbidities are 
provided with 
interventions that 
improve their 
quality of life and 
reduce premature 
mortality 

Establish 
comprehensive care 
pathways for primary 
and secondary 
prevention and 
treatment of obesity 

Obese patients 
are treated in 
order to 
maximise their 
health gain 

NHS Wirral 
Joint Head of 
Health and 
Well-being / 
Medical 
Director lead 
for obesity 

April 2009  Health and 
Well-being 
Framework 

 √ √ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
a
g
e
 1

5
3



 34 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Strategic priority 3: Engage communities and individuals, supporting them to improve their health through the health and 
well-being choices they make 
 

Impact to be 
achieved by 

Target Action Outcome Lead person 
and 
organisation  

Achieved 
by 

Relevant 
delivery 
strategy 2011 2013 2025 

3.1 Reduce 
smoking 
prevalence by 
8,000 smokers 
per year 

Develop and implement 
an action plan to target 
manual workers and 
high prevalence 
communities to achieve 
an additional 5,000 
people stopping 
smoking each year 

The 
programme 
will contribute 
5,000 people 
stopping 
smoking to an 
overall target 
of 8,000 fewer 
smokers per 
year 

NHS Wirral 
Joint Head of 
Health and Well-
being / Head of 
Public health 
provider 
services / 
Director of 
Communications 

March 
2010 / 
2011 / 
2012 / 
2013 

Smoke Free 
Wirral 

√ √ √ 

3.2 Work to a 
shared vision for 
partnership, third 
sector and 
public 

Agree and complete an 
engagement process 
with the voluntary sector 
to identify key actions 
and programmes that 

Programmes 
and initiatives 
being 
delivered by 
the voluntary 

MBW 
Head of 
Engagement / 
VCAW / 
Community 

July 2009    √ √ 

P
a
g

e
 1

5
4



 35 

engagement will impact on health 
inequalities and the 
outcomes they will 
achieve against each of 
the target timescales 
 
Develop a partnership 
engagement strategy 
for the Wirral Strategic 
Partnership 

sector will be 
fully resourced 
and evaluated 
against the 
health 
inequalities 
targets 

Engagement 
Manager 

3.3 Identify 
people not in 
contact with 
primary care 
services and 
support them to 
reduce health 
and well-being 
risk 

Screen 4,000 people 
per year for vascular 
risk, targeting people 
least likely to be in 
contact with primary 
care (eg manual 
workers, men aged 40-
75, substance misusers, 
offenders and 
homeless) 
 
Deliver a community 
programme of activities 
that support people at 
high risk of premature 
mortality to change 
behaviour through 
increased physical 
activity, reducing 
smoking, reducing 

Vascular 
screening 
programme 
will reach 
people most 
at risk of 
premature 
mortality and 
not in contact 
with primary 
care 
 
 
 
Individuals will 
be supported 
to achieve risk 
reduction 
leading to 
reduced 

NHS Wirral 
Joint Head of 
Health and Well-
being 
 
Head of Public 
Health Provider 
Services 

April 2009 
to March 
2011 

CVD 
Prevention 
Plan 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

P
a
g
e
 1

5
5



 36 

alcohol consumption, 
improved diet and 
improved mental well-
being 
 
Ensure the Health 
Trainer workforce are 
linked to practices to 
support patients at high 
risk to make lifestyle 
changes 

population risk 
of CVD 

3.4 Front line 
staff confidently 
raise the issue 
of lifestyle 
behaviours and 
provide 
confident brief 
interventions 
and sign posting 

A minimum of 500 front 
line staff are trained 
each year  

Every contact 
with a health 
and social 
care 
professional 
promotes and 
supports 
healthy 
lifestyle 
behaviours 

NHS Wirral 
Joint Head of 
Health and Well-
being / Head of 
Public Health 
Provider 
Services / 
Heads of 
Services in NHS 
and partner 
organisations 

Annually 
from April 
2010 

CVD, Cancer 
and Diabetes 
Health 
Improvement 
Plan 
 
Alcohol Risk 
reduction 
Strategy 
 
Mental Health 
Promotion 
Strategy 

√ √ √ 

3.5 Develop and 
implement a 
plan for 
increasing 
health gain in 

Develop and implement 
a Health Action Area 
Plan to accelerate 
health improvement in 
the 3% and 20% most 

Health 
improves at a 
faster rate in 
the 3% and 
20% areas of 

NHS Wirral 
Joint Head of 
Health and Well-
being / Head of 
Public Health 

May 2009 Neighbourhood 
management 
Plans 
 
Health and 

√ √  

P
a
g

e
 1

5
6



 37 

the most 
deprived areas 
of Wirral 

deprived areas of Wirral Wirral than for 
the whole of 
Wirral in 2009, 
2010 and 
2011 

Provider 
Services / 
Neighbourhood 
Managers 

Well-being 
Strategy 
 
LAA 
 
Sustainable 
Communities 
Strategy 

3.6 A strategic 
approach to 
social marketing 
is developed 

Review resources and 
programmes currently 
invested in promoting 
health and well-being to 
tackle health 
inequalities 
 
Produce a fully 
resourced health and 
well-being priority 
communications plan 
including social 
marketing programmes 
– to cover as a 
minimum alcohol harm 
reduction, smoking, 
recognising early signs 
and symptoms of stroke 
and CVD 

Public 
awareness of 
health and 
well-being 
messages is 
improved and 
people are 
motivated to 
make 
behaviour 
changes 

WMBC 
Head of 
Communications 
(MBW) / Director 
of 
Communications 
(NHS Wirral) / 
Joint Head of 
Health and Well-
being / Alcohol 
Strategy 
Manager / CVD 
Lead / Head of 
Public Health 
Provider 
Services 

June 2009  
 
 
 
 
 
 
August 
2009  
 

Health and 
Well-being 
Strategic 
Framework 

 √ √ 

3.7 Increase 
opportunities to 

Provide affordable 
warmth information 

Older people 
have 

NHS Wirral 
Head of Health 

September 
2009 to 

Affordable 
Warmth 

 √ √ 

P
a
g
e
 1

5
7



 38 

provide 
information 
about affordable 
warmth for 
vulnerable 
adults 

alongside flu campaign increased 
access to 
information 
about 
affordable 
warmth 

Protection / 
Heads of LHDs / 
Joint Head of 
Health and Well-
being / Head of 
Housing and 
Regeneration 

February 
2010 

Strategy 
 
Health 
Protection 
Strategy 

 
 
 
 
 P

a
g

e
 1

5
8



 39 

Strategic Priority 4: Improve opportunities for children, young people and families 
 

Impact to be 
achieved by 

Target Action Outcome Lead person 
and 
organisation 

Achieved 
by 

Relevant 
delivery 
strategy / plan 2011 2013 2025 

4.1 Reduce under 
18 conceptions 
by 50% (LAA NI 
112) 

Implement the Teenage 
Pregnancy Priority 
Action Plan 
 

Reduce the 
number of 
children in 
poverty / 
improved life 
chances for 
children 

NHS Wirral 
Joint Director 
of Public 
Health / Head 
of Branch 
Children’s 
Social Care 

December 
2010 

Local Area 
Agreement 
 
NHS Wirral 
Strategic Plan 

√ √ √ 

4.2 Reduce the 
number of 
children seriously 
injured or killed 
due to accidents  

Reduce the number of 
children seriously 
injured or killed in road 
traffic accidents (LAA NI 
48) 
 
Review and revise child 
accident prevention 
programmes 

Improved 
quality of life 
and life 
expectancy 

WMBC 
Group Leader 
Road Safety 
Services / Joint 
Head of Health 
and Well-being 

March 
2010 / 
2011 
 
 
 
March 
2010  

Local Area 
Agreement 
 
Wirral Road 
Safety Plan 
 
Being healthy 
Plan 
 
 

√ √ √ 

P
a
g
e
 1

5
9



 40 

4.3 Reduce the 
proportion of the 
population that 
are obese, 
starting with 
children and 
families 

Reduce the proportion 
of children aged 4-5 
(LAA NI 55) years and 
10-11 years that are 
overweight and obese 
 
Review and implement 
the Child Obesity 
Priority Action Plan 
 
Review and revise care 
pathways for preventing 
and treating child 
obesity 
 
Increase breast feeding 
rates with a focus on 
most deprived areas 

Reduced child 
and family 
overweight and 
obesity leading 
to improved 
health, self 
esteem, mental 
well-being and 
outcomes for 
children 

NHS Wirral 
Joint Head of 
Health and 
Well-being / 
Head of PCT 
Provider 
Services / 
Head of 
School Nursing 
/ Head of 
Midwifery  

March 
2010 / 
2011 
 
 
 
September 
2009  
 
 
May 2009  

Health and 
Well-being 
Strategic 
Framework  
 
NHS Wirral 
Strategic Plan 
 
Cheshire and 
Merseyside 
Healthy Weight 
Framework  

  √ 

4.4 Protect 
children from the 
harmful effects of 
tobacco 

Set and achieve a target 
to reduce the proportion 
of women who continue 
to smoke throughout  
pregnancy 
 
Implement a campaign 
to reduce childhood 
exposure to second 
hand smoke, including 
the training of front line 
staff 

Reduced infant 
mortality 
 
Reduced 
childhood 
respiratory 
illness 

NHS Wirral 
Head of Public 
Health provider 
Services / 
Performance 
and 
Intelligence 
Team / Joint 
Head of Health 
and Well-being 

September 
2009  
 
 
 
 
March 
2010  

Health and 
Well-being 
Strategic 
Framework  

  √ 

P
a
g

e
 1

6
0



 41 

4.5 Enable young 
people to access 
high quality 
education, 
training and 
employment that 
provides them 
with positive life 
choices 

Reduce the proportion 
of 16-18 year olds that 
are not in education, 
employment or training 
(LAA NI 117) 
 
Set in place policies in 
the LAA partnership 
agencies to support the 
training and access to 
local jobs for Wirral 
young people 

Young people 
have improved 
life chances 
 
Reduced 
economic 
inactivity and 
associated 
poverty 

WMBC 
Connexions / 
Director of 
CYPD / 
Directors of HR 
for NHS / Local 
Authority 

March 
2010 / 
2011 
 
 
 
March 
2010 

   √ 

 
 
 
Strategic Priority 5: Improve and share data and intelligence on health and well-being 
 

Impact to be 
achieved by 

Target Action Outcome Lead person 
and 
organisation 

Achieved 
by 

Relevant 
delivery 
strategy 2011 2013 2025 

5.1 Develop 
shared 
ownership of 
progress 
towards 
achieving health 
inequalities 
targets 

Identify key health 
inequalities metrics 
and develop 
reporting (eg. MIS) 

Leads for 
delivering the 
health 
inequalities 
action plan are 
able to assess 
progress and 
adjust plans 

WMBC 
Head of 
Corporate 
Performance /  
Head of 
Performance 
and Intelligence 
/ Joint Head of 
Health and 

July 2009  Sustainable 
Communities 
Strategy 
 
Joint Strategic 
Needs 
Assessment 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

P
a
g
e
 1

6
1



 42 

Well-being /  
5.2 Increase 
use of shared 
data and 
intelligence 

Develop and 
implement a Shared 
Data and 
Intelligence Plan for 
health and well-
being 

Commissioning 
plans are 
based on up to 
date 
intelligence, 
maximising 
impact on 
health 
inequalities 

NHS Wirral 
Directors of 
Public Health / 
Adult Social 
Services / 
Children and 
Young People’s 
Department 

December 
2009  

Sustainable 
Communities 
Strategy 
 
Joint Strategic 
Needs 
Assessment 
 
Health and 
Well-being 
Strategic 
framework 

 √ 
 

√ 
 

5.3 
Neighbourhood 
Action Plans 
identify gaps 
and 
opportunities to 
improve health 
and well-being 

Health and well-
being data and 
intelligence available 
to neighbourhood 
management 
programmes in the 
20% most deprived 
areas are reviewed 
and made available 
to compliment local 
intelligence  

Neighbourhood 
Development 
Programmes 
are supported 
to achieve 
reductions in 
health 
inequalities 

NHS Wirral 
Joint Head of 
health and Well-
being / Head of 
Performance 
and Intelligence 
/ 
Neighbourhood 
Managers 
 
Head of 
Strategic 
Development 
and Investment 

September 
2009  

Neighbourhood 
plans 

 √ √ 

 
 

P
a
g

e
 1

6
2



 43 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
a
g
e
 1

6
3



 44 

 

 
 
 

P
a
g

e
 1

6
4



Cabinet 23 July 2009   1 / 5 
 

WIRRAL COUNCIL 
 
CABINET – 23 JULY 2009 
 
 
REPORT OF THE JOINT DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 
 
REVISED GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS FOR  
THE WIRRAL HEALTH & WELLBEING PARTNERSHIP 
 

 
 
1. Executive Summary 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to set out the proposed revised governance 

arrangements for the Wirral Health & Wellbeing Partnership following the 
I&DeA Healthy Communities Peer Review in April 2008.  This partnership 
is responsible for the health and wellbeing and healthy communities 
themes within the Local Strategic Partnership (LSP), the Local Area 
Agreement (LAA) and the Sustainable Communities Strategy. 

 
2. Background 
 
2.1 Wirral has had partnership arrangements in place for health, social care 

and wider public health issues for many years.  Partnership working in this 
field has received positive feedback from various audit and review bodies 
including most recently World Class Commissioning in November 2008, 
and the Department of Health, Health Inequalities Support Team in 
January and May 2009. 

 
2.2 In April 2008 the I&DeA Healthy Communities Peer Review team 

described relationships between Wirral’s key players as ‘strong and 
maturing’.  The development of integrated working arrangements between 
the Council and the Primary Care Trust were seen as particularly 
innovative.  These include a number of joint posts with accountability to 
both organizations; inclusion of senior staff in the membership of partner 
organisation’s management teams such as DASS departmental 
management team, and senior decision making bodies, e.g. Director of 
Adult Social Services attendance at PCT Professional Executive 
Committee and the attendance of the Cabinet member for Social Care, 
Inclusion (and health) at PCT Board meetings. 

 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 8

Page 165



Cabinet 23 July 2009                                                        2 / 5   

 

 
 
 
This is illustrated at figure 1. 
 
 

Governance and Partnership Structure

PCT BoardLA Cabinet

Professional 

Executive 

Committee

Transformation 

Board

Joint Commissioning 

Group for Older 

People

Assistive Technology 

Service

Cross membership

FIGURE 1

 
 
 
 
 
2.3 However the review recommended that the governance arrangements for 

health and wellbeing should be ‘sharpened’ to take account of the maturity 
of partnership working and to make best use of strategic capacity. 

 
3. Revised governance arrangements for health & wellbeing 
 
3.1 A review of the governance arrangements for health and wellbeing was 

undertaken in 2008 which involved all partners in a refresh of the terms of 
reference, membership and reporting arrangements for each group within 
the partnership.  This has now been completed and further adjustments 
have also been made in the light of the recent review of governance 
arrangements for the Local Strategic Partnership. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 166



Cabinet 23 July 2009                                                        3 / 5   

 

 
 
 
The revised partnership structure is set out below: 
 
 
 
 

Healthy
Communities

Block Planning 

Group

Health & 

Wellbeing

Sub 

groups

Well @

Work

Performance
& Joint

Commissioning

Engagement

for H&W

Health & 

Wellbeing

Partnership

Co-ordination

Group

Transformation

Programme 
Board

Wirral

Strategic 

Partnership

NHS 

Wirral 

Corporate 

Directors 

Group

Chief 

Officers 

Management

Team

Cabinet Professional 

Executive 

Committee

NHS 

Wirral

Board

Health

Protection

Strategy

Group

Health & Wellbeing

Partnership

w
he
re
 d
ec
is
io
ns
 a
re
 c
lin
ic
al
 o
r 

in
vo
lv
e 
P
C
T
 re
so
ur
ce
s

w
here decisions involve C

ouncil

policy or resources

Health

Impact 
Assessment 

Group

Crime &

Disorder
Reduction

Partnership

Economic

Development
& Skills

Partnership

Strategic

Housing 
Partnership

Children & 

YP
Partnership

Trust

Environment

& Liveability
Group

Wirral

Strategic

Delivery

Partnerships

 
3.2 The Member organisations are: 
 

NHS Wirral 
Wirral Council 
Wirral University Teaching Hospital 
Cheshire & Wirral Partnership Trust 
North West Ambulance Service 
Merseyside Fire & Rescue Service 
Merseyside Police 
Voluntary & Community Action Wirral 

 
Each of these organisations has its own corporate health or choosing 
health group which in turn provides reports to the Health & Wellbeing 
Partnership Co-ordination Group. 

 
3.4 All Wirral clinical network groups (formerly known as modernisation groups 

– for example Cardio Vascular Disease (CVD); Chronic Obstructive 
Pulmonary Disease (COPD); Diabetes; Mental Health; Cancer) report to 
the Health & Wellbeing Co-ordination Group on preventative aspects of 
their programmes via the public health lead for that group. 

 

Page 167



Cabinet 23 July 2009                                                        4 / 5   

 

3.5 The Health & Wellbeing Partnership is accountable to the Wirral Strategic 
Partnership Executive Board as a delivery partnership for the LSP (see 
Appendix 2).  However, where decisions involve Council policy or 
resources it is also accountable to the Council’s Cabinet and/or where 
decisions are clinical or involve NHS policy or resources it is also 
accountable to the NHS Wirral Board via the Professional Executive 
Committee (PEC) for clinical issues.  The Joint Director of Public Health, 
as chair of the Health & Wellbeing Partnership Co-ordination Group, will 
also take advice from the Chief Officers Management Team (COMT) 
and/or the Corporate Directors Group (CDG). 

 
3.6 There are also close links with the other LSP delivery partnerships for 

Crime & Disorder; Economic Development & Skills; Housing; Children & 
Young People and Environment & Liveability.  See Appendix 1. 

 
3.7 The revised terms of reference for the Health & Wellbeing Co-ordination 

Group are attached at Appendix 2. 
 
3.8 These have been revised to take account of the I&DeA Peer Review and 

the revised priorities within the NHS Wirral Strategic Commissioning Plan 
2008-13, the Local Area Agreement 2008-11 and the Wirral Council 
Corporate Plan. 

 
3.9 The purpose of the group is to co-ordinate efforts by partner organisations 

to reduce the inequality gap in Wirral by improving health & wellbeing 
through action on the following priority themes: 

 
Life expectancy & health inequalities 
Alcohol 
Obesity 
Smoking 
Mental health & wellbeing 
Long term conditions (cancer, COPD, etc.) 
Sexual health 
Health protection 
Worklessness 

 
3.10 The group is also responsible for the monitoring of performance against 

shared priorities and indicators in key strategic plans including the Health 
& Wellbeing Strategic Framework, Local Area Agreement, NHS Wirral 
Strategic Commissioning Plan, Wirral Council Corporate Plan and 
Children and Young People’s Plan through the Health Inequalities Plan. 

 
The ‘network’ structure of the partnership is intended to reflect the 
complexity of issues which contribute to health and wellbeing; map the 
various groups and committees responsible for different aspects of health 

Page 168



Cabinet 23 July 2009                                                        5 / 5   

 

and wellbeing and identify the governance arrangements.  It is intended 
that members of the various groups within the structure will be kept 
informed and engaged through regular newsletters, training and 
development opportunities in order to enable them to champion health and 
wellbeing and health inequalities issues within their wider work.  This 
represents a further development within Wirral of the successful Cheshire 
and Merseyside Public Health network ChaMPs for Health.  The health 
and wellbeing network will also develop links with the other theme 
partnerships (illustrated as ovals) within the LSP and LAA structure. 

 
Communication within the health and wellbeing partnership will be 
facilitated by the Health & Wellbeing team project officer. 

 
4. Next Steps 
 
4.1 The proposed revised governance arrangements will require formal 

agreement by NHS Wirral and Wirral Council. 
 
5. Recommendations 
 

That the revised governance arrangements for the Health & Wellbeing 
Partnership are agreed. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Marie Armitage 
Joint Director of Public Health 
 
 
 
 
23 July 2009 
 

Page 169



Page 170

This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1 

Cabinet 23 July 2009  

 

 

 

 

1 

 
 
                   LSP governance structure 

Wirral Strategic 

Partnership 

Executive 

Management 

Group 

Strategic 

Partnership 

Assembly 

Crime and 

Disorder 

Reduction 

Partnership 

Wirral 

Economic 

Development 

and Skills 

Strategic 

Housing 

Partnership 

Children and 

Young People 

Partnership / 

trust 

Environment & 

Liveability 

group 

Health and 

Wellbeing 

Partnership 

LAA 

Development 

Group 

Environmental 

sustainability 

appraisal group 

Other task 

groups as 

required 

Delivery partnerships 

Enabling groups 

Wirral 

equalities 

forum 

Consultation and engagement channels 

Partnership 

Team 

Cohesion group 

Comprehensive 

engagement 

strategy group 

Area forums Decision 

making 

groups 

P
a
g
e
 1

7
1



P
a
g

e
 1

7
2

T
h

is
 p

a
g

e
 is

 in
te

n
tio

n
a
lly

 le
ft b

la
n
k



APPENDIX 2 

Cabinet 23 July 2009  

WIRRAL HEALTH & WELLBEING PARTNERSHIP 
CO-ORDINATION GROUP 

 
Purpose 
 
To co-ordinate efforts by partner organisations to reduce the inequality gap in 
Wirral by improving health & wellbeing through action on the following priority 
themes: 
 

• Life expectancy and health inequalities 

• Alcohol 

• Obesity 

• Smoking 

• Mental health and wellbeing 

• Long term conditions (Cancer, Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary 
Disease [COPD] etc.) 

• Sexual health 

• Health protection 

• Worklessness 
 
Terms of reference 
 
1. To monitor performance against shared priorities and indicators identified 
in key strategic plans including the Health & Wellbeing Strategic 
Framework, Local Area Agreement (LAA), NHS Wirral Strategic Plan, 
Wirral Council Corporate Plan and Children & Young People’s Plan 
through the Health Inequalities Plan. 

 
2. To review the Health Inequalities Plan on an annual basis in the light of 
the updated Joint Strategic Needs Assessment. 

 
3. To agree the use of joint commissioning funds for health and wellbeing to 
deliver shared priorities identified in the Health & wellbeing Strategic 
Framework; the Health Inequalities Action Plan and the LAA. 

 
 
4. To support the Block Lead in monitoring performance against indicators 
for priority areas identified within the Healthier Communities Block of the 
Wirral LAA and relevant indicators within other blocks. 

 
5. To co-ordinate the efforts of partner organizations to improve the health 
and wellbeing of their workforces and to build capacity of frontline staff to 
promote health and wellbeing through a corporate change programme (as 
identified by the I&DeA Peer Review in April 2008). 

 

Page 173



APPENDIX 2 

Cabinet 23 July 2009  

6. To maintain an overview of the various partnerships and joint working 
arrangements which contribute to the delivery of the Health & Wellbeing 
Strategic Framework and Health Inequalities Plan and to promote 
ownership of shared priorities (for example the Drug & Alcohol Action 
Team (DAAT), prevention aspects of the work programme for any clinical 
networks, Children & Young People’s Partnership, integrated working 
arrangements on health and social care). 

 
7. To engage stakeholders, including the people of Wirral, through social 
marketing and other engagement activities in order to promote health 
literacy and bring about positive cultural change for health and wellbeing. 

 
8. To promote healthy public policy and planning through the use of tools 
such as health needs assessment, health or integrated impact 
assessment, health equity audit, etc. 

 
9. To provide regular reports and recommendations on the above to the 
Wirral Strategic Partnership Executive Board, NHS Wirral Board (via the 
Professional Executive Committee where appropriate) and Cabinet. 

 
Membership 
 
The following organizations will be represented at a senior level: 
 
Wirral Council – Adult Social Services; Children’s Services; Regeneration; 
Technical Services; Corporate Services. 
NHS Wirral – Public Health; Strategic Partnerships 
Wirral University Teaching Hospital Trust – public health lead 
Wirral & Cheshire Partnership Trust – public health lead 
Clatterbridge Centre for Oncology – public health lead 
Merseyside Fire and Rescue Service 
NW Ambulance Trust 
Voluntary & Community Action Wirral 
Merseyside Police 
And other partner organizations as appropriate 
 
Chair 
 
The group will be chaired by the Joint Director of Public Health, Wirral 
 
Meetings 
 
Meetings will usually take place every 6 weeks and no less than 6 times per year. 
 
 
 

Page 174



APPENDIX 2 

Cabinet 23 July 2009  

Secretariat 
 
This will be provided by the Public Health Directorate 
 
Sub Groups 
 
The following sub groups will provide reports to the Health & Wellbeing 
Partnership Co-ordination Group: 
 
Performance and Joint Commissioning Group 
With responsibility for: 
 

• Monitoring performance against shared priorities and indicators 
identified in key strategic plans 

• Proposing the use of joint commissioning funds for health and 
wellbeing to deliver shared priorities 

 
Well @ Work Project Group 
With responsibility for: 
 

• Co-ordinating the efforts of partner organizations to Improve the 
health and wellbeing of their workforces (as identified by the 
I&DeA Peer Review in April 2008) 

 
Training front line staff project group 
With responsibility for 
 

• Building capacity of frontline staff to promote health and 
wellbeing through a corporate change programme (as identified 
by the I&DeA Peer Review in April 2008) 

 
Healthier communities Block Planning Group 
With responsibility for 
 

• Supporting the Block lead in monitoring performance against 
indicators for priority areas identified within the healthier 
Communities block of the Wirral LAA (and relevant indicators 
within other blocks) in preparation for reporting to the LAA 
Programme Board 

 
Engagement for Health & Wellbeing Working Group 
With responsibility for 
 

1. Engaging stakeholders, including the people of Wirral, through 
social marketing and other engagement activities in order to bring 

Page 175



APPENDIX 2 

Cabinet 23 July 2009  

about positive cultural change for health and wellbeing on the 
topics of 

 
 

• Life expectancy and health inequalities 

• Alcohol 

• Obesity 

• Smoking 

• Mental health and wellbeing 

• Long term conditions (Cancer, Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary 
Disease [COPD] etc.) 

• Sexual health 

• Health protection 

• Worklessness 
 
Health Protection Strategy Group 
With responsibility for joint work to protect the health of the population in relation 
to 
 

• Communicable disease 

• Environmental public health 

• Screening 

• Immunisation 

• Infection prevention and control 
 
Health Impact Assessment Working Group 
With responsibility for Health Impact Assessments 
 
Membership and Terms of Reference for these working groups will be 
developed. 
 
 
 
 
 
June 09 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 176



 

WIRRAL COUNCIL           
 
CABINET – 23 JULY 2009 
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ADULT SOCIAL SERVICES 
 
STRATEGY FOR CARERS 
 

 
Executive Summary 
 
Carers are identified as a priority group in the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 
and feature in Wirral’s Local Area Agreement (LAA).   Wirral’s draft strategy for 
carers echoes the National Strategy (Carers at the heart of 21st century families 
and communities’) in envisaging that, ‘‘by 2018 support will be tailored to meet 
individuals’ needs, enabling carers to maintain a balance between their caring 
responsibilities and a life outside caring, while enabling the person they support 
to be a full and equal citizen’ and that ‘Carers will be universally recognised and 
valued as being fundamental to strong families and communities.’ 
 
The draft strategy sets down a revised strategic direction for developing carer 
services in Wirral based on contemporary national and local information.  The 
strategy has been developed with carers and based on carer views.  It proposes 
a number of areas for further development that will realise the vision set down in 
the strategy.  A copy of the strategy is attached as appendix 1 for Cabinet to 
approve.  This involves a key decision which was first identified in the Forward 
Plan dated August 2008. 
 
1 Background 
 
1.1 Information from the 2001 census shows that in Wirral 22.52% of the 

population have a limiting long term illness, compared to 17.93% 
nationally.  As a result, there are also proportionately more carers in Wirral 
than there are nationally, with 23.75% of carers in Wirral providing care for 
50 hours or more per week, compared to 20.48% of carers nationally, who 
are providing care at that level.  

 
1.2 The need for a strategy to co-ordinate services for carers is evidenced by 

the discrepancy between the number of Wirral residents who identified 
themselves as carers in the 2001 Census (37,000) and the 2,263 people 
who received a carer’s assessment in 2008/09.  This figure represents 
18.58% of the total number of people of services assessed.  The theme of 
carers week 2009 was ‘Carers – the UK’s secret service’ and many of the 
activities nationally and locally were to help identify the ‘hidden carers’. 

 
1.3 In financial terms, the contribution of carers is enormous. Carers UK 

estimate that nationally carers’ unpaid work represents savings to the 
economy of about £87billion.  For Wirral the estimated annual cost saving 
is about £596 million. The strategy seeks to demonstrate to carers that 

Agenda Item 9

Page 177



 

their contribution is highly valued and ensure that their number one priority 
of recognition by professionals is achieved. 

 
1.4 Carer issues have been featured in Wirral’s LAA 2005-2008 and will 

continue to feature in the LAA for 2008-2011 through the measurement of 
the percentage of carers receiving needs assessment or review and a 
specific carer service for advice or information (NI 135).  For 2008/09 the 
target was 18% which was exceed and the target for 2009/2010 is 21.5%. 

  
1.5 In recognition of the co-ordinated approach required to meet the needs of 

carers, the draft strategy was developed by Wirral’s multi-agency Carers 
Development Committee between October 2007 and February 2008. 
Shortly after this, the new National Strategy for Carers - ‘Carers at the 
heart of 21st century families and communities’ - was launched and a 
Standing Commission for Carers was established to promote the national 
strategy and to facilitate mutual learning and good practice in respect of 
carers. 

 
1.6 Wirral’s draft strategy was reviewed in the light of the national strategy and 

the main, national themes are reflected in the local one.  In addition a 
survey of Wirral carers was also undertaken to find out what services 
carers felt then needed. 

 
1.7 The revised, draft strategy was put out to wide consultation by carers, and 

the final, revised version, taking account of feedback from carers and 
organisations representing and comprising carers, was approved at the 
Carers’ Development Committee at their May meeting, to go to Cabinet at 
the earliest opportunity.  

 
2 Financial Implications 
 
2.1 The current known budget for carers is set out in section 9 of the strategy.  

Further work is needed to identify what is currently being spent on carers 
across the wider Wirral economy. 

 
2.2 It is clear that as this strategy develops and the personalisation agenda 

takes shape more emphasis will be placed on the necessary financial 
support required by carers and fully developed integrated commissioning 
intentions are required. 

 
2.3 As the details will emerge overtime the actual financial implications will be 

monitored as part of the overall budget management processes of the 
Department.  Any significant variation will be reported and addressed in a 
timely manner. 

 
3 Staffing Implications 
 
3.1 There are no additional staffing implications 
 
4 Equal Opportunities Implications 
 

Page 178



 

4.1 The Department will be undertaking a full equality impact assessment.  
The Strategy seeks to reduce economic and social inequalities felt by 
Carers and also support the people for whom they care to become full and 
equal citizens. 

 
5 Community Safety Implications 
 
5.1 The are no Community Safety implications 
 
6 Local Agenda 21 Implications 
 
6.1 There are no Local Agenda 21 implications 
 
7 Planning Implications 
 
7.1 There are no Planning implications  
 
8 Anti Poverty Implications 
 
8.1 There are no anti-poverty implications. The strategy seeks to reduce the 

economic inequalities felt by carers 
 
9 Social Inclusion Implications 
 
9.1 The strategy seeks to enable carers to participate more fully in a ‘life 

outside caring’. 
 
10 Local Member Support Implications 
 
10.1 There are no local member support implications 
 
11 Background Papers 
 
11.1 Draft strategy for carers (attached) 
 
12 Recommendations 
 
 That: 
 
(1) Members are asked to approve the attached strategy for carers. 
 
 
JOHN WEBB 
Director of Adult Social Services 
Nick Broadhead 
Service Manager, Community and Wellbeing 
ext no    3661 
Date      7 July 2009 

Page 179



Page 180

This page is intentionally left blank



                                 
 
 
 
 
 

Strategy for Carers 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 181



 2 

Preface 
 

 
The following draft strategy was developed as a working document by Wirral’s 
multi-agency Carers Development Committee between October 2007and 
February 2008.  
 
Since it was written, the new National Strategy for Carers – “Carers at the heart 
of 21st- century families and communities” – has been launched, during Carers 
Week in June 2008. 
 
The Standing Commission for Carers has also been established, chaired by Dr 
Philippa Russell, who has been touring the country, introducing a series of high-
profile regional events run by the Department of Health to promote the national 
strategy and to facilitate mutual learning and good practice in respect of carers. 
 
At a local level the Local Authority has been working closely with NHS Wirral to 
complete the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment, in which carers are identified 
as one of a series of priority groups. In addition carers feature in Wirral’s Local 
Area Agreement.  This work has further developed the knowledge about local 
carers – who they are, where they are and what their needs are.  A series of 
local consultation events about the JSNA is currently underway and targets 
have been set for the 2008-2011 Local Area Agreement. 
 
With so many discussions taking place the temptation is to keep waiting for the 
next development before finally committing a Strategy for Carers to print but in 
that case it would never be completed.  
 
Wirral’s draft strategy has now been reviewed in the light of the national 
strategy and CSCI framework (appendix 1) and the main themes identified in 
the national strategy are reflected in the local one. For example, the national 
strategy makes reference to NHS Wirral’s carer identification project as an 
example of close interagency working to support carers. The attached plan is a 
working document, and is being presented here as work in progress which will 
continue to develop and move forward in partnership with local carers. 
 
The national strategy envisages that : 
‘by 2018 support will be tailored to  meet individuals’ needs enabling carers to 
maintain a balance between their caring responsibilities and a life outside 
caring, while enabling the person they support to be a full and equal citizen’. 
and that: 
‘carers will be universally recognised and valued as being fundamental to strong 
families and communities.’ 
In Wirral the critical role which carers fulfil in supporting vulnerable individuals is 
already recognised and valued. This Strategy will strengthen their role and 
contribution within families and local communities. 
 
 
10.10.08 

Page 182



 3 

Strategy for Carers 
 

 
Contents 
 
Introduction        Page 3 
 
The Vision for Carers      Page 5 
 
The Background to this Strategy     Page 6 
 
Carer Opinions and Surveys of Carers    Page 7 
 
Mapping of Existing Services     Page 11 
 
Recommendations       Page 11 
 
Outcomes        Page 12 
 
Areas for Development      Page 14 
 
Finance        Page 15 
 
 
Appendices 
 
1. CSCI Framework      Page 17 
 
2. National Strategy - Summaries    Page 18 
 
 
 
Documents available on request 
 
1. Report on Carers Week 2007 
 
2. Results from local carer’s survey - Wirral 2007 
 
3. Joint Strategic Needs Assessment - 2008 
 
4. Young Carers Strategy and Action Plan – 2008  
 
5. Mapping of existing services  
 

Page 183



 4 

1 INTRODUCTION 
 
'A carer spends a significant proportion of their life providing unpaid support to 
family or potentially friends.  This could be caring for a relative, partner or friend 
who is ill, frail, disabled or has mental health or substance misuse problems'. 1 
 

1.1 Why is a new Strategy necessary? 
This Strategy has been drawn up to refresh the last Carers Strategy that was 
approved in 2006, and to take account of changes to legislation and guidance.  
It is intended as a statement of how services could be developed for carers in 
Wirral over the next three years.  It has been developed with carers and sets 
down a number of proposals and recommendations which will be subject to 
further detailed exploration.  This strategy will be subject to a full equality impact 
assessment which will ensure any developments reflect the needs and 
aspirations of a range of people living in Wirral. 
 
There are many reasons why carers should be supported:   

Ø Our life expectancy is improving. The number of people aged 85 and 
over grew by 69,000 in the year to 2006, reaching a record 1.2 
million2.This significant demographic shift means that more and more 
people are finding themselves in the position of being the main carer for 
a close friend or family member.  A recent national survey3  has found 
that in addition to the current 6 million UK carers, there will be an 
additional 3.4 million by 2034. Every day, another six thousand people 
take on a caring responsibility.  In Wirral the number of people identifying 
themselves as carers in the 2001 Census was 37,454, i.e. 12% of the 
population, compared with 10% nationally. 

Ø Carers are cost-effective and make a vital contribution to the lives of 
those they support. One in five carers gives up work to take up caring on 
a full-time basis4.  Research5 shows the value of unpaid support that 
carers provide has now reached £87 billion a year. This is more than the 
annual total spend on the NHS. In the 2001 census nearly a quarter of 
Wirral carers were providing over 50 hours care per week. In the words 
of one Carer, “Without Carers the National Health and Social Care 
system would collapse”. 

Ø If appropriate support is not provided, the inevitable result is that the 
caring role becomes unsustainable, or carers themselves become ill.  At 
that stage, the situation requires crisis management which is costly in 
emotional terms for the individuals concerned and in financial terms for 
the support agencies. 

Ø The changes to our society are likely to mean that more people become 
dependent on health and social care and financial support.  
Consequently, it is more important than ever to make sure that available 
resources are targeted appropriately and used to support carers in the 
way that they themselves perceive to be the most beneficial.   

 

                                                 
1
 Carers at the heart of 21

st
-century families and communities - Summary 

2
 http://www.populationageing.co.uk/demographics.htm 

3
 http://www.carersuk.org/Newsandcampaigns/News/1190237139 

4
 http://www.flexibility.co.uk/flexwork/general/flexible-carers.htm 

5
 http://www.carersuk.org/Newsandcampaigns/Valuingcarers/Fullreport 
 

Page 184



 5 

1.2 Who is this strategy for? 
 
This document will be of particular interest to carers themselves, or to anybody 
who uses services whether provided by health or social services, the voluntary 
or private sector.  It will provide an overview of the approach to developing 
services and may therefore also be of interest to companies who provide 
services for carers and the people they care for. 
 

2 The purpose of this strategy  
 
It is clear from national carer campaign groups that as a result of their caring 
responsibilities, carers experience ill-health, poverty and discrimination.  
Anecdotal and statistical evidence demonstrates that carers often feel invisible 
and forgotten.  One carer in Wirral described her experience in terms of feeling 
‘like the woman who opens the door'. 
 
The Association of Directors of Adult Social Services (ADASS) has expressed 
determination to change this situation and visualises a future in which ‘carers 
will have confidence in the support available to them, freedom from financial 
insecurity as a result of caring and be secure in the knowledge that should they 
be unable to continue caring, the person they care for would receive the care 
they need’.  
 
The vision for carers in Wirral is therefore one of a consistent and accessible 
programme of support.  The pathway into the system will be straightforward: 
anybody who becomes a carer will be able to find accurate and up-to-date 
information quickly and easily and they will have access to the level of support 
they want from the outset.  Each carer will be able to talk to a specialised 
worker if they want to, who can point them in the direction of support agencies 
specific to their individual circumstances.  All of the agencies in Wirral will work 
in harmony, and the crossover between the Department of Adult Social 
Services, Health and the voluntary sector will be as seamless as possible.  
Agencies will have enough information to feel comfortable in cross-referring 
carers to other agencies where this is appropriate.  
 
It is recognised within the recently published protocol Putting People First, that 
‘real change will only be achieved through the participation of users and carers 
at every stage…sustainable and meaningful change depends significantly on 
our capacity to empower people who use services and to win the hearts and 
minds of all stakeholders’, especially front line staff’ 
 
Accordingly, the vision for carers in Wirral is also one in which carers are 
actively encouraged to participate at all levels in the decision making processes, 
in respect of issues that affect them or the person they care for.   
 
 

Page 185



 6 

3. THE BACKGROUND TO THIS STRATEGY 
Recent legislation, guidance and recommendations from professional and 
voluntary sector bodies have all been taken into account in writing this strategy. 
 

3.1 Legislation 
• Carers (Recognition & Services) Act 1995 

• Carers and Disabled Children Act 2000 

• Carers (Equal Opportunities) Act 2004  

• Work and Families Act 2006 
 

3.2 Guidance and other requirements 
• Our Health, Our Care, Our Say’, the government White Paper ‘which 

establishes four main goals:  
  1. Better prevention services with earlier intervention;  
  2. Giving people more choice and a louder voice;  
  3. Tackling inequalities and improving access;  
  4. Providing more support to those with long-term needs. 
 

• New Deal for Carers, which makes a commitment to updating and 
extending the National Strategy for Carers.  In it, the Government has 
announced a package of measures which will address some of carers’ 
top priorities  It consists of three elements: 
1. £25 million to be allocated to local authorities in England to provide 

emergency support consisting of short term, home-based support for 
carers in crisis or emergency situations  

2. £3 million to be spent on a national advice and information helpline to 
provide reliable, detailed information  

3. £5 million for an Expert Carers Programme in England to provide 
training for carers to better self manage their own health and the 
health of those they are caring for.  

• Putting People First, a concordat published in December 2007 
establishes the collaboration between central and local government, the 
sector's professional leadership, providers and  the regulator.  It focuses 
on the delivery of personalised services  which have carers and the 
people who use services at the heart. 

• Transforming Social Care, the Local Authority Circular published in 
January 2008, develops the vision for delivering personalisation set out 
in Putting People First. This means empowering citizens to shape their 
own lives and the services they receive. 

• Local Area Agreement (LAA), which set out the priorities that have 
been agreed between the partners in the local area and central 
government.  In Wirral, support for carers is one of twenty five 
improvement areas for the new LAA which will commenced in April 2008, 
and is part of one of twelve stretch targets which will run until March 
2011. 

• Carers Grant 2007/08 Guidance sets out good practice guidance about 
the use of the Carers Grant to provide flexible and innovative support to 
carers to assist them in their caring role, as well as cover in an 
emergency.  

• Joint Health and Commission for Social Care Inspection: It was 
identified in the Joint Inspection of Older People’s Services in February 
2006 that carers experienced a lack of public information to guide them 
on the availability of local services. 

Page 186



 7 

• The Commission for Social Care Inspection’s (CSCI) Outcomes 
Framework for Performance Assessment of Adult Social Care  sets 
out nine outcomes by which the delivery of social care support can be 
measured and puts the experience of people who use services and their 
carers at the centre of performance measurement. 

 

4 CARER OPINIONS AND SURVEYS OF CARERS 

 

4.1 The national picture 
National research repeatedly demonstrates that carers simply want access to 
the same basic rights that everybody has; they want to be able to work if they 
choose to; they want as far as possible to be free from worry; they want access 
to reliable information; and they want respect and recognition for the support 
they provide.  Carers want their opinions to be listened to. 
 
Carers UK has been instrumental in raising awareness of these issues amongst 
others.  Of particular note, are the following campaigns. 
 

• 'Back Me Up' campaign called for local areas to provide emergency 
respite schemes that can offer immediate support at times of crisis.  The 
study produced as part of this campaign found a cohort of carers ‘whose 
lives are held back by worry.  The very thought of having an emergency 
causes anxiety for many carers.  [The campaign] found that 96% of 
carers worry about what will happen if something unexpected happens to 
them'6 

 

• 'Make Work Work’ campaign which address some of the employment 
issues faced by carers.  80% of carers are of working age and 3 million 
already combine work and care.  Research shows that 1 in 3 non-
working carers would return to work if the right support was available. If 
carers are forced to give up their jobs because of their caring 
responsibilities that can end up isolated and living in poverty. 

 

• In February 2007, Carers UK published a briefing7 on carers' priorities for 
the revised National Strategy for Carers  The following table shows the 
percentage of carers who voted each of the listed factors as their number 
one priority.  

 
 

                                                 
6
 http://www.carersuk.org/Newsandcampaigns/BackMeUp/Thefindings 

7
 http://www.carersuk.org/Newsandcampaigns/Valuingcarers/Fullreport 
 

 
Page 187



 8 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

1

Carers UK survey 2007

Recognition from professionals (20%)

Income from benefits for the under 65s (16%)

Better services for disabled/older/chronically ill people (15%)

Income in retirement (13%)

Carers’ health (11%)

Breaks (9%)

Long term care (8%)

Employment issues (4%)

Housing (4%)

Carers’ services (4%)

Opportunities for leisure and training (3%)

Status (2%)
  

 
Source:  Caring Future Briefing, Carers UK December 06/January 07 
 
(Carers UK received 2,950 completed online and paper questionnaires from 
across the UK. When asked which issue was most important to them, Carers 
cited the above priorities)

Page 188



 9 

4.2 Local Priorities 
Information from the last census (2001) shows that in Wirral there is 22.52% of 
the population who have a limiting long term illness, compared to 17.93% 
nationally.  As a result, there are also proportionately more carers in Wirral that 
there are nationally, with 23.75% of carers in Wirral providing care for 50 hours 
or more per week, compared to 20.48% of carers nationally, who are providing 
care at that level. 
 

• Carers Week 
 During carers Week in June 2007, partners from the Carers 
 Development Committee hosted advice and information stands 
 throughout Wirral.  These events provided an opportunity to gather 
 anecdotal evidence from carers about the services that they felt would be 
 most helpful.  Further details are contained within the report from WIRED 
 (Appendix 2) but in summary, comments received related to 

  ▪ Lack of information 
  ▪ The feeling of isolation as a carer 
  ▪ Confusion and poor communication about carers assessments 
  ▪ The need for a counselling service 
  ▪ Information about holidays 
  ▪ Support groups 
  ▪ Financial advice 
  ▪ Advice about employment issues 
  ▪ Information about specific illnesses 
 

• Survey  
A survey was undertaken in September 2007 of 670 carers in Wirral8, 
which aimed to establish basic information and to identify their priorities 
for the provision of support services.  Surveys were distributed via the 
voluntary sector and GP surgeries, with the aim of ensuring that 
responses were as representative as possible of the cross-section of 
carers in Wirral. In total, 126 responses were received, which was a 
response rate of 19%.  As with all surveys, the statistics arrived at do not 
always add up to 100%.  This is due to rounding; not all respondents 
answered all questions and people provided multiple responses. 
Although there was a low response rate, the returns are broadly in line 
with national data.  

 
 SUMMARY OF RESULTS 
 
 Carer details 

• 23% of respondents were male,  

• 76% female 

• 24% of respondents in the 70+ age range 

• 30% of respondents were in the age range 61-70 

• 25% of respondents were in the age range 51-60 

• 21% were unemployed 

• 54% were retired 

• 22% were in full-time or part-time paid employment  

• 32% of those who worked part-time or were unemployed had     
given up some or all of their paid employment in order to become 
a carer 

                                                 
8
 The full evaluation of this survey is available on request 

Page 189



 10 

• 56% of respondents had not had a carers assessment 

• 70% are not in receipt of any carer related benefits 

• The survey struggled to reach a representative proportion of  
carers from the black and racial minority population.  Work needs 
to be undertaken to ensure that carers in the BRM population are 
not excluded either from involvement or from the direct provision 
of carer support services.  

 
Information about the person the carer supports 

• 23% of carers supporting a person with a physical disability 

• 17% of carers supporting a person with a learning disability 

• 14% of carers supporting a person with mental health needs 

• 13% of carers supporting an elderly or frail person 

• 11% caring for people with a sensory impairment, dementia or  
another disability 

• 36% caring for a spouse/partner 

• 36% caring for a son/daughter 

• 29% caring for a parent 

• 6% caring for a brother or sister 

• 2% caring for another relative within the extended family. 

• None of the respondents were caring for a friend/neighbour or  
grandparent 

 
Type and level of care 

• 92% providing care seven days per week 

• 53% providing care in eight categories, including personal,  
practical, social and emotional care.   

• 92% feel their own life is adversely affected to at least some  
degree 

• 88% felt that their social life was affected 

• 86% felt that their own mental or emotional health was affected 

• 83% felt their physical health had suffered 

• 39% of respondents were getting no regular break, either formal  
or informal, from their caring responsibilities.  However, the 47% 
who did get a regular break were four times more likely to feel that 
at least one aspect of their own life remained unaffected by their 
caring responsibilities than those who got no break. 

 
Support required  
In the main, the results of the local survey confirmed findings from national 
surveys.  The following figures are the percentage of carers who identified each 
of the things listed as either a first or second priority for supporting carers.  
(please note that people were able to rate more than one type of support 
service so percentages do not equal 100%) 

• 86% rated accessible information about the help and support 
 services as a priority 

• 71% rated accessible information about benefits and allowances 
as a priority  

Page 190



 11 

 

• 38% rated practical help around the home as a priority 
Of these, 57% specified a particular type of help   

  ▪ 36% specified help with gardening 
  ▪ 15% specified help with housework/laundry 
  ▪ 6% specified help with shopping 

• 30% viewed training in connection with their caring role as a   
priority 

• 28% viewed access to recreational/relaxation classes as a priority 

• 20% viewed training/qualifications for employment as a priority 

• Breaks were also viewed as being important for carers to sustain  
their caring role, with the most valuable types of break being 

  ▪ somewhere for the person that is cared for to go, to take 
   part in meaningful activities (56%) 
  ▪ somewhere for the carer to go for the weekend (49%) 
  ▪ somewhere for the carer to go for a week (48%) 
  ▪ somewhere to go for a holiday/short break together with the 
   person they care for (42%) 
 

5 MAPPING OF EXISTING SERVICES 
 
A mapping exercise9 was undertaken to identify agencies who work with carers. 
There is a range of organisations across Wirral providing support and services 
for carers and one specifically for former carers.  Organisations vary in size, 
some with paid employees whilst others rely on volunteers.  There are 
organisations which offer help to particular client groups and their carers i.e. 
mental health, learning and physical disabilities, older people and parent carers 
of children with disabilities. Two organisations support all carers.  The range of 
services include day care for older people; carers support groups or social 
gatherings; short courses for carers; one-off conferences; short breaks for 
carers.  All responding agencies listed information, advice and signposting to 
other services as an important role that they provide, which confirms the view 
that the existing system needs improved co-ordination.  A key outcome for this 
strategy is for carers to be able to access advice, relevant information and 
support.  This includes the collation and maintenance of an up-to-date directory 
of groups which provide carer support services. 
 

6 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
6.1 Making the system accessible 

In national and in local terms, there are well recognised concerns about 
how carers are identified.  Clearly, if a carer is not identified as such, it 
becomes impossible to put the appropriate support systems in place for 
him or her.  At present in Wirral identification of carers is inconsistent and 
there is no systematic method in place.  Making the system accessible is 
therefore one of the priority areas for development.  This should include 
a campaign to raise carer awareness across all sectors, not just health 
and social care.  There should be one well advertised point of access, so 
that at the outset of their journey, carers know where to find advice and 
support. 

 
9  Details of this mapping exercise are available on request 

Page 191



 12 

6.2 Giving carers peace of mind 
One of the biggest concerns that carers have is that if there is a crisis or 
they need to go into hospital, there will be nobody to provide support to 
the person they care for.  As part of the New Deal for Carers, Wirral has 
been given additional Carers Grant funding to boost the provision of 
home-based support in emergency situations, to provide peace of mind 
for carers. Initial multi-agency discussion has identified a range of 
different services in place. These are, however, poorly co-ordinated. 
Carers who are already known to services – or “in the system” – tend to 
find a way to get support when needed. However, those outside the 
system or who manage their own care -through direct payments for 
example – find it difficult to access support in crisis and out of hours. 
The Carers Development Committee accepted that the situation with 
emergency cover was indicative of the whole system around carer 
support, and that it would therefore be more appropriate to incorporate a 
response to that area of demand into the overall commissioning plan. 
This is a priority area for development. 
 

6.3 Co-ordinating current services 
The mapping exercise of services in Wirral has demonstrated that there 
are already a good number of support services and agencies available in 
the local area.  However, they tend to be fragmented and carers do not 
always know where to go to get the right advice.  Co-ordination of 
existing services is therefore a priority area.  There needs to be better 
communication between agencies and cross referral where this is 
appropriate.  

 
6.4 Improving facilities 

Carers should have access to a full range of facilities and support 
services.  Where there are identified gaps in services, work needs to be 
undertaken to make sure that provision is developed in such a way that 
carers feel fully supported.  Improving facilities is therefore a priority 
area. 
 

6.5 Valuing carers contributions 
National and local data clearly indicates that one of the key concerns of 
carers is recognition of their hard work.  They provide an invaluable 
service to the person they care for but in spite of this, they often feel that 
they are forgotten about or ignored by professionals.  Valuing the 
contribution of carers is therefore a priority area.  It is important that carer 
support agencies listen to what carers tell us and utilise their experiences 
effectively.  Carers should be involved with the development of services 
and should play a greater part in the decision making processes. 
 

7 OUTCOMES 
 
This strategy aims to take a systematic and inclusive approach to carers, 
recognising the need for them to participate fully as citizens in their local 
communities.  The business of caring is not an issue for health and social care 
only. The needs of carers should be recognised across all agencies - in leisure 
services, lifelong learning and employment.  The aim is get carers on 
everyone’s radar.  This would ensure that a range of interventions from 
universal carer services through to individually assessed packages of care 
should be evident. As self-directed support progresses the need for carers to be 
taking a more central role as expert carers will become even more critical.  

Page 192



 13 

 
The outcomes set out below are derived from local carer feedback– evidenced 
through the local survey and supported by evidence from national surveys.   
In identifying the following outcomes this strategy seeks to incorporate the 
breadth and flexibility required to progress the carers agenda over the next 
three years. 
 
7.1 Carers know how to access advice and information when they need 

it 
 
CSCI outcomes 4 and 6* 
 
7.2 Carers receive relevant and appropriate information to enable them 
 to make choices and remain independent 
 
CSCI outcomes 2 and 4* 
 
7.3 Carers feel confident that, should anything happen to them in an 
 emergency, the person they care for will be supported 
 
CSCI outcome 4* 
 
7.4 Carers feel appreciated and that their contribution in the caring role 
 is valued and recognised  
 
CSCI outcome 3* 
 
7.5 Carers are consulted and involved at a local level in the 
 development and evaluation of services designed to meet their 
 needs, and the needs of people they care for 
 
CSCI outcome 3* 
 
7.6 Carers are able to participate fully and equally as citizens 
 
CSCI outcome 3* 
 
7.7 Carers from black and racial minority groups are pro-actively 

engaged, and supported to access culturally appropriate support 
services which meet their needs 

 
CSCI outcome 5* 
 
7.8 Carers are supported to remain in employment or participate in 
 training to promote future employment prospects 
 
CSCI outcome 6* 

Page 193



 14 

8 AREAS FOR FURTHER DEVELOPMENT 
 
8.1 Making the system accessible: 
 

Ø A single well-publicised point of access for carers to be established 
 

Ø Regular updates about financial support available to carers to be briefed 
out to carers via the carers newsletter.. 

 
8.2 Giving carers peace of mind: 
 

Ø A single, simple, voluntary scheme for registering Wirral carers to be 
adopted  (Voluntary registration schemes to be extended and unified) 

 
Ø A pathway for carer support services - to include emergency cover for 

carers – to be developed 
 

Ø Review and build on existing emergency support for carers, including 
Fast Response Service. 

 
8.3 Co-ordinating current services: 
 

Ø Advice and Information to support carers to be comprehensive, widely 
available, easily accessible and co-ordinated. 

 
Ø Carers emergency card scheme to be linked to carers register. 

 
Ø Mainstream community care services providing care breaks to continue 

 
Ø Quantify spending from mainstream community care budget and other 

sources on carer support services. 
 
8.4 Improving facilities: 
 

Ø Short-break voucher scheme to be expanded into new service areas 
 

Ø The role of Assistive Technology to support carers to be further 
developed 

 
Ø Staff training in carer assessment to be offered across all agencies  
 
Ø Carers to be involved in development of self-directed support 

 
Ø Options for practical and preventative services e.g. housework and 

gardening to be explored 
 
8.5 Valuing carers contributions 
 

Ø Carers to be offered regular health checks  
 

Ø Employment and training needs of carers to be addressed through links 
with relevant agencies and local employers 

 
Ø Training to support carers in their caring role to be made available (e.g. 

moving and handling) 

Page 194



 15 

 
Ø The development of carer-led groups such as forums/panels to be 

proactively facilitated 
 

Ø All carer services will adhere to equal opportunities policies to ensure 
that all carers are properly supported.  

 
Ø Services should proactively take due regard of faith and cultural issues. 

 

9 FINANCE 
 
Support for carers is currently financed from a variety of sources. The primary 
source is currently from the Department of Adult Social Services which funds 
services provided directly to vulnerable individuals and which support carers at 
the same time,  for example by admission to respite care in local authority 
residential facilities. In addition the Carers Grant has been provided to local 
authorities since 1999.  This is designed to supplement existing resources and 
to stimulate diversity and flexibility in the provision of breaks for carers or direct 
carer services.  
 
Carers funding for Wirral’s Department of Adult Social Services for three years 
is set out below: 
 

2008/9 2009/10 2010/11 

£1,398,400 £1,492,000 £1,585,600 

 
NHS Wirral funds the Fast Response Service for Carers and supported a 
number of carer initiatives through its Third Sector Innovations Fund in 2008/9, 
as set out below: - 
 

Name of group Activity Maximum 
amount 
awarded 

Crossroads in 
Wirral Caring for 
Carers Ltd 

Preventative care programme for older people and 
their carers in their own home. 

£21,980 

Lonsdale Trust 
Wallasey 

Extended care programme to support carers to 
remain in employment. 
 
Implementation of ‘innovative life coaching’ 
sessions to support carers.  

£50,000 

Alzheimer’s 
Society 

Dementia outreach service for people with dementia 
and their carers. Service delivered throughout 
Wirral which also supports the involvement of 
volunteers as part of the befriending service. 

£47,198 

Family Tree Family intervention programme supporting carers of 
people with schizophrenia and other psychotic 
illnesses. 

£50,000 

Page 195



 16 

 

PSS Wirral 
Young carers 

Project to support young carers across Wirral to 
improve their health and well-being. Young people 
will be equipped with skills to recognise their own 
health needs, lifestyles, mental health and 
emotional needs. 

£48,612 

Wired Carers 
(counselling 
coordinator) 

Carers counselling coordinator will coordinate and 
manage volunteer’s counsellors in training and 
development. Service delivered to carers across 
Wirral within GP practices. 

£43,428 

Wirral Former 
Carers 

One off event to raise groups profile to other carers 
who are about to finish their role as a carer. 

£2,095 

Wirral Holistic 
Care Services 

Nutritional awareness training for people with 
cancer and their partner carer. The course 
programme will include looking at the nutritional 
components of food, healthy eating guidelines, food 
intolerance testing. Course is held at Wirral Holistic 
Care Services Centre. 

£25,011 

  
Total Funding 

 
£288,324 

 
Carers also receive a range of support services through the voluntary sector. 
Many of our local voluntary sector organisations are able to fund raise or to 
access funds which are not available to the local authority and are thus able to 
increase overall resources available to Wirral carers. 
 
This strategy provides a foundation for a more co-ordinated approach to 
commissioning carer services across all agencies.  This will ensure that 
available funds are directed where they are most needed, and that maximum 
external funding opportunities are identified. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 196



 17 

CSCI Framework    Appendix 1 
  

Outcome 1. IMPROVED HEALTH AND EMOTIONAL WELLBEING 
Enjoying good physical and mental health (including protection from abuse and exploitation). Access to appropriate treatment and support in 
managing long-term conditions independently. There are opportunities for physical activity. 

1.1 
1.2 
1.3 

People who use services and their carers are helped to understand how to stay healthy and maintain their emotional well-being.   
The CASSR has well-developed, and consistent joint working arrangements with health partners and other relevant agencies or departments. 
Stays in hospital reflect medical need.  There is evidence that investment in rehabilitation is preventing further need for medical and social 
care interventions. 

Outcome 2. IMPROVED QUALITY OF LIFE 
Access to leisure, social activities and life-long learning and to universal, public and commercial services. Security at home, access to transport and 
confidence in safety outside the home. 

2.1 
2.2 
2.3 
 
2.4 
2.5 
 
2.6 

The independence of people who use services and carers is promoted within all services.   
There is a focus on early prevention. 
There is easy access to commissioned but non-care managed, services which meet cultural and other needs.  Care is of good quality and 
produces good outcomes.  
Care managers can and do refer on to relevant non-care managed services appropriately. 
Specialist support is available to small number who need it, with effective relationships with neighbouring authorities and specialist national 
service providers  
People who use services report feeling safe because their homes are safe and secure, alarms and other aids are easily accessible and fitted 
for them. 

Outcome 3. MAKING A POSITIVE CONTRIBUTION 
Maintaining involvement in local activities and being involved in policy development and decision-making. 

3.1 
 
3.2 
3.3 

People who use services and their carers are supported in developing confidence in their own abilities,  skills and qualifications and ability to 
contribute to the workings of the wider community  
People who use services and their carers have been actively involved in development work and planning and review of services.   
There is encouragement for members of the general community to come forward as volunteers to work in social care and welfare services.  

Outcome 4. INCREASED CHOICE AND CONTROL 
Through maximum independence and access to information. Being able to choose and control services and helped to manage risk in personal life. 

4.1 
4.2 
4.3 
4.4 
4.5 
 
4.6 
4.7 

Referral, assessment, care planning and review processes are undertaken with respect for the person and in a timely manner. 
Information about services, service standards and the complaints/comments procedure is accurate, accessible, and appropriate. 
Complaints are handled promptly and courteously and action is taken where appropriate. The complainant is kept informed. 
Appropriate out of hours services are available that are effective in meeting needs. 
Effective joint assessment and outcome-based care planning arrangements are in place with records accessible by people who use service 
and their carers and appropriate access to advocacy. 
There is a broad range of services available that offers choice and meets preferences.  
Independence and choice is promoted by enabling people to continue to live in the environment of their choice and raising awareness of the 
availability of self directed services that increase control. 

Outcome 5. FREEDOM FROM DISCRIMINATION AND HARRASSMENT 
Equality of access to services. Not being subject to abuse. 

5.1 
5.2 
5.3 
 
5.4 
 
5.5 

Clear eligibility criteria for all services are published. 
There is universal access to initial assessments. 
The CASSR has fully implemented all five levels of the race equality standard for local government and consistently measures its 
performance against the standards. 
The CASSR has published a Disability Equality Scheme that has been consulted on with people who use services and is part of a wider 
strategy of tackling equalities and diversity issues. 
Care Management is undertaken effectively with individual needs clearly identified. 

Outcome 6. ECONOMIC WELLBEING 
Access to income and resources sufficient for a good diet, accommodation and participation in family and community life. Ability to meet costs arising 
from specific individual needs. 

6.1 
6.2 
6.3 
6.4 

There is a clear protocol between the CASSR and the PCT(s) covering continuing care.  
There is a wide choice of pathways to meet diverse economic and employment needs, including for those who are disadvantaged. 
Carers are supported effectively to enable them to continue in their employment or return to work where they choose to do so. 
Preventive services result in people who receive support from them making reduced contributions over time in the form of charges for care. 

7. MAINTAINING PERSONAL DIGNITY AND RESPECT 
Keeping clean and comfortable. Enjoying a clean and orderly environment. Availability of appropriate personal care. 

7.1 
7.2 
 
7.3 
 
7.4 
7.5 

People are effectively safeguarded against abuse, neglect, embarrassment or poor treatment whilst using services.   
The CASSR makes sure that internal front line staff as well as staff in external organisations are aware of how to identify vulnerable adults 
and respond appropriately to concerns.  
There are a wide range of high quality preventative support services leading to an increase in the reporting of incidence of abuse and neglect 
and a satisfactory closure to almost all of the cases. 
People admitted to care homes or supported living settings have access to single rooms if they choose. 
Interpersonal relationships are innovatively and actively encouraged.   

8. LEADERSHIP 
The CASSR has corporate arrangements and capacity to achieve consistent, sustainable and effective improvement in Adult Social Service.  

8.1 
8.2 
8.3 
8.4 

There is effective leadership resulting in clear vision with effective staff contribution. 
Effective planning arrangements exist that reflect national and local priorities. 
Effective workforce planning arrangement are in place that include attention to professional and occupational standards. 
Performance Management, quality assurance, and scrutiny arrangements are in place and effective. 

9. COMMISSIONING AND USE OF RESOURCES 
The CASSR commissions and delivers services to clear standards of both quality and cost, by the most effective, economic and efficient means 
available. 

9.1 
 
9.2 
 
9.3 
 
9.4 

A strategic needs analysis and commissioning plans have been developed and implemented, linked to the outcomes in Our Health, Our Care, 
Our Say. 
Services are provided taking value for money into account.  There is a medium term financial plan in place with competent management of 
the budget and delivery of annual efficiencies. 
People who use services, carers groups and relevant staff groups are integral to the commissioning process as is information about costs and 
quality. 
There is a clear understanding of the local social care market and optimum use is made of joint commissioning and partnership working to 
improve the economy, efficiency and effectiveness of local services. 

Page 197



 

 18 

Appendix 2 

 

Commitments from ‘Carers at the heart of 21st-century families 
and communities’ within the National Carers Strategy 10 

 
Integrated and Personalised Care  
 
Short term: Commitments  

• Training and awareness raising for key professionals. 

• A carers’ information helpline and website. 

• Funding for accessible information provision about the local area for carers. 

• Caring with Confidence, a training programme for carers. 

• Pilots to look at how the NHS can better support carers in their caring role 
through developing models of best practice and enabling more joined-up 
service provision between the NHS, local authorities and the third sector. 

• Improvements to the capacity and reach of third sector services at national and 
local levels.  

 
Longer term: Identified priorities  

• Carers’ being able to access specialist carers’ services in every community. 

• Consider extending flexibility of the way personal budgets and direct payments 
can be used. 

• Where appropriate, the offer of a lead professional to help carers access 
services and to ensure early intervention when circumstances change. 

• Dissemination of models of best practice to PCTs on how to provide better 
support for carers.  

 
A Life of their own 
 
Short term: Commitments  

• Increased funding for breaks for carers. 

• Pilots to assess innovative approaches to the provision of breaks, their quality 
and their cost-effectiveness. 

• Sharing of best practice in supporting carers across local authorities.  
 
Longer term: Identified priorities  

• Consideration of further increases in break provision, taking account of 
evidence about quality and outcomes. 

• Dissemination of models of best practice on quality and innovative approaches 
to break provision, based on evidence garnered in the pilots. 

 
 
10  
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH
_085345 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 198



 

 19 

• In the context of community empowerment and the reform of the care and 
support system, we will consider how the relationship between local authorities 
and the third sector and carer-led organisations can be developed to make 
better use of the expertise of these organisations and to provide carers with 
greater choice and control over the way in which services are provided to them. 
as part of this, we will also examine how best to utilise the Carers Grant to the 
benefit of carers. 

 
Income and Employment 
 
Short term: Commitments  

• Review the flexible working definition of a carer. 

• An awareness-raising campaign for employers around the right to request 
flexible working. 

• Produce a good practice guide for employers around supporting carers and 
integrating them into the workforce. 

• Improve the support offered to carers by Jobcentre Plus by: 
o improving information about flexible job vacancies in Jobcentre Plus 

job banks;  
o introducing care partnership managers in every Jobcentre Plus 

district;  
o introducing specialist training for Jobcentre Plus advisers who work 

with carers;  
o funding replacement care for those who are participating in approved 

training;  
o ensuring carers have access to appropriate employment 

programmes;  
o the DWP and Jobcentre Plus investigating the feasibility of providing 

return to work support through third sector organisations.  

• Ensure that skills training is provided in a flexible manner so it is accessible for 
carers. 

 
Longer term: Identified priorities  

• Reviewing the structure of the benefits available to carers in the context of 
wider benefit reform and the fundamental review of the care and support 
system.  

 
Health and Wellbeing 
 
Short term: Commitments  

• Piloting health checks for carers. 

• GP training pilots. 

• Improving the emotional support offered by third sector organisations to carers.  
 
Longer term: Identified priorities  

• Develop a full training package for all GPs, dependent on the result of the 
pilots. 

• Consider providing carers across the country with annual health checks. 

• Consider providing replacement care for carers to attend hospital appointments 
and screenings. 

Page 199



 

 20 

• Discuss with GPs and other health professionals the measures which can be 
taken that will give a sharper focus to the distinct needs of carers. 

• Work to establish the legislative or other requirements needed to enable carers 
to receive appropriate information especially in cases where mental capacity is 
an issue. 

 
Young Carers 
 
Short term: Commitments  

• Funding to embed support and guidance for young carers through our healthy 
schools programme and to ensure tailored and up-to-date resources are 
available for staff to draw upon as part of their SEAL and PSHE programmes. 

• Funding to support broader awareness-raising across schools and other 
children’s settings on caring in families and the issues this raises. 

• Tailored training materials to be used with GPs and hospital discharge teams to 
build awareness and skills in dealing with young carers. 

• Programme of work to ensure that the learning we draw from existing young 
carers projects and other forms of support feeds into, and helps shape, the 
planning of provision in the future. 

• Preventing children from falling into harmful levels of caring: further action to 
build effective joined-up support around the family and the person cared for and 
to shift systems of support towards active prevention. 

• An expanded programme of local and regional training on whole-family working 
for staff in local services. 

 
Longer term: Identified priorities  

• Ensuring protections for young carers are fully embedded: further measures to 
be considered in the light of research findings over the next two years.  

 
  

Page 200



WIRRAL COUNCIL           
 
CABINET – 23rd July 2009 
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ADULT SOCIAL SERVICES 
 
OPTIONS FOR CHANGE – TOWARDS A STRATEGY FOR CARE SERVICES 

 
Executive Summary 
 
This report presents the outcome and conclusions of the Design and Viability 
Project which was requested by Cabinet on the 10th December 2008.  Cabinet is 
now asked to approve a full and comprehensive consultation process 
commencing on the 10th August 2009 and concluding on the 30th October 2009.  
 
This involves a key decision which was first identified in the Forward Plan dated 
April 2009. 
 
1 Background 
 
1.1 On 6th November 2008, Cabinet received a report which identified the 

need to review the in-house services provided by the Care Service 
Branch.  This review was carried out by the Department of Adult Social 
Services (DASS), to ensure the progression of the transformation of Adult 
Social Services. 

 
1.2 The Cabinet report was informed by an initial options appraisal which 

identified three organisational forms that could deliver sustainable 
efficiency, and support the  development of a diverse and contestable 
market.   
 

1.3 The need to change the in-house services is linked to the increased choice 
and control which people who require support from Adult Social Services 
will have following the move towards self-directed support and personal 
budgets.    

 
1.4 Personal budgets holders will be able to make their own decisions about 

which services they want, whether they hold their budget directly or ask 
the Council to manage services on their behalf. The introduction of 
personal budgets will provide a significant driver behind ensuring that 
services can adapt and be flexible in a world of individually commissioned 
care packages. 

 
1.5 The Cabinet decision was ‘called in’ by  the Social Care, Health and 

Inclusion Overview and Scrutiny Committee (4th December 2008).  On 10th 
December 2008, Cabinet requested that a project be established which 
would provide a more detailed analysis of any service changes and a 
rationale supporting the outsourcing proposals.   
 

Agenda Item 10

Page 201



1.6 On the 14th January 2009 the DASS Transformation Programme Board 
approved the Project Initiation Document & Business Case which included 
the project objectives outlined below: 
 

• Consider the design and shape of the identified functions and services 
within Care Services in line with the needs of the population and 
national policy drivers, i.e personalisation, localisation and integration 
and local priorities i.e Strategic Asset Review, Supporting People 
Strategy, and the Corporate Transport Review. 

• Identify equivalent costs of specific care service functions compared to 
external provision, both local and national 

• Identify, where appropriate, options/models for outsourcing services. 

• Identify potential opportunities for efficiency improvements 

• Recommend re-design issues within current care/support pathways 
across all user groups 

• Recommend re-design within back office processes i.e finance, 
procurement, contracting, quality assurance etc. 

• Identify models of good practice and innovation within equivalent 
service national and locally 

• Identify work force and other HR issues – TUPE/EVR 

• Develop a commissioning plan which recognises demand/capacity 
issues, market analysis, and develops a procurement strategy which is 
sensitive to the need to develop local services which are flexible in 
addressing the requirements of people who wish to self direct their 
support. 

• Recommend the development of approaches to strategies and plans 
where gaps are identified. 

 
2 Project Methodology 
 
2.1 The Care Services Project adopted the Prince2 Project Management 

Methodology.  Five workpackages were commissioned to provide 
consultation and research data which informed the Care Services Strategy 
(Appendix 1).  Two further workpackages were commissioned in response 
to issues raised during the course of the project. 

 
2.2  Details of the work carried out are available in Section 1.3 – 1.3.8 of the 

attached consultation report.  However, in summary: 
 

• Over 745 people using care services were involved in interviews with 
staff to identify their needs, aspirations, risks, and support 
requirements,  with a further 358 current assessment/care plans 
informing future service need. 

• 91 members of staff were trained in conducting the engagement 
interviews, support planning and personalisation with 41 members of 
staff receiving accreditation in personalised practice. 

• 20 members of staff were involved in mapping the referral pathways 
into and within care services. 

• 79 members of staff were involved in staff consultation 

Page 202



• Over 80 people using services and their carers took part in focus 
groups, this included young people moving into transition. 

• 100 people attended the Neighbourhood Centres consultation. 
Delegates comprising staff from social services and health, carers, 
49% of delegates were people currently using care services. 

 
2.3 In addition to the consultation data gathered, information was compiled in 

relation to demographic trends, with projections of overall future service 
need.  This was compared against national and local policy direction to 
understand the likely demand and capacity of this service and the external 
market of social care in Wirral (Section 2 & 3 of the Consultation Paper). 
 

2.4 Using the ‘True Cost of Services Toolkit’ developed by the Care Services 
Efficiency Delivery Team (Department of Health), each service function 
was scrutinised to establish value for money, using activity, quality and 
performance data.  The same measures were used to compare the cost of 
external service provision.  Cost comparisons are available in section 3 of 
the Consultation Paper attached. 
 

3. Consultation 
 
3.1 The range of options and conclusions contained within the Care Service 

Strategy Consultation Paper have been fully informed by the research 
consultation carried out as part of this project.   Members are now asked to 
approve a formal consultation process on the proposals and conclusions 
contained within this Paper.  Recommendations will then be made which 
take account, not only, if the evidence set out in the Paper but the 
responses gathered during consultation. 
 

3.2 It is proposed that this consultation take place between 10th August 2009 – 
30th October 2009.  Staff, people who use services, carers and other 
stakeholders will have access to the full version of the Consultation Paper, 
a summary version template, as well as ‘easy read’ and other accessible 
versions of the plan.  Section 1.2, in Appendix 1 sets out the process of 
consultation. 

 
4. Conclusions within the Consultation Paper 
 
4.1      All services have been scrutinised with five key questions in mind. 
 

i) Does the service meet individual need and deliver the outcomes for 
people currently using/or likely to use the service in the future? 

ii) Does the service design fit with national and local commissioning 
guidance? 

iii) Does the service offer ‘value for money’ compared to other 
providers in the market? 

iv) What is the nature of the market in which the service currently 
operates and would externalising the service provide greater 
diversity, increased choice and control for personal budget holders, 
whilst minimising the risk to the Council? 

Page 203



v) Are there opportunities for efficiencies improvement? 
 
4.2 The evidence the research work to date suggests that to maintain services 

in their current design or form is not a viable option in the context of 
personalisation and personal budgets.    

 
4.3 The Consultation Paper identifies that within the each service area 

(excluding day services), the current unit costs are higher than in the 
independent sector, even when compared with the highest quality 
banding.  This may mean that individuals choose to use their personal 
budget to commission services outside the Council control leaving in-
house services vulnerable and increasingly expensive.   

 
4.4 Retaining the existing services within Wirral Council, including all the 

current unit costs, would effectively result in a situation where the council 
would be paying for personal budgets whilst at the same time paying for 
in-house services.  In this context the Council could experience double 
running costs and an unsustainable set of services. 

 
4.5  The Cabinet report of the 6th November 2008 outlined three organisational 

forms as potential options within the initial feasibility study, proposing at 
that time that ‘outsourcing’ the elements of service through ‘open tender’ 
might achieve the flexibility and efficiency required, particularly in the 
context of personal budgets. 

 
4.6 Further options for externalising services have been considered as part of 

this project. As identified in Section 3 of the Consultation Paper (para 3.1 – 
3.2) the Department of Adult Social Services is suggesting that the 
development of a Local Authority Trading Company may offer an 
appropriate option to consider with regard to personal budgets, and would 
encourage a diverse market, whilst still providing the assurance required 
by stakeholders. However, this proposal would have to be subject to 
consultation and a more detailed business case.  

 
4.7 During the consultation, officers will provide full details of the nature of 

Local Authority Trading Companies, however further work needs to be 
carried out to develop a more detailed business case in line with 
government guidance1. 

 
4.8 Appendix 3 of the consultation paper provides a response template which 

will be available to all stakeholders. 
 
5. Financial Implications 
 
5.1 The recommendation of this report is to consult on the attached 

Consultation Paper and therefore there are no immediate implications, 

                                            
1
 General Power for Local Authorities to Trade in Function Related Activities Through a Company: 

Guidance on the Power in the Local Government Act 2003, ODPM 2004. 
http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/localgovernment/generalpower 
 

Page 204



beyond any costs associated with the consultation and business case 
development for the LATC.  Those costs will be quantified and referred to 
the Strategic Change Board for consideration, if the recommendation is 
approved. 

 
6. Staffing Implications 
 
6.1 The strategy to be consulted upon has significant staffing implications.  

These will be analysed in detail and reported to members along with the 
outcome of consultations. 
 

7.0 Equal Opportunities Implications 
 
7.1 The Equality Impact Assessment process has been embedded into the full 

consultation process.  The final Impact assessment will be published when 
the strategy is revised in light of the consultation.  

 
8. Community Safety Implications 
 
8.1 There are no implications arising out of this report.   
 
9. Local Agenda 21 Implications 
 
9.1 There are no implications arising out of this report.   
   
10. Planning Implications 
 
10.1 There are no implications arising out of this report.   
   
11. Anti Poverty Implications 
 
11.1 There are no implications arising out of this report.   
   
12. Social Inclusion Implications 
 
12.1 There are no implications arising out of this report.   
   
13. Local Member Support Implications 
 
13.1 Consultation will involve people who live in all Wirral wards. 
 
14. Background Papers 
 
14.1 ‘Progress Towards the Transformation of Adult Social Service:  6th 

November 2008 
 

14.2 ‘Progress Towards the Transformation of Adult Social Services –  
Outsourcing Care Services, Fee Levels for Residential and Nursing  
Homes and a New Contract for Supported Living Services. 

Page 205



 
15 Recommendations 
 
 That Cabinet 
 

(1) Approve that a full and comprehensive consultation process on the  
conclusions and options contained in the report should take place. 

 
 
JOHN WEBB 
Director of Adult Social Services 
 
Jennifer McGovern 
Integrated Commissioning Manager 
ext no 666 3652 
Date: 15.7.09 
 
 
 

  

Page 206



Department of Adult Social Services                           

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

OPTIONS FOR CHANGE  

TOWARDS A STRATEGY FOR CARE SERVICES  

2009 - 2012 

 

CONSULTATION PAPER 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 1 

Page 207



 2 

CONTENTS 

Executive Summary         3 
 
SECTION 1     PROJECT BACKGROUND…………………………………………………. 11 
 
  1.1 Introduction       11 

1.2 Consultation       11 
1.3 Project Methodology      13 
1.4 Work Packages       14 

 
SECTION 2  NATIONAL AND LOCAL INFORMATION………………………………… 18 
 
  2.1 Overview       18 
  2.2 Key Concepts       18 
  2.3 Personalisation       19 

2.4 User Engagement      20 
2.5      Integrated Commissioning     20 
2.6 Diversity of Provision and Market Development   21 
2.7 Performance Management     22 
2.8 Efficiency Data       23 
2.9 Data Sources       23 
2.10 Current Clients: Top Level Profile    24 
2.11 Key Demographic Projections     29 
 

SECTION 3  ORGANISATIONAL FORM AND SERVICE MODELS…………………… 34 
 
  3.1 Organisational Form      34 

3.2 Local Authority Trading Company    35 
3.3 Service Models       36 
3.4 Transport       36 
3.5 Supported Living      37 

   3.6 Intermediate Care/Respite     41 
3.7 Mapleholme       42 
3.8 Meadowcroft       44 
3.9 Fernleigh       45 
3.10 Residential Care      46 
3.11 Dementia Care       48 
3.12 Day Services       50 
 

SECTION 4 FUTURE COMMISSIONING STRATEGY………………………………….. 57 
 

4.1   The Strategic Vision for In-House Services    57 
4.2 Strategic Commissioning Objectives    59 
 

SECTIION 5 IMPLICATIONS FOR CARE SERVICES/ACCESS & ASSESSMENT…. 63 
 
  5.1 Care Services       63 

5.2 Access & Assessment      63 
 

APPENDICES 

  Appendix 2 Care Services Information    69 

  Appendix 3 Consultation      75 

  

Page 208



 3 

Preface from Councillor Moira McLaughlin, Cabinet Member for Adult Social 

Services 

 

 

 

I welcome the work that has been done and which is set out in this consultation paper.  The paper analyses 

in great detail the issues around each of the services, as well as describing the demographic and policy 

contexts.  However, we now need a wider conversation, involving people who use services themselves, 

carers, our staff who deliver these services and their representatives before we will be in a position to make 

very important decisions which are critical to vital services provided to our community.  It really matters that 

we get this right and I want to hear as wide a range of views as possible.  I therefore urge you to engage with 

this consultation, put forward your own thoughts and views and together make sure that we have the 

strongest possible basis for the decisions that lie ahead. 

 

 

 

 

This is a critical time in the journey we are on in transforming 

Adult Social Services to meet the challenge of Personalisation.  

One of the most important parts of this challenge is to address 

the future of those services that we deliver through our own 

staff and buildings.  In order to help us understand better what 

all the issues are, we asked, some six months ago, for Officers 

to carry out a detailed and systematic analysis of each of our 

directly provided services, reflecting the views of users of those 

services, as well as analysing such things as costs, the 

“market” and the wider policy frameworks. 

Page 209



 4 

Executive Summary 

 
Background 

 
On 6

th
 November 2008, Cabinet received a report which identified the need to review the in-house services 

provided by the Care Service Branch.  This review was carried out by the Department of Adult Social 

Services (DASS), to ensure the progression of the transformation of Adult Social Services. 

 
The Cabinet report was informed by an initial options appraisal which identified three organisational forms 

that could deliver sustainable efficiency, and support the development of a diverse and contestable market.   

 
The need to change the in-house services is linked to the increased choice and control which people who 

require support from Adult Social Services will have following the move towards self-directed support and 

personal budgets.    

 
Personal budgets holders will be able to make their own decisions about which services they want, whether 

they hold their budget directly or ask the Council to manage services on their behalf. The introduction of 

personal budgets will provide a significant driver behind ensuring that services can adapt and be flexible in a 

world of individually commissioned care packages. 

 

The Cabinet decision was ‘called in’ by the Social Care, Health and Inclusion Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee (4
th
 December 2008).  On 10

th
 December 2008, Cabinet requested that a project be established 

which would provide a more detailed analysis of any service changes and a rationale supporting the 

outsourcing proposals.   

 
On the 14

th
 January 2009 the DASS Transformation Programme Board approved the Project Initiation 

Document & Business Case which included the project objectives outlined below: 

 

• Consider the design and shape of the identified functions and services within Care Services in line   

with the needs of the population and national policy drivers, i.e personalisation, localisation and 

integration and local priorities i.e Strategic Asset Review, Supporting People Strategy, and the 

Corporate Transport Review. 

• Identify equivalent costs of specific care service functions compared to external provision, both local  

and national 

• Identify, where appropriate, options/models for outsourcing services. 

• Identify potential opportunities for efficiency improvements 

• Recommend re-design issues within current care/support pathways across all user groups 

• Recommend re-design within back office processes i.e finance, procurement, contracting, quality 

assurance etc. 

• Identify models of good practice and innovation within equivalent service national and locally 

• Identify work force and other HR issues – TUPE/EVR 

• Develop a commissioning plan which recognises demand/capacity issues, market analysis, and 

develops a procurement strategy which is sensitive to the need to develop local services which are 

flexible in addressing the requirements of people who wish to self direct their support. 

Page 210



 5 

• Recommend the development of approaches to strategies and plans where gaps are identified. 

 
Project Methodology 

 
The Care Services Project adopted the Prince2 Project Management Methodology.  Five workpackages 

were commissioned to provide consultation and research data which informed the Care Services Strategy.  

Two further workpackages were commissioned in response to issues raised during the course of the project. 

 
Details of the work carried out are available in Section 1.3 – 1.3.8 of the report attached.  However, in 

summary: 

 

• Over 745 people using care services were involved in interviews with staff to identify their needs, 

aspirations, risks, and support requirements,  with a further 358 current assessment/care plans 

informing future service need. 

• 91 members of staff were trained in conducting the engagement interviews, support planning and 

personalisation with 41 members of staff receiving accreditation in personalised practice. 

• 20 members of staff were involved in mapping the referral pathways into and within care services. 

• 79 members of staff were involved in staff consultation 

• Over 80 people using services and their carers took part in focus groups, this included young people 

moving into transition. 

• 100 people attended the Neighbourhood Centres consultation. Delegates comprising staff from 

social services and health, carers, 49% of delegates were people currently using care services. 

 
In addition to the consultation data gathered, information was compiled in relation to demographic  trends, 

with projections of overall future service need.  This was compared against national and local policy direction 

to understand the likely demand and capacity of this service and the external market of social care in Wirral 

(Section 2 & 3 – Care Services Strategy). 

 

Using the ‘True Cost of Services Toolkit’ developed by the Care Services Efficiency Delivery Team 

(Department of Health), each service function was scrutinised to establish value for money, using activity, 

quality and performance data.  The same measures were used to compare the cost of external service 

provision.  Cost comparisons are available in section 3 of the Care Services Strategy attached. 

 
Consultation 

 
The range of options and conclusions contained within this document, have been fully informed by the 

research consultation carried out as part of this project.   Cabinet members will now asked to approve a 

formal consultation process on the proposals and options contained within this report. 

 
It is proposed that this consultation take place between 10

th
 August 2009 – 30

th
 October 2009.  Staff, people 

who use services, carers and other stakeholders will have access to the full version of the Care Services 

Strategy, a summary version template, as well as ‘easy read’ and other accessible versions of the plan.   

Page 211



 6 

Conclusions and suggested options for consultation 

 
All services have been scrutinised with five key questions in mind. 

 
i) Does the service meet individual need and deliver the outcomes for people currently 

using/or likely to use the service in the future? 

ii) Does the service design fit with national and local commissioning guidance? 

iii) Does the service offer ‘value for money’ compared to other providers in the market? 

iv) What is the nature of the market in which the service currently operates and would 

externalising the service provide greater diversity, increased choice and control for personal 

budget holders, whilst minimising the risk to the Council? 

v) Are there opportunities for efficiencies improvement? 

 

The evidence the research work to date suggests that to maintain services in their current design or form is 

not a viable option in the context of personalisation and personal budgets.    

 

The work carried out in the project identifies that within each service area (excluding day services), the 

current unit costs are higher than in the independent sector, even when compared with the highest quality 

banding.  This may mean that individuals choose to use their personal budget to commission services 

outside the Council control leaving in-house services vulnerable and increasingly expensive.   

 

Retaining the existing services within Wirral Council, including all the current unit costs, would effectively 

result in a situation where the council would be paying for personal budgets whilst at the  same time paying 

for in-house services.  In this context the Council could experience double running  costs and an 

unsustainable set of services. 

 
The Cabinet report of the 6

th
 November 2008 outlined three organisational forms as potential options within 

the initial feasibility study, proposing at that time that ‘outsourcing’ the elements of service through ‘open 

tender’ might achieve the flexibility and efficiency required, particularly in the context of   personal budgets 

 
Further options for externalising services have been considered as part of this project. As identified in  

Section 3 Care Service Strategy (para 3.1 – 3.2) the Department of Adult Social Services is proposing that 

the development a Local Authority Trading Company has the potential to be well suited to personal budgets, 

to encourage a diverse market, whilst still providing the assurance required by stakeholders. However, this 

proposal would have to be subject to consultation and a more detailed business case.  

 
During the consultation, officers will provide full details of the nature of Local Authority Trading   

Companies, however further work needs to be carried out to develop a more detailed business case  

in line with government guidance
1
. 

                                                      

1
 General Power for Local Authorities to Trade in Function Related Activities Through a Company: Guidance 

on the Power in the Local Government Act 2003, ODPM 2004. 

Page 212



 7 

Conclusions  

Section 3 of the report sets out the following suggestions regarding service models 

Transport (3.4)  
 
1. DASS transport service to be outsourced as vehicles become due for lease renewal and staff retire. 

2.  In addition DASS supports the development of single Corporate Transport Unit  

       And/or: 

3. That the Transport Service is included in the proposal to develop a Local Authority Trading      

Company. 

4. DASS should in addition conduct annual reviews of the service, until such time that recommendation              

2 or 3 are enacted            

 
 
Supported Living  (3.5)  
 

The Supported Living Service to move towards a ‘floating support service’, with a focus on community 

support and less reliance on traditional day centre attendance.  This realignment of service to be supported 

by individual’s choice of day time support exercised through personal budgets.  A suggested staffing 

structure is set out. 

Through a single manager the structure allows for consistency of approach across the services.  Targeting 

Level 3 support workers (increase from 257 – 368 hours) to co-ordinate a new level of enabling assistants 

(Homecare grade), whose focus will be to support people in their own home on daily living and enablement.  

The role of senior care assistant to be deleted.   Level 2 Support workers to be reduced from 1890 by 1450 

hours, these staff to deliver a range of services which are community based (eg. employment, accessing 

facilities, education etc) therefore input should be short and focussed.   

 
1. That the realignment of the service is implemented 

2. Following implementation of realignment the service should consider  two options in relation to the 

future organisational models: 

 
a) Pursue open tender if the department re-tenders with a new contract for Supported  Living or: 

b) To become part of any newly formed Local Authority Trading Company 

 

Intermediate Care/Respite (3.6)  
 

In the event of NHS Wirral commissioning future intermediate care beds within dual registered care home 

provision within each of the three localities in Wirral, consideration should be given to the impact on both 

Poulton House and Pensall House with intermediate care commissioned within the new locality provision.  

Respite provision could be commissioned from the external market.   It is suggested that Poulton House 

could be, following a feasibility study, be the site for the development of a dementia centre.  It is further 

                                                                                                                                                                                

 

Page 213



 8 

suggested that respite for people with learning disabilities might be relocated to Pensall House. 

 
Mapleholme (3.7)  
 
It is suggested that the respite service (Mapleholme – Beckwith Street, Birkenhead) be moved to Pensall 

House as both the conditions and the standards within this building are far superior to those at the Beckwith 

Street site, with all residents having access to en-suite facilities. 

 
The ‘take a break’ scheme within Mapleholme has already demonstrated a more effective use of respite 

care, meeting the needs of people using services and their carers in a more personalised way.   This 

scheme should now be extended to all, using Mapleholme. 

 

Meadowcroft (3.8)  
 
The unit cost of independent residential care is significantly below the in-house costs. The market analysis 

suggests that the level of capacity in the market is sufficient to accommodate additional respite care.  It is 

therefore proposed to decommission Meadowcroft and commission respite provision from the external 

market.  This would also support a far wider choice of respite care in a variety of homes.  The 

implementation of personal budgets will bring a further dimension, in that over time, people will choose to 

spend their budget on different kinds of respite rather than the traditional residential provision.  The 

suggested way forward is: 

 
1. Decommission Meadowcroft and re-commission respite/residential provision from the external 

market 

2. Day care to be sourced from the independent sector or a new Dementia Centre  

 
 
Residential Care (3.10)  
 

It is proposed that the current residents of Girtrell Court and Sylvandale are offered a similar opportunity that 

the tenants of West Wirral, Birkenhead and Wallasey were offered some years ago i.e to move into supported 

living, and have a tenancy with a housing association.  In addition residents at Manor Road should be given 

the opportunity of either becoming tenants in their current property or alternatively within individual or group 

living arrangements.  

 
This is an opportunity to move beyond the ‘group living’ arrangements currently in place.  Many individuals, 

including those with the most complex needs, are successfully being supported in their own homes.   

Supported living has opened up access to a much wider range of housing options for some people with 

learning difficulties, including ‘general needs’, social housing and even home-ownership.   

 
In total 39 people with learning disabilities and variable levels of physical disability would need to be found 

new accommodation, this figure does not include the individuals living at Manor Road. Dependent of the 

outcome of individual housing needs assessments, consideration of alternative accommodation may be 

appropriate or the transfer of the current building to a Registered Social Landlord (RSL) may be feasible.  

Property requirements may range from ‘general needs’ housing, through to individual tenancies or the 

opportunity for group living arrangements.   

Page 214



 9 

  
The following issues would need to be considered: 

1. The extent to which current properties need to be used as capital input from the Council.  All  

arrangements would need to be line with the Council’s disposal policy approved by Cabinet (19.3.09) 

2. The timescale of delivery, in the context that the Government has brought forward funding for new 

developments to stimulate the housing market. 

3. The potential requirement for Housing Corporation Grant, in the context of priority ranking for other 

supported housing schemes. 

4. Identification of facilities within the newly developing extra care scheme for the provision of respite 

care for people with physical and sensory disabilities e.g the Somerville Road Extra Care scheme 

will have adapted bungalows available for rental by the Department of Adult Social Services to 

accommodate individuals.   It may be at a future date these individuals will chose to use a personal 

budget to make alternative arrangements. 

 
Staff support delivered to the new tenancies would be provided by the new supported living services (See  

section 3.5) with staff from the residential sector assimilated into this team.  Each new tenant would be 

entitled to a range of benefits to support their daily living and accommodation costs and may well choose a 

personal budget to determine their individual support needs.   

 
Dementia Care (3.11) 
 

• That a feasibility study be undertaken to establish the viability, investment and actions necessary for 

the development of a Wirral wide or locality based dementia resource 

 
Day Services  (3.12)  
 

Day Services – Enabling 

 
Learning Disabilities/Physical and Sensory  – Community Bridge Building Service 

A Community Bridge Building Service to be set up comprising a Manager and 5 full time equivalent 

Community Bridge Builders.  It would be the aim of the service to be flexible to individual’s need and times of 

contact.  The team to operate a span of duty that will begin no earlier than 8 am and end no later than 10 

pm, offering planned interventions over 7 days (depending on client need and identified goals) 

The team to have a capacity of up to 100 cases.  This to be reviewed at regular times.  

Resource for this team to be identified from within current day services.  Competencies to be developed 

which are aligned to personalised practice and staff to be selected against these competencies. 

 
Community Mental Health Recovery Service 

This service will have a single management structure although like the learning disabilities community bridge 

building service, it will operate into the three localities.  Working Life service will be amalgamated into this 

service. 

 
Day Service Provision 

 
Day Services provide the greatest scope for reshaping in the context of personal budgets, providing a more 

Page 215



 10 

extensive range of support to people.  These services could include personal assistant provision, brokerage, 

respite, support with building skills, support into learning and occupation, and access to mainstream 

recreational and leisure experience.   

 

These are also potentially the most vulnerable services as people may chose alternative models of support 

to achieve the similar outcomes.    

 
In this context therefore the conclusions are that consideration should be given to the potential of the 

remaining day service to move into a Local Authority Trading Company, for a three year period, to be 

reviewed after those three years with regard to the suitability and success of this approach. 

 

That the transition process continues the audit of current utilisation of building and connectivity to the 

Strategic Asset Review.  The effectiveness and efficiency of the Local Authority Trading Company, if 

established, to be carefully monitored over the initial three-year evaluation period.  

Implementation governance arrangements would need to be determined should approval to proceed be 

granted by Cabinet.  In these circumstances the current relationship between commissioner and provider will 

no longer be appropriate.   

 
This report provides the initial business case for the transfer of day services, however a more detailed 

business case will need to be presented to Cabinet using the ‘Preparing to Trade’ Annex A – Guidance on 

the Power in the Local Government Act 2003. Alongside this in-depth consultation on this option will be 

carried out.   

 
It may be that other elements of service could be added to a LATC as their new shape embeds and the 

personalisation agenda evolves eg. Supported living, Respite Care (LD/PSD/Mental Health), Transport. 

This proposal must also consider the services who have ‘expressed interest’ in developing a Social 

Enterprise.   Attention should be given to supporting the preparation of these business cases.  It may be that 

the development could continue under the umbrella of a LATC.  The former route will require Cabinet to 

agree to the two main commitments within ‘Right To Request’, a) that  staff exercising their ‘Right to Request’ 

retain their membership of the Local Authority Pension while they work on Council funded services and b) 

that the newly developed Social Enterprise receive a three year uncontested contract.   

 

Page 216



 11 

SECTION 1    PROJECT BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 Introduction 

 
A Cabinet Report (6/11/08) set out as a priority the need to review services provided within the Care Service 

Branch of the Department of Adult Social Services (DASS), to ensure the transformation of Adult Social 

Services and deliver value for money. 

 
An initial options appraisal informed the Cabinet report, identifying three organisational forms that could 

deliver an efficient service, promote and establish a diverse market and deliver a service equipped to 

respond to personalisation and personal budgets. 

 
The Cabinet decision was ‘called in’ by Social Care, Health and Inclusion Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

(4.12.08) and at Cabinet on 10.12.08, a further report requested that a project be established which would 

outline details of the outsourcing proposals to be submitted to Cabinet.   

 
On the 14

th
 January 2009 the DASS Transformation Programme Board approved the Project Initiation 

Document & Business Case which included the project objectives outlined below: 

• Consider the design and shape of the identified functions and services within Care Services in line 

with the needs of the population and national policy drivers, i.e personalisation, localisation and 

integration and local priorities i.e Strategic Asset Review, Supporting People Strategy, and the 

Corporate Transport Review. 

• Identify equivalent costs of specific care service functions compared to external provision both local 

and national 

• Identify, where appropriate options/models for outsourcing services. 

• Identify potential opportunities for efficiency improvements 

• Recommend re-design issues within current care/support pathways across all user groups 

• Recommend re-design within back office processes i.e finance, procurement, contracting, quality 

assurance etc. 

• Identify models of good practice and innovation within equivalent service national and locally 

• Identify work force and other HR issues (Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) 

Regulations 1981  and Early Voluntary Retirement) 

• Develop a commissioning plan which recognises demand/capacity issues, market analysis, and 

develops a procurement strategy which is sensitive to the need to develop local services which are 

flexible addressing the requirements of people who wish to self direct their support. 

• Recommend the development of approaches to strategies and plans where gaps are identified. 

 

1.2 Consultation 

 
This consultation document has arrived at conclusions reflecting project objectives above – and therefore the 

service models (section 3), and is based on the evidence gathered during the project.   The document sets 

out the main challenges currently facing the Care Services Branch. 

 In Section 1 & 2 this consultation document asks only for any other data which people or organisations may 

Page 217



 12 

have which would be helpful to know and may shape the conclusions further.   

 
In Section 3 a revised service model is recommended in each service area.   The text sets out some of the 

rationale for arriving at the recommendation.  However, in order to aid readability, we have not presented a 

full review of the evidence base.  The reader is either signposted to the relevant literature, or can access the 

more detailed reports produced by each workpackage as part of the evidence gathering process.   

 
Equality Impact Assessments have been carried out on relevant workpackages eg. Engagement process 

methodology. However, this consultation will conduct a full Equality Impact Assessment which will be 

available with the final Strategy.   

 
This document contains questions on which we are seeking comments from people using services, carers, 

staff, trade unions, commissioners and those providing services.   

 
The research consultation took place during the project January 2009 and May 2009 and involved the 

evidence gathering from: 

 

• 745 engagement interviews 

• 358 further assessment of need 

• 20 members of staff involved mapping referral pathways 

• 79 members of staff involved in ‘Staff Think Tank’ meetings 

• 80 people took part in focus group meetings 

• 100 people took part in the Neighbourhood Centres conference 

• Commissioners, providers and operational managers were interviewed from Wirral Council, NHS 

Wirral and Cheshire and Partnership Trust 

 
The consultation will begin on 10th August 2009 and will be concluded in October 2009.   

 
Details of how to respond are available in Appendix 1 & 2 of this document.  An easy access version is 

available on www.wirral.gov.uk/socialcareandhealth   ‘Downloads’. 

 
The service models presented within the document will not result in a reduction of the level of service for 

any people currently using services and will continue to meet assessed need. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 218



 13 

 
1.3 Project Methodology 

 
The Care Services Project adopted the Prince 2 Project Management Methodology.  This structured 

methodology driven by the project’s business case, provided the Department of Adult Social Services with 

the organisational justification, commitment and rationale for the deliverables/outcome. The business case 

has been regularly reviewed during the project to ensure the business objectives continued to be met during 

the lifecycle of the project.  

 
The methodology provided DASS, as well as the managers of the project, with the ability to manage 

business and project risks more effectively  

 
Figure 1, sets out the project framework delivered through work packages, which were used to gather 

consultation and research data to inform the options to be consulted on in Section 2 of this report. 

 

Figure 1 

 

Review value of 

current services 

Consider future 

services 

Lateral thinking, 

innovation, 

Training and 

awareness 

Analyse 

Demand 

Analyse Supply 

Engagement 

Interviews 

Focus Groups 

Staff  ‘Think Tank’ 

Options 

Appraisal 

Page 219



 14 

1.4 Work packages 

 
Each work package was tasked with delivering against specific objectives, and deliverables (specialist 

products). 

 
1.4.1 Engagement 

  
Specialist Products – Engagement Methodology, Engagement Report. 

 
Objective 

The overall goal of the Engagement Work Package was to ensure that all people using services and their 

representatives were involved in individual assessments/interviews to establish their needs, risks and 

preferred outcomes for support.  This information would be used to develop and refine the shape and design 

of Care Service provision.  Carers also had an opportunity to complete a carers assessment to identify their 

specific needs.   

 
Deliverable 

745 people using services were involved in the engagement interviews.  Research and qualitative data 

gathered through this process has contributed to the proposals outlined in Section 3.  These interviews did 

not extend to people using Pensall House, Poulton House for intermediate care as people using this service 

receive an ongoing assessment of their needs as part of this service.  An individual care plan is designed 

following this time limited intervention. For the respite function within these establishments and Meadowcroft 

recent health and social care assessments were available and SWIFT performance data was up to date for 

analysis.   

 
Staff trained in the engagement process also provided information about personal budgets. 

 
All documentation completed, is being returned to the establishments, and will provide a rich source of 

information for staff to plan future support.   

 
Ninety one staff received training in personalisation, administering the engagement process and conducting 

the support planning.  Forty one members of staff reached the required competencies for personalised 

practice and will receive notification of their accreditation during July and August 2009.  Those staff not 

achieving the accreditation standard will receive a statement outlining areas of improvement and will be 

supported to develop the competencies through supervision and key issues. 

 
1.4.2 Commissioning 

 
Specialist products: Focus Group Methodology and Report, Key Facts Report, Engagement Interview 

Analysis 

 
Objective 

The overall goal of this work package was to establish the commissioning intentions for services currently 

delivered by the in-house care services branch through analysis of quantitative and qualitative data national 

and local data. 

 

Page 220



 15 

Deliverable 

This work package conducted a demand and capacity forecast, developed a framework and analysis of 

focus group activity, conducted the full analysis of the engagement interview data and supported the 

development of the Care Services Strategy document and associated action plan. 

 
10 focus groups were held with carers, people using services, and younger people in transition.  These 

sessions were facilitated by staff and co-facilitated by people with disabilities (See research data). 

 
1.4.3 Pathways 

 
Specialist Products:  Interim Pathways Report 

 
Objective 

The key objective of this work package was to identify and map all current referral pathways into services 

provided by the Care Services Branch.  The process maps were used to identify specific points for capturing 

data in relation to performance, finance and the interface with care management. 

 
Deliverable 

Three workshops were held and grouped as follows: 

• Older People/Physical and Sensory Disabilities 

• Mental Health 

• Learning Disabilities 

 
The workshops involved over 20 staff from Access and Assessment, Care Services and Finance and 

Performance Branch.  

 
All process maps were produced to Business Process Modelling Notation (BPMN) standards. 

Follow-up meetings were held with staff from Finance and Performance Branch, Service Managers – 

Learning Disabilities, Mental Health, Physical and Sensory Disabilities. 

 
1.4.4 Finance 

 
Specialist products:  Cost Comparison matrix for each service function utilising the ‘True Cost of Services 

Toolkit’ developed by the Care Services Efficiency Delivery Team (CSED – Department of Health) 

 
Objective 

The overall goal of this work package was to demonstrate value for money and equivalent costs of specific 

care services functions compared with current external providers for each service function. 

 
Deliverable 

Within each service function staff and managers were involved in identifying the appropriate measures of 

service activity, quality and performance to capture the nature of services provided.  The toolkit helped 

identify any retained cost which should be excluded from the unit cost to ensure an accurate comparison 

was made with the external sector.  The service functions assessed included transport, supported living, 

residential care and day services. Data was captured for analysis within a service, activity/responsibility/cost 

matrix for both internal and external providers.  

Page 221



 16 

 
1.4.5 Asset Management 

 
Specialist product:  Conditions survey, Establishment briefs 

Objective 

This work package was to ensure that the options arising out of the project matched with the aspirations of 

the Strategic Asset Review through the identification of alternative Council assets, or those subject to 

community asset transfer.   

 
Deliverable 

Comprehensive documented information on assets that are currently in use by care services.  List potential 

options/assets either owned by the Council or others, suitable for future service delivery. 

 
1.4.6 Additional project work packages 

 
Two project issues were raised during the course of the project, these issues led to the commissioning of two 

further work packages. 

   
1.4.7 Social Enterprise 

 
Specialist product:  A guide to ‘right to request’ Care Services, Care Services Enterprise Network. 

 
Objective 

This work package was developed in response to the staff consultation ‘Think Tank’.  Its objective was to 

provide staff who had expressed an interest in developing their area of work into a Social Enterprise with a 

full understanding of what a Social Enterprise was and their rights under the organisational model ‘Right to 

Request’ identified as part of the November Cabinet report. 

 
Deliverable 

A guide to ‘Right to Request’ Care Services was developed.  Thirty staff were involved in the Care Services 

Enterprise Network four of these staff groups expressed an interest in the developing Social Enterprises from 

their service area.   

 
1.4.8 Neighbourhood Centres Conference 

 
Specialist Product:  Consultation Conference with associated feedback report 

 
Objective 

To hold a consultation conference to inform the design brief of the 12 Neighbourhood Centres. 

 
Deliverable 

100 delegates attended the conference held on the 7
th
 May 2009, the conference was attended by staff, 

carers and people using Care Services.  Indeed 49% of the audience was made up of people using services 

and/or carers.   

 

 

Page 222



 17 

 

Consultation Questions 

 

This section describes how the information and evidence was gathered to provide an evidence base to 

shape the conclusions. 

 
1. Were these the right workpackages to gather information about the service, individual needs, goals 

and support requirements? 

2. Is there any other information or data you or your organisation can provide which will help us to plan 

these services better? 

3. Are there any other suggestions you would like to make with regard to this section. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 223



 18 

SECTION 2: NATIONAL AND LOCAL INFORMATION 

 
2.1 OVERVIEW 

 
This section describes the national and local information that has been used to shape the proposals for 

future organisational forms and service models set out in Section 3, including: 

 

• Wirral services in the context of national policy directions and regional information on spending patterns 

for adult services (Part 1) 

• Information on current in-house clients collected through the engagement work package within the 

Design & Viability project (Part 2) 

• Information on demographic trends and projections of overall service needs within Wirral (Part 3) 

 
It also identifies current gaps in information which will be needed in future: 

 

• To support future strategic commissioning of these services, including the proposed longer term 

transformation of service models described in section 3. 

• To support effective contract management processes for these services 

• To improve information for assessment and care planning for existing and new clients 

• To support current and future in-house providers of these services to develop robust business processes 

 
PART 1: WIRRAL SERVICES IN THE NATIONAL/ REGIONAL CONTEXT 

 
The project has assessed the current service delivered in Wirral against two kinds of national/ regional 

comparators: 

 

• Service policy for adult social care, to identify the direction of travel for local authorities responsible for 

strategic commissioning  of these services 

• Efficiency data for adult social care, identifying ‘average’ patterns of spend and individual authorities 

differing significantly from this 

 

THE POLICY CONTEXT 

 
2.2 KEY CONCEPTS 

 
Current national policy, expressed through a wide variety of guidance across the health and social care 

sector, maps out a clear direction of travel for agencies responsible for commissioning adult care services. 

 
At its simplest, this can be encapsulated in a small number of key concepts: 

 

• Personalisation 

• User engagement 

• Integration 

• Diversity of provision and market development 

• Performance management 

 

Page 224



 19 

Together, these form a challenging agenda for commissioners, in terms of securing the provision of new 

types of service, and also in changing their own practice to achieve desired outcomes for people who use 

services through effective contracts with providers. 

 
The following sections describe the main policy directions for each of these concepts, and how far they are 

currently reflected in the in-house services forming the subject of this project, and in other related work by 

the Council. The sections also refer to information gathered from people who use services in the course of 

the Design & Viability project, through focus groups and engagement interviews. 

 
2.3 PERSONALISATION 

 
Increasing personalisation and choice has been a key theme in national policy for several years

2
, and now 

encompasses areas such as: 

 

• Mainstreaming person-centred planning for users of all care services
3
 

• Personalised packages of care and support, rather than matching users to large scale, institutional 

services such as day centres or employment schemes 

• Supporting people who use services in their own homes for longer, with individualised support 

• Supporting and encouraging direct payments to users to buy their own social care
4
 

• Personal budgets for people to enable them to plan and purchase their care, with support as necessary 

• Support to enable self-funders to plan their care in the same way as those receiving personal budgets 

 
2.3.1   Current in-house services in Wirral 

 
Currently, Wirral Council’s in-house services are, in the main, not designed to deliver personalised support. 

Supported living services are organised around particular buildings, and do not ‘follow a person’ if he or she 

moves to a different location. Most day services are organised along traditional lines with group activity 

sessions based in a large day centre, with limited scope for users to access a tailor-made programme of 

activities. Consequently, transport services are also organised around set venues and timetables: a flexible 

and  people responsive service is not needed to enable clients to access services as currently provided. 

 
The Council is developing its strategy for increasing and supporting personalisation for people who use 

services through a series of actions including the expansion of direct payments, personal budget pilots and 

so on. In-house service providers have not yet developed a strategy that takes into account the potential 

impact of this shift towards personalisation on their future business. 

 
2.3.2     Clients’ views 

 
Personalisation and choice was a difficult concept for many of the people who participated in the focus 

groups. However, people were able to envisage what they would like to do if they had more control over their 

budget, and this included both changes in the pattern of their everyday care and additional services (short 

                                                      

2
 Putting People First (Department of Health, December 2007)  
3
 Transforming social care (LAC (DH) (2008) 1, January 2008) 
4
 Working Together – public services on your side (HMG, March 2009) 

Page 225



 20 

breaks and holidays, education, or housing were all mentioned).  Many people identified the need for 

effective support to facilitate choice, both in identifying options and in ensuring financial probity. 

 
2.4 USER ENGAGEMENT 

 
The drive for personalisation is to increase control people have over the services they access, but will not 

necessarily empower users to shape how and in what form services are commissioned at the strategic level. 

Increasing user engagement in all stages of commissioning from planning to performance management and 

review is a further strand of policy which has resulted in a number of developments from patient involvement 

in the governance of NHS Foundation Trusts to the growth of older people’s forums influencing local service 

plans
5
. 

 
2.4.1 Current in-house services in Wirral 

 
The Design & Viability Project included an engagement work package, designed to gather information from 

people using in-house services and carers, from basic demographic and service use data to more subtle 

information on their preferences and future aspirations. Achieving this with ‘hard to reach’ people including 

those with high levels of need, and who are often at risk of being marginalised from traditional forms of 

engagement, has required a creative, multi-strand approach including both quantitative and qualitative 

methods.  

 
Output from this work package has been used to develop the proposals for future service commissioning in 

this report. It provides a broad-brush assessment of current clients, but should be seen as only the starting 

point for an ongoing strategy of information management for both commissioners and providers, to address 

existing gaps in information.  

 
The challenge for Wirral Council now is to embed this approach to user engagement in the long term, so that 

clients are meaningfully engaged as current in house services are redeveloped and become more diverse. 

 
2.4.2 Clients’ views 

 
Meaningful engagement (ie a two-way dialogue with visible results that can be related back to that dialogue) 

is appreciated by, and seen as essential by, clients including both those used to contributing through regular 

forums and those who have traditionally not participated in user-led groups for whatever reason. 

 
2.5     Integrated Commissioning 

 
Integration is seen as a key to improved commissioning of health and social care, and agencies are 

encouraged to develop new ways of working to achieve more coherent plans, co-ordinated service 

development and improved performance management
6
. (This is expected to take account of other policies 

on commissioning, such as the introduction of practice based commissioning of NHS services). 

 

                                                      

5
 Our Health, our Care, Our Say (Department of Health, January 2006) 
6
 Commissioning framework for health and well-being (Department of Health, March 2007) 

Page 226



 21 

2.5.1 Service delivery 

 
Recent policy emphasises the importance of delivering integrated care wherever possible, to reduce 

duplication, improve efficiency and ensure a more joined-up service experience for people.  

 
However, there is no single model for how integration should be achieved and in different contexts 

integration is seen as being: 

 

• Between mainstream services and client-specific services (eg delivering day services for people with 

learning disabilities in venues accessed by the general public) 

• Between health and social care (eg intermediate care and rehabilitation for older people leaving hospital) 

• Between health, social care and other public services (eg one stop shops for information and 

signposting) 

 
2.5.2 Current in-house services in Wirral 

 
There has been significant development in the strategic commissioning functions of Wirral Council and 

NHS Wirral, notably the establishment of an integrated commissioning team from April 2009.  

 

At locality level, integrated teams are being established, including GPs, Locality Heads, Principal Managers 

and Integrated Commissioning Managers to take forward local commissioning, and service development. 

 

Currently, provision of Council in-house services is generally not integrated with other services, although 

there are examples (such as intermediate care) where there is joint working across health and social care.  

 
2.5.3 Clients’ views 

 
This project has not specifically sought people’ views about integration: however, national work on user 

experience consistently highlights the importance of effective integration delivering seamless services on the 

ground, and of appropriate  information sharing to minimise the risk of duplication (multiple assessments, 

form filling) and to avoid people ‘falling through the cracks’ between services.  

 
2.6 Diversity of provision and market development 

 
Since the earliest policy shifts towards outsourcing and the ‘purchaser-provider split’ of the 1980s, there has 

been a steady move across health and social care policy towards the development of a mixed economy of 

care, with public sector agencies commissioning services from an increasing range of provider organisations 

from the voluntary, independent and private sectors in addition to, or as an alternative to, public sector 

providers including the in house divisions of local authorities.   

 
One current policy focus is on the continued development a diverse market of social care.   

 
‘Where there is personalisation there must be diversity of provision to support choice.  Where there is choice 

and a mixed economy of provision it is important to obtain efficient practice.  (CSIP 2007) 

 
 

Page 227



 22 

2.6.1 Current in-house services in Wirral 

 
Currently, some areas (such as day services) are significantly dominated by the in-house provider and thus 

there is no local market in place to provide an existing basis for achieving increased diversity. In other areas, 

such as supported living and residential care, the current in-house services form only a small part of the total 

commissioned service. The extent to which current in-house services can or should be delivered by existing 

external providers will depend on a number of factors including the range and diversity of client needs, 

quality and/or capacity of existing providers, and the attractiveness of the service to existing providers (given 

potential TUPE costs and/or existing market rates). These are described in the market analyses for each 

service in section 3 of this report. 

 
DASS and Chief Officers Management Team are supporting guidelines for encouraging the formation of new 

social enterprises formed by Council staff wishing to provide services outside the traditional, in house model.  

A small number of potential enterprises have been identified from within current day services. Work is 

ongoing to explore the potential for these to become fully-fledged social enterprises, alongside the 

development of other organisational forms such as a local authority trading company. 

 

2.6.2 Clients’ views 

 
Many current people using in-house services have a high degree of identification with that service. The 

concept of change is a difficult one and the Council is seen as a trusted source of support and advice in a 

potentially confusing world where providers may not be well known to people. 

 
2.7 Performance management 

 
The policy shifts towards the separation of commissioning and provision, and supply-side diversity, highlight 

the importance of effective systems of performance management in ensuring effective delivery.  

Commissioners themselves, and the outcomes they achieve at local level, are increasingly tightly 

performance managed through central assessments and inspections: the recent merger of health and social 

care inspectorates will undoubtedly increase the assessment focus on integration. 

 
2.7.1 Current in-house services in Wirral 

 
In Wirral, contracts and performance management for in-house services have not developed to the same 

extent as those with external providers. This has led to deficits in the information available about outcomes 

for those using these services, or the value for money achieved by in house providers relative to others. 

There has been no regular system of dialogue between commissioner and provider colleagues to review 

performance, set objectives and drive future service development. 

 
2.7.2 Clients’ views 

 
Not surprisingly, people who use services have not tended to comment on performance management per se, 

although since user experience is a key element of effective performance management, the importance of 

good engagement to users should be seen as relevant here as well. 

 

Page 228



 23 

2.8 EFFICIENCY DATA 

 
Data produced in May 2009 by DH (North West) identify authorities’ pattern of spending on adult social care 

for 2007/08 compared to regional and national patterns 

 
This covers all spending, and not just that on in-house provision, but does provide some additional evidence 

on the extent to which areas are relying on particular service models for the delivery of care and support. 

 
For Wirral, the data shows: 

 

• Overall spend on social care below the regional average  

• Within this, spend on each client group (older people, physical disability, mental health, learning 

disability) also below the regional average 

• Significantly higher spend on residential and nursing care as a proportion of the total than the 

regional average 

• Relatively high proportions of the population in council supported residential and nursing care, 

especially those aged 18-65, compared to the regional average 

• Consequently, spend on domiciliary care below regional average for all 4 client groups 

• Spend on assessment and care management significantly below regional average 

• Relatively low proportion of older people receive social services funded intermediate care
7
 

 
In the context of this project, this data should be interpreted with caution (given the gaps in information on 

current clients as outlined in Part 2 below),  and is changing over the last twelve months as a result of the 

transformation agenda and targeted work programmes to modernise services and practice. 

 

Wirral’s relatively high spend on residential services in the context of spending almost 10% less on social 

care overall as a proportion of total spend than the national average (30% compared to 33%) equates to low 

levels of investment in community services and is consistent with a relatively traditional and institutionally 

focused model of service delivery for in-house services. 

 
The proposals set out in this document are aimed at delivering significant change in this service model over 

time, and are therefore likely to achieve significant changes in the pattern of spending and to align this more 

closely with patterns expected as the outcome of current policy and as part of the wider transformation in 

DASS. 

 
PART 2: IN-HOUSE SERVICES: CURRENT CUSTOMERS 

 
2.9 DATA SOURCES 

 
The original objectives of the Design & Viability project included the production of a detailed analysis of 

future demand based on existing information about people who use in-house services. 

                                                      

7; Better Outcomes and Better Value: efficiency in adult social care and health: data booklet May    
   2009 (DH Northwest) 
 

Page 229



 24 

 
This was not wholly achievable, given the paucity of information collected to date in central data systems 

about this group of clients. 

 
The engagement programme, which had originally been established to provide information about clients’ 

future aspirations and preferred outcomes, was expanded in scope to enable the collection of some basic 

data about current clients including: 

 

• Demographic data 

• History of service use 

• Carer information 

• Dates of most recent assessment and care package review 

 
Results from this expanded programme are set out below. 

 
It should be noted, therefore, that this provides only a top level indication of the scale and level of clients’ 

current needs. Information systems for commissioners and providers have been identified as a key priority 

within the action plan for implementation of the proposals in this report, as set out in Section 5 below. 

 
It should also be noted that this project did not set out to identify the overall needs of particular client groups 

but rather the needs of those currently in receipt of local authority in-house provided care.  The 

commissioning strategy for these services described in this document requires co-ordination with overall 

commissioning across all sectors, and this will include comparison of need and data analysis for all clients. 

 
 

2.10 CURRENT CLIENTS: TOP LEVEL PROFILE 

 
2.10.1 Overview 

 
768 individuals were identified by managers as current users of one or more DASS in-house services. (Note 

that this excludes older people using in-house services based for short term intermediate or respite care, as 

discussed in section 1 above) 

 
Of these, usable data was recorded for 617 people during face to face interviews as part of the engagement 

work package. 

 

2.10.2 Client groups 

The profile of the 617 respondents by client group is shown below.   Note: The LD group includes those who 

have a learning disability plus another form of disability or mental health support need. 

Table 1 

Responses Sex

Group Female Male Grand Total

LD 179 230 409

MH 63 103 166

PSD 22 20 42

Grand Total 264 353 617
Page 230



 25 

Assuming the 617 clients interviewed are roughly typical of the whole client profile, this would mean the 745 

current users would consist of: 

 
494 people with a learning disability  

200 people with a mental health needs 

51 people with a physical or sensory disability 

 
The table below shows the proportions of current customers in each group 

 
Table 2 

 
 

2.10.3 Age profile 

 

The breakdown of the 617 respondents by age and client group is shown below. 

 

 

 

DASS in house service users by client group

Learning disability

66.3%

Mental health

26.9%

Physical/ sensory 

disability

6.8%

Responses Client group

Age group LD MH PSD Grand Total

18-24 7.4% 1.8% 17.1% 6.6%

25-34 17.8% 12.3% 9.8% 15.8%

35-44 28.5% 23.3% 17.1% 26.3%

45-54 25.2% 35.6% 22.0% 27.8%

55-64 15.1% 22.7% 24.4% 17.8%

65-74 4.7% 4.3% 9.8% 4.9%

Over 75 1.2% 0.0% 0.0% 0.8%

Grand Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Page 231



 26 

The smoothed age profile of each group is shown below.  

 

 

 

The profile for LD clients is younger than for MH clients (the number of PSD clients is too small to give a 

realistic profile).  However, it is known than people with a learning disability are likely to develop long term 

health needs at an earlier age than other sectors of the population, so a younger profile for this group should 

not be interpreted as a lower level of need in general. 

 
 

2.10.4 Assessment and care plans 

 
As part of the engagement process, interviewers were asked to record the date of the client’s original written 

assessment for services and the date of the most recent care plan review. 

 
As the figures below show, assessment dates were not recorded for the majority of clients. This is likely to be 

for a variety of reasons, including: 

 

• The date was available but not recorded by the interviewer 

• The date was known, but not made available to the interviewer 

• The date was unknown 

• No written assessment exists for the client 

 

 

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65-74 Over 75

LD

MH

PSD

Responses

Age group

Client group

Page 232



 27 

 Group

Carer age group LD MH PSD Grand Total

25-34 2 2

35-44 5 3 1 9

45-54 39 3 7 49

55-64 64 7 8 79

65-74 46 8 4 58

Over 75 20 3 23

(blank) 4 1 5

Grand Total 180 25 20 225

Table 3 

 

 

A date for the most recent care plan review was recorded for 17 of the 150 people for whom an assessment 

date was recorded. All of these reviews had taken place in 2008 or 2009.  This information reflects the 

historic nature of the many placements and supports provided in segregated centres and the custom of 

reviewing and revising care plans directly through the Care Services Branch. 

 
2.10.5 Carers information 

 
The engagement process included collection of information on carers for each client.  255 people (41.4% of 

the total) were recorded as having a friend or family member as their principal carer.  Of these, 225 (88.2%) 

were living with that person. 

 
The age profile of carers living with a client, by client group, is shown below. 

 
Table 4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

71% of these carers are aged 55 or over 

Group

Date of assessment  LD MH PSD Total

None, or not recorded Respondents 321 107 39 467

% of client group 78.5% 64.5% 92.9% 75.7%

Before 2006 Respondents 2 2

% of client group 0.5% 0.0% 0.0% 0.3%

2006 Respondents 1 1

% of client group 0.2% 0.0% 0.0% 0.2%

2007 Respondents 4 4 1 9

% of client group 1.0% 2.4% 2.4% 1.5%

2008 Respondents 39 30 2 71

% of client group 9.5% 18.1% 4.8% 11.5%

2009 Respondents 42 25 67

% of client group 10.3% 15.1% 0.0% 10.9%

Total Respondents 409 166 42 617

Total % of client group 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Page 233



 28 

 

The chart below shows the smoothed age profile for carers of each client group 

 

 

 

2.10.6 Support need 

 
The engagement process was not a formal assessment of need, but did include questions, similar to those 

which will form part of the Resource Allocation System (RAS) for personal budgets, on the level of support 

required by clients across a number of dimensions including: 

 

• Personal care 

• Daily living 

• Eating and drinking 

• Access to community facilities 

• Maintaining safety for self and others 

• Minimising harm to self and others 

• Parenting (where applicable) 

 

These were then combined into a single measure for indicative purposes only of the potential level of 

support needed by each client: 

 
High: requiring intensive/ frequent support across most dimensions 

 
Medium: requiring intensive/ frequent support in at least one dimension, or low level/ infrequent support 

across most dimensions   

 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65-74 Over 75 (blank)

LD

MH

PSD

Carer living with client Yes

Carer age group

Group

Page 234



 29 

Low: requiring low level/ infrequent support across one or two dimensions only 

The table below shows the overall support need for each client group. (Note: it is recognised that the current 

RAS is being revised to reflect more cognitive support required for people with mental health needs, and this 

may lead to inappropriately low levels of need identified for people in the MH group). 

 

Looking only at clients identified through the Supported Living service, only 9 fitted into the Low group using 

this indicator, as opposed to 16 identified as unlikely to fit the FACS criteria for ongoing support; this 

apparent inconsistency requires further analysis.    

 

Table 5 

 

 

PART 3:  INDICATORS OF FUTURE NEED 

 
2.11 KEY DEMOGRAPHIC PROJECTIONS 

 
This section includes analysis of the main demographic changes likely to have an impact on the future 

demand for adult care services, and therefore on the environment within which current in-house services will 

operate in future. 

 
More work is required to identify the implications of these demographic trends on the specific demand for in-

house services, as part of the development of future commissioning strategy.  

 
2.11.1 Age structure 

 
The Wirral population is ageing and in the next 10-15 years there will be significant increases in the total 

number of older people in the borough as shown in the projections below. By 2025, nearly a quarter of the 

total Wirral population will be aged 65 or over. 

 
Compared to today’s older population, there will be significantly greater numbers in future, especially in the 

very old (likely to be those with the greatest level of need). Compared to 2008, there will be 21% more over-

85s by 2015 and 64% more by 2025. 

 

 

 

Client group

Overall support need Data LD MH PSD Total

High Respondents 144 11 10 165

% of client group 35.2% 6.6% 23.8% 26.7%

Medium Respondents 238 73 28 339

% of client group 58.2% 44.0% 66.7% 54.9%

Low Respondents 27 82 4 113

% of client group 6.6% 49.4% 9.5% 18.3%

Total Respondents 409 166 42 617

Total % of client group 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Page 235



 30 

Table 6: projected population of older people in Wirral, 2008-2025, plus some England comparators 

 

  2008 2010 2015 2020 2025

Total population 310,800 310,800 311,400 312,900 314,300

Population aged 65 and over 58,300 59,800 66,200 70,800 76,000

Population aged 85 and over 8,100 8,500 9,800 11,300 13,300

Population aged 65 and over, % 18.76% 19.24% 21.26% 22.63% 24.18%

England 16.08% 16.41% 17.88% 18.74% 19.87%

Population aged 85 and over, % 2.61% 2.73% 3.15% 3.61% 4.23%

England 2.19% 2.26% 2.49% 2.80% 3.28%

Population growth on 2008           

Population aged 65 and over … 2.57% 13.55% 21.44% 30.36%

England … 3.68% 17.33% 27.58% 39.95%

Population aged 85 and over … 4.94% 20.99% 39.51% 64.20%

England … 5.12% 19.97% 40.01% 69.94%

 

Source : POPPI (adapted) 

 

Note that Wirral currently has a higher older population than the England average, and that the gap will 

widen in future, despite the slower growth in the actual numbers in older age groups in the Wirral population: 

this is accounted for by relatively smaller projected increase in the Wirral population than in England as a 

whole. 

 

Projected population growth, older people, 2008-2025

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

60.00%

70.00%

80.00%

2008 2010 2015 2020 2025

%
 g
ro
w
th
 o
n
 2
0
0
8
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n

Wirral (65+)

England (65+)

Wirral (85+)

England (85+)

 

Page 236



 31 

Wirral population: 2008-2025 by age group

0

50000

100000

150000

200000

250000

300000

350000

2008 2010 2015 2020 2025

85+

65-84

Under 65

 

 

2.11.2 Learning disability 

 

There are several potential starting points for estimating the rise in the numbers of people with a learning 

disability in Wirral: 

 

• Using national estimates of the prevalence of learning disabilities in the general population, Wirral would 

be expected to have around 5,200 people with any learning disability, of whom 1,250 would have a 

severe disability requiring specialist learning disability services (ie health and/or social care services 

targeted specifically at people with a learning disability) (source: JSNA) 

• Work in 2004/05, based on and projected from those actually known to services locally, indicated that 

there may be approximately 2,100 Wirral residents with a severe learning disability, suggesting a 

relatively high prevalence in the borough as a whole (source: LD joint commissioning strategy, 2006/09). 

• There are currently just over 1,600 people with a learning disability using specialist services in Wirral in 

2007 (source: PCT). If the projected prevalence of 2,100 is accurate, this suggests a significant 

proportion of people with a potential need for specialist LD services who are not currently known to 

agencies.  

• Only 1,160 people are identified as having a learning disability on GP registers (source: JSNA). 

• The engagement process identified 409 people with a learning disability currently accessing in house 

services (projected to 494 to take account of non-respondents within the total client base) 

 

Future projections are that the numbers of people with a learning disability will rise, and that the rise will be 

particularly marked in older age groups. 

 

Over the period 2001- 2021 it is predicted that nationally there will be a: 

 

• 16% increase in people with severe learning disabilities; 

• 22% increase in people with mild to moderate learning disabilities. 

Page 237



 32 

• This increase in numbers is significant in older people: 

• 62% increase in people with moderate learning disabilities aged 60-79 by 2021 

• 95% increase in those over 80. 

 
Applying a rough estimate of change in the next 10 years to the current number of approximately 1,600 

people using specialist services in Wirral gives an additional 70-80 people using specialist learning 

disability services by 2019 compared to 2008, of whom:  

 

• 50-60 fewer are aged 15-24 

• 15-20 more are aged 25-54 

• 80-90 more are aged 55-74 

• 25-30 more are aged 75+ 

 
(This assumes no change in the mix of disabilities using specialist services, and also that the current age 

profile of clients is representative of the prevalence in the population as a whole). 

 
2.11.3 Mental health 

 
Working age  

 
The declining proportion of people in working age groups in Wirral over the next few years means that, 

assuming no change in eligibility criteria, there is a projected decrease in the number of working age adults 

receiving support to live at home, or in a care home, and thus most likely to be accessing other care and 

support services, as shown below 

 
Older people with dementia 

 
The overall increase in the numbers of older people in Wirral shown in section 1 above will also lead to 

significant increases in the number of people with dementia.  

 
Table 7: projected population in Wirral with mental health problems, 2008-2025 

2008 2010 2015 2020 2025

People aged 18-64 with mental health 

problems helped to live at home 683 681 661 645 629

People aged 18-64 with mental health 

problems in residential and nursing care 

during the year, purchased or provided by 

the CSSR 160 160 155 151 148

Total population aged 65 and over 

predicted to have dementia 
4,266 4,408 4,819 5,343 6,053

 

Source: POPPI/ PANSI 

 

 

 

Page 238



 33 

2.11.4 Physical and sensory disability  

 
As with working age people with mental health needs, the numbers of working age people with significant 

physical or sensory disabilities is likely to show a small decrease in the next 10-15 years. This will be 

outweighed by the numbers in older age groups with physical and/or sensory disabilities and requiring help 

with daily living. 

 
Table 8: projected population in Wirral with physical or sensory disabilities, 2006-2025 

2008 2010 2015 2020 2025

People aged 18-64 with a physical or 

sensory disability helped to live at home 886 883 857 836 816

People aged 18-64 with a physical or 

sensory disability in residential and nursing 

care during the year, purchased or 

provided by the CSSR 130 130 126 123 120

Total population aged 18-64 predicted to 

have a serious visual impairment 120 120 116 113 111

Total population aged 65 and over unable 

to manage at least one mobility activity on 

their own 9,304 9,536 10,384 11,264 12,640

People aged 65 to 74 predicted to have a 

moderate or severe visual impairment 1,641 1,686 1,926 2,005 1,960

People aged over 75 predicted to have a 

moderate or severe visual impairment 3,596 3,683 3,943 4,340 5,084

 

Source: POPPI/PANSI 

Consultation Questions 

 

This section describes national and local information that has been used to shape the conclusions. 

 
1. Has the current policy direction at a local and national level been fully understood and reflected in 

this section? 

2. Does this section make a fair assessment of the current position of in-house services against the 

national and local policy? 

3. Does the data collected provide a sufficient profile of Wirral’s population in terms of ethnicity, 

disability, age, gender, religion and sexual orientation? 

4. Are there any other sets of information that should be taken into account? 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 239



 34 

SECTION 3  ORGANISATIONAL FORM AND SERVICE MODELS 

 

In distilling the project objectives, two key activities have been the focus of the work.   The first has been to 

design the future shape of the services. The second has been to assess its viability/sustainability in the 

context of personal budgets and the need for choice and diversity in the market. 

 
Personal budgets holders will be able to make their own decisions about which services they want, whether 

they hold their budget directly or the Council manages the budget on their behalf.  If individuals choose to 

use their Personal Budget to commission services outside the Council control this leaves in-house services 

vulnerable and increasingly expensive.  Indeed the ability to adapt and flex in the world of individually 

commissioned care is the significant driver behind considering these organisational forms.  Retaining the 

existing services within Wirral Council, including all the current unit costs, would effectively result in a 

situation where the Council would be paying for personal budgets whilst at the same time paying for directly 

provided services.  This could lead to double running costs and an unsustainable set of services. 

 

3.1 Organisational Form 

 

The Cabinet Report outlined three organisational forms as potential options within the initial feasibility study.  

These were ‘Arms Length, ‘Right to Request’ Social Enterprise, Tender to Private Sector.  The project has 

identified a fuller range of options.  In understanding these, and the markets in which care service operate, 

this report proposes that where services continue to be commissioned, consideration is given to transferring 

them to a Local Authority Trading Company (LATC).   This organisational form is potentially well suited to 

accommodate personal budgets, encouraging diversity in the market and enabling the services to work more 

closely with the voluntary and community sector, whilst still providing the assurance required by 

stakeholders.  A full and comprehensive business must be prepared and presented before any Cabinet the 

decision to trade could be made.
8
 

 

Figure 2 represents the overall types of models of service which could be available as options: 

 

  In  ‘Arms Length’                   Local   Social Enterprise Tender  Trade  

House     Authority                         to                Sale                                                           

                                                                 Trading                                                     Private 

                                                                Company                                                    Sector 

 

 

Low                                                                                                                                                    High 

Risk Transfer 

Level of Autonomy 

Commercial Exposure 

                                                      

8
 General Power for Local Authorities to Trade in Function Related Activities Through a Company – 
Guidance on the Power in the Local Government Act 2003:  ODPM 2004 

Page 240



 35 

3.2         Local Authority Trading Company 

 

3.2.1 Benefits/Opportunities 
 

In considering the options for the future of the services, there are a number of potential benefits and 

opportunities of transferring services to a Local Authority Trading Company
9
 

 

• These services remain intact, but are able to trade and compete with other market competitors 

• It encourages a ‘mixed economy’ of supply that enables local authority clients to make the best use of 

the market place to obtain the most appropriate service solution.  

• It has the potential to introduce new providers into the market for local authority services which serves to 

increase competition and contestability 

• It provides the opportunity for efficient and effective local authorities to exploit their knowledge, skills and 

expertise 

• It has the potential of supporting relationships between local government and voluntary and community 

sectors. 

• These service can generate additional business through trading with non Adult Care clients, eg private 

individuals 

• These services maintain the vital function of being the ‘provider of last resort’ in cases of emergency or 

market failure, and will allow the Council to satisfy its statutory duty; 

• Other considered options to transfer to the market, such as open tender, and social enterprise are still 

available options in the future. 

• Supports the development of Adult Social Services becoming a commissioning-led organisation which 

strategically develops markets to support individuals.  It will help achieve it and relocating directly 

provided services but retaining Strategic and Operational Commissioning functions.  This will remove 

any conflicts of interest commissioners might encounter or be perceived to incur by companies in the 

market. 

 
Wirral Council is able to establish a Local Authority Trading Company (LATC) through its powers under 

section 95 of the Local Government Act 2003.   

 
The 2003 Act allows Local Authorities to establish commercial arms as separate Companies under the 

Companies Act, as long as at least 51% of the shareholding of the LATC remains with the Council.  It means 

staff TUPE to the new company, where this applies, and all the standard conventions and arrangements 

associated with this are upheld.   

 
The Act makes a number of stipulations regarding the power to trade: 

 

• It does not override the statutory service obligations of a local authority; 

• It does not supersede other trading powers a local authority may have; 

                                                      

9
 Local Authority Trading: Research Report, Department for Communities and Local Government :London 

(2007) 

Page 241



 36 

• The power can only be exercised through a company; 

• The Secretary of State has the right to impose conditions on the exercise of trading power and can 

remove statutory barriers to the exercise of the trading power. 

• The power to trade is granted only to local authorities with a CPA Rating of ‘excellent’, ‘good’, or ‘fair’; 

• That a local authority is permitted to trade in anything that it is authorised to do under its ordinary 

functions; 

• A local authority must recover the costs of any accommodation, goods, services, staff or any other thing 

that it supplies to a company to exploit the power to trade; 

• That a business case must be prepared before the power to trade is exercised and in the case the 

Council, approved by Cabinet. 

 

The legal implications of the proposals are linked to the potential risks of the market being unable or 

unwilling to sustain the businesses required to enable Wirral Council to fulfil its statutory duties.  There are 

also potential risks in relation to quality control and protection of customers.  Thus it is imperative that there 

is full consideration of the risks and their implications, as well as the potential investment costs of developing 

such an organisation. 

 
3.3 Service Models 

 
The Care Service Branch is currently responsible for 7 specific service functions, delivered through a variety 

of different management, staffing and accommodation arrangement. Appendix 3 sets these out with 

associated details of workforce, budget and unit costs (prior to redesign). 

 
These models have been informed by national and local commissioning guidance, commissioning data 

(Section 2), qualitative data provided through the Engagement process, focus groups, staff consultation.  

Reports on each of these consultations are held in separate appendices.    

 
The proposals below would have significant staffing and financial implications, including any costs related to 

protection of salary, redundancy/voluntary severance.  Every effort would be made to redeploy staff in the 

first instance, where possible. 

 
Recruitment, redeployment and where appropriate redundancy/voluntary severance arrangements will be in 

line with Corporate Policy, having followed appropriate consultation with the Trade Unions involved. Before 

any decision is made each individual proposal will be considered in detail before approval is requested/given 

to ensure that the post can be deleted, used as ‘bumped redundancy’ to allow another employee to remain in 

employment or whether the employee can be redeployed. 

 
3.4        Transport 

 
The Cabinet report (6.11.09) identified efficiencies to be achieved within this service as follows: 

 

2009/10   -   £180,000 

2010/11  -    £180,000 

Page 242



 37 

The report outlined that efficiency may be achieved through open tender, with the potential of further 

efficiency being achieved through the reduction in the use of transport as a result of personal budgets. 

Following the application of the ‘True Cost for Service Toolkit’, the unit cost for service showed little 

differential between the independent sector when based on activity, performance and considering the nature 

of services.  

Unit Cost  

 

DASS    -  £5.14 (Revised) 

Independent Sector  - £4.29 

 

These unit costs considered against the current market factors, the corporate transport review, TUPE 

implications, the outcome of the Equality Impact Assessment and the commitment to implement personal 

budgets leads to the following conclusions: 

 

Conclusions 

Views are invited on the desirability of the following: 

1. DASS transport service to be outsourced as vehicles become due for lease renewal and staff retire. 

2. In addition DASS supports the development of single Corporate Transport Unit  

 and/or: 

3. That the Transport Service to include in any proposal to develop a Local Authority Trading Company. 

4. DASS should in addition conduct annual reviews of the service, until such time that recommendation 

2 or 3 are enacted. 

Any alternative views from stakeholders or partners should be considered. 

 

 

Consultation Questions 

 
1. Are the conclusions for the Transport Service the right ones? 

2. Are there any other options which would help ensure that people could receive a more personal 

service whilst still providing value for money for people with a personal budget? 

3. Are there specific issues or barriers that this service needs to consider and address in relation to 

ethnicity, disability, age, gender, religion and sexual orientation? 

4. Are there any other views or suggestions you would like to be considered? 

 
3.5 Supported Living 

 
Supported Living or housing with support are terms which mean that a person has their own home and 

support is put in place to help them live independently. This could mean that they are supported for a few 

hours a week, everyday, overnight or 24 hours a day. The support should be carefully planned to meet their 

needs to live independently. 

 
The staffing structure supporting the current arrangements has been broadly based on a more ‘traditional’ 

model, as a result of history (developing from the reprovision of residential care) rather than specifically 

designed around individual need. 

Page 243



 38 

 
 Whilst some of the properties have taken up the use of assistive technology, this has not been applied 

across all.  The technology has been shown to be extremely successful across all client groups 

demonstrating better outcomes for people by promoting independence, contributing to the process of 

assessment and supporting, efficient use of resources.   

 
83 tenants within supported living had an engagement interview involving assessment and support planning. 

This process identified 16 people as ineligible for services i.e not falling with the Fair Access to Care 

Criteria
10
.   The Department however, is contracted to provide Supporting People Services, i.e low level 

housing support and will continue to do so for the length of time the contract is in place. 

The service is currently known as an ‘accommodation based service’ with a static staff group associated with 

each house/area.  The majority of people within each house attend day services, with some having a day at 

home known as a ‘rehab’ day.   

 
Staff consultation highlighted some of the inflexibility within the support arrangements reflecting that it would 

be more helpful if staff could target their interventions more appropriately across housing arrangements; this 

issue was exacerbated at time of sickness and leave.   

 
Financial Analysis 

 
The Cabinet Report (6.11.08) identified efficiencies to be achieved within this service as follows: 

 
2009/10  -  £347,000 
2010/11  -  £347,000  
 
The report outlined that efficiency may be achieved through a two stage tender process. 

Following the application of the ‘True Cost for Service Toolkit’, the unit cost for service showed the following 

differential between in-house services and those currently commissioned externally. 

 
Unit Cost 

DASS   - £29.08 
Independent sector - £13.18 
 
To calculate a unit cost per hour that is comparable to the independent sector, it has been necessary to 

identify the time spent by staff in face-to-face contact with the clients.  This information was not previously 

available and so has been estimated by the Supported Living managers and been checked by the Service 

Manager to ensure it is within expected support levels the clients are receiving.  The gross costs of the 

service have also been calculated, by excluding any recharge and notional costs following best practise as 

outlined by CSED (as these costs would still be incurred by the Council regardless of the outcome of the 

review).  The costs of Night Care Assistants has also been excluded from the gross costs, as this service is 

not included in the independent sector charging policy that is being used in the comparison.  The gross cost 

is divided by 52 weeks and then further divided by the number of face-to-face hours being provided per week 

to calculate the unit cost per hour for Supported Living.   

                                                      

10
 Fair Access to Care – Guidance on eligibility criteria for adult social care 

www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_4009653 

Page 244



 39 

Market Analysis 

 
There are 42 accredited independent sectors providers of which 29 are currently contracted to provide 

services for DASS.  The Department has recently made interim arrangements with the contracted providers 

and is in the process of developing a new contract with the option to re-tender later in the current financial 

year.  Until the final arrangements and outcome are known it would be inappropriate to consider placing new 

business into the market whilst it is in transition. 

 

Conclusions 

Views are invited on the desirability of: 
 
1. The Supported Living Service moving towards a ‘floating support service’, with a focus on community 

support and less reliance on traditional day centre attendance.  This realignment of service will be 

supported by individuals choice of day time support exercised through personal budgets.  A 

suggested structure is set out in figure 2. 

 
Through a single manager the suggested structure allows for consistency of approach across the 

services.  Targeting Level 3 support workers (increase from 257 – 368) to co-ordinate a new level of 

enabling assistants (Homecare grade), whose focus will be to support people in their own home in 

daily living and enablement.  The role of senior care assistant to be deleted.   Level 2 Support 

workers to be reduced from 1890 by 1450 hours, these staff to deliver a range of services which are 

community based (eg. employment, accessing facilities, education etc) therefore input should be 

short and focussed.     

 
 
2. That following implementation of realignment the service should consider  two options in relation to 

the future organisational models 

 
a) Pursue open tender if the department re-tenders with a new contract for Supported  Living  

 or: 

b) To become part of the newly formed Local Authority Trading Company 

 

Other views regarding the future of the service should be considered. 

 

 

Consultation Questions 

 
1. Is the conclusion with regard to the Supported Living Service the right one? 

2.  Are there any other options which would help to ensure that people could receive a more personal 

service, whilst still providing value for money for people with a personal budget? 

3. Are there specific issues or barriers that these conclusions need to take account of in relation to 

ethnicity, disability, age, gender, religion and sexual orientation? 

4. Are there any other ideas or suggestions you would like to be considered with regard to this 

service? 

Page 245



 40 

Administrator 

Area Co-ordinators 
Level 3 Area Co-ordinator 

Level 3 

Area Co-ordinators 

Level 3 

Wallasey Area West Wirral Birkenhead 

Support Workers 

Level 2 

Enabler Care 

Assistants 

Support Workers 

Level 2 

Support Workers 

Level 2 

Enabler Care 

Assistants 

Enabler Care 

Assistants 

Manager 

• Level 3 Co-ordinators will work between 8.00am-11.00pm 

• Baseline of 1 enabler in each unit between 7.30am-10.30pm (will be some variance dependent on specific needs, occupancy etc) with the exception of 
Thomas Court and Balls Road, which will have 4 hours per day support 

• Sleep-ins arrangements to remain 

• On-call system to be developed for management cover as currently exists in residential services 

• Co-ordinators and enablers to work flexibly across units within areas 

• Enablers to work flexibly within hours, according to varying requirements of service (i.e. remove rigid rota system and introduce flexible working within 
“bands” e.g. 7.30am-2.00pm; 1.30pm-8.00pm; 7.30pm-10.30pm 

 

Figure 2. 

P
a
g

e
 2

4
6



 
 

41 

3.6  Intermediate Care/Respite 

 
Poulton and Pensall 

 
Residential intermediate care and respite care is currently provided at Pensall House and Poulton House.  

The future commissioning intentions for Intermediate Care are due to be reported to Cabinet.  That report will 

recommend the commissioning of a total of 32 dual registered beds from the external care market.  These 

beds would be distributed amongst the 3 localities according to need.  The beds would be ‘managed’ by 

Community Matrons from each locality in association within ‘virtual ward’ protocols with the numbers of beds 

increasing and decreasing over time in response to service development and changing need. 

 
This proposal, if approved would imply that intermediate care provision within these two establishments 

should be decommissioned (37 beds).  The rationalisation of respite provision (25 beds) would then need to 

be considered, in the context of the market for residential care. 

 
The existing building at Poulton House has a limited life – as previously reported to Cabinet.  With 

investment, however, this site may offer an opportunity, particularly within the context of the nearby 

development of the former Somerville Campus of being the location of a Dementia Centre for Wirral. 

 
 
Market Analysis 

 
In the past three years the capacity within the residential care market has continued to increase with 

occupancy levels in 2007 at 92% reducing to 80% in for the first quarter of 2009.  This represents 212 

vacancies in the 65+ residential care market, suggesting that there is ample capacity to accommodate 

respite provision now and into the future. These figures take account of 96 interim bed placements over the 

winter period which indicates that the market is willing and able to accommodate short-term placements at 

current costs. 

 
In addition, over the next two years, there will be an additional 119 extra care units available for older people.  

This is a preferred option for many older people who wish to remain living independently but who require up 

to 24 hours support. 

 
At present respite provision is commissioned from only Pensall and Poulton, commissioning respite care 

across the Wirral will encourage a wide choice of facility.  

 
Financial Analysis 

 
Under the proposal decided above, Intermediate Care would be commissioned by NHS Wirral and DASS 

jointly.   The re-commissioning of external locality provision residential and nursing provision may take place 

during 2010.  The average unit cost for residential intermediate care is set out below, there is no local 

residential intermediate care comparator.  

 

Unit cost 

Pensall  Hse -   £645 p.w  

Poulton Hse -  £523 p.w 

Page 247



 
 

42 

 
Respite Care is commissioned from both in-house and external residential providers.  The unit cost of 

Pensall and Poulton respite is the same as above, the independent sector equivalent costs rated at the 

highest banding i.e band 3 are highlighted below: 

 
Independent Sector - £416.29 

 

Conclusions 

 

If a proposal for NHS Wirral to jointly commission 32 dual registered intermediate care beds is approved 

there are significant implications for Poulton House and Pensall House.  In this context views are sought on 

the desirability of: 

 
1. Decommissioning Poulton House and Pensall House, supporting the development of locality based 

dual registered intermediate care beds.   

2. Commissioning all further respite provision for older people from the external residential care market. 

3. Undertaking a feasibility study to establish if the site of Poulton House would be appropriate for the 

development of a dementia resource centre. 

4. Relocating respite for people with learning disabilities to Pensall House. 

Other views from stakeholders and partners should be invited. 

 

 

Consultation Questions 

 

1. Are the proposals to commission intermediate care from within locality based dual registered   

provision the right ones? 

 
2.  Have you any concerns if Pensall and Poulton House no longer provide respite and intermediate     

Care?  If so, what are they? 

 
3. In light of the new National and Local Dementia Strategies (see Section 3.8) what do you think the 

advantages may be of having a dementia centre within the Wallasey locality? 

 
4. Are there any other options which would help ensure that people could receive a more personal 

service whilst still providing value for money for people with a personal budget? 

 
5.  Are there specific issues or barriers that these conclusions need to take account of in relation    to 

ethnicity, disability, age, gender, religion and sexual orientation? 

 

6. Are there any other ideas or suggestions you would like to be considered with respect to this 

service?  

 

 

Page 248



 
 

43 

3.7 Mapleholme 

 
Mapleholme offers 24 hour respite and 20 day care places for people with learning disabilities.  In 2008 the 

‘take a break’ scheme was implemented which involved issuing vouchers according to assessed need. This 

does not alter the assessed entitlement but provides increased flexibility on when to take breaks eg.   

midweek breaks; breaks at short notice; extended or shorter breaks around individual preference and need. 

 

The scheme offers carers the opportunity to enjoy events and activities at short notice and to take advantage 

of mid week offers from holiday companies. It also offers the flexibility to access Mapleholme on any day of 

the week and to extend the stay beyond the usual two weeks. Most importantly it aims to deliver a service 

when carers are ready for a much needed break, offering flexibility in the timing. 

 
Forty people using the service accessed the voucher scheme.  Whilst carers have reflected on the benefit 

and support Mapleholme offers, some individuals using the service indicated that Mapleholme would not be 

their choice of respite care.   This suggests that this group of people may wish to take up alternative respite 

care through the use of their personal budget.   

 
Market Analysis 

 
There are currently 200 residential care beds in the market for people with learning disabilities; of those 6 are 

vacant, and considering past trends and demographic data, capacity is unlikely to change over the 

foreseeable future.  The engagement and consultation process however, suggests that individuals may well 

consider traditional forms of respite break, particularly with the greater choice and control that personal 

budgets will offer. 

 
Financial Analysis 

 
The gross unit cost of Mapleholme is £1,241 p.w.   The cost of residential care for people with learning 

disabilities is negotiated on an individual basis between the provider and the care manager, the average unit 

cost being £837.10 per week. 

 
 

Conclusions 

 
1. That views be sought on the desirability of the respite service (Mapleholme –Beckwith Street, 

Birkenhead) being moved to Pensall House as both the conditions and the standards within this 

building are far superior to those at the Beckwith Street site, with all residents having access to en-

suite facilities. (This suggestion is dependant on a change of use of Pensall House – as discussed 

above). 

 
2. The ‘take a break’ scheme within Mapleholme has already demonstrated a more effective use of 

respite care, meeting the needs of people using services and their carers in a more personalised 

way.   This scheme could now be extended to all using Mapleholme. 

 

Other views from stakeholders and partners should be invited. 

 

Page 249



 
 

44 

 

Consultation Questions 

 

1. Are the conclusions the right ones? 

2. Do you have any concerns about these conclusions and what could we do to address them?  

3. Are there any other options which would help ensure that people could receive a more personal 

service whilst still providing value for money for people with a personal budget? 

4. Are there specific issues or barriers that these conclusions need to take account of in relation to 

ethnicity, disability, age, gender, religion and sexual orientation? 

5. Are there any other ideas or suggestions you would like to be considered with regard to this 

service? 

 

3.8 Meadowcroft 

 
Meadowcroft offers respite and day care with 5 permanent places being occupied at present for older people 

with dementia.    

 
Market Analysis 

 
In the past three years the capacity within the residential care market i.e residential home registered to 

accommodate ‘EMI’ needs has averaged 83% or 43 vacant beds.  Even in the area of nursing ‘EMI’ there 

has been a steady reduction in the number of placements.  The day service has never achieved full capacity 

averaging 12 people per day significantly reducing at the weekend. 

 
Financial Analysis 

 
Unit comparison: 

Meadowcroft  - £629.00 

Independent Sector - £444.99 

 

Conclusions 

 
1. The unit cost of independent residential care is significantly below the in-house costs. The market 

analysis suggests that the level of capacity in the market is sufficient to accommodate additional 

respite care.  In this context views are sought on the desirability of decommissioning Meadowcroft 

and commissioning respite provision from the external market.  This would also support a far wider 

choice of respite care in a variety of homes.  The implementation of personal budgets will bring a 

further dimension, in that over time, people will choose to spend their budget on different kinds of 

respite rather than the traditional residential provision.  Day care to be sourced from the independent 

sector or are new Dementia Centre. 

Other views from stakeholders and partners should be invited. 

 

 

 

 

Page 250



 
 

45 

Consultation Questions 

 

1. Are the conclusions the right ones? 

2. Do you have any concerns about these conclusions, and what could we do to address them?  

3. Are there any other options which would help ensure that people could receive a more personal 

service whilst still providing value for money for people with a personal budget? 

4. Are there specific issues or barriers that these conclusions need to take account of in relation to 

ethnicity, disability, age, gender, religion and sexual orientation? 

5. Are there any other views or suggestions you would like to be considered with regard to this 

service? 

 

3.9 Fernleigh 

 
Fernleigh offers 8 planned respite beds and 4 crisis beds for people with mental health needs.   The facility 

has the physical capacity to accommodate 19 people, however the staff complement transferred from the 

original resource Rosewarne can only support a total of 12 people.   

 
Analysis of the bed usage suggests occupancy levels of 100%, however closer analysis shows that 4 of the 

planned respite beds have been accommodating people for some considerable time, with a housing need 

rather than a need for respite. 

 
Whilst the use of crisis and planned beds remains consistent during the week, the use of planned beds 

increases at the weekend.  A number of hypothesis have been put forward, one is that this reflects the lack 

of availability of seven day support, however the increase is not reflected in the crisis beds usage.   

 
This is an extremely expensive resource with a current unit cost of in excess of £1,286. There is no market 

comparator as the need for this service is predominately available to meet health needs i.e admission 

avoidance.  

 

Conclusions 

 

There has been some discussion with commissioners about the further utilisation of this resource to support 

the reduction of hospital admissions, however at this point there are no firm plans for this to take place.  

Should this be identified at a later date, the investment in this resource should be funded by the NHS Wirral. 

 
Indeed at this present time the resource is funded by DASS.  In the first instance discussion should take 

place to agree the future funding arrangement of this resource with a significant contribution being sought 

from NHS Wirral.   

 
Views on the service are invited. 

 

 

 

 

Page 251



 
 

46 

 

3.10 Residential Care 

 
This section includes all provision whose predominant service function is residential care.  However, 

proposals and conclusions put forward in this section will take account of other provision which may be 

available within the accommodation eg. respite, day care. 

Girtrell Court is a respite and residential home for adults aged 18 upwards with a permanent or substantial 

physical disability.  All but one of the current residents also has a learning disability.  This is a purpose built, 

single storey home with 20 rooms, a communal lounge and dining area set in large grounds. 

 
Sylvandale is a residential home for adults over the age over 18 with a learning disability. The home is a 

purpose built home with 23 rooms.   It is divided into 4 smaller houses and a self contained flat each 

comprising lounge and dining area. 

 
Manor Road is a residential home for adults’ aged 18 with a learning disability. It is an adapted mid terraced 

2 storey house with provision for 4 people. The home comprises communal lounge and dining areas with a 

secluded garden to the rear. 

 
Valuing People Now

11
 asserts that: ‘ Too few people with learning disabilities have a choice as to where they 

live or with whom, and too few have homes of their own, with rights as tenants or owners, compared to the 

general adult population’ 

 
This view was supported by staff working within the residential sector.  They felt that the residents they 

supported would significantly benefit if people were enabled to move out of residential care and into 

supported living situations within the community. 

 
Financial Analysis 
 
The average unit cost of the residential establishments above is: 

DASS   - £1,070 
Independent Sector - £837 
 
Market Analysis  
 
There are currently 200 residential care beds in the market for people with learning disabilities of those 6 are 

vacant, and considering past trends and demographic data, capacity is unlikely to change over the 

foreseeable future.   In the context of Valuing People Now, and personalisation it is not suggested that it 

would be right to outsource the service in its current form.  The conclusion outlined below indicates re-

modelling to supported living would be a more suitable option.   

 

 

 

 

                                                      

11
 Valuing People Now: A new three year strategy for people with learning disabilities 

   http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Consultations/Liveconsultations/DH_081014 
 

Page 252



 
 

47 

 

Conclusion 

 

The current residents of Girtrell Court and Sylvandale should be offered a similar opportunity that the tenants 

of West Wirral, Birkenhead and Wallasey were offered some years ago i.e to move into supported living, and 

have a tenancy with a housing association.  In addition residents at Manor Road should be given the 

opportunity of either becoming tenants in their current property or alternatively within individual or group living 

arrangements.  

 

This is an opportunity to move beyond the ‘group living’ arrangements currently in place.  Many individuals, 

including those with the most complex needs, are successfully being supported in their own homes.   

Supported living has opened up access to a much wider range of housing options for some people with 

learning difficulties, including ‘general needs’, social housing and even home-ownership.   

 

In total 39 people with learning disabilities and variable levels of physical disability would need to be found 

new accommodation, this figure does not include the individuals living at Manor Road. Dependent on the 

outcome of individual housing needs assessments, consideration of alternative accommodation may be 

appropriate or the transfer of the current building to a Registered Social Landlord (RSL) may be feasible.  

Property requirements may range from ‘general needs’ housing, through to individual tenancies or the 

opportunity for group living arrangements.   

The following issues will need to be considered: 

 
1.  The extent to which current properties will need to be used as capital input from the Council.  All  

arrangements would need to be line with the Council’s disposal policy approved by Cabinet 

(19.3.09) 

2. The timescale of delivery, in the context that the Government has brought forward funding for new 

developments to stimulate the housing market. 

3. The potential requirement for Housing Corporation Grant, in the context of priority ranking for other 

supported housing schemes. 

4.  Identification of facilities within the newly developing extra care scheme for the provision of respite 

care for   people with physical and sensory disabilities e.g the Somerville Road Extra Care scheme 

will have adapted bungalows available for rental by the Department of Adult Social Services to 

accommodate individuals.   It may be at a future date these individuals will chose to use a 

personal budget to make alternative arrangements. 

 
Staff support delivered to the new tenancies would be provided by the new supported living services (See 

section 3.5) with staff from the residential sector assimilated into this team.  Each new tenant would be 

entitled to a range of benefits to support their daily living and accommodation costs and may well choose a 

personal budget to determine their individual support needs.   To sum up – views are sought on the 

desirability that this Authority should: 

 

1.  Identify and confirm housing/support needs for all residents in the above properties 

2. Commence discussion with Registered Social Landlords through the Department of Regeneration 

Page 253



 
 

48 

to identify potential options/accommodation to meet individual needs.  This will be co-ordinated 

thorough the Core Strategy Development Group 

3 Reassess the staffing complement during the transition period to ensure that suitable numbers of 

staff with the required skills and competencies are transferred to the new supported living services. 

4. Following implementation of realignment the support service should consider two options in 

relation to the future organisational models. 

a)   Pursue open tender if the department re-tenders with a new contract for Supported  Living or: 

b) To become part of the newly formed Local Authority Trading Company 

Any other views from stakeholders and partners regarding this service should be invited. 

 

 

Consultation Questions 

 

1. Are these conclusions the right ones? 

2. Do you have any concerns about these conclusions, and what could we do to address them?  

3. Are there any other options which would help to ensure that people could receive a more personal 

service whilst still providing value for money for people with a personal budget? 

4. Are there specific issues or barriers that these conclusions need to take account of in relation to 

ethnicity, disability, age, gender, religion and sexual orientation? 

5. Are there any other views or suggestions you would like to be considered with respect to this 

service. 

 

 

3.11 Dementia Care 

 
Following recent publication of the National Dementia Strategy

12
, and Wirral’s local strategy for Older People 

with Mental Health Needs there is clear evidence that there will be a 28% rise in people with dementia by 

2020.   The local strategy, supported by a high-level analysis of the dementia pathway, is informing the 

commissioning intentions and service developments for NHS Wirral and DASS.  The local strategy makes a 

number of recommendations: 

 

1. The development of a central multidisciplinary older person’s resource to act as the focal point for 

dementia information and support. 

2. A focus on preventive services supported by public and professional awareness 

3. Support for carers 

4. Access to support services early in the disease 

5. Access to information and advice 

 

                                                      

12
 National Dementia Strategy: 

http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/SocialCare/Deliveringadultsocialcare/Olderpeople/NationalDementiaStrategy/DH_0
83362 
 

Page 254



 
 

49 

DASS, and other partners are in discussion about the feasibility of establishing dementia resources either 

based in localities or within a central Wirral wide resource.  Both options could meet the commissioning 

intentions of the local strategy providing a range services within a centre point, this could possibly include: 

 

• Advice and  information, (provided by a voluntary organisations) 

• A carer’s café, and carers support services. 

• A flexible care service to work with people and their carers at an early stage of being diagnosed 

with dementia.   

• It could house the multi disciplinary older person’s resource/team  

• A community based assessment, diagnostic and treatment service.    

• Specialist staff including psychiatrists, psychologists, social workers and other therapists providing 

a  range of support services in the local community.  

• It could provide an enhanced day care service for older people with complex needs.  

 
The Poulton House site, Girtrell Court or the current Mapleholme site (Beckwith Street) , if vacated, could 

provide ample space to develop this new service, or these services could be offered within the newly 

developing Neighbourhood Centres.   

 
These could offer an open door service to all people with dementia and their carers. 

 
One suggestion is to offer one or other site as the Council contribution under the agreed Asset Disposal 

policy.  A full feasibility study is required involving partners including the voluntary and community sector, 

staff and representatives of the Older People’s Parliament to develop the design brief and identify further 

investment/redesign issues. 

 

Conclusion 

 

• That a feasibility study be undertaken to establish the viability, investment and actions necessary for 

the development of a Wirral wide or locality based dementia resource 

 

Consultation Questions 

 

1. Is this conclusion the right one? 

2. Do you have any concerns about this conclusion, and what could we do to address them?   

3.  Are there specific issues or barriers that these conclusions need to take account of in relation to 

ethnicity, disability, age, gender, religion and sexual orientation? 

4. Are there any other views or suggestions you would like to be considered in respect of this 

conclusion? 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 255



 
 

50 

3.12        Day Services 

 
Day Services represents one third of the overall care services budget, £6,963,800. The services are 

predominately building based, providing services to over 600 people with a range of mental health needs, 

learning disabilities and physical and sensory disabilities.   

 
The service offers a combination of activities which take place within the segregated facilities of day centres, 

or within community bases and mainstream services.  These include brokerage, community support, 

recreational activities, adult learning, occupational and training support as well as substantial links with 

health services, colleges and other services. 

 
A key aspect of learning disabilities day services, which was evident through the carer consultation and the 

engagement interviews, was the extent to which these services provided significant respite for carers and 

social networks for people using them.  Many carers have invested time and energy in maintaining centres 

through fund raising, volunteering, and other activities.   The involvement of carers must not be lost in any 

service redesign.  

 
The services’ ability to offer a more personalised service is severely restricted by the current transport 

arrangements.  Consultation with both staff and people using service identified not only the lack of flexibility 

but also that many people may be able to travel independently if they could access services closer to the 

locality they lived in (386 people using Council transport travel over 3 miles to access a service).   

 
Care management reflects historical patterns of practice within the DASS with these interventions focused 

around major change and support issues.  This has meant 25% received some inputs with the remaining 

exclusively of Care Services, often over an extended period of time and for some people who have used 

services running into decades  In addition there was evidence of institutional practices, no consistent 

evidence of any performance measurement framework to assess the effectiveness of the services.   There is 

limited activity data, no service specifications or service agreements with commissioners. 

 
Prior to this project work, the Reform Unit had conducted analysis using a toolkit developed by the National 

Development Team.  The toolkit known as the ‘inclusion traffic light system’ classifies day service provision 

under three colours.  Red services are those that are provided within a segregated building i.e day centres, 

amber for services that are again only for people from a particular client group, but they meet in a building 

used by the general public (community centre) or green ie. people pursue their own interests, using services 

and facilities that everyone uses.   

 

Mental health day services demonstrated the highest degree of community activities i.e the highest number 

of activities taking place in ‘ordinary’ facilities i.e community centres, or ‘shoulder to shoulder’ with the 

general public.   

 
Within learning disabilities services, all centres demonstrated a variety of levels of community activity; 

however a significant proportion of the client’s time was spent inside a segregated day centre. 

 
The Support Planning element of the engagement process identified many and varied interests, covering the 

whole spectrum of activities from recreational, through to training and development for employment. 

Page 256



 
 

51 

 
Groups of staff and individuals have clearly made significant inroads into the development of less centre 

based services; however this report’s role is not to assess the relative merits of individual projects, or staff 

member’s contributions, or the extent to which this service should have achieved greater community 

involvement.   It is to suggest how we may develop a service in which people have greater personal choice, 

whilst increasing skills, and access to mainstream services.  

 

The asset management work package provided the project with a link into the Strategic Asset Review, 

specifically the development of the Neighbourhood Centres, Community Asset Transfer, and the Community 

Audit.  Each of these components provides a crucial route for the relocation of, and access to alternative 

resources embedded in local communities.   

 
People using day services have now, through the Neighbourhood Centre Conference, been fully involved in 

developing the design brief of those centres to ensure that not only are they physically adapted to meet the 

needs of people with disabilities, but also that staff on site are fully trained to support people with disabilities.   

 

The Community Audit is now complete and will offer the day service alternative community based facilities to 

extend activities into facilities used by the general pubic. 

 
Day Services in their current form have been following an informal strategy of encouraging current centre 

bases to develop into ‘People’s Centres’ that are accessible other members of the community.  This strategy 

must be reconsidered in light of the Strategic Asset Review, the Community Audit and the Community Asset 

Transfer to avoid duplication of resource provision, but more fundamentally to avoid people with disabilities 

being ‘overlooked’ as part of the major redesign of Council provision.   

 
Social Enterprise 
 
Staff consultation provided this project with the greatest insight to the challenges this service faces if it is to 

respond to the personalisation.  Most staff identified with pride, the work that had taken place to develop 

projects which were often referred to as ‘Social Enterprises’.  Whilst there was no formal measurement of 

effectiveness in terms of outcomes, people using those services reflected in the engagement interviews the 

contribution these made to their wellbeing and the greater control and participation they had. 

 
The staff consultations considered the ‘blocks and barriers’ to service development and time and again, staff 

identified the constraints that exist within a large bureaucratic organisation to personalised service 

development.     

 
The original Cabinet report had identified an organisational form ‘Right to Request’ Social Enterprise.  ‘Right 

to request’ is part of the bigger vision for the future of the NHS set out in High Quality Care For All:  NHS 

Next Stage Review Final Report (June 2008).  It recognises that staff should be given the opportunity to 

innovate and redesign services in flexible new ways, through independent organisations, with the aim of 

improving outcomes and delivering services that are responsive to the needs of communities and the people 

they serve.   

 

Page 257



 
 

52 

The concept was ‘passported’ into the original options appraisal presented at Cabinet in November 2008 and 

drawing on the development of this concept in the NHS.  The project identified a number of potential Social 

Enterprises already existing across day services.  These projects created and led through the enthusiasm of 

staff and people who use services are limited in the extent to which they can innovate and finance 

themselves as a result of bureaucratic, financial, and structural impediments.   

 
Through a forum created as part of the project the ‘Care Services Enterprise Network’, over 25 staff and 

managers and staff from the majority of centres explored the concept of Social Enterprise, and how they 

might develop their projects into a fully fledged Social Enterprise.  Five services have now ‘expressed an 

interest’ in working towards developing a Social Enterprise. 

 

• Dale Farm & Royden Park 

• Star Design 

• Highcroft 

• Masque Theatre 

• Central Park 

 
At this point there is no formal commitment from either party i.e the staff or the Council establish businesses 

under a formal contractual relationship, a significant support is required from the Department to assist these 

projects to develop their business case in the first instance. 

 
Refocusing Day Service – Beyond Buildings 
 
The key principles of commissioning day services should be: 

 

• Promoting recovery and enablement approach  

• Focus on community participation 

• Reducing isolation 

• Maximise choice and self determination. 

 

 

Learning Disabilities & Physical and Sensory Disabilities Services  

 
It is suggested that a Community Bridge Building Team should be developed, based on a personalised, and 

enabling philosophy, supporting people to access and maintain contact with mainstream community 

resources, and facilities.   The process begins with team members gathering information and exploring all 

the options available in the local community from the large established facilities to informal community 

activities available in the area. This process would benefit from the recent Community Audit, conducted by 

the Corporate Policy Unit and will link with the Community Development Officers within DASS.  The Team 

would explore options in the following life domains:  

• Sport and leisure  

• Arts  

• Education  

Page 258



 
 

53 

• Employment  

• Volunteering  

• Faith and spirituality  

 
The Community Bridge Building Team would note how welcoming/friendly and accessible the environment 

is, what types of people access places, general age range and gender mix, and the support with ‘travel 

training’. 

The team should be centrally managed but have members within each of the three localities. 
 
They would use their local knowledge to support people to look at the different activities/opportunities 

available for people to access in their local communities, exploring with individuals what interests they 

already have or what dreams, goals or aspirations they have. 

 

A Community Bridge Building Team would also be promoting peer support to access identified places.   The 

aim of this service would be to assist people to build links with their local communities and facilitate 

opportunities for social inclusion and reducing social isolation and stigma.  

 

This service could be commissioned from the external market, be part of the Local Authority Trading 

Company, or be located within Access and Assessment or Transition.    

 

The conclusion of this report is that the service should be based closest to the access points for learning 

disabilities services i.e all people coming into day services, external or internal be referred to this service 

before access to a day service is considered.  The team should focus its initial work with people currently in 

day services. 

 
 
Refocusing Mental Health Services 

 
The Community Recovery Team operates out of Union Street, Beaconsfield and Prenton Centre.    The 

service is jointly provided by DASS and Cheshire and Wirral Mental Health Partnership Trust.  The current 

configuration is loosely in line with the location of Community Mental Health Team (CMHT) bases, with one 

centre in Wallasey, one in Tranmere and one in Prenton. 

 
In addition to these there is also an employment project based at Star Design.  Exploring the 

‘enablement’/’recovery philosophy within these services suggests, that these services adopt the ‘Community 

Bridge Building’ model above, and have a closer realign with CMHT’s.  Original proposals for a realignment 

of this service suggest that the staff be distributed amongst the current CMHT.   This report does not suggest 

such a radical step, rather that the service becomes a single team working out of the three localities with a 

clear specification. 

 
For consistency of approach the team should have a single management team, and access to the services 

would be via the CMHT’s.  The expertise of the employment project would be encompassed by the team, 

however Star Design, whose staff team have already asked to be considered to ‘Right to Request’ Social 

Page 259



 
 

54 

Enterprise should remain with day services moving into a  LATC (if this were established) and/or into fully 

Social Enterprise status. 

 

This would mean that two of the three buildings Union Street and Prenton Centre could be released for 

realisation of capital.   Beaconsfield would remain a central hub: it is recognised that some of the current 

activities taking place will need suitable locations identified.  Work will continue with Asset Management to 

identify community centre locations or other sites. 

Market Analysis 

DASS commissions with 20 organisations for day service provision, contracts exist with grant funded 

organisations eg. Age Concern, Hoylake Cottage Hospital.  However, the remainder of the day service 

market grant funded or purchased on a spot purchase basis has not undergone any robust commissioning 

process for many years.  There has been no tendering process for some years, no assessment of value for 

money, or effectiveness of service provision against outcomes and no contracts in place.    

 
There are 15 independent sector providers in Wirral commissioned to provide service for Wirral people of 

those 11 are provided outside the borough.  This has implications for the cost of transport. 

 
DASS day service provision represents largest provider of day services in the Wirral.  Like the independent 

sector it lacks commissioning framework and assessment of the effectiveness of service.  However, it has   

an ideal opportunity to drive the market of day services and respond to the personalisation agenda.   

Financial Analysis 

CSED provided the methodology for assessing the cost of day services.  This methodology used costs 

based on ½ day sessions, and developing a weighting system by segmenting the user base into FACs 

eligibly and client categories.  Appendix 2 presents the individual DASS centres costs, which represent an 

average.   There is only one independent sector average as day service in this sector is commissioned on a 

spot purchase basis.   DASS figures presented show the average ½ day cost for people with medium needs 

and high level needs: 

Unit Cost: (1/2 day session) 

 
DASS 

£21.60  - Medium level need 

£23.60  - High level need 

 
Independent Sector 

£59.83 

Page 260



 
 

55 

 

Conclusions 

 

That views be sought on the following suggestions: 

Day Services – Enabling 

Learning Disabilities/Physical and Sensory  – Community Bridge Building Service 

A Community Bridge Building Service should be set up comprising  a Manager, 5 full time equivalent 

Community Bridge Builders.  It would be the aim of the service to be flexible to individual’s need and times of 

contact.  The team would operate a span of duty that will begin no earlier than 8 am and end no later than 10 

pm, offering planned interventions over 7 days (depending on client need and identified goals) 

The team would have a capacity of up to 100 cases.  This would be reviewed at regular times.  

Resource for this team to be identified from within current day services.  Competencies to be developed 

which are aligned to personalised practice and staff to be selected against these competencies. 

Community Mental Health Recovery Service 

This service to have a single management structure although like the learning disabilities community bridge 

building services it would operate in the three localities.  Working Life service to be amalgamated into this 

service. 

Day Service Provision 

 
Day Services provide the greatest scope for reshaping in the context of personal budgets, providing a more 

extensive range of support to people.  These services could include personal assistant provision, brokerage, 

respite, support with building skills, support into learning and occupation, and access to mainstream 

recreational and leisure experience.   

 
These are also potentially the most vulnerable services as people may chose alternative models of support 

to achieve similar outcomes.    

 
In this context therefore the conclusions are: that consideration be given to the remaining day service to 

move into a Local Authority Trading Company, for a three year period, to be reviewed after those three years 

with regard to the suitability and success of this approach. 

That the transition process continues the audit of current utilisation of building and connectivity to the 

Strategic Asset Review.   

Implementation governance arrangements would need to be determined in the event of approval to proceed 

being granted by Cabinet.  In these circumstances the current relationship between commissioner and 

provider would no longer be appropriate. 

This report provides the initial business case for the transfer of day services, however a more detailed 

business case would need to be presented to Cabinet using the ‘Preparing to Trade’ Annex A – Guidance on 

the Power in the Local Government Act 2003. Alongside this in-depth consultation on this option.   

Page 261



 
 

56 

It may be that other elements of service could be added to the LATC as their new shape embeds and the 

personalisation agenda evolves eg. Supported living, Respite Care (LD/PSD/Mental Health), Transport. 

This proposal must also consider the services who have ‘expressed interest’ in developing a Social 

Enterprise.   Attention should be given to supporting the preparation of these business cases.  It may be that 

the development could continue under the umbrella of the LATC.  The former route would require Cabinet to 

agree to the two main commitments within ‘Right To Request’, a) that  staff exercising their ‘Right to Request’ 

retain their membership of the Local Authority Pension while they work on Council funded services and b) 

that the newly developed Social Enterprise receive a three year uncontested contract.   

Other views from stakeholders and partners should be invited. 

 

Consultation Questions 

1. Do you think that some day services should have the opportunity to develop into Social Enterprises? 

2. Is the conclusion about the developing a Community Bridge Building Service for people with 

Learning Disabilities and Physical and Sensory Disabilities the right one? 

3. Is the conclusion about refocusing Mental Health Services the right one? 

4. What are your views about the Local Authority exploring the option of developing a Local Trading 

Company in the first instance to support the development of day services but other care services if it 

appropriate? 

5. Are there any other options which would help to ensure that people could receive a more personal 

service whilst still providing value for money for people with a personal budget? 

6. Are there specific issues or barriers that these conclusions need to take account of in relation to 

ethnicity, disability, age, gender, religion and sexual orientation? 

7. Are there any other views or suggestions you would like to be considered with respect to these 

services? 

 

 

Page 262



 
 

57 

SECTION 4 FUTURE COMMISSIONING STRATEGY 

 

This section sets out the strategy for the future commissioning of adult care services currently provided in 

house by DASS. 

 
DASS is committed to being a commissioning-led organisation and as such it will take the lead role in 

managing the process of transformation and setting the direction of travel for all current and potential future 

providers. 

 
In considering future commissioning of current in-house services, it should be noted that these services 

represent only a small proportion of the total care provision commissioned by the Council: the majority of this 

care is already provided by the independent sector.  The commissioning strategy for in-house services will 

therefore affect, and be affected by, the wider commissioning of care and support across the market, 

including all sectors of provision. It should not be developed in isolation, and the strategy outlined in this 

section of the report will need to be tested and refined against the overall development of social care 

commissioning in Wirral, including key developments such as the establishment of an integrated 

commissioning team working across health and social care 

 
4.1   THE STRATEGIC VISION FOR IN-HOUSE SERVICES  

 

As the detailed analysis in section 3 of this report show, each of the services currently provided in-house by 

DASS Care Services may be transformed over the next 3 years through a combination of: 

 

• Modernisation of current service models to deliver improved outcomes, efficiency and value for 

money and to equip them to operate in the new world of personalisation and client choice 

• Implementation of new service models 

 
It is envisaged that, by 2012, a range of organisations will be being commissioned to deliver these services, 

potentially including: 

 

• A local authority trading company 

• Existing independent/ voluntary/ third sector providers 

• New independent/ voluntary/ third sector providers 

• Social enterprises formed from existing in-house services 

 
Together, the suggestions in section 3 form a new vision for these services and the process of 

transformation is illustrated on the following page. 

 
Achieving this vision is clearly a major strategic objective for commissioners in the next 3 years. However, 

the development of a commissioning-led business relationship between commissioners and providers is an 

essential pre-requisite for successful transformation.  The four strategic objectives set out in section 4.2 

encompass both the establishment of this new relationship and the transformation of services to a new and 

sustainable model for the longer term. 

Page 263



 
 

58 

The strategic vision for current DASS in-house care services

Residential 

Care

Redesign 

as 

floating 

support

LA Trading 

Company

Supported 

Living

Respite 

Care

Day 

Services

Transport 

Int’mediate

Care

Contract 

with LATC

Shadow 

phase Fully 

operational 

LATC

Clients to 

floating support

Clients to 

indep

sector

ID social 

enterprises

New 

contract in 

indep 

sector

Staged 

outsourcing

Contract 

with 

LATC

New 

contract in 

indep 

sector

Recovery/ 

community 

inclusion

Improve 

efficiency

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3

Planning 

stage

Implement 

voucher 

scheme

Capital assets 
released

Capital 

assets 

remodelled

Pensall, Poulton, 

Meadowcroft

Mapleholme

Other 
services eg 

dementia

Single 

transport 

unit?

Community 

day service

Social 

enterprise 

shadow

Residential 

Care

Redesign 

as 

floating 

support

LA Trading 

Company

Supported 

Living

Respite 

Care

Day 

Services

Transport 

Int’mediate

Care

Contract 

with LATC

Shadow 

phase Fully 

operational 

LATC

Clients to 

floating support

Clients to 

indep

sector

ID social 

enterprises

New 

contract in 

indep 

sector

Staged 

outsourcing

Contract 

with 

LATC

New 

contract in 

indep 

sector

Recovery/ 

community 

inclusion

Improve 

efficiency

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3

Planning 

stage

Implement 

voucher 

scheme

Capital assets 
released

Capital 

assets 

remodelled

Pensall, Poulton, 

Meadowcroft

Mapleholme

Other 
services eg 

dementia

Single 

transport 

unit?

Community 

day service

Social 

enterprise 

shadow

Community 

day service

Social 

enterprise 

shadow

P
a
g

e
 2

6
4



 

 
 

59 

 
4.2 STRATEGIC COMMISSIONING OBJECTIVES 

 
The following four strategic commissioning objectives are proposed for the next 3 years (to the end of the 

financial year 2011/12): 

 
4.2.1 ESTABLISHING THE BASELINE FOR CHANGE 

 

• Establish an effective commissioning information system for in-house services 

• Develop service contracts for all in-house services using an outcome-based framework 

• Establish a robust performance management  system for in-house service providers leading 

transformational change 

• Develop and implement a transformation plan for in-house services to achieve the strategic vision 

 
The first 3 strategic objectives all focus on establishing effective commissioning practice with the current in-

house provider, to provide the essential building blocks for the transformation of these services to deliver the 

strategic vision 

 
4.2.3 Developing information for commissioning 
 
Wirral’s in-house care services have to date been developed and delivered on the basis of historic custom 

and practice, without underpinning structures of business processes, business planning, or contract 

management. 

 
This means, for example, that: 

 

• There is no information routinely collected on users of individual services (numbers, demographic profile, 

entry and exit dates) 

• There is no information routinely collected on numbers or sources of referrals to services 

• There is no information routinely collected on available capacity within each service 

• There is no information routinely collected on activity levels within each service (hours of client contact,) 

• There is no routinely collected information on service costs that can be used to evaluate value for money 

or to compare services with those delivered by external providers 

• There are no service level agreements in place and thus no objectives are agreed between 

commissioners and providers in terms of levels of activity, outputs or outcomes for clients 

• Commissioners do not routinely assess performance of in-house services except for indicators required 

for national reporting 

 

Good quality data and information management (to turn data into “intelligent information”) is an essential pre-

requisite for future commissioning, since without it commissioners have no basis on which to judge the 

effectiveness or efficiency of services or to use as a basis for service reviews. 

 
Note: It is also essential for provider services themselves, in order to equip them to operate in an 

increasingly diverse market offering clients the opportunity to hold personal budgets and to make choices 

about the services they use: this is discussed further in section 5 below. 

Page 265



 

 
 

60 

The development of effective information for commissioning current in-house services will need to be co-

ordinated with existing work with external providers to ensure a level playing field for all sectors and a 

consistency of approach (especially as in-house provider services move to a more arms-length relationship 

with the commissioner eg through the proposed development of a Local Authority Trading Company). 

 
Effective information management will require dedicated commissioning management and IT resources, co-

ordinated with other commissioning support systems to avoid fragmentation of commissioning decision-

making. 

 
4.2.4 Contract development 

 

As a precursor to the development of a new contractual relationship between DASS as commissioner and 

DASS as service provider (through an LATC or other organisational form) there is a need to establish robust 

service agreements for current in-house services in place. 

 
Historically, in-house contract development has often been the responsibility of the provider function. This is 

no longer an option: current policy, the increasing diversity of the market and DASS’s own explicit 

commitment all give commissioners the lead role in service specification, procurement, contract 

management and performance management. 

 

The basis of new contracts will be CSED’s outcome-based framework
13
, measuring the impact of the service 

on people who use it and using various types of evidence to evaluate outcomes: 

 

• Activity: the inputs and outputs of the service 

• Results; the impact of the service on the client 

• Experience: the perceptions of clients about the service  

 
 Clearly, achievement of this objective is dependent on availability of good quality data (as described in 

objective 1 above) and on information management capacity within the commissioning function. 

 

4.2.5 Performance management 

 

Establishing robust service contracts with in-house providers will be supported by ongoing performance 

management arrangements to review progress against the agreed objectives and to agree on action to 

remedy any under-performance at early stages. 

 
Effective performance management will require input from existing commissioning functions including 

contract management and corporate performance, alongside commissioning leads. Existing resources will 

be reviewed to identify available capacity, and it is likely that additional investment will be required.  

                                                      

13
 Putting People First: Commissioning and Contracting for Outcomes (Care Services Efficiency Delivery, DH 

April 2009) 

Page 266



 

 
 

61 

4.2.6 Transforming the Service Model 

 
The Design & Viability Project has identified the new vision for in-house services outlined in section 3 above 

as a potentially achievable model for the future.  

 

To achieve this in the next 3 years will require a major programme of change management, with strong 

leadership and top-level commitment. 

 
The major tasks within this programme will include : 

 

• Using improved information to test the current proposed options for value for money, strategic fit and 

sustainability 

• Developing and leading an ongoing programme of engagement with people who use services, providers 

and stakeholders to shape the proposals  

• Developing detailed, fully costed business cases for the major changes proposed 

• Developing and leading a programme of formal consultation with people who use services, staff, and 

other stakeholders on proposed changes 

• Working with current in-house provider colleagues on detailed action plans for service change 

• Developing a governance strategy and implementation plan for the proposed changes (especially the 

development of a Local Authority Trading Company) 

• Developing and managing a programme of internal and external communications throughout the period 

of service change 

• Working with in-house provider management to identify and manage the human resources impact of the 

service transformation 

• Working with in-house provider management to develop a capital assets plan for the transformation 

• Developing a long term market management and development strategy 

 

This is not an exclusive list and will evolve in the course of developing a full project plan. 

 

4.2.7 Resource Requirements 

 

Achieving the strategic commissioning objectives will require significant investment both in project 

management capacity over the course of the transformation programme and in long term commissioning 

capacity. 

 

At this stage, detailed costings have yet to be finalised. 

 

Resource requirements for the first 3 strategic objectives should also be seen in the context of DASS’s 

overall commissioning function. Where resources are already in place for commissioning from external 

providers, these should be rolled out to over in-house providers.  Any resulting capacity or skills gaps, or 

capital requirements (eg improved IT) will need to be planned across the whole commissioning function. 

 

Page 267



 

 
 

62 

Where resources will benefit both commissioning and provider functions (eg in developing improved 

information on clients) the costs should be shared appropriately across both functions. 

 

4.2.8 Strategic Risks 

 

A full risk analysis will be developed as part of a full project plan, but the major strategic risks include: 

 

• Continuing poor quality information on in-house services means commissioning decisions are taken on 

the basis of little or no evidence of their appropriateness 

• Establishing and managing contracts with in house providers may stretch current  management capacity 

• There may be gaps in available skills within the commissioning function 

• Failure to release the level resources required to fund project management for service transformation 

• Failure to gain commitment from provider services to achieve the required outcomes 

• Failure to communicate effectively with clients and other stakeholders about the service transformation 

• Failure to co-ordinate action on transforming commissioning of in-house services with other 

commissioning development (eg integrated commissioning arrangements with NHS Wirral) 

• Insufficient skills and experience of those responsible for delivering the project adversely affect the 

timetable or the outputs 

 

Page 268



 

 
 

63 

SECTIION 5: IMPLICATIONS FOR CARE SERVICES / ACCESS & ASSESSMENT  

 
Alongside its stated objectives of developing a commissioning strategy and implementation plan for 

transformation of in-house services, work on the Design & Viability Study has led to a number of issues 

being identified both for the future management of Care services, and for Access & Assessment.  

 

5.1 Care Services 
 
Achievement of the strategic vision for current in-house services clearly has significant implications for the 

current management, staff and clients of existing Care services. 

 

The process of achieving this transformational change will, appropriately, be commissioning-led. However, 

there are already a number of clear messages for Care Services management as a result of the work to 

date. These include: 

 

• The need to use information (including both financial and non-financial data) as a basis for current 

service delivery 

 

• The need to develop a strategic approach to future business planning including performance 

management, marketing and financial planning to ensure that future service models (eg the proposed 

Local Authority Trading Company) can compete effectively as part of a new, more diverse market for 

social care 

 

• The need for strategic workforce planning and staff development to ensure the right level and range of 

skills are available to deliver service contracts (and to plan for the potential outflow of managers and staff 

as social enterprises are formed from former in-house services and transferred into the independent 

sector) 

 
 

• The need for an organisational development programme to support staff at all levels through a process 

of major change and service reform 

 

This development programme will need to take place alongside work on achieving the commissioning 

strategy outlined in part 4 of this report. It will require its own resources including investment in IT and other 

information management resources. 

 

5.2 Access & Assessment Branch 
 
The engagement work package within the Design & Viability study identified some areas of potential 

relevance to Access & Assessment Branch.  These are discussed briefly below and further work is 

suggested to research the issues and identify action required. 

 

• Most of people who used service (467 of the 617 interviewed, from a total of 745 known to be users of 

the services: 409 of these had a learning disability) did not appear to have a written assessment of their 

needs recorded under Adult Common Assessment Framework as separate to the records kept by care 

Page 269



 

 
 

64 

services. This is likely to include some people who do have an assessment which for some reason was 

not available to, or not recorded by, the interviewer, but it does suggest that there may be a significant 

number of people currently using services, including many with high levels of need, whose care is not 

being actively managed or reviewed at present. 

 

• There is a risk that these people are therefore not currently receiving the full range of services 

 

• There is a further risk that unidentified needs may result in clients requiring a crisis service that could 

have been avoided by earlier detection and preventative services 

 

• Conversely, the engagement information suggests that some current clients have very low levels of need 

and may be receiving services for which they would not be eligible if they were assessed as a new client 

now. 

 

• A large number of people with no current Adult Common Assessment Framework, or no recent review of 

their care needs, may impact on the Council’s overall corporate performance  

 
Information on carers’ assessments was not recorded in a format than can be easily analysed, but the 

engagement process did highlight a large number of carers without current assessments, including many 

who are themselves older people with a range of health and social needs.  Further research into these client 

and carers could help to establish the potential for preventative services in the short term to minimise the 

need for more intensive support in the longer term. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 270



 

 
 

65 

Appendix 1 

 
Consultation  

The Department of Adult Social Services would like to thank all those who gave up the time to contribute to 

the development of the analysis and conclusions set out in this paper, these include: 

 

• People currently using Care Services 

• Young People in Meadowside and Foxfield School 

• Carers 

• Staff - Care Services Branch 

• Staff  -  Children and Young People’s Department 

• Staff – Access and Assessment Branch 

• Staff – Finance and Performance Branch 

• Staff – Corporate Services, Regeneration, Transformational Change Team,  

• Staff – NHS Wirral, Cheshire and Wirral Mental Health Partnership Trust 

• Sue Lowe – Independent Direct Payments Forum 

The following stakeholders will also now be invited to respond to the consultation.  Please contact Jenny 

Ricketts, Head of Care Services Branch with the names of any other stakeholder groups not on the list.   

Advocacy Groups 

Carers 

Carers Development Group 

Cheshire and Wirral Mental Health Partnership Trust 

Department of Regeneration 

Day Service Advisory Boards 

Enabling and Fulfilling Lives Group 

Joint Commissioning Group Learning Disabilities 

Joint Commissioning Group Mental Health 

Joint Commissioning Group Older People 

Joint Governance Partnership 

Learning Disabilities Partnership Board 

Liverpool Housing Trust 

Local Implementation Team – Mental Health 

Members of Parliament 

Mental Health Forum 

Mental Health and Learning Disabilities Executive Board 

NHS Wirral 

Older People’s Parliament 

People using Care Services 

Riverside Housing  

Service Improvement Groups 

Servite Housing 

Page 271



 

 
 

66 

Trade Unions 

Transitions Governance Group 

Transitions Strategy Board 

Venture Housing 

Wirral Methodist Homes 

Wirral Multicultural Centre 

Wirral Partnership Homes 

 

How to Respond 

 
If you wish to respond, please see the conclusions and consultation questions in Sections 1, 2, and 3 of this 

report. A separate template with the conclusions and questions will be made available and all written 

responses and is available for on www.wirral.gov.uk/socialcareandhealth ‘Downloads’.  The consultation 

period will take place between 10
th
 August 2009 – 30

tth 
October 2009.   

 
As well as written responses, the consultation exercise will involved a series of workshops and meetings 

which will take place during September/October 2009.  Details will also be available on Wirral Council’s 

website. 

 

Please send consultation responses by email to: 

lizblackmore@wirral.gov.uk  

 

Or by post to: 

 
Jenny Ricketts 

Head of Service 

Care Services Branch 

Westminster House 

Hamilton Street, Birkenhead  

Wirral, CH41  5FN 

 

The Department of Adult Social Services will use the responses to this consultation in the development of 

the final Care Services Strategy.   

When responding, please state whether you are responding as an individual or representing the views of an 

organisation.   

Information provided in response to this consultation, including personal information, may be published or 

disclosed in accordance with the access to information regimes (these are primarily the Freedom of 

Information Act 2000, and the Data Protection Act 1998) 

What will happen next? 

 
A summary of responses, including the next steps, will be published by in November 2009.  This will be 

printed and will be available on request. 

Page 272



 

 
 

67 

         
Equality Impact Assessment 

 

Information gathered as part of this consultation will inform the final Equality Impact Assessment which will 

be available with the final Strategy. 

Page 273



 

 
 

68 

 

Page 274



 

 
 

69 

Service 

Function 

Location Workforce Budget Current  

Unit Cost 

Summary of Service Activity 

Transport Cleveland Street, Birkenhead 49,44 FTE’s 

(Coordinator, 

Team 

Managers 

Drivers, 

Attendants) 

£1,721,300 £5.14 (Revised) Transport Service to 29 Day Centres, Respite Care, 

Looked After Children. Other functions include internal 

courier service, the cash in transit service and 6 

education vehicles and contribution to contingency 

planning. 

 

Supported 

Living 

 

West Wirral 

Edgehill Road, Curlew Way, 

Lighthouse Road, Bermuda 

Road 

Wallasey 

3 & 5 Cardigan Road, 26 

Langdale, 33 Serpentine Road 

Birkenhead 1 

Thomas Court, 27 Balls Road*, 

North Road, 70 Balls Road 

Birkenhead 2 

Livingston Gardens, St Annes 

Street, Beckwith Street 

(All of the above properties are 

owned by Housing 

Associations, *Balls Road is 

owned by Wirral Council) 

 

95.73 FTE’s 

(Managers, 

Support 

workers, Snr 

Care, Care 

Assistants, 

Domestic) 

 

£3,403,700 

 

£29.08 

 

Service provides – ‘Accommodation Based Support’ to 

people with learning disabilities in Housing Association 

owned properties. 

The service covers a range of support levels from low 

level tenancy support (funded through Supporting 

People) through to care and support to people who meet 

Fair Access To Care Criteria. 

 

      

Appendix 2 

P
a
g
e
 2

7
5



 

 
 

70 

Respite Fernleigh, Twickenham Drive, 

Leasowe 

(Mental Health) 

 

 

 

 

Mapleholme, Beckwith Street, 

B’head 

(Learning Disabilities) 

 

 

 

 

 

Meadowcroft, Bromborough 

(Older People – Mental Health) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Pensall Hse, Fairview Way, 

Pensby 

17.75 FTE 

(Manager, 

Support  

Workers, 

Cook, 

Handyperson) 

 

38.65 FTE 

(Managers, 

Support 

workers, Snr 

Care, Care 

Assistants, 

Domestic) 

 

28.06 FTE 

(Managers, 

Support 

workers, Snr 

Care, Care 

Assistants, 

Domestic, 

Handyperson 

Cook) 

 

23.48 FTE 

(Managers, 

£804,600 

 

 

 

 

 

 

£1,488,800 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

£980,600 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

£840,200 

 

£1,286 pw 

 

 

 

 

 

 

£1,241 p.w 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

£819 pw 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

£645 pw 

 

Planned respite   -     8 beds 

Crisis respite        -    4 beds 

 

 

 

 

 

23  beds 

20 day care provision 

 

 

 

 

 

 

23 respite beds (5 are permanently occupied) 

15 place day care 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12 beds 

 

P
a
g

e
 2

7
6



 

 
 

71 

Poulton Hse, Winterhey , 

Wallasey  

(Older People) 

 

 

 

 

Girtrell Court, Woodpecker 

Close, Upton (Physical & 

Sensory Disabilities) 

30.24 FTE 

Support 

workers, Snr 

Care, Care 

Assistants, 

Domestic, 

Handyperson 

Cook) 

32.19 FTE 

£1,033,400 

 

 

 

 

 

 

£1,085,500 

£523 pw 

 

 

 

 

 

 

£1,099 pw 

 

 12  beds (+ 1 permanent resident) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3 respite beds 

Intermediate 

Care 

Poulton Hse,  Wallasey 

Pensall Hse,  Pensby 

See respite 

care 

See respite 

care 

See respite care 13 beds 

12 beds 

Residential 

Care 

Sylvandale,  Bromborough 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

96 Manor Road 

 

 

 

 

40.09 FTE 

(Managers, 

Support 

workers, Snr 

Care, Care 

Assistants, 

Domestic, 

Handyperson 

Cook) 

 

4.56 FTE 

(Manager, 

Support 

workers) 

 

£1,308,500 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

£211,200 

 

 

 

 

£1,094 pw 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

£1,015 pw 

 

 

 

 

Learning disabilities – 23 beds 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Learning disabilities – 4 beds 

 

 

 

 

P
a
g
e
 2

7
7



 

 
 

72 

Girtrell Court, Upton 32.19 FTE 

(Managers, 

Support 

workers, Snr 

Care, Care 

Assistants, 

Domestic, 

Handyperson 

Cook)  

1,085,500 

 

£1,099 pw Physical and Sensory Disabilities/Learning Disabilities – 

16 beds 

 

 

 

 

 

Day 

Services 

 

 

 

Beaconsfield,  Beaconsfield 

Close, B’head 

78 Union Street, Wallasey 

Prenton centre, Prenton Hall 

Road, B’head 

 

Star Design, Sandford Street, 

Birkenhead 

 

Working Life 

 

 

 

Moreton, Pasture Road, 

Moreton 

 

 

 

12.08 FTE 

 

7.96 FTE 

5.19 

 

 

5.41 FTE 

 

 

3 

 

 

 

31.52 FTE 

 

 

 

 

£389,300 

 

£314,300 

£197,100 

 

 

£223,100 

 

 

 

 

 

 

£1,378,500 

 

Based on ½ day 

session 

 

£31.72 

 

£18.80 

£23.66 

 

 

£23.17 

 

 

(inc above) 

 

 

 

£15.46 

 

 

 

 

Community Recovery Service – comprises three 

resource centres, providing individual and group work to 

support people to develop self-confidence, 

independence living, linking into community resources. 

 

 

Mental Health Resource – Providing individual and group 

support, with a specific focus on woodwork and 

associated skills eg support towards employment. 

 

 

 

 

Day Service – Learning Disability  

 

P
a
g

e
 2

7
8



 

 
 

73 

 

Heswall, Telegraph Road, 

Heswall 

Pensbywood, Somerset Road, 

Irby 

Dale Farm, Oldfield Road, 

Heswall 

Royden Park, Hillbark Road 

 

Eastham Centre, Eastham 

Rake, Eastham 

Riverside, Duke Street, 

Birkenhead (inc. Handcart 

ceramics, Masque theatre 

 

Cambridge Road, New Brighton  

Highcroft, Highcroft Heath 

Road, Bebington 

29.85 FTE 

 

12.55 FTE 

 

10.59 FTE 

 

(inc in Dale 

Farm) 

25.50 FTE 

 

24.00 FTE 

 

 

 

18.99 FTE 

(Managers, 

Support 

Workers, 

Care 

Assistants, 

Cooks, 

Domestic, 

Handyperson, 

Store Keeper) 

£1,155,200 

 

£508,500 

 

£242,600 

 

£115,500 

 

£848,600 

 

£488,400 

£95,900 

 

 

£406,700 

£438,000 

£19.55 

 

£33.66 

 

£16.37 

 

£10.44 

 

£23.45 

 

£43.38 

(£24.37) – Masque 

 

 

£32.43 

£36.06 

 

Providing a 5 day per week service – Activities include 

recreational, educational, leisure activities, access to 

community facilities. The service supports people by 

confidence building, independent living skills, adult 

education and support towards occupation.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Day Service – Physical & Sensory Disabilities  

P
a
g
e
 2

7
9



 

 
 

74 

 

 

P
a
g

e
 2

8
0



 

 
 

75 

 

OPTIONS FOR CHANGE  

TOWARDS A STRATEGY FOR CARE SERVICES 

 

CONSULTATION PAPER 

 

AUGUST 2009 

 

 

RESPONSE TEMPLATE 

 

 

Closing date for responses: 30th October 2009 

 

Please send to: lizblackmore@wirral.gov.uk 

 

Alternatively, they can be posted to: 

 

Jenny Ricketts 

Care Services Manager  

Direct Locality Support Services 

Department of Adult Social Services 

Westminster House 

Hamilton Street 

CH41 5FN 

 

Appendix 3 

Page 281



 

 
 

76 

 

Respondent Details: 

 

Title Mr/Mrs/Miss/Ms/Other 

Full Name  

Organisation  

Your role  

Address (including 

postcode) 

 

 

Email Address  

Phone Contact  

If you are replying on behalf of a group of respondents or a number of organisations, please 

complete the following information: 

Organisations 

represented within this 

response 

 

Response details 

Date of response: 

 

Closing date:  5pm on 30
th
 October 2009 

 

 

 

 

 

Views are sought on the following: 

 

Page 282



 

 
 

77 

 

Section 1 (Page 11 –  17) 

This section describes how the information and evidence was gathered to provide an evidence base to 

shape the conclusions. 

Consultation Questions 

1. Were these the right workpackages to gather information about the service, individual needs, goals 

and   support requirements? 

2. Is there any other information or data you or your organisation can provide which will help use to 

plan these services better? 

3. Are there any other suggestions you would like to make with regard to this section 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Section 2  (Page 18 – 33) 

This section describes national and local information that has been used to shape the conclusions. 

Consultation Questions 

 
1. Has the current policy direction at a local and national level been fully understood and reflected in 

this section? 

2. Does this section make a fair assessment of the current position of in-house services against the 

national and local policy? 

3. Does the data collected provide a sufficient profile of Wirral’s population in terms of ethnicity, 

disability, age, gender, religion and sexual orientation? 

4. Are there any other sets of information that should be taken into account? 

 

 

 

 

Page 283



 

 
 

78 

 

Section 3  Page (34 – 56) 

This section sets out the service model recommendations.   

3.4   Transport (Page 36-37) 

Conclusions 

 

Views are invited on the desirability of the following: 

1. DASS transport service to be outsourced as vehicles become due for lease renewal and staff retire. 

2. In addition DASS supports the development of single Corporate Transport Unit  

 And/or: 

3. That the Transport Service be included in any proposal to develop a Local Authority Trading  

Company. 

4. DASS should in addition conduct annual reviews of the service, until such time that recommendation 

2 or 3 are enacted. 

Any alternative views from stakeholders or partners should be considered 

 

 

Consultation Questions 

 
1. Are the conclusions for the Transport Service the right ones? 

2. Are there any other options which would help ensure that people could receive a more personal 

service whilst still providing value for money for people with a personal budget? 

3. Are there specific issues or barriers that this service needs to consider and address in relation to 

ethnicity, disability, age, gender, religion and sexual orientation? 

4. Are there any other views or suggestions you would like to be considered. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 284



 

 
 

79 

3.5 Supported Living  (page 37 – 40) 

 

Conclusions 

Views are invited on the desirability of:  

1 The Supported Living Service to moving towards a ‘floating support service’, with a focus on 

community support and less reliance on traditional day centre attendance.  This realignment of 

service will be supported by individual’s choice of day time support exercised through personal 

budgets.   

 Through a single manager a suggested structure allows for consistency of approach across the 

services.  Targeting Level 3 support workers (increase from 257 – 368 hours) to co-ordinate a new 

level of enabling assistants (Homecare grade), whose focus will be to support people in their own 

home in daily living and enablement.  The role of senior care assistant to be deleted.   Level 2 

Support workers to be reduced from 1890 by 1450 hours, these staff to deliver a range of services 

which are community based (eg. employment, accessing facilities, education etc) therefore input 

should be short and focussed.   

2. That following implementation of realignment the service should consider  two options in relation to 

the future organisational models 

a) Pursue open tender if the department re-tenders with a new contract for Supported Living 

 or: 

b) To become part of the newly formed Local Authority Trading Company 

Other views regarding the future of the service are should be considered. 

 

Consultation Questions 

 

1. Is the conclusion with regard to the Supported Living Service the right one? 

2. Are there any other options which would help to ensure that people could receive a more personal 

service, whilst still providing value for money for people with a personal budget? 

3. Are there specific issues or barriers that these conclusions need to take account of in relation to 

ethnicity, disability, age, gender, religion and sexual orientation? 

4. Are there any other views or suggestions you  would like to be considered with regard to this 

service? 

 

 

 

Page 285



 

 
 

80 

3.6 Intermediate Care/Respite (pages 41 –  42) 

Conclusions 

 

If a proposal for NHS Wirral to jointly commission 32 dual registered intermediate care beds is approved 
there are significant implications for Poulton House and Pensall House.  In this context views are sought on 
the desirability of: 
 

1. Decommissioning Poulton House and Pensall House, supporting the development of locality based 

dual registered intermediate care beds.   

2. Commissioning all further respite provision for older people from the external residential care market. 

3. Undertaking a feasibility study to establish if the site of Poulton House would be appropriate for the 

development of a dementia resource centre. 

4. Relocating respite for people with learning disabilities to Pensall House. 

Other views from stakeholders and partners should be invited. 

 

Consultation Questions 

 

1. Are the proposals to commission intermediate care from within locality based dual  registered  

provision the right ones? 

2. Have you any concerns if Pensall and Poulton House no longer provide respite and intermediate 

Care?  If so, what are they? 

3. In light of the new National and Local Dementia Strategies (see Section 3.8) what do you think the  

advantages may be of having a dementia centre within the Wallasey locality? 

4. Are there any other options which would help ensure that people could receive a more personal  

service whilst still providing value for money for people with a personal budget? 

5. Are there specific issues or barriers that these conclusions need to take account of in relation to 

ethnicity, disability, age, gender, religion and sexual orientation? 

6. Are there any other ideas or suggestions you would like to be considered with respect to this 

service. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 286



 

 
 

81 

3.7   Mapleholme (page 42 – 44) 

Conclusions 

 
1. That views be sought on the desirability of the respite service (Mapleholme –Beckwith Street, 

Birkenhead) being moved to Pensall House as both the conditions and the standards within this 

building are far superior to those at the Beckwith Street site, with all residents having access to en-

suite facilities. (This suggestion is dependant on a change of use of Pensall House – as discussed 

above) 

 
2. The ‘take a break’ scheme within Mapleholme has already demonstrated a more effective use of 

respite care, meeting the needs of people using services and their carers in a more personalised 

way.   This scheme could now be extended to all using Mapleholme. 

 
Other views from stakeholders and partners should be invited. 

 

 

Consultation Questions 

 

1. Are  the conclusions the right ones? 

2. Do you have any concerns about these conclusions, and what could we do to address   them?  

3.  Are there any other options which would help ensure that people could receive a more personal 

service whilst still providing value for money for people with a personal budget? 

4. Are there specific issues or barriers that these conclusions need to take account of in relation to 

ethnicity, disability, age, gender, religion and sexual orientation? 

5.  Are there any other ideas or suggestions you would like to be considered with regard to this 

service? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 287



 

 
 

82 

3.8   Meadowcroft (page 44 – 45) 

Conclusions 

 

1. The unit cost of independent residential care is significantly below the in-house costs,. The market 

analysis suggests that the level of capacity in the market is sufficient to accommodate additional 

respite care.  In this context views are sought on the desirability of decommissioning Meadowcroft 

and commissioning respite provision from the external market.  This would also support a far wider 

choice of respite care in a variety of homes.  The implementation of personal budgets will bring a 

further dimension, in that over time, people will choose to spend their budget on different kinds of 

respite rather than the traditional residential provision.  Day care to be sourced from the independent 

sector or new Dementia Centre  

Views from stakeholders and partners should be invited. 

 

Consultation Questions 

 

1.  Are the conclusions the right ones? 

2.  Do you have any concerns about these conclusions, and what could we do to address them?  

3.  Are there any other options which would help ensure that people could receive a more personal 

service whilst still providing value for money for people with a personal budget? 

4. Are there specific issues or barriers that these conclusions need to take account of in relation to 

ethnicity, disability, age, gender, religion and sexual orientation? 

5. Are there any other ideas or suggestions you would like to be considered with regard to this 

service? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 288



 

 
 

83 

3.9 Fernleigh (page 45) 

 

Conclusions 

 

There has been some discussion with commissioners about the further utilisation of this resource to support 

the reduction of hospital admissions, however at this point there are no firm plans for this to take place.  

Should this be identified at a later date, the investment in this resource should be funded by the NHS Wirral. 

 
Indeed at this present time the resource is funded by DASS.  In the first instance discussion should take 

place to agree the future funding arrangement of this resource with a significant contribution being sought 

from NHS Wirral.   

 
Views on this service are invited. 

 

 

Consultation Questions 

 

1. Do you have any views on this service? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.10   Residential Care (pages 46 - 48) 

Conclusions 

The current residents of Girtrell Court and Sylvandale should be offered a similar opportunity that the tenants 

of West Wirral, Birkenhead and Wallasey were offered some years ago i.e to move into supported living, and 

have a tenancy with a housing association.  In addition residents at Manor Road should be given the 

opportunity of either becoming tenants in their current property or alternatively within individual or group living 

arrangements.  

This is an opportunity to move beyond the ‘group living’ arrangements currently in place.  Many individuals, 

including those with the most complex needs, are successfully being supported in their own homes.   

Supported living has opened up access to a much wider range of housing options for some people with 

learning difficulties, including ‘general needs’, social housing and even home-ownership.   

Page 289



 

 
 

84 

In total 39 people with learning disabilities and variable levels of physical disability would need to be found 

new accommodation, this figure does not include the individuals living at Manor Road. Dependent on the 

outcome of individual housing needs assessments and consideration of alternative accommodation may be 

appropriate or the transfer of the current building to a Registered Social Landlord (RSL) may be feasible.  

Property requirements may range from ‘general needs’ housing, through to individual tenancies or the 

opportunity for group living arrangements.    

The following issues will need to be considered: 

1. The extent to which current properties will need to be used as capital input from the Council.  All  

arrangements would need to be line with the Council’s disposal policy approved by Cabinet 

(19.3.09) 

2. The timescale of delivery in the context that the Government has brought forward funding for new   

developments to stimulate the housing market. 

3. The potential requirement for Housing Corporation Grant, in the context of priority ranking for other 

supported housing schemes. 

4.  Identification facilities within the newly developing extra care scheme for the provision of respite 

care for people with physical and sensory disabilities e.g the  Somerville Road Extra Care scheme 

will have adapted bungalows available for rental by the Department of Adult Social Services to  

accommodate individuals.   It may be at a future date these individuals will chose to use a 

personal budget to make alternative arrangements. 

 

Staff support delivered to the new tenancies will be provided by the new supported living services (See 

section 3.5) with staff from the residential sector assimilated into this team.  Each new tenant will be entitled 

to a range of benefits to support their daily living and accommodation costs and may well choose a personal 

budget to determine their individual support needs.  To sum up:- views be sought on the desirability of the 

following, that the Authority should: 

1. Identify and confirm housing/support needs for all residents in the above properties. 

2. Commence discussion with Registered Social Landlords through the Department of Regeneration 

to identify potential options/accommodation to meet individual needs.  This will be co-ordinated 

thorough the Core Strategy Development Group 

3. Reassess the staffing complement during the transition period to ensure that suitable numbers of 

staff with the required skills and competencies are transferred to the new supported living services. 

4. Following implementation of realignment the support service should consider  two options in  

relation to the future organisational models 

a)   Pursue open tender if the department re-tenders with a new contract for Supported  Living or: 

b) To become part of the newly formed Local Authority Trading Company 

Any other views from stakeholders or partners regarding this service should be invited. 

Page 290



 

 
 

85 

 

Consultation Questions 

 

1. Are these conclusions the right ones? 

2. Do you have any concerns about these conclusions, and what could we do to address them?  

3. Are there any other options which would help to ensure that people could receive a more personal 

service whilst still providing value for money for people with a personal budget? 

4. Are there specific issues or barriers that these conclusions need to take account of in relation to 

ethnicity, disability, age, gender, religion and sexual orientation? 

5. Are there any other ideas or suggestions you would like to be considered with respect to this 

service. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.11  Dementia Care (page 48 – 49) 

Conclusions 

 

• That a feasibility study be undertaken to establish the viability, investment and actions necessary for 

the development of a Wirral wide or locality based dementia resource 

 

Consultation Questions 

 

1. Is this conclusion the right one? 

2. Do you have any concerns about this conclusion, and what could we do to address them?   

3. Are there specific issues or barriers that these conclusions need to take account of in relation to 

ethnicity, disability, age, gender, religion and sexual orientation? 

4. Are there any other ideas or suggestions you would like to be considered in respect of this 

conclusion? 

Page 291



 

 
 

86 

 

 

 

 

 

3.12 Day Services  (page 50 –56) 

Conclusion 

That views be sought on the following suggestions: 

Day Services – Enabling 

Learning Disabilities/Physical and Sensory  – Community Bridge Building Service 

A Community Bridge Building Service should be set up comprising a Manager, 5 full time equivalent 

Community Bridge Builders.  It would be the aim of the service to be flexible to individual’s need and times of 

contact.  The team would operate a span of duty that will begin no earlier than 8 am and end no later than 10 

pm, offering planned interventions over 7 days (depending on client need and identified goals) 

The team would have a capacity of up to 100 cases.  This would be reviewed at regular times.  

Resource for this team to be identified from within current day services.  Competencies to be developed 

which are aligned to personalised practice and staff to be selected against these competencies. 

Community Mental Health Recovery Service 

This service to have a single management structure although like the learning disabilities community bridge 

building services it would operate in the three localities.  Working Life service to be amalgamated into this 

service. 

Day Service Provision 

 
Day Services provide the greatest scope for reshaping in the context of personal budgets, providing a more 

extensive range of support to people.  These services could include personal assistant provision, brokerage, 

respite, support with building skills, support into learning and occupation, and access to mainstream 

recreational and leisure experience.   

 
These are also potentially the most vulnerable services as people may chose alternative models of support 

to achieve similar outcomes.    

 
In this context therefore the conclusions are: that consideration be given to the remaining day service to 

move into a Local Authority Trading Company, for a three year period, to be reviewed after those three years 

with regard to the suitability and success of this approach. 

That the transition process continues the audit of current utilisation of building and connectivity to the 

Page 292



 

 
 

87 

Strategic Asset Review.   

Implementation governance arrangements would need to be determined in the event of approval to proceed 

being granted by Cabinet.  In these circumstances the current relationship between commissioner and 

provider would no longer be appropriate. 

This report provides the initial business case for the transfer of day services, however a more detailed 

business case would need to be presented to Cabinet using the ‘Preparing to Trade’ Annex A – Guidance on 

the Power in the Local Government Act 2003. Alongside this in-depth consultation on this option.   

It may be that other elements of service could be added to the LATC as their new shape embeds and the 

personalisation agenda evolves eg. Supported living, Respite Care (LD/PSD/Mental Health), Transport. 

This proposal must also consider the services who have ‘expressed interest’ in developing a Social 

Enterprise.   Attention should be given to supporting the preparation of these business cases.  It may be that 

the development could continue under the umbrella of the LATC.  The former route would require Cabinet to 

agree to the two main commitments within ‘Right To Request’, a) that  staff exercising their ‘Right to 

Request’ retain their membership of the Local Authority Pension while they work on Council funded services 

and b) that the newly developed Social Enterprise receive a three year uncontested contract. 

 

Other views from stakeholders and partners should be invited.   

 

Consultation Questions 

1. Do you think that some day services should have the opportunity to develop into Social 

Enterprises?  

2.  Is the conclusion about the developing a Community Bridge Building Service for people with 

Learning Disabilities and Physical and Sensory Disabilities the right one? 

3.  Is the conclusion about refocusing Mental Health Services the right one? 

4.  What are your views about the Local Authority exploring the option of developing a Local Trading 

Company in the first instance to support the development of day services but other care services if 

it appropriate? 

5.  Are there any other options which would help to ensure that people could receive a more personal 

service whilst still providing value for money for people with a personal budget? 

6.  Are there specific issues or barriers that these conclusions need to take account of in relation to 

ethnicity, disability, age, gender, religion and sexual orientation? 

7.  Are there any other views or suggestions you would like to be considered with respect to these 

services? 

 

 

 

Thank you 

Page 293



 

 
 

88 

 

P
a
g

e
 2

9
4



WIRRAL COUNCIL 

CABINET – 23 JULY 2009 

REPORT OF THE DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE 
SERVICES 

LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK FOR WIRRAL – REVIEW OF LOCAL 
DEVELOPMENT SCHEME 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The preparation of a Local Development Scheme is a statutory requirement under the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. The Scheme lists the type and number of statutory 
planning documents that the Council intends to produce, together with a timetable for their 
preparation. 

The Scheme must be submitted for approval to the Secretary of State before it can be brought 
into effect by Council resolution.  Delivery against the Scheme is a criterion for the annual 
award of Housing Planning Delivery Grant.  The development and delivery of strategic policy 
frameworks to achieve sustainable economic development forms part of the Delivery Plan for 
the Corporate Plan.  

This report considers an update to the Local Development Scheme last approved by the 
Council in July 2007 (Council, Minute 30).  It recommends that the revised Scheme attached to 
this report is approved for submission to the Secretary of State. 

1 Background 

1.1 The Local Development Framework is a series of statutory Local Development 
Documents that set out the Council’s policies for the use and development of land as a 
replacement for the adopted Unitary Development Plan.  The Framework plays a major 
role in the determination of individual planning applications and in other decisions taken 
under the Town and Country Planning Acts. 

1.2 The Local Development Scheme sets out the Council’s programme for the preparation of 
Documents that will form part of the Local Development Framework. 

1.3 The Scheme must be approved by the Secretary of State.  The Secretary of State has 
powers of direction to modify the content of a Local Development Scheme.  Once 
submitted, the Secretary of State has four weeks to consider the Scheme and to direct 
any alterations that he may wish to see, before the Scheme can be brought into effect by 
Council resolution. 

1.4 Only documents included in an approved Local Development Scheme can be adopted as 
part of the Local Development Framework.  New documents can only be added by 
submitting a formal amendment to the Scheme to the Secretary of State. 

Agenda Item 12

Page 295



2 Review of Progress 

2.1 The text of the revised Local Development Scheme, recommended for submission to the 
Secretary of State, is attached to this report.  

Adopted Documents 

2.2 The Council has so far adopted five Local Development Documents, including: 

• Statement of Community Involvement (Council 18 December 2006, Minute 86); 

• Supplementary Planning Document 1 – Designing for Development by Mobile Phone 
Operators (Council, 30 October 2006, Minute 61) 

• Supplementary Planning Document 2 – Designing for Self Contained Flat 
Development and Conversions (Council, 30 October 2006, Minute 61) 

• Supplementary Planning Document 3 – Hot Food Takeaways, Restaurants, Cafes 
and Drinking Establishments (Council, 30 October 2006, Minute 61) 

• Supplementary Planning Document 4 – Parking Standards (Council, 25 June 2007, 
Minute 22) 

Core Strategy Development Plan Document 

2.3 The main priority for the review of the Local Development Scheme is to secure more 
effective progress on the preparation of the Core Strategy. 

2.4 Consultation on the preparation of a Core Strategy Development Plan Document began 
in October 2005.  Consultation on an Issues, Vision and Objectives Report took place in 
February 2009.  Spatial Options will be considered by Cabinet in September 2009 with a 
view to undertaking public consultation in October 2009. 

2.5 The timetable for future stages of production is set out within the draft Scheme attached.  
The timetable has been accelerated to support the delivery of the Council’s Investment 
Strategy. 

2.6 To meet this timetable it will no longer be possible to provide detailed presentations to 
each Area Forum at each stage in the process.  Copies of all the relevant documentation 
will, however, be sent to all Area Forum members as part of the formal consultation 
process.  The target date for adoption is now June 2011. 

Site-Allocation Development Plan Documents 

2.7 Previous Local Development Schemes indicated the Council’s intention to prepare site 
specific allocations Documents for housing; employment; and for town centres, retail and 
leisure. 

2.8 Government Office has advised that site specific proposals should now be presented in a 
single site-allocation Document, to better facilitate the consideration of mixed use 

Page 296



developments.  The necessary amendments to accommodate a single Document have 
therefore been included. 

2.9 The longer term intention to prepare site-specific Documents related to green 
infrastructure and heritage is retained but a timetable will not be included until the 
necessary resources can be identified, through a future review of the Scheme. 

Birkenhead Docklands Area Action Plan 

2.10 The intention to prepare an Area Action Plan, signalled in previous Local Development 
Schemes, has now been brought forward to support the delivery of the Mersey 
Heartlands Growth Point. 

Joint Waste Development Plan Document for Merseyside and Halton 

2.11 Consultation on the preparation of a Joint Waste DPD, undertaken on behalf of the 
districts by the Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service, began in March 2007.  
Preferred Options for the Waste DPD are expected to be published for public consultation 
in October 2009.  A public meeting will be held in each of the districts to provide 
additional information. 

2.12 The timetable for future stages of production is set out within the draft Scheme attached.  
The target date for adoption is now October 2011. 

Supplementary Planning Documents 

2.13 Government Office has advised that Supplementary Planning Documents linked to the 
older Unitary Development Plan should no longer be prepared. 

2.14 While the duty to specify the programme for the preparation of SPDs has now been 
removed, the draft Scheme still indicates the Council’s intention to prepare SPDs to 
provide further details on matters related to: 

• Design 

• Affordable Housing 

• Green Infrastructure 

• Transport and Accessibility 

• Developer Contributions 

2.15 These and other new SPDs cannot be prepared until an appropriate policy has been 
included in a higher level Development Plan Document. 

3 Public Consultation 

3.1 There is no statutory requirement for public consultation on a Local Development 
Scheme but the Council made a commitment to consult local stakeholders on the scope 
of any review in the Statement of Community Involvement adopted in December 2006. 

Page 297



3.2 Letters informing previous respondents of the publication of the Council’s Annual 
Monitoring Report and of the intention to review the Local Development Scheme were 
sent out in January 2009.  The deadline for comments was 27 February 2009.  Three 
responses were received on the content of the review: 

Respondent Comment 

The Oxton Society The Society is concerned that there appears to be no immediate intention to 
update the more detailed guidance for development control in the Oxton 
Conservation Area, which is currently set out in the “old-style” SPG21.  The 
weight attached to old style SPG’s in development control is likely to diminish, 
particularly where they are out-of-date.  We cannot agree that SPG21 (1994) is 
“up-to-date”, as recorded in the Annexe to the LDS, as there have been 
significant changes and erosion of character, as clearly revealed in the 
Character Appraisal completed in 2006. 

The LDS 2007 anticipated the preparation of a Heritage DPD in 2011.  If this 
remains the Council’s intention, it is essential that the new LDS sets out clearly 
the proposed scope and content of the Heritage DPD, in particular, how it will 
embrace the policies and proposals in the approved Conservation Area 
Appraisals and Management Plans. 

Countryside Council 
for Wales 

Sets out the designated sites in Wales that will need to be considered under the 
Conservation (Natural Habitats, etc) Regulations 1994. 

Requests that any review take account of the River Dee Regional Park/Green 
Infrastructure project, being promoted by the Mersey Dee Alliance.  CCW is very 
supportive of this initiative and believe it can provide great benefit to residents of 
Wirral in terms of an improved environment and quality of life, as well as 
economic and social advantage. 

Environment Agency UDP Policy WA1 – Criteria for Flood Risk, as identified within Section 19: Water 
of the Annexe needs to be reviewed to meet PPS25 and not PPG25.  The policy 
may also need to reflect the Wirral Strategic Flood Risk Assessment once 
adopted.  The Wirral Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (February 2009) is 
currently being reviewed. 

4 Financial Implications 

4.1 The funding necessary to deliver the previous Local Development Scheme was set aside 
by Cabinet on 19 June 2006 (Minute 64) and 28 March 2007 (Minute 314). 

4.2 Funding currently estimated at £181,000 for the delivery of the Core Strategy in 2009/10 
and 2010/11 can be met from existing resources.  The estimated funding of £90,000 in 
2011/12, for costs arising from the public examination, adoption and final publication of 
the Strategy will need to be considered as a growth item at the appropriate time. 

4.3 Funding currently estimated at £240,000 for the delivery of the Allocations Document, 
which will not begin until 2011/12, for costs arising from printing, consultation, updating 
evidence, statutory appraisals and public examination will need to be considered as a 
growth item, at the appropriate time. 

4.4 Funding currently estimated at £240,000 for the delivery of the Birkenhead Docklands 
Area Action Plan can be met from existing resources set aside for the delivery of the 

Page 298



Investment Strategy.  Cabinet on 5 February 2009 approved £120,000 for an initial study 
to provide an evidence base for the Area Action Plan jointly funded by the Investment 
Strategy and by the Housing Market Renewal Initiative (Minute 352 refers). 

4.5 Funding expected at £48,563 for the preparation of the Merseyside Joint Waste 
Development Plan Document for 2009/10 can be met from existing resources.  Funding 
of £70,894 for 2010/11 and £42,284 for 2011/12 will need to be considered as growth 
items, at the appropriate time. 

4.6 The availability of Housing and Planning Delivery Grant for 2009/10 has not yet been 
announced. 

4.7 Any amendments to the Local Development Scheme required by the Secretary of State 
as a condition of his approval may have additional financial implications. 

5 Staffing Implications 

5.1 There are no staffing implications arising directly from this report 

6 Planning Implications 

6.1 The Local Development Scheme sets out the programme for the preparation of Local 
Development Documents that, when adopted, will become material considerations in 
decisions on planning applications and other decisions under the Town and Country 
Planning Acts. 

7 Equal Opportunities Implications 

7.1 There are no implications for equal opportunities arising directly from this report. 

7.2 The Local Development Framework will, however, be drawn up to promote equal 
opportunities irrespective of age, gender, religion, disability or sexual orientation.   

8 Social Inclusion Implications 

8.1 There are no social inclusion implications arising directly from this report. 

8.2 The Local Development Framework will, however, seek to promote social inclusion as 
part of the wider promotion of economic revitalisation and sustainable development. 

9 Anti-Poverty Implications 

9.1 There are no anti-poverty implications arising directly from this report. 

9.2 The Local Development Framework will, however, seek to promote development to 
address the needs of communities most in need of income and employment. 

10 Human Rights Implications 

10.1 There are no human rights implications arising from this report. 

Page 299



11 Local Agenda 21 Implications 

11.1 There are no Local Agenda 21 implications arising from this report.   

11.2 There is a statutory duty to exercise plan-making functions with the objective of 
contributing to the achievement of sustainable development.  Documents forming part of 
the Local Development Framework will be subject to statutory appraisal processes, 
including strategic environmental assessment and Habitats Regulations Assessment. 

12 Community Safety Implications  

12.1 There are no community safety implications arising directly from this report. 

12.2 The Local Development Framework will, however, contain policies intended to minimise 
the risk from pollution, hazards, flooding, coastal erosion and to promote highway safety. 

13 Local Member Support Implications 

13.1 This report will be of interest to all Ward Members. 

14 Background Documents 

14.1 Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (HMSO 2004, Chapter 5) can be viewed at 
http://www.opsi.gov.uk/acts/acts2004/20040005.htm 

14.2 Town and Country Planning (Local Development) (England) Regulations 2004 (HMSO, SI 
2004 No 2204) can be viewed at http://www.opsi.gov.uk/si/si2004/20042204.htm 

14.3 Town and Country Planning (Local Development) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 
2008 (HMSO, SI 2008 No 1371) (a live weblink is currently unavailable) 

14.4 Town and Country Planning (Local Development) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 
2009 (HMSO, SI 2009, No 401) can be viewed at 
http://www.opsi.gov.uk/si/si2009/uksi_20090401_en_1 

14.5 Planning Policy Statement 12: Local Spatial Planning (CLG, June 2008) can be viewed at 
http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/planningandbuilding/pdf/pps12lsp.pdf 

14.6 Local Development Scheme for Wirral (Approved 24 April 2007) can be viewed at 
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/LGCL/100006/200074/856/LDSReviewFinalJuly07.pdf 

14.7 Local Development Framework for Wirral – Annual Monitoring Report (December 2008) 
can be viewed at 
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/LGCL/100006/200074/856/content_0001673.html 

Page 300



RECOMMENDATIONS 

(1) That the draft Local Development Scheme, attached to this report, is approved for 
submission to Secretary of State. 

(2) That the Director of Corporate Services is given delegated authority to agree any 
amendments to the draft Scheme, required by the Secretary of State as a condition 
of his approval. 

(3) That any amendments to the draft Scheme that will have financial implications will 
be reported back to Cabinet as soon as practicable. 

J Wilkie 
Deputy Chief Executive/Director of Corporate Services 
 

Page 301



Page 302

This page is intentionally left blank



06/07/09 

Local Development Scheme for Wirral 
Third Review - Cabinet Draft – July 2009 

1 

 

WIRRAL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

SECTION 15 

PLANNING AND COMPULSORY PURCHASE ACT 2004 

LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME FOR WIRRAL 

THIRD REVIEW 

SUBMITTED [DATE] 2009 
 

APPROVED BY THE SECRETARY OF STATE 
[DATE] 2009 

 
BROUGHT INTO EFFECT 

BY RESOLUTION OF THE COUNCIL 
FROM [DATE] 2009 

Page 303



06/07/09 

Local Development Scheme for Wirral 
Third Review - Cabinet Draft – July 2009 

2 

[blank for copying] 

Page 304



06/07/09 

Local Development Scheme for Wirral 
Third Review - Cabinet Draft – July 2009 

3 

CONTENTS 

1 Introduction 5 

2 Background 5 

3 The Development Plan for Wirral 5 

4 The Local Development Framework for Wirral 7 

5 Documents Proposed or in Preparation 8 

6 Sustainability Appraisal 10 

7 Evidence Base 11 

8 Document Availability 11 

9 Resources 12 

10 Risk Assessment 12 

11 Monitoring & Review 13 

12 Useful Contacts 13 

13 Background Documents 13 

Appendix 1 – Document Linkages 15 

Appendix 2 – Chain of Conformity 16 

Appendix 3 - Document Production 2009/2014 16 

Appendix 3 - Document Production 2009/2014 17 

Appendix 4 – Local Development Document Profiles 18 

Appendix 5 - Summary of Content and Procedures 22 

Appendix 6 – Evidence Base 25 

Appendix 7 – Adopted Local Development Documents 27 

Appendix 8 – Policies and Proposals No Longer in Force 28 

 

Page 305



06/07/09 

Local Development Scheme for Wirral 
Third Review - Cabinet Draft – July 2009 

4 

[blank for copying] 

Page 306



06/07/09 

Local Development Scheme for Wirral 
Third Review - Cabinet Draft – July 2009 

5 

1 INTRODUCTION 

1.1 The Local Development Scheme is a statutory document setting out the 
Council’s programme for the preparation of the Local Development 
Framework for Wirral over the next three years, produced in 
accordance with section 15 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004. 

1.2 The Local Development Framework is a collection of statutory Local 
Development Documents that will together set out the vision and spatial 
strategy for future development and investment across the Borough.  
Development Plan Documents within the Framework will form part of 
the Development Plan for the area. 

1.3 The Framework will play a major role in the determination of individual 
planning applications and in other decisions taken under the Town and 
Country Planning Acts.  

2 BACKGROUND  

2.1 The first Local Development Scheme for Wirral was approved by the 
Secretary of State on 31 March 2005 and came into effect on 20 May 
2005.  A review of the Scheme was approved in May 2006 and a series 
of minor amendments in November 2006.  The second Local 
Development Scheme was subsequently approved on 24 April 2007 
and brought into force from the 23 July 2007.  This document is a 
further review of the Local Development Scheme, intended to 
accelerate the preparation of a Core Strategy Development Plan 
Document. 

2.2 Consultation on the findings of the Annual Monitoring Report and on the 
intention to review the Local Development Scheme took place during 
January and February 2009.  The comments received have been taken 
into account in this review. 

2.3 Any revision to the Local Development Scheme must be approved by 
the Secretary of State before they can come into effect.  This revised 
Scheme was submitted to the Secretary of State on [date] 2009.  It will 
be published on the Council’s website once approval has been granted 
and the Council has formally resolved to bring it into effect. 

3 THE DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR WIRRAL 

3.1 The statutory Development Plan for the Metropolitan Borough of Wirral 
currently comprises: 

• The Unitary Development Plan for Wirral (adopted by the Council in 
February 2000); and 

• The North West of England Plan - Regional Spatial Strategy to 2021 
(issued by the Secretary of State in September 2008).  

Page 307



06/07/09 

Local Development Scheme for Wirral 
Third Review - Cabinet Draft – July 2009 

6 

Unitary Development Plan 

3.2 The Unitary Development Plan Written Statement and Proposals Map 
can be viewed through the Council’s website at 
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/LGCL/100006/200074/856/content_0002218.ht
ml.  

3.3 The policies and proposals of the Unitary Development Plan were 
initially “saved” to remain in force until September 20071 or until they 
are replaced by a Development Plan Document contained within the 
emerging Local Development Framework for Wirral.   

3.4 A list of the policies and proposals “saved” beyond September 2007 
can be viewed on the Council’s website at 
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/LGCL/100006/200074/856/SavingDirectionFin
alWirral.pdf.  An up-to-date statement of the status of the policies and 
documents associated with the Unitary Development Plan is set out in 
an Annex to the Local Development Scheme. 

Regional Spatial Strategy  

3.5 The latest version of the Regional Spatial Strategy can be viewed on 
the Government Office for the North West website at 
http://www.gonw.gov.uk/gonw/Planning/RegionalPlanning/?a=42496 

3.6 A Partial Review of the Regional Spatial Strategy will soon be 
completed to make additional provision for gypsies and travellers, 
travelling showpeople and parking standards.  Progress on the Partial 
Review can be viewed at http://www.northwestplanpartialreview.org.uk/. 

3.7 Work has commenced on a new Regional Strategy for the North West 
under the brand name RS2010.  Following consultation on Issues and 
Principles in early 2009, it is intended that a draft strategy will be 
prepared over the summer to be subject to consultation towards the 
end of 2009. 

3.8 The exact timing of future stages is dependent on the passing of 
legislation which would enable this strategy development work to 
become a formal Single Integrated Regional Strategy for the region, 
replacing the Regional Spatial Strategy.  Progress on the new 
replacement Strategy can be viewed at 
http://www.nwregionalstrategy.com/. 

                                            
1
 A period of three years from the commencement of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, as specified 
in Schedule 8 of the Act. 

Page 308



06/07/09 

Local Development Scheme for Wirral 
Third Review - Cabinet Draft – July 2009 

7 

4 THE LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK FOR WIRRAL 

4.1 The Local Development Framework for Wirral is a collection of Local 
Development Documents that will set out the Council’s spatial policies 
for the development and use of land.   These will, over time, include: 

• the Local Development Scheme; 

• a Core Strategy; 

• a Statement of Community Involvement; 

• a Site Allocations Development Plan Document; 

• a series of Supplementary Planning Documents; 

• a Proposals Map; and 

• a series of Annual Monitoring Reports. 

4.2 The linkages between the various documents are set out in Appendix 1.  
The chain of conformity is set out in Appendix 2. 

4.3 The Core Strategy, adopted Development Plan Documents and the 
Proposals Map will have status alongside the Regional Spatial Strategy, 
as part of the statutory Development Plan for the area. 

4.4 Supplementary Planning Documents do not form part of the 
Development Plan and must be prepared in conformity either with the 
Core Strategy, with another Development Plan Document or with the 
Unitary Development Plan until it has been replaced. 

4.5 A list of the Local Development Documents that have already been 
adopted is provided at Appendix 7. 

4.6 The main priority of this review of the Local Development Scheme is to 
secure more effective progress on the preparation of the Core Strategy. 

Key Milestones 

4.7 The future timetable for the Council’s preparation of Local Development 
Documents over the next three years is set out in Appendix 3.  A 
separate profile for each of the Council’s Local Development 
Documents is attached at Appendix 4.  A continuously up-dated record 
of progress will be made available on the Council’s website at 
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/LGCL/100006/200074/856/content_0001523.ht
ml 

4.8 The dates set for the key milestones included in Appendix 3 and 
Appendix 4 reflect the requirements of the Government Office for the 
North West and the Planning Inspectorate, following informal 
consultations undertaken during June 2009. 

4.9 The general nature of each Document and the process for preparing 
them is summarised in Appendix 5. 

Page 309



06/07/09 

Local Development Scheme for Wirral 
Third Review - Cabinet Draft – July 2009 

8 

5 DOCUMENTS PROPOSED OR IN PREPARATION 

Core Strategy Development Plan Document 

5.1 The Core Strategy Development Plan Document will set the long term 
vision, objectives and spatial strategy for the Borough for a period of not 
less than fifteen years.  It is also intended to provide the wider land use 
framework for the future delivery of public services within the area. 

5.2 The Core Strategy can include strategic site allocations and will provide 
the framework for other area-based or site-specific matters to be 
addressed in subsequent Development Plan Documents to be prepared 
later on. 

5.3 Consultation on the content of the Core Strategy began in October 
2005.  The initial findings were reported in July 2006, followed by a 
series of workshops in November 2006.  Further consultation with hard 
to reach groups was undertaken in September 2007.  A second report 
of initial consultation was issued in February 2009. 

5.4 Public consultation on the scope of the sustainability appraisal for the 
Core Strategy was undertaken during July 2006. 

5.5 In December 2006, the Council’s Annual Monitoring Report identified 
the need to strengthen the evidence base for the Core Strategy.  As a 
result, a series of technical studies to further assess the needs, 
demands and capacity of the area were commissioned.  The majority of 
this major programme of work will be brought to conclusion in summer 
2009.  A review of the Housing Needs Assessment to take into account 
recent changes in the housing market, a Strategic Housing Land 
Availability Assessment and a renewable energy potential study are still 
in preparation. 

5.6 Public consultation on the issues, vision and objectives for the Core 
Strategy took place in February and March 2009, accompanied by an 
initial sustainability appraisal, an initial equality impact assessment and 
two reports of initial consultation.  The results of consultation will be 
made available for public inspection through the Council’s consultation 
website at http://wirral-consult.limehouse.co.uk/portal. 

5.7 Appendix 4.1 sets out the amended timetable for the remaining stages 
of production of the Core Strategy.  The timetable takes account of 
recent amendments to national Regulations and guidance issued by the 
Planning Inspectorate on the minimum achievable timescales following 
submission.  The target date for the adoption of the Core Strategy is 
now June 2011. 

Page 310



06/07/09 

Local Development Scheme for Wirral 
Third Review - Cabinet Draft – July 2009 

9 

Site Allocations Development Plan Document 

5.8 Government Office has advised that site specific proposals should now 
be presented in a single site-allocation Document, to better facilitate the 
consideration of mixed use developments. 

5.9 Appendix 4.2 sets out the timetable for the production of this Document.  
The target date for the adoption of the site-specific allocations 
Development Plan Document is now June 2013, to reflect the amended 
timetable for the Core Strategy. 

5.10 Other site or area-specific Development Plan Documents may also be 
produced related to issues such as heritage and green infrastructure.  A 
timetable for the production of these Documents will be included in a 
future review of the Local Development Scheme. 

Birkenhead Docklands Area Action Plan 

5.11 The intention to consider preparing an Area Action Plan for Birkenhead 
Docklands, included in previous Local Development Schemes, has now 
been brought forward as a formal proposal to support the delivery of the 
Mersey Heartlands Growth Point.  A study to form the preliminary 
evidence base for the Area Action Plan will be commissioned during 
summer 2009. 

5.12 Appendix 4.3 sets out the timetable for the production of the Area 
Action Plan.  The target date for the adoption of the Area Action Plan is 
June 2013, to reflect the amended timetable for the Core Strategy and 
the timetable for the site-specific allocations Document. 

Merseyside Joint Waste Development Plan Document 

5.13 The proposal to prepare a Merseyside Joint Waste Development Plan 
Document to cover the geographic areas of Liverpool City Council and 
the Metropolitan Boroughs of Knowsley, Sefton, St Helens, Wirral and 
Halton Borough, was brought forward in the first review of the Local 
Development Scheme. 

5.14 The Joint Waste DPD will promote sustainable waste management 
principles.  It will ensure that Greater Merseyside contributes to meeting 
identified needs for all waste streams alongside other spatial concerns, 
provide for new capacity based on clear policy objectives, and set out 
agreed criteria for the allocation of suitable sites.  Site allocations, for 
inclusion on the Proposals Map, will be supported by site-specific 
policies, alongside policies for speculative proposals on un-allocated 
sites. 

5.15 The Merseyside Authorities and Halton Borough Council have formally 
agreed joint working arrangements.  St Helens MBC is the lead 
authority.  Work is being managed on behalf of the Authorities by the 
Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service, advised by a Waste DPD 

Page 311



06/07/09 

Local Development Scheme for Wirral 
Third Review - Cabinet Draft – July 2009 

10

Steering Group, with representatives from each Authority, reporting to 
the Merseyside Leaders and Chief Executives Group.  The costs of 
preparation are shared between the six District Councils.  

5.16 The Merseyside Joint Waste DPD is being prepared to reflect national 
policy statements2, DEFRA guidance3 and the Local Development 
Schemes, Statements of Community Involvement and Annual 
Monitoring Reports for each District. 

5.17 Consultation on Issues and Options began in March 2007.  Appendix 
4.4 sets out the future timetable, with a target date for adoption of 
October 2011.  Progress on the preparation of the Joint Waste 
Development Plan Document can be viewed at 
http://wasteplanningmerseyside.gov.uk/site.do 

Supplementary Planning Documents 

5.18 Changes to national Regulations mean that the Local Development 
Scheme is no longer required to set out the timetables for the 
production of Supplementary Planning Documents. 

5.19 The Council does not propose to prepare any additional Supplementary 
Planning Documents until work on the Core Strategy is further 
advanced.  The preparation of Supplementary Planning Documents is, 
however, likely to prioritise matters related to: 

• Design; 

• Affordable housing; 

• Green infrastructure; 

• Transport and accessibility; and 

• Developer contributions. 

6 SUSTAINABILITY APPRAISAL 

6.1 The Council consulted on a draft Sustainability Appraisal Framework, 
during August 2005, as a guide to the individual appraisals to be carried 
out as part of the preparation of the Local Development Framework.  
The final Framework was adopted in July 2006. 

6.2 An independent panel was appointed to oversee the appraisal 
processes in October 2006 and has already considered the comments 
received on the scope of the sustainability appraisals for the Core 
Strategy and the Supplementary Planning Document for Parking.  The 
Sustainability Appraisal Report for the Core Strategy was adopted in 
July 2007. 

                                            
2
 Such as Planning Policy Statement 10: Planning for Sustainable Waste Management (July 2005) and Planning 
Policy Statement 12: Local Development Frameworks (ODPM, 2004) 
3
 Guidance on the Preparation of Municipal Waste Management Strategies (July 2005) 

Page 312



06/07/09 

Local Development Scheme for Wirral 
Third Review - Cabinet Draft – July 2009 

11

6.3 A review of the Sustainability Appraisal Framework, building on 
experience from the initial appraisals and the emerging lessons of 
regional best practice, will be carried out when resources allow. 

7 EVIDENCE BASE  

7.1 A number of specialist technical studies have been commissioned to 
establish the evidence base for the Core Strategy DPD.  These studies 
include: 

• Wirral Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment4 

• Wirral Strategic Housing Market and Housing Needs Assessment5 

• Wirral Employment Land and Premises Study 

• Wirral Town Centres, Retail and Commercial Leisure Study 

• Wirral Open Space and Recreation Audit6 

• Wirral Wildlife Sites and Biodiversity Audit 

• Wirral Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 

• Wirral Landscape Character Assessment 

• Merseyside Minerals Study7 

• Merseyside Renewable Energy Potential Assessment8 

• Wirral Social and Community Infrastructure Requirements Study9 

7.2 The majority of these studies have been undertaken in consultation with 
local stakeholders by external consultants appointed in accordance with 
the Council’s Standing Orders. 

7.3 Separate evidence prepared by consultants on behalf of Peel Holdings 
in support of the Wirral Waters development project can be viewed at 
http://www.wirralwaters.co.uk/. 

7.4 The Programme of Development for the Growth Point submitted jointly 
with Liverpool City Council and Peel Holdings in October 2008, can be 
viewed at [website]. 

8 DOCUMENT AVAILABILITY 

8.1 Documents forming part of the emerging Local Development 
Framework for Wirral will be made available for public inspection at 
public libraries, at the public counter of the Technical Services 
Department and on the Council’s website at 

                                            
4
 Commissioned jointly with Liverpool City Council 
5
 The initial Strategic Housing Market and Housing Needs Assessment, commissioned by the Council in 2006, was 
reported to the Council’s Cabinet in February 2008.  An update of this study, to include a strategic economic viability 
assessment, is underway and is due to report in during 2009. 
6
 Prepared as part of the contract for the preparation of a Strategic Forward Plan for Cultural Services 
7
 Commissioned jointly by the Merseyside authorities through Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service 
8
 Commissioned jointly by the Merseyside authorities through Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service 
9
 To be prepared in-house 

Page 313



06/07/09 

Local Development Scheme for Wirral 
Third Review - Cabinet Draft – July 2009 

12

http://www.wirral.gov.uk/LGCL/100006/200074/856/content_0001523.ht
ml in accordance with the standards set out in the Council’s Statement 
of Community Involvement. 

8.2 The Council has purchased Limehouse document creation and 
consultation management software and intends to use it in full from the 
Core Strategy Spatial Options stage onwards, to publish and consult on 
planning-related documents and encourage the use of online 
consultation.  The on-line consultation portal can be found at 
http://wirral-consult.limehouse.co.uk/portal. 

8.3 Paper copies will continue to be available, on request, from the 
Corporate Services Department, for a reasonable charge. 

9 RESOURCES 

9.1 The Strategic Development Division in the Corporate Services 
Department has primary responsibility for the preparation of the Local 
Development Framework. 

9.2 The preparation of the Local Development Framework is co-ordinated 
by a team of eight officers in the Forward Planning Section of the 
Strategic Development Division, reporting to the Council’s Cabinet, 
subject to the Economy and Regeneration Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. 

9.3 The estimated costs for the production of each Local Development 
Document are set out in Appendix 4. 

10 RISK ASSESSMENT 

10.1 The revised timetable for the preparation of the Local Development 
Framework is challenging.  A register of the likely risks to delivery of the 
timetable set out in this report is being prepared based on previous 
experience.  The principal risks identified relate to: 

• The need for specialist officers to support development 
management decisions, planning appeals and call-in inquiries; 

• Delays to accommodate local and national election processes; 

• The time required to gain the necessary approvals and the dates 
available for future Council/Cabinet meetings; 

• The possible call-in of Cabinet decisions for further scrutiny; 

• The availability and turnover of specialist officers within the Forward 
Planning Team; 

• Changes in national legislation, policies and guidance; 

• The unexpected findings of evidence base studies and statutory 
assessments such as sustainability appraisals, strategic 
environmental assessments and Habitat Regulations Assessments; 

Page 314



06/07/09 

Local Development Scheme for Wirral 
Third Review - Cabinet Draft – July 2009 

13

• Significant objections from statutory consultees and other 
stakeholders; and 

• Limited take-up of on-line consultation leading to additional time for 
the manual inputting of consultation data. 

10.2 The risk register will be regularly updated and published on the 
Council’s web site at 
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/LGCL/100006/200074/856/content_0001523.ht
ml 

11 MONITORING & REVIEW 

11.1 The Local Development Scheme is subject to annual review, following 
the submission of the Council’s Annual Monitoring Report to the 
Secretary of State.  Previous Annual Monitoring Reports for Wirral can 
be viewed on the Council’s website at 
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/LGCL/100006/200074/856/content_0001673.ht
ml 

11.2 The North West Regional Assembly is also required to submit and 
publish a regional Annual Monitoring Report.  Copies of regional 
monitoring reports can be viewed on the Assembly’s website at 
http://www.nwriu.co.uk/aboutus/2329.aspx. 

12 USEFUL CONTACTS 

12.1 Forward Planning, Strategic Development, Corporate Services, North 
Annexe, Wallasey Town Hall, Brighton Street, Wallasey CH44 8ED 

• Andrew Fraser, Acting Forward Planning Manager: 0151 691 8218 

• John Entwistle, Acting Principal Forward Planning Officer: 0151 691 
8221 

13 BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

13.1 The following documents provide additional information on Local 
Development Framework processes and requirements: 

• Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (HMSO 2004, Chapter 5) 

• The Town and Country Planning (Local Development) (England) 
Regulations 2004 (HMSO, SI 2004 No 2204) 

• The Town and Country Planning (Local 
Development)(England)(Amendment) Regulations 2008 (HMSO SI 2008 
No.1371) 

• The Town and Country Planning (Local 
Development)(England)(Amendment) Regulations 2009 (HMSO SI 2009 
No.401)  

• The Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 
2004 (HMSO, SI 2004 No 1633) 

Page 315



06/07/09 

Local Development Scheme for Wirral 
Third Review - Cabinet Draft – July 2009 

14

• The Conservation (Natural Habitats &c) Regulations 1994 (HMSO, 1994 
No 2716) (as amended) 

• Planning Policy Statement 12: Creating Strong Safe and Prosperous 
Communities through Local Spatial Planning (CLG, 2008) 

• The Plan Making Manual (www.pas.gov.uk) 

• Local Development Framework Monitoring: A Good Practice Guide 
(ODPM, 2005) 

• Sustainability Appraisal of Regional Spatial Strategies and Local 
Development Documents (ODPM, 2005) 

 

Page 316



 

Local Development Scheme for Wirral 
Third Review - Cabinet Draft – July 2009 

15 

Appendix 1 – Document Linkages 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Regional Spatial Strategy 

National Policy 

RSS (Sept 2008) 

Unitary Development Plan 

Adopted February 2000 
(Saved Sept 2007) 

Policies & Proposals 
(Listed in Annex) 

Core Strategy 

Supplementary Planning 
Guidance 

(Until Replaced) 
(Listed in Annex) 

Supplementary Planning 
Documents 

(To be determined) 

UDP Proposals Map  LDF Proposals Map 

Supplementary Planning 
Documents 

New Flats Food & Drink 
Telecomms Parking 

Site 
Allocations 

DPD 

Birkenhead 
Docklands 

AAP 

Joint 
Waste 
DPD 

P
a
g
e
 3

1
7



 

Local Development Scheme for Wirral 
Third Review - Cabinet Draft – July 2009 

16 

Appendix 2 – Chain of Conformity 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Core 
Strategy 

Supplementary Planning Documents 

Documents with Development 
Plan Status 

Site Allocations 
DPD 

Regional Spatial Strategy 

National Policy 

Birkenhead 
Docklands AAP 

Joint Waste 
DPD 

P
a
g

e
 3

1
8



 

Local Development Scheme for Wirral 
Third Review - Cabinet Draft – July 2009 

17 

Appendix 3 - Document Production 2009/2014 

 

 2009/10 2010/11 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Document Type Ref 

A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M 

Core Strategy DPD 4.1      I     C     D   S P  E   

Site Allocations DPD 4.2                         

Birkenhead Docklands AAP 4.3                         

Merseyside Joint Waste DPD 4.4      C           D  S  P E   
 

 2011/12 2012/13 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Document Type Ref 

A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M 

Core Strategy DPD 4.1 R  A                      

Site Allocations DPD 4.2 B     I     C     D   S P  E   

Birkenhead Docklands AAP 4.3 B     I     C     D   S P  E   

Merseyside Joint Waste DPD 4.4     R  A                  
 

 2013/14 2014/15 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Document Type Ref 

A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M 

Site Allocations DPD 4.2 R  A                      

Birkenhead Docklands AAP 4.3 R  A                      
 
KEY 
B = Start Work, Research and Scoping    P = Pre-Examination Meeting 
I = Initial Consultation      E = Public Examination 
C = Preferred Options Consultation    R = Receipt of Inspector’s Report 
D =Publication       A = Adoption 
S = Submission to Secretary of State 
 

P
a
g
e
 3

1
9



 

Local Development Scheme for Wirral 
Third Review - Cabinet Draft – July 2009 

18

Appendix 4 – Local Development Document Profiles 

APPENDIX 4.1 - DEVELOPMENT PLAN DOCUMENT PROFILE
 10

 
 

Document Name:  
Core Strategy 

Status: 
Development Plan Document 

Purpose: 
To provide the long-term vision, objectives and spatial strategy for the Borough and the 
framework for future Development Plan Documents 

Coverage: 
Borough wide 

Time Period: 
15 years 

Chain of Conformity: 
Regional Spatial Strategy, Wirral Sustainable 
Community Strategy 

Post Adoption Monitoring & Review: 
Annual Monitoring Report 
5 Yearly Assessment 

Departmental Responsibility: 
Corporate Services Department 

Contact: 
Andrew Fraser, Acting Forward Planning 
Manager 0151 691 8218 

Key Milestones 

Commencement: July 2005* 

SA Scoping: July 2006* 

Initial Consultation: September 2007* 

Issues Vision and 
Objectives: 

February/March 2009 

Spatial Options: 
(Regulation 25) 

September/ 
November 2009 

Preferred Options: 
(Regulation 25) 

February/April 2010 

Publication: 
(Regulation 27) 

July/August 2010 

Representations: 
(Regulation 28/29) 

August/September 
2010 

Submission: 
(Regulation 30/31) 

October 2010 

Pre-Examination 
Meeting: 

November 2010 

Public Examination: January/February 
2011 

Inspectors Report: April 2011 

Adoption: June 2011 

Re-Publish 
Proposals Map: 

No 

Key Stakeholders: 
Government Office 
Regional Leaders Forum (4NW) 
North West Development Agency 
English Partnerships 
Homes and Communities Agency 
New Heartlands Board 
Local Strategic Partnership 
Mersey Partnership 
Primary Care Trusts 
Wirral Area Forums 
Highways Agency 
Environment Agency 
Natural England 
English Heritage 
Regeneration Department 
Local Amenity Societies 
Developers & Landowners 
Cheshire West and Chester Council 
Liverpool City Council 
Sefton Borough Council 
Flintshire County Council 

Evidence Base: 
Listed in Appendix 6 
Community Consultation 

Additional Resources: 
2009/10 £83,000 
2010/11 £98,000 
2011/12 £90,000 

                                            
10
 Dates marked * have already been achieved 

Page 320



 

Local Development Scheme for Wirral 
Third Review - Cabinet Draft – July 2009 

19

APPENDIX 4.2 - DEVELOPMENT PLAN DOCUMENT PROFILE 
 

Document Name: 
Site Allocations 

Status: 
Development Plan Document 

Purpose:  
To allocate land for new residential, employment, retail and leisure development to secure an 
adequate supply of land for housing, employment, retail, leisure and other uses and to 
provide a mechanism to phase development to meet regeneration priorities. 

Coverage: 
Borough wide 

Time Period: 
10 years 

Chain of Conformity: 
Regional Spatial Strategy, Core Strategy, 
Wirral Sustainable Community Strategy 

Post Adoption Monitoring & Review: 
Annual Monitoring Report 
5 Yearly Assessment 

Departmental Responsibility: 
Corporate Services Department 

Contact: 
Andrew Fraser, Acting Forward Planning 
Manager  0151 691 8218 

Key Milestones 

Commencement: June 2011 

SA Scoping: June 2011 

Issue and Options: 
(Regulation 25) 

July/August 2011 

Preferred Options: 
(Regulation 25) 

February/April 2012 

Publication: 
(Regulation 27) 

July/August 2012 

Representations: 
(Regulation 28/29) 

August/Sept 2012 

Submission: 
(Regulations 30/31) 

October 2012 

Pre-Examination 
Meeting: 

November 2012 

Public Examination: January/February 
2013 

Inspectors Report April 2013 

Adoption: June 2013 

Re-Publication of 
Proposals Map: 

Yes 

Key Stakeholders: 
Government Office 
Regional Leaders Forum (4NW) 
North West Development Agency 
Homes and Communities Agency 
House Builders Federation 
Wirral Strategic Housing Partnership 
Wirral Investment Network 
Local Strategic Partnership 
Developers & Landowners 
Highways Agency 
Environment Agency 
Natural England 
English Heritage 
Local Amenity Societies 
Wirral Area Forums 
Regeneration Department 
Technical Services Department 
Cheshire West and Chester Council 
Liverpool City Council 
Sefton Borough Council 
Flintshire County Council 

Evidence Base: 
Listed in Appendix 6 
Community Consultation 

Additional Resources: 
2011/12 £  50,000 
2012/13 £100,000 
2013/14 £  90,000 

Page 321



 

Local Development Scheme for Wirral 
Third Review - Cabinet Draft – July 2009 

20

APPENDIX 4.3 - DEVELOPMENT PLAN DOCUMENT PROFILE 
 

Document Name: 
Birkenhead Docklands 

Status: 
Area Action Plan 

Purpose:  
To allocate land for mixed-use residential, employment, retail and leisure development to 
support the delivery of the Mersey Heartlands Growth Point and to meet local regeneration 
priorities. 

Coverage: 
Mersey Heartlands Growth Point Area 
(Wirral only) 

Time Period: 
10 years 

Chain of Conformity: 
Regional Spatial Strategy, Core Strategy, 
Wirral Sustainable Community Strategy 

Post Adoption Monitoring & Review: 
Annual Monitoring Report 
5 Yearly Assessment 

Departmental Responsibility: 
Corporate Services Department 

Contact: 
Richard Lewis, Investment Strategy Manager 
0151 691 8222 

Key Milestones 

Commencement: June 2011 

SA Scoping: June 2011 

Issue and Options: 
(Regulation 25) 

July/August 2011 

Preferred Options: 
(Regulation 25) 

February/April 2012 

Publication: 
(Regulation 27) 

July/August 2012 

Representations: 
(Regulation 28/29) 

August/Sept 2012 

Submission: 
(Regulations 30/31) 

October 2012 

Pre-Examination 
Meeting: 

November 2012 

Public Examination: January/February 
2013 

Inspectors Report April 2013 

Adoption: June 2013 

Re-Publication of 
Proposals Map: 

Yes 

Key Stakeholders: 
Government Office 
Regional Leaders Forum (4NW) 
North West Development Agency 
Homes and Communities Agency 
House Builders Federation 
Wirral Strategic Housing Partnership 
Wirral Investment Network 
Local Strategic Partnership 
Developers & Landowners 
Highways Agency 
Environment Agency 
Natural England 
English Heritage 
Local Amenity Societies 
Wirral Area Forums 
Regeneration Department 
Technical Services Department 
Liverpool City Council 
Adjacent Local Authorities 
Peel Holdings 

Evidence Base: 
Wirral Waters Strategic Regeneration 
Framework 
Mersey Heartlands Growth Point Programme 
of Development 
Birkenhead Area Regeneration Study 
Community Consultation 

Additional Resources: 
2011/12 £  50,000 
2012/13 £100,000 
2013/14 £  90,000 

Page 322



 

Local Development Scheme for Wirral 
Third Review - Cabinet Draft – July 2009 

21

APPENDIX 4.4 - DEVELOPMENT PLAN DOCUMENT PROFILE
11

 
 

Document Name: 
Merseyside Joint Waste Development Plan 
Document 

Status: 
Joint Development Plan Document

12
 

Purpose: 
To establish up-to-date policies for the provision of waste management facilities. 

Coverage: 
Halton Borough Council, Liverpool City 
Council, Knowsley Metropolitan Borough 
Council, Sefton Metropolitan Borough, St 
Helens Borough Council and the Metropolitan 
Borough of Wirral 

Time Period: 
At least 10 years 

Chain of Conformity: 
Regional Spatial Strategy, Core Strategy 

Post Adoption Monitoring & Review: 
Annual Monitoring Report 

Departmental Responsibility: 
Corporate Services Department 

Contact: 
Andrew Fraser, Acting Forward Planning 
Manager 0151 691 8218 

Key Milestones 

Commencement: December 2006* 

SA Scoping:  December 2006* 

Issues and Options: 
(Regulation 25) 

March 2007* 

Preferred Options: 
(Regulation 25) 

September 2009 

Publication: 
(Regulation 27) 

August 2010 

Representations: 
(Regulation 28/29) 

August/Sept 2010 

Submission to SoS: 
Regulations 30/31) 

October 2010 

Pre-Examination 
Meeting: 

December  2010 

Public Examination: January 2011 

Inspector’s Report: August 2011 

Adoption: October 2011 

Re-Publication of 
Proposals Map: 

November 2011
13
 

Key Stakeholders: 
Government Office 
Regional Leaders Forum (4NW) 
Merseyside Waste Disposal Authority 
Waste Operators 
Greater Merseyside Local Authorities 
Wirral Area Forums 
Local Amenity Societies 
Regeneration Department 
Technical Services Department 

Evidence Base: 
National Waste Strategy 
Regional Waste Strategy 
Merseyside Joint Municipal Waste 
Management Strategy 

Additional Resources: 
2009/10 £48,563 
2010/11 £70,894 
2011/12 £42,284 

                                            
11
 Dates marked * have already been achieved 

12
 The Greater Merseyside Districts of Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton, Wirral and Halton have formally 

agreed the timetable for the production of the Joint Waste DPD.  Further details are set out at paragraph 5.13 above. 
13
 The publication of the Proposals Map will be undertaken alongside the changes arising from the Site–Allocation 

DPD (Appendix 4.2). 

Page 323



 

Local Development Scheme for Wirral 
Third Review - Cabinet Draft – July 2009 

22

Appendix 5 - Summary of Content and Procedures 

(i) Core Strategy 

1. The Core Strategy is intended to set out the vision, objectives and spatial 
strategy for the Borough, for a period of up to fifteen years. The Core Strategy 
can indicate broad locations but will not be site specific. 

2. The Core Strategy is the key Local Development Document from which all 
other documents within the Local Development Framework must flow.  
Following the consideration of issues and options, a draft Strategy must be 
published for public consultation before being submitted to the Secretary of 
State for independent public examination. 

3. The Core Strategy must be prepared in conformity with national and regional 
policy, as expressed through the Regional Spatial Strategy.  A written 
certificate of conformity must be requested from the Regional Planning Body 
when the Core Strategy is submitted to the Secretary of State for independent 
public examination. 

(ii) Statement of Community Involvement 

4. The Statement of Community Involvement is intended to set local standards 
for community involvement in planning decisions. 

5. A draft Statement must be produced to ask the community how they would 
wish to be consulted on Local Development Documents and planning 
applications.  Once adopted, all Local Development Documents must be 
prepared in conformity with the standards set out in the Statement. 

(iii) Development Plan Documents 

6. Development Plan Documents are site-specific or topic based documents and 
can include strategies such as master plans and Action Area Plans produced 
in support of area-based regeneration initiatives.  They can contain detailed 
policies for development control and set out land allocations for uses such 
housing, retail and employment.  

7. Development Plan Documents must be prepared using the same statutory 
processes as the Core Strategy.  Following the consideration of issues and 
options, a draft Document must be published for public consultation before 
being submitted to the Secretary of State for independent public examination.  

8. Development Plan Documents must be prepared in conformity with the Core 
Strategy, as well as with national and regional policy. A written certificate of 
conformity must be requested from the Regional Planning Body when the 
Development Plan Document is submitted to the Secretary of State for 
independent public examination. 

Page 324



 

Local Development Scheme for Wirral 
Third Review - Cabinet Draft – July 2009 

23

(iv) Proposals Map 

9. A Proposals Map must be prepared alongside adopted Development Plan 
Documents to illustrate the geographical application of the Council's policies 
to a recognised scale.  It will include areas designated for protection, such as 
the Green Belt and Conservation Areas, as well as land allocated for 
development. 

10. The Proposals Map must be kept up-to-date and must be amended every 
time a new Development Plan Document is adopted.  

(v) Supplementary Planning Documents 

11. Supplementary Planning Documents do not have status as part of the 
Development Plan but, if produced in accordance with the statutory 
procedures, will be material considerations in planning decisions. The 
procedures involve only public consultation and sustainability appraisal.  
Supplementary Planning Documents are not subject to independent public 
examination. 

12. Supplementary Planning Documents cannot be used to allocate land for 
development and must be clearly linked to the application of an adopted 
policy or proposal from the “saved” Unitary Development Plan, from the Core 
Strategy or from another adopted Development Plan Document. 

(vi) Annual Monitoring Report 

13. An Annual Monitoring Report must be submitted to Secretary of State by 
December each year, to report on progress on the Local Development 
Framework and on development trends during the previous year to 31 March. 

(vii) The Unitary Development Plan 

14. The Unitary Development Plan is an “old-style” Borough wide development 
plan produced under the previous development plan system and adopted in 
February 2000.  The majority of the policies and proposals in the Unitary 
Development Plan have been “saved” to remain in force beyond September 
2007. A list of deleted policies is included at Appendix 8. 

15. “Saved” policies and proposals will remain in force until they are replaced by 
part of a “new-style” document.  The Core Strategy will replace some of the 
higher-level policies.  Other more detailed policies will need to be replaced by 
Local Development Documents still to be produced.  The status and 
anticipated destination of each of the policies and proposals in the Unitary 
Development Plan is set out in an Annexe to the Local Development Scheme. 

(viii) Supplementary Planning Guidance 

16. The Council currently operates over 40 “old-style” Supplementary Planning 
Guidance Notes to provide further advice to applicants on development 
control.  These Notes have not been prepared under the new procedures and 
a programme of review will need to be undertaken to prepare a new series of 
Supplementary Planning Documents.  

Page 325



 

Local Development Scheme for Wirral 
Third Review - Cabinet Draft – July 2009 

24

(ix) Sustainability Appraisal 

17. The Council is under a legal duty to exercise plan-making functions with the 
objective of contributing to the achievement of sustainable development. 

18. Development Plan Documents and Supplementary Planning Documents must 
be made subject to a statutory sustainability appraisal process.  A 
sustainability appraisal report must be produced for public inspection at each 
stage in the document preparation process. 

(x) Strategic Environmental Assessment 

19. Development Plan Documents and Supplementary Planning Documents must 
also be formally assessed for their likely effects on the environment, in 
consultation with the Consultation Bodies: English Heritage, Natural England 
and the Environment Agency. 

20. Where the environmental effects are likely to be significant, an additional 
environmental report must be prepared as part of the sustainability appraisal 
process. 

(xi) Habitats Directive Assessment 

21. Development Plan Documents and Supplementary Planning Documents must 
be formally assessed for their likely effects on the conservation objectives of 
European sites14 to ensure that the proposals will not have an adverse effect 
on the integrity of a European site. 

                                            
14
 Designated by the European Union as Special Areas of Conservation, Special Protection Areas and Offshore 

Marine Sites 

Page 326



 

Local Development Scheme for Wirral 
Third Review - Cabinet Draft – July 2009 

25

Appendix 6 – Evidence Base 

1. Completed Studies 

• 2001 Census;  

• Merseyside Urban Capacity Study 
(2003); 

• Merseyside Housing Demand 
Study (2003); 

• Housing Market Renewal Strategy 
for Inner Wirral (2003); 

• Wirral Strategic Integrated 
Investment Framework (2003); 

• Wirral Playing Pitch Assessment 
(2003); 

• Wirral Retail Assessment (2004); 

• Wirral Tourism Strategy and Action 
Plan to 2015 (2004); 

• West Kirby & Hoylake Masterplan 
(2004); 

• Cheshire Review of Regionally 
Important Geological Sites (2004); 

• Merseyside Green Belt Study 
(2005); 

• Merseyside Employment Land 
Study (2005); 

• Wirral Hotel Futures Report (2005); 

• Interim Housing Policy for Wirral 
(2005); 

• New Heartlands Prospectus 
2006/07 to 2009/10 

• Wirral Investment Strategy  

• North West Employment Land 
Study (2005); 

• North West Town Centre 
Assessment Study (2005); 

• North West Regional Technical 
Advisory Board - Waste 
Management Technical Report; 

• DEFRA North West Municipal 
Waste Management Survey; 

• Merseyside Broad Site Search for 
Potential Sites for Waste 
Management Facilities (2005); 

• Initial Needs Assessment for 
Waste Management Facilities in 
Merseyside (2005). 

• Wirral Biodiversity Action Plan 
(2005) 

• Housing Market Renewal Fiveways 
Masterplan (2005); 

• Housing Market Renewal North 
Birkenhead Masterplan (2005) 

• Housing Market Renewal Church 
Road Masterplan (2005); 

• Index of Multiple Deprivation for 
England (2007); 

• Cheshire Historic Landscape 
Characterisation: Wirral’s rural 
areas ; 

• Merseyside Historic Landscape 
Characterisation: Wirral’s urban 
areas ; 

• Wirral Waters Strategic 
Regeneration Framework 

 

Page 327



 

Local Development Scheme for Wirral 
Third Review - Cabinet Draft – July 2009 

26

2. Regular Studies 

• ONS Population Data (as notified) 

• NOMIS Socio-Economic Data 
(continuous) 

• National Land Use Database 
(annual); 

• Wirral Land and Property 
Database (continuous); 

• Wirral Development Control 
System (continuous); 

• Wirral Housing Land Database 
(continuous); 

• Merseyside Economic Review 
(annual); 

• Wirral Employment Land Database 
(continuous); 

• Wirral Retail Database 
(continuous); 

• Wirral Wildlife Surveys of Sites of 
Biological Importance 
(continuous); 

• Environment Agency Indicative 
Flood Maps (as notified); 

• Wirral Annual Monitoring Reports 
(annual); 

• North West Annual Monitoring 
Reports (annual). 

 

3. Forthcoming Studies 

• Woodside Regeneration Area 
Masterplan; 

• Hind Street Regeneration Area 
Masterplan; 

• Wirral Strategic Housing Land 
Availability Assessment15 

• Wirral Strategic Housing Market 
and Housing Needs Assessment 
Update, including viability 
assessment16,  

• Wirral Employment Land and 
Premises Study 

• Wirral Town Centres, Retail and 
Commercial Leisure Study 

• Wirral Open Space and Recreation 
Audit17 

                                      
15
 Commissioned jointly with Liverpool City Council 

16
 The initial Strategic Housing Market and Housing 

Needs Assessment, commissioned by the Council in 
2006, was reported to the Council’s Cabinet in 
February 2008.  An update of this study to include a 
strategic economic viability assessment is underway 
and is due to report during 2009 
17
 Prepared as part of a Strategic Forward Plan for 

Cultural Services 

• Wirral Wildlife Sites and 
Biodiversity Audit 

• Wirral Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment 

• Wirral Landscape Character 
Assessment 

• Wirral Social and Community 
Infrastructure Requirements 
Study18 

• Merseyside Minerals Study19 

• Merseyside Renewable Energy 
Potential Assessment20 

• Birkenhead Area Regeneration 
Study 

 

                                      
18
 To be prepared in-house 

19
 Commissioned jointly by the Merseyside authorities 

through Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service 
20
 Commissioned jointly by the Merseyside authorities 

through Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service 

Page 328



 

Local Development Scheme for Wirral 
Third Review - Cabinet Draft – July 2009 

27 

Appendix 7 – Adopted Local Development Documents 

1. Statement of Community Involvement 

Statement of Community Involvement - Adopted December 2006 
 - a copy of the final document can be viewed at 
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/ldf/FinalAdoptedSCIDec06.pdf  

2. Supplementary Planning Documents 

SPD1 – Designing for Development by Mobile Phone Operators – Adopted 
October 2006 - a copy of the final document can be viewed at 
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/ldf/SPD1Telecommunications301006.pdf 

SPD2 – Designing for Self-Contained Flat Development and Conversions – 
Adopted October 2006 - a copy of the final document can be viewed at 
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/ldf/SPD2FlatsAdopted301006.pdf 

SPD3 – Hot Food Takeaways, Restaurants, Cafes and Drinking Establishments 
– Adopted October 2006 – a copy of the final document can be viewed at 
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/ldf/SPD3Food&DrinkAdopted301006.pdf 

SPD4 – Parking Standards - Adopted June 2007 – a copy of the final document 
can be viewed at 
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/LGCL/100006/200074/856/SPD4Parking25Jun07.pdf 

Page 329



 

Local Development Scheme for Wirral 
Third Review - Cabinet Draft – July 2009 

28 

Appendix 8 – Policies and Proposals No Longer in Force 

Unitary Development Plan for Wirral (adopted February 2000) 

1. Part One Policies: 
 
Policy HSG1 – New Dwelling Requirement 
 
Policy WMT1 – Landfill Provision 
 
2. Part Two Policies and Proposals: 
 
Policy EM10 – Birkenhead and Eastham Dock Estates 
Policy EM11 – Bidston Observatory and the Proudman Oceanographic Laboratory 
 
Proposal HS2 – Land at Noctorum Way, Noctorum 
Proposal HS3 – Land to the East of Fender Farm, Moreton 
 
Proposal RE3 – New Neighbourhood Indoor Sports Facilities 
Proposal RE4 – New Neighbourhood Swimming Pool, Beechwood 
Policy RE5 – Criteria for the Protection of Playing Fields 
Policy RE7 – Criteria for the Protection of School Playing Fields 
 
Proposal TL3 – Land for Tourism Development at Wirral Waterfront 
Policy TL6 – The Control of Tourism in Port Sunlight 
Proposal TL8 – Land at the Former Derby Pool, New Brighton 
 
Proposal NC9 – Dibbinsdale Nature Centre 
 
Proposal TR4 – Birkenhead Central Bus Facility 
 
Policy WM10 – Requirements for the Environmental Assessment of Waste Disposal 
Facilities 
 
Policy WA7 – Heswall Drainage Catchment Area 
 

Policy CO3 – Tourism and Leisure in the Coastal Zone 

Page 330



 

  

WIRRAL COUNCIL 
 
CABINET – 23rd JULY 2009 
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE SERVICES / DEPUTY CHIEF 
EXECUTIVE 
 
SUSTAINABLE COMMUNITIES ACT PROPOSALS 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 Further to a report to Cabinet on the 9th April 2009, this report provides an 

update in relation to the provision made by the Sustainable Communities Act 
for proposals for proposals to be invited from the public which require action 
from central government. 

 
1.2 The report recommends that the one proposal received which could potentially 

be suitable for selection under the terms of the Act (see 3.2 and Appendix 2) 
is considered by Cabinet for submission to the Local Government Association, 
which is acting as the selector for projects on behalf of the Secretary of State 
for Communities and Local Government.  This proposal was endorsed by the 
Strategic Partnership Executive Board on the 8th July subject to consultation 
with the broader LSP Assembly and other interest groups (see 4.3 below).  If 
Cabinet endorses the proposal, it is further recommended that delegated 
authority be given to the Deputy Chief Executive / Director of Corporate Policy 
to submit the proposal to the LGA in consultation with the proposer. 

 
2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The Sustainable Communities Act received Royal Assent on 23 October 2007. 

The aim of the Act is to promote the sustainability of local communities.  
Sustainability of local communities refers to encouraging the economic, social 
or environmental well-being of the area, including participation in civic and 
political activity. This reflects the well-being powers granted to local authorities 
by the Local Government Act 2000 and contributes to the broader agenda for 
partnership working at local level, including the development of the 
Sustainable Community Strategy and the negotiation of the Local Area 
Agreement. 

 
2.2  One of the provisions of the Act is for proposals to be invited from the public, 

through community organisations, which require action from central 
government.  Proposals to the Secretary of State can only be made by local 
councils.  However, the   Act makes clear that anyone can suggest a proposal 
via their local council with the expectation that most suggestions for potential 
proposals will come from community organisations.  Guidance relating to the 
Act is clear that there is no funding attached to implementation, i.e. to fund any 
such proposals.  The deadline for the first round of such proposals is 31st July 
2009. 

 
2.3  A basic criterion for proposals is that they must be ones that need some form 

of action from central government (such as a change in legislation, a transfer 
of responsibilities from one public body to another, a new national policy or a 
change or strengthening of policy).  In considering proposals, local councils 

Agenda Item 13

Page 331



 

  

need to distinguish between those which could happen anyway, if agreed at 
local level, and those which need central government action or intervention of 
some sort.  The latter category covers those appropriate to be submitted 
onwards, firstly to the LGA as Selector and potentially to the Secretary of 
State.   

 
3. WIRRAL APPROACH 
 
3.1 At its meeting of the 9th April 2009, Wirral Council’s Cabinet agreed a series of 

proposals relating to the provision in the Sustainable Communities Act for 
proposals to be invited from the public, through community organisations, 
which require action from central government.   

 
3.2 Cabinet agreed that: 
 

• A call for proposals, alongside detailed guidance and links to key 
documents pertaining to the Sustainable Communities Act, would be 
publicised with a deadline of 31st May 2009; 

 

• Arrangements would be put in place in consultation with Wirral’s Strategic 
Partnership Executive for Wirral’s Strategic Partnership to act as the ‘local 
panel’ with consideration given to consulting the views of bodies supporting 
minority and under-represented interests; 

 

• If the panel considered that a proposal or proposals should be progressed, 
a report would be presented to Cabinet in July for a final decision on 
whether the proposal or proposals could be submitted to the Selector (i.e. 
the LGA). 

 
3.3 Further to Cabinet agreement, a call for proposals was published via the 

internet and through distribution via all partnership networks, with a guidance 
document and a proforma for submissions.   

 
4. SUBMISSIONS RECEIVED AND FURTHER CONSULTATION 
 
4.1 A number of submissions were received in response to the call for proposals.  

All but one of these (see 4.2 below) were not eligible for consideration within 
the scope of the Act, given that they can potentially be dealt with at the local 
level, i.e. without changes required at central government level.  Appendix 1 
therefore details the action that has been taken in relation to the proposals 
that were not eligible for consideration within the scope of the Act. 

 
4.2 One proposal was received which could potentially be suitable for selection 

under the terms of the Act (attached as Appendix 2).  This proposes changes 
in central government legislation and funding relating to Community Asset 
Transfer. 

 
4.3 Further to a report to Wirral’s Strategic Partnership Executive Board on the 8th 

July 2009 at which the proposal was endorsed for further consideration, 
Appendix 2 was circulated for comments to the Strategic Partnership 
Assembly and other key groups, such as the Older People’s Parliament and 
Equality Watch members, with a deadline for comments of the 22nd July.  

Page 332



 

  

Undertaking the consultation in this way was considered an appropriate 
approach to consulting with a local panel given the timescale.  Any issues 
during the course of the consultation will be raised at the Cabinet meeting on 
the 23rd July. 

 
5. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 As indicated in guidance from the Department of Communities and Local 

Government, there is no additional public money available for services 
provided by the local authority through this route.  Where a successful case is 
made for the transfer of responsibilities from one public body to another then, 
subject to the agreement of both bodies, the relevant budgets would also 
transfer. 

 
6. STAFFING IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 There are none arising directly from this report.  
 
7. EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 The scope of the Act requires that any consultation on proposals should 

include persons from groups which are under represented in civic and political 
activity in the borough.  This has been taken into account in seeking 
comments from Wirral’s Strategic Partnership and special interest groups. 

 
8. COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 There are none arising directly from this report. 
 
9. LOCAL AGENDA 21 IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 The purpose of the Sustainable Communities Act is to enhance the economic, 

social and environmental well-being of the area. 
 
10. PLANNING IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 There are none arising directly from this report. 
 
12. ANTI-POVERTY IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.1 There are none arising directly from this report.   
 
13. LOCAL MEMBER SUPPORT IMPLICATIONS 
 
13.1 There are none arising directly from this report. 
 
14. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

• Sustainable Communities Act 2007 

• Sustainable Communities Act 2007: A Guide, DCLG 2008 

• Letter from Secretary of State – invitation to submit proposals, 14th October 
2008 

Page 333



 

  

• Council Notice of Motion 3rd November 2008 

• Cabinet Report April 9th 2009 
 
15. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
15.1 It is recommended that the one proposal received which could potentially be 

suitable for selection under the terms of the Sustainable Communities Act (i.e. 
Appendix 2) is considered by Cabinet for submission to the LGA. 

 
15.2 Should Cabinet endorse the proposal, it is further recommended that 

delegated authority be given to the Deputy Chief Executive / Director of 
Corporate Policy to submit the proposal to the LGA in consultation with the 
proposer by the deadline of 31st July 2009. 

 
 
Jim Wilkie 
Deputy Chief Executive/Director of Corporate Services 
 
This report was prepared by Jane Morgan who can be contacted on 0151 691 8140 
 

Page 334



 

  

APPENDIX 1 
 
SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS 
 
Harvest project 
 
North Birkenhead Neighbourhood Forum submitted a proposal which was in effect an 
application for funding for a straw bale building to be constructed at the allotment site 
for the purpose of community education and furtherance of the ‘Good Food Project’.  
 
The proposer has been referred to the Council’s lottery and voluntary sector liaison 
officers for assistance. 
 
Wirral Environmental Network 
 
The Wirral Environmental Network submitted a non specific proposal which was 
inadmissible as it was requesting funding.  
 
Forum Housing Association Young People’s Project Panel 
 
This submission, whilst inadmissible as it does not require any central government 
action, contained some suggestions that have been forwarded to the Head of Youth 
Service for comment and progression if appropriate. 
 
Central Liscard Area Residents Association (CLARA) 
 
CLARA submitted a proposal relating to recognition of Tenants and Residents 
Associations as special interest groups and representation on the LSP. 

 
A reply was sent pointing out that structures already exist to allow associations like 
CLARA to connect with strategic groups such as the Strategic Housing Partnership, 
and with the Local Strategic Partnership through representation via the Voluntary and 
Community Sector Network.   
 

Individual Submission 
 
This submission was in two parts. The first suggested a mandatory council register of 
landlords with the aim of assisting community members report incidences of anti-
social behaviour. Advice was taken from the Housing Strategy team and a reply sent 
with the details of a current government consultation which includes the points raised 
in the submission.  
 
The second suggestion was to have mandatory dog licensing with a DNA sample 
taken to enable identification in cases of dog fouling. Advice was taken from the 
principal Environmental Health Officer. 

 
 

Page 335



 

  

APPENDIX 2 
 

Sustainable Communities Act – Proposal Form 
 

Name of individual / organisation submitting proposal: Margaret Campbell 
Contact address: Removed 
Telephone: Removed  
E-mail: Removed 
 
Summary of proposal:  
 
COMMUNITY ASSET TRANSFER (CAT) would make it easier for communities to 
set up projects such as affordable housing schemes for local people, or to buy and 
run local shops or pubs that were going out of business. CAT proposals would give 
communities legal rights to buy privately owned land or buildings put up for sale; and 
to buy publicly owned assets (e.g. playing fields, schools) where Councils declared 
these surplus to their needs. Improved national funding is also proposed, which 
would help communities finance the initial work to set up schemes, and would also be 
available to support asset purchases. 
 
How do you think your proposal contributes to the environmental, economic 
and/or social sustainability of the area? 
 
The Government is encouraging local people to take responsibility for shaping their 
future, and the wellbeing of their community. This is becoming more important as the 
economic downturn continues. Even more young people can’t afford to buy houses. 
Local shops and pubs are closing, causing serious damage to communities. 
Community facilities are a vital part of community cohesion. 
. 
Communities could take up these challenges more often if there was better national 
funding to support community-led projects, as there is in Scotland, which has the 
Scottish Land Fund. At present there are a number of different funding schemes in 
England and Wales, which need bringing together and substantially increasing in 
value. Many projects fall by the wayside because suitable land or buildings are put up 
for sale but are sold by the time people in the community can get their act together. 
Unlike Scotland, there is no Act which provides the community with the right to 
purchase and to do so at a fair independent valuation. 
 
Even where Councils decide that publicly owned land or buildings are surplus to 
requirements, it is difficult for them to pass them to community enterprises. Councils 
are entitled to transfer them, if necessary at less than market value….but they also 
have a conflicting duty to make as much money as they can through any sale. The 
community has no rights in the matter, and the end result is usually a movement of 
public assets out of any form of public ownership. 
 
If active communities are to successfully tackle their own needs and problems, 
proper cash support is essential; there must be a right to purchase from private and 
public vendors; and Councils need to acquire rights, obligations and incentives to 
part with public assets to sound community projects. 
 
By way of example, the following projects would be much more likely to succeed in 
the future: 

Page 336



 

  

 

• Establishing a Community Land Trust for an affordable (possibly selfbuild) 
housing project for local people/first-time buyers/other disadvantaged groups 

• Purchasing land to establish gardens for the community to grow its own fruit 
and vegetables 

• Buying a redundant school building for community meeting rooms/crèche 
facilities/etc.  

• Acquiring poorly utilised land for play space, nature conservation, education, 
or other recreational use. 

• Taking over a local sports facility from a private operator making insufficient 
profit, to be run as a not-for-profit organisation 

• Taking on a failed shop to be run as a community cooperative. 
 
What evidence of support is there for this proposal? 
 
Community facilities are a vital part of community cohesion, and the loss of them is 
damaging to communities. Locally there is evidence of closing shops and pubs, and 
the closure of small libraries. 
 
Part of a Wirral allotment site has recently been put up for auction. 
The Development Trusts Association has this month published 'Transforming 
Communities for Good: A manifesto from the Development Trusts Association'.  
 
This calls on Government to "Provide access to assets: A mechanism, drawing on 
lessons from the community right to buy legislation which exists in Scotland for rural 
areas, should be introduced to create a window for community groups to acquire key 
community assets (land and buildings) from both the public and private sectors." 
 
In addition, there is documented evidence that these changes have been successful 
in Scotland – in July 2007 the Big Lottery Fund Research Issue 34 looked at the 
results of CAT projects supported by the Scottish Land Fund. It reported that of the 
188 projects supported, only one had failed. It found "evidence from almost all 
projects of social, economic and environmental benefits", and that "The community 
ownership approach has directly promoted local interaction and networks". 
 
This proposal is supported by a number of local residents, many of whom have a 
very active role in their local community. They have all read and endorsed the 
proposal:  
 

• Peter Ryan Chairman, Friends of Coronation Gardens, West Kirby 

• Elizabeth Davey Chairman, Hoylake, West Kirby and District Civic Society 

• Peter Owen Wirral resident 

• Les Bufton Wirral Environmental Network 

• Anne Bufton Wirral Environmental Network 

• Hugh Daglish West Kirby Working Group 

• Val Daglish Wirral resident 

• Robert Lee Chairman of Wirral Friends of Parks Group 

• Dr Hilary J Ash Hon Conservation Officer, Wirral Wildlife; Hon Treasurer, 

• Eastham Council School Allotments Association 

• Louise Prior Energy Group contact for Transition Town West Kirby 

• Dave Prior Professor, Liverpool University 

Page 337



 

  

• Dr Neil S Sturrock JP (Retired) Senior Lecturer in Building Energy Studies, 
LJMU 

• Rose Curtis Secretary, Hoylake Allotment Association 

• Richard Hill Wirral resident 

• Ian Campbell Committee member, Wirral & Chester Branch, Living Streets 

• Dr.W.H. Atkinson Treasurer, West Kirby Victoria Bowling Club 

• David Hammond Wirral resident 

• Ally MacDermot Council Liaison for West Kirby Chamber of Business and 
Community 

• Sandria Juniper Transition Town West Kirby Steering Group 

• Caroline Fides Wirral resident 

• Patrick Cleary Wirral Green Party. 
 
Does your proposal require a transfer of functions? If so, which organisations 
does it affect? 
 
Government needs to consolidate funding schemes such as The Community Asset 
Fund, Community Builders Fund, and Adventure Capital Fund into a single 
Community Asset Transfer (CAT) Fund which would provide set-up costs and 
advice for projects, followed by funding for all or part of purchase and running costs 
(subject to risk assessment, sound business plans, income projections, 
etc.). 
 
Legislation needs introducing to establish a Community Right of Purchase (CROP) 
giving properly constituted Community Bodies the right to purchase land or buildings 
being offered for sale, at a market value determined by independent valuation – 
where this could be shown to be in the public interest and to have strong public 
support. Such legislation could be modelled on The Land Reform 
(Scotland) Act 2003 simplified and extended to urban as well as rural areas. 
 
The Local Government Act 1972 as amended by The General Disposal of Consent 
(England 2003) not only allows Councils to dispose of their assets for less than the 
highest price, but also allows them to act without Government permission where this 
would promote the economic, social or environmental wellbeing of their area. But this 
needs to be supported by legislation which removes from Councils the onerous 
competing pressure to ‘exercise a fiduciary duty’ (i.e. realise maximum value from a 
sale). 
 
It is therefore proposed that legislation be enacted to give Councils a CAT Duty to 
transfer any inefficiently utilised asset, upon request from a properly constituted 
Community Body with a sound business case, wherever it can reasonably be argued 
this is in the public interest and has community support.  
 
This Duty would confirm the obligation to publish and annually review a Schedule of 
Land and Building Assets, identifying those considered to be inefficiently utilised. It 
would also require Councils to make transfers at sufficiently beneficial terms of tenure 
or purchase price as to make the community project feasible after allowing for all the 
financial assistance the community can access. 
 
Government should establish a CAT Support Grant for Local Government in 
recognition that full market value of assets may have to be foregone. This should be 
constructed as an investment into community regeneration, as additional Rate 

Page 338



 

  

Support Grant ring-fenced for this purpose. Any remaining ‘deficit’ against full market 
value should be positively described in accountancy practice as a local authority CAT 
Investment. 
 
Finally, Government should set up a CAT Arbitration Service to decide on matters 
of dispute between a Council and its community about surplus assets and transfer 
issues. 
 
 
 

Page 339



Page 340

This page is intentionally left blank



WIRRAL COUNCIL 
 
CABINET - 23 July 2009 
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF LAW HR & ASSET MANAGEMENT 
 
QUARRY BANK FLATS, WHETSTONE LANE, BIRKENHEAD 
 
1. Executive Summary 
 
1.1 This report advises members of the results of the marketing exercise for 

Quarry Bank Flats makes a recommendation as to their disposal.  
 
2. Background 
 
2.1 At its meeting on 25th September, 2008, Cabinet resolved as follows:-  
 

1. the premises be declared a surplus asset; 
 

2. the premises be marketed for sale by way of a development brief to 
registered social landlords; and 

 
3. if the outcome of the marketing exercise results in any offers received, 

they be reported back to a future meeting of the Cabinet or the Cabinet 
Portfolio holder as appropriate.  

 
3.  Current  Position 
  
3.1 Acting on the above resolution, a formal tender exercise was carried out 

inviting expressions of interest from Registered Social Landlords (RSL’s) for 
the refurbishment of Quarry Bank flats. 

 
3.2 The tender exercise resulted in two RSL’s submitting a total of five design 

proposals  for the refurbishment and reinstatement of 12 self contained flats. 
 

3.2.1.  Cosmopolitan Option 1 – included refurbishment to Decent Homes 
standard and required a nominal land value. 

3.2.2.  Cosmopolitan Option 2 – included refurbishment to Decent Homes 
Plus standard, added a lift and external improvements and required a 
nominal land value. 

3.2.3. Cosmopolitan Option 3 – included a low carbon proposal, included both 
options 1 and 2, and added a 5th floor raising the number of units from 
12 to 15, and required a nominal land value. 

3.2.4. Venture Option A – HCA standard, Eco homes very good standard, 
incorporating lifetime homes, building for life and secured by design. 
Land value of £25,000. 

3.2.5. Venture Option B – Refurbishment to Decent Homes Plus standard, 
with land value of £25,000. 

 
3.3 Each proposal was considered closely against the original tender brief by a 

panel of representing Housing Strategy, Forward Planning, and Asset 
Management. A summary of the evaluation outlining the key aspects is set out 
in appendix A to this report, the final scoring is as follows: 

 

Agenda Item 14

Page 341



Venture Option A  70.3% 
Cosmopolitan Option 3 60.3% 
Venture Option B  59.7% 
Cosmopolitan Option 2 53.1% 
Cosmopolitan Option 1 46.1% 

 
The preferred scheme is that submitted by Venture Housing Association 
(Option A). This meets most closely the requirements of the original design 
brief, and is also the most economically advantageous to the council. 

 
3.4 The preferred design brief submitted by Venture Housing Association involves 

reinstatement and refurbishment of the original twelve self contained flats for 
general social housing. These units will be allocated through Wirralhomes and 
contribute to the Councils overall provision of affordable housing. 

 
3.5 Similar to most housing schemes, the completion of this scheme is dependant 

on Venture Housing Association securing National Affordable Housing 
Programme (NAHP) funding with a bid for funding likely to be submitted to the 
Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) and supported by the Local 
Authority. 

 
3.6 Alongside this process, the Council is currently negotiating termination of the 

existing lease with Cosmopolitan HA, who have been in occupation of the 
building since 14 July 2005. 

 
4. Financial implications 
 
4.1 It is anticipated that the site will initially be transferred under a development 

agreement until refurbishment is completed. Following completion of all 
works, the Council will receive £25,000 as a capital receipt upon final 
assignment of the Council’s leasehold title to Venture HA. 

   
5. Staffing implications 
 
5.1 None 
 
6. Equal Opportunities implications 
 
6.1 The refurbishment of these flats will promote greater choice and increase 

housing for local people. 
 
7. Community Safety implications 
 
7.1 Bringing back the flats to beneficial use will reduce anti social behaviour 

associated with vacant property. 
 
8. Local Agenda 21 implications 
 
8.1 The sale and refurbishment of the flats will be compatible with the Aims & 

Objectives of Agenda 21. 
 
9. Planning implications 
 
9.1 The flats lie within an area designated as Primarily Residential in the adopted 

Unitary Development Plan and within an area of the Borough where 
regeneration and new residential development is permitted. The building is 

Page 342



currently vacant and bringing it back into use as self-contained flats would be 
an acceptable form of development in accordance with the Development Plan 
and the Council’s overall aspirations for regeneration.   

 
9.2 There is no previous planning history however, planning consent for the 

change of use from a House in Multiple Occupation, for which it was used 
during the re-building/refurbishment of the YMCA accommodation nearby, 
back to self-contained flats will be required. Development Control and Building 
Control officers would be able to advise Venture accordingly with regard to 
any future applications for planning permission and building regulations, and 
Venture should be encouraged to engage Development Control officers at an 
early pre-application stage to discuss any submission.  

 
10. Anti-poverty implications 
 
10.1 None 
 
11. Human Rights implications 
 
11.1 None 
 
12. Social Inclusion implications 
 
12.1 None 
 
13. Asset Management Implications 
 
13.1. One of the Asset Management Plan’s principle objectives is to identify 

property assets that are surplus to the Council’s requirements or which do not 
serve any operational or investment purposes. The proposal is in accordance 
with Strategic Objectives “To create a clean, pleasant safe and sustainable 
environment.  …achieving housing decency standards.” 

 
14. Local Member Support implications 
 
14.1 This report will be of particular interest to Members in the Birkenhead and 

Tranmere ward. 
 
15. Background Papers 
 
15.1 Report to Cabinet on 25th September 2008 and previous reports referred to in 

that report. 
 
16. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
16.1 That Cabinet approves the disposal of the premises to the party set out in 

paragraph 3.3 of this report and that authority be granted to conclude the 
necessary documentation. 

 
Bill Norman 
Director of Law, HR and Asset Management 
 
Ref AM/AMN/3990  
 
00/6/2009 
 

Page 343



Page 344

This page is intentionally left blank



EVALUATION MATRIX

IMPORTANT - Accuracy is critical to the evaluation outcome QUARRY BANK EVALUATION MATRIX

1)  Ensure that formulas applied throughout the evaluation matrix are CONSISTENT and ACCURATE.

2)  Input results from a TEST company and ensure that the results are CONSISTENT with a MANUAL CALCULATION of this same company.

3)  It is auditable good practice and essential that another Officer of a commensurate grade checks the ACCURACY of the OUTCOMES.  

Rating Date Completed Supplier 1 Cosmopolitan HA Option 1 Supplier 6

Inputted By Supplier 2 Cosmopolitan HA Option 2 Supplier 7

Checked & Validated By Signing Supplier 3 Cosmopolitan HA Option 3 Supplier 8

Countersigned By Supplier 4 Supplier 9

Supplier 5 Supplier 10

Supplier No. Weighted

Category 1 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

1 1 1 3 4 3 0 0 0 0 0 1.3

2 3 3 3 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 1.2

3 3 3 3 4 4 0 0 0 0 0 1.1

4 2 3 3 4 3 0 0 0 0 0 1.3

5 3 4 4 4 3 0 0 0 0 0 1.2

30/04/09

Lisa Farrington

Design Quality 1 -  Extent to which the scheme creates a mix of affordable housing to meet 

local housing needs.

Design Quality 2 -  Extent to which the scheme considers EcoHomes, lifetime homes, secured 

by design, fuel poverty, affordable warmth, the HCA Fit for the future green homes retrofit 

principles, and contribution towards zero carbon targets.

Design Quality 3 -  Extent to which the scheme demonstrates quality of flat refurbishment, 

layout, landscape and boundary treatments, private spaces, and car parking.

Venture Option A

Venture Option B

Value For Money - including land value assumptions, NAHP grant levels, private/RSL 

contributions and overall scheme costs.

Planning and Project Management - including  timescales for delivery, compliance with 

timetables, proposals to keep Council informed of progress, and previous experience of 

successfully delivering similar schemesP
a
g
e
 3

4
5



EVALUATION MATRIX

6 2 2 2 3 3 0 0 0 0 0 1.1

Total Score Possible on this Section 36 Actual Scores 7 16.6 19.1 21.7 25.3 21.5 0 0 0 0 0

46.1% 53.1% 60.3% 70.3% 59.7% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

5 = Meets all requirements in a comprehensive manner.

4 = Satisfactory response.  Meets basic requirements.

3 = Satisfactory response but doubts on several aspects. 1 46.1% 6 0.0% Question weighted in order of Importance

2 = Indications that some aspects are met satisfactorily 2 53.1% 7 0.0%

3 60.3% 8 0.0%

4 70.3% 9 0.0%

5 59.7% 10 0.0%

1 6

2 7

3 8

4 9

5 10

0 = No response

1 = Poor submission.  Unsatisfactory response.  Suggest  

applicant will have serious difficulties in delivering the contract

Innovative / Best use of existing resource - including exploring use of local labour, training 

and skill development.

%

% SCORE

Rating of Supplier

1.3 = Very High

1.1 = Medium

1.0 = Low

1.2 = High

% SCORE

COMMENTS

P
a
g

e
 3

4
6



EVALUATION MATRIX

P
a
g
e
 3

4
7



EVALUATION MATRIX

Question weighted in order of Importance

P
a
g

e
 3

4
8



  

WIRRAL COUNCIL 
 
CABINET  23rd JULY 2009 
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF LAW, HR & ASSET MANAGEMENT 
 
PLANNED PROPERTY MAINTENANCE  2009/10 
 
 
1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek approval for the Planned Property 

Maintenance (PPM) Programme element within the capital programme 
2009/10. 

 
2.0 BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 Cabinet on 10th December 2008 and Council on 15th December 2008 agreed a 

capital programme for 2009/11. Within this were allocations for PPM and 
disabled access provision. The total amount allocated for 2009/10 was 
£1,610,000. 

 
2.3 The PPM budget is utilised for intermediate property works costing between 

£10,000 and £100,000 with Facilities Management budgets being utilised for 
any minor works below £10,000.  The Capital Programme separately funds any 
major works in excess of £100,000.  It should be noted that the schemes for 
boiler replacement and condition surveys are cumulative projects that do not 
cost in excess of £100,000 for any single project within those categories. 

 
3.0 EVALUATION 
 
3.1 The Asset Management Plan condition surveys, which are ongoing, continue to 

identify properties within the Authority’s asset base that will require expenditure 
in the near future. 

 
3.2 Asset Management data is maintained for the authority by staff from the 

Children and Young People’s Department, Department of Law, HR and Asset 
Management and Technical Services Department. 

 
3.3 This consists of condition surveys of buildings, together with accurate floor 

plans of all buildings.  The condition survey data identifies priority items and 
estimated costs. It forms a basis for the assessment of the condition of 
buildings and further ensures funds are directed to those premises that the 
council will be retaining for future use. 

 
3.4 Proposed schemes have been scored against a standard matrix, taking 

account of the categories indicated below. They have then been placed in 
priority order for action. Prioritised schemes have been checked to ensure that 
expenditure is only incurred on buildings that have a foreseeable operational 
life. 

 
3.5 Categories within the appraisal matrix are as follows: 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 15

Page 349



  

 
 1. Health and Safety 
 
 These relate to items posing a general risk to users such as, water purity 

relates to risk assessing the water systems/installation and testing the water 
condition as per H.S.E, guidance in conjunction with control of legionella. 

 
 2. Fabric Damage 
 
 These items are where the fabric of the building is deteriorating due to water 

ingress, rot, structure failure etc. 
 
 3. Heating 
 
 The schemes considered are those that historically have proved problematic 

and are costly to maintain together with indications that the boiler or heating 
system is reaching the end of its serviceable life and is not cost effective to run 
or carry on repairing. 

 
 4. Provision of Services 
 
 Identifies where the service has suffered disruption or suspension or has the 

potential to do so if essential repairs are not undertaken.  In some buildings 
failure to carryout repairs can result in loss of income. 

 
 5. Others 
 
 Buildings listed which have high community use and suffering or the potential to 

suffer loss of income/security issues due to defects. 
 
 6. Capital Scoring 
 
 These are small schemes of a capital nature but because of their size and 

nature fit more readily within the PPM programme, examples being roof and 
toilet enhancements which can if necessary be phased over a two year 
programme and which will upgrade buildings and, where appropriate, make 
them more energy efficient. 

 
4.0 THE 2009/10 PROGRAMME 
 
4.1 A list of proposed schemes for 2009/10 and estimated costs is included at 

Appendix 1.  The full PPM budget has not been allocated at this stage. This will 
allow further schemes to be drawn up and prioritized to support the emerging 
neighbourhood centres development programme and the accommodation 
strategy. Expenditure in both these key areas will further ensure expenditure is 
targeted to those buildings that have a foreseeable operational life. 

 

Page 350



  

 
5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
 The amounts included within the capital programme 2009/10 for Property 

Maintenance are 
 
 Property Maintenance  £1,510,000 
 Disabled Access Provision £   100,000 
 Total £1,610.000 
 
 Implementation of the schemes recommended in Appendix 1 will leave a further 

£410,000 of this year’s budget to be allocated. 
 
6.0 STAFFING IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 Professional services for all schemes will be provided by officers in the 

Technical Services Department. 
 
7.0 EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 There are no implications in this report for equal opportunities, including 

women, ethnic minorities or the elderly.  Where identified within a scheme, 
there will be provision to assist those with a disability. 

 
8.0 PLANNING IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 Planning and Building Regulations approvals will be obtained where necessary. 
 
9.0 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 Where appropriate, suitable measures and consultations will take place. 
 
10.0 HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 There are no specific Human Rights Implications arising directly from this 

report. 
 
11.0 LOCAL AGENDA 21 IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 Some schemes will involve works which will be designed to improve the 

standards of energy efficiency and reduce CO2 emissions.  
 
12.0 ACCESS TO INFORMATION ACT 
 
12.1 No background papers have been used in preparation of this report other than 

information from the property database and PPM scoring sheetings. 
 
13.0 LOCAL MEMBER SUPPORT IMPLICATIONS 
 
13.1 This report will be of interest to all ward members. 

Page 351



  

 
14.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
14.1 That the schemes included in the 2009/10 Property Maintenance Programme 

be approved and officers prepare the schemes and obtain tenders as 
necessary. 

 
 
 
 
 
Bill Norman 
Director of Law, HR and Asset Management 

Page 352



  

APPENDIX 1 
 
WIRRAL COUNCIL 
 
LAW H R & ASSET MANAGEMENT – PROPERTY MAINTENANCE PROGRAMME 
2009/10. 
 
The schemes listed below are the recommended schemes.  Members may be informed 
during the year of changes in the recommended priorities, bought about by changes in 
circumstances or emergencies.  It should be noted that all Health and Safety Schemes 
are funded from the same capital programme allocations as the main Property 
Maintenance Programme. 
 
 
Conway Building Re-Roofing Phase One £90,000 
Westminster House toilet enhancements £45,000 
War Memorials / Cenotaphs and Historic Clocks £50,000 
Boiler Renewals Rolling Programme £250,000 
Water Efficiency Rolling Programme £50,000 
Meols Parade Gardens enhancement works £55,000 
Condition Surveys £170,000 
Oval Grandstand improvement (Phase 1 – roof) £85,000 
Schedule of Rates contribution to enhanced works 2009/10 £15,000 
Match Funded Scheme/s £60,000 
Access Enhancement Programme 2009/10. 
Improved access to buildings – a prioritised list to be complied in consultation 
with the access officer using information from DDA audits. £100,000 
 
HEALTH AND SAFETY WORK 
 
Asbestos Surveys / Works various sites £50,000 
NICEIC Surveys / Works various sites £60,000 
Risk Assessments legionella various sites £60,000 
Fire Alarm Upgrades £60,000 
 Total 1,200,000 

Page 353



Page 354

This page is intentionally left blank



  

WIRRAL COUNCIL 
 
CABINET  23rd JULY 2009 
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF LAW, HR & ASSET MANAGEMENT 
 
SCHEDULE OF RATES CONTRACTS 2006/2010 

 

 

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

1.1 Members will be aware that Schedule of Rates (SOR) contracts are maintained 
for day to day repairs to Council owned buildings and other works including 
adaptations for people with a disability.  These contracts commenced in 
November & December 2006 for a three year period with the option to extend 
for a further one year based on performance. 

 
1.2 This report seeks Cabinet approval to implement the clause within the contracts 

to extend for an additional year with a completion date of 30th November 2010. 
 

2.0 BACKGROUND 

 

2.1 A report was submitted to Cabinet on 21st September 2006 (Minute 109) and 
approval was given accepting the following tenders. 

 
 1. Adaptations for the disabled - 10% (Northwest Construction UK Ltd) 
 2. Curtain Walling - 10% (JPF Systems Ltd) 
 3. Electrical Works - 64% (Cottrell Electrical Services Ltd) 
 4. Flooring -  12% (Broadless Construction Ltd) 
 5. General Building - 10% (Northwest Construction UK Ltd) 
 6. Glazing - 45% (Wirral Partnership Homes) 
 7. Mechanical Maintenance - 8% (Jackson Lloyd Ltd) 
 8. Roofing - 37% (MAC Roofing & Contracting Ltd) 
 
The above tenders were based on a percentage adjustment applied to a pre-priced 
schedule of rates for each work category. 
 
2.2 Members will recall a previous report to Cabinet on 7th February 2008 seeking 

approval to appoint Sure Maintenance Ltd following a re-tendering exercise, 
after the early termination of the previous S.O.R. Mechanical contract with 
Jackson Lloyd Ltd. 

 
 The Mechanical S.O.R. contract is not now subject to this request for a one 

year extension.  The contract with Sure Maintenance expires in February 2011 
it is anticipated the retendering of all S.O.Rs Contracts will include the 
Mechanical Maintenance and allow for a slightly later commencement date of 
February 2011. 

Agenda Item 16

Page 355



  

 
3.0 SOR CONTRACTS 2006 – 10: OUTCOMES and PERFORMANCE TO DATE 

 
3.1 The S.O.R.’s contracts were awarded on a three year period with an option to 

extend for a further one year based on performance. 
 
3.2 Prior to entering into individual contracts with each of the contractors a series of 

introductory sessions were arranged whereby council officers met with the 
contractors to establish the new working relationships and arrangements. 

 
3.3 Monitoring of contractor performance was identified as being a key factor in the 

management of the new S.O.R. arrangement and was highlighted to each of 
the contractors at these introductory sessions. 

 
3.4 With the exception of Broadless Construction all other S.O.R’s contractors’ 

performance is excellent with positive feedback from all service users in respect 
of response to calls, quality of workmanship, accuracy and speed of invoicing. 

 
3.5 Problems have been previously encountered with Broadless Construction Ltd 

(Flooring Contractor) in respect of quality of work and poor response to 
reported defects.   

 
 Broadless responded to and addressed issues raised by introducing a change 

of contract supervision which has improved performance and quality of 
workmanship.  Broadless are now performing satisfactorily. 

 
3.6 To-date over 15,000 orders have been raised using the S.O.R’s arrangement. 

Orders are placed via the authority’s 1 Business and EAM system. 
 Orders raised are subject to regular testing via the Internal Audit Section of the 

Department of Finance. 
 
3.7 As a direct result of the S.O.R. contract Northwest Construction Ltd have 

employed two apprentices (one Carpentry & Joinery and one Plumbing).  
Northwest Construction employ 100% local labour. 

 
3.8 As a direct result of the S.O.R. contract Cottrells Electrical Ltd have employed 

one apprentice electrician.  Cottrells Electrical employ 80% local labour. 
 
3.9 As a direct result of the S.O.R. contract JPF Systems Ltd have employed one 

apprentice aluminum fabricator JPF Systems employ 100% local labour. 
 
3.10 MAC Roofing employ 70% local labour.  MAC Roofing are currently negotiating 

the purchase of commercial premises in Birkenhead with the specific aim of 
improving service delivery in respect of the S.O.R. contract.  MAC Roofing have 
intimated that the purchase of Wirral premises will create new employment 
opportunities for Wirral residents. 

 
3.11 Wirral Partnership Homes employ 100% local labour. 
 
3.12 Broadless Construction Ltd employ 100% local labour. 

Page 356



  

 
4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
4.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 
 
5.0 STAFFING IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 There are no staffing implications arising directly from this report. 
 

6.0 EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES IMPLICATIONS 

 

6.1 There are no equal opportunities implications arising directly from this report. 
 

7.0 HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS 

 

7.1 There are no direct implications arising from this report. 
 

8.0 LOCAL AGENDA 21 IMPLICATIONS 

 

8.1 There are no direct implications arising from this report. 
 
8.2 The appointed contractors comply with the authority’s LA21 policy in particular 

regard to the timber purchasing policy. 
 
9.0 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 

 

9.1 There are no community safety implications arising directly from this report. 
 

10.0 PLANNING IMPLICATIONS 

 

10.1 There are no planning implications arising directly from this report. 
 

11.0 ANTI POVERTY IMPLICATIONS 

 

11.1 There are none arising directly from this report. 
 

12.0 LOCAL MEMBER SUPPORT IMPLICATIONS 

 

12.1 There are no ward specific implications arising directly from this report. 
 

13.0 BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 

13.1 No background papers have been used in the preparation of this report other 
than exempt information. 

Page 357



  

 

14.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
14.1 That based on the outcomes and performance detailed in this report, Cabinet 

Members approve the optional one year extension to those Schedule of Rates 
contract tenders 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 & 8 as listed at Item 2.1. 

 
 
 
 
 
BILL NORMAN 

DIRECTOR OF LAW, HR & ASSET MANAGEMENT 

Page 358



  

 WIRRAL COUNCIL 

Cabinet – 23rd July 2009    

REPORT OF THE DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE/ DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE 

SERVICES 

 

Economic Update 
1. Executive Summary 
 
1.1 This report provides the latest update to members on the impact of the current 

recession on Wirral’s economy, as requested by Cabinet on 19th March 09.  
 
1.2 Members are asked to: 

i.) Note the contents of this update report. 
 
2. Key Indicators  
 
2.1. Labour market data 
As highlighted in previous reports, it is important to note the limitations of many 
official data sources. For example, data may not be available at the Wirral district 
level or lower. Furthermore, much of the data has a significant time lag – thereby not 
accurately reflecting more recent economic conditions.  

 
Finally, wherever possible, this report only uses data that has been updated since 
the previous Cabinet report (25th June). Notwithstanding that, the following is a 
summary of key indicators: 
 
Worklessness  
 
Wirral’s Job Seekers Allowance claimant rate has seen a significant increase in the 
last month; from 5.3% in April 09 to 5.6% in May 09. This represents 10,321 people 
now claiming JSA in Wirral. 
 
Wirral and Sefton have had the highest increases (0.3% points) of Merseyside 
districts in the last month. However even after this month’s sharp increase, Wirral is 
the 3rd lowest of Merseyside authorities behind Liverpool (7.5%), Knowsley (6.8%) 
and Halton (5.9%). 
 
Impact on Young People 

Feedback from Greater Merseyside Connexions 1 highlights that the recession is 
likely to impact on post-16 retention in education and training.  Some young people 
experiencing financial difficulty themselves or as members of families experiencing 
financial difficulty are likely may drop out of education or training joining the NEET 
group.   

                                                 

1
 ‘The Impact of the Recession on the Employment Prospects of the Young People of Wirral’ (April 
2009) Carolyne Kershaw: Great Merseyside Connexions Service. 
 

Agenda Item 17

Page 359



  

The Connexions report points out that retail has been one of the sectors most 
affected in the early stages of the current recession.  The other sectors that have 
been most effected are construction and financial services.  

The LSC 2006 Greater Merseyside Skills Assessment identified that 56% of young 
people aged 16 to 19 who were working were employed in the retail and hospitality 
and catering sectors.  The high percentage is partly accounted for by sixth formers 
and college students working in these sectors, which offer part-time employment 
opportunities less likely to conflict with school or college attendance. Consumer 
spending is widely reported in the media to be down, and this may reduce the 
availability of part-time work in these industries for young people. 

A reduction in the availability of work in these sectors is likely to impact on retention 
and increase the likelihood that some school and college students will for financial 
reasons drop out of education and into the NEET group while seeking employment.  
These should add to the NEET ‘churn’ rather than the ‘inactive’ or ‘unavailable’ 
NEET.  

 

Benefits (Housing & Council Tax Benefits plus Local Housing Allowance) 

The increase in Housing Benefit (HB) claimants continues, with an increase of 334 in 
the last month. HB claims now stand at 39,709.  

Homelessness 

Data compiled by Merseyside Information Service (MIS) indicates that Wirral has 
seen a significant reduction in the numbers of people presenting themselves as 
intentionally homeless over the last year. This is largely due to the Council’s 
increased support and approach to tackling homelessness. The latest data is set out 
in Appendix A 

In addition between December 2008 and June 2009, Wirral’s Homelessness and 
Housing Options Team in partnership with Birkenhead CAB have received enquiries 
from 51 clients about mortgage rescue. This has resulted in 19 residents being 
assisted to access the mortgage rescue scheme.  The remaining 32 residents failed 
to meet the criteria for the scheme however the majority have been provided with 
support and advice to resolve their housing difficulties; of those only 3 clients were 
required to make a formal homeless application.  
 
Housing Development Schemes 
Despite the current economic climate, four private developers have approached the 
Council in the past quarter to express an interest in providing affordable homes. The 
interest has been expressed on the basis that the schemes be delivered in 
partnership with an RSL to gain assurance that all or partial number of scheme units 
will be bought.  
 
As of March 2009, despite some slowing in the social housing development scheme 
programme, 48 units of additional affordable housing were provided.  
 
Business Rates (National Non Domestic Rates) & Council Tax  
Business rates collections were down by 3% compared to last year. 

Page 360



  

House Prices 
 

Merseyside level data compiled by Merseyside Information Service (MIS) using Land 
Registry data indicates that average house prices in Merseyside continue to exhibit 
downward trends. However Wirral has seen a slight recovery between April and May 
2009, as did the North West as a whole. House prices in Merseyside have fallen by 
14.7% (equating to £20,039 off the average value) since Oct 07. This is a smaller 
reduction that both the North West (-15.2%) and throughout England & Wales (-
17.1%) 
 
3. Wirral Responses  
 
The Council and its partners continue to meet to gather intelligence and develop 
responses to support Wirral residents and businesses in the current situation.  
 
Feedback from partners is currently being collated through the LSP to ensure a co-
ordinated and comprehensive understanding of, and response to, the current 
economic climate. In addition, colleagues from across the Council are convening a 
‘recession team’ meeting to discuss impact and co-ordinate responses.  
 
Business Support 
Wirral’s significant package of support to businesses has received considerable 
interest. Two meetings of the grants panel have taken place to decide on 
applications up to £20,000. To date, four awards have been approved, safeguarding 
or creating more than 45 jobs.  
 
The Think Big Grants for amounts in excess of £20,000 have previously been 
notified to Cabinet. The support awarded to these businesses will results in the 
creation of 96 new jobs.  
 
SME Week 
During May 2009, a special two day event was held at Invest Wirral offices as part of 
European SME week.  Several Wirral based companies made appointments to 
participate in a series of face-to-face meeting with business advisory agencies, such 
as The Manufacturing Institute, Business Link Northwest, National Apprenticeship 
Service, and Wirral Council.  Following the sessions all of the agencies are now 
continuing to work closely with the companies. 
 
Wirral and Chester Business Fair 
The Wirral and Chester Business Fair 2009 took place at The Floral Pavilion, New 
Brighton on 7th July.  This well attended event attracted local companies and budding 
entrepreneurs who benefited from guidance and support from over 40 exhibitors.  
Free seminars on marketing, sales and leadership were fully subscribed. 
 
Apprenticeships 
The Apprenticeship Programme has now moved into delivery, with marketing to 
businesses taking place through the Business Networks.  
 
This has resulted in a large number of businesses showing an interest in the 
programme. A wide range of apprenticeship opportunities have come forward with 

Page 361



  

the majority from local SMEs who have never accessed the apprenticeship system 
before. Latest feedback at the end of June indicates that 150 Employers have 
expressed an interest in hosting an apprenticeship.  
 
The implementation process continues across July and August and further 
information will be brought back to members at a future meeting. 
 
Future Jobs Fund  
As members are aware from a separate report discussed at Cabinet on 25th June, 
Wirral is working with City Region partners to develop a Future Jobs Fund proposal.  
This was submitted to Department of Work and Pensions on 30th June and we 
expect to hear if the proposal has been successful in August. Further details will be 
brought back to members in a future report.  
 
Impact on the Third Sector 
 
Wirral CAB is reporting a significant increase in contact from Wirral residents seeking 
support for a variety of reasons. Debt rose by 21% and Benefit advice by 17% 
respectively when comparing 2007/08 to 2008/2009.  
 
The Voluntary Community Action Wirral (VCAW) & Wirral Voluntary Community 
Sector Network (WVCSN) conference evaluation reported an increase of the affects 
on the sector due to the recession. 
 
 
4. Financial Implications 
4.1. There are no implications arising as a direct result of this report. 
 
5. Staffing Implications 
5.1. There are no staffing implications arising as a direct result of this report. 
 
6. Equal Opportunities Information 
6.1. All of the activity outlined in this report promotes equal opportunities. 
 
7. Community Safety Implications 
7.1. None as a result of this report 
 
8. Local Agenda 21 Implications 
8.1. None as a result of this report 
 
9. Planning Implications 
9.1. There are no planning implications arising as a direct result of this report 
 
10. Anti-Poverty Implications 
10.1. None as a result of this result 
 
11. Human Rights Implications 
11.1 None as a result of this result 
 
12. Social Inclusion Implications 

Page 362



  

12.1. None as a result of this report 
 
13.  Local Member Support Implications 
13.1. None as a direct result of this report 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Members are asked to: 

i.) Note the contents of this update report. 
 
J. WILKIE  
Deputy Chief Executive/ Director of Corporate Services 
This report was prepared by Rose Boylan who can be contacted on 691 8037. 

Page 363



  

Appendix A: Homelessness Data 

The following table shows numbers of people presenting themselves as intentionally homeless by district. It indicates that Wirral has seen the most significant 

reduction in the numbers.  

Halton 51                                       

(Oct-Dec 

2007) 

  49                                

(Jul-Sep 

2008) 

  36                   

(Oct-Dec 

2008) 

  30                          

(Jan-Mar 

2009) 

  

Knowsley 49                                       

(Oct-Dec 

2007) 

  93                                         

(Jul-Sep 

2008) 

  51                   

(Oct-Dec 

2008) 

  75                                 

(Jan-Mar 

2009) 

  

Liverpool 125                                       

(Oct-Dec 

2007) 

  130                              

(Jul-Sep 

2008) 

  129                 

(Oct-Dec 

2008) 

  107                           

(Jan-Mar 

2009) 

  

Sefton 26                                       

(Oct-Dec 

2007) 

  19                                  

(Jul-Sep 

2008) 

  24                   

(Oct-Dec 

2008) 

  29                         

(Jan-Mar 

2009) 

  

St. Helens 83                                       

(Oct-Dec 

2007) 

  72                                    

(Jul-Sep 

2008) 

  56                   

(Oct-Dec 

2008) 

  76                          

(Jan-Mar 

2009) 

  

Wirral 117                                       

(Oct-Dec 

2007) 

  61                                           

(Jul-Sep 

2008) 

  38                   

(Oct-Dec 

2008) 

  22                       

(Jan-Mar 

2009) 

  

Numbers presenting 
themselves as 
unintentionally homeless 
and in priority need 
(acceptances) 

LCR 451                     

(Oct-Dec 

2007) 

  423                         

(Jul-Sep 

2008) 

  334                         

(Oct-Dec 

2008) 

  339                        

(Jan-Mar 

2009) 

  

Source: CLG, quarterly http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/statistics/xls/10951831.xls        see following page: 

http://www.communities.gov.uk/housing/housingresearch/housingstatistics/housingstatisticsby/homelessnessstatistics/livetables/     

P
a
g

e
 3

6
4



WIRRAL COUNCIL 
 
CABINET – 23 JULY 2009 
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF TECHNICAL SERVICES 
 
2009/10 LOCAL TRANSPORT PROGRAMME – SAFER ROUTES TO SCHOOLS 
 
 
1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 Further to my report on the Local Transport Capital Programme (LTP) – Road 

Safety Block, which was considered and approved by Cabinet on 19th March 
2009 (Minute 420 refers), this report now sets out a programme of proposed 
schemes within the allocated £150,000 for Safer Routes to Schools initiatives. 

 
2.0 BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 On 19th March 2009 I reported to Members on the overall Road Safety Block 

allocation of £950,000 from the Local Transport Plan (LTP) Programme, and 
advised that as in previous years, my School Travel Plan Co-ordinators would 
continue to develop initiatives within the Safer Routes to Schools Programme 
up to the allocated £150,000 identified within the Road Safety Block for the 
Safer Routes to Schools Programme. At that time I was not able to bring to 
Members a detailed programme of schemes. 

 
2.2  On 1st April 2009 I presented a report to Members at the Streetscene & 

Transport Services Overview & Scrutiny Committee giving an update on the 
overall good progress made with nearly 78% of schools having an adopted 
Travel Plan. 

 
2.3 This report now brings to Members’ attention a programme of physical and 

encouragement measures to assist schools, parents and children adopt more 
sustainable travel habits in their journey to and from school. 

 
2.4 In 2008/09 Wirral’s LAA Programme Board approved two Priority Areas for 

Improvement relating to road safety (a. The total number of people Killed or 
Seriously Injured and b. The number of children Killed or Seriously Injured). 
Whilst promoting sustainable travel to and from schools, the Safer Routes to 
Schools Programme is intrinsically linked to, and designed to benefit, the road 
safety priorities set by the Council.  

 
3.0 PROPOSED PROGRAMME 
 
3.1 A number of schools that have been working on School Travel Plans (STP’s) 

during 2007/08 and 2008/09 have submitted their Plans through my 
Departmental Co-ordinators to the Department for Children, Schools and 
Families for final approval in April 2009. My proposals for Safer Routes to 
School schemes, which are designed to support these schools as well as those 

Agenda Item 18

Page 365



who have already had their STP approved, are included in Appendix A to this 
report. 

 
3.2 A reserve list of schemes is also shown (see Appendix B), which details 

schemes which could be brought forward should an identified scheme within the 
main programme be identified as being impractical or encounter significant 
objection. This reserve list includes a provision to enable the amendment of 
existing school zig-zag markings or advertising of new traffic regulation orders 
adjacent to schools to permit school buses to pick up and set down passengers 
as required. 

 
3.2 A contribution to ‘Sustrans’ for the ‘Bike-It’ project is also included within this 

allocation to assist in linking national ‘Sustrans’ initiatives to local initiatives in 
promoting and encouraging more cycling to schools. This project (which 
commenced in 2007) works intensively with 6 local schools and has a record of 
high achievement in those schools which have already participated. It is 
proposed that this scheme is extended to provide further encouragement of 
safe sustainable cycling for children on their journey to school. 

 
4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 An allocation of £150,000 has been made for the schemes identified in 

Appendix A from the overall Block allocation for Road Safety of £950,000 for 
2009/2010 which is funded from the Local Transport Capital Programme (LTP). 

 
5.0 STAFFING IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 Existing staff resources will be used for the detailed investigation, design and 

supervision of these schemes supported by external consultants on the 
Council’s Framework agreement where necessary. Future maintenance costs 
will be met from the Highway Maintenance Revenue Budget. 

 
6.0 EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 There are no specific ethnic minority, elderly persons or equal opportunities 

implications arising directly from this report. Schemes will be of particular 
benefit to children, the elderly, people with disabilities and pedestrians. 

 
7.0 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 Measures arising from the School Travel Plan initiative have a positive effect on 

community safety. 
 
8.0 PLANNING IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.2 There are no specific implications arising directly from this report. 
 
 
 

Page 366



9.0 LOCAL AGENDA 21 IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 There are no specific Local Agenda 21 implications arising from this report. 
 
10.0 ANTI-POVERTY IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 There are no specific Anti-Poverty Implications arising from this report. 
 
11.0 SOCIAL INCLUSION IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 There are no specific Social Inclusion implications arising out of this report. 
 
12.0 HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.1 There are no specific human rights implications arising directly from this report. 
 
13.0 ACCESS TO INFORMATION ACT 
 
13.1 No background papers have been used in preparation of this report 
 
14.0 LOCAL MEMBER SUPPORT IMPLICATIONS 
 
14.0 This report has potential implications for all wards 
 
15.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
15.1 Cabinet is requested to: 

 
(i) Approve the Safer Routes to Schools Programme for 2009/10 as set out in 

this report; and 
 
(ii) Authorise the Director of Technical Services to select a suitable alternative 

from the reserve list in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Streetscene and Transport Services and Party Spokespersons in the 
event that it proves impractical to proceed with an approved scheme or 
unallocated finance becomes available. 

 
 
 
 
DAVID GREEN, DIRECTOR 
TECHNICAL SERVICES 

Page 367



APPENDIX A 
Transport Capital Programme 2009/10 – Safer Routes To Schools Programme 
 

Ref: School/Location of Measures Ward (s) Scheme Estimated 
Cost (£) 

1 Weatherhead High School   * 
Breck Road 

Liscard Additional carriageway markings and guard railing 
amendments to facilitate additional school bus stop 

6,500 

2 St Georges Primary School 
St Georges Road 

Wallasey Additional pedestrian guard railing 2,000 

3 Castleway Primary School   * 
Castleway North/Twickenham Drive 

Leasowe & 
Moreton East 

Footway crossing at junction 
Improved pathway to school from Twickenham Drive 

40,000 

4 Sandbrook Primary School 
Stavordale Road & Chapelhill Road 

Leasowe & 
Moreton East 

2 No Build-outs adjacent to school 17,000 

5 Irby Primary School 
Glenwood Drive 

Greasby, Frankby 
& Irby 

Amendments to pedestrian guard railing 3,500 

6. Liscard Primary School 
Manor Lane 

New Brighton & 
Liscard 

Signs &/or carriageway markings 1,000 

7 Stanton Road Primary School 
Stanton Road 

Clatterbridge Rationalisation of traffic calming and school zig-zag markings 
outside proposed new centrally located school entrance 

30,000 

8 Brookdale Primary School 
Circular Drive & Escolme Drive 

Greasby, Frankby 
& Irby 

Proposed waiting restrictions 5,000 

9 Mount Primary School 
Mount Pleasant Road 

New Brighton & 
Wallasey 

Signs &/or carriageway markings 2,000 

10 St Anselms College   * 
Egerton Road 

Claughton New bus stop markings  2,000 

11 South Wirral High School   * 
Plymyard Avenue 

Eastham New bus stop markings 6,000 

12 Hoylake Holy Trinity CE School    * 
Market Street, Hoylake 

Hoylake & Meols Signs &/or carriageway markings 4,500 

13 Meadowside School    * 
Meadow Crescent, Woodchurch 

Upton Signs &/or carriageway markings 1,000 

14 Black Horse Hill Primary School 
Black Horse Hill 

West Kirby & 
Thurstaston 

Signs &/or carriageway markings 9,500 

15 Contribution to Sustrans for ‘Bike-It’ project 
 

 Scheme to promote cycling in schools with adopted School 
Travel Plans 

5,000 

16 Support measures for SRTS Schemes 
 

 To assist developing initiatives which encourage parents and 
children to engage in SRTS schemes and make more 
sustainable travel choices 

15,000 
 

Total 150,000 

* schools adopting first school travel plan 2008/9 

P
a
g

e
 3

6
8



APPENDIX B 
Transport Capital Programme 2009/10 – Safer Routes To Schools Programme – Reserve List 
 

Ref: School/Location of Measures Ward Scheme Estimated 
Cost (£) 

R1 Our Lady of Pity Primary School 
Barker Lane/Rigby Drive 

Greasby, Frankby 
& Irby 

Modified turning area for school buses 50,000 

R2 St Josephs Primary School 
Wheatland Lane 

Seacombe Refuge island (Wheatland Lane/Kelvin Road) 
School zig-zag markings 

15,000 

R3 Liscard Primary School 
Withens Lane 

New Brighton & 
Liscard 

Footway build out & TRO 15,000 

R4 St Georges Primary School 
Broadway/Claremount Road 

Wallasey Kerbline re-alignment and refuge island 20,000 

R5 Sacred Heart Primary School 
Danger Lane 

Leasowe & 
Moreton East 

No waiting traffic regulation Order 20,000 
 

R6 Higher Bebington Junior School 
Mill Road, Higher Bebington 

Bebington Footway build out & no waiting traffic regulation Order 15,000 

R7 Grove Street Primary School 
Longfellow Drive 

Bromborough Pedestrian crossing point and traffic calming 35,000 

R8 Various Schools and Locations  Amendments to school zig-zag markings and new school bus 
stop TRO 

2,000 to 
8,000          

 

P
a
g
e
 3

6
9



Page 370

This page is intentionally left blank



Rep.3347 

WIRRAL COUNCIL 
 
CABINET – 23 JULY 2009 
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF TECHNICAL SERVICES 
 
SPEED LIMIT & TRAFFIC REGULATION ORDER REVIEW 2009-2011 
 
1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report sets out the methodology proposed to undertake the review of existing 

speed limits on all A, B and C roads across the Wirral.  It also details how existing 
Traffic Regulation Orders (TRO's) relating to waiting restrictions will be assessed 
and how necessary alterations are to be implemented. 

 
1.2 The report recommends an endorsement of key principles to be adopted by 

Cabinet to enable this project to be delivered. 
 
2.0 BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The study is based upon the Department for Transport (DfT) circular 1/06 and 

Traffic Advisory leaflet 2/06 which set out guidance on the setting of local speeds 
limits.  A copy of these documents and other reference material will be placed in 
the Members Room at Wallasey Town Hall and can also be accessed via the 
internet as detailed in Appendix A. 

 
2.2 The key objectives of the document are to provide guidance on the review of 

existing speed limits and their suitability with regard to current accident rates, levels 
of development, road users and quality of life for local communities. 

 
2.3 The DfT has set a deadline of 2011 for Traffic Authorities to implement any 

proposed changes to speed limits following a review using this guidance. 
 
2.4 Members will recall that a report was submitted to this Cabinet on 10 December 

2008 (Minute 315 refers) outlining the requirement for the Council to employ 
Consultants through the Framework Agreement to undertake this work at a cost of 
£380k over 2 years funded via the Local Transport Plan (LTP).  The report and use 
of LTP Capital funding for this work was subsequently approved.  Following a 
tendering exercise, Faber Maunsell (now AECOM) were successful in being 
awarded the commission and commenced work on the early stages of the project in 
March 2009.  The main purpose of this report is to therefore advise Members on 
the proposed methodology and approach to undertake this review. 

 
3.0 OVERVIEW 
 
3.1 For this project, existing speed limits are to be assessed through a review of 

existing mean speeds, traffic flows, accident rates, function of the road and levels 
of vulnerable road users.  A decision on whether speed limits should remain as 
existing or be lowered or increased will then be made with supporting reasons. 

 
3.2 Traffic Regulation Orders (TRO's) will be assessed and verified on site against 

current council records.  Amendments to TRO’s where safety is the chief 
benefactor will be promoted. 

 
3.3 A priority list of schemes covering both speed limit and TRO alterations will be 

compiled and weighted.  Schemes will then be taken forward to detailed design and 
subject to the formal statutory consultation process including advertising if changes 
are promoted. 

 
3.4 The main driver for this study is to improve road safety and Council officers have 

worked in partnership with Merseyside Police and AECOM in the development of 
the review methodology. 

 

Agenda Item 19

Page 371



Rep.3347 

3.5 Over 200 km of roads are being assessed in the speed limit review and all areas 
are receiving a review of the traffic regulation orders along these strategic routes. 

 
4.0 COLLECTING BASE DATA 
 
4.1 Most of the information required for the study has already been provided directly to 

the consultant by officers.  This has included the following: 
 

• Accident data (3 years of data from the most recent available); 
• TRO plans and schedules; 
• Current asset database (signage); 
• List of petitions/public enquiries relevant to the study; 
• Existing survey information usable for the study (i.e dated within the past 3 

years); 
 
4.2 The consultant has complemented this information by conducting additional 

surveys across the borough.  These surveys are in the form of Automatic Traffic 
Counters (ATC’s).  The extents of ATC’s used has been dependent upon the 
amount of existing survey data available.  Over 170 sites are subject to an ATC 
survey. 

 
4.3 Review meetings between the consultant/ Wirral officers/Merseyside Police have 

been taking place to agree the extents of links and where ATC’s should be located.  
A number of factors such as extents of existing speed limit, whether urban/rural 
settings and between major junctions on a route have been deciding issues. 

 
4.4 Relevant information relating to known accident, speed and congestion hot spots 

has also been provided to the consultant to assist in analysis work. 
 
4.5 The consultant will complete a site review of the Wirral in two parts, the first to 

cover checks of existing TRO records and the second to review accident cluster 
sites and other route characteristics to aid a review of current speed limits.  Roads 
included in the study are listed in Appendix B. 

 
5.0 CONSIDERATIONS IN SETTING SPEED LIMITS 
 
5.1 It is important to have a clear process for the determination of speed limits.  This 

helps remove ambiguity and uncertainty and will produce guidance which will 
adhere to DfT circular 1/06 and Traffic Advisory leaflet 2/06. 

 
5.2 Officers will adopt key principles to link up the activities throughout the review and 

importantly for Cabinet the following salient points will be covered. 
 
5.2.1 Classifying the Route:  Character and Type 
 
 Each road will be classified.  These classifications align the road class – (whether 

A, B or C) with the character of the environment, the character of the road itself and 
the traffic composition. 

 
 For example a classified single carriageway A or B road would typically have a 

speed limit of 50 or 60 mph and primarily carry through traffic.  It would also be 
likely to have 

 
• Limited development and frontage access 
• Good forward visibility 
• Relatively good mean vehicle speeds 
• Few vulnerable road users 
• Relatively good accident rate 

 
5.2.2 In built up areas or rural villages where the speed limit is 30 or 40 mph it would be 

expected that 
 

• Frontage development is dominant 
• There is a significant number of vulnerable road users Page 372



Rep.3347 

• The accident rate is relatively poor 
• The road splits communities 
• The road serves as a route to schools, churches, private and commercial 

premises etc. 
• The opinion of the public is that traffic speeds 
• Where speed limits change there is potential to introduce ‘gateways’ 

 
5.2.3 As well as the roads purpose, character and its setting the DfT guidance 

recommends a calculation of injury accident rates for consideration in influencing a 
change in speed limit. 

 
5.2.4 Other key evidence which is to be included in the review of speed limits is the data 

for each link along a route this being  
 

• Length 
• Accident Data 
• Existing speed limit 
• Traffic flow (AADT) (Annual Average Daily Traffic) 
• Recorded speed taken from automated counting loops enable a comparison 

to be made against the set speed limit 
 
5.2.5 There is also a requirement to consider a qualitative assessment taking into 
account 
 

• Road characteristics (width gradient, no. of side roads, condition etc) 
• Vulnerable road user activity (pedestrians, cyclists, equestrians) 

 
 - other important supporting evidence being 
 

• Input from Merseyside Police (known accident, congestion, speeding hot 
spots) 

• Existing fixed/mobile camera sites 
• Relevant TRO enquiries 

 
5.3 Breaking down each route into manageable lengths which have been determined 

on road/frontage/speed limit characteristics enables a rigorous approach to take 
place using all of the above factors.  Using all this information will inform us as to 
whether or not the existing speed limit is suitable or whether or not a change needs 
to be proposed. 

 
5.4 Where a change in speed limit (higher or lower) is highlighted as a potential 

measure then the impact of making such a change will be assessed against the 
‘Speed Assessment Framework’ published by DfT under Traffic Advisory Leaflet 
2/06.  This allows an analysis of the effects of alternative speed limit choices by 
calculating relative changes in accidents, journey time and fuel consumption with 
respect to cost. 

 
5.5 Appendix C contains examples of the format to be used in the analysis of links with 

typical recommendations that could be made. 
 
5.6 In some cases, a safety scheme may be the most suitable solution to address say 

an accident problem at a particular location as opposed to a change in speed limit.  
A recommendation to this effect will be drawn from the study. 

 
5.7 I am aware that there has been a lot of media attention to the creation of 20mph 

zones, particularly in urban areas and where vulnerability of road users is a factor.  
This review as reported upon, however, is embracing the Department for 
Transport’s guidance as currently published for the review of speed limits.  I am not 
envisaging the results of the study promoting widespread introduction of 20mph 
limits.  Should legislation change during the course of this study, I shall obviously 
update Cabinet as necessary. 

 

Page 373



Rep.3347 

5.8 Whilst it has been proven that an overall reduction in vehicle speed can lead to a 
reduction in the severity of road casualties, local analysis of casualty records has 
shown that there is no evidence to support a blanket speed limit of 20mph outside 
all schools on Wirral.  

 
5.9 I have previously reported on the research surrounding 20mph signed areas with 

no other physical calming measures which shows an average speed reduction of 
just 1mph. I consider that 20mph zones near schools should continue to be 
prioritised based on road safety records with the use of physical calming measures 
to ensure the lowered limit is self enforcing. The criteria used within the Review 
does take on board factors which could result in specific locations being identified 
for a 20mph speed limit. 

 
6.0 REVIEW OF EXISTING TRAFFIC REGULATION ORDERS (TRO’s) 
 
6.1 Running alongside the speed limit review is an important complementary review of 

the existing Traffic Regulation Orders (TRO’s) which impose waiting restrictions. 
 
6.2 In much the same way as a rigorous approach is being taken in reviewing speed 

limits, officers and partners are exercising the same level of diligence towards 
TRO’s). 

 
6.3 Interlinking key principles drive the necessary activity and take into account 
 

• Sites where TRO’s may be a contributory factor to accident clusters. 
• Review list of current enquiries for consideration of TRO’s both to implement 

and remove. 
• Review existing TRO information – check that the on the ground situation 

matches the database. 
• Conduct site surveys. 

 
6.4 It is then possible to determine whether or not a positive impact can be achieved by 

the introduction of a TRO, an amendment or revocation. 
 
7.0 CONSULTATION 
 
7.1 The consultant will liaise with Cheshire West & Chester Council and Hyder 

Consulting Limited over cross boundary routes.  Cheshire’s speed limit review is 
currently part way through and consistent measures on shared routes (A41, A540 
etc) will be ensured. 

 
7.2 Throughout the assessment process the consultant will also liaise with the 

emergency services and Wirral Council representatives. 
 
7.3 Any planned amendments to speed limits or waiting restrictions will be subject to 

the statutory process of advertising and this process allows for persons to formally 
object if they feel that planned measures are not appropriate. 

 
8.0 PROGRESSING CHANGES 
 
8.1 The consultant will provide a list of schemes for implementation phased over two 

financial years 2009/10 and 2010/11.  Schemes will be weighted against a number 
of factors such as safety, congestion, environmental benefit, vulnerable road users 
and cost with safety always being the main driver. 

 
8.2 Subject to the methodology contained within this report being approved, it is 

proposed to set up a panel comprising officers from Wirral Council (including the 
project team), the emergency services and AECOM to collectively assess individual 
schemes put forward.  This will ensure a thorough and fair review process is 
undertaken that maximises the aims of the study and utilises funding set aside in 
the most efficient manner. 

 

Page 374



Rep.3347 

8.3 A list of schemes to be taken forward for detailed design and consultation will then 
be drawn up for implementation over the financial years 2009/10 and 2010/11. 

 
8.4 The proposed schemes to be taken through the statutory framework for advertising 

TROs will be made available to Ward Members and the Chair and Party 
Spokespersons for the Sustainable Communities Overview & Scrutiny Committee. 

 
8.5 Any unresolved objections received from statutory consultation will be considered 

by the Highways and Traffic Representations Panel which will then be put to the 
Sustainable Communities Overview & Scrutiny Committee for agreement on an 
appropriate way forward. 

 
8.6 Implementation of the site works will be undertaken by Colas, the recently 

appointed term contractor for Wirral at the end of the study.  TRO records across 
the Wirral will also be updated with new orders introduced to improve safety at 
specific locations across the borough.  A full speed limit review will have been 
completed in accordance with DfT circular 01/06 with limits amended to the agreed 
methodology and set to a limit that meets the requirements of all road users.  A 
total of 210km of roads will have been covered, including 14 ‘A’ roads, 19 B’ roads 
and 31 ‘C’ classified roads.  All the resulting information will be retrievable on an 
electronic database. 

 
9.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 As set out in the Cabinet report dated 10

th
 December 2008, the cost of the project 

will be met from the existing LTP Capital 2008-2011 budget, as follows: 
 
 2009/10 - £225k 

2010/11 - £155k 
 
9.2 There will be ongoing maintenance costs in maintaining the resulting assets to be 

contained within the Department’s existing revenue budgets. 
 
10.0 STAFFING IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 Officers will assist the appointed consultant, when required. 
 
11.0 EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 There are no specific ethnic minority or elderly persons implications, although lower 

speed limits and attention to waiting restrictions should make the road safer. 
 
12.0 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.1 Properly configured speed limits and Traffic Regulation Orders for waiting 

restrictions should have a positive impact on the number of collision occurrences on 
Wirral’s roads. 

 
13.0 LOCAL AGENDA 21 IMPLICATIONS 
 
13.1 There are no implications under this heading. 
 
14.0 PLANNING IMPLICATIONS 
 
14.1 There are no implications under this heading. 
 
15.0 ANTI-POVERTY IMPLICATIONS 
 
15.1 There are no implications under this heading. 
 
16.0 SOCIAL INCLUSION IMPLICATIONS 
 
16.1 There are no implications under this heading. 
 Page 375



Rep.3347 

17.0 LOCAL MEMBER SUPPORT IMPLICATIONS 
 
17.1 This review has implications for all Wards. 
 
18.0 ACCESS TO INFORMATION ACT 
 
18.1 There are no implications under this heading. 
 
19.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
19.1 That 
 
(1) Cabinet is requested to note this report and endorse both the methodology to be 

adopted and in particular the key principles proposed in sections 5 and 6 as the 
means for reviewing existing speed limits and Traffic Regulation Orders across the 
borough. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 DAVID GREEN, DIRECTOR 
 TECHNICAL SERVICES 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 376



Rep.3347 

 
 
 APPENDIX A – REFERENCE DOCUMENTS 
 
 

1. DfT Circular 01/2006 – ‘Setting Local Speed Limits’ – Document issued by The 
Department for Transport which advises Traffic Authorities to review speed limits on all 
their A and B roads by 2011.  The guidance provided in the document should also be used 
as the basis for future assessments of local speed limits, for developing route management 
strategies and for developing the speed management strategies required as part of the 
Local Transport Plan process.  This document forms the basis for this project. 
 
For further information visit: 
http://www.dft.gov.uk/pgr/roadsafety/speedmanagement/dftcircular106/dftcircular106.pdf 
 
 

2. Traffic Advisory Leaflet 2/06 – Speed Assessment Framework – Document issued by 
The Department for Transport which provides guidance on the review of speed limits on 
rural single carriageway roads.  The SAF utilises a spreadsheet in the calculation of the 
impact of changing a speed limit. 
 
For further information visit: 
http://www.dft.gov.uk/pgr/roads/tpm/tal/trafficmanagement/ficadvisoryleaflet206spe1767.pd
f 

 

 

3. TRL report – Accident Analysis on Rural Roads – A Technical Guide (Published 

Project Report PPR026) – Report by Traffic Research Laboratory which provides 
threshold levels for different accident types and can be used to determine specific accident 
issues on links. 
 
For further information visit TRL website, www.TRL.co.uk 

 

 

4. Urban Safety Management Guidelines – Road Safety Strategies for Urban 

Communities – A report by The Institution of Highways & Transportation in which road 
hierarchies are adopted that reflect a road’s function and the mix of traffic that it carries. 
For further information visit Institution of Highways & Transportation website, 
www.IHT.co.uk 

 
 
 

Page 377



Page 378

This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B - Roads included within the study     

        

A Roads B Roads C Roads      

A41 B5132 Arrowe Road / Arrowe Brook Road   

A540 B5136 Ashville Road     

A551 B5137 
Belvidere Road / Rolleston 
Drive    

A552 B5138 Borough Road     

A553 B5139 Bridge Street     

A554 B5140 Church Street     

A5027 B5141 Claughton Road     

A5028 B5142 Greasby Road     

A5029 B5143 Grosvenor Street     

A5030 B5145 Grove Road / Hose Side Road    

A5088 B5146 Hemingford Street     

A5137 B5147 Heron Road / Pump Lane / Well Lane   

A5139 B5148 Hill Bark Road     

A5227 B5149 
Hinderton Road / Queen 
Street    

 B5150 Irby Road / Thurstaton Road    

 B5151 Kings Lane / Broadway    

 B5172 Kings Road / Teehey Lane / Heath Road   

 B5192 Manor Road     

 B5427 Mill Hill Road / Mill Lane    

  Mount Pleasant Road / Seaview Road   

  Mount Road / Bedford Drive    

  
Mount Road / The Wiend / Thornton 
Road   

  Park Road West     

  Raby Mere Road / Raby Hall Road / Allport Road  

  Rock Lane West     

  
Slatey Road / Besborough Road / Woodchurch 
Road  

  St Pauls Road     

  Thingwall Road     

  
Thornton Road / Lever Causeway / Station Road / Storeton 
Road 

  Tollemache Road / Egerton Road / Park Road  

 

Page 379



Page 380

This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C - Example Link Assessment

Road A

KSI Slight

All Inj. KSI

Link 1 Junction 'A' to Junction 'B' 1.123 Rural Lower 3 10 40 14520 38.3 40.4 73 17 60 No 40 Yes

Road B

KSI Slight

All Inj. KSI

Link 2 Junction 'B' to Junction 'C' 1.375 Rural Lower 0 3 40 12176 28.5 31.3 16 0 60 No 30 No

KEY

Upper/ Lower Tier road - Upper = Through routes (50/60mph speed limit),  Lower = Local, access roads (40/50mph speed limit) for RURAL single carriageway roads.

KSI - Accidents resulting in Killed or Seriously Injured casualties.

Slight - Accidents resulting in slight injuries to casualties.

AADT flow - Average Annual Daily Traffic, a measure of daily traffic expressed as an average over the year 

Mean Speed - Average speed of all traffic on a link 

85th %ile Speed - The speed at which the top 85% of motorists travel on a given road.  

Accident Rate per 100m veh km - A measure of accident frequency on a given road with respect to time, distance and traffic flow.

Threshold Accident Rate - Set limits for Upper & Lower tier rural roads 

Mean 

Speed 

(mph)

85th %ile 

Speed 

(mph)

3 yr Accidents Existing 

Speed 

Limit 

(mph)

Partially built up

Urban distributor road

Some pedestrian/ cyclist activity close to existing shops

Section Description
Length 

(km)

Urban, 

Village or 

Rural

Accident Rate per 100m 

veh kmUpper or 

Lower 

Tier

AADT 

Flow

Added measures 

needed

Proposed 

Speed 

Limit 

(mph)

Added measures 

needed

Mean speeds just below set speed limit

Accident rate above threshold level

Upper or 

Lower 

Tier

3 yr Accidents Existing 

Speed 

Limit 

(mph)

Notes

Introduce accident reduction measures such as enhanced signing/ road markings at problem locations along the route

Threshold 

Accident 

Rate    

Upper - 35   

Lower - 60

Speed 

Camera 

Present 

(Mobile/ 

Fixed)

Section Description
Length 

(km)

Urban, 

Village or 

Rural

Recommendations

Reduce speed limit to 30mph

AADT 

Flow

Mean 

Speed 

(mph)

Recommendations

Threshold 

Accident 

Rate    

Upper - 35   

Lower - 60

85th %ile 

Speed 

(mph)

Accident Rate per 100m 

veh km

Maintain current speed limit

Partially built up with a school located on the link

Much frontage access along the link

High levels of pedestrian/ cyclist activity, especially around the school in the morning/ mid-afternoon

Mean and 85th percentile speeds low

Accident rate low

Notes

Speed 

Camera 

Present 

(Mobile/ 

Fixed)

Proposed 

Speed 

Limit 

(mph)

P
a

g
e
 3

8
1



P
a
g
e
 3

8
2

T
h

is
 p

a
g

e
 is

 in
te

n
tio

n
a
lly

 le
ft b

la
n
k



Rep3352 

 
WIRRAL COUNCIL 

 

CABINET – 23 JULY 2009 

 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF TECHNICAL SERVICES 

 

ENERGY SAVING INITIATIVE – INVEST TO SAVE 

ELECTRICITY METERING FOR STREET LIGHTING BY THE INTRODUCTION OF A 

CENTRAL MANAGEMENT SYSTEM 

 

 

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
1.1 Cabinet will be aware of the need to reduce the Council’s energy consumption. A 

Central Management System (CMS) for street lighting would provide the means to 
control the operation of streetlights connected to the system and to have the energy 
consumption of that street lighting accurately measured. This in turn would facilitate 
immediate financial benefits for any energy saving measures implemented. 

 
1.2 This report requests approval for a trial installation of a Central Management System 

controlling approximately 350 streetlights.  
 

2.0 BACKGROUND 

 
2.1 The vast majority of electricity consumption by street lighting in UK is un-metered. 

The payments made by Councils for electricity are based upon agreed hours of use 
plus the notional power demands of various lamps and control gear combinations 
laid down in the Balancing and Settlement Code BSCP520 by Elexon.  Elexon is the 
company that administers the complicated business of settling the payments for 
wholesale electricity in the UK.  

 
2.2 Any equipment intended for connection to an un-metered supply has to be assessed 

and given an energy rating by Elexon. This system is inflexible and in most 
instances the full potential of any energy saving measures implemented are not 
recognised and therefore do not result in lower energy bills. 

 
2.3 Until this year the only means of being certain of achieving financial savings from 

reduced energy consumption was to have a conventional electricity meter installed. 
This was expensive and, in most cases, impractical. 

 
2.4 On January 6th 2009 Elexon gave the first approvals for the use of Central 

Management Systems recognising the energy usage data provided as a means of 
metering.  

 
2.5 A Central Management System gives the user two-way communication with every 

lighting unit that is suitably equipped and enabled to respond. The user can instruct 
the light when to turn on, when to dim and when to turn off. The lighting unit can 
send information back detailing the energy usage, lamp performance, fault 
identification and fault prediction. 

 
2.6 Most Central Management Systems are web hosted and the user can log on from 

any pc with internet access. A web-based system may be designed to interface with 
a computer based asset management system.  Communication between the Central 
Management System and the area control points is by telecoms landline or mobile 
broadband. 

 
2.7 There are two communication methods between area control points and the lighting 

units: 
 
 1) mains cable transmission from the lighting unit to a local control point 

Agenda Item 20

Page 383



Rep3352 

 
 2) low power radio transmission from the lighting unit to a local control point 
 

Mains cable transmission is probably best suited to areas where a dedicated 
streetlighting electricity cable network is in existence. In Wirral most 
streetlights are connected to Scottish Power's mains network and agreement 
would have to be reached with Scottish Power before their network could be 
used for data transmission.  Low power radio transmission removes the need 
for consent from other parties  

 
2.8 There is no communication standard for Central Management Systems as yet hence 

consideration must be given to compatibility between the control gear in the lighting 
units and the components of the Central Management System. 

 
2.9 The introduction of these systems is still at an early stage throughout the UK and the 

largest installation to date controls 1300 units. 
 
3.0  OPERATIONAL BENEFITS 

 
3.1  The introduction of a Central Management System would allow the remote, dynamic 

control of street lights connected to the system. It would be possible to switch lights 
on and off when required and lights with dimming capability could be brightened or 
dimmed as and when required. The system could be arranged so that the level of 
lighting was appropriate to requirements at any given time. For example, increased 
lighting in the vicinity of a theatre for a period when the audience was due to leave 
but lower levels on nights when there was no performance. 

 
3.2  Most importantly, the system could be used to measure the amount of electricity 

used thereby ensuring that the implementation of energy saving measures would 
result in immediate cost benefits. 

 
3.3 The dynamic control of lights would allow dusk & dawn switching times to be 

adjusted and trimmed to shorten the burning hours to the minimum required. In 
conjunction with dimming this would reduce energy consumption and extend the life 
of the lamp. The Central Management System will not be used to turn any lights off 
during the hours of darkness 

 
3.4 The system would eliminate the problem of lights burning during the day due to 

photocell failure.  
 
3.5 Night inspection of lights controlled by a Central Management System would no 

longer be required as faulty lights would be reported through the system. 
 
3.6 By studying the lamp performance data the system would be able to predict lamp 

failures. This would facilitate management of lamp replacements particularly on high 
speed roads where traffic management is required. 

 
4.0 PROPOSAL  

 
4.1 It is not necessary to bring all of the lighting stock immediately under the control of a 

Central Management System, indeed out of a total of 37,750 lights only 9,500 
lighting units are suitable. Initially, a Central Management System could be 
connected to a small proportion of the lighting stock. 

 
4.2 In order to verify that the claimed benefits can be realised it is proposed that a small 

scale trial is carried out involving up to 1% of the total lighting stock.   
 
4.3 A number of existing lighting units will be fitted with dimmable electronic control gear 

and enabled for connection to the Central Management System.  
 

Page 384



Rep3352 

4.4 Initially, the system would be used to operate the dimming and switching facilities 
available. Members, local residents, and other stakeholders would have the 
opportunity to comment on the performance of the installations.  

 
4.5 Members are aware of the option to dim streetlights referred to in the report to 

Cabinet on 9th July 2008. The Central Management System is a further advance of 
the technology involved and dimming will form part of the trial proposed in this report 
superceding the original proposal.  

 
4.6 The results of this trial will be reported to Cabinet before the end of the current 

financial year. 
 
4.7 This trial supports the previous investment for energy saving measures that are in 

progress. The transition period leading to the start of the HESPE contract introduced 
a delay but the works are on target for completion this financial year. 

 
4.8 Given satisfactory results, the next stage would be to make the necessary 

arrangements for energy costs of connected lights to be paid for based upon the 
readings recorded by the system. 

 
4.9 Subsequently, the specification for any new lighting installations would incorporate 

the necessary control gear and communications module 
 
4.10 It will not be possible to connect the old style orange low pressure sodium sox 

lighting units to CMS hence, the rate at which the network of lights under the control 
of CMS increases will depend upon the funding available to renew the street lighting 
stock 

 
 
5.0  FINANCIAL AND STAFFING IMPLICATIONS 

 
5.1 There are no staffing implications arising from this report. 
 
5.2 The investment of the £137,000 saving identified in the earlier report to this Cabinet 

meeting would meet the cost of setting up a trial system controlling approximately 
350 streetlights.  The aim of the trial would allow me to positively identify and 
evaluate the potential benefits of such a system particularly in relation to: 

 
• Energy savings and eradication of “day burners” 
• Impact/savings associated with carbon reduction/carbon credits 
• Scrutiny and Inspection costs 

 
 and in particular if successful how best to “roll-out” the system to the existing 9500 

suitable units and potentially increasing this number. 
 
5.3 The annual operating cost of this installation would be in the region of  £700. 
 
5.4 System manufacturers claim energy savings of 40% can be achieved.  Current 

street lighting energy costs for Council are in the region of £1.5m. 
 

6.0  EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES IMPLICATIONS 

 
6.1 It is recognised that dimming of lights will need careful consideration so as not to 

disadvantage the various groups who require good levels of lighting on health and 
safety grounds. However, the dynamic control offered by a CMS would allow easy 
adjustments to be made to accommodate any special requirements. 

 

7.0 PLANNING IMPLICATIONS 

 
7.1 There are no planning implications in this report. 
 

Page 385



Rep3352 

8.0 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 

 
8.1 There are no crime and disorder strategy implications in this report. 
 
9.0 HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS 

 
9.1 There are no local Human Rights implications arising from this report. 
 
10.0 ANTI - POVERTY IMPLICATIONS 

 
10.1 There are no local Anti-Poverty implications arising from this report. 
 

11.0 LOCAL AGENDA 21 IMPLICATIONS 

 

11.1 By ensuring that lights are operating at maximum efficiency and that light levels are 
maintained at the lowest appropriate to the situation and pedestrian/traffic flows, 
CO2 emissions will be minimised and the carbon footprint reduced. 

 
11.2 Removing the need for night inspections and using the predictive facilities of the 

system will reduce the vehicle usage bringing about a reduction in vehicle emissions 
as a result. 

 
12.0 SOCIAL INCLUSION IMPLICATIONS 

 
12.1 There are no Social Inclusion implications arising from this report. 
 
13.0 ACCESS TO INFORMATION ACT IMPLICATIONS 

 
13.1 There are no Access to Information Act implications arising from this report. 
 
14.0 LOCAL MEMBER SUPPORT IMPLICATIONS 

 
14.1 There are local Member implications for all Wards in which trial sites will be located. 
 
15.0  RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
15.1 That members approve the proposal for the trial to be carried out using the £137,000 

saving identified in the earlier report to this Cabinet meeting as the source of 
funding. 

 
 
 
DAVID GREEN 
DIRECTOR, TECHNICAL SERVICES 

Page 386



WIRRAL COUNCIL 
 
CABINET – 23rd JULY 2009 
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF TECHNICAL SERVICES 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL STREETSCENE SERVICES – CONTRACT REVIEW 
 
1.0  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 The Environmental Streetscene Services contract with Biffa has now been in 

operation for over two years and the purpose of this report is to advise Cabinet of 
matters relating to the contract which have financial implications. 

 
1.2. Since the inception of the contract a budgetary shortfall relating to inflationary uplifts 

to the contract sum together with the effect of additional properties coming on-
stream has arisen in the sum of £311,000  which has been accommodated mainly 
through increased recycling activity.  In addition a re-engineering of the contract has 
allowed a permanent saving of £150,000 to be achieved. 

 
1.3 Further annual costs of £285,000 as well as the annual property count increase are 

likely to arise in the near future and it is unlikely that I will be able to fully fund these 
increased requirements.   

 
1.4 I propose to report back to Cabinet in the Autumn when the financial effects of the 

variations are known with certainty.  The report will address the funding of the 
variations together with any further savings which may result from a current 
operational review of the Streetscene Services Contract.  

 
2.0  BACKGROUND TO THE CONTRACT 
 
2.1 The new Environmental Streetscene Services contract was awarded to Biffa Waste 

Services in May 2006 and came into force on 22nd August 2006. 
 
2.2 During the past 31 months, the contract has achieved significant successes 

including the following: 
 

• The borough wide roll-out of the grey bin Alternate Weekly Collection service to 
over 138,000 properties, including collections on Bank Holidays; 

• The restructuring and expansion of the garden waste service to over 108,000 
properties; 

• The significant improvement in local environmental quality through better street 
cleansing and related activities has meant we have achieved the challenging 
Public Service Agreement (PSA) standard.    

 
2.3 A comprehensive report outlining the progress of the contract including contract 

management arrangements and realisation of proposed benefits was presented to 
Cabinet on 24th May 2007. 

 

Agenda Item 21

Page 387



2.4 At the meeting on 3rd April 2008, Cabinet approved the use of 2008/9 Waste Capital 
Infrastructure Grant to fund the roll-out of co-mingled recycling facilities to multi-
occupancy properties and on-street recycling facilities in primary and secondary 
retail areas, and also the progression of the procurement exercise for garden waste 
treatment facilities (Minute 576 refers). 

 
2.5 At Cabinet on 15th January 2009, the new Garden Waste Composting Facilities 

contract commencing 1st April 2009 was awarded (Minute 340 refers). This report 
highlighted financial savings that need to be taken into account as a result of 
awarding the new contract as well as a number of other issues such as the 
proposed use of Recycling Credits and financial pressures on the Department’s 
Waste and Environment budgets that would be the subject of a further report.   

 
2.6 It is proposed that once the contract matters outlined in this report have been 

resolved and the overall Waste and Environment Budget has been recast, a further 
report will be submitted to Cabinet in due course setting out opportunities to value 
engineer and reduce the revenue cost of the Environmental Streetscene Services 
contract as requested by Cabinet in the budget resolution of 16th October 2008 
(Minute 219d refers).  

 
3.0 CURRENT CONTRACT VALUE 
 
3.1  Contract Variations to Date 
 
3.1.1 At its inception in August 2006, the core contract was fully funded in the sum of 

£10,553,500.  Since that time, however, there have been a number of variations 
bringing the contract sum to £11,417,400 as at 1 April 2009.  These variations are 
summarised below and shown in full at paragraph 3.1.4:- 

 

Table 1  
 Position at 1 April 2009       

   £     

Effect of Inflationary Increases to the contract sum        948,800     

Inflationary Increases applied to Budget        702,700  CR   

       

Inflationary Shortfall        246,100     

      

Additional Property Count           65,100     

      

Total Shortfall        311,200     

        

 
3.1.2 The contract is still fully funded as the above shortfall has been accommodated by a 

combination of increased recycling activity and a re-engineering of the contract with 
the necessary virements being reflected in the Estimates submitted to Cabinet on 
23 February 2009.  In addition, an efficiency saving of £150,000 with no reduction in 
service provision has been achieved. 
 

Page 388



3.1.3 The additional property count of £65,100 is an annual contractual obligation to uplift 
the contract by an agreed formula to reflect new properties coming on stream 
during the year and it is unlikely that I will be able to accommodate the whole of the 
2009 uplift from within existing resources without impacting on service delivery.  In 
addition, there are permanent increased costs arising during 2009/10 and detailed 
in paragraph 4.1 which I am also unable to fully fund at present.  Similarly, there is 
no provision for the August 2009 inflationary uplift as the 2009-2010 budgetary 
allowance has been included as part of the above calculation.  Current economic 
indications are however, that the applicable 2009 inflation uplift will be negligible. 
 

3.1.4 Variations leading up to the contract sum of £11,417,400 at 1 April 2009 are as 
follows:- 

 
CORE STREETSCENE CONTRACT 
 

  Contract 
Sum 

    Budget         

 Payments Waste 
Collection 

Street 
Cleansing 

Totals  Budget/ 
Amendments 

Cumulative 
Shortfall 
Contract v 
Budget 

2006/07 Annual 
Amount 
(£) 

6,506,500 4,047,000 10,553,500  10,553,500  

Savings -93,800 -56,200 -150,000  -150,000  

Property 
Count 

40,000  40,000    

Inflation 
(3.83%) 

247,100 152,800 399,900  266,000  

2007/08 

Total 6,699,800 4,143,600 10,843,400  10,669,500 -173,900 

        

Property 
Count 

25,100  25,100    

Inflation 
(5.05%) 

339,600 209,300 548,900  215,200  

2008/09 

Total 7,064,500 4,352,900 11,417,400  10,884,700 -532,700 

        

Property 
Count 

  0    2009/10 

Inflation    0  221,500  

  Total 7,064,500 4,352,900 11,417,400  11,106,200 -311,200 

 
 
 
4.0    ENVIRONMENTAL STREETSCENE SERVICES CONTRACT – MATTERS 

REQUIRING RESOLUTION 
  
4.1    Multi-Occupancy dwellings 
 
 There are currently two types of existing collection rounds scheduled that are in the 

process of moving across to a full recycling service: 
 

Page 389



4.1.1 Round 1 (exclusion round):  Residual bins (240 litre) collected on a weekly basis, 
mainly communal bins used by all residents at the property. 

 
 In total this round services 138 multi occupancy locations covering approximately 

2400 households. For the Environmental Streetscene Contract, it was assumed 
these properties would move to an alternate weekly collection service identical to 
that received by the majority of households in the borough.  However, a detailed 
audit revealed many to unsuitable, primarily due to space restrictions.  Biffa are 
currently servicing these properties on a weekly residual round and have agreed not 
to charge the Council for this extra resource up until March 2009. The on-going cost 
to the Council to provide a weekly residual collection to this round (known as the 
“exclusion round”) is £114,300 for April 2009/10 and will be subject to inflation. 
 

4.1.2 Round 2: Residual bulk bins collected on a weekly basis, mainly communal bins 
used by all residents at the property.  

 
 In total there are 429 locations on this round, covering approximately 10,000 

households.   There will be various solutions implemented at these sites, ranging 
from weekly residual and weekly recycling to alternate weekly collections.  The 
Environmental Streetscene Contract allows for the current level of residual 
collections, but excludes any recycling services.  Biffa have proposed to provide a 
dedicated recycling round to service these locations and the full year effect of this 
cost is £171,000 (subject to inflation).  Once these Rounds 1 and 2 are in receipt of 
full recycling services, the Council will work with RSL’s and private landlords to 
reduce the number of locations on a weekly residual service in order to reduce the 
additional resource requirements in the longer term.   

 
4.2    Garden Waste 
 
4.2.1 The financial commitment to deliver the new garden waste contract is already 

included within the 09/10 budget, however delays to the mobilisation of the green 
waste contract have occurred. This is due to Health and Safety concerns identified 
with the preferred bidders reception facility. 

 
4.2.2 An independent Health and Safety review is being commissioned to report on the 

current condition of the site and if required, provide a list of improvements to be 
actioned.   Technical Services is committed to working with the preferred bidder to 
resolve these issues as a matter of urgency.  The review is due to be completed in 
June.  In the unfortunate event that health and safety matters cannot be resolved, 
the Council will have to consider its options with regards to the existing procurement 
options. 

  
4.3     Variations as a result of changes to household count 
  
4.3.1 The 2006/7 and 2007/8 property counts have resulted in an additional 1860 

households requiring servicing since the Environmental Streetscene Contract was 
initiated in August 2006.  In accordance with an agreed formula within the 
Environmental Streetscene Contract, this has resulted in a Property Count Uplift of 
£65,100 to be paid to the contractor.  This additional financial commitment has been 
accommodated within existing resources in the waste budget to date, but it is 
proposed that provision for future uplifts will need to be made. 

 

Page 390



5.0    FUTURE CONSIDERATIONS 
 
5.1    Bag round (Hard to reach round) 
 
5.1.1 Approximately 500 households have their residual waste collected weekly in black 

bags.  This service is fully funded through the Environmental Streetscene Contract.  
By 2010, these properties must also be able to recycle at least 2 materials from 
home in order for the Council to comply to the Household Waste Recycling Act 
2003.  The round is to be reviewed over the summer in order to reduce the round as 
much as possible and to explore alternative collection regimes for these residents.  
There are likely to be financial implications arising from any proposals (in the region 
of up to £50,000, which will be submitted to Cabinet in Autumn 2009. 

 
5.2 On Street Recycling 
 
5.2.1 The Council is currently piloting 22 on-street recycling bins in order to capture 

recyclable waste from shoppers.  It has been agreed through the Partnering Board 
that Biffa will service these bins free of charge.  In return, the Council have agreed 
to remove 22 mixed glass banks from across the borough once the rollout of 
recycling to multi-occupancy dwellings has been completed.  Separated glass 
banks (serviced directly by a glass re-processing contractor) will remain at existing 
bring site locations such as Supermarkets.  The results of the pilot and financial 
implications of any future proposals will be presented to Cabinet in Autumn 2009, 
along with recommendations for the future of this scheme. 

 
6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  

 
6.1      Additional Requirements 

 
6.1.1 As highlighted in paragraph 4.1, the additional full-year effect arising during 2009-

2010 are as follows:- 
  

Table 1       

   £     

Bulk Recycling        171,000     

Exclusion Round        114,300     

      

Total        285,300     

        

 
6.1.2 The Property Count Uplift applicable from August is likely to be in the region of 

£25,000 in the current year. 
 
6.1.3 Through maximising recycling credits and further re-engineering of the contract I 

should be able to contribute £100,000 towards the above increased requirements. 
 
6.1.4 A summary of additional requirements, excluding the Property Count Uplift is given 

below. 
 

Page 391



Table 2       

      

   £     

Bulk Recycling        171,000     

Exclusion Round        114,300     

Service Re-Engineering / Recycling Credits        100,000  CR   

      

Total        185,300     

        

 
6.2 Garden Waste Contract 
 
6.2.1 As detailed in paragraph 4.2, delays in the mobilisation of the new garden waste 

reception facility means that the previous contractor continues to process Garden 
Waste. As the gate fee is higher than budgeted for and the location of the site 
attracts additional transport costs the service is incurring an additional financing 
requirement of approximately £23,000 per month from 1st. April 2009. 

 
6.2.2 The full financial implications arising from the delay to the mobilisation of the 

reception facility will be reported to Cabinet once the outcome of the independent 
health and safety review has been completed and I am able to establish the best 
course of action to take in order to complete the procurement exercise. 

 
7.0 EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 There are no specific equal opportunity implications arising from this report. 
 
8.0 PLANNING IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 There are no specific planning implications arising from this report. 
 
9.0 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 

 
9.1 There are no implications under this heading. 
 
10.0 ANTI-POVERTY IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 There are no implications under this heading. 
 
11.0 SOCIAL INCLUSION IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 There are no implications under this heading. 
 
12.0 HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.1 There are no specific human rights implications arising directly from this report. 
 
13.0    LOCAL AGENDA 21 IMPLICATIONS 
 
13.1 All current and planned activity surrounding waste collection aims to reduce overall 

waste arising and divert waste from landfill, supporting LA 21 objectives. 
 
 

Page 392



14.0 ACCESS TO INFORMATION ACT 
 
14.1 No background papers have been used in the preparation of this report. 
 
15.0 LOCAL MEMBER SUPPORT IMPLICATIONS. 
 
15.1 The Environmental Streetscene Services Contract affects all wards across the 

Borough. 
 
16.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
16.1 Cabinet is requested to:- 
 

(1) Note the permanent increased costs of £185,300 applicable from 2009-2010 as 
detailed in section 6.1; 

 
(2) Note the proposed inclusion in the Technical Services budget the effect of the 

contractual Property Count Uplift on an annual basis throughout the remaining 
life of the contract and commencing from August 2009; 

 
(3) Instruct the Director of Technical Services to report the outcome of the 

Environmental Streetscene Contract Value Engineering exercise to Cabinet in 
Autumn 2009 to enable any necessary growth in revenue budget to be 
approved. 

 
 
 
DAVID GREEN 
DIRECTOR, TECHNICAL SERVICES 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 393



Page 394

This page is intentionally left blank



Printed on 100% Recycled Paper    

WIRRAL COUNCIL 

CABINET  -  23 JULY 2009 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF TECHNICAL SERVICES 

STREET LIGHTING (ELECTRICITY) CONTRACT RENEWAL 2009 
 
 

 

1.0 Executive Summary 

 

1.1 This report details the Council’s Street Lighting contract renewal, undertaken 
by Solutions (BS), following the end of the current one year contract on 31 
March 2009. The new contract has reduced operating costs from £1,624,149 
in 2008/09 to £1,486,734 in 2009/10, producing full year saving of £137,000. 
However due to the re-alignment of the street lighting contract from April to 
October £137,000 will be available for re-investment subject to there being no 
increases in October.  

 
1.2 To enable further street lighting efficiencies to be implemented, Cabinet 

approval is sought to reinvest the £137,000 saving into new Invest to Save 
Energy Efficiency Initiatives during 2009/10. 

 
1.3 As part of the 2009-10 estimates exercise, Council agreed a Policy Option of 

£180,000 towards any tariff increases in 2009-10. This sum may now be 
returned to balances 

 

2.0  Background 

 
2.1 A one year contract from April 2008 to March 2009 was awarded to EDF 

Energy via BS managed service which was worth £1,624,149 per annum, up 
to March 2009. Over the last twelve months electricity prices have remained 
extremely volatile but from their record highs in September 2008 prices have 
fallen during the period that BS procured the electricity for the forthcoming 
contract renewal. 

 
2.2 As a result of this volatility Suppliers are reluctant to hold offers open for 

longer than a few days. Members will be aware that as a result of these 
restrictions, delegated authority was extended to include the Street Lighting 
contract renewal process in Minute 520 – Central Services: Energy 
Procurement – Street Lighting Contract Renewal 2005. 

 
 

3.0 Contract Renewal Details 
 
3.1 A contract renewal price was received from BS on the 6th April 2009 for a 

period of twelve months to 31 March 2010. Although utility prices remained 
volatile in the run up to contract renewal there was an 8.46% reduction in 
prices from 9.6 pence per kilowatt hour to 8.8 pence per kilowatt hour as 
detailed in the table below. 

 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 22

Page 395



Printed on 100% Recycled Paper    

 

EAC Area 

2008-09 

EAC 

Volume 

2008-09 

Tariff inc. 

CCL 

2008-09 

Costs 
  

2009-10 

Tariff inc. 

CCL 

2009-10 

Costs 
Difference % Diff.

Car Parks/Lighting 247,690 9.6p. £23,842  8.8p. £21,825 -£2,017  

Highways Agency 809 9.6p. £78  8.8p. £71 -£7  

Traffic Signals & Systems 523,103 9.6p. £50,352  8.8p. £46,092 -£4,260  

Illuminated Signs 1,167,858 9.6p. £112,415  8.8p. £102,903 -£9,511  

Street Lighting 14,933,583 9.6p. £1,437,462   8.8p. £1,315,843 -£121,619  

TOTAL 16,873,043  £1,624,149   £1,486,734 -£137,414 -8.46%

 
3.2 In line with agreed delegated authority and in consultation with colleagues 

within the Corporate Procurement Unit the contract renewal price was 
accepted. It has been decided to align the Street Lighting contract with the 
other utility contracts which run from October to September in each purchasing 
period. Whilst a twelve month price was received this will be revised in 
October. Based on the current market performance no increase is expected in 
October. 

 

4.0 Equal Opportunities 
  
4.1 There are no Equal Opportunities implications arising from this report. 
 

5.0 Background Papers 

 
5.1 Background papers used in the preparation of this report include the Market 

Report and Current Overview from The Energy Information Centre and 
Cabinet Reports; 9 July 2008 – The Impact of Energy Price Rises on the 
Authority, 5 February 2009 – Annual Electricity and Gas Contract Renewal. 

 

6.0 Local Member Support Implications 
 
6.1 There are no local Member implications arising from this report. 
 

7.0 Human Rights Implications 
 
7.1 There are no local Human Rights implications arising from this report. 
 

8.0 Environmental Impact Statement / Local Agenda 21 Implications 
 
8.1 By obtaining 100% of our street lighting electricity from Good Quality CHP the 

Council will reduce harmful emissions by 4,978 tonnes of Carbon Dioxide over 
the next twelve months. This will greatly assist the Council in setting the new 
National Indicator 186 which is included within the LAA. 

 

9.0 Planning Implications 
 
9.1 There are no planning implications in this report. 
 

10.0 Community Safety Implications 
 
10.1 There are no crime and disorder strategy implications in this report. 
 

Page 396



Printed on 100% Recycled Paper    

 

11.0 Financial and Staffing Implications 
 
11.1 There are no staffing implications arising from this report. 
 
11.2 The new contract has reduced operating costs by 8.46% from £1,624,149 in 

2008/09 to £1,486,734 in 2009/10, producing full year savings of £137,000. 
However due to the re-alignment of the street lighting contract from April to 
October £137,000 will be available for re-investment subject to there being no 
increases in October.  

 
11.3 To enable the Department to reduce street lighting costs further it is proposed 

to reinvest the savings into new Invest to Save Energy Efficiency Initiatives 
which are the subject of a separate report on this Cabinet agenda. 

 
11.4 Total annual utility costs for the Council, including Schools, is approximately 

£10.5million. Arrangements will be in place to renew our utility contracts 
(excluding water) in October 2009. Current market conditions suggest that it is 
unlikely, at present, that utility prices will rise in October.  

 

11.5 Following renewal of the contract there is now a surplus of £180,000 in the 
2009-10 energy budget as the Policy Option detailed in section 1.3 which is no 
longer required. 

 

12.0  Recommendations 
 
12.1 That it be noted that the offer made by Buying Solutions was competitively 

tendered and the tender accepted using Delegated Authority. 
 
12.2 To enable the Department to reinvest the savings into Invest to Save street 

lighting energy efficiency initiatives, that Members approve the reinvestment of 
the financial savings referred to in section 11.2. 

 
12.3 That the 2009-10 Policy Option of £180,000 be accepted as a saving to the 

Council. 
 
 
 
David Green 
Director of Technical Services 
 
 
 

Page 397



Page 398

This page is intentionally left blank



WIRRAL COUNCIL 
 
CABINET 
 
23 JULY 2009 
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 
 
ANNUAL AUDIT FEES 2009-10 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1. This report outlines the proposed Audit Commission fees for 2009-10.  The fees 

were reported to, and agreed by the Audit and Risk Management Committee on 
29 June 2009. 

 
2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1. The Audit Commission fee is based on a risk based approach to audit planning 

as set out in the Code of Audit Practice.  It reflects only the audit element of the 
work, excluding any inspection and assessment fees. 

 
2.2. Audit Area Planned Fee Planned Fee 
  2009/10 2008/09 
  £ £ 
 Financial Statements 256,298 271,900 
 Use of Resources/VFM Conclusion 126,274 132,350 
 Whole of Government Accounts 7,428 2,400 
 
 Total Audit Fee 390,000 406,650 

 Certification of claims and returns 168,035 136,960 
 
 Total 558,035 543,610 
 
2.3. The Audit Commission has published its work programme and scale of fees for 

2009/10.  The scale fee for Wirral Council is £343,236.  The fee proposed for 
2009/10 is 13 percent above the scale fee. 

 
2.4. The assumption by the Audit Commission is that all bodies will be at the fee 

scale but if there are specific audit risks then they could be up to 30% above 
the fee scale.  The Wirral fee has been reduced by 4.1% due to reductions in 
respect of better quality assurance of information that is presented for audit and 
a stronger control environment reflected in the higher Use of Resources scores. 

 
2.5. However, there are some factors that place the Council towards high risk in 

terms of ‘audit risk’ and that means that the Audit Commission has more work 
to do because of individual circumstances including: 

 

Agenda Item 23

Page 399



 a. the political structure of the Council means that the Auditors have more 
meetings/communication with Members than in other councils and they 
also attend more committee meetings. 

 b. There are ongoing capacity issues in Internal Audit and Internal Audit has 
also needed to respond to reactive work and so the Audit Commission has 
not been able to rely on Internal Audit work to inform their 
opinion/grants/other work. 

 
 c. The Audit Commission receives a relatively high number of questions from 

members of the public on an ongoing basis. 
 
2.6. The Audit and Risk Management Committee on 29 June 2009 agreed the fee 

increase but requested a report to the meeting on 23 September 2009 
comparing the Wirral Fees and the relative scale fees with other local 
authorities. 

 
3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
3.1. The total cost of audit fees is expected to increase by £14,425. 
 
4. STAFFING IMPLICATIONS  

 

4.1. There are no staffing implications. 
 
5. EQUAL OPPORTUNITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1. There are no equal opportunity implications. 
 
6. PLANNING IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1. There are no planning implications. 
 
7. COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1. There are no community safety implications. 
 
8. HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1. There are no human rights implications. 
 
9. AGENDA 21 IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1. There are no Agenda 21 implications. 
 
10. LOCAL MEMBER SUPPORT IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1. There are no local Member support implications. 

Page 400



 
11. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
11.1. Letter from the Audit Commission 26 April 2009. 
 
12. RECOMMENDATION 
 
12.1. That the audit fees for 2009-10 be noted. 
 
 
   IAN COLEMAN 
   DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 
 
 
 
 
 
FNCE/124/09 

Page 401



Page 402

This page is intentionally left blank



Audit Commission, First Floor, Block 4, The Heath Technical & Business Park, The Heath, 
Runcorn, Cheshire, WA7 4QF 
T 0844 798 7300  F 0844 798 3551  www.audit-commission.gov.uk 

Our reference LTM/FL 

26 April 2009 

Direct line 0844 798 7043 

Email m-thomas@audit-

commission.gov.uk 

Mr I Coleman 
Director of Finance 
Wirral Council 
Treasury Building 
Cleveland Street 
Birkenhead 
Wirral 
CH41 6BU 

Dear Ian 

Annual audit fee 2009/10 

Further to our discussions on the new form of the audit programme fee, I am writing to confirm 
the audit work that we propose to undertake for the 2009/10 financial year at Wirral Council. The 
fee: 

! is based on the risk-based approach to audit planning as set out in the Code of Audit 
Practice and work mandated by the Audit Commission for 2009/10; and  

! reflects only the audit element of our work, excluding any inspection and assessment 
fees. Your Comprehensive Area Assessment Lead will be writing to you separately on 
inspection fees.  

As I have not yet completed my audit for 2008/09 the audit planning process for 2009/10, 
including the risk assessment will continue as the year progresses and fees will be reviewed 
and updated as necessary. 

The total indicative fee for the audit for 2009/10 is for £390,000 (exclusive of VAT) which 
compares to the planned fee of £406,647 for 2008/09 (reduction of 4.1%). A summary of this is 
shown in the table below. 

Audit fee 

Audit area Planned fee 
2009/10 

Planned fee 
2008/09 

Financial statements 256,298 271,900

Use of Resources/VFM Conclusion 126,274 132,350

WGA 7,428 2,400

Page 403



2

Total audit fee 390,000 406,650

Certification of claims and returns 168,035 136,960

The Audit Commission has published its work programme and scales of fees 2009/10. The 
scale fee for Wirral Council is £343,236. The fee proposed for 2009/10 is 13 per cent above the 
scale fee.   

In setting the fee at this level, I have assumed that the general level of risk in relation to the 
audit of the financial statements is not significantly different from that identified to 2008/09. A 
separate plan for the audit of the financial statements will be issued in December 2009. This will 
detail the risks identified, planned audit procedures and any changes in fee. The quoted fee for 
grant certification work is an estimate only and will be charged at published daily rates. If I need 
to make any significant amendments to the audit fee during the course of the audit, I will first
discuss this with you and then prepare a report outlining the reasons why the fee needs to 
change for discussion with the Audit and Risk Management committee.

My use of resources assessments will be based upon the evidence from three themes:  

! Managing finances; 

! Governing the business; and 

! Managing resources.  

The key lines of enquiry specified for the assessment are set out in the Audit Commission’s 
work programme and scales of fees 2009/10. My work on use of resources informs my 2009/10 
value for money conclusion. However, I have identified a number of significant risks in relation 
to my value for money conclusion. For each risk, I consider the arrangements put in place by 
the Council to mitigate the risk, and plan my work accordingly. My initial risk assessment for 
value for money audit work is shown in the table below: 

Risk Planned work Timing of work 

Medium term funding 
and DASS 
overspends. 

We will review the Council’s 
plan for balancing medium term 
funding and monitor progress 
of DASS spending throughout 
the year, as part of our work on 
Use of Resources. 

April 2009 – 
March 2010 

Workforce planning We will review the council’s 
arrangements as part of our 
work on Use of Resources. 

April 2009 – 
March 2010 

I will issue a number of reports relating to my work over the course of the audit. These are listed 
at Appendix 1. 

Page 404



3

The above fee excludes any work requested by you that the Commission may agree to 
undertake using its advice and assistance powers.  Each piece of work will be separately 
negotiated and a detailed project specification agreed with you. 

The key members of the audit team for the 2009/10 are:  

Audit Manager – Liz Temple-Murray  0151 666 3483

Team Leader – Rob Metcalf   0151 666 3484 

I am committed to providing you with a high quality service. If you are in any way dissatisfied, or 
would like to discuss how we can improve our service, please contact me in the first instance. 
Alternatively you may wish to contact Terry Carter, the North West Region Head of Operations: 
t-carter@audit-commission.gov.uk.

Yours sincerely 

Mike Thomas 
District Auditor 

cc  Steve Maddox, Chief Executive 

Paula Southwood, Chair of the Audit Committee 

Page 405



4

Appendix 1: Planned outputs 

Our reports will be discussed and agreed with the appropriate officers before being issued to the 

Audit and Risk Management Committee. 

Table 1  

Planned output Indicative date 

Audit plan 17 December 2009 

Annual governance report  7 September 2010 

Auditor's report giving the opinion on the 
financial statements and value for money 
conclusion 

14 September 2010 

Use of resources report 14 September 2010 

Final accounts memorandum (to the 
Director of Finance) 

10 October 2010 

Annual audit letter November 2010 

Page 406



WIRRAL COUNCIL 
 
CABINET 
 
23 JULY 2009 

 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 

 

PROJECTED BUDGET 2010-2011 
 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1. This report presents the projected budget for 2010-2011 which will be the final 

year of the Comprehensive Spending Review 2007 (CSR). 
 
2. BUDGET 2009-10 
 
2.1. The summary budget for 2009-10 as agreed by the Council on 2 March 2009 

is as follows: 
 
  £m 
 Base Budget 316.9 
 
 Resources 
  Formula Grant 152.8 
  Area Based Grant 31.0 
  Council Tax 129.0 
  Collection Fund -0.7 
  Use of Balances     4.8 
   316.9 
 
3. COMPREHENSIVE SPENDING REVIEW 
 
3.1. The Comprehensive Spending Review (CSR) 2007, was announced on 9 

October 2007.  An initial report on the Pre Budget Statement by the 
Chancellor of the Exchequer including the CSR was presented to the Cabinet 
on 1 November 2007.  The Department for Communities and Local 
Government (DCLG) announced the three year provisional Local Government 
Finance settlement on 6 December 2007 and the final settlement on 24 
January 2008. 

 
3.2. The provisional Local Government Finance Settlement for 2009-10 was 

issued by the DCLG on 26 November 2008.  The provisional settlement 
restated the indicative figures included in the settlement issued on 24 January 
2008 and was reported to Cabinet on 10 December 2008. 

 
3.3. The final settlement was issued on 21 January 2009 which again confirmed 

the indicative figures for 2010-11. 
 

Agenda Item 24

Page 407



3.4. In his budget speech on 22 April 2009 the Chancellor of the Exchequer stated 
that the main grant for 2010-11 would not be reduced but there will be 
reductions from 2011-12. 

 
4. VARIATIONS IDENTIFIED FOR 2010-2011 
 
4.1. Inflation –Provision is included for pay and prices at 2% and for income at 

3%. 
 
4.2. Capital Financing – Cabinet on 10 December 2008 agreed the capital 

programme for 2009-2012 at an additional financing cost totalling £2.9m for 
2010-11. 

 
4.3. Waste Disposal – The waste disposal levy is projected to increase by 15.7%, 

£2.6m. 
 
4.4. Pension Fund - The Pension Fund was actuarially revalued as at 31 March 

2007.  The phased implementation of the revised contribution rates over three 
years was agreed by the Cabinet on 12 December 2007. 

 
4.5. Merseytravel – The Merseytravel levy is projected to increase by 4% in 2010-

11, £1.0m. 
 
4.6. Invest to Save Schemes – The Cabinet has agreed a number of invest to 

save schemes which will reduce expenditure by £0.4m in 2010-11. 
 
4.7. Private Finance Initiative – Increase in PFI payments of £1.0m in 2010-11 

as the PFI reserve reduces. 
 
4.8. Benefits Subsidy – The Department for Work and Pensions has announced 

that benefits subsidy will be reduced by 3% per annum in real terms, 5% per 
annum in cash for certain elements of the subsidy, a reduction of £0.3m per 
annum. 

 
4.9. Other Unavoidable Growth – A number of relatively minor items of 

unavoidable growth of less than £0.2m will arise.  These should total less than 
£1m. 

 
5. OTHER DEVELOPMENTS 
 
5.1. There are a number of other developments which are likely to impact on the 

financial position of the Authority during 2010-11.  The impact of these issues 
will be reported to the Cabinet as and when they are resolved.  Some of the 
potentially most important issues are:- 

 
 (a) Global recession.  This is likely to impact on the budget in many ways 

and will be kept under continuous review. 

Page 408



 (b) Review of the Local Authority Business Growth Incentive Scheme.  A 
consultation paper on a revised scheme to commence in 2009 was 
reported to the Cabinet on 29 November 2007.  A further consultation 
paper has been received which if implemented could result in a grant of 
£0.2m in 2009-10 and £0.5m in 2010-11. 

 
 (c) Review of Supporting People Grant to be undertaken in 2009 with the 

grant to be absorbed into the Area Based Grant from 2010-11. 
 
 (d) Implementation of supplementary business rates which was reported to 

Cabinet on 29 November 2007. 
 
 (e) Review of the population statistics to include the effects of recent 

migration, which was reported to the Cabinet on 16 April 2008. 
 
 (f) Review of the funding of social care with proposals to be released in 

June 2009 
 
 (g) Transfer of the responsibilities of the Learning and Skills Council to 

Local Authorities from 2010-11. 
 
 (h) Introduction of the Community Infrastructure Levy in October 2009. 
 
 (i) Implementation of International Financial Reporting Standards from 

2010 which was reported to the Cabinet on 9 April 2009. 
 
 (j) Carbon Reduction Commitment to be introduced from 2010-11 which 

was reported to the Cabinet on 19 March 2009. 
 
6. BALANCES 
 
6.1. Council agreed the budget for 2009-10 with projected balances of £6m. 
 
6.2. The out-turn for 2008-09 was reported to Cabinet on 25 June 2009 showing 

net overspending of £2.3m. 
 
6.3. Cabinet on 25 June 2009 agreed to transfer £2.1m from the Insurance Fund 

to the General Fund. 
 
6.4. Summary 
   £m 
 Projected Balance 6.0 
 Overspending 2008-09 - 2.3 
 Insurance Fund 2.1 
 
   5.8 
 
6.5. The above summary assumes that all projected overspendings in 2009-10 will 

be contained by Directors. 

Page 409



 
7. EFFICIENCY REQUIREMENTS 
 
7.1. The gap between projected expenditure and anticipated resources will need 

to be bridged by a combination of savings and/or increased Council Tax. 
 
7.2. The efficiencies agreed in preparing the budget for 2009-10 included £0.5m 

which will become effective from 2010-11. 
 
7.3. Apportionment of the efficiency requirement for 2010-11 in line with the 

agreed three year efficiency plan would produce the following targets which 
were reported to the Cabinet on 19 March 2009. 

 
  £000 
 Adult Social Services 2,070 
 Children & Young People 1,200 
 Corporate Services 70 
 Finance 530 
 Law/HR/Asset Management 190 
 Regeneration 920 
 Techical Services     620 
  5,600 
 
7.4. Part of the Efficiency Investment Budget for 2010-11 is again being used to 

fund the following teams which are working on the delivery of the corporate 
change programme:- 

 
  £m 
 
 Procurement and Creditors 1.3 
 Change 0.7 
 Customer Services Development 0.2 
 Adult Social Services Reform 0.5 
  2.7 
 
7.5. I am assuming an annual Council Tax increase of 4%. 
 
7.6. The Minister for Local Government has stated that the Council Tax capping 

limit is likely to remain at 5%. 
 
8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1. The projected budgets for 2010-11 is compiled from the base budget for 

2009-10 approved by Council on 2 March 2009, the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2009-2012 agreed by the Cabinet on 23 July 2008, and updated for 
the issues outlined in this report.  The projected budget is shown in the 
Appendix. 

 
9. STAFFING IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1. There are none arising from this report. 
 

Page 410



10. EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1. There are none arising form this report. 
 
11. HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1. There are none arising from this report. 
 
12. LOCAL AGENDA 21 IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.1. There are none arising from this report. 
 
13. COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 
13.1. There are none arising from this report. 
 
14. PLANNING IMPLICATIONS 
 
14.1. There are none arising from this report. 
 
15. LOCAL MEMBER SUPPORT IMPLICATIONS 
 
15.1. There are none arising from this report. 
 
16. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
16.1. Comprehensive Spending Review – HM Treasury – October 2007 
 Medium Term Financial Strategy – 2009-2012 – July 2008 
 Formula Grant Settlement 2009-10 –DCLG –January 2009. 
 Estimates 2009-10 – March 2009 
 Budget – HM Treasury – April 2009. 
 
17. RECOMMENDATION 
 
17.1. That the projected budget for 2010-11 be updated and reported regularly to 

the Cabinet. 
 
 
 
 
 
  IAN COLEMAN 
  DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 
 
 
 
 
 
FNCE/199/09 
 

Page 411



APPENDIX 1 
WIRRAL COUNCIL 

PROJECTED BUDGET 2010-11 
 

   

  £m 
Base Budget   314.2 
Increased Requirements   
Pay Inflation   3.3 
Price Inflation   3.6 
Capital Financing   2.9 
Waste Disposal   2.6 
Pension Fund Revaluation   0.5 
Merseytravel   1.0 
Private Finance Initiative   1.0 
Benefits Subsidy   0.3 
Supporting People   10.3 
Unavoidable Growth   1.0 
Efficiency Investment Fund       2.6 
   343.3 
Reduced Requirements 
Income Inflation 

  
 -1.0 

Invest To Save   -0.4 
LABGI   -0.3 
Area Based Grant   -0.4 
Agreed Efficiencies      -0.5 
Forecast Expenditure   341.0 
Balances       0.2 
   341.2 
Resources   
Formula Grant   157.9 
Area Based Grant   41.0 
Council Tax   129.0 
LAA Reward Grant       1.4 
LABGI   0.5 
Reserves        0.5 
Forecast Resources   330.3 
   
Shortfall   10.9 
Council Tax Increase   5.2 
Efficiencies required   5.7 
 

Page 412



WIRRAL COUNCIL 
 
CABINET 
 
23 JULY 2009 
 
REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 
 
MERSEYSIDE PROCUREMENT COLLABORATION 
 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1. The report provides a summary of progress made by the Merseyside 

Procurement Collaboration and seeks authority to continue the work via partner 
contributions. 

 
2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1. Collaboration and the sharing of services to provide cost reductions and better 

overall outcomes can take different forms. Considerable early progress has 
been made by the Procurement Collaboration. What has been established 
remains relatively fragile given the time it has been in place. Continued success 
necessitates a core programme team and recognition from partner 
organisations and individuals of the commitment required. 

 
2.2. The Merseyside Procurement Collaboration currently includes, Halton; 

Knowsley; Liverpool; Merseytravel; Mersey Fire and Rescue; Sefton; St Helens 
and Wirral. Developed originally as one of the sub regional procurement hubs 
in the North West within the Centre of Excellence arrangements it has since 
been incorporated within the work of the Merseyside Improvement and 
Efficiency Partnership. The priorities of the latter are aligned to the North West 
Improvement and Efficiency Partnership (NWIEP), from which it receives 
Government funding. 

 
2.3. The current arrangement has developed as a partnership of choice and that 

element of choice and a strong commitment to the shared programme of work 
will continue to be fundamental to the development and success of the 
collaboration. 

 
2.4. The ‘virtual’ hub arrangement operates via a lead position from Knowsley MBC 

and a funded programme resource. Progress to date has also required a 
commitment and input from the independently operating partner procurement 
teams. 

 

Agenda Item 25

Page 413



2.5.. The programme and core staffing resource of £62,000 was originally funded 
from the NW Centre of Excellence.  This funding was intended for the twelve 
month period to November 2008.  Additional funds of £162,000 were made 
available from the sub regional allocation of the Merseyside Improvement and 
Efficiency Partnership for the twelve months commencing June 2008.  Having 
established a broad set of project deliverables, the additional funding provided 
for an extension of employment for the project manager; support for 
research/administrative duties; an analysis of third party spend for partner 
organisations and the extension of e-procurement and training initiatives. 

 
3. PROGRESS 
 
3.1. Considerable progress has been made on all the project deliverables and key 

areas are highlighted below: 
 

a.  Cashable Savings  
 
 Cashable savings are one of the key deliverables of the procurement 

collaboration. The Government set a target of £4.7bn of savings 
achievable by local government in the three financial years commencing 
2008-09. It is expected that 57% of that figure will be achieved from 
more efficient procurement. For the period 2008 – 2011 the Merseyside 
sub region has a saving target of £108m which is expected to be 
delivered from procurement. In the budget on 22 April 2009 the 
Chancellor of the Exchequer announced an increase of the £4.7bn to 
£5.5bn but no details are available as yet.  

 
 Based upon partner data, a figure of £20m has been submitted by the 

collaboration for projected procurement savings in the period for 2008-
2011. The savings relate to procurement undertaken collaboratively at 
sub regional level; by partner organisations themselves (these may have 
been shared / adopted by other Merseyside partners); via the adoption 
of procurement available to the sector from other procurement sources, 
such as the Office of Government Commerce. Of this amount £8m can 
be directly attributed to the Merseyside Collaboration. 

 
b. Procurement Map 
 
 Partners have mapped existing frameworks / contracts to a shared 

database itemising such information as total / annual value; start and 
finish dates. This shared contract register provides an insight into 
required procurement and the potential for collaborative exercises. It is 
being used to inform the workplans for the next two years. It will be 
situated on the Due North platform when that facility is implemented in 
partner authorities during coming months and in the NWIEP vault facility 
which can also be externally viewed by suppliers, including local 
businesses. This will allow potential suppliers to receive an alert when a 
tender is being advertised and for them to respond electronically. 

 

Page 414



 
c. Skills and Training Development 
 
 A comprehensive study of skills and training development has been 

undertaken. From this a Procurement Skills Framework has been 
proposed divided into nine broad knowledge areas with four progressive 
skills levels. There are opportunities to strengthen the collaboration, and 
provide development opportunities by seeking to deliver aspects of this 
by growing a training team from partner organisations. 

 
d. Sustainable Procurement 
 
 An assessment of all partner positions against the Sustainable 

Government Flexible Framework has been undertaken and an action 
plan is being developed to ensure attainment of target levels by due 
dates. The Collaboration itself and in conjunction with the Sefton and 
Liverpool Enterprise Growth Initiative (SLEGI) are working with the 
voluntary, third sector and local businesses to provide guidance and 
identifying barriers, real and perceived, to engaging with public sector 
bodies. 

 
e. Workplan/Development Plan 
  
 Plans have been formulated for the two forthcoming years, utilising the 

following: 
 

• The procurement map for procurement needs identification, so 
that all procurements are undertaken collaboratively from the 
outset. 

 

• Partner priorities and saving targets. 
 

• Government and regional priorities. 
 
4. FUTURE OF THE COLLABORATION 
  
4.1. Considerable progress has been achieved in all areas of the current project. 

Relative to the other sub regional procurement hubs the Merseyside 
Collaboration is well placed. It is one of the few examples of a form of shared 
service in the sub region. There is a need for the partner organisations to 
continue to improve procurement activities, particularly in relation to the 
contribution that can be made to savings targets and the cost reductions that 
can be obtained via collaborative/shared working. 

 
4.2. Progress can be further improved by strengthening the current arrangements. 

The staffing resources within the partner organisations need to be utilised 
more, albeit with a recognition of individual partner priorities. The recognition 
that collaboration is the norm rather than an added set of tasks needs to be 
embedded at both organisational and individual levels. Collaboration will be 
more successful between partners that are willing, fit and have the internal 
discipline to be able to deliver on commitment and promises. 

Page 415



 
4.3. Collaborative effort will continue to be aligned with individual partner priorities 

and incorporate the nationally recognised common work areas associated with 
smarter procurement. Broadly the latter are as follows: 

 

• Obtaining improved value for money.  This will not just be obtained by 
targeted savings from aggregating demand requirements but by a range of 
improvements in efficiency and effectiveness, including avoiding 
unnecessary purchases; better engagement with suppliers and supplier 
management; avoiding duplication and improved benefits tracking. 

 

• Socially responsible procurement, sustainable procurement as it relates 
to social, economic and environmental issues is not a new requirement but 
can be seen as good practice. 

 

• Recognition of the contribution procurement can make to 
regeneration.  Working with SME’s, social enterprises, voluntary and 
community sector suppliers and local suppliers will support local 
regeneration strategies. 

 
4.4. These three broad priority areas have been included in a draft strategy. This 

and a workplan of procurement to be undertaken during the next two years 
have been presented to the Merseyside Directors of Finance (MDOF) which 
under the Merseyside Improvement and Efficiency Partnership is the parent 
group for the collaboration. 

 
4.5. It has been essential for the progress to date to have a dedicated core 

programme resource to help drive and deliver the workplan. Although it is 
proposed to keep this resource to a minimum this is predicated upon an 
increased work contribution from within the partner organisations. This is 
proposed, not just with minimising costs in mind, but, the other potential 
benefits such as an increasing shared ownership of the work and outcomes. 

 
4.6. The staffing and associated resource proposals thus differ from the current, as 

follows: 
 
Current Cost  Proposed    Cost 

        £            £ 
 Project Manager         57,604 Programme Manage              53,935 
 Research Officer        34,523 Programme Support Officer            21,880 
 Administrative Support   Support Expenses    3,000 
 Support Expenses        4,200 
           96,327       78,815 

       
 
4.7. The indication was that sub regional funding would not be available for the 

years 2009/10 and 2010/11. Therefore the costings above together with a 
proposal to share the annual cost for a period of two years was reported to the 
MDOF and agreed in principle, subject to approval by each partner 
organisation. 

 

Page 416



4.8. The proposed partner contributions are based upon an equalisation of local 
authority contributions and a reflection of the different partner responsibilities 
and procurement needs.  Merseyside Police Authority has indicated a wish to 
join the collaboration and has been included as follows. 

 
Partner        £ 
 
Merseyside Fire and Rescue  3,000 
Merseyside Police Authority  3,000 
Merseytravel     3,000 
6 Local Authorities (each)   11,135 
      78,810 

 
If approved the above represents an annual contribution for the next two years, 
adjustable for inflation. 

 
4.9. Since the original preparation of the contributory funding proposal the 

Merseyside Improvement and Efficiency Partnership, in conjunction with the 
North West Improvement and Efficiency Partnership have announced priorities 
and indicative funding streams for the next two years. Recognising the 
continued importance and the particular role procurement can make with 
regards to savings requirements the initial indications are that on indicative sum 
of £164,000 per annum has been reserved for procurement activities. The 
funds will be available for a wide variety of procurement related activities, 
including construction and health and social care. Procurement in those areas 
can amount to 40% of overall spend with external suppliers for the Merseyside 
partners and areas of spend not generally contained within the remits of the 
partner procurement teams.  

 
4.10. The retention of a small dedicated core staffing resource to develop and drive 

the work of the collaboration was seen as a minimum resource. Funding by 
partner organisations as proposed provides for a small “invest to save” 
application demonstrating commitment and ownership. A bid for funds to the 
Merseyside Improvement and Efficiency Partnership for a proportion of 
available funds will focus on the necessary additional resources to progress the 
work successfully, including training, awareness raising and additional one-off 
projects. 

 
5. FINANCIAL AND STAFFING IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1. External funding to date of £224,000 has contributed to the collaboration 

registering some £20m in savings. Savings are retained by partner 
organisations  

 
5.2. The direct cost to the Council, for the partner contribution would be £11,135 for 

each of the next two years. The cost would be met from the Efficiency 
Investment Budget. 

Page 417



5.3. The programme support function is at present delivered by two Knowsley staff 
on a shared basis. Continuation of this arrangement would aid continuity and 
retain the experience gained. The Programme Manger role is subject to a 
recruitment exercise. To provide a level of certainty both for the partnership, in 
terms of its direction, and to attract suitable candidates a two year fixed term 
contract is proposed which would require a similar time commitment from 
partners. 

 
6. LOCAL MEMBER SUPPORT IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1. There are no specific implications arising out of this report. 
 
7. LOCAL AGENDA 21 STATEMENT 
 
7.1. There are no specific implications arising out of this report. 
 
8. PLANNING IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1. There are no specific implications arising out of this report. 
 
9. EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1. There are no specific implications arising out of this report. 
 
10. COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1. There are no specific implications arising out of this report. 
 
11. HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1. There are no specific implications arising out of this report. 
 
12. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
12.1. None were used in the preparation of this report. 
 
13. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
13.1. That Cabinet note the progress to date of the Merseyside Procurement 

Collaboration. 
 
13.2. That Cabinet agree to continue with the Merseyside Procurement 

Collaboration. 
 
13.3. That Cabinet agree a contribution of £11,135 to be funded from the Efficiency 

Investment Budget. 
 
 
  IAN COLEMAN 
  DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 
FNCE/200/09 

Page 418



WIRRAL COUNCIL 
 
CABINET 
 
23 JULY 2009 
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 
 
STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2008/09 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

1.1. This report presents the Statement of Accounts 2008-09 which was agreed by 
the Audit and Risk Management Committee on 29 June 2009. 

 
2. BACKGROUND 

 
2.1. The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2003 specify that the Statement of 

Accounts must be presented to an appropriate Committee no later than 30 
June. 

 
2.2. I have signed the Accounts certifying that they represent fairly the financial 

position of the Authority. The Statement is attached as an Appendix. 
 
2.3 The Accounts are subject to audit and if the Audit Commission requires any 

material amendments to the Accounts, then as stipulated by the Regulations, 
these will be reported to the 23 September 2009 meeting of the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee. 

 
2.4 The Accounts are produced in accordance with the statutory accounting 

framework laid down by the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2003. The 
framework is further supported by the Statement of Recommended Practice 
(SORP). The SORP is updated annually and specifies the accounting 
principles and practices required to prepare a Statement of Accounts which 
present fairly the position of a local authority. 

 
3 STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS FORMAT 

 
3.1 The Statement of Accounts contains the following:- 
 

• Explanatory Forward 

• Statement of Principles and Accounting Policies 

• Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts 

• Annual Governance Statement  

• The Main Financial Statements comprising: 
§ The Income and Expenditure Account 
§ The Statement of Movement on General Fund Balances 
§ Statement of Recognised Gains and Losses 
§ Balance Sheet 
§ Cash Flow Statement 

Agenda Item 26

Page 419



• Notes to the Main Financial Statements 

• Collection Fund and notes 

• Merseyside Pension Fund Accounts 
 
3.2 The Income and Expenditure Account shows the net cost for the year of all the 

functions for which the Council is responsible and sets out how the cost has 
been financed from general Government grants and the Council Tax. It is 
divided into three sections:- 
 

• Net Cost of Services - this lays out the costs of the different continuing 
operations, including the cost of support services, net of specific grants 
and income from fees and charges to give the net cost of services. It 
also includes the net cost of discontinued operations. 

 

• Net Operating Expenditure - this contains income and expenditure 
relating to the Council as a whole. When added to the net cost of 
services this results in the net operating expenditure 

 

• Deficit or Surplus for the year - this shows the income and expenditure 
from local taxation and general Government grants in the year to give 
the net deficit or surplus for the year. 

 
3.3 The Statement of General Fund Balances provides a reconciliation between 

the Income and Expenditure Account and the statutory requirement for the 
Council to take account of specific items when setting the Council Tax. The 
surplus or deficit on the Income and Expenditure Account represents the 
amount by which income is greater than or less than expenditure as measured 
by accounting practice. However there are items of income and expenditure 
that are required to be charged to the General Fund, which are taken into 
account when determining the budget requirement. They are determined by 
statute and not accounting practices and are shown in the Statement of 
Movement on General Fund Balances. This Statement shows the full picture 
of the financial performance during the year and the balances carried forward. 

 
3.4 The Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses summarises all of the 

gains and losses of the Council for the year and shows the total increase or 
decrease in net worth. The Income and Expenditure Account brings together 
all of the costs of Council services and summarises available resources.  
However the Council will be recognising other gains or losses in the Balance 
Sheet that are not included in the Income and Expenditure Account. The 
Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses brings together these other 
gains and losses with the Income and Expenditure Account to show the total 
movement in net worth. 

 
3.5 The other main statements are the Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Statement.  

The Balance Sheet details the assets and liabilities.  The Cash Flow 
Statement details and categorises the value of transactions flowing in and out 
of the accounts and has been subject to a series of presentational changes in 
recent years. 

 

Page 420



3.6 After the substantial changes made in the areas of Capital Accounting and 
Treasury Management as part of the 2007/08 Statement of Accounts the 
changes this year have been largely of a consolidation nature. The most 
significant of these being the new requirements for the accounting and 
disclosure of pensions in relation to Financial Reporting standard 17 – 
Retirement Benefits. 

 
3.7 Accountancy regulatory bodies have agreed to a convergence of accounting 

standards and practices globally to enable easier comparison of accounts 
across countries. There will be significant changes needed for the 
implementation of International Financial Reporting Standards which are being 
implemented in stages and are to be fully applied from the 2010/11 financial 
year. 

 
4. MEMBERS ROLE IN SCRUTINISING THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 

 
4.1 The Audit and Risk Management Committee role is to ensure that the quality 

control procedures are in place to ensure that the Statement of Accounts 
submitted for audit is of the appropriate standard. Given the complex technical 
nature of the Accounts the Committee is not expected to be able to review the 
Accounts in detail. However it should consider the following:- 

 

• The key accounting polices 

• Assurances about the financial systems that have provided the figures 
for the Accounts; 

• The quality control arrangements over the preparation of the Accounts 
by the Director of Finance and his staff; 

• Key judgements in preparing the Accounts; 

• Any issues raised by the Audit Commission that have to be resolved. 
 
4.2 The Audit & Risk Management Committee in scrutinising the Accounts 

reviewed the following: 
 

• Are the accounting polices that are in place compliant with the relevant 
requirements 

• Have the Accounts been subject to sufficient review by the Director of 
Finance and relevant staff? 

• Have the correct processes been undertaken in preparing the Accounts 
and are these robust? 

• When new accounting issues have arisen has appropriate advice on 
accounting treatment been obtained? 

• Are there suitable processes in place to ensure the accuracy of the 
financial records that the Council has kept during 2007/08? 

Page 421



 
5. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
5.1 The purpose of the Statement of Accounts is to present the overall financial 

position of the Council at 31 March 2009 in accordance with statutory 
guidance. Certain aspects are directly related to the various out-turn reports 
presented to Cabinet on 25 June 2009 including the Financial Out-turn, Capital 
Out-turn and Determinations, Collection Summary and the Treasury 
Management and Insurance Fund Annual Reports. 

 
6. STAFFING IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1. There are no specific implications arising out of this report. 
 
7. EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1. There are none arising directly from this report. 
 
8. HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1. There are none arising directly from this report. 
 
9. COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1. There are no specific implications arising from this report. 
 
10. LOCAL MEMBER SUPPORT IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1. There are no specific implications for any Member or Ward. 
 
11. PLANNING IMPLICATIONS. 

 
11.1. There are none arising directly from this report. 

Page 422



 
12. LOCAL AGENDA 21 STATEMENT 
 
12.1. There are none arising directly from this report. 
 
13. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
13.1. Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the UK – SORP 2008. 
 
13.2. Capital Finance and Accounting Regulations 2008. 
 
13.3. Accounts and Audit Regulations 2003. 
 
14. RECOMMENDATION 

 
14.1. That the Statement of Accounts 2008/09 be approved. 
 
 
 
 
     IAN COLEMAN 
     DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 
 
 
 
 
 
FNCE/201/09 

Page 423



Page 424

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Statement of Accounts 
 
2008-2009 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

These statements demonstrate the financial performance of 
Wirral Council for the financial year ending 31 March 2009 
 
These draft accounts are subject to external audit scrutiny 
 
 
 
June 2009 

Page 425



 

2 

 

Page 426



 

3 

CONTENTS 
 
 
Section   Page 
 
1. Explanatory Foreword  4 
 
2. Statement of Main Principles, Accounting Policies  
 and Estimation Techniques 11 
 
3. Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts 24 
 
4.  Annual Governance Statement 25 
 
5. Signature of Approval 33 
 
6. Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of Wirral Council 34 
 
7. Main Financial Statements:  
 
  Income and Expenditure Account 35 
 
  Statement of Movement on the General Fund Balance 36 
 
  Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses 38 
 
  Balance Sheet 39 
 
  Cash Flow Statement 41 
 
8. Notes to the Main Financial Statements 42 
 
9. Additional Financial Statements: 88 
  Collection Fund 
 
10. Merseyside Pension Fund Accounts 92 
 
11. Glossary of Financial Terms 105 
 
12. Further Information and Feedback 112 
 

Page 427



 

4 

EXPLANATORY FOREWORD 
 
1. ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 
 
1.1 The Statement of Accounts demonstrates the financial performance of the 

Council for the year ended 31 March 2009 and shows the financial position at 
the end of that period. The Statement of Accounts has been prepared and 
presented in accordance with prescribed guidance, the Code of Practice on 
Local Authority Accounting and Reporting Standards. 

 
1.2 The purpose of this foreword is to provide an explanation in overall terms of the 

Council’s financial position including the main influences on the accounts.  It is 
to assist in the interpretation of the accounting statements. 

 
1.3 As far as possible plain language has been used in this publication, except 

where the use of technical language is required for the definition of accounting 
terms.  A summary set of accounts, highlighting the main information contained 
within the Statement of Accounts, is also published on the Council website at 
www.wirral.gov.uk. 

 
1.4 A brief description of the main statements and areas covered in this document 

is detailed below: 
 

• Statement of main principles, accounting policies and estimation techniques - 
the basis of the figures presented in the accounts. 

• Annual Governance Statement - how the Council has ensured the effectiveness 
of systems for ensuring that it operates within the law and ensuring public 
money is properly used and accounted for. 

• Statement of responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts - the responsibilities 
of the Council and the Director of Finance in preparing the accounts. 

• Auditors Report - the independent auditors report on the Statement. 

• The main financial statements comprises of five key statements. The Income 
and Expenditure Account is the main account showing how money is spent and 
how it is financed. The Statement of Movement on the General Fund Balance 
and the Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses show how the level 
of Council balances has changed. The Balance Sheet shows the financial 
standing of the Council at 31 March 2009 detailing all assets and liabilities. The 
Cash Flow Statement shows the inflows and outflows of cash arising from 
transactions with other parties. 

• The notes to the statements provide further detail and explanation of the items 
contained within the financial statements. 

• The Collection Fund - the Council Tax and Non-Domestic Rates collected and 
paid to the precepting authorities and the national Non-Domestic Rate pool. 

• Pension Fund - the financial position of the Merseyside Pension Fund. 

• Glossary of Financial Terms - the technical terms within the Statement. 

Page 428



 

5 

 
1.5 The main changes in the presentation of the accounts for 2008-09 relate to 

those arising from the Code of Practice 2008 and are essentially accounting 
changes that do not impact upon the level of spend and the Council Tax:- 

 

• New requirements for the accounting and disclosure of pensions in relation to 
Financial Reporting Standard 17 – Retirement Benefits. 

• The introduction of the Area Based Grant, a revised Government grant, with the 
Income and Expenditure Account including a line for General Government 
Grants that covers items not attributable to specific services. 

• The concept of deferred charges has been replaced by revenue expenditure 
funded from capital under statute (REFCUS). 

• Amendments to the Pension Fund accounts to implement the requirements of 
the Pension Fund SORP 2007. 

• A change in the presentation of the Cash Flow Statement. 
 
2. REVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 
 
2.1 REVENUE EXPENDITURE AND INCOME 
 
2.1.1 This represents the spending on services provided to the people of Wirral and 

met from Government Grants and the local taxpayer through the Council Tax. 
For 2008-09 the increase in Council Tax was 3.66%. The Council spent over 
£300M on its net cost of services in 2008-09 which was met from a combination 
of Government Grants, Non-Domestic Rates and Council Tax. 

 
2.1.2 Further details can be found within Section 7 of this Statement which shows 

that at the end of the year there was £8.3M in general balances. This is slightly 
less than the £8.5M that was anticipated. Some of these balances are 
anticipated to be used in 2009-10 and the residual level of £6M represents a 
prudent level of general balance consistent with sound financial management. 

 
 2.1.3 The Council regularly monitors the financial position and, in particular, those 

areas most prone to variation. Pressures within Adult Social Services and 
community care in particular resulted in increased spending in this area. Events 
elsewhere in the country impacted upon the provision of care services for 
children and additional resources were allocated to this service for 2009-10. 
The benefits from pro-active treasury management continued and saved over 
£3M and the release of further money as a result of the continuing good 
performance in respect of insurance and risk management helped to offset the 
increased spending in other areas. 

 
2.1.4 The Council remains committed to contributing towards the Government 

efficiency agenda and delivering value for money to the local Council Tax 
payer. A total of £17.6M of cash releasing efficiencies was reported to the 
Government in 2008-09 without these efficiencies impacting upon the quality / 
quantity of service delivery. 

Page 429



 

6 

2.2 CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND INCOME 
 
2.2.1 During 2008-09 £70M was spent on capital projects including the acquisition 

and improvement of assets and infrastructure. In respect of education services 
the £20M programme included modernisation and improvement works to 
schools. Whilst schemes at West Kirby Grammar School and Wirral Grammar 
School were completed, the new Woodchurch High School Building Schools for 
The Future scheme started on site late in the year. Regeneration spend was in 
excess of £36M with The New Heartlands Housing Market Renewal Initiative 
continuing to address targeted areas in Birkenhead and Wallasey. The new 
Floral Pavilion Theatre and Conference Centre and the Oval Sports Centre 
were successfully opened. Almost £10M was spent on improvements to 
highways, bridges and road safety projects. 

 
2.2.2 The main source of funding comes from grants allocated by Central 

Government for specific schemes or projects such as the investment in schools 
or the New Heartlands programme. In 2008-09 grants provided £45M to fund 
the total spend of £70M. The balance was met from a combination of borrowing 
and the use of capital receipts generated from the sale of surplus assets. 

 
2.3 BALANCE SHEET 
 
2.3.1 Balances and Reserves  
 
 The Council seeks to maintain a prudent level of balance sufficient to meet any 

unforeseen events. In agreeing the 2008-09 budget it was anticipated that the 
balance would be £5M by 31 March 2009 rising to £6M the following year. The 
level is based upon an assessment of the risks involved in managing the 
overall Council budget and recent experiences in terms of spending compared 
to the budgets allocated. 

 
 The general balance will vary as a result of the financial decisions of the 

Council. When setting the annual budget any sums in excess of the prudent 
level can be, and are, used to help provide for services. The 2009-10 budget 
included the use of £2.4M of the projected balance at 31 March 2009. 

 
 Whilst the general balance is available to meet non-specific pressures, 

provisions and reserves are amounts set-aside to meet specific future liabilities. 
They are regularly reviewed to assess whether they are adequate for the 
purpose intended and whether the sums involved are still required. At 31 March 
2009 £79m was held in reserves with the major items being in respect of the 
Insurance Fund, housing benefit and school balances. The latter are only 
available for use by the schools. A further £14m was held in provisions with the 
majority relating to the Insurance Fund and housing benefit. 

 
2.3.2 Assets and Investments 
 
 As part of the rolling programme of valuations a further series of assets were 

revalued during the year. In total the Council had operational assets valued at 
£649M at 31 March 2009 which included land and buildings as well as 
infrastructure assets such as roads. 

Page 430



 

7 

 
 Total investments at 31 March 2009 were £85M with the majority of 

investments being on a short term basis with financial institutions. Throughout 
2008-09 the over-riding approach was one of security and liquidity with the 
diminution in investment return being the acceptable risk/reward consequence. 

 
 In early October 2008 all three of Iceland’s major banks collapsed. In the case 

of the UK subsidiaries the UK Financial Services Authority placed them into 
administration and their affairs are being managed by appointed administrators. 
The Council had a £2M investment that was shortly to mature with Heritable 
Bank (a UK subsidiary of Landisbanki) and remains confident that this 
investment will be repaid. However, at this stage there is the possibility that not 
all of this sum will be repaid. 

 
2.3.3 Outstanding Debts and Borrowing 
 
 The major sources of funding for Council borrowing have traditionally been the 

Public Works Loans Board (PWLB) and the private sector. As part of effective 
Treasury Management the opportunities presented by the market to generate 
interest savings are pursued and the pro-active management in this area at 
Wirral was recognised with the Local Government Chronicle Investment Officer 
of the Year award for 2008. 

  
 At 31 March 2009 the long term debt totalled £270M. Of this £173M is with 

financial institutions and £97M with the PWLB with this being spread over a 
range of maturity dates. This also includes the debt of the former Merseyside 
County Council which Wirral manages on behalf of the other Local Authorities 
and agencies. 

 
2.3.4 Retirement Benefits 
 
  All authorities have had to fully adopt the accounting policies contained with 

Financial Reporting Standard 17 “Retirement Benefits”. The principle behind 
FRS17 is that an organisation should account for retirement benefits when it is 
committed to give them, even if the actual payment will be many years in the 
future. The actuaries engaged by the Council have estimated the underlying 
long term commitment to pay retirement benefits to be £297M at 31 March 
2009. 

 
 The recognition of this liability in the accounts has a substantial effect on the 

net worth of the Council. However, statutory arrangements for funding the 
deficit mean that the financial position of the Council remains healthy. The 
deficit on the Local Government Pension Scheme will be made good by 
increased contributions over the remaining working life of employees as 
assessed by the actuary. 

 
 The liability for teachers’ discretionary added year payments rests with the 

Council and under scheme regulations is funded on a “pay as you go” basis 
with annual payments to retired teachers. 

 

Page 431



 

8 

3. RECENT AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS 
 
3.1 BUDGET 2009-10 
 
3.1.1 The Council agreed the budget for 2009-10 which included a Council Tax rise 

of 4.46% from 1 April 2009. This was below the 5% maximum level set by 
Central Government and as a result the average Band D Council Tax rose to 
£1,440. Wirral, which only a few years ago had the 4th highest Council Tax in 
the country, now has the 184th highest Council Tax. 

 
3.1.2 The ability to invest in services, and keep Council Tax affordable, remains 

possible through the continuing identification, and implementation, of a range of 
actions to deliver efficiencies and greater value for money. The efficiencies are 
designed to ensure that services to the people of Wirral are delivered in the 
most effective way. 

 
3.1.3 In setting the budget the Council benefited again from the second year of the 

three year indicative Government grant settlement. However, in order to avoid 
unnecessary high levels of Council Tax a number of difficult decisions were 
taken. These included efficiencies and savings totalling £13M and incorporated 
the Strategic Asset Review which seeks to ultimately deliver savings of over 
£3M per year. 

 
3.1.4  The budget is based on taking forward the Vision for Wirral and has seen 

resources invested into the priority areas.  These included additional resources 
into child protection and funding to allow budget decisions to be made by local 
people through the Area Forums. The future re-provision of services through 
investment in facilities makes changes to the existing library provision. Whilst 
elements are progressing, particularly in respect of community engagement 
and the transfer of assets to the communities, this is subject to the conclusions 
of the Public Inquiry into library provision on Wirral. 

 
3.2 FORWARD PLANS 
 
3.2.1 The Vision for Wirral seeks to achieve a more prosperous and equal Wirral 

which is founded on a strong, vibrant local economy with high levels of 
employment.  The budget that underpins the Corporate Plan is set to achieving 
Wirral’s Vision. 

 
3.2.2 The Council faces increasing pressures from delivering services where demand 

and expectations are rising against the limited funding that is available. This is 
expanded upon in the Medium Term Financial Strategy and Projected Budget 
reports which provide regular updates on the budgets for future years. These 
include actions proposed to address any gap between the projected spend and 
likely resources to ensure that the budget, and Council Tax, continues to be set 
at a realistic and affordable level. 

 

Page 432



 

9 

3.2.3 Value for money remains a key area for Central and Local Government. The 
Government has set Local Authorities a challenging target to deliver 
efficiencies that met agreed criteria and realised actual cash savings as well as 
improvements in service delivery. For the period 2008-11 the Local 
Government sector target is based on achieving 3% cash savings per year. For 
Wirral this amounts to in excess of £30M over the period. 

 
3.2.4 The Council continues to take actions to help meet the climate change and 

sustainability agenda. These include the development of the Environmental 
Streetscene contract with enhancements around recycling, waste collection 
and disposal. Procurement initiatives resulted in environmental and 
sustainability considerations being factored into any major building schemes. 
The Council has been successful in reducing energy consumption in recent 
years and continues to develop plans to reduce this further. IT developments 
continue the move towards using technological rather than paper-based 
systems and processes. 

 
3.3 ECONOMIC POSITION 
 
3.3.1 The changing global economic situation has impacted, and will continue to 

impact, upon the Council in a variety of ways. All promise to place further 
pressure upon the financial position of the Council. 

 
3.3.2 The Government Budget report for 2009 reflects a reduction in the level of 

overall growth in public expenditure from 1.8% in the Budget 2008 to 0.7% in 
the Budget 2009. After allowing for the repayment of debt and increases in 
welfare benefits the rest of the public sector, including Local Authorities and 
health, face a reduction of 2.3%. 

 
3.3.3 This projected reduction in Government grant income will require authorities to 

find substantially greater savings and efficiencies in future years which are over 
and above the 3% per year target between 2008-11. 

 
3.3.4 The recession is affecting the achievement of the Council objectives. With 

reductions in work opportunities there has been an increase in demands for 
public sector support services, investment programmes are beginning to be 
affected by contractors facing difficulties and a decline in local revenues both 
through fees and charges as well as from investments. 

 
3.3.5 During 2008-09 the impact upon the accounts was around income and in 

recognition of the ability of individuals to meet their financial obligations an 
increase was made in the sums set aside for potential bad debts. In terms of 
asset values the key consideration has been the fact that the Council will, 
generally, continue to occupy the assets beyond the recession.  

 
3.3.6 For 2009-10 measures to help support local businesses and the citizens of 

Wirral as well as adjusting income budgets to reflect the changing 
circumstances were reflected in the Council budget. The level of balances, 
including provisions and reserves, is at a level to help mitigate any impact upon 
the financial position. 

 

Page 433



 

10 

4. CONCLUSIONS 
 
4.1 The Statement of Accounts provides information about Council expenditure and 

income for the year and the overall financial position at the end of the financial 
year.  In reporting how Council finances have been managed and the financial 
position, the Statement of Accounts forms a key part of the Comprehensive 
Area Assessment (formerly Comprehensive Performance Assessment) 
process. This aims to measure the effectiveness of services being delivered 
and value for money being achieved. 

 
4.2 Overall, the 2008 Assessment saw Wirral improve from being a 2 star 

(adequately performing) Council to a 3 star (performing well) Council. In terms 
of the element for Use of Resources which was based upon financial reporting, 
financial management, financial standing, internal control and value for money 
the Audit Commission judged the Council as ‘performing well’. This was an 
improvement upon the ‘adequate performance’ the previous year. 

 
4.3 The Council continues to strive to promote and enhance all aspects of financial 

management and successfully managed its finances during 2008-09. The 
economic situation and outlook does present the Council with a number of 
challenges in particular from 2011-12. However, it retains a sound financial 
base, including the general balance plus the specific provisions and reserves, 
from which it can respond to the challenges for the future in keeping Council 
Tax affordable whilst continuing to support the quality and improvement of the 
services that are provided. 

 
 
 IAN COLEMAN 
  
 DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 
 

Page 434



 

11 

STATEMENT OF MAIN PRINCIPLES, ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATION 
TECHNIQUES 
 
GENERAL 
 
The accounts have been prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom: A Statement of Recommended Practice 
2008 (the SORP), as recommended by CIPFA, supported by guidance notes on the 
application of accounting standards. The accounting convention adopted is historical 
cost modified by the revaluation of certain categories of tangible fixed assets. The Code 
of Practice specifies the principles and practices of accounting required to prepare a 
Statement of Accounts which ‘presents fairly’ the financial position, and transactions of 
the Authority and is based on approved accounting standards, except where these 
might conflict with specific statutory accounting requirements. 
 
In accordance with the Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP), the Authority has 
adopted a number of principles to be followed in selecting accounting policies to be 
used and the corresponding use of disclosures needed to help users to understand 
those adopted policies and how they have been implemented. 
 
In doing so the Authority tries to ensure that the policies adopted are the most suitable 
to its particular circumstances for the purpose of presenting fairly the financial position 
and transactions of the Authority. Policies are reviewed regularly to ensure their 
appropriateness and are changed as necessary to maintain this position. In such cases 
a full disclosure will be provided. 
 
The concepts that the Authority has regard to in selecting and applying these policies 
and any estimation techniques are: 
 
The qualitative characteristics of financial information 
- relevance 
- reliability 
- comparability 
- understandability 
- materiality 
 
Pervasive accounting concepts 
- accruals 
- going concern 
- primacy of legislative requirements 
 
Accounting policies can be defined as the principles, bases, conventions, rules and 
practices applied, that specify how the transactions and other events are to be reflected 
in the financial statements through recognising, selecting measurement bases for, and 
presenting assets, liabilities, gains, losses and changes in reserves. 
 

Page 435



 

12 

The review and annual update of the SORP has introduced a number of revised or 
additional requirements for the 2008-09 financial statements. A number of changes in 
accounting policy have been made in 2008-09:- 
 
1. New requirements for the accounting and disclosure of Pensions in relation to the 
requirements of FRS17.  Under the 2008 SORP the Council has adopted the 
amendment to FRS17, Retirement Benefits.  As a result, quoted securities held as 
assets in the defined benefit pension scheme are now valued at bid rather than mid-
market value.  The effect of this change is that the value of scheme assets at 31 March 
2008 has been restated from £574.8m to £582.8m, an increase of the pension deficit of 
£110.3m (31 March 2009: decrease of £36.5m).  Current and prior year surplus has 
been unaffected by this change.  
 
2. The introduction of the Area Based Grant, a new Government grant which came into 
affect on 1st April and replaces Local Area Agreement grants. 
 
3. The concept of Deferred Charges has been replaced by Revenue Funded from 
Capital under Statute.   
 
4. The revaluation of fixed assets immediately prior to disposal has been prohibited, 
unless such revaluation is specifically required. 
 
5.  The definition of what can be capitalised as an Intangible Asset has been clarified. 
 
The following accounting policies and estimation techniques are consistent with the 
accounting concepts and, where appropriate, the relevant accounting standards. 
 
1. ACCRUALS OF INCOME AND EXPENDITURE  
 
Customer and client receipts 
Customer and client receipts in the form of sales, fees, charges and rents are 
accounted for as income at the date the Council provides the relevant goods or 
services. 
 
Employees’ costs 
The full cost of employees is charged to the accounts of the period within which the 
employees worked. 
 
Interest 
Interest payable on external borrowing and interest income is accounted for in the year 
to which it relates on a basis, which reflects the overall economic effect of the loan or 
investment. 
 
Supplies and services 
The cost of supplies and services is accounted for in the period during which they were 
consumed or received. Where Income and Expenditure has been recognised but cash 
has not been received or paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded 
in the Balance Sheet. Where it is doubtful that debts will be settled, the balance of 
debtors is written down and a charge made to revenue for the income that might not be 
recovered. Income and Expenditure are credited and debited to the relevant revenue 
account. 

Page 436



 

13 

 
2. AREA BASED GRANT 
 
From 2008-09 Local Area Agreement Grant was replaced by Area Based Grant.  ABG 
is a non-ring fenced general grant, no conditions on use are imposed as part of the 
grant determination ensuring full local control over how the funding can be used.  It is 
not restricted to achieving Local Area Agreement targets. Also unlike the Local Area 
Agreement grant, ABG is paid directly to the Authority that benefit’s from the grant 
rather than the upper tier, accountable body, Authority.  ABG is a general grant and is 
included in the Income and Expenditure Account with other general grant income 
sources.  
 
3. CAPITAL RECEIPTS 
 
Sales of fixed assets give rise to capital receipts, if the receipt exceeds £10,000.  These 
are recorded on an accruals basis and if required are divided into a reserved part 
(based on any statutory requirements) and a useable part (the balance). 
 
Useable receipts are credited to the Useable Capital Receipts Reserve and are 
available to finance capital expenditure.  Reserved receipts are credited to the Capital 
Adjustment Account and there they reduce the Council’s Capital Financing 
Requirement. The Secretary of State has determined that under provisions included in 
the Local Government Act 2003 the Council is required to pay over to the Department 
for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) a proportion of receipts derived from 
the disposal of housing land. 
 
4. CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
 
These are not accrued in the accounting statements but will be disclosed by way of 
notes if there is a possible obligation/receipt which may require a transfer, payment or 
receipt of economic benefits. The note discloses the nature of the asset or liability and 
an estimate of its financial effect. 
 
5. DEBT REDEMPTION (THE MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION) 
 
Debt is redeemed as and when it falls due. Under regulations issued by the Department 
for Communities and Local Government the Council has approved a MRP Statement.  
The Local Authorities (Capital Financing and Accounting) Regulations 2008 amended 
the rules governing debt redemption or the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP). The 
Council agreed that for 2008-09 a repayment not less that 4% of the Capital Financing 
Requirement (the requirement to borrow) would be made. 
 
6. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 
 
Income and Expenditure directly related to discontinued operations is shown separately 
on the face of the Income and Expenditure Account under the heading of Discontinued 
Operations.  
 

Page 437



 

14 

7. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 
 
Where a material post Balance Sheet event occurs which provides evidence relating to 
conditions existing at the Balance Sheet date, or indicates that application of the going 
concern content to a material part of the Authority is not appropriate, changes should be 
made in the amounts to be included in the Statement of Accounts. The occurrence of a 
material post Balance Sheet event, which concerns conditions, which did not exist at the 
Balance Sheet date, should be disclosed with an estimate of its financial effects. 
 
8. EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS, EXTRAORDINARY ITEMS AND PRIOR YEAR 
ADJUSTMENTS 
 
Exceptional items are, where appropriate, included in the cost of services to which they 
relate in order to give a fair representation of the accounts. 
 
Extraordinary items are, where appropriate, disclosed and described on the face of the 
Income and Expenditure Account after dealing with all items within the ordinary 
activities of the Council and will be fully explained in a note to the accounting 
statements. 
 
Material adjustments applicable to prior years arising from changes in accounting policy 
or from the correction of fundamental errors are accounted for by restating the 
comparative figures for the preceding period in the Statement of Accounts and 
supporting notes. If there is a material effect on the outturn for the preceding period this 
is disclosed where practicable. 
 
9. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of an entity and 
a financial liability or equity instrument in another. The term “financial instrument” covers 
both financial assets and liabilities and includes amongst others, trade receivables and 
payables, borrowings, financial guarantees, back deposits and loans receivable. 
 
The Council has adopted FRS26 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement”, FRS25 “Financial Instruments: Presentation and Disclosures” and 
FRS29 “Financial Instruments Disclosures”. 
 
Initial Recognition 
Financial instruments will be recognised on the Balance Sheet when, and only when the 
holders become a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument, i.e. when the 
purchasers become committed to the purchase or in the case of the loan the cash 
changes hands.  Sales and disposals of financial assets will be recognised in the same 
way. 
Trade receivables and payables will in contrast only be recognised when the goods and 
services have actually been delivered or received. 
 
Initial Measurement 
Financial assets and liabilities are measured initially at fair value less transaction costs 
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or liability. 
 

Page 438



 

15 

Financial Liabilities 
Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value and carried at their amortised 
costs. Annual charges to the Income and Expenditure Account for interest payable are 
based on the carrying amount of the liability, multiplied by the effective rate of interest 
for the instrument. 
 
Financial Assets 
Financial Assets are classified into two types: 

• Loans and Receivables – assets that have fixed or determinable payments but 
are not quoted in an active market. 

• Available for sale – assets that have a quoted market price and/or do not have 
fixed or determinable payments. 

 
Loans and Receivables 
Loans and receivables are initially measured at fair value and carried at amortised 
costs. Annual credits to the Income and Expenditure Account for interest receivable are 
based on the carrying amount of the asset multiplied by the effective rate of interest for 
the instrument. For most of the loans that the Council has made this means that the 
amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal receivable and 
interest credited to the Income and Expenditure Accounts is the amount receivable for 
the year of the loan agreement.  Where assets are identified as impaired because of a 
likelihood arising from a past event that payment due under the contract will not be 
made, the asset is written down and a charge is made to the Income and Expenditure 
Account. 
 
Available for Sale Assets 
Available for sale assets are initially measured and carried at fair value.  Where there 
are no fixed or determinable payments, income is credited to the Income and 
Expenditure Account when it becomes receivable to the Council. 
 
Financial assets are maintained in the Balance Sheet at fair value. Values are based on 
the following principles: 

• Instruments with quoted market prices – the market price. 

• Other instruments with fixed or determinable payments – discounted cash flow 
analysis. 

• Equity Share with no quoted market price – appraisal of the valuation. 
 
Changes in fair value are balanced by an entry in the Available for Sale Reserve and 
the gain/loss is recognised in the Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses 
(STRGL). The exception is where an impairment loss has been incurred.  These are 
debited to the Income and Expenditure Account along with any net gains/losses for the 
asset accumulated in the Reserve.  Where fair value cannot be measured reliably the 
instrument is carried at cost (less any impairment). 
 
Instruments entered into before 1 April 2006 
The Council has entered into a number of financial guarantees that are not required to 
be accounted for as financial instruments. These guarantees are reflected in the 
Statement of Accounts if a provision or contingent liability note is required. 
 

Page 439



 

16 

Disclosure of the nature and risk arising from Financial Instruments 
The Council activities expose it to a variety of financial risks such as:-: 
Credit risk – the risk that other parties might fail to pay amounts due. 
Liquidity risk – insufficient funds available to meet commitments. 
Market risk – financial loss as a result of changes in interest rates. 
 
In order to minimise these risks the Council complies with the CIPFA Prudential Code, 
the CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice and Investment 
Guidance issued through the Local Government Act 2003. 
 
10. FOREIGN CURRENCY 
 
The Council maintains its accounts in sterling. Income and Expenditure arising from 
transactions undertaken in foreign currency are converted into sterling at the exchange 
rate in operation at the date the transaction occurred. 
 
11. GOVERNMENT GRANTS AND OTHER CONTRIBUTIONS 
 
Government grants and other contributions are accounted for on an accruals basis and 
recognised in the accounting statements when the conditions for their receipt have been 
complied with and there is reasonable assurance that the grant or contribution will be 
received. 
 
Revenue grants and contributions are credited to the relevant service to match with the 
expenditure to which they relate.  Revenue Support Grant, Area Based Grant and the 
contribution from National Non Domestic Rates are made to finance the general 
activities of the Council and are credited to the Income and Expenditure Account in the 
year receivable. 
 
When the acquisition of a fixed asset is financed wholly or partly by Government grant, 
the amount of the grant is credited to the Government Grants Deferred Account and 
written off to the relevant service revenue account over the useful life of the asset, to 
offset any provision for depreciation charged to the revenue account in respect of 
assets to which the grants relate. 
 
When Government grants are received for assets not owned by the Council the grant is 
then credited to revenue to correspond to deferred charges being written off. 
 
Whilst depreciation is based on the asset value at the end of the financial year, grants 
are written down on the basis of their Balance Sheet value at the beginning of the year. 
 
12. GROUP ACCOUNTS 
 
The Council has adopted FRS2 "Accounting for Subsidiary Undertakings" and the 
CIPFA Accounting Code of Practice. This requires the Council to consider, whether in 
aggregate there are material or controlling interests in subsidiaries, associates and joint 
ventures and where non-production of group accounts would result in the Statement of 
Accounts failing to present fairly the Authority's activity and financial position. 
 

Page 440



 

17 

An assessment of the criteria for the completion of group accounts has been 
undertaken and the conclusion reached that there was no requirement to produce such 
accounts. 
 
13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 
Expenditure on assets that do not have physical substance but are indentified and 
controlled by the Council (e.g. software licences) is capitalised when it will bring benefits 
to the Council for more than one financial year. The balance is amortised to the relevant 
service revenue account over the economic life of the investment to reflect the patter of 
consumption of benefits. 
 
A purchased intangible asset is capitalised at cost.  Internally developed intangible 
assets are only capitalised if there is a readily ascertainable market.  They are reviewed 
for impairment at the end of the first full financial year following operation. 
 
14. LEASING  
 
The Council enters into a number of operating leases for vehicles and equipment for 
which the rentals payable are charged to revenue on a straight-line basis over the term 
of the lease agreement. Such operating leases allow the Council to have the use but not 
the ownership of assets over the term of the lease. The Council currently holds no 
finance leases. 
 
15. NON-DISTRIBUTED COSTS 
 
The definition of non-distributed costs is limited to past service costs, settlements, 
curtailments, unused I.T. facilities and other unrealisable assets. 
 
16. OVERHEADS 
 
In line with the SORP, charges or apportionments for the costs of support services are 
made to all users. Support service costs are allocated using the most appropriate basis 
available for example allocated on the basis of actual time spent by staff on the various 
services. Other bases are computing which is allocated on the amount of central 
processing use and Service Level Agreements. Administrative Buildings are allocated 
on the basis of area occupied. The costs of the Corporate and Democratic core and of 
Non-Distributed costs are each allocated to a separate objective expenditure head and 
are not apportioned to other expenditure heads. 
 
17. PRIVATE FINANCE INITIATIVE 
 
Transactions associated with PFI initiatives are accounted for in accordance with 
Application Note F of FRS5 "Reporting the Substance of Transactions" and with 
guidance issued by CIPFA. 
 

Page 441



 

18 

18. PROVISIONS 
 
The Council sets aside provisions for specific future expenses that are likely or certain 
to be incurred but the amount and timing of which cannot yet be determined accurately. 
They are only made where there is a present obligation based on a past event, it is 
probable that a transfer of economic benefit will occur, and a reliable estimate can be 
made. 
 
Provisions are charged to an appropriate revenue account. When payments for 
expenditure are incurred to which the provision relates they are charged directly to the 
provision. They are reviewed at the Balance Sheet date and adjusted as necessary to 
reflect the current best estimate. 
 
The principal provisions relate to bad debts and insurance. The former have been 
deducted from debtors in the Balance Sheet, rather than being shown in provisions. As 
part of compliance with FRS26, “Accounting for and disclosing of financial instruments” 
amounts shown as due from debtors are individually or collectively for debts that are not 
significant, reviewed for impairment. Any known collectable debts will be written off to 
the appropriate service account. The insurance provision relates to outstanding liability 
claims.  The figure is the sum indicated by actuaries as being required to fund claims for 
years up to and including 2008-09. 
 
19. REVENUE EXPENDITURE FUNDED FROM CAPITAL UNDER STATUTE 
 
Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute represents expenditure that 
may be capitalised but does not result in the creation of a tangible asset. It is amortised 
to revenue over an appropriate period consistent with the consumption of the economic 
benefits controlled by the Council. Consequently, these items are normally written off as 
expenditure to the relevant service revenue account in the year of payment. If financed 
from existing capital resources or borrowing, a transfer to the Capital Adjustment 
Account from the Statement of Movement on General Fund Balances reverses out the 
amounts charged to the Income and Expenditure Account so there is no impact on the 
level of Council Tax. 
 
20. REPURCHASE OF BORROWING 
 
Gains and losses on the repurchase or early settlement of borrowing are credited and 
debited to the Income and Expenditure Account in the period during which the 
repurchase or early settlement is made. 
 
Where repurchase has taken place as part of a restructuring of borrowing with 
substantially the same overall economic effect when viewed as a whole, the premiums 
or discounts can respectively be deducted from or added to the amortised cost of the 
new or modified loan and the write-down to the Income and Expenditure Account is 
spread over the life of the loan by an adjustment to the effective interest rate. If the 
repurchase has been determined as substantially different, the premiums or discounts 
are immediately fully written off to revenue. 
 

Page 442



 

19 

For premiums and discounts that have been charged to the Income and Expenditure 
Account, Government regulations allow for the impact on the General Fund balances to 
be spread over future years with an offset through a transfer to the Financial Instrument 
Adjustment Account shown within the Statement of Movement on the General Fund 
Balance. 
 
Balances held in the Financial Instrument Adjustment Account will be written off to 
revenue in accordance with the Government Regulations. 
 
21. RESERVES 
 
Amounts set aside for purposes falling outside the definition of provisions are 
considered as reserves. Reserves include earmarked reserves set aside for specific 
policy purposes, and balances that represent resources set aside for purposes such as 
general contingencies and cash flow management. Reserves are created by 
appropriating amounts through the Statement of Movement of General Fund Balance.  
When expenditure to be financed from a reserve is incurred, it is charged to the 
appropriate service revenue account in that year to score against the net cost of 
services in the Income and Expenditure Account. The reserve is then appropriated back 
to the General Fund Balance Statement so that there is no net charge against Council 
Tax for the expenditure.  Certain reserves are kept to manage the accounting process 
for tangible fixed assets and retirement benefits and they do not represent useable 
resources for the Council. An estimation technique applies to the Insurance Fund 
liability reserve which is similar to that referred to in the section on provisions. 
 
22. RETIREMENT BENEFITS 
 
Employees of the Council are members of two separate pension schemes, which 
provide members with defined benefits (retirement lump sums and pensions) related to 
pay and service. The schemes are as follows: - 
 
The Teachers Pension Scheme, administered by Capita Hartshead on behalf of the 
Department for Children, Schools and Families (DSCF) for teachers. The arrangements 
for this scheme mean that liabilities for these benefits cannot be identified to the 
Council. The scheme is therefore accounted for as if it were a defined contributions 
scheme - no liability for future payments of benefits is recognised in the Balance Sheet 
and revenue accounts are charged with the employer's contributions payable to Capita 
Hartshead in the year. The pension cost charged to the accounts is the contribution rate 
set on the basis of a notional fund. 
 
The Local Government Pension Scheme administered by the Merseyside Pension Fund 
for all other employees. From 1 October 1987 the Council has administered this fund on 
behalf of all scheduled and admitted bodies. The Council operates a defined benefit 
scheme and costs are charged to the Council’s accounts on the basis of a three-yearly 
actuarial valuation. In 2008-09 the contribution represented 16.9% of pensionable pay. 
The latest valuation was at 31 March 2007 and determined the contributions for the 
years 2008-2011. 
 
Further information on the specific accounting policies may be found in the section 
dealing with the Merseyside Pension Fund. 
 

Page 443



 

20 

With effect from 1 April 2004 all authorities have had to fully adopt the accounting 
policies contained with Financial Reporting Standard 17 “Retirement Benefits”. The 
principle behind FRS17 is that an organisation should account for retirement benefits 
when it is committed to give them, even if the actual payment will be many years in the 
future. This reflects the Council’s commitment in the long-term to increase contributions 
to make up any shortfall in attributable net assets in the Pension Fund. 
 
The liabilities of the Merseyside Pension Fund attributable to the Council are included in 
the Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method - i.e. an 
assessment of the future payments that will be made in relation to future retirement 
benefits earned to date by employees, based on assumptions about mortality rates, 
employee turnover rates etc, and projections of projected earnings for current 
employees. 
 
The assets of the Merseyside Pension Fund attributable to the Council are included in 
the Balance Sheet at their fair value: 
 

o quoted securities - mid market value. 
o unquoted securities - professional estimate. 
o unitised securities - average of the bid and offer rates. 
o property - market value. 

 
The change in the net pensions liability is analysed into seven components: 

(i) current service cost - the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service 
earned this year, allocated to the revenue accounts of services for which the 
employees worked. 

(ii) past service costs - the increase in liabilities arising from current year decisions 
which effect relates to years of service earned in earlier years, debited to Net 
Cost of Services as part of Non Distributed Costs. 

(iii) interest cost - the expected increase in the present value of liabilities during the 
year as they move one year closer to being paid, debited to Net Operating 
Expenditure. 

(iv) expected return on assets - the annual investment return on the Fund assets 
attributable to the Council, based on an average of the expected long-term 
return, credited to Net Operating Expenditure. 

(v) gains/losses on curtailments - the results of actions to relieve the Council of 
liabilities or events that reduce the expected future service or accrual of 
benefits of employees, debited to the Net Cost of Services as part of Non 
Distributed Costs. 

(vi) actuarial gains/losses - changes in the net pensions liability that arise because 
events have not coincided with assumptions made at the last actuarial valuation 
or because the actuaries have updated their assumptions. 

(vii) contributions paid to Merseyside Pension Fund - cash paid as employer's 
contributions to the Pension Fund. 

 
Actuarial gains and losses on Pension Fund assets and liabilities are excluded from the 
Income and Expenditure Account. These are recorded in the Statement of Total 
Recognised Gains and Losses. 
 

Page 444



 

21 

Statutory provisions limit the Council to raising Council Tax to cover the amounts 
payable by the Council to the Pension Fund in the year. In the Statement of Movement 
on the General Fund Balance this means that there is an appropriation to and from the 
Pensions Reserve to remove the notional debits and credits for retirement benefits and 
replace them with debits for the cash paid to the Pension Fund and any amounts 
payable to the Fund but unpaid at the year-end. 
 
The Council also has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement 
benefits in the event of early retirement. Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result of 
an award to any member of staff (including teachers) are either accrued in the year of 
the decision to make the award or reimbursed to the Pension Fund over a five-year 
period. 
 
23. STOCKS 
 
Significant holding of stocks and stores are valued at latest purchase price and not the 
lower of cost or net realisable value as required by SSAP9. 
 
24. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 
 
Recognition 
All expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of fixed assets is capitalised 
on an accruals basis in the accounts. Expenditure on the acquisition of a tangible asset, 
or expenditure that adds to, and not merely maintains, the value of an existing asset, is 
capitalised, and classified as a tangible fixed asset, provided that it yields benefits to the 
Authority and the services it provides, for a period of more than one year. This excludes 
expenditure on routine repairs and maintenance of fixed assets that is charged directly 
to service revenue accounts. It does, however, include expenditure such as the 
acquisition of land and buildings, the construction and enhancement of roads, buildings 
and other structures. 
 
A de minimis level of £10,000 applies. The cost of any project with expenditure below 
£10,000 is charged to revenue rather than being capitalised. 
 
Measurement 
Fixed assets are valued on the basis recommended by CIPFA and in accordance with 
the Statements of Asset Valuation Principles and Guidance Notes issued by The Royal 
Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS). Fixed assets are classified according to the 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 2008. 
 
Assets are included in the Balance Sheet using the following measurement basis: 

• Infrastructure assets and community assets are included in the Balance Sheet at 
historic cost net of depreciation, where appropriate. 

• Operational assets (other land and buildings, vehicles, plant and equipment) are 
included at the lower of net current replacement cost or net realisable value. 

• Investment properties and surplus assets are included at the lower of net current 
replacement cost or net realisable value. 

• Assets under construction are held at cost. 

• Non-Operational assets include investment properties, assets that are surplus to 
requirements and assets under construction. 

 

Page 445



 

22 

In accordance with CIPFA guidance all assets, with the exception of infrastructure, were 
revalued by the end of March 2003. Qualified valuers employed within the Department 
of Corporate Services using the valuation techniques referred to above, undertook the 
valuation exercise. A further valuation of all assets has been undertaken on the basis of 
a rolling programme by March 2009. 
 
Increases in valuations are matched by credits to the Revaluation Reserve to recognise 
unrealised gains. Gains may be credited to the Income and Expenditure Account where 
they arise from the reversal of an impairment loss previously charged to a revenue 
account. 
 
The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only, 
the date when it came into existence. Gains arising before that date have been 
consolidated into the Capital Adjustment Account. 
 
Impairment 
The value of each category of assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period to 
assess whether there is any evidence of impairment loss. This would arise, for example, 
from a significant decline in the asset’s market value, evidence of obsolescence or 
physical damage, a change in the regulatory environment within which the Authority 
operates or a commitment to undertake a significant re-organisation. Impairment is 
charged to the Income and Expenditure Account when the asset suffers impairment due 
to a clear consumption of an asset and there has been no previously accumulated 
revaluation gain against which the impairment can be offset in the Revaluation Reserve.  
Impairment is also charged where there has been expenditure that has not resulted in 
any upward revaluations. 
 
Depreciation 
Depreciation is charged on all assets with a finite useful life apart from non-depreciable 
land and non-operational investment properties. It is calculated on the amount at which 
the asset is included in the Balance Sheet less an estimate for its residual value.  
Revaluation gains are also depreciated with an amount equal to the difference between 
current values depreciated changed on assets and the depreciation that would have 
been chargeable based on their historic cost being transferred each year from the 
Revaluation Reserve to the Capital Adjustment Account. 
 
Disposals 
When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the value of the asset in the Balance 
Sheet is written off to the Income and Expenditure Account as part of the gain or loss on 
disposal.  Receipts from disposals are credited to the Income and Expenditure Account 
as part of the gain or loss on disposal (ie netted off against the carrying value of the 
asset at the time of disposal). Any revaluation gains in the Revaluation Reserve are 
transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account. 
 
No assets are revalued immediately prior to disposal unless legislation requires/allows 
the Council to do so. 
 
Amounts in excess of £10,000 are classified as capital receipts.  Such receipts from 
disposals are accounted for on an accruals basis and credited to the Useable Capital 
Receipts Reserve. A proportion of receipts relating to housing disposals are paid over to 
Central Government as a ‘housing pooled capital receipt’.  This is charged to the Net 

Page 446



 

23 

Operating Cost section of the Income and Expenditure Account and the same amount 
appropriated from the Useable Capital Receipts Reserve and credited to Statement of 
Movement on the General Fund Balance.  
 
Charges to Revenue for Fixed Assets 
All general fund service revenue accounts, including support services and trading 
accounts, are charged with the following amounts to record the real cost of all fixed 
assets used in the provision of services: 

• Depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service. 

• Impairment losses attributable to the clear consumption of economic benefits on 
tangible fixed assets used by the service. 

• Amortisation of intangible fixed assets attributable to the service. 
 
The financing of capital expenditure from revenue is disclosed separately as an 
appropriation in the Statement of Movement on the General Fund Balance. 
 
Merseyside Residuary Debt Fund (MRDF) 
Ex-Merseyside County Council debt is managed in a separate Fund. Interest is charged 
to constituent Authorities at the average rate for the Fund. Principal repayments are 
made on the basis of equal instalments over 38 years commencing 1 April 1988. 
 
25. VALUE ADDED TAX (VAT) 
 
Income and Expenditure excludes any amounts related to VAT, as VAT collected is 
payable to HM Revenue and Customs and VAT paid is recoverable from them. VAT is 
included in the Income and Expenditure Accounts, whether of a capital or revenue 
nature, only if it is irrecoverable. 
 
26. WORK IN PROGRESS 
 
Work in progress on uncompleted jobs is valued and recorded in the Balance Sheet at 
cost plus attributable profit and excludes overheads. 
 
Please see the Glossary of Financial Terms for an explanation of technical terms and 
abbreviations. 
 

Page 447



 

24 

STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 
 
The Authority's Responsibilities 
 
The Authority is required to:- 

• make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to 
secure that one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of those 
affairs. In this Authority, that officer is the Director of Finance; 

• manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources 
and safeguard its assets; and 

• approve the Statement of Accounts. 
 
The Director of Finance's Responsibilities 
 
The Director of Finance is responsible for the preparation of the Authority's Statement of 
Accounts in accordance with proper practice as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (‘the Code of Practice’). 
 
In preparing this Statement of Accounts, the Director of Finance has:- 

• selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently; 

• made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent; and  

• complied with the Code of Practice. 
 
The Director of Finance has also:- 

• kept proper accounting records which were up to date; and 

• taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities. 

 
I certify that the Statement of Accounts presents fairly the financial position of Wirral 
Council at 31 March 2009 and its Income and Expenditure for the year ended 31 March 
2009. 
 
 
 
 
 
Ian Coleman 
 
Director of Finance 
 
Date: 26 June 2009 

Page 448



 

25 

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
 
1. Scope of Responsibility 
 
1.1 Wirral Council is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted in 

accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public money is 
safeguarded and properly accounted for and used economically, efficiently and 
effectively. Wirral Council also has a duty under the Local Government Act 1999 
to make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in which 
its functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness. 

 
1.2 In discharging this overall responsibility, Wirral Council is responsible for putting 

in place proper arrangements for the governance of its affairs, facilitating the 
effective exercise of its functions, which includes arrangements for the 
management of risk. 

 
1.3 Wirral Council has approved and adopted a Code of Corporate Governance, 

which is consistent with the principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework 
‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Government’.  A copy of the code is on 
our website at www.wirral.gov.uk.   This statement explains how Wirral Council 
has complied with the code and also meets the requirements of Regulation 4 of 
the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2006 in relation to the publication of a 
statement on internal control. 

 
2. The Purpose of the Governance Framework 
 
2.1 The governance framework comprises the systems and processes, culture and 

values for the direction and control of the Authority and its activities through 
which it accounts to, engages with and leads the community.  It enables the 
Authority to monitor the achievement of its strategic objectives and to consider 
whether those objectives have led to the delivery of appropriate, cost effective 
services. 

 
2.2 The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is 

designed to manage risk to a reasonable level.  It cannot eliminate all risk of not 
fully achieving policies, aims and objectives and, therefore, provides a 
reasonable rather than absolute assurance of effectiveness.  The system of 
internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify and 
prioritise the risks to the achievement of Wirral Council policies, aims and 
objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the 
impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and 
economically. 

 
2.3 The governance framework has been in place for a number of years at Wirral 

Council and, in particular, for the year ended 31 March 2009 and up to the date 
of approval of the Statement of Accounts. 

Page 449



 

26 

 
3. The Governance Framework 
 
 Key elements of the systems and processes, which comprise the Council’s 

governance arrangements, are described in the following paragraphs. 
 
3.1 Vision and Purpose 
 
3.1.1 Wirral Council has revised its Corporate Plan setting out its objectives; there is 

an accompanying Performance Plan in which achievement of the objectives is 
monitored. This information is widely available on the Authority’s website. 

 
3.1.2 The Council, working with strategic partners and local communities has agreed 

the following strategic objectives:- 
 

• To create more jobs, achieve a prosperous economy and regenerate Wirral. 

• To create a clean, pleasant, safe and sustainable environment. 

• To improve health and well being for all, ensuring people who require 
support are full participants in mainstream society. 

• To raise the aspirations of young people. 

• To create an excellent Council. 
 
3.1.3 These form the basis for the Corporate Plan and Performance 

Improvement/Departmental Plans referred to above and provide the focus for 
the improvements which are being made in all areas of the Council.   

 
3.2 Decision Making Structure 
 
3.2.1 Wirral Council facilitates policy and decision making via a Cabinet Structure with 

Cabinet Member portfolios.   
 
3.2.2 There are Overview and Scrutiny Committees covering all portfolios.   
 
3.2.3 An Audit and Risk Management Committee provides independent assurance to 

the Council on risk management and control, and the effectiveness of the 
arrangements the Council has for these matters. 

 
3.2.4  The Constitution clearly identifies the respective duties of each Committee, and 

the delegations to members and officers. 
 
3.2.5 The Constitution is codified into one document, which is available on the 

intranet and external web pages.  
 
3.2.6 The Council has a nominated Monitoring Officer whose role includes ensuring 

compliance with established policies, procedures, laws and regulations.  

Page 450



 

27 

 
3.3 Governance and Values 
 
3.3.1 The Council has adopted a local Code of Corporate Governance in accordance 

with the CIPFA/SOLACE Delivering Good Governance Framework 2007. The 
local code details how the Council complies with the principles of good 
corporate governance and contains appropriate monitoring and reporting 
procedures. It is available on the Council’s website.  

 
3.3.2 The Council’s Constitution contains formal codes of conduct for members and 

officers. Additionally, the Council has established policies and procedures to 
embed high standards of conduct and governance. These include equalities 
and diversity and ‘whistle blowing’. 

 
3.4 Service Delivery 
 
3.4.1 Services are delivered by trained and experienced people. All posts have a 

detailed job description and person specification. Individual training needs are 
constantly identified through the Key Issues Exchange process and fed into the 
Departmental Training plan and addressed by the Corporate Training Group. 

 
3.4.2 There is a Comprehensive Corporate Induction Programme in place and 

information regarding policies and procedures is held on the intranet, which 
continues to be enhanced and developed.   

 
3.5 Risk Management 
 
3.5.1 The Council has robust systems for identifying and evaluating all significant 

risks, developed and maintained with the pro-active participation of all those 
associated with planning and delivering services. The Council adopted a 
revised Risk Management Policy and Strategy in 2008. This explains the 
methodology for the management of risk throughout the Council. A Corporate 
Risk Register is in place and appropriate staff have been trained in the 
assessment, management and monitoring of risks. The Authority has a Risk 
Management Officer and the approach to embedding risk management is in 
accordance with best practice. 

 
3.6 Measuring Performance and Value for Money 
 
3.6.1 External Inspection 
 

• The Comprehensive Performance Assessment (CPA) Use of Resources 
framework assessed the Council as a ‘Good’ 3 star Authority that is 
improving well.  

• The Audit Commission’s annual assessment of the Council identified that it 
is making good progress in a number of its priority areas.  

• In its review of Access to Services, the Audit Commission assessed the 
Council as providing a good service with ‘promising prospects for 
improvement … because of its impact on improving and providing access to 
services to meet the needs of the borough’s diverse communities – one of 
the Council’s aims’. 

Page 451



 

28 

 
3.6.2 The Council has in place a three year Financial Strategy, updated annually, to 

support the medium term aims of the Corporate Plan. This ensures the 
economical, effective and efficient use of resources and secures continuous 
improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised by having regard to 
a combination of economy, efficiency, and effectiveness.  

 
3.6.3 The Council continues to progress the efficiency agenda and has identified and 

delivered significant savings in recent years. The identification of efficiencies is 
an integral part of the financial planning process with the delivery integrated in 
the performance management arrangements. 

 
3.6.4 A rigorous system of monthly financial monitoring ensures that any significant 

budget variances are identified in a timely way and corrective action is initiated. 
 
3.6.5 The Council has an Objective Performance Management Framework. The 

system is driven by the Corporate Plan which focuses attention on corporate 
priorities. This is cascaded through departmental service plans, individual 
employee key issue exchanges and action plans. It is clearly laid out in the 
annual service and financial planning and performance management cycle. 
Committees monitor and scrutinise progress against targets and performance in 
priority areas affecting relevant service areas and consider and approve 
corrective action where necessary. 

 
4. Review of Effectiveness 
 
4.1 Introduction 
 
4.1.1 Wirral Council has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of 

the effectiveness of its governance framework including the system of internal 
control.  The review of effectiveness is informed by the work of the executive 
managers within the Authority who have responsibility for the development and 
maintenance of the governance environment, the Internal Audit Annual Report, 
and by comments made by the external auditors and other review agencies and 
inspectorates. Key controls in the governance review process are identified in 
the following paragraphs. 

 
4.2 Corporate Review 
 
4.2.1 The Council’s Corporate Improvement Group (CIG) has managed the 

development of the Annual Governance Statement, in consultation with the 
Council’s Chief Internal Auditor. CIG is chaired by the Deputy Chief Executive 
and is formed of members of each department’s management team.  A system 
which includes Directors’ Assurance Statements has been introduced to review 
governance systems and procedures; areas of non-compliance are considered 
for inclusion in the Annual Governance Statement. 

Page 452



 

29 

 
4.3 Statutory Officer Responsibilities 
 
4.3.1 The Council Constitution, which is annually reviewed by the Monitoring Officer, 

sets out the responsibilities of both Members and senior managers.  In 
particular the Council has identified the three statutory posts as follows:- 

• Head of Paid Service -   Chief Executive 

• Chief Financial Officer -   Director of Finance 

• Monitoring Officer -   Director of Law, HR and Asset Management 
 
4.3.2 The Council has designated the Director of Law, HR and Asset Management as 

the Monitoring Officer. The Monitoring Officer has a duty to monitor and review 
the operation of the Constitution to ensure its aims and principles are given full 
effect and report to Cabinet annually.  

 
4.3.3 The Council has designated the Director of Finance as Chief Finance Officer in 

accordance with Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972. The financial 
management of the Authority is conducted in accordance with the Financial 
Procedure Rules set out in the Constitution.  

 
4.3.4 The Council continues to assess how its overall corporate governance 

responsibilities are discharged.  In particular, the Council has adopted the 
CIPFA/Solace Delivering Good Governance Framework, has developed a local 
Code of Corporate Governance and is working towards the National Good 
Governance Standard.  

 
4.4 Audit and Risk Management Committee 
 
4.4.1 The Council has an Audit and Risk Management Committee which oversees 

various financial matters, the Terms of Reference for which comply with latest 
CIPFA guidelines. 

 
4.5 Standards Committee 
 
4.5.1 The Council has a Standards Committee, which deals with matters relating to 

the conduct of Councillors, employees, complaints and probity issues, the 
Terms of Reference for which comply with latest guidelines from the Standards 
Board for England. 

 
4.6 Internal Control 
 
4.6.1 The review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control reflects best 

practice guidance identified by the CIPFA Finance Advisory Network and is 
informed by: 

 

• Directorate assurance based on management information, performance 
information, officer assurance statements and Scrutiny Committee reports; 

• the work undertaken by Wirral Internal Audit during the year; 

• the work undertaken by the external auditor reported in their Annual Audit 
and Inspection Letter; 

• Other work undertaken by independent inspection bodies. 

Page 453



 

30 

 
4.7 Internal Audit  
 
4.7.1 The arrangements for the provision of internal audit are contained within the 

Financial Regulations included within the Constitution.  The Director of Finance 
is responsible for ensuring that there is an adequate and effective system of 
internal audit of the accounting and other systems of internal control as required 
by the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2006.  The internal audit provision is 
managed by the Chief Internal Auditor and, as verified by the Audit 
Commission, operates in accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice for 
Internal Audit in Local Government 2006.   

 
4.7.2 From the work undertaken in 2008-09 the Chief Internal Auditor was able to 

provide 'reasonable assurance' on the key areas of risk management, corporate 
governance and financial control. 

 
4.8 External Audit 
 
4.8.1  Wirral Internal Audit is subject to regular inspection by the external auditors who 

place reliance on the work carried out by the internal auditors and indicate in 
their most recent review that “internal audit provide an effective service that 
makes a good contribution to the control environment of the Council”. The Audit 
Commission through its Inspectorate functions also reviews compliance with 
policies, procedures, laws and regulations within their remit.  

 
5. Significant Governance Issues 
 
5.1 Summary 
 
5.1.1 Internal Audit has concluded that, based on the work undertaken, overall 

throughout the Council there are sound systems of internal control in place. 
However, improvements in the internal control environment can always be 
made and reports have been produced and discussed with Chief Officers and 
Members during the year that recommend appropriate actions to be taken 
within an agreed timescale to address weaknesses and improve systems of 
control in key areas.  The following improvement opportunities have been 
brought to our attention as part of the review of governance.  

 
5.2 Governance and Values 
 
5.2.1 Governance 
 
 The Council will continue to improve its Corporate Governance including: 
 

• the implementation of the new CIPFA/SOLACE Delivering Good 
Governance Framework via the Corporate Governance and Corporate 
Improvement Groups; 

• the implementation of a revised Code of Corporate Governance; 

• raising awareness and understanding.  

Page 454



 

31 

 
5.3.1 Equality and Diversity  

 
 Equality and Diversity is a key element of the Council Plan and through equality 

impact assessments the Council has identified a number of priority actions to 
improve ways for people, particularly young people, hard to reach and 
disengaged groups, to communicate with and influence the Council, tackling the 
causes of community unrest. We have committed to achieving the Equality 
Standard Level 3: a Peer Review is imminent. 

 
5.3.2 Whistle Blowing 
 
 Following an internal governance review and subsequent comments by the 

Audit Commission a revised Confidential Reporting (Whistle Blowing) Policy has 
been prepared for the Council that has been widely publicised on the Internet 
site, the local Intranet and through the staff team briefing and Key Issue 
Exchange processes. An Action Plan to enhance awareness and monitor 
effectiveness has been agreed and is being implemented. 

 
5.3.3 Single Status 
 
 The Council has partially completed the Single Status Review, and is expecting 

to complete the review during 2009: the Council has made financial provision. 
 
5.4 Risk Management 
 
 The Council has completed significant work to implement the Risk Management 

Framework within all departments to ensure that risks are identified and 
appropriate actions taken by relevant individuals to mitigate risks. 
Consequently, the Council has been assessed against the CIPFA five point 
Risk Maturity Model as ‘Risk Defined’ and improving; this is a good mid point 
score that acknowledges the nature of the work that has been undertaken to 
date. Further developments are scheduled and will be completed to ensure that 
the infrastructure remains in place to embed risk management further into the 
culture of the organisation. 

 
5.5 Partnership Working 
 
5.5.1 The Council continues to be actively involved in developing the way it works 

with partners and organises itself to deliver services.  Developments are 
continuing in this area to update the Partnership Register and clarify the legal 
status of all the partnerships identified and the applicability of Council Codes of 
Conduct to partners. The Council is developing a Partnership Toolkit. 

 
5.5.2 The Council is developing a Sustainable Community Strategy through Wirral’s 

Local Strategic Partnership (LSP) to bring together shared objectives.  

Page 455



 

32 

 
5.6 Change Programme 
 
5.6.1 The Council has committed to an ambitious Change Programme to improve the 

quality of service and meet users’ needs within approved resources. The 
Council recognises that change on the scale envisaged represents both 
significant opportunities and risks, and therefore requires formal governance 
processes to ensure objectives are achieved and that the resources of the 
Council are co-ordinated to maximum advantage. The Council will manage all 
significant change programmes within this process, including: 

• Strategic Asset Review. 

• Customer Service (including the Access to Services Review). 

• Information Communications Strategic Developments. 

• Review of Common Administrative Processes. 

• Adult Social Services Transformation. 

• Building Schools for the Future. 
 
5.7 Information and Data Security 
 
5.7.1 The Council has recently updated its ICT Security Policy to reflect both the 

changes in the structure of ICT delivery across the Council and significant 
developments in the use of the following: 

• Broadband Communications. 

• Agile Working. 

• Increased Volume and Sensitivity of Data. 

• Corporate Change Programme. 

• Government Connect Initiative. 
 

5.7.2 The Council will promote the revised policy. Additionally, work is currently taking 
place to develop policies and procedures regarding the transfer of data and the 
use of removable media within the Council and with external partners to include 
periodic risk assessments of these arrangements and more effective guidance 
and training for the workforce.  
 

6. Conclusion 
 
6.1 We propose over the coming year to take any necessary steps to ensure that all 

of the above matters are addressed as appropriate to enhance our governance 
arrangements further. Many improvement actions represent work already in 
progress. We are satisfied that these steps will address the need for 
improvements that were identified in our review of effectiveness and will monitor 
their implementation and operation as part of our next annual review. 

 
 
 Signed: __________________________  Date: ____________ 
   Chief Executive 
 
 
 Signed: __________________________  Date: ____________ 
   Leader of the Council 

Page 456



 

33 

SIGNATURE OF APPROVAL 
 
In line with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2003 I confirm that these accounts were 
approved by the Audit and Risk Management Committee at the meeting held on 29 
June 2009. 
 
 
 
 
 
Signed on behalf of Wirral Council: 
 
Chair of Audit and Risk Management Committee 
 
Date: 

Page 457



 

34 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF WIRRAL COUNCIL 
 
This section will be inserted following the completion of the Audit of this draft Statement 
of Accounts and the receipt of the report from the Independent Auditor. 
 
 

Page 458



 

35 

MAIN FINANCIAL STATEMENTS: 
 
INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT 
 
The Income and Expenditure Account summarises the resources that have been 
generated and consumed in providing services and managing the Council during the 
year.  It includes all day to day expenses and income on an accruals basis, in addition 
to transactions measuring the value of fixed assets actually consumed (depreciation 
and impairment) and the real projected value of retirement benefits. 
 
To give a full picture of the financial performance of the Council during the year and the 
spending power at its disposal at 31 March 2009 the balance on the Income and 
Expenditure Account needs to be reconciled in the Statement of Movement in the 
General Fund Balance to the amount calculated by the relevant statutory provision. 
 
 2007-08   2008-09 
 Net  Gross Gross Net 
 Rev Exp Service Expend Income Rev Exp 
 £000  £000 £000 £000 
  Continuing Operations:-    
 5,801 Central Services to the Public 6,218 1,937 4,281 
 434 Court Services 444 - 444 
 73,883 Cultural, Environmental, Regulatory 95,656 22,845 72,811 
  and Planning Services    
 76,773 Children's and Educational Services 367,207 280,553 86,654 
 31,830 Highways and Transport Services 41,291 5,202 36,089 
 5,965 Other Housing Services 156,706 148,071 8,635 
 88,465 Adult Social Care 127,022 25,130 101,892 
 4,479 Corporate and Democratic Core 4,587 4 4,583 
    7,979 Non Distributed Costs     1,177            -    1,177
 295,609 Net Cost of Services 800,308 483,742 316,566 
 
 (45) (Gain)/Loss on sale of fixed assets   6,910 
 (9) (Surplus)/deficit on trading undertakings   354 
 10,270 Interest payable and similar charges   11,305 
  Contribution of housing capital receipts 
 212     to Government Pool   63
 (4,566) Interest and investment income   (4,973) 
    5,578 Pension interest costs and expected return on pensions assets   17,497
 307,049 Net Operating Expenditure   347,722 
 
 (119,338) Demand on the Collection Fund   (123,217) 
 (430) Collection Fund (Surplus)/Deficit from previous year  509 
 (25,272) Total Grants   (54,318)
 (114,643) Distribution from Non-Domestic Rate Pool   (129,413) 
 47,366 (Surplus)/Deficit for the year      41,283 
 

Page 459



 

36 

MAIN FINANCIAL STATEMENTS: 
 
STATEMENT OF THE MOVEMENT ON THE GENERAL FUND BALANCE 
 
The Income and Expenditure Account shows the Council's actual financial performance 
for the year, measured in terms of the resources consumed and generated over the last 
twelve months. However, the Authority is required to raise Council Tax on a different 
accounting basis, the main differences being: 
 

• Capital investment is accounted for as it is financed rather than when the fixed 
assets are consumed. 

• The payment of a share of housing capital receipts to the Government scores as 
a loss in the Income and Expenditure Account but is met from the useable capital 
receipts balance rather than the Council Tax. 

• Retirement benefits are charged as amounts become payable to Pension Funds 
and pensioners rather than as future benefits are earned. 

 
The General Fund Balance compares the Council's spending against the Council Tax 
that was raised for the year, taking into account the use of reserves built up in the past 
and contributions to reserves earmarked for future expenditure. 
 
This reconciliation statement summarises the differences between the outturn on the 
Income and Expenditure account and the General Fund Balance. 
 
 2007-08  2008-09 
 £000  £000 
  (Surplus)/Deficit for the year on the 
 47,366      Income and Expenditure Account 41,283 
  Net additional amount required by statute 
       and non-statutory proper practices  
  (47,001)     to be debited or credited to the GF balance (38,450) 
 365 Decrease/(Increase) in the General Fund balance for the year 2,833 
  (11,480) General Fund balance b/fwd (11,115) 
  (11,115) General Fund balance c/fwd (8,282) 
 
The balance on the General Fund is available for funding expenditure on services or in 
setting the Council Tax. The amounts relating to balances held by schools are 
accounted for as reserves and are not included in the General Fund balance.  
 

Page 460



 

37 

Analysis of reconciling items for the Statement of Movement on the General Fund 
Balance 
 
 2007-08  2008-09 
 £000  £000 
  Amounts included in the Income and Expenditure Account  
  but required by statute to be excluded when determining the  
  Movement on the General Fund Balance for the year:-    
(46,860)  Depreciation and Impairment of General Fund fixed assets (39,075) 
 2,197 Government grants deferred amortisation 3,047 
  (10,271) Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute (1,492) 
  45 Net loss / gain on sale of fixed assets (6,900) 
  Amount by which finance costs calculated in accordance with the  
 (3,497)    SORP differs from the amount determined by statute (746)  
 (34,594) Net charges for retirement benefits FRS17 (43,221) 
   (1,812) Private Finance Initiative   (1,812) 
 (94,792)  (90,199) 
 
  Amounts not included in Income and Expenditure but required 
  to be included by statute when determining the Movement on  
  the General Fund for the year:- 
 6,929 Minimum Revenue Provision 8,302 
 688 Capital expenditure charged to revenue 1,540 
  (212) Transfer from useable capital receipts re payment to the Pool (63) 
  Employers contributions to the Pension Fund and retirement  
 27,423     benefits payable direct to pensioners 29,628 
 34,828  39,407 
 
  Transfers to or from General Fund Balance required to be 
  taken into account when determining the Movement on the 
  General Fund Balance for the year:- 
   12,963 Net transfer to/from earmarked reserves 12,342 
   12,963  12,342 
 
  (47,001) Net Amount Required to be Credited to the General Fund (38,450) 
 

Page 461



 

38 

MAIN FINANCIAL STATEMENTS: 
 
STATEMENT OF TOTAL RECOGNISED GAINS AND LOSSES 
 
This statement brings together all the gains and losses of the Council for the year and 
shows the aggregate increase or decrease in its net worth. In addition to the surplus 
generated on the Income and Expenditure Account, it includes gains and losses relating 
to the revaluation of fixed assets, gains or losses associated with Available-for-Sale 
financial assets and re-measurement of the net liability to cover the cost of retirement 
benefits. 
 
 2007-08  2008-09 
 £000  £000 
    
   47,366 (Surplus) / Deficit for the year on the Income and 41,283 
      Expenditure Account 
 
(145,213) (Surplus) / Deficit arising on the revaluation of fixed assets (19,497) 
 
  (Surplus) / Deficit arising on the revaluation of Available-for- 
 (790)     Sale financial assets 44 
 
 104,286  Actuarial (gains) / losses on Pension Fund assets and liabilities (50,140) 
 
 (494) Other (gains) and losses required to be included (494) 
 
 711 (Surplus) / Deficit on the Collection Fund relating to Wirral (883) 
 __  ___  ______ 
 5,866 Total Recognised (gains) / losses for the year (29,687) 
 
The figures for 2007-08 have been restated. Details of this and the effect on the 
Balance Sheet are shown in note 1. to the main financial statements. 

Page 462



 

39 

MAIN FINANCIAL STATEMENTS: 
 
BALANCE SHEET 
 
 2007-08  2008-09 
 £000  £000 £000 
  Fixed Assets 
    971  Intangible Fixed Assets (Note 23)  1,124 
 
  Operational Assets (Note 18): - 
517,223  - Other Land and Buildings 521,671 
 2,864 - Vehicles, Plant and Equipment 3,248 
 76,801 - Infrastructure Assets 83,494 
   40,281 - Community Assets 40,952 649,365 
 637,169 
  Non-Operational Assets (Note 18) 
 9,337 - Investment 10,990  
 5,800 - Surplus 7,355  
 23,352 - Construction 27,761  
 38,489   46,106 
 
 42,265 Deferred Consideration (Note 27) 40,454  
 1,434 Long-term Investments (Note 32) 13,385 
 76,941 Long-term Debtors (Note 28) 72,946 
120,640    126,785 
_______   _______ 
797,269  Total Long-Term Assets  823,380 
 
  Current Assets 
 441 - Stocks and Work in Progress (Note 29) 317 
 68,020 - Debtors (Note 30) 71,111 
   77,186 - Investments (Note 32) 72,343 
      5,660 - Cash and Bank    5,360 
 151,307   149,131 
  Current Liabilities 
 3,345 - Short Term Borrowing (Note 32) 25,973 
 73,998 - Creditors (Note 31) 74,879 
 77,343   100,852 
_______   _______ 
871,233  Total Assets Less Current Liabilities  871,659 
 
  Long-Term Liabilities 
 283,872 Long-term Borrowing (Note 32) 270,221 
   17,257 Provisions (Note 35) 14,237 
176,869  Government Grants Deferred 201,594 
 1,317 Deferred Credits (Note 36) 549 
333,826  Liability Related to Defined Benefit 297,278 
_______    Pension Scheme (Note 42) _________ 
813,141    783,879 
 
58,092  Total Assets Less Liabilities  87,780 

Page 463



 

40 

   
  Financed by:  
169,363  Capital Adjustment Account (Note 37)  140,010 
138,093  Revaluation Reserve (Note 37)  152,049 
 (3,511) Financial Instruments Adjustment Account (Note 37)  (4,258) 
 790  Available for Sale Financial Instruments Reserve (Note 37) 746 
 10,535 Capital Receipts Reserve (Note 37)  9,472 
(333,826) Pensions Reserve (Note 42)  (297,278) 
  66,753  Reserves - General (Note 37)  79,095 
   9,895  Balances (Note 38)  7,944 
_______   _______ 
   58,092 Total Equity  87,780 
 
 

Page 464



 

41 

MAIN FINANCIAL STATEMENTS: 
 
CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

2007-08  2008-09 

£000  £000 

   

(27,772) Net Cash Flow From Revenue Activities (18,364) 

   

 RETURNS ON INVESTMENT AND SERVICING OF FINANCE  

   

 Cash outflows  

20,428 Interest Paid 16,878 

   

 Cash inflows  

10,402 Interest Received 11,623 

   

(17,746) Net Revenue Activity (13,109) 

   

 CAPITAL ACTIVITIES:  

   

 Cash outflows  

50,170 Purchase of fixed assets 51,189 

0 Purchase of long-term investments 10,000 

21,820 Other capital payments  19,119 

71,990  80,308 

 Cash inflows  

4,558 Sale of fixed assets 2,937 

46,878 Capital Grants received 51,604 

4,328 Other capital cash receipts 1,049 

55,764  55,590 

   

(1,520) Net Cash (Inflow) / Outflow Before Financing 11,609 

   

 MANAGEMENT OF LIQUID RESOURCES:  

11,686 Net increase / (decrease) in other short term investments (2,854) 

10,166  8,755 

 FINANCING:  

 Cash outflows  

54,504 Repayment of amounts borrowed 13,345 

   

 Cash inflows  

23,000 New loans raised 0 

39,000 New short term loans 21,800 

   

(7,496) Net Financing (8,455) 

   

2,670 Overall (Increase) / Decrease in Cash 300 

Page 465



 

42 

NOTES TO THE MAIN FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
1. PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS 
 

Income and Expenditure Account 
In the 2008/09 Statement of Accounts the Council has restated the 2007/08 Income and 
Expenditure Account comparative figures for the effect of the following: 
 

(i) The adoption of the new Best Value Code of Practice service analysis. 
(i) The recording of discontinued operations – Local Authority Housing within the 

Housing Services line. 
(i) The effect of a change in the accounting policy relating to Pension Fund quoted 

securities. 
 
The effect of the above is set out in the table below: 
 
Income and 
Expenditure Line 

As per 
original 

2007/08 
Net 

expenditure 

Restated  
2007/08  

 
Net 

expenditure 

Change 
(i) 

Change 
(ii) 

Change 
(iii) 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Central Services 
to the Public 

5,347 5,801 454   

Court Services 434 434 -   

Cultural, 
Environmental, 
Regulatory and 
Planning 
Services 

73,976 73,883 (93)   

Children’s and 
Educational 
Services 

44,141 76,773 32,632   

Highways and 
Transport 
Services 

32,253 31,830 (423)   

Housing 
Services 

5,627 5,965 30 308  

Adult Social 
Services 

121,065 88,465 (32,600)   

Corporate and 
Democratic Core 

4,479 4,479    

Non Distributed 
Costs 

7,979 7,979    

Local Authority 
Housing  

308   (308)  

Pension interest 
costs and 
expected return 
on pension 
assets 

5,503 5,578   75 

(Surplus)/Deficit 
for the year 

47,291 47,366   75 

 

Page 466



 

43 

 
Statement of Movement on the General Fund Balance 
In the 2008/09 Statement of Accounts the Council has restated the 2007/08 Statement 
of Movement on the General Fund Balance comparative figures for the effect of the 
following: 
 

(i) The effect of a change in the accounting policy relating to Pension Fund quoted 
securities. 

 
Statement of 
Movement on the 
General Fund 
Balance Line 

As per original 2007/08 
 

Restated  
2007/08  

 
 

Change 
(i) 

(Surplus)/Deficit for 
the year on the 
Income and 
Expenditure Account 

47,291 47,366 75 

Net additional amount 
required by statute 
and non-statutory 
proper practices 

(46,926) (47,001) (75) 

The following is 
included within 
reconciling items - Net 
changes for 
retirement benefits 

(34,519) (34,594) (75) 

   
Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses 
In the 2008/09 Statement of Accounts the Council has restated the 2007/08 Statement 
of Total Recognised Gains and Losses comparative figures for the effect of the 
following: 
 

(i) The effect of a change in the accounting policy relating to Pension Fund quoted 
securities. 

 
Statement of Total 
Recognised Gains 
and Losses 

As per original 
2007/08 

 

Restated  
2007/08  

 
 

Change 
(i) 

(Surplus)/Deficit for 
the year on the 
Income and 
Expenditure Account 

47,291 47,366 75 

Actuarial 
(gains)/losses for the 
year on Pension Fund 
assets and liabilities 

104,286 112,292 (8,006) 

Total Recognised 
(gains)/losses for the 
year 

13,797 5,866 7,931 

 
Balance Sheet 
In the 2008/09 Statement of Accounts the Council has restated the 2007/08 Balance 
Sheet comparative figures for the effect of the following: 

Page 467



 

44 

 
(i) The effect of a change in the accounting policy relating to Pension Fund quoted 

securities. 
(ii) The identification of a number of grants and contributions received prior to the 

1st April 2005 which cannot be matched to specific Council assets.  The 
recommended accounting treatment has been followed and these have been 
transferred to the capital adjustment account.  This is in effect an accounting 
adjustment within the Balance Sheet. The opening 2007/08 Balance Sheet 
has been adjusted by transferring the relevant amount from the Government 
Grants Deferred Account to the Capital Adjustment Account.  This is reflected 
in the restated 2007/08 Balance Sheet in the 2008/09 accounts.  

(iii)  The identification of a number of assets where on revaluation accumulated 
depreciation was written off to the Capital Adjustment Account rather than the 
Revaluation Reserve. 

 
Balance Sheet As per 

original 
2007/08 

 

Restated  
2007/08  

 
 

Change 
(i) 

Change 
(ii) 

Change 
(iii) 

Total 

Liability related 
to Defined 
Benefit 
Pension 
scheme 

341,756 333,826 (7,930)   (7,930) 

Pensions 
Reserve 

(341,756) (333,826) 7,930   7,930 

Government 
Grants 
Deferred  

201,460 176,869  (24,591)  (24,591) 

Capital 
Adjustment 
Account 

148,010 169,363  24,591 (3,238) 21,353 

Revaluation 
Reserve 

134,855 138,093   3,238 3,238 

Total Equity 25,571 58,092    32,521 

 

2. GENERAL GOVERNMENT GRANTS 
 
General Government grants comprise of grants which, when awarded by Central 
Government, were not attributable to a specific service. This line within the Income and 
Expenditure Account comprises of Revenue Support Grant, Area Based Grant (ABG) 
Private Finance Initiative (PFI) and Local Authority Business Growth Incentive Grant 
(LABGI). The grant elements within this line are as follows:    
 
 £000 
Area Based Grant 29,107 
Revenue Support Grant 18,015 
Private Finance Initiative 5,471 
Local Authority Business Growth Incentive Grant    1,725 
Total 54,318 
 

Page 468



 

45 

ABG was introduced from 1 April 2008 and is a non-ringfenced general grant. This 
means that there are no specific conditions to ABG and the local Authority has flexibility 
in its use. During 2008-09 this grant was allocated to services in line with the indicative 
allocations for its use from the Department for Communities and Local Government. 
 
RSG is a general grant to support Local Authorities. PFI grant is provided to support to 
a number of Wirral’s school new build and refurbishment schemes. The LABGI scheme 
provides grant from a redistributed Central Government resources based upon the 
growth in national non-domestic rates in the area. 
 

3. DEDICATED SCHOOLS GRANT 
 
The Council’s expenditure on schools is funded primarily from grant monies provided by 
the Department for Children, Schools and Families, the Dedicated Schools Grant 
(DSG).  DSG is ring fenced and can only be applied to meet expenditure properly 
included in the Schools Budget, as defined in the School Finance (England) Regulations 
2008. The Schools Budget includes elements for a range of educational services 
provided on an Authority wide basis and for the Individual Schools Budget, which is 
divided into a budget share for each maintained school.  The Council is able to 
supplement the Schools Budget from its own resources and this year programmed 
additional spending was supported by Area Based Grants. 
 
Details of the deployment of DSG receivable for 2008-09 are as follows: 
 
   Schools Budget Funded by Dedicated Schools Grant 
 
   Central Individual Total 
   Expenditure Schools  
    Budget  
   £000 £000 £000 
Original grant allocation to Schools 20,129 164,660 184,789 
    for current year in Council budget  
Adjustment to finalise grant allocation    (1,071)              -     (1,071) 
DSG receivable for the year 19,058 164,660 183,718 
Actual expenditure for the year  (19,717) (164,660) (184,377) 
(Over)/under spend for the year (659) - (659) 
Planned top-up funding of ISB  
    from Council resources 806 - 806 
Use of schools balances brought forward - - - 
(Over)/under spend b/f from prior year       272             -        272 
(Over)/under spend c/f to 2009-10       419              -       419 

 
4. SECTION 137 OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
 
Section 137 empowers Local Authorities, subject to various conditions and limits, to 
incur expenditure that in their opinion is in the interest of their area or any part of it, or all 
or some of its inhabitants.  Under this section Local Authorities are required to account 
separately for any such expenditure. During the year some £0.69m, compared with 
£0.42m in 2007-08, was spent under S137 powers. 
 

Page 469



 

46 

5. PUBLICITY 
 
The Council has incurred £713,000 during 2008-09 on publicity and advertising 
(£1,529,000 in 2007-08). This is analysed below:- 
    2007-08 2008-09 
    £000 £000
 Recruitment Advertising  742 160 
 Publicity Advertising  646 515 
 Other Advertising      141   38
 Total   1,529 713 
 
6. TRADING OPERATIONS 
 
The Council has established a number of trading units where the service manager is 
required to operate in a commercial environment and balance their budget by 
generating income from other parts of the Authority or other organisations.  Details of 
the major units, which follow, have a trading objective to break even:- 
 

(1) Highways Services 
The Council operates its Highways Services on the basis of an agreement between 
the service provider and the Director of Technical Services. The final year of 
operation is 2008-09, and the results are as follows:  
 

   2007-08 2008-09 
   £000 £000 
 Turnover  7,382 7,054 
 Expenditure  7,339 7,511 
 Surplus (Deficit) 43 (457) 

 

(2) Vehicle Maintenance Unit 
The Vehicle Maintenance Unit won the contract under open competition and still 
operates along the lines of the former CCT DSO. Its operating results are: 
 

   2007-08 2008-09 
   £000 £000 
 Turnover  414 411 
 Expenditure  414 409 
 Surplus (Deficit) 0 2 

 

(3) Building Cleaning 
The Council manages a Building Cleaning operation on the basis of an agreement 
between the service provider and other departments. Its operating results are: 
 

   2007-08 2008-09 
   £000 £000 
 Turnover  895 921 
 Expenditure  929 870 
 Surplus (Deficit) (34) 51 

 

 
 
 

Page 470



 

47 

(4) Grounds Maintenance Services 
The Council operates its Grounds Maintenance Services for the maintenance of 
Council and other land on the basis of an agreement between the service provider 
and other Council departments, and other bodies. Its operating results are: 
 

   2007-08 2008-09 
   £000 £000 
 Turnover  5,373 5,737 
 Expenditure  5,373 5,687 
 Surplus (Deficit) 0 50 
 
7. OFFICERS' EMOLUMENTS 
 
The number of employees whose remuneration, excluding pension contributions, was 
£50,000 or more in bands of £10,000 was:- 
 

Remuneration Band Number of Employees 

  2007-08   2008-09  

 General Teaching Total General Teaching Total 

£50,000 - £59,999 20 141 161 28 164 192 

£60,000 - £69,999 15 20 35 7 35 42 

£70,000 - £79,999 8 12 20 18 7 25 

£80,000 - £89,999 3 9 12 1 11 12 

£90,000 - £99,999 0 4 4 0 6 6 

£100,000 - £109,999 1 1 2 2 1 3 

£110,000 - £119,999 3 0 3 4 0 4 

£120,000 - £129,999 1 0 1 1 0 1 

£130,000 - £139,999 1 0 1 1 0 1 

Totals 52 187 239 62 224 286 
 
8. MEMBERS ALLOWANCES 
 
During the year, Members were paid £828,727 (2007-08 £821,579). This covered basic, 
special responsibility, attendance and subsistence allowances. 
 
9. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
The Council is required to disclose material transactions with related parties – bodies or 
individuals that have the potential to control or influence the Council or to be controlled 
or influenced by the Council.  For example, Central Government has effective control 
over the general operations of the Council – it is responsible for providing the statutory 
framework within which the Council operates, provides the majority of its funding in the 
form of grants and prescribes the terms of many of the transactions that the Council has 
with other parties. 
 

Page 471



 

48 

During the year material transactions with related parties are as follows:- 
 
2007-08   2008-09 
 £000   £000 
  Central Government 
570,442  Revenue  575,528 
 43,449 Capital  42,147 
 
  European Community  
 656 Revenue   -  
 3,343 Capital  9,457 
   

 13,296 Merseyside Police Authority - Precept  13,928 
 6,020 Merseyside Fire and Civil Defence Authority - Precept  6,247 
 24,242 Merseyside Passenger Transport - Levy  25,311 
 12,799 Merseyside Waste Disposal Authority - Levy  14,253 
 146 Environment Agency - Flood Defence Levy  148 
 
  Merseyside Pension Fund 
  Payment of employer’s superannuation contributions 
 21,500     in respect of non teaching employees  28,250 
 
  Department for Children, Schools and Families 
  Payment of employer’s superannuation contributions 
 14,900     in respect of teachers  13,135 
 
During the year the Council charged the Pension Fund £3.286m for expenses incurred 
in administering the Fund. 
 
Members of the Council are Board Members of Wirral Partnership Homes as well 
Members of Beechwood and Ballantyne Community Housing Association.  These 
Members have declared interests, where required, in items associated with these 
organisations. 

Page 472



 

49 

10. BUILDING CONTROL 
 
The Building (Local Authority Charges) Regulation 1998 Section 5(1) requires building 
control authorities to ensure that the income received from charges fully recovers the 
costs over a rolling three year accounting period. Certain activities cannot be charged 
such as the provision of advice and liaison with Statutory Authorities. The financial 
details are:- 
   Chargeable Non Total Bldg 
    Chargeable Control 
   2008-09 2008-09 2008-09 
   £000 £000 £000 
Employees  451 193 644 
Transport  22 10 32 
Supplies and services 8 4 12 
Central and Support Services  192 82   274 
Total Expenditure 673 289 962 
 
Building Regulation Charges 594 - 594 
Miscellaneous Income   10    8   18 
Total Income  604 8 612 
 
Surplus (Deficit) (69) (281) (350) 
 
Comparatives for 2007-08:- 
Expenditure  795 334 1,129 
Income  754     17 _771 
Surplus (Deficit) (41) (317) (358) 
 
Comparatives for 2006-07:- 
Surplus (Deficit) 121 (256) (135) 
 
11. THE NATURE AND AMOUNT OF ANY SIGNIFICANT AGENCY INCOME AND 
EXPENDITURE 
 
The Department of Adult Social Services has a voluntary agreement with a number of 
outside organisations to act as administrators providing a number of exchequer 
functions such as payroll, cash flow and payments.  Expenditure and income occur as a 
result of this quasi agency agreement and not as a direct function of the Council. 
 
A summary of expenditure incurred on these activities, which are not included in the 
Income and Expenditure Account, is as follows: (expenditure and income on all 
regeneration projects is now included in the Council's accounts). 
 
   2007-08 2008-09 
   £000 £000 
Costs incurred  2,537 2,756 
Total amount reimbursable 2,537 2,756 
 

Page 473



 

50 

12. INCOME FROM LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND OTHER PUBLIC BODIES 
 
    2007-08 2008-09 
    £000 £000 
 
Free nursing care - Primary Care Trusts  7,560 7443 
Continuing Health Care - Primary Care Trusts  3,232 7281 
Educational services – Grant Maintained and  
 Charitable schools  111 55 
Pension Administration Services - Merseyside Fire    
 and Rescue Service  - 83 
Pension Services – Westminster Council  - 27 
Sports Centre - Use by Primary Care Trust  34 42 
Services provided to Wirral Partnership Homes 
 Community patrol  271 147 
 Anti-social behaviour team  265 273 
 Grounds maintenance  185 210 
 Right to buy valuations  149 - 
 Legal services  146 70 
 One Stop Shops  127 129 
 Housing adaptations  120 - 
 Out of hours service  110 - 
 Shops management  27 25 
 Vehicle maintenance  20 7 
 Information technology  215 189 
Services provided to Beechwood and Ballantyne CHA 
 Anti-social behaviour team  21 22 
 Other            6          6 
Total   12,599 16,009 
 
As all expenditure is recovered the net Income/Expenditure is nil for both years. 
 

13. DISCLOSURE OF AUDIT COSTS 
 
In 2007-08 and 2008-09 the Council incurred the following fees relating to external audit 
and inspection: 
 
    2007-08 2008-09 
    £000 £000 
Fees payable to the Audit Commission for External 
    Audit services carried out by the appointed auditor 380 407 
Fees payable to the Audit Commission for certification 
     of grant claims and returns  145 155 
Fees payable to the Audit Commission in respect of  
    statutory inspection    46   23 
Fees payable in respect of other services provided  
     by the appointed auditor       - __4 
Total charge for the year  571 589 
 
The fees for other services related to work undertaken for the Authority by the Audit 
Commission relating to data quality. 

Page 474



 

51 

 

 

14. POOLED BUDGETS 
 
Pooled funds enable health bodies and Local Authorities to work collaboratively to 
address specific local health issues.  Health service resources can be used to deliver 
local Authority services and vice versa. 
 
Wirral Care Trust is the host for a pooled budget for integrated community equipment 
services. 
 
Wirral Council’s contribution for 2008-09 is £510,000 (2007-08 £499,000) out of total 
expenditure of £1.8m. 
 
15. COMMUNITY FUND 
 
The Community Fund was established following the Large Scale Voluntary Transfer of 
the Authority's housing stock in February 2005. The Fund has a number of purposes 
including meeting transferred stock warranty claims, assisting to meet housing 
requirements, encouraging economic regeneration, helping to reduce crime and other 
environmental benefits.  Funding is derived from savings on VAT arising during the 
refurbishment programmes and from the Housing Revenue Account balances which 
were transferred on closure of the HRA. 
 
The Fund is administered and held in a separate bank account by Wirral Partnership 
Homes. The use of the Fund is jointly controlled by representatives of Wirral Council 
and Wirral Partnership Homes. Wirral Council’s accounts do not include the assets, 
income or expenditure of the Fund. Any grants paid to the Council from the Community 
Fund will, however, be included within the Authority’s accounts. 
 
During 2008-09 income was received from savings relating to the refurbishment 
programme VAT arrangements, from the sale of some former HRA assets and from 
interest earned on the Fund balances. Expenditure of £0.5m was incurred in the year 
relating to the funding of the ‘Your Wirral’ Fund (a discretionary project funding element 
of the Wirral Council/WPH Community Fund).  
 
Community Fund Statement 
    £ £ 
Balance at 1 April 2008   13,103,253 
Movement 2008-09 
Income 
   - Contributions arising from VAT savings  4,258,888 
   - Property Sale   85,474 
   - Interest received     489,659 4,834,021  
Expenditure    _  (500,000) 
Balance at 31 March 2009   17,437,274 
 

Page 475



 

52 

16. UNDISCHARGED OBLIGATIONS ARISING FROM LONG TERM CONTRACTS 
 
On 27 March 2001 the Council entered into a Private Finance Initiative arrangement 
with Jarvis Construction for the renovation and new build of 9 schools. A Deed of 
Amendment and Restatement was entered into on 9 September 2004 to extend the 
contract until 31 July 2031. As a consequence payments will now be made to Wirral 
Schools Services Ltd. (WSSL) until 2031-32. At 31 March 2009 outstanding payments 
to WSSL are £271.8m. 
 
17. GAINS AND LOSSES ON FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
The gains and losses recognised in the Income and Expenditure Account in relation to 
financial instruments in 2008-09 consist of the following items: 
 

 Liabilities  Assets 

 
Measured at 
amortised 

cost 

Loans and 
Receivables 

Available 
for sale 
assets 

 £000 £000 £000 

Interest expense (10,636) - - 

Impairment losses             -    (669)            - 

Interest payable and 
similar charges 

(10,636) (669) - 

Interest Income             -    4,418       555 

Interest and Investment 
Income 

- 4,418 555 

Gains on revaluation 68 

Losses on revaluation     (112) 

Deficit arising on revaluation of financial assets (44) 

Net gain/ (loss) for the year (10,636) 3,749 511 

 
This compares with the gains and losses recognised in the Income and Expenditure 
Account in relation to financial instruments in 2007-08: 
 

 Liabilities  Assets 

 

Measured at 
amortised 

cost 

Loans and 
Receivables 

 

Available 
for sale 
assets 

 £000 £000 £000 

Interest expense (10,270)          -             - 

Interest payable and 
similar charges 

(10,270) - - 

Interest Income             - 4,039       527 

Interest and Investment 
Income 

- 4,039 527 

Gains on revaluation       790 

Surplus arising on revaluation of financial assets 790 

Net gain/ (loss) for the year (10,270) 4,039 1,317 

Page 476



 

53 

 
Note on Heritable Bank Impairment. 
 
Early in October 2008, the Icelandic banks Landsbanki, Kaupthing and Glitnir collapsed 
and the UK subsidiaries of the banks, Heritable and Kaupthing Singer and Friedlander 
went into administration. The Authority has £2m deposited with Heritable bank at an 
interest rate of 6.22% which was due to mature on 28 November 2008. 
 
The money with Heritable is currently subject to administration processes. The amounts 
and timings of payments to depositors such as the Authority will be determined by the 
administrators. 
 
Based on latest information available the Authority considers that it is appropriate to 
consider an impairment adjustment for the deposit, and has taken the action outlined 
below. As the information is not definitive as to the amounts and timings of payments to 
be made by the administrators it is likely that further adjustments will be made to the 
accounts in future years. 
 
Heritable bank is a UK registered bank under English law. The company was placed in 
administration on 7 October 2008. The creditor progress report issued by the 
administrators Ernst and Young dated 17 April 2009 outlined that the return to creditors 
was projected to be 80p in the £ by the end of 2012 with the first dividend payment of 
15p in the £ due in the summer of 2009. The Authority has, therefore, decided to 
recognise an impairment based on it recovering 80p in the £. It is anticipated that there 
will be some front loading of these repayments and that a final sale of assets will take 
place after the books have been run down to the end of 2012. Therefore, in calculating 
the impairment, the Authority has made the following assumptions regarding the timings 
of recoveries: 
July 2009 – 15% 
July 2010 – 30% 
July 2011 – 15% 
July 2012 – 10% 
July 2013 – 10% 
 
Recoveries are expressed as a percentage of the Authority’s claim in the administration, 
which includes interest accrued up to 6 October 2008. 
 
The impairment loss recognised in the Income and Expenditure Account in 2008-09, 
£669,128, has been calculated by discounting the assumed cash flows at the effective 
interest rate of the original deposit in order to recognise the anticipated loss of interest 
to the Authority until monies are recovered. 
 
Adjustments to the assumptions will be made in future accounts as more information 
becomes available. 
 
The Authority has taken advantage of the Capital Financing Regulations to defer the 
impact of the impairment on the General Fund and a sum of £503,148 has been 
transferred to the Financial Instruments Adjustment Account. The balance of £165,980 
relates to interest which has been borne in full by the General Fund. 

Page 477



 

54 

 
18. MOVEMENT ON FIXED ASSETS    
      
Operational 
assets      

 

Land and 
buildings 

£000 

Vehicles, 
plant, etc. 

£000 

Infrastructure 
Assets 
£000 

Community 
Assets 
£000 

Total 
 

£000 

Cost or valuation      
At 1 April 2008 560,854 7,046 92,889 40,281 701,070 
Additions 24,764 1,938 9,660 671 37,033 
Disposals (10,150) - - - (10,150) 
Reclassifications (4,466) - - - (4,466) 
Revaluations 6,256 - - - 6,256 
Revaluation 
   Impairment 

(9,057) - - - (9,057) 

At 31 March 2009 568,201 8,984 102,549 40,952 720,686 

      
Depreciation and 
impairments 

    

At 1 April 2008 (43,631) (4,182) (16,088) - (63,901) 
Charge 2008-09 (12,304) (653) (2,396) - (15,353) 
Accelerated 
   Depreciation 

(6,970) (900) (571) - (8,441) 

Disposals 2,133 - - - 2,133 
Reclassifications 1,746 - - - 1,746 
Revaluations 12,496 - - - 12,496 

At 31 March 2009 (46,530) (5,736) (19,055) - (71,321) 

      
Balance Sheet at 
31 March 2009 

521,671 3,248 83,494 40,952 649,365 

Balance Sheet at 
1 April 2008 

517,223 2,864 76,801 40,281 637,169 

      
Nature of asset holding     
Owned 516,173 3,248 83,494 40,952 643,864 
Finance lease - - - - - 
PFI 5,498 - - - 5,498 

 521,671 3,248 83,494 40,952 649,365 

Page 478



 

55 

 
Non-operational assets    

 
Investment 

£000 
Surplus 

£000 
Construction 

£000 
Total 
£000 

Cost or valuation     
At 1 April 2008 9,487 5,801 23,352 38,640 
Additions 120 255 12,465 12,840 
Disposals (100) (710) - (810) 
Reclassifications 2,304 10,217 (8,056) 4,465 
Revaluations 1,048 2,446 - 3,494 
Revaluation 
   Impairment 

(1,832) (10,617) - (12,449) 

At 31 March 2009 11,027 7,392 27,761 46,180 

     
Depreciation and impairments    
At 1 April 2008 (149) - - (149) 
Charge 2008-09 - - - - 
Accelerated Depreciation                  - - - - 
Disposals 62 - - 62 
Reclassifications (43) (1,703) - (1,746) 
Revaluations 93 1,666 - 1,759 

At 31 March 2009 (37) (37) - (74) 

     
Balance Sheet at 
31 March 2009 

10,990 7,355 27,761 46,106 

Balance Sheet at 
at 1 April 2008 

9,338 5,801 23,352 38,491 

     
Nature of asset holding    
Owned 10,990 7,355 27,761 46,106 
Finance lease - - - - 
PFI - - - - 

 10,990 7,355 27,761 46,106 

 

Page 479



 

56 

19. SUMMARY OF CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND FINANCING 
 
    2007-08 2008-09 
    £000 £000 
 
Opening Capital Financing Requirement 1 April  206,492 223,151 
Capital Investment 
 Intangible Assets  112 484 
 Operational Assets  27,515 37,033 
 Non-Operational Assets  20,955 12,840 
 Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital Under Statute 24,615 18,828 
 Long Term Debtors           -      333 
    73,197 69,518 
Sources of Finance 
 Capital Receipts  (5,000) (4,000) 
 Government Grants and Other Contributions  (43,741) (45,405) 
 Revenue Provision  (7,617) (10,639) 
    (56,358) (60,044) 
PFI reversionary interest       (180)      (186) 
Closing Capital Financing Requirement 31 March 223,151 232,439 
 
Explanation of movements in year 
Increase in underlying need to borrow  
 (supported by Government financial assistance)  10,670 7,893 
Increase in underlying need to borrow  
 (unsupported by Government financial assistance)   5,989   1,395 
Change in capital financing requirement  16,659 9,288 
 
In 2008-09 the Authority incurred Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital Under 
Statute (REFCUS) (formerly known as deferred charges). This is capital expenditure 
which the Authority seldom controls the subsequent economic benefits.  Primarily this 
covers expenditure arising from certain regeneration initiatives and the payment of 
disabled facilities and improvement grants. In 2008-09 there was no further 
capitalisation of employee back pay payments to address historic pay inequalities. 

 
 The movement in the year is analysed as follows: 
    2007-08 2008-09 
    £000 £000 
Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital Under Statute 17,131 18,828 
Equal Pay – Back Pay  7,484 - 
Funded from grants  (14,344) (16,539) 
Funded from borrowing            0    (1,492) 
Balance to Income and Expenditure Account     10,271     797 
 

Page 480



 

57 

20. STATEMENT OF PHYSICAL ASSETS 
 
Wirral Council owns the following major assets at 31 March 2009: - 
 
BUILDINGS 
Children’s 
 Primary/Nursery Schools/Childrens Centres 81 
 Secondary Schools 10 
 Youth Centres/Family Centres 12 
 Special Schools 11 
 Teachers Centre 1 
 Children's Homes 3 
Cultural Services 
 Libraries 25 
 Play/Community Centres 16 
 Halls 7 
 Sports Centres 10 
 Cemeteries and Crematorium 8 
 Golf Courses 4 
 Art Galleries/Museums/Archives 5 
 Paintings and Prints 6000 
 Ceramic Objects 1800 
 Coins and medals 949 
 Silver. Textiles and Glass and Sculpture 957 
 Ethnographic, Domestic  
  and Archaeological Objects 849 
 Transport Vehicles and Trams 35 
 Transport and Maritime related objects 900 
 Theatre/Exhibition Centres 2 
 Birkenhead Park Pavilion 1 
Adults Services 
 Elderly Person's Homes 5 
 Day Centres 16 
 Residential Disabled Supported Living 9 
 Group Homes 11 
Miscellaneous 
 Industrial and Retail Units 110 
 Shops 2 
 Administration Buildings 16 
 Public Toilets 8 
 Millennium Centre 1 
 Residential 4 
 Advice Bureau 1 
 
OTHER ASSETS 
Infrastructure 
 Unclassified Roads 965km 
 Other Public Slip Roads, Passageways 154km 
 Classified Non Principal 116km 
 Principal Roads 99km 
 Street Lights 37,600 

Page 481



 

58 

 Pelican / Puffin Crossing Installations 141 
 Traffic Signal Installations 102 
 Car Parks 73 
 Bridges 53 
 Sea Defences 26km 
Land 
 Open Spaces 85 
 Allotments and Agricultural 88 
 Parks and Gardens 76 
 Playgrounds and Playing Fields 62 
 Woodland and Heathland 25 
 Nature Reserves 7 
 Clearance Areas 23 
 Housing development sites 7 
 
21. VALUATION INFORMATION 
 
The Authority adopts a five-year rolling programme of valuations under which all assets 
have been re-valued.  A valuation certificate for all land and properties, with the 
exception of infrastructure was provided for the 2008-09 financial year by R.M. Hird 
FRICS, employed by the Department of Law, HR and Asset Management. 
 
Valuation methods are as follows:- 

• Properties regarded by the Authority as operational and non-specialised are 
valued on the basis of Existing Use Value (EUV) 

• Properties regarded by the Authority as operational and specialised are valued 
on the basis of Depreciated Replacement Cost (DRC) 

• Properties regarded by the Authority as non-operational (investment and surplus 
assets) are valued on the basis of Market Value (MV) 

• Infrastructure assets as well as vehicles, plant and equipment are included in the 
Balance Sheet at historic cost net of depreciation 

• Community assets and assets under construction are included in the Balance 
Sheet at historic cost 

 
The following table shows the progress of the Council’s rolling programme for the 
revaluation of fixed assets:- 
 
   Land and Investment Surplus Total 
   Buildings    
   £000 £000 £000 £000 
Valued at current value in 
 2008-09  141,271 6,491 7,351 155,113 
 2007-08  288,656 3,250 - 291,906 
     2006-07  54,860 714 - 55,574 
     2005-06  25,462 535 - 25,997 
     2004-05      8,786           -                        -              8,786 
   519,035 10,990 7,351 537,376 
 
Vehicles, plant and equipment, infrastructure assets, community assets and assets 
under construction are excluded from the above, since they are valued at historic cost. 
 

Page 482



 

59 

A number of schools have approved change of status and are classed as either 
Foundation or Trust Schools with the land and buildings owned by the respective 
governing body. The value of these assets, £29.6m, is excluded from the Council’s own 
land and building portfolio. This includes the value of land at South Wirral High School 
and land and buildings at Ridgeway High Schools, both of which took foundation status 
in 2008-09. 
 

22. ANALYSIS OF NET ASSETS EMPLOYED 
 
   2007-08 2008-09 
   £000 £000 
 General Fund 391,918 385,058 
 Pensions Reserve (333,826) (297,278) 
      58,092    87,780 
 

23. INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 
 
Movement in intangible assets 
 
 

Purchased 
software licences 

£000 
Original cost 1,578 
Amortisations to 1 April 2008 ( 607) 
Balance at 1 April 2008 971 
Expenditure in year 484 
Written off to revenue in year  (331) 
Balance at 31 March 2009 1,124 

 
Software licences are held in connection with the Council’s information technology 
programme, Geographical Information System and a software management system. 
The cost is being written off over the perceived minimum life of the licences. 
 
24. DEPRECIATION 
 
For all assets subject to depreciation, that depreciation has been charged in accordance 
with the requirements of FRS15 “Tangible Fixed Assets” on a straight-line basis. Each 
asset’s useful life is assessed as the basis of calculating the annual depreciation 
charge. These range from 4 years for computer equipment to 120 years for 
infrastructure. 
 
In 2007-08 all infrastructure assets were depreciated over 40 or 50 years. Expenditure 
on infrastructure in 2008-09 has been classified as follows with assessed useful life for 
each class of infrastructure asset. 
 
Infrastructure asset class Assessed useful life 
Road  20 years 
Footpath and cycle route  20 years 
Structures  120 years 
Highway and high mast lighting  30 years 
Street furniture  10 years 
Traffic management  10 years 
Coastal protection  50 years 

Page 483



 

60 

 
Infrastructure assets created prior to 2008-09 continue to be depreciated over 40 or 50 
years. The effect of this change has been to increase the amount of depreciation 
charged to infrastructure assets. The depreciation charge for infrastructure assets in 
2008-09 is £2,396,446. If assets created in 2008-09 had been depreciated over 40 or 50 
years, the charge would have been £2,051,147. 
 
25. COMMITMENTS UNDER CAPITAL CONTRACTS 
 

Significant contracts for future capital expenditure include:- 
    £000 
 Housing Market Renewal Initiative (HMRI)  25,290 
 New Secondary School in Woodchurch  24,600 
 Bidston Moss Viaduct  2,880 
 West Kirby Marine Lake  1,350 
 Stanton Road Primary School Extension  750 
 Landican Cemetery  300 
 Brackenwood Infants School  230 
 Thornton Hough Primary School Classroom Replacement 218 
 Greenleas Primary School Classroom Replacement 210 
 St Bridget’s School Classroom Replacement  200 
 
The £25.29m represents the anticipated HMRI Capital Programme for 2009 to 2012. 
Because of the nature of the expenditure it is not possible to say with any certainty what 
proportion of this is contractually committed. 
 
There is a liability in respect of the Bidston Moss viaduct that is shared between the 
Council, Merseytravel and the Highways Agency. Subject to final approval, the scheme 
will commence during 2009 and be completed by June 2012 and the anticipated costs 
are in the region of £76m with the Council's contribution being £2.88m. 
 
26. LEASING 
 
The Authority uses various types of vehicles, computer equipment and furniture 
financed under terms of an operating lease.  The amount paid under these 
arrangements in 2008-09 was £1,862,000, (2007-08 £2,046,000) and payments are 
analysed below.  The SORP requires charges to be made evenly throughout the period 
of the lease. 
 
   2007-08 2008-09 
   £000 £000 
Information Technology and Furniture 1,161 1045 
Wheeled Bins  379 493 
Vehicles  344 249 
Sport and Recreation 78 67 
Grounds Maintenance Equipment 68 8 
Telephone Equipment 16 - 
   2,046 1,862 
 
The Authority was committed at 31 March 2009 to making payments of £1,152,000 
under operating leases in 2008-09 comprising the following elements: 
 

Page 484



 

61 

   Operating Leases 
    £000 
Leases expiring in 2009-10  364 
Leases expiring between 2010-11 and 2014-15  674 
Leases expiring after 2014-15     114 
    1,152 
 
 
Authority as lessor – The Authority leases various industrial units, the gross value of 
which is £4,964,252 (£5,496,500 in 2007-08). Rental income on these properties 
amounted to £329,400 (£286,900 in 2007-08). 
 
 

27. DEFERRED CONSIDERATION 
 

On 27 March 2001 the Council entered into a Private Finance Initiative contract for the 
renovation and new build of 9 schools.  A Deed of Amendment and Restatement was 
entered into on 9 September 2004 to extend the contract until 31 July 2031. Total 
payments to Wirral Schools Services Ltd. (WSSL) will be £315.7m and over the same 
period we will receive additional Government grant of £161.2m. 
 
One of the fundamental principles of the contract is that on completion of the work any 
risk associated with that particular school transfers to WSSL. Accordingly any such 
assets are no longer shown in the Council’s Balance Sheet. By 31 March 2006 the 9 
schools had been transferred to WSSL (7 refurbishments and 2 new build). In 2005-06 
the Balance Sheet was reduced by a further £1.6m in addition to £58.5m prior to 1 April 
2005. In respect of the 7 refurbished schools, these were transferred to WSSL at nil 
consideration. In effect this would result in lower annual payments over the life of the 
contract. To reflect this a deferred consideration of £49,512,571 was recognised in 
2004-05 that will be amortised annually in the accounts until the contract ends in July 
2031. 
 
 Balance  Written Balance  
 At 1.4.08 Down At 31.3.09 
 £000 £000 £000 
Wirral Schools Services Ltd. 42,265 (1,811) 40,454 
 
 

28. LONG TERM DEBTORS 
 

  Balance  Repaid/ Balance 
  1.4.08 Advances Re-classed 31.3.09 
  £000 £000 £000 £000 
 Repayment of Former M.C.C. Debt 75,967 - (4,469) 71,498 
 Wirral Schools PFI 765 196 - 961 
 Regeneration Property loans - 333 - 333 
 Repayment of Council Mortgages _   209      - __ (55)      154 
  76,941 529 (4,524) 72,946 
 

Page 485



 

62 

£71.5M relates to outstanding debt in respect of the former Merseyside County Council. 
This is calculated according to a statutory regulation, whereas the actual balance of the 
loans referred to in Note 32 are determined by the existing loan repayment profile. 
 
During the year the Authority introduced a number of loans schemes targeted at 
property regeneration activities mainly in connection with Housing Market Renewal 
Initiative activities.  These included equity renewal, renovation and empty property 
loans. These loan arrangements in line with central Government policy reflect the move 
away from grant based initiatives and will provide a wider level of support to 
householders. 
 
29. STOCKS 
    31.3.08 31.3.09 
    £000 £000 
 Regeneration  122 128 
 Educational Services  92 102 
  Adult Social Services  0 35 
 Operational and Building Services  180 32 
 Other      47    20 
     441  317 
 
30. DEBTORS 
    31.3.2008 31.3.2009 
    £000 £000 
 Amounts falling due in one year  
 Sundry Debtors  30,637 29,769 
 Government Departments  20,029 18,033 
 Collection Fund  15,394 22,255 
 Other Public Bodies  14,768 13,114 
 Prepayments   1,453 3,340 
 European Community  436 1,994 
 Financial Institutions       149      ___ 41 
    82,866 88,546 
 Bad Debts Provision  14,846 17,435  
    68,020 71,111 
 
 
31. CREDITORS 
    31.3.2008 31.3.2009 
    £000 £000 
 Sundry Creditors  29,541 30,028 
 Other Public Bodies  13,543 12,331 
 Government Departments  9,888 9,713 
 European Community  485 469 
 Financial Institutions         26        92 
    53,483 52,633 
 Receipts in Advance  20,515 22,245 
    73,998 74,878 

Page 486



 

63 

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BALANCES 
 
The borrowings and investments disclosed in the Balance Sheet are analysed across 
the following categories: 
 

Financial Liabilities 

Carrying 
Amount  
31.03.08 

 
Nominal 
Value 

Accrued 
Coupon 
Interest 

Stepped 
Interest 

Adjustment 

Unamortised 
Premium 

Carrying 
Amount  
31.03.09 

£000  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

 Short term borrowing     

3,289 PWLB 14,000 136 - - 14,136 

        56 
Other public 
   bodies 

11,836     1         -          -  11,837 

3,345  25,836 137 - - 25,973 

 Long term borrowing     

110,737 PWLB 96,529 900 - (624) 96,805 

172,854 
Financial 
   institutions 

173,600 2,365 3,755 (6,551) 173,169 

       281 
Other public 
    bodies 

      247         -         -           -        247 

283,872  270,376 3,265 3,755 (7,175) 270,221 

287,217 TOTAL  296,212 3,402 3,755 (7,175) 296,194 

 
In accordance with the 2008 SORP the carrying amounts for financial liabilities at 31 

March 2009 are shown at amortised cost. The table above provides an analysis of the 
components which make up the amortised cost. 
 

Financial Assets 

Carrying 
Amount 
31.03.08 

 
Nominal 
Value 

Accrued 
Coupon 
Interest 

Impairment  
Carrying 
Amount 
31.03.09 

£000  £000 £000 £000  £000 

 Loans and Receivables     

62,067 
Current Assets 
   - Investments 

49,550 754 (669)  49,635 

          - 
Long term 
   Investments 

9,538    477         -  10,477 

62,067  59,088 1,231 (669)  59,650 

 Available for sale financial assets    

15,119 
Current Assets 
   - Investments 

- - -  24,697 

  1,434 
Long term 
   Investments 

         -         -         -       1,381 

16,553  - - -  26,078 

78,620 TOTAL      85,728 
 

Page 487



 

64 

In accordance with the 2008 SORP the carrying amounts at 31 March 2009 for financial 
assets classified as loans and receivables are shown at amortised cost and are 
available for sale are shown at fair value. 
 

33. FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES CARRIED AT AMORTISED COST 
 
The Council’s financial liabilities and financial assets represented by loans and 
receivables are carried in the Balance Sheet at amortised cost.  The 2008 SORP 
requires the Fair Values of these assets and liabilities to be disclosed for comparison 
purposes.  Fair Value is defined as the amount for which asset could be exchanged, or 
a liability settled, between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.  
The Fair Value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is generally the transaction 
price.  The Council’s debt outstanding at 31 March 2009 consisted of loans from the 
Public Works Loan Board (PWLB), market loans from banks and short term loans from 
other public bodies. 
 
The PWLB has provided the Council with Fair Value amounts in relation to its debt 
portfolio. The PWLB has assessed the Fair Values by calculating the amounts the 
Council would have had to pay to extinguish the loans on 31 March 2009.  
 
For the Council’s market and other public bodies loans the lenders were requested to 
provide details of the Fair Values on each loan. One lender responded to this request 
and provided details based on the estimated breakage costs of the loans. In the 
absence of Fair Values being provided by the remaining lenders, the Council has 
assessed Fair Value using the equivalent PWLB premature repayment rates ruling on 
31 March 2009. 
 
In the case of the Council’s investments, these consisted of term deposits, unit trusts 
(including money market funds) and a small amount of gilts. The contractual 
arrangements for term deposits do not permit premature repayment therefore the fair 
values have been assessed as being the same as the carrying amount on the Balance 
Sheet. Unit trusts, including the money market fund and Gilts are already shown in the 
Balance Sheet at fair value based on their quoted market price. 
 
Carrying 
Amount 
31.03.08 

Fair value  
as at 

31.03.08 

 Carrying 
Amount 
31.03.09 

Fair value  
as at 

31.03.09 

£000 £000  £000 £000 

  Financial Liabilities:   

  Borrowings   

114,027 123,900 PWLB 110,941 127,359 

172,854 235,845 Financial institutions 173,169 236,595 

337 337 Other public bodies 12,084 12,084 

287,218 360,082 Total Financial Liabilities 296,194 376,038 

 
The fair value is greater than the carrying value because the Council’s loans, include a 
number of loans where the interest payable is higher than the rates available for similar 
loans at the Balance Sheet date. This requirement to pay interest rates above the 
current market loan rates increases the amount that the Council would pay if the lender 
requested or agreed to early repayment of the loans. 

Page 488



 

65 

 
Carrying 
Amount 
as at 

31.03.08 

Fair 
value 
 as at 

31.03.08 

 Carrying 
Amount 
as at 

31.03.09 

Fair 
value 
 as at 

31.03.09 
  Financial Assets:   

62,067 62,067 Loans and Receivables 60,113 60,113 

16,553 16,553 
Available for sale financial 
assets 

25,615 25,615 

78,620 78,620 Total Financial Assets 85,728 85,728 

 
The fair value is shown as the same as the carrying value.  This is because loans are at 
short term interest rates (less than 12 months) which correspond to market rates and no 
premature repayment is allowed.  
 
34. NATURE AND EXTENT OF RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
The Council has adopted CIPFA’s Code of Practice on Treasury Management and 
complies with The Prudential Code of Capital Finance for Local Authorities. This 
includes a Treasury Management Strategy that sets out the parameters for the 
management of risks associated with Financial Instruments. All Treasury Management 
activities are carried out in accordance with the strategy approved by the Council. The 
priority is to give security and liquidity, rather than yield, seeking the highest rate of 
return consistent with the proper levels of security and liquidity. 
 
The main risks covered are: 

• Credit Risk: The possibility that one party to a financial instrument will fail to meet 
their contractual obligations, causing a loss to the other party. 

• Liquidity Risk: The possibility that a party will be unable to raise funds to meet 
the commitments associated with Financial Instruments 

• Market Risk: The possibility that the value of an instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in interest rates, market prices etc. 

 
Credit Risk 
 
The Council manages this risk by ensuring that investments are placed with 
counterparties having sufficiently high credit ratings as set out in the Treasury 
Management Strategy.  Limits are also placed on the amount of money that can be 
invested with a single counterparty.  
 
The table below summarises the nominal value of the Council’s investment portfolio as 
at 31 March 2009 by the counterparty’s country of origin and its credit rating. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 489



 

66 

 Credit Rating Maturity of Investment   

Financial 
Institution / 

Instrument and 
Country 

Long 
Term 
Rating 

Short 
Term 
Rating 

Instant 
Access 

0-3 
Months 

3-6 
Months 

6-12 
Months 

Over 
12 

Months 

Balance 
Invested 
as at 

31.03 09 

   £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

LOANS AND RECEIVABLES       

Banks         

UK AA- F1+    2,750     1,200   14,100   13,700     6,000     37,750  

UK unrated  - - - -    2,000       2,000  

Ireland A- F1 -    1,500  - - -      1,500  

Total Investment - Banks    2,750     2,700   14,100  13,700     8,000    41,250  

Building Societies        

UK AA- F1+ -    2,500  -    9,300     2,000     13,800  

UK A F1 -    2,500  - - -      2,500  

UK A- F1 - - - -    2,000       2,000  

Total Investment - Bldg Societies            -    5,000             -    9,300     4,000     18,300  

TOTAL     2,750     7,700   14,100   23,000   12,000     59,550  

         

AVAILABLE FOR SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS     

Gilts AAA F1+ - - -       181        919       1,100  

Money Market 
Fund 

AAA F1+  24,050  - - - -    24,050  

Other Unit Trust n/a n/a       466  - - - -         466  

TOTAL   24,516  - -       181        919     25,616  

 
Long Term Rating A denotes expectations of low credit risk.  The capacity for payment 
of financial commitment is considered strong.  
 
Short Term Rating F1 denotes – the strongest capacity for timely payment for financial 
commitments. 
 
Investments in counterparties which fall outside the Council’s approved credit risk 
criteria, as stated in the Treasury Management Strategy Statement, do so because 
either the counterparty’s rating has fallen since the investment was made or the 
investment was made prior to the tighter credit risk criteria being approved. 
 
The credit risk associated with loans secured against property is minimal.  Trade 
debtors are also subject to non payment, bad debt provision is calculated for these 
based on the historical experience of levels of default.  By including these provisions 
within the accounts the credit risk is recognised in the accounts. 
 

2007-08 
£000 

Trade Debtors 2008-09 
£000 

11,825 Gross Debtors 13,514 
2,030 Bad Debt Provision 3,108 
9,795 Net Trade Debtors 10,406 

 

Page 490



 

67 

 
Liquidity Risk 
 
The Council has access to borrowing facilities from the Public Works Loan Board.  
There is no perceived risk that the Council will be unable to raise finance to meet its 
commitments.  The Council also has to manage the risk that it will not be exposed to 
replenishing a significant proportion of its borrowing at a time of unfavourable interest 
rates. 
 
The maturity analysis of the nominal value of the Council’s debt at 31 March 2009 was:  
 

 31.03.09 31.03.09  

Borrowings Maturity (years) £000 % 

Total Short Term Borrowing Less than 1 year 25,836 8.72 

Long Term Borrowing Over 1 year under 2 years 15,036 5.08 

 Over 2 years under 3 years 16,036 5.41 

 Over 3 years under 4 years 12,136 4.10 

 Over 4 years under 5 years 28,036 9.46 

 Over 5 years under 10 years 34,103 11.51 

 Over 10 years under 20 years 39,029 13.18 

 Over 20 years under 40 years 33,000 11.14 

 Over 40 years under 60 years 74,500 25.15 

 Over 60 years under 70 years 18,500 6.25 

Total Long Term Borrowing  270,376 91.28 

Total Borrowing  296,212 100.00 
 
All trade and other payables are due to be paid in less than one year. 
 
Market Risk 
 
(1) Interest Rate Risk 
The Council is exposed to risks arising from movements in interest rates. To give the 
Authority maximum flexibility during the year’s unsettled market conditions, the 
Treasury Management Strategy did not place limits on the amount of debt that can be 
exposed to fixed or variable interest rates. At 31 March 2009 96% of the debt portfolio 
was held in fixed rate instruments. 
 
Investments are also subject to movements in interest rates.  As investments are made 
at fixed rates, but for shorter periods of time, there is greater exposure to interest rate 
movements.  This risk has to be balanced against actions taken to mitigate credit risk. 
 
(2) Price Risk 
The Council only invests in a small amount of unit trusts and therefore is only subject to 
very minimal price risk (i.e. the risk that the Council will suffer loss as a result of 
adverse movements in the price of financial instruments).  
 
(3) Foreign Exchange Risk 
The Council has no financial asset or liabilities denominated in a foreign currency. It 
therefore has no exposure to loss arising as a result of adverse movements in 
exchange rates. 

Page 491



 

68 

35. PROVISIONS 
 
The following are the main provisions made by the Council. 
 
Bad Debts 
This provision has been deducted from the debtors figure in the Balance Sheet and, 
therefore, does not appear in the provisions total. 
 
  Balance Add: Less: Reduced Balance 
  1.4.08 Contri- Write- Require- 31.3.09 
   butions offs ment  
  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
 Council Tax 6,349 998 (672)     -  6,675 
 Housing Benefit 4,761 234 - - 4,995 
 Sundry Debtors 2,030 1,225 (147) - 3,108 
 NNDR 1,064 986 (38) - 2,012 
 Summons Costs      642       3      -     -      645 
  14,846 3,446 (857) - 17,435 
 
Others 
The provisions figure shown in the Balance Sheet comprises: 
 
  Balance Additions Utilised Balance 
  1.4.08   31.3.09 
  £000 £000 £000 £000 
 Insurance Fund 4,596 1,152 - 5,748 
 Housing Benefit 5,600 - (2,147) 3,453
 Collection Fund 1,200 - (509) 691 
 Group Repair 110 422 - 532 
 Highway Works 316 36 - 352 
 Energy Investment - 310 - 310 
 Strategic Asset Review - 297 - 297 
 Highway Maintenance 437 - (200) 237
 You Decide - 220 - 220 
 LAA Network Support - 200 - 200 
 Replacement Wheelie Bins 200 - - 200 
 Merseyside Information Service 178 7 (3) 182 
 Match Funding 167 - - 167 
 Local Development Framework 160 - - 160 
 Equal Pay Back Pay 437 - (287) 150 
 Highway Maintenance Contract 175 - (29) 146
 Local Pay Review 2,592 - (2,514) 78
 Other      1,089   649    (624)   1,114 
  17,257 3,293 (6,313) 14,237 
 
 

Page 492



 

69 

Insurance Fund 
This is primarily required to cover possible liability insurance claims. The overall 
estimate of the amount required to cover these is based on an actuarial investigation, 
which seeks to estimate the ultimate claims arising in respect of each risk period. The 
basis for calculating the provision is claims actually reported as outstanding. The timing 
of future payments depends almost entirely upon when claims are settled, but are likely 
to run over a number of years. 
 
Housing Benefit 
The Council is able to claim subsidy for a substantial proportion of Housing and Council 
Tax Benefit payments made to eligible claimants. This involves the submission of 
annual claims to the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) that are subject to audit 
by the Audit Commission. 
There are a number of remaining longstanding claims issues requiring final settlement 
with the DWP. Changes in the interpretation of legislation and subsidy arrangements 
may require adjustments to be made to prior years. The Council reserves the right to 
challenge the reasonableness of any calculations in respect of claw-back. 
 
Collection Fund 
This sum was established during 2007-08 and has been set-aside to meet the Council 
share of the reported deficit on the Collection Fund. 
 
Group Repair 
This sum relates primarily to funding towards the ‘Triangles Property Renovation 
Scheme’. Residents and landlords also contribute to the cost of the works, with the 
balance being utilised to support future renovation schemes. 
 
Highways Works 
This is a contingency for the writing-off of irrecoverable debts that include rechargeable 
works, road reinstatements and outstanding debtors to the Operational Services 
Division. 
 
Energy Investment 
This sum relates to the balance from a policy option relating to energy efficiency 
measures which are anticipated to be completed during the 2009-10 financial year. 
 
Strategic Asset Review 
This provision relates to decommissioning costs and a review of administration buildings 
likely to be incurred relating to the implementation of the Strategic Asset Review. 
 
Highway Maintenance 
This provision has been set-aside to improve footpaths in, and around, housing estates 
as part of meeting the overall risk management strategy. 
 
You Decide 
This sum relates to amounts committed in relation to the participatory budgeting 
scheme introduced during 2008-09 and will be expended during 2009-10. 
 

Page 493



 

70 

Local Area Agreement (LAA) Network Support 
This provision relates to sums set aside to fund the development of the Local Area 
Agreement. The provision will support both the Authority and voluntary network 
activities in delivering the Local Area Agreement. 
 
Replacement Wheelie Bins 
This provision forms part of the overall strategy to replace wheelie bins as they become 
subject to deterioration. 
 
Merseyside Information Service 
To be used to cover costs arising from the winding up of this organisation. The provision 
will be used when the accounts for the services have been finalised. 
 
Match Funding 
This is required to match a series of commitments including artistic and cultural 
developments, golf events and the Hoylake and West Kirby improvement plan. 
 
Local Development Framework 
This represents the sum remaining for the implementation of a number of studies that 
were approved by Cabinet on 15 March 2007. 
 
Equal Pay Back Pay 
The Authority has identified pay inequalities among its employees and back pay has 
subsequently been paid to individuals who have been treated unfairly. This provision 
represents the cost of those claims that have been settled after 31 March 2009. 
 
Highway Maintenance Contract 
To meet the costs associated with the tendering exercise for the highway maintenance 
(HESPE) contract. 
 
Local Pay Review 
The amount identified, and set-aside, to fund the costs of implementing the Council’s 
proposals to harmonise and simplify working arrangements as well as meeting the 
requirements arising from the implementation of equal pay legislation. This has been 
separately identified between a provision, which relates to anticipated costs for the 
implementation of phase 1, and a reserve for the implementation of subsequent phases. 
The provision was largely expended during 2008-09. The balance left is for dealing with 
any residual issues. 
 
Self Insurance – Wirral Council 
The Authority self-insures fire damage to its buildings and contents (up to a maximum of 
£1m in any one year).  It also self-insures the first £75,000 of each motor accident (up to 
a maximum of £250,000 in any one year) and the first £250,000 of each legal liability 
claim (up to a maximum of £3.6m for all claims in any one year). 
 
As at 31 March 2009 the Authority held the following provisions and reserves in respect 
of its liability for these self-insured risks. 
  £000 
 Fire 2,000 
 Motor 275 
 Liability 11,620 

Page 494



 

71 

 

36. DEFERRED CREDITS 
 
These are amounts derived from the sale of former Council housing by Wirral 
Partnership Homes and Beechwood and Ballantyne Community Housing Association. 
The Council was due £0.395m at 31 March 2009 (£1.1m at March 2008). The 
remainder represents mortgage repayments on Right to Buy mortgages. 
 

 

37. RESERVES 
 
The Council keeps a number of reserves in the Balance Sheet.  Some are required to 
be held for statutory reasons, some are needed to comply with proper accounting 
practice and others have been set up voluntarily to earmark resources for future 
spending plans. 
 
   Balance Movement Balance  
Reserve:  1.4.2008 In Year 31.3.2009 
   £000 £000 £000 
Revaluation Reserve 138,093 13,956 152,049 
Capital Adjustment Account 169,363 (29,353) 140,010 
Available-For-Sale financial instruments 790 (44) 746 
Financial Instruments Adjustment Account (3,511) (747) (4,258) 
Useable Capital Receipts 10,535 (1,063) 9,472 
Pensions Reserve (333,826) 36,548 (297,278) 
General Fund  11,115 (2,833) 8,282 
Collection Fund  (1,220) 882 (338) 
Other Reserves  66,753 12,342 79,095 
   58,092 29,688 87,780 
 
Revaluation Reserve 
This account was created on 1 April 2007.  It is utilised for the following: 
Revaluation gains – any increase in the value of an asset are credited. 
Impairment – where there is an impairment loss charged to the Income and Expenditure 
Account and there are revaluation gains in the Revaluation Reserve for that asset then 
an amount up to the value of the loss is transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account.   
Disposals – any revaluation gains in the Revaluation Reserve for assets disposed of are 
transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account.   
Depreciation – revaluation gains are depreciated with an amount equal to the difference 
between the current value depreciation and the depreciation that would have been 
charged on their historic cost, being transferred each year from the Revaluation 
Reserve to the Capital Adjustment Account 
    £000 
Balance at 1.4.2008  138,093 
Revaluations gains  23,052  
Impairment losses  (5,784) 
Disposals   (313) 
Depreciation (difference CV and HC depreciation)  (2,999)  
Balance at 31.3.2009  152,049 
 

Page 495



 

72 

Capital Adjustment Account: 
Store of capital resources set aside to meet past expenditure. 
    £000 
Balance at 1.4.2008  169,363 
Capital receipts used to fund capital expenditure  4,000 
Reserves used to fund capital expenditure  1,540 
Minimum Revenue Provision  8,302 
Depreciation and impairment  (39,075) 
Government grants deferred  3,047 
Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital    
Under Statute   (1,492) 
PFI unitary payment abatement  (1,812) 
Asset revaluations  3,000 
Asset disposals   (7,357) 
MRDF debt repayment         494 
Balance at 31.3.2009  140,010 
 
 
Available For Sale Financial Instruments Reserve 
Store of gains on the revaluation of investments not yet realised through sales 
    £000 
Balance at 1.4.2008  790 
Losses on revaluation  (44) 
Balance at 31.3.2009  746 
 
 

Financial Instruments Adjustment Account 
Balancing account to allow for differences in statutory requirements and proper 
accounting practice for borrowings and investments 
    £000 
Balance at 1.4.2008  (3,511) 
Amount that should have been charged to the Income and 
    Expenditure Account without statutory override  (747) 
Balance at 31.3.2009  (4,258) 
 
 

Useable Capital Receipts 
Proceeds of fixed asset sales available to meet future capital investment 
    £000 
Balance at 1.4.2008  10,535 
Receipts from the sale of assets  2,937 
Receipts used to fund capital expenditure  (4,000) 
Balance at 31.3.2009  9,472 
 

Pensions Reserve 
This allows the inclusion of Pensions Liability in the Balance Sheet. See Note 42. 
 

General Fund: 
Resources available to meet future running costs for non-housing services. 
Refer to Statement of Movement on the General Fund Balance. 
 

Page 496



 

73 

Collection Fund: 
The surplus or deficit in respect of the collection of Council Tax, which is then 
distributed amongst the Council and precepting bodies.  Refer to Collection Fund 
statements.  
 
Other Reserves 
  Balance Contri- Write Offs Balance 
  1.4.2008 butions or Applied 31.3.2009 
  £000 £000 £000 £000 
 Housing Benefit  10,815 3,500 (320) 13,995 
 Insurance Fund 14,713 - (2,139) 12,574 
 Schools Balances 11,995 107 (2,752) 9,350 
 Debt Restructuring and Financing 6,238 919 (135) 7,022 
 Working Neighbourhood Fund - 5,524 - 5,524 
 Local Pay Review 3,335 2,155 - 5,490 
 Minimum Revenue Provision 2,000 2,400 - 4,400 
 Capital Schemes 2,301 3,501 (1,591) 4,211 
 Supporting People Programme 2,392 - (253) 2,139 
 PFI Revenue 2,712 421 (1,299) 1,834  
 IT/Intranet 1,683 - - 1,683 
 Connexions Partnership Pension - 1,380 - 1,380
 Former HRA Contingency 1,192 - (44) 1,148 
 Schools Contingency 478 92 - 570 
 Dedicated Schools Grant 272 147 - 419 
 Matching Fund 339 60 (25) 374 
 One Stop Shop IT Network 333 40 - 373 
 Heritage Fund 206 119 - 325 
 Primary Care Trust – Physical Activities - 300 -         300 
 Sports Centre Contingency 300 - - 300 
 Schools Harmonisation - 300 - 300 
 Summer Term Reserve - 279 - 279 
 Home Adaptations 233 - -        233 
 Children’s Care Services Review - 223 - 223 
 Schools Service IT Reserve - 204 - 204 
 Contact Point 200 - - 200 
 Empty Property Strategy 271 - (161) 110 
 Investment Strategy 229 - (30) 199 
 Tourism 328 - (117) 211 
      Equal Pay Arrears (Schools) 363 - (363) - 

Wirral and N Wales Purchasing Org 11 - (11) - 
Other   3,814   1,584    (1673) 3,725 
 66,753 23,255 (10,913) 79,095 

 
The major reserves are maintained for the following purposes:- 
 
Housing Benefit 
There is an ongoing issue relating to the previous Housing Benefit Supporting People 
arrangements, the potential claw-back of subsidy against recent years and sums set-
aside for the further development of the Integrated Benefits and Council Tax IT system 
that was implemented during 2006. 
 

Page 497



 

74 

Insurance Fund  
This is primarily required to cover possible liability insurance claims. The overall 
estimate of the amount required to cover these is based on an actuarial investigation 
which seeks to estimate the ultimate claims arising in respect of each risk period, 
adjusted to allow for any subsequent deterioration in the Council's claims experience. 
The basis for calculating the provision is claims not yet reported but anticipated. 
 
Schools Balances 
These reserves are earmarked for use purely by the schools. The balance consists of: - 
  £000 
 Schools Underspending 10,589 
 Schools Overspending  (1,239) 
   9,350 
 
Debt Restructuring and Financing 
To cover the premiums associated with the early repayment of debt, future interest rate 
increases and costs associated with the termination of leases. 
 
Working Neighbourhoods Fund 
Working Wirral resources to commission activity to deliver the Investment Strategy 
priorities of tackling worklessness, improving skills levels and increasing enterprise, 
business growth and investment. Significant requests for funding were received, 
requiring prioritisation of the applications which was finalised in October 2008. 
 
Local Pay Review 
The amount identified, and set-aside, to fund the costs of implementing proposals to 
harmonise and simplify working arrangements as well as meeting the requirements 
arising from the implementation of equal pay legislation.  
 
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 
The Capital Finance and Accounting Regulations 2008 introduced new methods for 
calculating the MRP. The reserve has been established to offset any resultant increase 
in costs. 
 
Schools Capital Schemes 
The reserve was set aside for the delivery and completion of capital schemes within 
schools. 
 
Supporting People Programme 
Permission has been granted from the Department for Communities and Local 
Government to retain any administration and specific programme grant for use in future 
years. This reserve is to be spent on a number of initiatives to support people in need to 
live in their own homes. 
 
Private Finance Initiative (PFI) Revenue 
A Government Grant supports the PFI Scheme and the Council has agreed that the 
surplus grant received in the early years should be carried forward to offset PFI costs in 
future years. 
 

Page 498



 

75 

IT Reserve 
For the expansion and development of ICT services in the implementation of the 
programme agreed as part of the IT Strategy. 
 
Connexions Partnership Pension 
The Council, along with other Councils on Merseyside has agreed to commission 
Greater Merseyside Connexions Partnership for the delivery of information services to 
young people and provide a financial guarantee for the potential unfunded pension 
liabilities.  The Partnership is an admitted body of the Merseyside, Pension Fund and 
the Wirral share of the guarantee has been assessed as £1.38m (apportioned on 
population across Merseyside). 
 
Former HRA Contingency 
There are a number of outstanding liabilities that may arise in later years relating to the 
former Housing Revenue Account. These include outstanding contract retentions, 
rechargeable jobs and potential insurance claims. The reserve also provides for any 
other unforeseen liabilities relating to the HRA that may arise in the future. 

 
Schools Contingency 
Created to cover formula errors that would have been unknown at the time schools 
budgets were set. Such adjustments may result in an additional budget being allocated 
from this reserve. Also includes £200,000 for meeting 50% of the increased insurance 
costs to schools. 
 
Dedicated Schools Grant 
The additional Dedicated Schools Grant that was received less the 2007-08 overspend 
on the schools budget. This will be included in the 2009-10 formula distribution to 
schools. 
 
Matching Fund 
The aim is to provide funds for any special initiatives that may arise involving grants, 
which will need to be matched by the Authority. 
 
One Stop Shop IT Network 
To develop the Information Technology systems within the One Stop Shops. 
 
Heritage Fund 
To provide funding for individuals, associations and communities to enhance the 
recording, preservation and protection of the urban, maritime and rural heritage of 
Wirral. 
 
Primary Care Trust – Physical Activities 
Funding from the primary care trust for health related schemes that will occur in 2009-
10.  These will take place in Council sports centres and be organised by Sport 
Development. 
 
Sports Centres 
To assist in developing the programme for youth participation in sporting activities. 
 

Page 499



 

76 

Schools Harmonisation  
To fund the potential costs associated with implementing Phase 2 of the local pay 
review which relates to those employees within schools. 
 
Summer Term Reserve 
To cover the cost of advisory teachers in the summer term in the event of schools not 
deciding to purchase services. 
 
Home Adaptations 
To facilitate a programme of minor adaptations to improve standards of living. 
 
Children’s Care Services Review 
To fund costs of the review of Children’s Social Care services as a result of the Baby P 
case. This involves a detailed review of all activity and aims to identify areas where 
improvement is needed to ensure that children in Wirral are fully protected. 
 
Schools Service IT  
To support the service in the event of demands for IT support by schools changing in 
future years. 
 
Contact Point 
The reserve is the carrying forward of part of the Standards Fund grant from 2007-08 to 
fund the future Contact Point programme. 
 
Empty Property Strategy 
To partly fund the pilot scheme to redevelop empty properties and convert into habitable 
accommodation. 
 
Investment Strategy  
To fund initial consultancy studies required as part of the overall Investment Strategy. 
 
Tourism 
To support the project funded from European grants ‘Marketing Wirral for Tourism’. 
 
Wirral and North Wales Purchasing Organisation 
The purchasing consortium has been dissolved and the Council's share of the final 
settlement of all outstanding liabilities was paid in 2007-08. 

Page 500



 

77 

38. BALANCES                                                              
 
An analysis of the consolidated balances is provided below:  
    2007-08 2008-09 
    £000 £000 
 General Fund  11,115 8,282 
 Collection Fund - Wirral Council    (1,220)    (338) 
    9,895 7,944 
 
39. INSURANCE FUND 
 
 2007-08    2008-09 
 £000    £000 £000 
 18,283 Opening Balance   19,309 
 5,284 Add: Premium received - current 5,327 
     310  Investment Income     174  
      5,501
 3,168 Less:  Claims paid  1,407  
 1,400               Transfer to Revenue  5,081 
       6,488 
 19,309 Closing Balance   18,322 
 
The closing balance consists of: - 
 
 2007-08   2008-09 
 £000   £000 
 4,596 Provisions 5,748 
 14,713 Reserves 12,574 
 19,309   18,322 
       790 Available for sale reserve      746 
 20,099 Total Equity 19,068 
 
The Insurance Fund has been partially externally invested. At 31 March 2009 the 
market value of the investments was £1,565,617 this being £746,386 more than cost.  
No provision has been made for any consequent loss on these investments. 
 
The purpose of the Insurance Fund is to assist the Council in its aim of achieving the 
widest protection at the lowest possible cost. 
 
The Fund is used to cover those levels of losses that the Council can expect to 
experience in any financial year.  It is also used to provide protection against risks that 
the Insurance market is unwilling or unable to underwrite. 
 
The Insurance Fund investment portfolio, consisting of gilts and equity shares, is 
classed as available for sale financial asset.  Consequently, they need to be carried at 
fair value.  The available for sale reserve represents the difference between this 
valuation and original book value. 

Page 501



 

78 

40. COLLECTION FUND 
 

The balance is that in respect of Council Tax and is shared in proportion to the precepts 
on the Collection Fund.  The deficit will increase the Council Tax required to finance 
expenditure. In the Balance Sheet Police and Fire are classed as debtors. 
 Payable from  £000 
 Wirral Council  337 
 

41. TRUST FUNDS 
 
The Council acts as trustee for a number of trust funds.  These do not represent assets 
of the Council and have not been included in the Balance Sheet.  The trusts and their 
purposes are summarised below. 
 
  Balance Income Outlay Balance 
  1.4.08   31.3.09 
  £ £ £ £ 
 Children and Young People   
 EF Callister to promote  
      youth development 372,822 - - 372,822 
 Stitt Scholarship for   
      educational achievement 35,710 658 70 36,298 
 RJ Russell Prize for   
      educational achievement 83,745 1,543 - 85,288 
 Criminal injuries transferred  
      from Social Services 55,400 7,399 20,800 41,999 
 Other funds   88,216  5,607  3,603   90,220 
  635,893 15,207 24,473 626,627 
 
The fund assets are as follows:- 
  Balance   Balance 
  1.4.08   31.3.09 
  £   £ 
 Property 372,822   372,822 
 Investments:-   
      CLIA 248,360   238,110 
      Equities 6,922   6,922 
 Cash     7,789       8,773 
  635,893   626,627 
 
 
42. PENSIONS 
 
As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its employees, the Authority offers 
retirement benefits.  Although benefits are not actually payable until employees retire, 
the Authority has a commitment to disclose the payments that need to be made at the 
time that employees earn their future entitlement. 
 

Page 502



 

79 

The Authority participates in two pension schemes: 
 
Teachers: 
Teachers employed by the Authority are members of the Teachers’ Pensions Scheme, 
administered by the Department for Children, Schools and Families.  It provides 
teachers with defined benefits upon their retirement, and the Authority contributes 
towards the cost by making contributions based on a percentage of members’ 
pensionable salaries. 
 
In 2008-09 the Council paid £13.1m to the Teachers Pensions Agency in respect of 
teachers’ pension costs, based on a contribution rate of 14.1%.  The figures for 2007-08 
were £14.9m and 14.1%. 
 
The scheme is a defined benefit scheme.  Although the scheme is unfunded, Teachers 
Pensions use a notional fund as the basis for calculating the employer’s contribution 
rate paid by local education authorities.  However, it is not possible for the Authority to 
identify a share of the underlying liabilities in the scheme attributable to its own 
employees.  For the purposes of this Statement of Accounts, it is therefore accounted 
for on the same basis as a defined contribution scheme. 
 
Additionally, the Council is responsible for all pension payments relating to added years 
it has awarded, together with the related increases.  In 2008-09 these amounted to 
£0.1m representing 0.1% of pensionable pay. 
 
Other employees: 
For other employees the Council operates a funded defined benefit scheme, meaning 
that the Authority and employees pay contributions into a fund, calculated at a level 
intended to balance the pension liabilities with investment assets. 
 
In 2008-09 the Council paid an employers contribution of £26.6m into the Pensions 
Fund representing a contribution rate of 16.9% of pensionable pay. 
 
The latest actuarial report (31 March 2007) has indicated that the liabilities of Fund 
exceed the assets at that date by £1,063m, giving a funding level of 80%.  The 
recommended employer contribution rate for 2009-10 is 17.3%. This is calculated to 
correct any imbalance between the assets of the Fund and the funding target. 
 
Additionally, the Council is responsible for all pension payments relating to added years’ 
benefits it has awarded together with the related increases.  In 2008-09 these amounted 
to £4.0m representing 2.4% of pensionable pay. 
 
Under the 2008 SORP the Council has adopted the amendment to FRS17, retirement 
benefits.  As a result, quoted securities held as assets in the defined benefit scheme are 
now valued at bid price rather than mid-market value.  The effect of this change is that 
the value of scheme assets at 31 March 2008 has been restated from £575m to £583m, 
resulting in a reduction in the pension deficit of £8m (31 March 2007 an increase of 
£1m).  Current and prior year surpluses have been unaffected by this change. 
 

Page 503



 

80 

Transactions relating to retirement benefits 
The cost of retirement benefits in the Net Cost of Services is recognised when they are 
earned by employees, rather than when the benefits are eventually paid as pensions.  
However, the charge that is required to be made against Council Tax is based on the 
cash payable each year, so that the real cost of retirement benefits is reversed out in 
the Statement of Movement in the General Fund Balance.  The following transactions 
have been made in the Income and Expenditure Account and the Statement of 
Movement in the General Fund Balance during the year: 
 
Income and Expenditure Account 
 Local Government 

Scheme 
Teachers Pension 

Scheme 
 2007-08 2008-09 2007-08 2008-09 
Net Cost of Services: £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Current Service cost 21,037 24,547 0 0 
Past Service costs 6,995 78 0 0 
Curtailment costs 820 591 164 508 
Net operating Expenditure:     
Interest cost 41,590 53,872 1,705 2,120 
Expected return (37,792) (38,495)   

 32,650 40,593 1,869 2,628 
Statement of Movement in the 
General Fund Balance: 

    

Reversal of net charges made for 
retirement benefits in accordance 
with FRS17 

(32,650) (40,593) (1,869) (2,628) 

Amount charged against the 
General Fund Balance : 

    

Employers contributions payable to 
scheme 

24,495 26,624 2,928 3,005 

 
In addition to the gains and losses included in the Income and Expenditure Account, 
actuarial gains of £50,140,000 (£103,127,000 restated loss in 2007-08) were included in 
the Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses.   
 

Page 504



 

81 

Assets and Liabilities in relation to retirement benefits 
Reconciliation of present value of the scheme liabilities: 

 Funded Liabilities - Local 
Government Scheme 

Unfunded Liabilities - 
Teachers Pension Scheme 

 2007-08 2008-09 2007-08 2008-09 
 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000  
Liabilities at 1 April (769,216) (880,347) (33,043) (36,254) 
Current Service cost (21,037) (24,547) 0 0 
Interest cost (41,590) (53,872) (1,705) (2,120) 
Actuarial gains and 
(losses) 

(59,792) 188,784 (4,270) 4,855 

Past service costs (6,995) (78) 0 0 
Contributions by 
scheme participants 

(7,907) (9,003) 0 0 

Curtailments (820) (591) (164) (508) 
Benefits paid 27,010 27,942 2,928 3,005 

Liabilities at 31 
March 

(880,347) (751,712) (36,254) (31,022) 

 
Basis for estimating Assets and Liabilities 
Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method, an 
estimate of the pensions that will be payable in future years dependent on assumptions 
about mortality rates, salary levels, etc.  The Merseyside Pension Fund liabilities have 
been assessed by William M. Mercer, an independent firm of actuaries, estimates for 
the Fund being based on the latest full valuation of the scheme as at 31 March 2007.   
The principal assumptions used by the actuary have been: 
 

Local Government Pension Scheme 
 2007-08 2008-09 
Long-term expected rate of return on assets in the 
scheme: 

  

Equity Investments 7.5% 7.5% 
Government Bonds 4.6% 4.0% 
Other Bonds 6.1% 6.0% 
Property 6.5% 6.5% 
Cash/Current assets 5.25% 0.5% 
Other 7.5% 7.5% 

Mortality assumptions:   
Longevity at 65 for future pensioners:   

Men 20 20 
Women 23 23 

Longevity at 65 for future pensioners:   
Men 21 21 
Women 24 24 

Rate of inflation 3.60% 3.3% 
Rate of increase in salaries 4.85% 4.55% 
Rate of increase in pensions 3.60% 3.3% 
Rate for discounting scheme liabilities 6.10% 7.1% 
Demographic assumptions   
One half of members take the maximum lump sum 
commutation, others take 3/80ths. 

  

Page 505



 

82 

The Local Government Pension Schemes assets consist of the following categories, by 
proportion of the total assets held: 
 31 March 2008 31 March 2009 
 % % 

Equity Investments 57.5 53.6 
Government Bonds 16.1 17.7 
Other Bonds 5.9 4.8 
Property 8.7 9.3 
Cash/Current assets 4.5 4.2 
Other 7 3 10.4 
 100.0 100.0 

 
Reconciliation of fair value of the scheme assets: 
 2008-09 
 £’000 

Assets at 1 April 582,775 
Expected rate of return 38,495 
Actuarial gains and losses (143,499) 
Employer contributions 26,624 
Contributions by scheme participants 9,003 
Benefits paid (27,942) 
At 31 March 485,456 

 
The actual return on scheme assets is determined by considering the expected returns 
available on the assets underlying the current investment policy.  Expected yields on 
fixed interest investments are based on gross redemption yields as at the Balance 
Sheet date.  Expected returns on equity investments reflect long-term real rates of 
return experienced in the respective markets. 
 
The actual return on scheme assets in the year was a loss of £105,004,000 (2007-08 
loss of £8,722,000). 
 
Scheme history 
 

 Estimated 
Liabilities 

Estimated 
Assets 

Net Liability 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Local Government Scheme    

31/3/07 (769,216) 578,731 (190,485) 

31/3/08 (880,347) 582,775 (297,572) 

31/3/09 (751,712) 485,456 (266,256) 

Teachers Pension Scheme    

31/3/07 (33,043) 0 (33,043) 

31/3/08 (36,254) 0 (36,254) 

31/3/09 (31,022) 0 (31,022) 

Totals    

31/3/07 (802,259) 578,731 (223,528) 

31/3/08 (916,601) 582,775 (333,826)  

31/3/09 (782,734) 485,456 (297,278) 

 

Page 506



 

83 

The liabilities show the underlying commitments that the Authority has in the long run to 
pay retirement benefits. The total liability of £297.3m has a substantial impact on the net 
worth of the Authority as recorded in the Balance Sheet, resulting in an overall balance 
of £87.8m. 
 
Statutory arrangements for funding the deficit mean that the financial position of the 
Authority remains healthy as the deficit on the Local Government scheme will be made 
good by increased contributions over the remaining working life of employees, as 
assessed by the scheme actuary. 
 
43. THE EURO – Economic Monetary Union 
 
At 31 March 2009 the Authority has not entered into any financial commitments that are 
attributable to the Euro.  The Authority will produce a changeover plan once the 
requirements and formats have been agreed nationally.  Funding is from the Information 
Strategy reserve although any precise requirement has yet to be determined. 
 
44. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 
 
The Statement of Accounts was authorised for issue by the Director of Finance on 26 
June 2009. Accordingly, this represents the date up to which events after the Balance 
Sheet date have been considered. 
 
45. CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
 
Greater Merseyside Connexions Partnership 
The Council along with other Councils on Merseyside have agreed to commission the 
Partnership for the delivery of information services to young people in the period 2008-
2011. The Council have agreed to provide a financial guarantee for the potential 
unfunded liabilities of the Pension Fund. The Partnership is an admitted body of the 
Merseyside Pension Fund and Wirral’s share of the guarantee has been assessed as 
£1.38m (apportioned on population across Merseyside). 
 
Wirral Partnership Homes 
On the transfer of the Council housing stock in 2005 an environmental warranty was 
agreed with Wirral Partnership Homes (WPH). This warranty requires remediation of 
any environmental contamination.  It has been agreed that the funding of such costs will 
be from the Community Fund that is administered by WPH and the Council. 
The Community Fund is administered by WPH but all expenditure must be agreed by 
both WPH and the Council. The utilisation of the Fund by each organisation must be in 
accord with the agreed purposes of improving the economic, environmental and social 
wellbeing of Wirral's residents and compliance with the charitable objectives of WPH. 
 
Pay Review 
As a consequence of the National Joint Council (NJC) for Local Government Services 
pay award the Council is implementing a Local Pay Review which is being backdated to 
1 April 2007.The review is addressing any equality issue in relation to equal pay for 
work of equal value and whilst substantially complete the final cost is not yet known. 
The accounts include sums set aside as a contribution towards these additional costs.  
 

Page 507



 

84 

The Council also undertook a negotiated settlement of its equal pay obligations. With 
the payment of back pay for certain employees relating to past years service made a 
small number of cases remain to be settled and to date the Council has received a 
small number of claims. There is the likelihood of further potential liabilities or amounts 
that may be required to settle obligations. 
 
Development and Investment 
A potential liability exists if the New Brighton Neptune development does not proceed as 
planned as a consequence of funders withdrawing their financial support. There would a 
financial consequence to the Council if Phase 1 is not completed and Phase 2 not 
proceeded. This would be funded from the Council’s own resources. 
The Newheartlands (Housing Market Renewal Initiative) involves a substantial 
programme of clearance and redevelopment in Birkenhead and Wallasey. A potential 
liability exists if the developments do not proceed given the current economic situation. 
 

46. RECONCILIATION OF SURPLUS/DEFICIT ON THE INCOME AND 
EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT TO NET CASH FLOW   

 £000 £000 
(Surplus) / Deficit on Income and Expenditure (I and E) 
Account  41,283 

   

Adjusted for non cash items in I and E Account:   

Depreciation and Impairment (39,075)  

Government Grants Deferred amortisation 3,047  

Movement in provision for bad debt (2,589)  

Non cash items relating to the disposal of fixed assets (6,900)  

Increase in provision charged to service (3,293)  

Provisions applied / written back 6,313  

Deferred debt redemption premium (105)  

Charges for retirement benefits accordance with FRS17 (43,221)  

Other non-cash movement           3  

  (85,820) 

Other Adjustments   

Actual amount paid to Pension Fund  29,628  

Collection fund net movement - Billing Authorities only (883)  

  28,745 

Movement in working capital :   

Increase / (decrease) in long and short term debtors 4,047  

(Increase) / decrease in long and short term creditors 2,126  

Increase / (decrease) in stock / WIP (124)  

  6,049 

Adjust for items which appear elsewhere in the statement   

Servicing of Finance (11,305)  

Returns on investment 4,973  

Deferred Charges / REFCUS (18,828)  

Capital Grant funding of deferred charges / REFCUS   16,539  

  (8,621) 

   

Net Cash Flow From Revenue Activities  (18,364) 

Page 508



 

85 

 
47. RECONCILIATION OF THE MOVEMENT IN CASH TO MOVEMENT IN NET DEBT 
 

 
Balance 
1 April 
2008 

Cash 
Flow 

Non-
cash 
flow 

Balance 
31 March 

2009 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Cash in hand 5,660 (300)  5,360 
Short term borrowing (3,345) (8,455) (14,173) (25,973) 
Long term borrowing (283,872) 0 13,650 (270,222) 
Short term investments 77,186 (2,854) 0 74,332 

 (204,371) (11,609) (523) (216,503) 
 
The Accounting Standard FRS1 defines net borrowing as borrowing less liquid 
resources.  This definition excludes debtors and creditors because, while these are 
short-term claims on and sources of finance to the Council, their main role is as part of 
the Council’s operating activities. 
 
48. LIQUID RESOURCES 
 
These are current asset investments, which are of a short-term nature and can be 
disposed of at reasonably short notice without curtailing or disrupting the Council’s 
activities.  The investments are readily convertible into known amounts of cash at or 
close to its carrying amount, or traded in an active market.  The amounts shown within 
the financing and management of liquid resources section of the cash flow statement is 
the difference between the opening and closing balances for short investments. 
 
49. ANALYSIS OF GRANTS 
 

Capital Grants 
2008-09 
£,000 

Housing Market Renewal 13,047 
Standards Fund 10,630 
Regeneration 9,632 
Floral Pavilion 7,674 
Infrastructure 3,768 
HMRI 3,115 
Extra Care Grant 1,565 
Disabled Facilities Grant 1,073 
Local Public Service Agreement 257 
Birkenhead Park 185 
Mental Health Single Capital Pot 174 
Social Care Single Capital Pot 164 
IT Management Information Grant 119 
Other 201 
Total 51,604 

 

Page 509



 

86 

 

Revenue Grants 
2008-09 
£,000 

Dedicated Schools Grant 183,718 
Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit Subsidy 131,506 
Area Based Grant 29,107 
Standards Fund 21,641 
6th Form 18,793 
Revenue Support Grant 18,015 
Schools Standards Grant 10,516 
Supporting People 10,341 
Sure Start, Early Years, Child Care 9,049 
Private Finance Initiative 5,471 
HMRI 2,290 
Local Authority Business Growth Incentive 1,725 
Adult and Community Learning 1,021 
Youth Offending 935 
Social Care Reform 651 
Youth Opportunity Fund 317 
Drug Action Teams 274 
Family Intervention Project 210 
Contact Point 164 
Communities for Health 120 
Adult Stroke Services 105 
Other 146 
Total 446,115 

 
 
 
50. RECONCILIATION OF FINANCING AND MANAGEMENT OF LIQUID 
RESOURCES  
 

 

Short term 
Investments 

Long term 
borrowing 

Short 
term 

borrowing 
 £000 £000 £000 
Balance at 1 April 
2008 77,186 (283,872) (3,345) 
    
Cash flow items:    
Loans raised  0 (21,800) 
Loans repaid  0 13,345 
Investments made / 
(repaid) (2,854) 0 0 
Non cash item  13,650 (14,173) 
Restatement (1,989) 0 0 

Balance at 31 March 
2009 72,343 (270,222) (25,973) 
    

 

Page 510



 

87 

51. NON CASH TRANSACTIONS/FURTHER ANALYSIS TO HELP 
INTERPRETATION 
 
With reference to Notes 46 to 50 the non cash transaction relates to a combination of:- 

• The adjustment required to reclassify any long term loans due to be repaid during 
the next financial year as short term debt. 

• The reclassification of deferred revenue expenditure which from 2007-08 has 
been in long term borrowing. 

Page 511



 

88 

ADDITIONAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
COLLECTION FUND 
 
INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT 
 
 2007-08  2008-09 
 £000  £000 £000 
  Income 
 113,437 Council Tax (Note 2) 118,186 

  Transfers from General Fund:- 
 25,308    Council Tax Benefits 26,482 
 69    Pensioner Discounts  158 
  Income Collectable from  
 55,552    Business Rate Payers (Note 3) 62,299 
  Contribution from Preceptors to previous 
            -    years estimated deficit (note 5)     591 
 194,366   207,716 
 
  Expenditure  
 138,654 Precepts from District, Police and Fire (Note 4) 143,392 
  Business Rate   
 55,201   - Payment to National Pool 61,943  
 351   - Costs of Collection 356  
  Bad and Doubtful Debts   
 488   - Provisions 998  
  Contribution to Preceptors from previous 
       500    years estimated surplus           -  

 195,194   206,689 
           _              _ 
     (828) Movement on Collection Fund Balance  1,027 
 
 
COLLECTION FUND BALANCE 
 
 2007-08  2008-09 
 £000     £000 
 
 (591) Fund Balance b/f 1 April  (1,419) 
      (828) Movement in year    1,027 
  (1,419) Fund Balance c/f 31 March     (392) 

Page 512



 

89 

NOTES TO THE ADDITIONAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
COLLECTION FUND 
 
1. GENERAL 
 
These accounts represent the statutory requirement to establish and maintain a 
separate fund for the collection and distribution of amounts in respect of Council Tax 
and National Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR). 
 
2. INCOME FROM COUNCIL TAX  
 
The Authority set a Council Tax in 2008-09 for each band of dwelling as shown below: 
 
Band £ Band £  Band £  Band £ 
A 919.10 C 1,225.47 E 1,685.02 G 2,297.75 
B 1,072.28 D 1,378.65 F 1,991.38 H 2,757.30 
        
The Council Tax was set estimating the number of properties in each band, after 
allowing for discounts and a 1.5% provision for non-collection.  The tax in each band is 
set in relation to Band D.  The maximum is Band H which is twice Band D.  The 
minimum is Band A which is 2/3 of Band D. 
 
The properties making up the estimated tax base are shown below.  A number of 
adjustments are made to reflect the estimated reductions, reliefs and exemptions that 
apply to properties in each band.  This gives the number of effective properties in each 
band, which is converted into the band D equivalent using the ratios given:  
 
Band No. of Less Effective Band Band D  
 Properties Discounts Properties Ratio Equivalent 
      
A 58,422 11,242.50 47,179.50 6/9 31,453.00 
B 30,383 3,819.00 26,564.00 7/9 20,660.90 
C 27,005 2,728.50 24,276.50 8/9 21,579.10 
D 12,912 1,138.75 11,773.25 1 11,773.30 
E 8,043 641.25 7,401.75 11/9 9,046.60 
F 4,295 315.50 3,979.50 13/9 5,748.20 
G 3,111 208.50 2,902.50 15/9 4,837.50 
H        259        42.00        217.00 18/9        434.00 
 144,430 20,136.00 124,294.00  105,532.60 
Add Government Dwellings    4.00 
Add Band A Disabled Relief Band D Equivalent            56.50 
Total     105,593.10 
 
After a 1.5% provision for uncollectables, the overall tax base for the Authority totalled 
104,009. 

Page 513



 

90 

 
The amounts credited to the Collection Fund for Council Tax are as follows: - 
 
  2007-08 2008-09 
  £000 £000 
Cash Payable  113,437 118,186 
Council Tax Benefit 25,308 26,482 
Pensioner Discounts                    69                        158 
  138,814 144,826 
 
3. INCOME FROM BUSINESS RATE PAYERS  
 
The Authority collects Non-Domestic rates for its area.  This is based on local estimated 
rateable values. The estimated rateable value is split between general and small 
business. For 2008-09, the total rateable value was £157,196,951. Of this, 
£144,195,566 related to general business, charged at £0.462. Total small business was 
£13,001,385, charged at £0.458. This gave an opening charge of £72.6m. 
 
The total amount less certain relief and costs of collection is paid to a central pool 
managed by the Central Government with the amount paid over being £61.9m. The pool 
pays back to authorities an amount based on a standard amount per head of the local 
adult population and this is paid into the Authority’s General Fund.  The total rateable 
value of all hereditaments within the Authority area at 31 March 2009 was 
£155,877,636. 
 
4. PRECEPTS  
 
The Collection Fund paid the following precepts during the year: - 
   
   2007-08 2008-09 
   £000 £000 
Wirral Council   119,338 123,217 
Merseyside Fire and Civil Defence Authority 6,020 6,247 
Merseyside Police Authority    13,296   13,928 
   138,654 143,392 
 
5. CONTRIBUTION FROM/TO COLLECTION FUND  
 
A year-end surplus/deficit on the Council Tax element of the Collection Fund is only 
distributed/recovered between the billing and precepting authorities where an estimated 
surplus/deficit has already been notified to those authorities.  For 2007-08 the surplus 
notified to the precepting authorities in respect of 2007-08 and distributed in 2008-09 
was: -  
 
   2008-09 
   £ 
Wirral Council   508,670 
Merseyside Fire and Civil Defence Authority 25,650 
Merseyside Police Authority     56,680 
   591,000 
 

Page 514



 

91 

 
6. BALANCES   
 
The balance is in respect of Council Tax and is shared in proportion to the precepts on 
the Collection Fund.  The deficit allocated on the basis of the 2009-10 precept votes is 
as below. In the Balance Sheet Police and Fire are classed as debtors. 
 
Payable from:  
   £000 
Wirral Council   337 
Merseyside Police Authority  17 
Merseyside Fire and Civil Defence Authority    38 
   392 
 

Page 515



 

92 

MERSEYSIDE PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS 
 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
FUND ACCOUNT 
 
For the year ended 31 March 2009 Note  2008  2009 
    £000  £000 
Contributions and Benefits:    
Contributions receivable  3 216,773 246,019 
Transfers in    21,168   18,436 
  237,941 264,455 
    

Benefits payable  4 195,130 211,346 
Leavers  5 13,764 15,121 
Administration expenses      3,348     3,860 
  212,242 230,327 
    
Net additions from dealings with members  25,699 34,128 
    

Return on Investments:  
Investment Income  6 71,505 71,070 
Change in market value of investments  7 (137,458) (828,749) 
Exchange  (430) (2,922) 
Investment management expenses 8    (4,961)    (4,640) 
Net return on Investments  (71,344) (765,241) 
 
Net increase/(decrease) in the Fund during the year  (45,645) (731,113) 
Net Assets of the Fund start of the year   4,300,977 4,255,332 
Net Assets of the Fund end of the year   4,255,332 3,524,219 
 

 

NET ASSETS STATEMENT AS AT 31 MARCH  Note 2008 2009 
  £000 £000 
Investments 7 
Fixed Interest Securities   - - 
Index - linked Securities  - - 
Other Investments  216,073 265,480 
Equities  1,124,734 1,249,811 
Managed or Unitised Funds  2,434,630 1,669,189 
Derivative Contracts  - 997 
Properties  295,350 199,535 
Short Term deposits     100,778     73,597 
  4,171,565 3,458,609 
Other Assets and Liabilities  9      83,767      65,610 
Net Assets of the Fund at 31 March  4,255,332 3,524,219 

Page 516



 

93 

NOTES TO THE PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS 
 
1. GENERAL 
 
Although the Scheme is exempt from the requirements of the Occupational Pension 
Schemes (Requirement to obtain Audited Accounts and a Statement from the Auditor) 
Regulations 1996, the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
these regulations and with the guidelines set out in the Statement of Recommended 
Practice, Financial Reports of Pension Schemes (the SORP) May 2007. 
 
The financial statements record the transactions of the Scheme during the year and 
summarise the net assets at the disposal of the Managers at the end of the financial 
year. They do not take account of obligations to pay pensions and benefits which fall 
due after the end of Scheme year. The actuarial position of the Scheme, which does 
take account of such obligations, is dealt with in the statement by the Actuary and these 
financial statements should be read in conjunction with it. 
 

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Basis of Preparation 
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with applicable UK accounting 
standards and with the guidelines set out in the Statement of Recommended Practice, 
Financial Reports of Pension Schemes. 
 
Valuation of Investments 
Investments are stated at market value. For this purpose unlisted investments are 
included at manager's valuation and properties at professional valuation. For listed 
securities the stock exchange values are used. The values as at March 2009 are shown 
at bid price, i.e. the price which the Fund would have obtained should the securities 
have been sold at 31 March 2009. The equivalent values as at 31 March 2008 are still 
as stated in the 2007-08 accounts, at mid price. No retrospective reduction has been 
made as the estimated average adjustment of 0.25% is not deemed material. Properties 
have been valued independently by Colliers Erdman Lewis, Chartered Surveyors as at 
31 March 2009. 
 
Translation of Foreign Currencies 
Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at rates ruling at 
the year end. Foreign income received during the year is translated at the rate ruling at 
the date of receipt. All resulting exchange adjustments are included in the revenue 
account. 
 
Investment Income 
Interest on fixed interest stocks and on short term deposits has been accounted for on 
an accruals basis. Income from equities is accounted for when the related investment is 
quoted "ex-dividend". 
 
Rental Income 
Rental income from properties is taken into account by reference to the periods to which 
the rents relate and is shown net of related expenses. The Fund accrues rent up to 24 
March each year. Rent received on the Quarter Day, 25 March, is accounted for in full in 
the following year. 

Page 517



 

94 

 
Contributions and Benefits 
Contributions are accounted for on an accruals basis. Benefits payable represent the 
benefits paid during the financial year and include an estimated accrual for lump-sum 
benefits outstanding as at the year end. 
 
Transfers to other schemes 
Transfer payments relate to those early leavers whose transfers have been paid during 
the year plus an accrual for future payments in respect of members moving their service 
to other schemes under bulk transfer arrangements. 
 
Investment Management Expenses 
In accordance with the SORP, costs in respect of the internal investment team are 
classified as investment management expenses rather than as administrative expenses. 
 
3. CONTRIBUTIONS RECEIVABLE  
 2008 2009 
 £000 £000 
Employers 
    Normal 152,576 162,577 
    Augmentation 368 134 
    Deficit Funding 12,095 23,671 
Employees 
    Normal  51,734  59,637 
 216,773 246,019 
Relating to:   
Administering Authority 32,018 36,524 
Statutory Bodies 158,507 168,001 
Admission Bodies   26,248   41,494 
 216,773 246,019 
 
There are three elements to deficit funding. A one-off payment of £8m was received on 
the admission of a transferee employer. Early retirement costs are recovered from 
employers over periods of up to 5 years. Finally, employers re-imburse the Fund 
recovers on a monthly basis in respect of the enhanced elements of the monthly 
pensioners' payroll. 
 
4. BENEFITS PAYABLE 
 2008 2009 
 £000 £000 
Pensions 164,286 173,545 
Lump sum retiring allowances 28,885 34,257 
Lump sum death benefits    1,959    3,544 
 195,130 211,346 
Relating to:   
Administering Authority 28,008 29,784 
Statutory Bodies 145,569  155,643 
Admission Bodies   21,553  25,919 
 195,130 211,346 
 

Page 518



 

95 

 
5. PAYMENTS TO AND ON ACCOUNT OF LEAVERS 
 2008 2009 
 £000 £000 
Refunds to members leaving service 39 21 
Payment for members joining state scheme (9) (4) 
Individual transfers to other schemes 13,734 15,104 
 13,764 15,121 
 

6. INVESTMENT INCOME 
 2008 2009 
 £000 £000 
Fixed interest securities 515 - 
Dividends from equities, managed and unitised funds 44,789 50,297 
Net rents from properties 18,337 16,419 
Interest on deposits 7,432 3,785 
Other     432     569 
 71,505 71,070 
 
As at 31 March 2009, £61.6m of stock was on loan to market makers, which was 
covered by non-cash collateral totalling £65m, giving a margin of 5.5%. Income from 
stock lending is included within "Other" Investment Income. 
 
The figure of "Dividends from Equities, managed and unitised funds" includes 
recoverable taxation of £0.65m, (2007-08 £0.74m) plus income from profits from 
associate and joint ventures of £7.41m (2007-08 £7.903m). Irrecoverable taxation 
amounted to £2.65m (2007-08 £16.5m). The Fund is seeking to recover tax witheld by 
UK and overseas tax regimes under the EU principle of free movement of capital within 
its borders, but is not providing for receipt of any such income within these accounts. 
 
7. INVESTMENTS 
 
 Market Purchases Sale Change in Market 
 Value at cost Proceeds Market* Value
 31.3.2008 derivate derivative value 31.3.2009 
  payments receipts   
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Equities 1,124,734 922,688 470,417 (327,194) 1,249,811 
Managed and  2,434,630 329,767 730,340 (364,868) 1,669,189 
   Unitised Funds  
Other  216,073 155,833 65,821 (40,605) 265,480 
Derivative 
   Contracts - - - 997 997 
Properties 295,350 - - (95,815) 199,535 
Short term  
   deposits    100,778               -      25,917     (1,264)      73,597 
 4,171,565 1,408,288 1,292,495 (828,749) 3,458,609 
 
* Note: The change in market value of investments during the year comprises all 
realised and unrealised appreciation and depreciation. The high volume of sales and 
purchases reflects changes of external managers during the year. 

Page 519



 

96 

Disclosure Note Icelandic Deposits 
 
Early in October 2008, the Icelandic banks Landsbanki, Kaupthing and Glitnir collapsed 
and the UK subsidiaries of the banks, Heritable and Kaupthing Singer and Friedlander 
went into administration.  The Fund had £7.5m deposited across two of these 
institutions, with varying maturity dates and interest rates as follows: 
 
Bank Glitnir Heritable 

Date Invested 15.1.2007 23.7.2008 

Maturity Date 15.10.2008 10.12.2008 

Amount Invested (£000) 5,000 2,500 

Interest Rate 6.30% 5.94% 

Carrying Amount (£000) 4,990 1,808 

Impairment (£000) 469 794 

 
All monies within these institutions are currently subject to the respective administration 
and receivership processes.  The amounts and timing of payments to depositors such 
as the Fund will be determined by the administrators/receivers. 
 
Glitnir Bank 
 
Glitnir Bank HF is an Icelandic entity. Following steps taken by the Icelandic 
Government in early October 2008 its domestic assets and liabilities were transferred to 
a new bank (new Glitnir) with the management of the affairs of Old Glitnir being placed 
in the hands of a resolution committee. Old Glitnir’s affairs are being administered under 
Icelandic law.  Old Glitnir’s latest public presentation of its affairs was made to creditors 
on 6 February 2009 and can be viewed on its website. This indicates that full recovery 
of the principal and interest to 15 October 2008 is likely to be achieved. Recovery is 
subject to the following uncertainties and risks: 
 

• Confirmation that deposits enjoy preferential creditor status which is likely to have to 
be tested through the Icelandic Courts. 

 

• The impact of exchange rate fluctuations on the value of assets recovered by the 
resolution committee and on the settlement of the Fund’s claim, which may be 
denominated wholly or partly in currencies other than sterling. 

 

• Settlement of the terms of a ‘bond’ which will allow creditors of Old Glitnir to enjoy 
rights in New Glitnir. 

 
The Fund has therefore decided to recognise an impairment based on it recovering the 
full amount of principal and interest up to 15 October 2008 in the future.  The 
impairment therefore reflects the loss of interest to the Fund until the funds are repaid. 
 
Failure to secure preferential creditor status would have a significant impact upon the 
amount of the deposit that is recoverable.  The total assets of the bank only equate to 
40% of its liabilities, assuming that the Bond remains at its current estimated value.  
Therefore, if preferential creditor status is not achieved the recoverable amount may 
only be 40p in the £. 

Page 520



 

97 

 
No information has been provided by the resolution committee about the timing of any 
payments to depositors. Since the value of deposits is small compared to the total asset 
value of the bank, in calculating the impairment the Fund has therefore made an 
assumption that the repayment of priority deposits will be made by 31 March 2010. 
 
Recoveries are expressed as a percentage of the Fund’s claim in the administration, 
which it is expected may validly include interest accrued up to 15 October 2008. 
 
Heritable Bank 
 
Heritable Bank is a UK registered bank under English law. The company was placed in 
administration on 7 October 2008. The creditor progress report issued by the 
administrators Ernst and Young, dated 17 April 2009, outlined that the return to 
creditors was projected to be 80p in the £ by the end 2012 with the first dividend 
payment of 15p in the £ due in the summer of 2009.  The Fund has therefore decided to 
recognise an impairment based on it recovering 80p in the £.  It is anticipated that there 
will be some front loading of these payments and a final sale of assets will take  place 
after the books have been run down to the end of 2012.  Therefore calculating the 
impairment the Fund has been made the following assumptions re timing and 
recoveries: 
 
July 2009 – 15% 
July 2010 – 30% 
July 2011 – 15% 
July 2012 – 10% 
July 2013 – 10% 
 
Recoveries are expressed as a percentage of the Fund’s claim in the administration, 
which includes interest accrued up to 6 October 2008. 
 
Overall Impact 
 
The impairment loss recognised in the Fund Account in 2008-09, £1,263,670 has been 
calculated by discounting the assumed cash flows at the effective interest rate of the 
original deposit in order to recognise the anticipated loss of interest to the Fund until 
monies are recovered. 
 
Adjustments to the assumptions will be made in future accounts as more information 
becomes available. 
 
Disclosure note re Transactions Costs 
 
Transaction costs include fees and commissions paid to agents, advisers, brokers and 
dealers, levies by regulatory agencies and securities exchanges, and transfer taxes and 
duties. They have been added to purchases, and netted against sales proceeds as 
appropriate. Transaction costs during the year amounted to £1,213,660. In addition to 
these costs, indirect costs are incurred through the bid-offer spread on investments in 
pooled vehicles. The amount of indirect costs is not provided directly to the Fund. 
 

Page 521



 

98 

 
 2008 2009 
 £000 £000 
Equities (segregated holdings) 
UK Quoted 424,028 546,817 
Overseas Quoted    700,706    702,994 
 1,124,734 1,249,811 
Managed* and Unitised Funds 
UK Fixed Interest  276,419 172,351 
UK Corporate Bonds 244,601 156,438 
Overseas Fixed Interest - - 
Index-Linked Securities 522,052 442,823 
UK Equities 755,235 417,468 
Overseas Equities 449,261 274,907 
Unlisted Securities (Private Equity) 121,844 146,248 
Property Unit trusts      65,218      58,954 
 2,434,630 1,669,189 
 
* All fixed interest / bond holdings are in managed and unitised funds and other than 
Corporate Bonds, all are public sector securities. 
 
Derivative Contracts 
Futures: DJ Euro STOXX 50 Index Futures expires June 2009 
Economic Exposure Value: £997,000;  Market Value £997,000) 
 - 997 
 
A Futures Contract is the obligation under a legal agreement to make or take delivery of 
a specified instrument (for example, a bond or a financial index) at a fixed future date at 
a price determined at the time of dealing. Merseyside Pension Fund’s index futures 
contracts are externally managed and their objective is to hedge overseas investment 
positions against adverse index movements. 
 
Futures dealing requires the posting of margin. Initial margin, which must be posted 
before you can trade and variation margin, the mark-to-market value of the futures 
contracts you have. Variation margin is exchanged daily and exists to reduce 
counterparty credit exposure. 
 
Collateral is held in Euro currency and the sterling equivalent amount is £130,607.10. 
 
Other Investments 216,073 265,480 
 
UK properties 
Freehold 247,472 182,038 
Leasehold   47,878   17,497 
 295,350 199,535 
 
Short term Deposits 100,778 73,597 
 

Page 522



 

99 

8. INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT EXPENSES 
 

Fees paid to the 11 major investment managers amount to £3.639m and constitute the 
bulk of the figure of £4.640m investment management fees. Charges vary between fund 
managers, and between markets and types of security. Charges are calculated as a 
percentage of the value of the investments. Internal investment management expenses 
are also included here. 
 
9. CURRENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
 
 2008 2009 
 £000 £000 
Assets   
Contributions due 16,341 20,929 
Accrued and outstanding investment income 9,168 6,815 
Due from stockbrokers 494,166 19,818 
Transfer values receivable 2,357 2,357 
Cash at Bank 25,624 41,452 
Sundries     6,105   6,072 
 553,761 97,443 
   
Liabilities   
Due to stockbrokers 461,736 22,844 
Transfer values payable - - 
Provisions 617 1,014 
Miscellaneous     7,641   7,975 
 469,994 31,833 
   
Total Other Assets and Liabilities 83,767 65,610 
 
The figure of debtors does not include future payments from employers who are making 
special additional payments in respect of early retirement costs over an agreed number 
of years. 
 
Included in "Miscellaneous Liabilities" is £3.272m of unpaid benefits. 
 
10. COMMITMENTS 
 
Commitments for investments amounted to £217.914m at 31 March 2009. 
 
11. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
Administration and investment management costs include charges by Wirral Council in 
providing services in its role as administering Authority to the Fund, which amount to 
£3.286m (2008 £3.275m). Such charges principally relate to staffing required to 
maintain the pension service. A specific declaration has been obtained from principal 
officers and Pension Committee members regarding membership of and transactions 
with such persons or their related parties. No declarable related party transactions have 
been reported. 

Page 523



 

100 

 
12. SUMMARY OF MANAGERS’ PORTFOLIO VALUES AT 31 MARCH 2009 
 
 £m % 
Externally Managed   
J P Morgan 111 3.2 
UBS 264 7.6 
Nomura 413 11.9 
Schroders 156 4.5 
Legal and General (Pooled Assets) 745 21.5 
Legal and General (Bonds) 172 5.0 
Unigestion 100 2.9 
M and G 93 2.7 
T T International 90 2.6 
Blackrock 92 2.7 
Newton      82   2.4 
 2,318 67.0 
Internally Managed 1,140   33.0 
 3,458 100.0 
 
13. ADDITIONAL VOLUNTARY CONTRIBUTIONS 
 
The Committee holds assets invested separately from the main fund. In accordance 
with Regulation 5 (2) (c) of the Pensions Schemes (Management and Investment of 
Funds) Regulations 1998, these assets are excluded from the Pension Fund accounts. 
 
The Scheme providers are Equitable Life, Standard Life and Prudential. Individual 
members participating in this arrangement each receive an annual statement confirming 
the amounts held on their account and the movements in the year. As requested by the 
Local Authority Statement of Recommended Practice (2007-08) an aggregate 
breakdown between contributions, repayments and change in market value is now 
available for the balances as at 31 March 2009. 
 
The aggregate amounts of AVC investments are as follows: 
 2008 2009 
 £000 £000 
Equitable Life 3,464 3,076 
Standard Life 7,593 5,833 
Prudential   3,615   3,864 
 14,672 12,773 
 
Changes during the year were as follows: 
Contributions 1,502 
Repayments (2,023) 
Change in market values (1,378) 
Change in value from 2007-08 published accounts (1,899) 

Page 524



 

101 

 
14. BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
Merseyside Pension Fund operates the Local Government Pensions Scheme (LGPS) 
which provides for the occupation pensions of employees (other than teachers, police 
officers and fire fighters) of the Local Authorities within the Merseyside Area. The 
current contributing employers are shown below. As at 31 March 2009, there were 
50,892 active members, 39,930 pensioners and 27,613 deferred beneficiaries. 
 
The overall responsibility for the management of the Fund rests with the Pensions 
Committee, which for 2008-09 included 10 Councillors from Wirral Council, the 
Administering Authority, plus one Councillor from each of the 4 other Borough Councils, 
and one member representing the other employers in the scheme. Representatives of 
trade unions also attended.  The more detailed consideration of investment strategy and 
asset allocation of the Fund’s portfolios is considered by the Investment Monitoring 
Working Party, which includes external advisers and consultants. 
 
The Pensions Committee annually reviews its Statement of Investment Principles. The 
principles ensure that the Fund's investments would continue to be determined by all 
relevant considerations including the Council's fiduciary duty to employing bodies and 
the Council Taxpayer, rate of return, risk, environmental, social and governance 
considerations rather than a blanket policy of disinvestment from any specific industry or 
sector. The latest review was in November 2008, and is available on the Fund’s website 
merseysidepensionfund.org.uk. 
 
Under the LGPS Regulations, employer contributions are calculated by the Fund’s 
actuary, having regards to the assumptions and methodology set out in the Fund’s 
Funding Strategy Statement (FSS). The most recent Triennial Valuation by the actuary 
was as at 31 March 2007. The funding objective is to achieve and then maintain assets 
equal to the funding target. The funding target is the present value of 100% of projected 
accrued liabilities, including allowance for projected final pay. The FSS specifies a 
maximum period for achieving full funding of 25 years. 
 
The funding method adopted is the Projected Unit Method, which implicitly allows for 
new entrants replacing leavers. 
 
The table below sets out the summary of the market (gilts) yields at the valuation date, 
together with the yields at the date of the previous valuation: 

 31 Mar 2004 31 Mar 2007 

Long-dated gilt yield 4.60% 4.40% 

Long-dated index-linked gilt yield  1.80% 1.30% 

Market expectation for inflation (long term) 2.80% 3.10% 

 
The assumptions to which the valuation results are particularly sensitive are:- 
 2007 Funding Target 
Investment Return pre-retirement 6.40% 
Investment Return post-retirement 5.40% 
Salary increases 4.35% 
Pension increases in payment 3.10% 
Non-retired members mortality Pension Annuity 92 Medium Cohort Year of Birth tables + 2 years 
Retired members mortality   Pension Annuity 92 Medium Cohort Year of Birth tables + 2 years 

Page 525



 

102 

Scheme Employers With Active Members 
 
Scheduled Bodies 
Academy of St Francis 
Belvedere Academy 
Birkenhead Sixth Form College 
Burton Manor Residential College 
Carmel College 
Halewood Parish Council 
Hugh Baird College 
King George V College 
Knowsley Community College 
Knowsley M.B.C. 
Knowsley Parish Council 
Liverpool City Council 
Liverpool Community College 
Liverpool John Moores University 
Mersey Waste Holdings 
Merseyside Fire and Rescue Authority 
Merseyside Integrated Transport Authority (MITA) 
Merseyside Passenger Transport Executive (MPTE) 
Merseyside Police Authority 
Merseyside Waste Disposal Authority 
National Probation Service 
North Liverpool Academy Ltd 
Prescot Town Council 
Rainford Parish Council 
Rainhill Parish Council 
Sefton M.B.C. 
Southport College 
St. Helens Community College 
St. Helens M.B.C. 
Valuation Tribunal Service 
Whiston Parish Council 
Wirral Council 
Wirral Metropolitan College 
 
Admission Bodies 
Age Concern - Liverpool 
Arriva North West 
Arvato Government Services 
Association of Police Authorities 
Beechwood and Ballantyne Housing Association 
Beechwood Educare Centre 
Berrybridge Housing Ltd 
Birkenhead Citizens Advice Bureau 
Birkenhead Market Services Ltd 
Birkenhead School (2002) 
Capita Symonds (Sefton) 
Catholic Children's Society 
CDS Housing 

Page 526



 

103 

Cobalt Housing Ltd 
Commission for Social Care Inspection  
Compass (Scolarest) Liverpool Schools 
Compass (Scolarest) Wirral Schools 
Comtechsa Limited 
Enterprise Liverpool Cleansing 
Enterprise (Liverpool Highways) Ltd 
Enterprise-Liverpool Limited   
Enterprise Liverpool Neighbourhood Grounds 
Geraud Markets Liverpool Ltd 
Glendale (Liverpool Parks Services) Ltd 
Glenvale Transport Ltd/Stagecoach. 
Greater Hornby Homes 
Greater Merseyside Connexions 
Green Apprentices Ltd 
Helena Partnerships Ltd. 
Higher Education European Funding Services Ltd. 
Hochtief Liverpool Schools 
Hochtief Wirral Schools 
Kingswood Colomendy Ltd. 
Knowsley Housing Trust 
LACORS 
Lairdside Communities Trust 
Lee Valley Housing Association Ltd 
Liberata (UK) Ltd. 
Liverpool Association for the Disabled 
Liverpool Church of England Council for Social Aid 
Liverpool Citizens Advice Bureau 
Liverpool Community Rights 
Liverpool Hope University 
Liverpool Housing Trust 
Liverpool Mutual Homes Ltd. 
Liverpool Vision Limited 
Local Government Association 
Merseyside Lieutenancy 
Merseyside Society for the Deaf 
Merseyside Welfare Rights 
Merseyside Youth Association 
Mott Macdonald (M.I.S.) 
Mouchel (2020 Liverpool/Parkman) 
Mouchel (2020 Knowsley Ltd) 
Netherley Citizens Advice Bureau 
North Huyton New Deal New Future 
North Liverpool Citizens Advice Bureau 
Novas Group 
Nugent Care 
One Vision Housing Ltd. 
Partners Credit Union 
Sefton Education Business Partnership 
Sefton New Directions Ltd. 
South Liverpool Housing Ltd 

Page 527



 

104 

Southern Neighbourhood Council 
Taylor Shaw Catering (St Wilfred's RC School) 
Taylor Shaw New Heys School 
The Peoples Centre 
The Port Sunlight Village Trust 
University of Liverpool 
Upton Hall Convent 
Vauxhall Neighbourhood Council 
Village Housing Association Ltd 
Wavertree Citizens Advice Bureau 
Welsh Local Government Association 
Wirral Autistic Society 
Wirral Council Voluntary Service 
Wirral Partnership Homes Ltd 

Page 528



 

105 

GLOSSARY OF FINANCIAL TERMS 
 
For the purpose of the Code of Practice the following definitions have been adopted. 
 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
Define the process whereby transactions and other events are reflected in the financial 
statements. 
 
ACCRUALS 
Income and Expenditure are recognised as they are earned or incurred, not as money is 
received or paid. 
 
ACTUARIAL GAINS AND LOSSES 
Changes in actuarial deficits or surpluses that arise because: 

• Events have not coincided with the actuarial assumptions made of the last 
valuation (experience gains or losses) 

• The actuarial assumptions have changed. 
 
AMORTISATION 
Amortisation is the equivalent of depreciation for intangible assets. 
 
AREA BASED GRANT 
This is a Government Grant to support local Authority services in general.  It is allocated 
according to specific policy criteria. A non-ring fenced grant the Council is allowed to 
spend it to support priorities in their area. 
 
AUDIT COMMISSION 
Auditors employed to independently audit the accounts of Local Authorities. 
 
BUDGET 
Statement of spending plans for the year. 
 
BUSINESS RATES 
See Non Domestic Rates 
 
CAPITAL CHARGE 
A charge to service revenue accounts to reflect the cost of fixed assets used in the 
provision of services. 
 
CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 
Expenditure on the acquisition of a fixed asset or expenditure, which adds to and not 
merely maintains the value of an existing fixed asset. 
 
CAPITAL RECEIPTS 
Money received from the disposal of land and other assets, and for the repayment of 
grants and loans made the Council. 
 
CHARTERED INSTITUTE OF PUBLIC FINANCE AND ACCOUNTANCY (CIPFA) 
This institute produces standards and codes of practice that must be followed in 
preparing the Council’s financial statements. 
 

Page 529



 

106 

CODE OF PRACTICE 
Generally taken to be referred to as the Accounting Code of Practice issued by CIPFA.  
This is a code of accounting practice that Local Authorities in England and Wales must 
comply with in preparing their financial statements. 
 
COLLECTION FUND 
Accounts required to be kept by the Council to record all income collected from local 
taxpayers, showing how this is passed on to other Local Authorities and central 
Government. 
 
COMMUNITY ASSETS 
Assets that the local Authority intends to hold in perpetuity, that have no determinable 
useful life and that may have restrictions on their disposal.  Examples of community 
assets are parks and historic buildings. 
 
CREDITORS 
Organisations and individuals to whom the Council owes money. 
 
CURRENT LIABILITY 
A loss that is likely to be incurred in the future. 
 
CURRENT SERVICE COST (PENSIONS) 
The increase in the present value of a defined benefit scheme’s liabilities expected to 
arise from employee service in the current period. 
 
CURTAILMENT 
Curtailments show the cost of the early payment of pension benefits if any employee 
has been made redundant in the previous financial year. 
 
DEBTORS 
Organisations and individuals who owe money to the Council. 
 
DEFINED BENEFIT SCHEME 
A pension or other retirement benefit scheme other than a defined contribution scheme.  
Usually, the scheme rules define the benefits independently of the contributions 
payable, and the benefits are not directly related to the investments of the scheme.  The 
scheme may be funded or unfunded (including notionally funded). 
 
DEFINED CONTRIBUTION SCHEME 
A pension or other retirement benefit scheme into which an employer pays regular 
contributions fixed as an amount or as a percentage of pay and will have no legal or 
constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the scheme does not have 
sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating to employee service in the current 
and prior periods. 
 
DEPRECIATION 
A notional charge representing the extent to which an asset has been worn out or used 
up during the year. 

Page 530



 

107 

 
EXPECTED RATE OF RETURN ON PENSIONS ASSETS 
For a funded defined benefit scheme, the average rate of return, including both income 
and changes in fair value but net of scheme expenses, expected over the remaining life 
of the related obligation on the actual assets held by the scheme. 
 
FAIR VALUE 
The fair value of an asset is the price at which it could be exchanged in an arm’s length 
transaction, less, where applicable, any grants receivable towards the purchase or use 
of the asset. 
 
FIXED ASSET 
Assets that yield benefits to the Local Authority and the services it provides for a period 
of more than one year. 
 
FRS17 
FRS17 is Financial Reporting Standard 17, the Accounting for Retirement Benefits.  The 
Standard, requires the Council to show its outstanding liability to the Pension Fund in its 
accounts rather than just the payments made into the Pension Fund in the year. 
 
GENERAL FUND 
The main revenue fund of the Council.  Day to day spending on services is met from the 
fund. 
 
GOVERNMENT GRANTS 
Assistance by Government and inter-Government agencies and similar bodies, whether 
local, national or international, in the form of cash or transfers of assets to an Authority 
in return for past or future compliance with certain conditions relating to the activities of 
the Authority. 
 
IMPAIRMENT 
A reduction in the value of a fixed asset below its carrying amount on the Balance 
Sheet. 
 
INFRASTRUCTURE ASSETS 
Fixed assets that are inalienable, expenditure on which is recoverable only by continued 
use of the asset created. Examples of infrastructure assets are highways and footpaths. 
 
INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 
“Non–financial” fixed assets that do not have physical substance but are identifiable and 
are controlled by the Authority through custody or legal rights. Purchased intangibles 
(e.g. software licences) are capitalised at cost, whilst internally developed intangibles 
are only capitalised where there is a readily ascertainable market for them.  
 
INTEREST COST (PENSIONS) 
For a defined benefit scheme, the expected increase during the period in the present 
value of the scheme liabilities because the benefits are one period closer to settlement. 
 

Page 531



 

108 

 
INVESTMENTS (PENSION FUND) 
The investments of the Pension Fund will be accounted for in the statements of that 
Fund.  However, authorities are also required to disclose, as part of the disclosures 
relating to retirement benefits, the attributable share of pension scheme assets 
associated with their underlying obligations. 
 
INVESTMENTS (NON-PENSION FUND) 
A long-term investment is an investment that is intended to be held for use on a 
continuing basis in the activities of the Council.  Investments should be so classified 
only where an intention to hold the investment for the long term can clearly be 
demonstrated or where there are restrictions as to the investor’s ability to dispose of the 
investment. 
 
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 
Interest in land and/or buildings: 
i) in respect of which construction work and development have been completed, 

and 
ii) which is held for its investment potential, any rental income being negotiated at 

arm’s length. 
 
LOCAL AREA AGREEMENT 
LAAs set out the priorities for a local area agreed between central Government and a 
local area (the local Authority and Local Strategic Partnership) and other key partners at 
the local level. 
 
MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION (MRP) 
The minimum amount that the Council must charge to the revenue account, for debt 
redemption. 
 
NATIONAL NON-DOMESTIC RATES (NNDR) 
Another name for non-domestic rates. 
 
NET BOOK VALUE 
The amount at which fixed assets are included in the Balance Sheet ie. their historical 
cost or current value less the cumulative amount provided for depreciation. 
 
NET CURRENT REPLACEMENT COST 
The cost of replacing or recreating the particular asset in its existing condition and in its 
existing use ie. the cost of its replacement or of the nearest equivalent asset, adjusted 
to reflect the current condition of the existing asset. 
 
NET EXPENDITURE 
Gross expenditure less specific service income but before the deduction of revenue 
support grant and local taxation. 
 
NET REALISABLE VALUE 
The open market value of the asset in its existing use (or open market value in the case 
of non-operational assets), less the expenses to be incurred in realising the asset. 

Page 532



 

109 

 
NON-DOMESTIC RATES (NDR) 
A levy on businesses based on national “rateable value” of the premises occupied. NDR 
is collected by the Council in line with national criteria, paid into a national pool and then 
redistributed to all local and police authorities on the basis of population. 
 
NON-OPERATIONAL ASSETS 
Fixed assets held by a local Authority but not directly occupied, used or consumed in 
the delivery of services.  Examples of non-operational assets are investment properties 
and assets that are surplus to requirements, pending sale or redevelopment. 
 
OPERATIONAL ASSETS 
Fixed assets held and occupied, used or consumed by the local Authority in the direct 
delivery of those services for which it has either a statutory or discretionary 
responsibility. 
 
PAST SERVICE COST/GAIN 
For a defined benefit scheme, the increase or reduction in the present value of the 
scheme liabilities related to employee service in prior periods arising in the current 
period as a result of the revision of retirement benefits. 
 
POST BALANCE SHEET EVENT 
Events, both favourable and unfavourable, which occur between the Balance Sheet 
date and the date on which the Statement of Accounts is signed by the Director of 
Finance. 
 
PRECEPT 
This is a charge levied by one Council or other legally specified entity which is collected 
on its behalf by another by adding the precept to its own Council Tax and paying over 
the appropriate cash collected.  
 
PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENTS 
These are material adjustments applicable to prior years arising from changes in 
accounting policies or from the correction of fundamental errors.  A fundamental error is 
one that is of such significance as to destroy the validity of the financial statements.  
They do not include normal recurring corrections or adjustments of accounting 
estimates made in prior years. 
 
PROJECTED UNIT METHOD 
An accrued benefits valuation method in which the scheme liabilities make allowance 
for projected earnings.  An accrued benefits valuation method is a valuation method in 
which the scheme liabilities at the valuation date relate to: 
i) the benefits for pensioners and deferred pensioners (ie. individuals who have 

ceased to be active members but are entitled to benefits payable at a later date) 
and their dependants, allowing where appropriate for future increases; and 

ii) the accrued benefits for members in service on the valuation date. 
 
The accrued benefits are the benefits for service up to a given point in time, whether 
vested rights or not. Guidance on the projected unit method is given in the Guidance 
Note GN26 issued by the Faculty and Institute of Actuaries. 

Page 533



 

110 

 
PROVISIONS AND RESERVES 
Amounts set aside in one year to cover expenditure in the future.  Provisions are for 
liabilities or losses that are likely or certain to be incurred but the amounts or the dates 
on which they arise are uncertain.  Reserves are amounts set aside which do not fall 
within the definition of provisions and include general reserves (or balances) that every 
Council must maintain as a matter of prudence. 
 
RECHARGES 
The transfer of costs from one account to another. 
 
RETIREMENT BENEFITS 
All forms of consideration given by an employer in exchange for services rendered by 
employees that are payable after the completion of employment.  Retirement benefits 
do not include termination benefits payable as a result of either: 
i) an employer’s decision to terminate an employee’s employment before the 

normal retirement date; or 
ii) an employee’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those 

benefits, because these are not given in exchange for services rendered by 
employees. 

 
REVENUE EXPENDITURE 
This is money spent on the day-to-day running costs of providing services.  It is usually 
of a constantly recurring nature and produces no permanent asset. 
 
REVENUE EXPENDITURE FUNDED FROM CAPITAL UNDER STATUTE 
This represents capitalisable items of expenditure where no tangible asset exists but 
where the cost is to be amortised to revenue. 
 
REVENUE SUPPORT GRANT (RSG) 
This is a Government grant in aid of local Authority services generally.  It is based on 
the Government’s assessment of how much an Authority needs to spend in order to 
provide a standard level of service. 
 
SCHEME LIABILITIES 
The liabilities of a defined benefit scheme for outgoings due after the valuation date. 
Scheme liabilities measured using the projected unit method reflect the benefits that the 
employer is committed to provide for service up to the valuation date. 
 
SORP 
Professional guidance issued to assist Local Authority Accounting. 
 
SPECIFIC GOVERNMENT GRANTS 
Grants to aid particular services and may be revenue or capital in nature.  

Page 534



 

111 

 
STOCKS 
The amount of unused or unconsumed stocks held in expectation of future use.  When 
use will not arise until a later period, it is appropriate to carry forward the amount to be 
matched to the use or consumption when it arises.  Stocks comprise the following 
categories: 
i) goods or other assets purchased for resale; 
ii) consumable stores; 
iii) raw materials and components purchased for incorporation into products for sale; 
 
UNAPPORTIONABLE CENTRAL OVERHEADS 
Overheads for which no user now benefits and that are not apportioned to services. 
 
USEFUL LIFE 
The period over which the local Council will derive benefits from the use of a fixed 
asset. 

Page 535



 

112 

FURTHER INFORMATION AND FEEDBACK 
 
Wirral Council produces the following documents that relate to its plans and finances. 
Copies of all these documents are available on the Wirral website at www.wirral.gov.uk 
 
CORPORATE PLAN 
This document sets out the Council’s strategy and direction for the next five years. 
 
COUNCIL TAX EXPLAINED 
This booklet is issued annually with the Council Tax bills and sets out the plans for the 
coming year. 
 
ANNUAL REPORT 
This gives a review of the performance of the Council over the last 12 months and 
includes a brief overview of the financial position. 
 
STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 
We welcome your comments on the Statement of Accounts and the information it 
contains. They will be used to improve future publications.  
 
Was the document useful in helping you understand the Council’s finances? 
 
                                       YES                   NO 
 
 
 
Would you like to see more information? 
 
                                       YES                   NO 
 
 
 
Please write any other comments below: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Please send any responses to Jenny Spick at Financial Services Division, Finance 
Department, Treasury Building, Cleveland Street, Birkenhead, CH41 6BU. 
E-mail: jennyspick@wirral.gov.uk  Phone 0151 666 3582 
 

Page 536



WIRRAL COUNCIL 
 
CABINET  
 
23 JULY 2009 
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 
 
INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGIES SECURITY POLICY 

 

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

1.1 This report informs Members of proposed amendments to the Information and 
Communication Technologies (ICT) Security Policy last presented to Cabinet 
on 10 December 2008. 

 
1.2 Members are requested to agree the Information and Communications 

Technology Security Policy as amended. 
 
2. THE ICT SECURITY POLICY 

 

2.1 The ICT Security Policy has been amended following consideration by the 
Information Strategy Group, the Information Manager and Internal Audit. 

 
2.2 ICT is an integral part of Council activities and is essential to the delivery of 

most services and in communication with partner organisations. Because of 
this, policies and procedures need to be laid down and enforced in order to 
safeguard those services and the Council interest. These include: 

 

• the physical assets 

• access to the information stored on or available through those assets 

• service continuity 

• users of the systems and equipment 

• compliance with legislation 
 

2.3 An agreed ICT Security Policy is essential in the light of developments in the 
use of: 

 

• the broadband communications network 

• mobile working 

• the linking and common use of systems 

• the volume and sensitivity of data held on ICT equipment and systems 

• the Change Programme 

• the requirements of Government Connect, which will enable the secure 
exchange of data with public sector partners. 

 
2.4 Investment in ICT physical assets such as the centrally located application 

servers and storage area network, distributed servers, personal computers 
(PCs) and the communications infrastructure is significant. 

Agenda Item 27

Page 537



 
2.5 The ICT Security Policy applies to the following people: 
 

• all employees and elected Members of the Council 

• all employees and agents of other organisations who directly or 
indirectly support or use the Council computer systems or networks 

• all temporary and agency staff directly or indirectly employed by the 
Council 

• all volunteers engaged directly or indirectly by the Council. 
 
and to all areas of ICT, including: 

 

• PCs and associated equipment, including personal digital assistants 
(PDA) and all mobile equipment and storage devices 

• all servers including Unix, Novell and Microsoft based systems 

• multi-function devices, printers, faxes and other reprographics 
equipment 

• network communications 

• software. 
 
2.6 The Security Policy should be operated in conjunction with Audit Guidelines 

for ICT Systems, as produced and periodically updated by Internal Audit. 
 
2.7 It has previously been the practice to submit the Policy to Cabinet annually. In 

future, it may be necessary to submit the Policy on a more frequent basis as it 
is changed in response to external requirements and security threats. 

 
3 LOCAL GOVERNMENT DATA HANDLING GUIDELINES 

 

3.1 Members will be aware of instances of loss of sensitive data in the public 
sector. This resulted in a Government review of the handling of such data and 
recommendations have been made with which the Council will have to 
comply. The amendments to the IT Security Policy implement 
recommendations of the Local Government Data Handling Guidelines within 
Wirral.   

 

4 INTERNAL AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

4.1 I have actioned a number of Internal Audit recommendations in relation to data 
transfer security, the use of removable media and on refining the ICT security 
incident management procedures. These are reflected in the amendments to 
the ICT Security Policy.  

 

5  SIGNIFICANT CHANGES TO THE POLICY 

 
5.1 The Local Government Data Handling Guidelines seek to establish a culture 

that properly values, protects and uses information for the public good. 
 

Page 538



5.2 As required by the Guidelines, clear accountability will be established by 
introducing new roles, that of the Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO) for 
both the Council and each Department and of an Information Asset Owner 
(IAO) for each system. 

 
5.3 Also as required by the Guidelines, a programme to raise staff awareness of 

data handling requirements will be implemented. 
 
5.4 The Director of Finance is to be the Council SIRO and will be responsible for 

the development of the Council Information Risk Policy. 
 
5.5 Departmental SIRO’s will also be established and will be responsible for 

identifying IAO’s for each of their departmental systems. Details of the role are 
in paragraph 5.2.a of the Policy and cross referenced throughout the Policy. 

 
5.6 IAO’s are responsible for understanding what information is held, for it being 

processed appropriately and for controlling access to it. Details of the roles are 
in paragraph 5.2.b of the Policy and cross referenced throughout. 

 
5.7 The Information Strategy Group is a long established corporate body 

responsible for ICT issues including formulation of strategies, policies and 
associated procedures, recommendations for developments and investment.  
Their role has been included in 5.2.d of the Policy to provide a complete view 
of ICT security roles and responsibilities. 

 
5.8 The guidance on removable media at 8.3 to 8.6 and Appendix 3 of the Policy 

has been strengthened in response to the requirements of the Local 
Government Data Handling Guidelines that seek to prevent losses of public 
sector data and also in the light of recommendations from Internal Audit. The 
Council provides a secure environment for its information and the primary 
security principle is that information remains within the secure environment 
and secure access is made available to authorised staff. Occasionally it may 
be necessary to remove it from this environment onto removable media. The 
IAO will control and authorise this. 

 
5.9 To meet the requirement to keep information in a secure environment and to 

comply with best practice, the Code of Practice relating to the use of the 
Internet and Electronic Mail Facilities has been strengthened to prohibit the 
automatic forwarding of Council e-mails to personal e-mail accounts without a 
robust business case and also the manual forwarding of e-mails containing 
sensitive information to personal e-mail accounts. See paragraph 12.3 of the 
Policy. 

 
5.10 Procedures to report security incidents are described in Appendix 1 of the 

Policy and were introduced in the IT Security Policy in December 2008.  The 
system has now become established and has been refined in response to 
lessons learnt. 

 
5.11 Within the attached Policy, amendments are in italics. 
 

Page 539



6 SUMMARY 

 

6.1 The ICT Security Policy provides a framework for Members, officers and 
others to work within when using ICT so that the Council assets, information, 
systems, services and legal obligations are protected. 

 
7 FINANCIAL AND STAFFING IMPLICATIONS 

 
7.1 The roles of SIRO and IAO formalise long standing arrangements within Wirral 

where Chief Officers are responsible for use of information within their 
command and system owners are responsible for access to and use of their 
systems.  The additional responsibilities will be delivered within existing 
resources. 

 
7.2 The IT Security Policy directs the use of Wirral systems and information by all 

users as detailed in paragraph 1.2.  Many of the controls are based on 
observation of the policy by users and are not technically enforceable, e.g. 
information should only be downloaded on to removable media with the 
authorisation of the Information Asset Owner.  IT Services are investigating 
tools to enable this and other controls to be technically enforced. A business 
case to support the adoption of such tools will be developed and brought to 
Cabinet in line with Council procurement requirements. 

 
8 EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 There are no equal opportunities issues arising from this report. 
 
9 HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 There are no specific Human Rights issues arising out of this report. 
 
10 LOCAL AGENDA 21 IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 There are no Local Agenda 21 issues arising from this report. 
 
11 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 There are no direct Community Safety issues arising out of this report. 
 
12 PLANNING IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.1 There are no planning implications arising out of this report. 
 

13 LOCAL MEMBER SUPPORT IMPLICATIONS 

 
13.1 There are no specific issues arising out of this report. 
 

14 BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
14.1 Government Connect Programme Code of Connection and Guidance. 

Page 540



 
14.2 International Standards Organisation (ISO) 27001 Information Security 

Management Systems; HR Guidance on Security Clearance. 
 
14.3 Local Government Data Handling Guidelines. 
 
14.4 Internal Audit reports. 

15 RECOMMENDATION 

 
15.1 That the amended Information and Communications Technology Security 

Policy be agreed. 
 
 
 
 
 
  IAN COLEMAN 
  DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 
 
 
 
 
FNCE/204/09 

Page 541



Page 542

This page is intentionally left blank



 
July 2009 

1 

 

WIRRAL COUNCIL 

 

ICT SECURITY POLICY 
 

 
CONTENTS 

 

  Page 
1 INTRODUCTION 

 
2 

2 ENFORCEMENT 
 

2 

3 LEGISLATIVE FRAMEWORK 
 

3 

4 USE OF COUNCIL ICT EQUIPMENT 
 

4 

5 DATA AND PROGRAM OWNERSHIP 
 

4 

6 ACCESS TO SYSTEMS 
 

6 

7 PURCHASE AND DISPOSAL OF ICT EQUIPMENT AND 
SOFTWARE 
 

8 

8 PCs AND PORTABLE COMPUTERS 
 

8 

9 SAVING DATA / BACKUPS  
 

10 

10 
 

NEW SYSTEMS DEVELOPMENT 10 

11 SOFTWARE LICENCES 
 

11 

12 ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATION (INCLUDING USE OF 
INTERNET) 
 

11 

13 PHYSICAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL SECURITY 
 

13 

14 HUMAN RESOURCES SECURITY 
 
 

13 

Appendix 1 – REPORTING AN ICT SECURITY INCIDENT  
 

15 

Appendix 2 – INFORMATION CLASSIFICATION: GOVERNMENT 
PROTECTIVE MARKING SCHEME (GPMS) 
 

23 

Appendix 3 – USE OF MOBILE DEVICES 
 

28 

Appendix 4 - USE OF INTERNET AND ELECTRONIC MAIL 
FACILITIES CODE OF PRACTICE – EMPLOYEES 

32 

Page 543



 
July 2009 

2 

 
1 INTRODUCTION 

 
1.1 Information and Communications Technology (ICT) is an integral part 

of the Council’s activities: investment in equipment such as personal 
computers (PCs) and the communications infrastructure is significant. 
Because access to information via ICT is essential to the provision of 
services, policies and procedures need to be laid down and enforced 
in order to safeguard the information required by those services and 
the Council’s interests. These include: 
 

 • the physical assets 

• access to the information on those assets 

• services continuity 

• users of the systems and equipment 

• compliance with legislation 
 

1.2  This Policy therefore applies to: 
 

 • all employees and elected members of the Council 

• all employees and agents of other organisations who directly or 
indirectly support or use the Council’s computer systems or 
networks 

• all temporary and agency staff directly employed or indirectly 
engaged by the Council  

• all volunteers engaged directly or indirectly by the Council. 
 

1.3 This Policy applies to all areas of ICT, including: 
 

 • PCs and associated equipment, including personal digital 
assistants (PDA’s) and mobile equipment 

• all servers including, mainframe, Unix, Novell and Microsoft based 
systems 

• printers, faxes and reprographics equipment 

• network communications 

• software 
 

1.4 This Security Policy should be read in conjunction with the Audit 
Guidelines for ICT Systems, produced by Internal Audit. 
 

2 ENFORCEMENT 
 

2.1 All users of the Council’s information and ICT equipment are 
personally responsible for compliance with this Policy. 
 

2.2 Information and ICT security is viewed seriously by the Council 
and any failure to comply with this Policy could lead to 
disciplinary action being taken against any individual involved.  
Non-compliance may be considered gross misconduct and as such 
may lead to the dismissal of the employee or employees concerned.  
 

Page 544



 
July 2009 

3 

Examples of non-compliance include:- 
 

 • the installation and use of unauthorised software (including 
screensavers & wallpaper), 

• any unauthorised access, deletion or amendment to software held 
on a computer, 

• the installation and use of any unauthorised computer or 
telecommunications equipment, to Council networks, 

• unauthorised and/or illicit use of the Internet,  

• access to inappropriate websites and the downloading or storage 
of inappropriate images or material, 

• the use of data for illicit purposes (including breach of any law, 
regulation or any reporting requirement of any law enforcement or 
government agency),  

• the copying of software which breaches copyright agreements,  

• exposing the Council to actual or potential loss (monetary or 
otherwise) through the compromise of ICT security, 

• the unauthorised disclosure of confidential or personal information 
or the unauthorised use of corporate data, 

• any disclosure of data to an unauthorised member of staff or any 
other person who is not authorised to see it, 

• unauthorised personal use of equipment or changes to equipment 
configuration, 

• unauthorised deletion or alteration of files or data, 

• avoidable damage to the Council’s equipment, 

• sharing of passwords or otherwise compromising password 
security, 

• any theft, damage or loss of IT equipment (eg – theft of PCs or 
components), 

• any unsolicited e-mail which is offensive or appears to be 
fraudulent, 

• use of IT facilities or systems to engage in fraudulent activities. 
 
This is a list of examples and is not intended to be exhaustive. 
 

2.3 Any individual who has knowledge of a breach of this Policy must 
report it immediately to his or her line manager.  Failure to do so could 
result in disciplinary action being taken. The procedures for reporting 
a breach are in Appendix 1.  
 

3 LEGISLATIVE FRAMEWORK 
 

3.1 The Council and all staff must comply with all relevant legislation. 
Users may be held personally responsible for any breach of any 
relevant legislation. Relevant legislation includes, but is not restricted 
to: 
 

 Data Protection Act 1998  (see paragraph 5.2 below) 
Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988 
Computer Misuse Act 1990 
Health & Safety Act (Display Screen Equipment) Regulations 1992 

Page 545



 
July 2009 

4 

Freedom of Information Act 2000 
 
Anyone who is unsure of their responsibility should seek clarification 
from their line manager. 
 

4 USE OF COUNCIL ICT EQUIPMENT & NETWORKS 
 

4.1 Access by outside bodies into any of the Council’s networks or 
equipment is not permitted without prior recorded agreement between 
IT Services and the appropriate Chief Officer/ Senior Information Risk 
Owner (SIRO). 
 

4.2 Access to departmental systems or information by representatives of 
external bodies (eg – Department of Work & Pensions) should be 
authorised by the system owner/ Information Asset Owner (IAO). 
 

4.3 
 

Staff accessing systems hosted outside the Council (e.g. 
ContactPoint) are bound by the requirements of this ICT Security 
Policy in addition to any policies and procedures relating specifically to 
the external system. 
 

4.4 Telephone numbers allowing access to the Council’s networks must 
not be disclosed to unauthorised persons/bodies. 
 

4.5 No equipment may be  
 

• connected to the network, or  

• attached to any equipment connected to the network or which 
could be connected to the network (e.g. laptops)  

 
without prior recorded authorisation from IT Services and the relevant 
SIRO. 
 

4.6 When working remotely (e.g. homeworking) only Council-issued 
equipment and means of connection must be used when connecting 
to the Council network and the internet.  
 

5 
 
5.1 

DATA AND PROGRAM OWNERSHIP 
 
The Council’s Data 
 

 (a) All computer programs and data resident on the Authority’s 
hardware are for the sole use of the council in undertaking its 
business; access by members and employees is solely for this 
purpose, except by express recorded permission of the Chief 
Officer in consultation with the Director of Finance. 
 

 (b) Copying, alteration or interference with computer programs is 
not permitted, without the recorded agreement of IT Services 
or the appropriate Chief Officer. 
 

Page 546



 
July 2009 

5 

 (c)  To enable staff to recognise the security level appropriate to 
the information or data they are using it is necessary to 
classify the information.  To ensure consistency in the way 
Wirral staff use and protect the information we hold and 
exchange with partners in the public sector Wirral Council has 
adopted the Government Protective Marking Scheme (GPMS). 
Details are in appendix 2.   
 

 (d) IAOs should consider encrypting Council data/information 
which is classified as PROTECT or higher (see Appendix 2). 
 

5.2 Roles & Responsibilities 
Roles and responsibilities relating to information and ICT security 
issues are outlined below:  
 

 (a) Senior Information Risk Owners (SIRO) 
The Director of Finance is Wirral Council’s SIRO and is 
responsible for the information risk policy and how information 
risk is managed. This role is supported by SIRO’s in each 
department who identify information assets and give 
appropriate individuals responsibility for each asset 
(Information Asset Owners). 
 

 (b) Information Asset Owners (IAO) 
IAO’s are responsible for: 
 
• understanding what information is held, how it is added and 
removed, who has access, and why; 

• approving the level and extent of transfer of data to 
removable media, such as laptops, ensuring that there is a 
business purpose to do so and that the media is sufficiently 
protected; 

• ensuring that access to the information is kept to the 
minimum needed and that usage of the information is 
monitored. 

 
 (c)  Department Security Officer (DSO) 

DSO’s act as a point of contact for information or ICT security 
issues, including ensuring that incidents which threaten 
information or ICT security are dealt with according to the 
corporate procedures described in Appendix 1. 
 

 (d) 
 

Information Strategy Group (ISG) 
The Information Strategy Group (ISG) is the corporate body 
responsible for all specific ICT issues in the Council including 
formulation of strategies, policies and associated procedures, 
recommendations for developments and investments. 
 

5.3 Data Protection Legislation 
 

 (a) Any Personal Data held by the Council is subject to The Data 
Protection Act 1998.  Personal Data is defined as any 

Page 547



 
July 2009 

6 

information which identifies a living individual.  The medium it 
is held on is irrelevant and this may be computer files, manual 
records, photographs or CCTV footage for example.  The 
Director of Finance has overall authority for Data Protection 
compliance and this is delegated to the Information Manager 
within Finance Department.  The Information Manager is 
responsible for ensuring the Council activities and purposes 
which utilise Personal Data are notified to the regulator, the 
Information Commissioner.  The Notification can be viewed on 
line on the public register pages at www.ico.gov.uk. All 
communication with the Information Commissioner should be 
via the Council’s Information Manager. 
 

 (b) The Data Protection Act requires us to disclose Personal Data 
in accordance with our Notification.  Additional disclosures 
may be allowed with informed consent or in specific 
documented circumstances, such as for crime prevention.  All 
disclosures must be in accordance with current Data 
Protection legislation. 
 

 (c) The 8 Data Protection Principles are: 
 

• Personal data must be processed fairly and lawfully. 

• Personal data must be obtained only for one or more 
specified and lawful purposes, and must not be further 
processed in any manner incompatible with that purpose or 
those purposes. 

• Personal data must be adequate, relevant and not 
excessive in relation to the purpose or purposes for which 
they are processed. 

• Personal data must be accurate and, where necessary, 
kept up to date. 

• Personal data processed for any purpose or purposes 
must not be kept for longer than is necessary. 

• Personal data must be processed in accordance with the 
rights of data subjects under the Data Protection Act. 

• Appropriate technical and organisational measures must 
be taken against unauthorised or unlawful processing of 
personal data and against loss or destruction of, or 
damage to, personal data. 

• Personal data must not be transferred to a country or 
territory outside the European Economic Area, unless that 
country or territory ensures an adequate level of protection 
for the rights and freedom of data subjects in relation to the 
processing of personal data. 

 
6 
 
6.1 

ACCESS TO SYSTEMS 
 
General 
 

 The approval, setting up and control of all networks and systems is 

Page 548



 
July 2009 

7 

the responsibility of IT Services in conjunction with user departments. 
This includes  
 

• access to the internet, and  

• systems which are being accessed from public areas.  
 
The data contained within each system will be subjected to a risk 
analysis to determine its sensitivity (Information Classification – see 
Appendix 2) and the impact of it being lost or accessed by, or 
disclosed to, unauthorised persons. Access must be controlled in 
accordance with procedures approved by IT Services.  
 

6.2 All schools and sites providing public access to electronic services 
that connect to the corporate broadband network will be connected via 
a supplementary firewall managed by IT Services. Changes must not 
be made to any network settings, or additional equipment installed, 
without the prior recorded agreement of IT Services. 
 

6.3 Day-to-day management of each system may reside outside IT 
Services: nonetheless, each system has a Systems Administrator and 
IAO, part of whose duties is to ensure adherence to the principles of 
access control. The appropriate Systems Administrator and IAO must 
be consulted before access can be given to that system. Requests for 
access to systems will be accepted only from authorised departmental 
representatives. 
 

6.4 Password Controlled Access 
 

 (a) Each user must have a unique user-ID and password. The use 
of another person's user-ID is not permitted. Users must not 
disclose their user-ID or password or visibly record them on or 
near equipment providing access to networks or systems. 
Users must not use anyone else’s account. 
  

 (b) Users must change default passwords, which enable first 
access, immediately. 
 

 (c) Log-on passwords should be a minimum of seven characters 
in length and must contain three different type of characters 
from the following sets: 
• Upper case  
• Lower case  
• Numbers 
• Punctuation 
Passwords must be changed every 42 days and especially 
when it is suspected that the password has been disclosed. 
The last 20 passwords cannot be reused and passwords must 
not contain any part of a user’s first or surname. 
 

 (d) Persons intending to leave the employ of the Council who 
have access to applications systems, must immediately have 

Page 549



 
July 2009 

8 

their access capabilities restricted as appropriate, and 
removed as soon as possible on leaving the Council, either by 
the system owners, IAOs and/or local systems administrators 
whichever is applicable. 
 

 (e) When users are away from their desks a password controlled 
screen lock must be activated. 
 

6.5 Two Factor Authentication 
  

Passwords are issued for staff to authenticate themselves. When 
accessing systems remotely, i.e. using mobile devices, further 
authentication is required. Key fobs are issued to staff to use in 
addition to their log on password when using mobile devices such as 
laptops, thus providing means of two factor authentication.  
 

6.6 Key fobs must be stored separately from the equipment they are used 
when accessing Wirral Council’s, or other organisations’, systems. 
Each key fob is accompanied by a unique four digit number which is 
entered when logging on. This number must not be visibly recorded 
near to the equipment or the key fob. 

 

7 PURCHASE AND DISPOSAL OF ICT EQUIPMENT AND 
SOFTWARE 
 

7.1 All ICT equipment and software procurement contracts must be co-
ordinated by IT Services and the Corporate Procurement Unit. The 
process must comply with the Contracts Procedure Rules as set out in 
the Constitution of the Council. 
 

7.2 Authority to purchase equipment is controlled within departments, and 
IT Services will only act on authorisation agreed between user 
departments and IT Services. This must be evidenced in writing or by 
e-mail. IT Services will only place orders for equipment and software, 
whether placed by Departments or IT Services, which comply with the 
Council’s ICT Strategy and are appropriate for the users’ business 
needs. IT Services will consult with the user department as 
appropriate to ensure both these criteria are met. 
 

7.3 Details of all ICT equipment must be kept on the Council’s central ICT 
Asset Register. This is controlled by IT Services: however, the 
accuracy of the information is a joint responsibility between IT 
Services and user departments. 
 

7.4 To ensure compliance with the Waste Electrical & Electronic 
Equipment (WEEE) Directive and ensure that sensitive data is not 
accidentally released disposal of any ICT and associated equipment 
must be carried out in consultation with IT Services.  
 

8 PCs AND PORTABLE COMPUTERS 
 

8.1 Configuration (Set Up) 

Page 550



 
July 2009 

9 

 
 (a) This includes PCs, and portable equipment such as laptops 

and handheld devices. 
 

 (b) The configuration (set up) of such equipment must be carried 
out by IT Services. Systems will be configured to allow users 
access only to those applications, features and facilities they 
require to perform their day to day duties, and, where 
possible, these configurations will be standard across 
workgroups and locked to prevent unauthorised changes 
 

 (c) An anti-virus solution must be installed on every device that 
has the capability to run it. The anti-virus solution must be 
kept up-to-date and maintained appropriately.  
 

8.2 Approved Software 
 
Unlicensed or personal software must not be installed on the Council's 
hardware, or connected in any way to the Council’s equipment or 
systems.  If software is deemed to be of use to the Council then the 
Council in accordance with section 7 should duly acquire it under 
licence.  Random spot checks may be conducted by IT Services or 
Internal Audit to ensure compliance with these provisions. (See also 
paragraph 11: Licences) 
 

8.3 Removable Media 
 
The Council provides a secure environment for its information. The 
primary security principle is that information should be kept within this 
environment and be made available for authorised staff to access. 
Occasionally it may be necessary to use mobile media to temporarily 
hold Council information.  
 

8.4 Use of the disk drives, USB ports and removable media (such as 
floppy disks, CDs, DVDs, memory sticks etc) on networked PCs is not 
permitted unless there is a business requirement to do so and 
recorded authorisation (see Appendix 3, paragraph 7.2) has been 
given by the department SIRO and IAOs in consultation with IT 
Services. Where authorisation has been given to a specific user it is 
their responsibility to ensure that all removable media connected do 
not transmit any viruses onto the Council’s network.  
 

8.5 Removable media which has been used on non-Council PCs, 
networked or otherwise, within or outside the Council, must not in any 
case be used on PCs connected to the Council’s networks, until the 
media has been checked using appropriate virus checking procedures 
as agreed with IT Services.  
 

8.6 Only media purchased through the Council’s iProcurement system, 
and with a sufficient level of encryption, may be used to temporarily 
hold Council information. Staff must only use mobile media to transfer 
Council information if there is a business requirement to do so and 

Page 551



 
July 2009 

10 

there is no other more secure means available.  
 

8.7 Members and staff using mobile devices away from the office are 
bound by the rules outlined in this policy. Detailed guidance on the 
use of mobile devices is provided in Appendix 3.  
 

8.8 Unauthorised Equipment 
 
Users must not connect unauthorised equipment of any kind to the 
Authority's computer systems or networks.  
 

9 SAVING DATA/ BACKUPS  
 

9.1 Service continuity is a high priority for the Council. It is the joint 
responsibility of users and IT Services, to ensure that appropriate 
back up and Disaster Recovery procedures are operated and tested. 
Some systems are backed up by IT Services, however, others, if not 
on the network, must be backed up by departmental system 
administrators and IAOs.  
 

 
 

(a) IT Services’ Responsibility 
 

• Mainframe Applications 

• Unix Applications located in the corporate computer rooms 

• Windows NT & Novell Netware Servers located in the 
corporate computer rooms. ( Some responsibilities for 
scheduling will be shared with Systems Administrators) 

 
 (b) Departmental 

 
Other Departmental Application servers, PC Networks and 
Stand Alone PCs 
 
It is the responsibility of the system administrator and user to 
ensure that appropriate back-up procedures are in place. IT 
Services should be consulted for further advice on back-up 
procedures. 

   
10 
 

NEW SYSTEMS DEVELOPMENT 
 

10.1 The Corporate Improvement Group (CIG) must approve all new 
systems development, however resourced, prior to commencement. 
 

10.2 All new systems will be subject to a Business Case justification and 
will be considered in the light of existing systems functionality and 
implementation timetable. 
 

10.3 Systems must not be developed or acquired without consulting IT 
Services. This is to ensure that appropriate software and equipment is 
used to the standard appropriate for the business needs, and to 
ensure compliance with the Council’s ICT and purchasing policies. 

Page 552



 
July 2009 

11 

Issues which must be taken into account include, but are not limited 
to: 
 

• development of a system functional specification  

• compatibility, if applicable, with other systems  

• provision of access by other users, if required and permitted  

• adequate security of data 

• standard levels of documentation, access control and Audit Trail  

• adequate sizing of the systems hardware; connectivity  

• sufficient user support, proper maintenance and back-up 
 

11 SOFTWARE LICENCES 
 

11.1 It is the responsibility of IT Services, systems administrators and users 
as appropriate, to ensure that appropriate software licences are 
obtained and maintained. 
 

11.2 IT Services, in conjunction with the Information Strategy Group (ISG), 
will ensure that, if the Policy laid out in this document is followed, the 
legal requirements of licences will be met. However, it is the 
responsibility of all departmental managers to ensure that this Policy 
is followed at all times. 
 

11.3 The Council’s Policy for Computer Software Management and Code 
of Conduct for the Use of Computer Software, included within Audit 
Guidelines for ICT Systems, by Internal Audit, should be followed at 
all times. 
 

12 ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATION (INCLUDING USE OF 
INTERNET) 
 

12.1 Electronic Communication includes: 
 

• use of E-mail within the Council, 

• use of E-mail to and from addresses outside the Council, 

• use of the Council's Intranet, and 

• general use of the Internet. 
 

12.2 Authorisation 
 
Users will be connected to the internet and/ or e-mail only after receipt 
by IT Services of a completed and suitably authorised INET01 Form.  
 

12.3 Officers must comply with the Council’s Code of Practice relating to 
the Use of Internet and Electronic Mail Facilities (reproduced at 
Appendix 4). The following points should be noted: 
 

 • Services will not be used to access, create, transmit or publish any 
material likely to cause offence. 

• The hardware and software, and all messages belong to the 
Council; messages can be traced to both sender and recipient.  

Page 553



 
July 2009 

12 

• Authorised staff in IT Services have the right to monitor the content 
of all e-mails and data which are transmitted to or from the 
Council’s equipment or downloaded to the Council’s equipment. 

• All Internet sites visited are recorded automatically. 

• Current Council personnel policies, including those on equal 
opportunities and harassment, apply. 

• Data Protection legislation applies. 

• Failure to comply with Council policies and procedures or 
legislation may lead to disciplinary and/or legal action. 

• All communications sent or received via the Government Connect 
Secure Extranet (GCSx) or the Government Secure Intranet (GSi) 
may be intercepted or monitored. 

• Other than by presentation of a robust business case, the 
automatic forwarding of electronic mail from a Wirral Council email 
account to another email account in a lower classification domain 
(ie – an internet email account such as hotmail) is prohibited by 
Government Connect. 

• Emails containing sensitive Council information must not be 
manually forwarded to personal email accounts in a lower 
classification domain. 

• Council email must not be used to forward so-called ‘chain emails’. 
 

12.4 
 

The facility to connect from any internet connected PC to the Council’s 
email system will be provided where there is a valid business reason. 
 

12.5 Encrypted Electronic Mail 
 
In instances where staff are required to send emails containing 
information which is of a PROTECT classification (see Appendix 2) or 
above, the Council’s encrypted email solution or a secure Government 
Connect email account must be used.  
 

12.6 Internet and Intranet Access 
 

 Failure to follow this Policy may put the Council’s data and networks 
at risk: therefore non-compliance may lead to disciplinary action. 
 

 (a) Access to the Internet and / or Intranet is only permitted on 
receipt of a properly authorised INET01 form. Control of 
access within a department is a departmental management 
issue. 
 

 (b) All access must be in a manner approved by and arranged 
through IT Services. 
 

 (c) Any data or information downloaded from the Internet must not 
be loaded to any other PC, networked or otherwise, until the 
data has been checked for viruses by a designated systems 
administrator or by IT Services. It is the user’s responsibility to 
ensure that this is done. 
 

Page 554



 
July 2009 

13 

 
 

13 PHYSICAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL SECURITY 
 

13.1 Everyone has a duty of care to ensure that equipment: 
 

• is not put at risk of damage or theft, and is used in accordance with 
safe working practices. For example: 

 

• The location of ICT equipment should be subject to a risk analysis, 
and should be sited to avoid unauthorised access, damage, theft 
interference and the effects of environmental or other hazards. 

• Equipment in transit must not be left unattended. 

• Equipment must not be removed or moved to another location 
without notification being given to IT Services and the appropriate 
changes made to the central asset register. 

• Eating and drinking should not take place in the immediate vicinity 
of equipment. 

 
13.2 Responsibility for the physical security of ICT facilities lies with the 

appropriate Building Manager in consultation with the ICT system 
owner. 
 

14 HUMAN RESOURCES SECURITY 
 

14.1 Since May 2004 all potential members of staff are subject to the Right 
to Work in the UK background security check. This involves 
establishing the identity of a potential employee by providing details 
of: 
 
1) Identity, proven by visibility of: 
 a) Full 10 year passport 
 Or: 
 b) Birth Certificate, and  
 c) An official document issued by a previous employer or 
 Government agency, such as a P45 form 
 
Additionally potential staff must provide details of: 
2) Employment history (past 3 years) 
3) Nationality and immigration status 
4) Criminal Record (unspent convictions only) 
 

14.2 Existing staff employed prior to May 2004 who require access to 
Government Connect services will also be subject to the Right to 
Work in the UK background check. 
 

14.3 In some instances a Criminal Records Bureau check will be required. 
If a candidate is successful in their application for a post requiring a 
CRB check, they will be required to authorise the Council to apply for 
disclosure of information from the Criminal Records Bureau. This 
authorisation must be given at the time the application is made. No 

Page 555



 
July 2009 

14 

check will be made, however, until an appointment is offered.  
 

14.4  The policy and procedure for checking existing employees was 
approved by Employment & Appointments Committee on 11 March 
2004 (Minute No. 95). In accordance with the CRB Code of Practice 
and because there is no contractual obligation on the employee, the 
Council will need to seek the existing employee’s consent before 
completing a CRB check. 
 

Page 556



 
July 2009 

15 

Appendix 1 
 

REPORTING AN ICT SECURITY INCIDENT 
 

 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 An ICT incident monitoring system is required to: 
 

i) Ensure all incidents are recognised and managed appropriately; 
ii) Enable Wirral Council to identify any patterns of problems and take 

action to rectify them. 
 
2. DEFINITION 
 
2.1 For Wirral Council’s purposes, an ICT security incident refers to any event that 

may cause loss or damage to Council ICT equipment or information that it holds. 
This includes the disclosure of information to someone not authorised to see it.  

 
2.2 Although the loss of equipment is significant, the most important aspect of 

managing an incident is to identify what Council information or data has been 
affected. The person reporting the incident should record as quickly as possible 
what information is involved. For example, if a Council PC, tablet or CD/Datastick 
is lost or stolen, a list of the information held on the device or media should be 
made. If the files in which the information is held are password protected or 
encrypted, this should also be recorded. 

 
2.3 ICT security incidents may be caused by accidental or deliberate actions. The 

Wirral Council ICT Security Policy requires all staff to report possible ICT security 
incidents so that remedial action can be taken and the chances of similar events 
occurring again are reduced. 

 
2.4 A reportable incident could include, but not be limited to: 
 

i. Any theft, damage or loss of ICT equipment (eg – theft of PCs or 
components); 

ii. Any unauthorised access, disclosure, deletion or amendment to 
information held on a computer; 

iii. Any unauthorised access, deletion or amendment to software held on a 
computer; 

iv. Any unauthorised personal use of ICT facilities; 
v. Any loading and use of unauthorised software (eg – games, shareware, 

hacking tools); 
vi. Any unauthorised copying of software; 
vii. Any disclosure of data to an unauthorised member of staff or any other 

person who is not authorised to see it; 
viii. Any occurrence of malicious software such as a virus; 
ix. Any unsolicited e-mail which is offensive or appears to be fraudulent; 
x. Any suspicious event (eg – computer equipment being moved, suspicion 

that a user’s computer has been tampered with).  
xi. Access to inappropriate websites and the downloading or storage of 

inappropriate images or material; 

Page 557



 
July 2009 

16 

xii. Connection of unauthorised or personal equipment to Council networks; 
xiii. Use of ICT facilities or systems to engage in fraudulent activities. 

 
3. PROCEDURES   
 
3.1 The following procedures should be followed: 
 

i. If any member of staff suspects an incident has occurred, they must 
contact their Line Manager immediately. Staff should NOT attempt to 
respond to any incident themselves. 

 
ii. The Line Manager must then report the incident to the IT Services 

Helpdesk on ext. 4080.  
 

iii. The relevant Department Security Officer (DSO) must be contacted and 
informed of the incident. 

 
iv. The relevant sections of the ICT Security Incident Form (at Annex 1) must 

be completed by the Line Manager and member of staff. 
 

If the incident involves the loss or unauthorised disclosure of any council 
information classified as ‘PROTECT’ or ‘RESTRICTED’ this must be 
recorded. 

 
v. The incident details will then be recorded on the Helpdesk system and 

passed to IT Services staff for further action. 
 
vi. IT Services staff will investigate.  
 
vii. The incident will be prioritised in terms of its potential impact and urgency. 

Services affected by the incident will be identified.  
 

viii. At this point, the Council’s Press & Public Relations Office must be 
informed by the Line Manager about incidents, particularly theft, internet 
misuse and any cases where Council information has been compromised. 
The Press Office must be contacted on 0151 691 8089 or 8089 to discuss 
the matter further.  

 
ix. As per the corporate insurance guidelines all losses involving theft or 

malicious damage must be reported to the Police. A crime reference 
number must be obtained and included on the ICT Security Incident Form. 

 
x. If it is suspected that the incident has involved fraudulent activity, then the 

Council’s Anti-Fraud and Corruption procedures must be followed. Details 
of Wirral’s anti-fraud policy can be found at 
http://10.107.1.50/Personnel/Forms/Anti-Fraud.doc. The relevant 
departmental investigating officer should be contacted.  

 
xi. If it is suspected that the incident involves misuse of the Council’s internet 

service, the ‘Internet Misuse Investigation Process’ must be followed. 
Details of the process can be found at Annex 2. The Director of Finance’s 
secretary should be contacted immediately on 0151 666 3057.  

Page 558



 
July 2009 

17 

 
xii. The relevant team in IT Services will take the appropriate action to resolve 

the incident. 
 
xiii. The incident will be logged and any relevant evidence collected and 

saved. If the incident involves any activity which could constitute 
misconduct, then the Council’s disciplinary procedures must be followed.  

 
xiv. If the incident involves stolen, lost or damaged ICT equipment it may be 

possible to submit an insurance claim. The Line Manager should contact 
the Insurance and Risk Management team on 0151 666 3413 for further 
details.  

 
xv. If the incident involves information, ICT equipment, systems or staff 

related to Government Connect services, the incident must be reported by 
IT Services to GovCertUK1 using the form at Annex 3. The IT Services 
Helpdesk should be contacted for information. 

 
xvi. If the incident involves loss or exposure of personal data the Information 

Manager should be consulted on the requirement to report the incident to 
the Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO).  

 
xvii. The incident will be reviewed by IT Services and corrective action taken to 

ensure the likelihood of a similar incident occurring is reduced. 
 

xviii. The Line Manager and DSO, in consultation with the SIRO and IAO,  
should agree if any action can be taken to within their section/department 
to minimise the risk of the incident reoccurring.  

 
xix. Incidents that have highlighted weaknesses in the Council’s ICT security 

framework, or have involved fraud or internet misuse, will be reported by 
IT Services to senior management via the Information Strategy Group 
(ISG). 

 
Annex 4 outlines the above key stages in the incident reporting and response 
process.  

 
4. ROLES & RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
4.1  Staff 

All Wirral Council staff are required to adhere to the ICT Security Policy and the 
Code of Practice for Use of Internet and Electronic Mail Facilities. If an ICT 
security incident is suspected users must report it immediately to their line 
manager. Under no circumstances should staff attempt to respond to an incident 
themselves. 
 

4.2  Line Manager 
When told of an ICT Security Incident a Line Manager they must ensure that any 
equipment involved remains untouched and that the DSO is contacted. They 

                                                   
1
 For more information see http://www.cesg.gov.uk/govcertuk/index.shtml  

Page 559



 
July 2009 

18 

must report the incident to the IT Services Helpdesk and complete the ICT 
Security Incident Form.  
 
All relevant details must be recorded, including details of any information and 
assets. If necessary the Press & PR office should be contacted. The corporate 
anti-fraud procedures should be followed if fraud is suspected. If appropriate an 
insurance claim should be submitted. 
 
If the incident involves inappropriate use of the internet the Council’s Internet 
Misuse – Investigation Process must be followed. Details of this are attached at 
Annex 2.  
 
The Line Manager should identify ways of reducing the likelihood of the incident 
reoccurring.  

 
4.3  Departmental Security Officer (DSO) 

When alerted to a suspected ICT Security Incident the DSO must ensure that the 
Line Manager and member of staff are taking the appropriate actions and provide 
assistance.  

 
4.4  Helpdesk 

The Helpdesk will record the details of the incident, log a job and forward it to the 
relevant officer within IT Services.  

 
4.5  IT Services 

IT Services will investigate, diagnose and classify any ICT Security Incident. If 
necessary they will invoke the relevant procedures if the case involves misuse of 
the internet. In certain circumstances the case will be forwarded to a specialist 
team to be dealt with. If the incident is related to the Government Connect 
programme it will be reported to GovCertUK.  

 
4.6 A summary report of incidents will be reported annually to ISG. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 560



 
July 2009 

19 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Security Incident Report Number Ask IT Services Helpdesk for this 

 
 

 
Date of incident  Time  

Staff Name  Telephone  

Section   Department  

Line Manager  

Location  
 

 
Nature of Incident Brief report outlining the circumstances and details of the incident. 

 
Indicate if the incident was accidental or deliberate. 

 
 

Information/data 
lost or 
compromised 

 
Information Classification – Not Protectively Marked, Protect, Restricted 

 
Description of Items 

Asset Number  

Asset Description  
 
 

Estimated Value of Items £ 
Will a claim be submitted?  Yes  No  Insurance Claim 
Details, and completed Insurance Form, to be forwarded to Risk and Insurance 
Management Team (link to form to be included here). 

 
IT Services Actions 

IT Services Officer  

Description of Response  
 
 

Asset Register Updated?  

GovCertUK contacted? If the incident relates to Government Connect services.  

 
Follow Up Actions 

By Line Manager / DSO 
 
 
 
 

 
Details of any further actions, including processes and procedures, that need to be 
undertaken to minimise the risk of incident reoccurring.  
 
 
 

By ITS 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

ICT SECURITY INCIDENT FORM  
 

Annex 1 

Page 561



 
July 2009 

20 

 
 
 

INTERNET MISUSE – INVESTIGATION PROCESS 
              
 
IF IMAGES OF A SEXUAL NATURE INVOLVING CHILDREN OR ANIMALS ARE 
DISCOVERED AT ANY STAGE DURING THIS PROCESS THE INVESTIGATION 
MUST BE STOPPED, THE EVIDENCE SECURED, THE COMPUTER PLACED IN 
SECURE STORAGE AND THE POLICE INFORMED. 
              
 
Line Managers 
 
If it is suspected that a member of staff has been accessing inappropriate Internet sites 
then line managers should adopt the following procedure. 
 
1. The member of staff should be escorted away from the computer, which should 

be left switched on, not touched and not left unattended. This will preserve as 
much evidence as possible. 
 

2. The line manager should report the incident to the Director of Finance's 
secretary, telephone number (666) 3057, and provide the following information: - 

• Contact name and telephone number 

• Location of the equipment 

• Computer base unit asset reference number 
 

3. If a member of ITS cannot attend site before the end of the working day the 
power cable should be disconnected from the base unit (not from the power 
socket) whilst the computer is still switched on. It should then be kept in secure 
storage.  
 

4. ITS will investigate the incident and report back to the line manager who should 
initiate the appropriate disciplinary action. 

 
ITS 
 
5. On receipt of a report a member of IT Services staff will be requested to 

investigate. 
 
6. As much investigative work as possible will be carried out and recorded prior to 

the computer being closed down. 
 
7. The computer will be transported to the IT Services workshop for further 

investigation, where it will be clearly labelled and securely stored. 
 
8. IT Services will analyse all firewall logs to determine the dates, times and which 

sites were accessed. 
 
9. A report of findings will be sent to the originating line manager for action. 

Annex 2 

Page 562



 
July 2009 

21 

 

 

 

 

GOVCERTUK INCIDENT REPORT FORM 

 

General Information 
Reported By:   Date/Time Detected:   

Department:   Date/Time Reported:  

Title:  Mobile:   

Phone:  Fax:   

Email Address:  

Postal Address:  

Additional Information:  

Incident Details 
Type of Incident:  

Status of the Department:  Classification of affected System:  

 
Incident Details:  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Site Details:  

 
Site Point of Contact:   

 
Actions Taken:  
 
 
 
 
 
For further information go to: http://www.cesg.gov.uk/govcertuk/index.shtml 
 

Annex 3 

Page 563



 
July 2009 

22 

A
n
n
e
x
 4
 

IC
T
 S
E
C
U
R
IT
Y
 IN

C
ID
E
N
T
 P
R
O
C
E
S
S
 

Incident identified / 
suspected 

Contact Department 
Security Officer 

Record incident on 
Helpdesk system 

Incident investigated & 
diagnosed 

Classify incident 

Forward incident to 
specialist team for 

appropriate resolution & 
recovery actions 

 

Insurance form 
completed and 
submitted? 

Close incident 

Review incident & 
implement corrective 

actions 

Anti-Fraud procedures 
invoked? 

Internet Misuse 
Investigation process 

invoked? 

STAFF LINE MANAGER DEPARTMENT 
SECURITY OFFICER 

HELPDESK ITS 

Complete IT Security 
Incident Form 

Contact Helpdesk 

Press & Public 
Relations Office 
contacted? 

 Actions with a dotted border must always be considered but 
executing them will depend on the individual incident. 

Incident reported to 
GovCertUK? 

Alert Line Manager 

Agree any actions to 
minimise likelihood of 
incident reoccurring in 
section / department 

Report serious 
incidents and patterns 
of incidents to ISG 

Ensure incidents within 
the department are 

dealt with in 
accordance with the 
corporate procedures 

Incident reported to 
senior management? 

Disciplinary 
procedures instigated? 

P
a
g

e
 5

6
4



July 2009 23 

Appendix 2 
 

 
GOVERNMENT PROTECTIVE MARKING SCHEME (GPMS) 

 
 

1. DEFINITIONS 
 
1.1. The national Government Protective Marking System provides a framework 

for people handling public sector information to recognize the security 
required for the information being held, processed or transmitted. Each 
protective marking is allocated an appropriate Impact Level (IL). The IL value 
is used in order to determine how much protection these assets should be 
given. To recognise the appropriate security required, the person handling the 
information must consider the impact of it being released outside its normal 
channels, or the impact of its loss or destruction. The GPMS has 7 impact 
levels – see below.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.2. A description of Top Secret and Secret is not given here. Anyone holding 

information that may have a higher IL than CONFIDENTIAL should contact 
the IT Services Helpdesk.  

 
1.3. The compromise of assets marked “CONFIDENTIAL” would be likely to: 

• Materially damage diplomatic relations, that is, cause formal protest or 
other sanctions 

• Prejudice individual security or liberty 
• Cause serious damage to the operational effectiveness of security or UK or 

allied forces 
• Cause serious damage to the continuing effectiveness of highly valuable 

security or intelligence operations 
• Work substantially against national finances or economic and commercial 

interests 
• Impede the investigation or facilitate the commission of serious crime 
• Seriously impede the development or operation of major government 

policies 
• Shut down or otherwise substantially disrupt significant national operations 

 

Protective Marking 
e-Government Impact 

Level 

TOP SECRET 6 

SECRET 5 

CONFIDENTIAL 4 

RESTRICTED 3 

PROTECT 
2 
1 

Not Protectively Marked 0 

Page 565



July 2009 24 

1.4 Compromise of assets marked “RESTRICTED” would be likely to: 
• Adversely affect diplomatic relations 
• Cause substantial distress to individuals 
• Make it more difficult to maintain the operational effectiveness of security of 

UK or allied forces 
• Cause financial loss or loss of earning potential to, or facilitate improper 

gain or advantage for, individuals or companies 
• Prejudice the investigation or facilitate the commission of crime 
• Breach proper undertakings to maintain the confidence of information 

provided by third parties 
• Impede the effective development or operation of government policies 
• Breach statutory restrictions on the disclosure of information (except the 

Data Protection Act – which can be addressed by other impact statements 
and/or the e-Government Security Framework) 

• Disadvantage government in commercial or policy negotiations with others 
• Undermine the proper management of public sector and its operations 

 
1.5 The compromise of assets marked “PROTECT” would be likely to:  

• Cause substantial distress to individuals 
• Breach proper undertakings to maintain the confidence of information 

provided by third parties 
• Breach statutory restrictions on the disclosure of information (except the 

Data Protection Act – which can be addressed by other impact statements 
and/or the e-government Security Framework).  

 
2. DISTINCTIONS 
 
2.1  At a working level within Wirral the baseline security objectives for PROTECT 

will be the same as for RESTRICTED, which are:  
• Handle, use and transmit with care.  
• Take basic precautions against accidental compromise (eg – unprotected 

data held on a datastick) or opportunist attack (eg – a laptop containing 
Council information being left on public transport). 

 
2.2 Depending on the severity of the circumstances either RESTRICTED or 

PROTECT may apply where compromise would be likely to:  
• Cause financial loss or loss of earning potential to, or facilitate improper 

gain or advantage for, individuals or companies.  
• Prejudice the investigation or facilitate the commission of crime.  
• Disadvantage government in commercial or policy negotiations with others.  

 
2.3 Care should be taken when using and describing information with the 

CONFIDENTIAL protective marking. Within the UK Government 
CONFIDENTIAL is an explicit marking with clearly defined handling 
requirements. Sometimes, within Wirral ‘Confidential’ is used as a marking to 
indicate that information has a requirement for protection. Care should be 
taken to ensure that information protectively marked with the national 
CONFIDENTIAL marking should be handled accordingly.  

 

Page 566



July 2009 25 

2.4 Wirral staff must also consider the affect of the aggregation of information. For 
example, an individual instance of a personnel file may be marked as 
PROTECT. However, if a number of personnel files all marked as PROTECT 
are stored on a database then the aggregated affect of holding the information 
together may increase the classification of the data as a whole. Consequently 
the collective marking would rise to RESTRICTED. If you are in doubt of the 
aggregation affect of the information you hold you should consult the system 
owner or the ITS Helpdesk.  

 
 PROTECT  RESTRICTED  

Description  Compromise of information would 
be likely to affect individuals in an 
adverse manner.  

Compromise of information would be 
likely to affect the national interests in 
an adverse manner.  

Guidelines  • Cause substantial distress to 
individuals.  

• Breach proper undertakings to 
maintain the confidence of 
information provided by third 
parties.  

• Breach statutory restrictions on 
the disclosure of information.  

 

• Affect diplomatic relations 
adversely.  

• Hinder the operational 
effectiveness or security of the UK 
or friendly forces.  

• Affect the internal stability or 
economic well-being of the UK or 
friendly countries adversely.  

 

Principles and  
Clearance  
Levels  

• Information classified as 
PROTECT should be held, 
processed, transmitted and 
destroyed with discretion to make 
compromise highly unlikely.  

 
• Only staff cleared by the 

department to access PROTECT 
level or above are authorised to 
handle the information. This 
includes all staff involved with 
transmission, storage and 
disposal.  

• Information classified as 
RESTRICTED should be held, 
processed, transmitted and 
destroyed with discretion to make 
compromise highly unlikely.  

 
• Only staff cleared by the 

department to access 
RESTRICTED level or above are 
authorised to handle the 
information. This includes all staff 
involved with transmission, storage 
and disposal.  

Electronic  
Transmission  

(e-mail)  

All PROTECT information may be 
transmitted across public networks 
within the UK or across any 
networks overseas i.e. across the 
internet.  

All RESTRICTED information 
transmitted across public networks 
within the UK or across any networks 
overseas must be encrypted using an 
approved system.  

Electronic  
Transmission  

(Fax)  

All PROTECT information may be 
transmitted across the PSTN using 
a fax.  

All RESTRICTED information may not 
be transmitted by fax at any time.  

Electronic  
Storage  

Electronic files (including 
databases) must be protected 
against illicit internal use or intrusion 
by external parties through a 
judicious selection of two or more of 
the following mechanisms:  
 
a. User challenge and 
authentication (username/password 
or digital ID/Certificate).  

Electronic files (including databases) 
must be protected against illicit 
internal use or intrusion by external 
parties through a judicious selection of 
two or more of the following 
mechanisms:  
 
a. User challenge and authentication 
(username/password or digital 
ID/Certificate).  

Page 567



July 2009 26 

 PROTECT  RESTRICTED  

b. Logging use at level of individual.  
c. Firewalls and intrusion-detection 
systems and procedures; server 
authentication.  
d. OS-specific/application-specific 
security measures. 

b. Logging use at level of individual.  
c. Firewalls and intrusion-detection 
systems and procedures; server 
authentication.  
d. OS-specific/application-specific 
security measures. 

Electronic  
Disposal  

Electronic files should be disposed 
of in a way that makes 
reconstruction highly unlikely.  

Electronic files should be disposed of 
in a way that makes reconstruction 
highly unlikely.  

Voice 
Telephone 

Conversation  

Information protectively marked with 
PROTECT can be spoken about 
over the telephone.  

Departments should already be aware 
from S(E)N 06-10 issued on 22 
September 2006 that 
telecommunications made at 
RESTRICTED (Confidentiality IL 3) 
level can no longer be guaranteed as 
secure. Appropriate secure 
communications should be used.  

Manual  
Transmission  

• Within a single physical location. 
As determined by the DSO or 
equivalent.  

• Transfer between establishments 
within or outside UK:  

 
a. May be carried by ordinary postal 
service or commercial courier firms, 
provided the envelope/package3 is 
closed and the word PROTECT is 
not visible.  
b. The outer envelope must clearly 
show a return address in case 
delivery is unsuccessful.  
c. In some cases due to the nature 
of the contents, identifying the 
originating department may be 
inappropriate and a return PO Box 
alone should be used.  

• Within a single physical location. 
As determined by the DSO or 
equivalent.  

• Transfer between establishments 
within or outside UK:  

 
a. May be carried by ordinary postal 
service or commercial courier firms, 
provided the envelope/package is 
closed and the word RESTRICTED is 
not visible.  
b. The outer envelope should be 
addressed to an individual by name 
and title. RESTRICTED mail for/from 
overseas posts should be carried by 
diplomatic airfreight.  
c. The outer envelope must clearly 
show a return address in case 
delivery is unsuccessful. d. In some 
cases due to the nature of the 
contents, identifying the originating 
department may be inappropriate and 
a return PO Box alone should be 
used.  

Manual 
Storage  

• In an office environment, 
PROTECT material should be 
held in a lockable storage area or 
cabinet.  

• In a storage facility, all material 
should be protected through 
controlled access to the storage 
areas, and through a secure 
physical environment.  

 

• In an office environment, 
RESTRICTED material should be 
held in a lockable storage area or 
cabinet.  

• In a storage facility, all material 
should be protected through 
controlled access to the storage 
areas, and through a secure 
physical environment.  

 

Manual 
Disposal  

Disposed of or destroyed in a way 
that makes reconstruction highly 

Disposed of or destroyed in a way that 
makes reconstruction highly unlikely.  

Page 568



July 2009 27 

 PROTECT  RESTRICTED  

unlikely.  

 
2.5 The Council provides a secure environment for its information. The primary 

security principle is that information should be kept within this environment 
and be made available for authorised staff to access. Occasionally it may be 
necessary to use mobile media to temporarily hold Council information. 

  
2.6 Mobile devices (such as data sticks/flash drives, laptops, tablets, PDAs) must 

only be used to transfer information or data marked PROTECT, 
RESTRICTED or CONFIDENTIAL when there is no other more secure 
alternative available. In such cases the device and, ideally, the information 
should be encrypted.  

 
3. EXAMPLES OF USE OF PROTECT AND RESTRICTED IN WIRRAL 
 COUNCIL 
 
3.1 PROTECT refers to information relating to an individual. For example, 

information concerning parents who have registered for free school meals 
should be labelled PROTECT when dealing with an individual case. In 
instances where this information is viewed collectively, such as a database 
report showing all Wirral parents who claim free school meals, then the 
labelling will change to RESTRICTED.  

 
3.2 Information that is personal and sensitive should be labelled RESTRICTED, 

even if it relates to one record of an individual files. This may include Social 
Services case files. 

 
3.3 If you wish to discuss the classification of specific information contact the ITS 

Helpdesk. 

Page 569



July 2009 28 

  Appendix 3 

 
USE OF MOBILE DEVICES 

 
 
1. WHAT IS THE DEFINITION OF A MOBILE DEVICE? 
 
1.1 The Council provides a secure environment for its information. The primary 

security principle is that information should be kept within this environment 
and be made available for authorised staff to access. Occasionally it may be 
necessary to use mobile devices to temporarily hold Council information. 

 
1.2 A mobile device is a portable device that is used to access Council ICT 

systems and store or transmit data from any location.  Examples include 
laptops; tablet PC’s, Personal Digital Assistants, Smartphones, mobile phones 
and USB flash drives/data sticks.   

 
2. PURPOSE OF PROVIDING MOBILE DEVICES 
 
2.1 The Council provides mobile devices to enable staff to access ICT and 

telecommunications systems from any location as part of their employment.   
 
2.2 Mobile devices that are not supplied by the Council must not be connected to 

the Council network.   
 
2.3 Mobile devices that are supplied by the Council must not be connected to any 

non-Council equipment or networks. 
 
2.4 Personal mobile phones are permitted but they should be set to silent or 

discreet mode during working hours and only used in emergency situations. 
 
2.5 Only Council-supplied USB flash drives/data sticks must be used on Council 

devices and network. These can be purchased through Wirral’s iProcurement 
system. Personal USB flash drives/data sticks must not be used.  

 
3. PERSONAL USE OF COUNCIL SUPPLIED MOBILE DEVICES 
 
3.1 In emergency situations, including circumstances where you are unexpectedly 

required to work out of hours or at an alternative location, minimal use of your 
mobile device for personal use is permitted, as long as it does not interfere 
with work commitments and does not constitute misuse. 

 
3.2 Minimal personal use means infrequently and for seconds, rather than 

minutes and should be kept to unavoidable, emergency situations. 
 
4. THINGS YOU MUST NOT DO 
 
4.1 Except where it is strictly and necessarily required for your work, you must not 

use your mobile device to do the following: 
 

Page 570



July 2009 29 

X  Transmit picture messages. 
X  Transmit video messages. 
X  Download music or video files. 
X  Download ring tones or games.  
X  Make international phone calls.  
X  Send international SMS text messages. 
X  Dial or text premium rate phone numbers. 
X  Use multimedia services. 

 
4.2 The above list gives examples of “inappropriate” use but is neither exclusive 

nor exhaustive. 
 
5. MONITORING THE USE OF MOBILE DEVICES 
 
5.1 The Council has a duty to monitor how the organisation operates and how its 

individual employees perform whilst at work.  Lawful monitoring is undertaken 
to safeguard employees as well as protect the interests of the Council and its 
customers.  It is also undertaken so that Managers can ensure the smooth 
running of their Department and to enable the management of resources. 

 
5.2 Be aware that the usage of mobile devices will be monitored to ensure that it 

is in accordance with the policies and procedures of the Council.  
 
5.3 A summary of personal usage above the accepted minimum and the 

associated costs will be provided to individuals.  These costs will be reclaimed 
by the Council.  

 
5.4 Any personal usage above the permitted minimal use that is not repaid will be 

dealt with in accordance with the Council's disciplinary procedure where 
necessary.  In disciplinary situations the Council will be the arbiter of whether 
or not the minimal personal use test has been met 

 
5.5 All mobile devices must be available to be returned to the Council on request 

for updates and auditing purposes. 
 
6. MOBILE DEVICES AND THE LAW 
 
6.1 Your Mobile Device must not be used in a way that contravenes the Law.  
 
6.2 Under the Freedom of Information Act, any copy of a file held on a Wirral 

mobile device will be accessible to the general public.  If you choose to delete 
this file after you know that it has been requested then you are committing an 
offence for which you, not the Council, will be personally liable. 

 
6.3 Under the Data Protection Act we have a duty to protect personal or sensitive 

information.  Some mobile devices have very limited security facilities and 
should not be used to store personal, sensitive or confidential information 
without additional controls.  

 

Page 571



July 2009 30 

6.4 The law (Road Vehicles (Construction and Use) (Amendment) (No. 4) 
Regulations 2003) prohibits drivers from using a hand-held mobile phone, or 
similar device, while driving.  Employees must never use a phone while 
driving and ensure that their phone is switched off when driving.   

 
7. TRANSFER OF COUNCIL INFORMATION 
 
7.1 Mobile devices must only be used to transfer Council information if there is a 

business purpose to do so and when no other more secure means is available 
(such as encrypted email). 

 
7.2 If your role requires you to use a mobile device which will transfer Council 

information you must alert your Line Manager who will confirm there is a 
business requirement. The department Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO) 
must authorise your use of the mobile device and ensure the department 
register is updated with your name, section, contact details, type of device, 
reason for transferring Council information and exactly what information is 
involved. 

 
7.3 If the information being transferred is classified as PROTECT or above (see 

Appendix 2 for further details) then appropriate encryption must be used to 
protect the device and the information it holds. 

 
8. YOUR RESPONSIBILITIES AS A MOBILE DEVICE USER 
 
8.1 It is your responsibility to: 
 

• Familiarise yourself with this guidance before using a council supplied 
mobile device.  

• Assess the risks associated with using your mobile device 
• Keep your mobile device secure at all times. If a device is to be left in a 
Council building overnight it must be locked away and out of sight. Advice 
on protecting your mobile device and using your mobile device in a public 
place is given below. 

 
9. THREATS TO MOBILE DEVICES 
 
9.1 Staff should be aware of the threats associated with using a mobile device. 

These include, but are not limited to: 
• Theft 
• Loss 
• Damage 
• Compromise of information 
• Malicious attack (eg – viruses) 

 
10. USING YOUR MOBILE DEVICE IN A PUBLIC PLACE – A QUICK GUIDE 
 
10.1 Care should be taken when using mobile computing facilities in public places, 

meeting rooms and other unprotected areas outside of the Council’s 
premises.   

Page 572



July 2009 31 

 
10.2 Be vigilant and don’t invite crime: 

• Make sure you have the right data access controls such as user account 
names and passwords or security tokens and that you use them properly. 

• Secure your device to an immovable object if possible. 
• Never leave your device unattended in public places. 
• Enter passwords securely, just as you would enter a PIN number. 
• Beware of shoulder surfers (people who watch your screen over your 

shoulder). 
• Log out or use a screen saver with a password when you are not using the 

device. 
• Do not give mobile devices to unauthorised persons (including members of 

your family). 
• Carry mobile devices discretely on your person or in hand luggage. 
• Never leave your device in view when left in a car. 
• Report theft or loss of your device to the police and obtain an incident 

number. 
• Report theft, damage or loss of your mobile device to the IT Services 

Helpdesk on ext.4080. 
 
10.3 Do your housekeeping: 

• Make sure you take regular backups of the data on your mobile device if it 
is the only copy of the data. 

• Make sure your anti-virus software is kept up to date. 
• If you no longer need a file then delete it.  
• Don’t eat or drink near your device. 

 
 
 
 

Page 573



July 2009 32 

Appendix 4 
 

USE OF INTERNET AND ELECTRONIC MAIL FACILITIES 
 

CODE OF PRACTICE - EMPLOYEES 
 

This document outlines the policy adopted by the Council for the acceptable use of 
computer network facilities, including electronic mail and the Internet. 
 
Anyone authorised to use such facilities is required to abide by the conditions laid 
down in this policy.  Any breach of these conditions could result in disciplinary action 
or in some cases a criminal prosecution. 
 
All users are expected to demonstrate a responsible approach in the use of 
resources available to them, and to show consideration for other users, both those 
using the Council’s facilities and those with whom they may come into contact on the 
Internet.  Users are expected to behave in a legal, moral and ethical fashion that is 
consistent with Council policies and standards. 
 
It must be recognised that any view communicated over the Internet will be deemed 
to be the view of the Council, and will in most cases be treated as equivalent to 
correspondence sent by traditional formal routes.  Normal rules for authorising 
correspondence and statements should therefore be applied to electronic 
communication. 
 
Access to the Internet by personal computers (including portables) provided by the 
Council must use only the approved service providers.  (Downloading “free” 
browsers etc. may significantly change the way in which the PC is organised, which 
may in turn give rise to support problems.) 
 
Users must not load unauthorised software, including games, on personal computers 
provided by the Council. 
 
Users should print only essential material, and should check the length of a 
document before printing. 
 
Use of the facilities provided will be routinely monitored and any unauthorised or 
unacceptable use could result in disciplinary measures. 
 
All communications sent or received via the Government Connect Secure Extranet 
(GCSx) or the Government Secure Intranet (GSi) may be intercepted or monitored. 
 
The automatic forwarding of electronic mail from a Wirral Council email account to 
another email account in a lower classification domain (ie – an internet email account 
such as hotmail) is prohibited. 
 
The manual forwarding of Council emails to personal email accounts in a lower 
classification domain is prohibited. 
 
The use of Council email facilities to forward so-called ‘chain emails’ is prohibited. 

Page 574



July 2009 33 

 
Unacceptable Deliberate Use 
 
The following activities, whilst not an exhaustive list, are unacceptable: 
 
1. The access to or creation, transmission or publication of any offensive, 

discriminatory, pornographic, obscene or indecent images, sounds, data or 
other material. 

 
2. The access to or creation, transmission or publication of any data capable of 

being displayed or converted to such offensive, pornographic, obscene or 
indecent images, sounds, data or other material. 

 
3. The creation, transmission or publication of any material which is designed or 

likely to cause offence, inconvenience or needless anxiety, or which may 
intimidate or create an atmosphere of harassment. 

 
4. The creation, transmission or publication of defamatory material. 
 
5. The receipt or transmission of material that infringes the copyright of another 

person. 
 
6. The creation, transmission or publication of any material in violation of Data 

Protection legislation or of any UK or International laws or regulations.  Such 
activity may constitute a criminal offence. 

 
7. The transmission of unsolicited commercial or advertising material to other 

users of the Council’s network or users of the Internet. 
 
8. The deliberate unauthorised access to facilities, services, data or resources 

within the Council or any other network or service accessible via the Internet, or 
attempts to gain such access. 

 
9. Unauthorised access to the electronic mail of another individual. 
 
10. Deliberate activities with any of the following characteristics or that by their 

nature could result in: 
• wasting staff or other users’ efforts or network resources 
• corrupting or destroying other users’ data 
• violating the privacy of other users 
• disrupting the work of other users 
• using the internet in a way that denies service to other users (for example 

by overloading the connection to the network by unnecessarily, 
excessively and thoughtlessly downloading large files) 

• continuing to use any item of software or to access any material after 
being requested to cease its use because of disruption caused to the 
functioning of the Council’s network or the Internet (for example utilities 
designed to broadcast network-wide messages) 

• the introduction or propagation of viruses 
 

Page 575



July 2009 34 

11. Where the Internet is being used to access another network, any abuse of the 
acceptable use policy of that network. 

 
12. Any use of the Internet or other facilities that could damage the reputation of the 

Council. 

Page 576



WIRRAL COUNCIL 
 
CABINET – 23 JULY 2009 
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF REGENERATION 
 

ESTABLISHING A REPOSSESSION PREVENTION FUND  
 

 
1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report outlines the award of grant by the Department for Communities and Local 

Government (CLG) to the Council, to establish a Repossession Prevention Fund to 
enable the Housing Options Team to offer small loans (where possible) to households 
who are at risk of homelessness through repossession or eviction in order to enable 
them to remain in their home. 
 

1.2 It is recommended that Cabinet agrees to the establishment of a Fund to be 
administered according to the guidance outlined by the CLG and approves that the grant 
awarded for the scheme is used for this purpose.  
 

2.0 BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 Possession Claims and Orders in Birkenhead County Court for the last 2 years show 

over 300 re-possession orders in total being made per month (Graph 1 below). 
 

Graph 1: Possession Claims and Orders in Birkenhead 

Possession Claims and Orders Birkenhead County 

Court 2008-09

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

Q1 07 Q2 07 Q3 07 Q4 07 Q1 08 Q2 08 Q3 08 Q4 08

Quarter

N
u
m
b
e
r

Mortgage possession claims issued
Mortgage possession orders made
Landlord possession claims issued
Landlord possession order made

 
2.2 Only a minority of cases who are repossessed through the Birkenhead courts approach 

the Council for assistance. However, although overall homeless acceptances in Wirral 
have decreased significantly in the last year due to an emphasis on early intervention 
and prevention work, acceptances due to mortgage arrears have risen. Graph 2 shows 

Agenda Item 28

Page 577



25 cases were accepted due to mortgage repossession in 2008-09.  This represented 
13% of all homeless acceptances in Wirral, compared with 6% the year before. 

 
Graph 2: Homeless Acceptances for financial reasons Wirral 03-09 

Homeless Acceptances through Financial 

Problems in Wirral 03-09

0

20

40

60

80

03-04 04-05 05-06 06-07 07-08 08-09

Year

N
u
m
b
e
r

Mortgage arrears (repossession or other loss)
Rent arrears on LA housing
Rent arrears on social tenancy
Rent arrears private sector

 
2.3 The Government has initiated a further scheme to help people at risk of repossession 

due to the changing economic climate and the impact this may have on homelessness. 
The Council of Mortgage Lenders has revised the projected number of repossession for 
2009 downwards by 10,000 from earlier estimates of 75,000. The revised figures reflect 
the extensive government support in place as well as lenders' widespread use of 
forbearance, which together is expected to help some struggling homeowners.  The 
Government’s earlier schemes have included the following: 

 

• Funding of debt advice services and protection through the courts by introducing a 
pre-action protocol in November 2008 to ensure that appropriate measures are taken 
by the lender before taking any Court action. The result of this, in reducing re-
possessions can be seen in the graph on page 1 as the number of mortgage 
possession claims and orders made both fell in quarter 4 after the protocol was 
introduced.  However, recent economic forecasts are for mortgage repossessions to 
peak in 2 years time. 

   

• Extra funding for the provision of the court duty scheme to assist unrepresented 
households being repossessed at court stage. 

 

• Enhanced Support for Mortgage Interest (SMI) which meets some or all of the 
interest payments on a mortgage for those on Income Support, income-based 
Jobseekers Allowance, income-related Employment and Support Allowance or State 
Pension Credit. The waiting time has been reduced from 39 weeks to 13 weeks and 
the capital limit increased from £100,000 to £200,000. This scheme is administered 
by Job Centre Plus office. 

 

• Homeowners Mortgage Support (HMS)  which is aimed at people at risk of  
repossession because they may have recently experienced a drop in income through 
reduced hours, overtime curtailment, loss of one income. It is a last resort after 
people have explored all other options with their lender. 

Page 578



 

• The National Mortgage Rescue Scheme (MRS). A £285m package which offers two 
distinct products of a Mortgage to Rent Option or Shared Equity Option to prevent 
vulnerable households from becoming homeless. All referrals to the scheme must go 
through the Local Housing Authority.  The scheme is then run in partnership with the 
local Citizens Advice Bureau (CAB) and Registered Social Landlord (RSL) Home 
Buy Agent who draws down the money. 

 
2.4 In addition to the above the Government intends to legislate during 2009 to give tenants 

greater protection from their landlords when they are faced with eviction through 
mortgage arrears. 
 

2.5 In December 2008,  the Department for Communities and Local Government (CLG) 
asked Wirral to pilot the Mortgage Rescue Scheme (MRS) before it was nationally 
launched on 16th January 2009. By the end of May 2009, Wirral’s Housing Options Team 
had received 57 approaches about the MRS with 28 being referred to the Citizens Advice 
Bureau (CAB) for money/debt advice and 4 cases proceeding with the MRS. In many of 
the cases, good debt and money advice has enabled households threatened with re-
possession to re-order their finances and meet their mortgage payments. 

 
2.6   In the 2009 Budget, the Chancellor announced a further £20 million Repossession 

Prevention Fund to enable local authorities to extend small loans to families at risk of 
homelessness through repossession or eviction. Wirral was recently informed by the 
CLG that it would be awarded £123,000 as a one off payment from this fund in addition 
to the existing Homelessness Programme Grant of £51,000. 

 

3.0 REPOSSESSION PREVENTION FUND SCHEME – GUIDANCE FROM CLG 

 
3.1 CLG has issued Guiding Principles for the use of the Fund. Financial assistance through 

small loans (where possible) will allow money to be recycled to help other households in 
the local authority area in the future. However, final decisions on efficient and equitable 
deployment of the funding rests with local authorities and should be based on individual 
local need and circumstances 

 
3.2 The Fund is to be used for homeowners who are struggling with their mortgage costs 

and tenants in the social and private rented sector who are struggling to meet their rental 
payments, through no fault of their own, due to the results of the recession, due to loss of 
earnings or reduced earnings and are threatened with repossession or eviction and 
therefore at risk of becoming homeless.   

 
3.3  The loans will normally be between £1,000 to £3,000 per household, with a maximum of 

£5000, and available at 0% interest.  The payment will normally be made to a creditor on 
an applicant’s behalf and will be repayable at an amount which is affordable and 
reasonable for the client to pay back over an agreed period of time. 

 
3.4 The loans will only be available to clients who have received and agreed to act on debt 

or money advice to resolve the problem that has led to the arrears accumulating and is 
able to meet any existing or newly negotiated payments. Loans will not be made where 
there is another way to resolve the problem or where there is a history of rent or 
mortgage arrears. 

 
3.5 The fund is not normally intended to be used to fully clear the mortgage or rent arrears 

but the loan will be made to ‘recover’ the position where all other options have failed. 
 

Page 579



3.6      Loans should be made on the basis of all parties being able to compromise on the debt 
owed to resolve the problem which is putting the householder at risk of repossession or 
eviction. 

 
4.0 REPOSSESSION PREVENTION FUND – WHAT CAN BE COVERED? 
 
4.1.    CLG has issued a list of examples of where the fund can be used but stresses that this is 

not exhaustive.  What they want to see is a reduction in re-possessions.  The following 
are included in their list.  

 

• A loan to cover lender write down on Mortgage Rescue cases where the householder 
is in negative equity. 

• A loan to reduce mortgage arrears where the lender cannot apply forbearance 
measures due to the level of arrears. 

• A loan to reduce or part settle second charges on a property where they have been 
taken out as security. 

• A loan for tenants in the private rented or social sector to reduce the level of rent 
arrears. 

• A loan or one off payment to the lender or landlord for a household that is due to be 
evicted or repossessed but agreement has been reached, after the intervention of 
the Housing Options team, to a repayment schedule. 

• A loan to householders threatened with imminent repossession with payment to the 
lender and could be secured against the property. 

• A joint agreement made between landlord/lender, household and the Housing 
Options team to resolve arrears. This could be arranged that a third of the arrears 
could be paid through a hardship payment, a third through a loan from the fund, and 
a third written off by the landlord/lender. 

• An emergency payment to lenders, social or private landlords at the point where a 
possession order is to be enforced but where it would be possible to hold off whilst 
further intervention from money/debt advice has a good prospect of resolving the 
overall problem. A short term guarantee could be made to cover payments whilst 
intervention is taking place. 

 
5.0 THE SCHEME IN WIRRAL 
 
5.1 In Wirral, subject to Members agreement, the Prevention Fund will be managed and 

administered by the Housing Options Team who are already working with CAB and the 
Welfare Rights Service on providing money and debt advice, and administering the 
Mortgage Rescue Scheme.   

 
5.2 All the circumstances of applicants approaching the team for help with mortgage or 

repossession difficulties will be assessed on a case by case basis by a Housing Advisor 
and the suitability of the various schemes as outlined of this report will be considered.  If 
the needs of the households can be most appropriately met by use of the Repossession 
Prevention Fund, the Housing Advisor will progress the use of the fund following the 
guiding principles provided by CLG. 

 
5.3    The arrangements for a householder repaying the loan will be in accordance with the 

Council’s current financial arrangements and procedures so as to maximise the use of 
the fund. 

  
5.4    The Housing Options Manager will monitor the use of the fund and will be required to 

provide feedback to the CLG on the effectiveness of the fund via monthly statistical 
return.  

 Page 580



5.5 Given the small proportion of households who are re-possessed that approach the 
Council for assistance, the Housing Options Team will also seek approval from CLG for a 
small proportion of the fund to be spent on publicity material.  It may also be necessary 
to increase the capacity of CAB or Welfare Rights to provide specialist financial advice to 
clients and approval will be sought from CLG to use the fund for this purpose if required 
due to an increase in clients requiring assistance. As part of the Homeless Strategy 
Action Plan, the Housing Options Team is working with RSLs to prevent and alleviate 
homelessness.  Wirral Partnership Homes has already indicated that it would be 
interested in jointly funding some debt advice.  

 
6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 Wirral already receives £51,000 from the Homelessness Programme Grant. In line with 

good practice this is currently used to fund two Officers in the Housing Options team.  In 
addition Wirral is to receive a one off payment of £123,000 as part of a £20 million 
government package to use as a Repossession Prevention Fund. 

 
6.2    The fund will be carefully managed and monitored by the Housing Options team to ensure 

that it is used according to the guidance issued by CLG and to the best purposes for the 
prevention of repossessions and evictions.  This in turn will reduce the Council’s 
expenditure on statutory homeless duties to households who would otherwise become 
homeless. 

 
7.0 STAFFING IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 There are no additional staffing implications for the Council as the existing Housing 

Advisors will implement the fund. 
 
7.2 There may be a need to increase the capacity of the CAB or welfare rights to provide 

specialist financial advice but this will be funded from the money allocated by CLG 
subject to their approval. 

 
8.0 EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 The establishment of a Repossession Prevention Fund will provide a service for all  
           members of the community regardless of age, gender, disability, ethnic background, faith 

or sexual orientation and will monitor clients in these groups.   
 

9.0 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 The Repossessions Prevention Fund will contribute to sustainable communities through 

retaining people in their existing home, thereby reducing turnover and disruption to all 
family members and ensuring commitment to their property and area.  

 
10.0 LOCAL AGENDA 21 IMPLICATIONS 

 
10.1 This report has no Local Agenda 21 implications. 
 
11.0 PLANNING IMPLICATIONS 

 
11.1 This report has no Planning implications. 

Page 581



12.0 ANTI-POVERTY IMPLICATIONS 
 

12.1 The fund will assist with tackling the effects of the present financial and economic climate 
on households within the borough.    

 
13.0 SOCIAL INCLUSION IMPLICATIONS 
 
13.1 The recession and economic downturn has an impact on all types of householders on 

the Wirral; and this fund can be used to help all these type of households. 
 

14.0 LOCAL MEMBER SUPPORT IMPLICATIONS 
 
14.1 This report will be of interest to all Members of the Council. 
 
15.0 BACKGROUND PAPERS 
  
15.1 CLG Guidance on the Preventing Repossession Fund June 2009.  

Mortgage Rescue Scheme LA Guidance May 2009. 
 
16.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
16.1 That Members agree that the grant of £123,000 awarded to the Council by CLG be used 

to establish a Repossessions Prevention Fund and that this will be managed and 
administered by the Housing Options team within the Regeneration Department. 

 
 

Alan Stennard 
Director of Regeneration 
 
 
This report was prepared by Linda Collins and Catherine Green who can be contacted 
on 666 5514 / 5513 
 

 

Page 582



WIRRAL COUNCIL 
 
CABINET - 23 JULY 2009 
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF REGENERATION 
 

PROPOSED EXTENSION TO LANDICAN CREMATORIUM WITH NEW CREMATORS 
AND MERCURY ABATEMENT EQUIPMENT – SCHEME & ESTIMATE REPORT 
 

 
1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1.1 This report asks members to agree, and refer to Council, an increase in the capital 
funding for the installation of new cremators at Landican Crematorium and authorise the 
Director of Technical Services to obtain all necessary tenders for the proposed work. 

 

2.0 BACKGROUND 
 

2.1 The Department of the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) has issued 
statutory guidance for crematoria - DEFRA Process Guidance Note PG5/02(04) as 
amended, and subsequent and additional guidance notes. In it is the requirement for 
50% reduction in mercury emissions from crematoria in the UK by 31 December 2012.  
As Landican Crematorium currently undertakes in excess of 3000 cremations per year, 
the local authority regulator has been informed that Landican Crematorium will meet the 
requirement by December 2012. 

 

2.2 An allocation of £3 million has been set aside in the Council’s Capital Programme for 
2009 – 2011 for the replacement of the existing cremators, the installation of mercury 
abatement equipment, and associated building works.  The proposals in this report 
include for the installation of new equipment to meet the government statutory 
requirements, and ancillary improvement works and include for a considerable reduction 
in both gas consumption and CO2 emissions. 

 

2.3 The crematorium undertakes around 3,000 cremations each year with an income of £1.5 
million.  This, along with the income from burials (around £800,000) balances the running 
costs for the cemeteries and crematorium service.  Without this proposed investment 
there will necessarily be a reduction in income from the crematorium arising from penalty 
payment for non compliance. 

 

3.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

3.1 All Professional Services for the scheme are being provided by staff within the Technical 
Services Department. 

 

The estimated costs for the works are: 
 

Preparatory building work £    174,000.00 
Main Building Works to accommodate new cremation 
equipment, with associated alteration works £ 1,120,000.00 
Installation of new cremators and mercury abatement  
equipment and removal of existing cremators £ 1,565,000.00 
Creation of internal stores, transfer of staff facilities, and 
alteration to Central Chapel facilities £    162,000.00 
Redecoration of the three chapels  £      23,000.00 
Contingency £      25,000.00 

 Total estimated building costs £ 3,069,000.00 
 

Agenda Item 29

Page 583



Departmental Charges at 13.5%, including: 
Professional Fees 
Clerk Of Works Salary 
CDM Coordinator 
Building Regulation Fees  
Planning Fees £   414,000.00 

 Total building costs including fees £ 3,483,000.00 
 

The funding for the scheme is as follows: 
 Capital Programme 2009/10 £1,500,000.00 
 Capital Programme 2010/11 £1,500,000.00 

To complete the proposed works, as estimated would require  
a variation to the Capital Programme (recommendation 2) £   483,000.00 

 Overall anticipated funding £ 3,483,000.00 
 

This is subject to competitive tender and recent tenders have been below estimates. 
 

3.2 Increased costs will be incurred by the introduction of mercury abatement to Landican 
Crematorium, including the costs of running and maintaining the additional plant, the 
purchase of the carbon filtering agent, and the disposal of the mercury. These additional 
revenue costs are considerably reduced by the installation of new cremators.  

 
4.0 STAFFING IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 This report includes arrangements for improved working conditions for crematorium staff, 

including new staff facilities. Staff Health and Safety will also be considerably improved 
using the new cremators, with reduced heat and dust and less manual handling 
requirements for both coffins and cremated remains.  Additional duties, however, will 
include handling drums of re-agent required for the mercury abatement process. 

 
4.2 There are no other staffing implications arising from this report. 
 
5.0 EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 The creation of a new accessible and dust-free Committal Room will allow for bereaved 

families to participate in witnessing the committal of coffins into the cremator when this is 
an ethnic or religious requirement. 

 
5.2 DDA access will be provided for both the bereaved and service-providers with 

disabilities. 
 
5.3 There is already an accessible WC adjacent to the three chapels for public use. The 

proposals include a new accessible WC for use by staff and visitors to the Crematorium, 
including ministers and funeral directors. 

 
5.4 The creation of an additional discreet Ministers’ Changing Room will allow for both male 

and female ministers of any ethnic or religious background. 
 
5.5 There are no implications in this report for equal opportunities in relation to the elderly.  
 
6.0 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 The local Crime Reduction Officer has been consulted on the design of this scheme, and 

best practice to reduce the risk of crime will be incorporated, including CCTV in areas 
that would be vulnerable to anti-social behaviour. 

Page 584



 
7.0 LOCAL AGENDA 21 IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 Gas consumption on the current cremators is approximately 70m3 per cremation. By 

changing from the existing cremators to new cremators, gas consumption will be 
reduced by approximately 60% and CO2 emissions will be considerably reduced. Gas 
consumption for the proposed installation, based on manufacturer’s data, is estimated to 
be 25-30m3 per cremation. This equates to a saving of 255 tonnes of CO2 per year. 

 
7.2 The proposed abatement plant will filter both mercury and dioxins. 
 
7.3 The proposed cremators will be fitted with heat exchangers to re-cycle heat within the 

installations. The heat exchangers will also include a facility for channelling unused heat 
for other uses in and around the cemetery should this be required at a later date.  

 
7.3 Low energy electrical fittings, heating controls and water saving devices will all be used 

as far as possible to help reduce the consumption of natural resources. 
 
7.4 All timber used will be from sustainable sources as by regulated by the FSC (Forestry 

Stewardship Council) or equivalent. 
 
7.5 A “Site Waste Management Plan” will be incorporated in line with statutory requirements. 
 
8.0 PLANNING IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 Planning permission and building regulations approval will be required for the scheme 

and will be submitted by the Technical Services Department, upon Members’ agreement, 
in due course. 

 
8.2 The current Building Regulations (Part L2B), which came into effect on 06 April 2006, 

require that, when carrying out an extension or major works to building services on an 
existing building with a total useful floor area of over 1000sqm, ‘consequential 
improvements’ to the energy performance of the overall building shall be required where 
it is technically, functionally and economically feasible. The value of these consequential 
improvements shall generally be deemed under Requirement 17D to be not less than 
10% of the value of the principal works.  New energy-efficient space-heating boilers for 
the entire building complex are included in the proposals and may be attributed to this 
area. 

 
9.0 ANTI-POVERTY IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 There are none arising directly from this report. 
 
10.0 SOCIAL INCLUSION IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 The scheme will provide full accessibility for service users in a safe and inclusive 

environment. 
 
11.0 LOCAL MEMBER SUPPORT IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 Landican Crematorium is in the Pensby & Thingwall Ward, but the proposals will be of 

interest to Members from all wards. 

Page 585



12.0 BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
12.1 The information used in preparation of this report is contained within  

DEFRA Process Guidance Note PG5/02(04) as amended, and subsequent additional 
guidance notes on the required performance of crematoria and ancillary equipment and 
the reduction of mercury emissions. 

 
12.2 Other information is contained in the Architect’s file C18580 and the Quantity Surveyor’s 

working papers. 
 
13.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
13.1 The scheme and estimate and the recommendations contained within this report be 

approved. 
 
13.2 The Capital Programme allocation for this scheme be increased from £3,000,000 to 

£3,483,000 and this be referred to Council for approval 
 
13.3 The Director of Technical Services be authorised to obtain all necessary statutory 

approvals for the proposed works, and 
 
13.4 The Director of Technical Services be authorised to seek tenders for the proposed 

works, in accordance with the Council’s procurement rules, and report those tenders to a 
future meeting of the Cabinet for Members’ consideration. 

 
 
 
 

Alan Stennard 
Director of Regeneration 
 
 
This report was prepared by Jim Lester who can be contacted on 666 4711. 
 

Page 586



 

Rep3350 

WIRRAL COUNCIL 
 
CABINET – 23 JULY 2009 

 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF TECHNICAL SERVICES 

 

WEST KIRBY MARINE LAKE PROTECTION WORKS 

 

 

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
1.1 This report updates Members regarding the works to West Kirby Marine Lake.  

Members are also requested to endorse the purchase of a guarantee for works 
completed during March and April.  

 
2.0 BACKGROUND 

 
2.1 At Cabinet on 15 January 2009, Members approved acceptance of Environment 

Agency grant in the sum of £1.2 million.  The scheme is also included in the 
Council’s Capital Programme with an in-house funding allocation of £750,000. 

 
2.2 Scheme design was progressed and tenders for the works to reconstruct the lake 

wall were received in December 2008. 
 
3.0 REPORT 

 
3.1 Following a tender evaluation exercise, which included a ConstructionLine check, 

Members approved acceptance of the lowest tender from Pierse Contracting Ltd in 
the sum of £1,369,964.99 (Cabinet 15 January 2009 Minute 341 refers). 

 
3.2 The appointment of Pierse Contracting was subject to standard Civil Engineering 

conditions of contract which included the provision of a Bond and Parental Company 
Guarantee for the works within 28 days of the start of the contract. 

 
3.3 Pierse contracting started on site on 9 March 2009 and made good progress with the 

early stages of the contract.  Progress meetings with Pierse identified the 
outstanding Bond and Parental Company Guarantee as issues, however Pierse 
remained confident that these would be put in place prior to the due date for the first 
payment under the contract.  This first valuation was undertaken at the beginning of 
April, identifying completed work to the value of £237k, with payment due in the first 
week of May. 

 
3.4 During the third week of April the Council received information that Pierse 

Contracting were in serious financial difficulty.  On 24 April the contractor left site.  
The Engineer for the works, Capita Symonds Ltd then issued a formal Certificate of 
Abandonment in respect of the Contractor and the Employer (Wirral Council) then 
served a notice of termination on the Contractor at his registered address which also 
appeared to be abandoned.  As no further contact was received from the defaulting 
contractor during the next seven days, the Employer was able, under the terms of 
the contract, to formally occupy the site and make arrangements for the completion 
of the works. 

 
3.5 During this notice period the prestigious Wilson Trophy Sailing Competition was held 

at the Marine Lake, an event for which accommodation measures had already been 
included within the Contract Documentation.  To ensure the lake and lake wall were 
in serviceable condition for the event one sub-contractor remained on site for a two 
day period following the departure of the main contractor, to carry out works to 
ensure the integrity of the wall was not compromised. 

 

Agenda Item 30

Page 587



 

Rep3350 

3.6 The Council has since learned that Pierse Contracting Ltd have gone into 
administration and that a liquidator has been appointed to deal with the company’s 
outstanding affairs. Initial contact between the Council and liquidator has been 
made.  It has been explained to the liquidator that no money will be forthcoming in 
respect of payment to Pierse until the full cost of completing the works is known, 
including costs incurred due to additional staff time, consultant’s fees and other 
additional expenditure. 

 
3.7 The second place contractor from the original tender exercise, Jones Bros Civil 

Engineering (Ruthin) Ltd was contacted and was amenable to undertaking the 
Completion Contract, subject to re-pricing based on the outstanding works.  Given 
the urgency of the situation the proposed change in contractor was reported verbally 
to Cabinet on 23 April 2009 and approval was received to appoint Jones Bros to 
undertake the Completion Contract.  Full consultation with Legal and Procurement 
Officers was held throughout this process. 

 
3.8 Jones Bros formally started the Completion Contract on 11 May 2009.  However due 

to the delay caused by the first contractor’s default, the scheme completion date of 
22 June has been extended to 17 July.  The lake will refill by tidal action on or 
around 22 July and will be available for use from that date. 

 
3.9 Jones Bros have complied with the contractual requirement for the provision of a 

Bond.  Jones Bros have no parental company and are not required to provide a 
guarantee for the works other than that identified in the contract. 

 
3.10 The rapid appointment of Jones Bros and their willingness to mobilise at short notice, 

taking account of the contractual requirement to allow the Wilson Trophy to proceed, 
have helped to ensure that delays due to Pierse falling into Administration have all 
been kept to a minimum. 

 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 The coast protection elements of the works are subject to grant funding from the 

Environment Agency up to £1,482,000.  The Council has also identified £750,000 
from its capital programme. 

 
4.2 Pierse Contracting Ltd submitted an application for payment for £237,413.59 prior to 

their default.  This has not yet been certified for payment as explained in 3.6 above.  
Furthermore the value of work carried out by Pierse following their first application for 
payment but prior to their default has yet to be assessed and agreed with the 
liquidator. 

 
4.3 Additional costs incurred by the Council as a result of re-awarding the contract are 

deductible from any monies owed to Pierse Contracting Ltd. 
 
4.4 Jones Bros submitted their proposal for the Completion Contract to the value of 

£1,020,668.04.  This represents an increase of £166,136.12 from their original 
tender.  This is attributable to the change in the scope of the works and the tight 
mobilisation timescales.  This increase is deductible from monies owed to Pierse. 

 
4.5 Due to the default of the first Contractor, the Council will not have a company to hold 

responsible should defects in materials or workmanship become evident in those 
works carried out by Pierse Contracting Ltd.  However a large proportion of those 
works were carried out by a single sub-contractor, Hesselberg Hydro (1991) Ltd who 
have also been employed by Jones Bros to continue with the bituminous works.  In 
recognition of the situation concerning the guarantee of the works, Hesselberg Hydro 
has offered to provide a warranty for the asphaltic works undertaken on behalf of 
Pierse.  Hesselberg Hydro has evaluated the warranty based on what they consider 
to be a fair and reasonable sum taking into account the value of works to be 

Page 588



 

Rep3350 

covered. This is still receiving consideration by ourselves and will be the subject of 
further negotiation; however in principle it would seem to represent good value for 
money given that the cost of this additional warranty is deductible from any monies 
owed to Pierse Contracting Ltd. Final agreement of the price will only be accepted 
upon full consultation with appropriate Council Officers who have been involved so 
far in arriving at the proposed warranty value. At this stage I anticipate a final figure 
in the region of the sum set out in Exempt Appendix 1 for the provision of the 
warranty. 

 
4.6 The liquidator has been informed of the Council’s intention to deduct re-award costs 

from monies owed to Pierse Contracting.  No payment will be made to the liquidator 
until the final costs for the scheme are known, and it is possible that no monies will 
be due once all the out-turn costs have been considered.  The liquidator is aware of 
this and has requested a financial statement at the end of the works which I have 
agreed to provide. 

 
5.0 STAFFING IMPLICATIONS 

 
5.1 Staff costs which have been incurred as a result of Pierse’s default and the 

subsequent re-award of the Completion Contract are deductible from monies owed 
to Pierse Contracting Ltd. 

 
6.0 EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES IMPLICATIONS 

 
6.1 Equal Opportunities have been considered throughout the scheme implementation 

process. 
 
7.0 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 There are no implications under this heading. 
 
8.0 LOCAL AGENDA 21 IMPLICATIONS 

 
8.1 There are no implications under this heading. 
 
9.0 PLANNING IMPLICATIONS 

 
9.1 There are no implications under this heading. 
 
10.0 ANTI-POVERTY IMPLICATIONS 

 
10.1 There are no implications under this heading. 
 
11.0 SOCIAL INCLUSION IMPLICATIONS 

 

11.1 There are no implications under this heading. 
 
12.0 LOCAL MEMBER SUPPORT IMPLICATIONS 
 

12.1 The scheme affects West Kirby and Thurstaston  and Hoylake and Meols Wards. 
 

13.0 BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
13.1 There are no implications under this heading. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 589



 

Rep3350 

14.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
14.1 Cabinet is requested to: 
 
 (a)  Endorse the purchase of a warranty from Hesselberg Hydro for the un-

guaranteed bituminous works in a sum up to a maximum of the amount specified in 
Exempt Appendix 1; 

 
 (b)  Note the financial implications around the liquidation of Pierse Contracting 

resulting in no net increase in financial burden on the Council; 
 
 (c)  Endorse the decision to appoint Jones Bros (Ruthin) Ltd. to undertake the 

Completion Contract. 
 
 
 
 
 
 DAVID GREEN 
 DIRECTOR, TECHNICAL SERVICES 

Page 590



Page 591

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 592

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 32

Page 593

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 598

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 33

Page 599

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 604

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 34

Page 605

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 608

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Positive Activities for Young People
	Positive Activities Appendix A
	Positive Activities Appendix B
	Positive Activities Appendix C
	Positive Activities Appendix D
	Positive Activities Appendix E

	4 Practical Cooking Spaces Scheme and Estimate Report for St Anselm's College and Update on Programme
	Practical Cooking Spaces Appendix

	5 Appointment of Technical Adviser to the Wirral Academy/BSF Programme under the National Partnerships for Schools (PFS) Framework
	6 Aiming High for Disabled Children
	Aiming High Appendix 1
	Aiming High Appendix 2
	Aiming High Appendix 3
	Aiming High Appendix 3Additional
	Aiming High Appendix 4
	Aiming High Appendix 5
	Aiming High Appendix 5 Additional

	7 Wirral Health Inequalities Plan
	Wirral Health Inequalities Plan Appendix

	8 Revised Governance Arrangements for the Wirral Health and Wellbeing Partnership
	Revised Governance Arrangements Appendix 1
	Revised Governance Arrangements Appendix 2

	9 Strategy for Carers
	Strategy for Carers Appendix

	10 Options for Change - Towards a Strategy for Care Services
	CABssv090723REP2A

	12 Local Development Framework For Wirral â•ﬁ Review of Local Development Scheme
	Local Development Framework Appendix

	13 Sustainable Communities Act Proposals
	14 Quarry Bank Flats, Whetstone Lane, Birkenhead
	Quarry Bank Flats Appendix

	15 Planned Property Maintenance (PPM) 2009/10
	16 Schedule of Rates Contracts 2006/2010
	17 Economic Update
	18 Local Transport Programme 2009/10 - Safer Routes to Schools
	19 Speed Limit and Traffic Regulation Order Review 2009-2011
	Speed Limit and TRO Appendix B
	Speed Limit and TRO Appendix C

	20 Energy Saving Initiative - Invest to Save Electricity Metering for Street Lighting by the Introduction of a Central Management System
	21 Environmental Streetscene Services - Contract Review
	22 Street Lighting (Electricity) Contract Renewal 2009
	23 Annual Audit Fees 2009/10
	Annual Audit Fees Appendix

	24 Projected Budget 2010-2011
	25 Merseyside Procurement Collaboration
	26 Statement of Accounts 2008-09
	Statement of Accounts Appendix

	27 Information and Communication Technologies Security Policy
	ICT Security Policy Appendix

	28 Establishing a Repossession Prevention Fund
	29 Proposed Extension to Landican Crematorium with New Cremators and Mercury Abatement Equipment - Scheme and Estimate Report
	30 West Kirby Marine Lake Protection Works
	WK marine lake protection works Appendix

	32 Expressions of Interest - Pacific Road Arts Centre and Wirral Transport Museum/Tramway
	33 Framework Arrangements for Consultant Services Proposed Extension and Framework Term
	34 Information Technology Hardware - Storage Area Network

